# **JMIR Research Protocols**

Impact Factor (2023): 1.4 Volume 1 (2012), Issue 2 ISSN 1929-0748 Editor in Chief: Xiaomeng (Simone) Ma, PhDc, MS, BS

## Contents

## **Protocols**

Mobile.net: Mobile Telephone Text Messages to Encourage Adherence to Medication and to Follow up With People With Psychosis: Methods and Protocol for a Multicenter Randomized Controlled Two-Armed Trial (e8)	
Maritta Välimäki, Heli Hätönen, Clive Adams.	3
Design and Methods for a Comparative Effectiveness Pilot Study: Virtual World vs. Face-to-Face Diabetes Self-Management (e24)	
Milagros Rosal, Robin Heyden, Roanne Mejilla, Maria Rizzo DePaoli, Chetty Veerappa, John Wiecha.	13
A Personalized Automated Messaging System to Improve Adherence to Prostate Cancer Screening: Research Protocol (e20)	
Michael Yuan, Emily Hébert, Ron Johnson, Ju Long, Elizabeth Vandewater, Andrew Vickers.	39
Lifetime Occupational Physical Activity and Musculoskeletal Aging in Middle-Aged Men and Women in Denmark: Retrospective Cohort Study Protocol and Methods (e7)	
Anne Møller, Ole Mortensen, Susanne Reventlow, Peder Skov, Johan Andersen, Tine Rubak, Åse Hansen, Lars Andersen, Rikke Lund, Merete Osler, Ulla Christensen, Kirsten Avlund.	249

## **Original Papers**

A Serious Video Game to Increase Fruit and Vegetable Consumption Among Elementary Aged Youth (Squire's Quest! II): Rationale, Design, and Methods (e19)	
Debbe Thompson, Riddhi Bhatt, Melanie Lazarus, Karen Cullen, Janice Baranowski, Tom Baranowski	22
Development of Smartphone Applications for Nutrition and Physical Activity Behavior Change (e9)	
Lana Hebden, Amelia Cook, Hidde van der Ploeg, Margaret Allman-Farinelli.	57
Initial Evaluation of an Electronic Symptom Diary for Adolescents with Cancer (e23)	
Christina Baggott, Faith Gibson, Beatriz Coll, Richard Kletter, Paul Zeltzer, Christine Miaskowski.	69
A Web-Based Intervention for Health Professionals and Patients to Decrease Cardiovascular Risk	
Barbara Sassen, Gerjo Kok, Ilse Mesters, Rik Crutzen, Anita Cremers, Luc Vanhees.	82



Technical Implementation of a Multi-Component, Text Message–Based Intervention for Persons Living with HIV (e17)	
Robert Furberg, Jennifer Uhrig, Carla Bann, Megan Lewis, Jennie Harris, Peyton Williams, Curtis Coomes, Nicole Martin, Lisa Kuhns.	96
Telemedicine Consultations: An Alternative Model to Increase Access to Diabetes Specialist Care in Underserved Rural Communities (e14)	
Frederico Toledo, Amy Triola, Kristine Ruppert, Linda Siminerio	115
Computer-Assisted School-Based Asthma Management: A Pilot Study (e15)	404
Renee Arnold, Jeanette Stingone, Luz Claudio	121
Filling the Gaps in a Fragmented Health Care System: Development of the Health and Welfare Information Portal (ZWIP) (e10)	
Sarah Robben, Mirjam Huisjes, Theo van Achterberg, Sytse Zuidema, Marcel Olde Rikkert, Henk Schers, Maud Heinen, René Melis, For The ZOWEL NN Study Group.	133
Electronic Problem-Solving Treatment: Description and Pilot Study of an Interactive Media Treatment for Depression (e11)	
James Cartreine, Steven Locke, Jay Buckey, Luis Sandoval, Mark Hegel.	146
Decision Support and the Effectiveness of Web-based Delivery and Information Tailoring for Bowel Cancer Screening: An Exploratory Study (e12)	
Ingrid Flight, Carlene Wilson, Ian Zajac, Elizabeth Hart, Jane McGillivray.	159
Usability Study of a Computer-Based Self-Management System for Older Adults with Chronic Diseases (e13)	
Calvin Or, Da Tao.	177
Integrating Psychological Theory Into the Design of an Online Intervention for Sexual Health: The Sexunzipped Website (e16)	
Kenneth Carswell, Ona McCarthy, Elizabeth Murray, Julia Bailey.	193
Web-Based Intervention for Postpartum Depression: Formative Research and Design of the MomMoodBooster Program (e18)	
Brian Danaher, Jeannette Milgrom, John Seeley, Scott Stuart, Charlene Schembri, Milagra Tyler, Jennifer Ericksen, Whitney Lester, Alan Gemmill, Peter Lewinsohn.	211
Developing an Internet-Based Support System for Adolescents with Depression (e22)	220
	220
Development and Formative Evaluation of a Visual E-Tool to Help Decision Makers Navigate the Evidence Around Health Financing (e25)	
Jolene Skordis-Worrall, Anni-Maria Pulkki-Brännström, Martin Utley, Gayatri Kembhavi, Nouria Bricki, Xavier Dutoit, Mikey Rosato, Christina Pagel.	240

## Proposal

XSL•F<del>O</del> RenderX

A Collaborative Quality Improvement Model and Electronic Community of Practice to Support Sepsis Management in Emergency Departments: Investigating Care Harmonization for Provincial Knowledge Translation (e6) Kendall Ho, Julian Marsden, Sandra Jarvis-Selinger, Helen Novak Lauscher, Noreen Kamal, Rob Stenstrom, David Sweet, Ran Goldman, Grant Innes. 46

## Protocol

## Mobile.net: Mobile Telephone Text Messages to Encourage Adherence to Medication and to Follow up With People With Psychosis: Methods and Protocol for a Multicenter Randomized Controlled Two-Armed Trial

Maritta Välimäki<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Heli Hätönen<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Clive E Adams<sup>3</sup>, MD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Nursing Science, University of Turku and Southwest Hospital District, Turku, Finland

<sup>2</sup>Department of Nursing Science, University of Turku, Turku, Finland

<sup>3</sup>Institute of Mental Health, Division of Psychiatry, University of Nottingham, Nottingham, United Kingdom

## **Corresponding Author:**

Maritta Välimäki, PhD Department of Nursing Science University of Turku and Southwest Hospital District Lemminkäisenkatu 1 University of Turku, 20014 Finland Phone: 358 406890546 Fax: 358 2 333 8400 Email: maya@utu.fi

## Abstract

**Background:** Schizophrenia is a high-cost, chronic, serious mental illness. There is a clear need to improve treatments and expand access to care for persons with schizophrenia, but simple, tailored interventions are missing.

**Objective:** To evaluate the impact of tailored mobile telephone text messages to encourage adherence to medication and to follow up with people with psychosis at 12 months.

**Methods:** Mobile.Net is a pragmatic randomized trial with inpatient psychiatric wards allocated to two parallel arms. The trial will include 24 sites and 45 psychiatric hospital wards providing inpatient care in Finland. The participants will be adult patients aged 18–65 years, of either sex, with antipsychotic medication (Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical classification 2011) on discharge from a psychiatric hospital, who have a mobile phone, are able to use the Finnish language, and are able to give written informed consent to participate in the study. The intervention group will receive semiautomatic system (short message service [SMS]) messages after they have been discharged from the psychiatric hospital. Patients will choose the form, content, timing, and frequency of the SMS messages related to their medication, keeping appointments, and other daily care. SMS messages will continue to the end of the study period (12 months) or until participants no longer want to receive the messages. Patients will be encouraged to contact researchers if they feel that they need to adjust the message in any way. At all times, both groups will receive usual care at the discretion of their team (psychiatric hospital, time to next hospitalization, time in hospital during this year, and healthy days). The secondary outcomes are service use, coercive measures, medication, adverse events, satisfaction with care, the intervention, and the trial, social functioning, and economic factors. Data will be collected 12 months after baseline. The outcomes are based on the national health registers and patients' subjective evaluations. The primary analysis will be by intention-to-treat.

**Trial Registration:** International Standard Randomised Controlled Trial Number (ISRCTN): 27704027; http://www.controlled-trials.com/ISRCTN27704027 (Archived by WebCite at http://www.webcitation.org/69FkM4vcq)

(JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e8) doi:10.2196/resprot.2136

**KEYWORDS** Adherence; text messages; psychosis

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e8/

## Introduction

Schizophrenia is a high-cost, chronic, serious mental illness [1]. The global prevalence of schizophrenia is about 1%-1.5% [2]. Among mental, neurological, and substance use disorders, schizophrenia is the third highest in the ranking of global burden in disability-adjusted life years [3]. Studies have shown that a prevalence among relapsed patients varies, for example from 52% [4] to 80% within 5 years [5]. Nonadherence to antipsychotic medication is highly prevalent, has a deleterious impact on the course of the illness [6], and is the single most important predictor of relapse and readmission [7], with all the subsequent costs being an additional burden [8-11]. People may be nonadherent to prescribed medications for many reasons. Forgetting to take the medication, feeling that it is unnecessary, and disliking adverse effects are all common [12]. In any event, it is probably an underestimate of real life that over half of people with schizophrenia stop medication within 1 year of discharge from hospital [13]. Individually tailored approaches to encourage adherence to medication have been called for [6].

Although simple and direct telephone calls [14-17] and well-timed prompting letters [18] may decrease nonattendance at psychiatric outpatient departments, short message service (SMS) with mobile phones may provide better access to a population group. Text messaging is common, inexpensive, and less intrusive than a phone call. It is also possible to send preprogrammed batches of messages. A trust-wide survey in the United Kingdom with 141 psychiatric inpatients (100 patients with psychotic illness and 41 who had a diagnosis of a nonpsychotic illness) showed that 55% had a mobile phone, 56% were able to use text messages, and 76% were willing to receive text messages from the National Health Service foundation trust [19]. We know of no similar data in Finland. In 2011, however, 98% of Finnish households had mobile phones, and about 20% had more than one mobile phone [20].

While there is a clear need to improve treatment and expand access to care for people with schizophrenia, mobile technologies could be developed to support this area [3]. As preparation for this trial, we are completing a Cochrane review [21]. We have identified relevant important pioneering work that has been reported in international conferences [22,23] (n = 865). There are already some applications in other areas of heath care. SMS has been used in asthma care [24], smoking cessation [25], promoting safer sex and sun safety in young people [26], and monitoring and coaching persons with chronic migraine [27]. People with schizophrenia or similar illnesses are, however, different from the standard health service population. SMS, if tailored and used sensitively, has the potential to be both potent and possible to implement in everyday care. To justify this, however, and not simply impose one more unevaluated intrusion into the lives of people with these disturbing illnesses, high-grade adequately powered data from randomized trials are required [6].

The Mobile.Net study will establish the impact of tailored mobile telephone text messages to encourage adherence to medication and to follow up with people with psychosis at 12 months. Mobile.Net is a short name for the trial to help health care professionals and participants be aware of the project.

## Methods

## Design

Mobile.Net is a multicenter, randomized controlled study with a two-armed trial conducted in Finland (24 sites and 45 hospital wards).

## Hypothesis

We hypothesized that tailored mobile telephone text messages acceptable to the individual patient would reduce use of services by people with serious mental illness whose previous use of services has been high.

## **Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria**

Inclusion criteria are patients aged 18-65 years, of either sex (Table 1), with antipsychotic medication [28] on discharge from a psychiatric hospital, who have a mobile phone, are able to use the Finnish language, and are able to give written informed consent to participate. We will include no formal test of capacity but will rely on the judgment of experienced health care professionals in their routine assessment, when nearing the point of discharge, of the patients' understanding, retention, assimilation, and communication of all information, including that relevant to the study. Further formalized assessment is not part of routine care.

Patients who have planned a nonacute treatment period or are being treated in forensic psychiatric services will be excluded.



Välimäki et al

Table 1. Dummy table for background characteristics in intervention (short message service) and control groups at baseline.

Characteristic		Intervention		Control	
		n	%	n	%
Age (years)		DUMMY TA	BLE - CELLS	INTENTIONA	LLY EMPTY
Sex					
	Male				
	Female				
	Other				
Marit	tal status				
	Single				
	Married				
	Divorced				
	Widowed				
Vocat	ional education				
	None				
	Vocational training courses				
	Primary vocational skill certificate				
	Secondary vocational skill certificate				
	University degree				
Empl	oyment status				
	Employed				
	Retired				
	Self-employed				
	Student				
	Job seeker				
Numb	per of previous psychiatric treatment periods				
	1				
	2 or more				
Age a	t first contact with psychiatric services (years)				

## Interventions

## Intervention Group

The intervention group will receive semiautomatic SMS messages after their discharge from psychiatric inpatient care. The intervention is patient led rather than researcher led to increase acceptability of the prompt. Therefore, during the discharge process from psychiatric hospital care, patients will choose text message content areas related to their medication and follow-up appointments. Additionally, they will be able to choose messages related to other daily issues (eg, hygiene, physical exercise, nutrition, daily routines, clothing, safety, communication, taking care of pets, following rules, hobbies, work or other activities, household tasks, symptom management, or other supporting messages). Timing, frequency, and conditions under which interventions will be withheld will be decided by the patient. The content of these messages had been designed by patients in a consumer association, and by health care professionals in hospital wards and outpatient clinics. The

SMS messages will continue for the duration of the study period (12 months) or until participants no longer want to receive the messages. We do not envisaged that the intervention will interfere in any way with routine outpatient care. Patients will be encouraged to contact the researchers or health care staff if they feel that they need any adjustment of the message.

## **Control Group**

Patients in the control group will receive standard treatment care in an outpatient unit based on the existing system in Finland.

All patients will receive usual care at the discretion of their team (psychiatry and nursing).

## **Randomization and Masking**

The randomization codes (permuted block design with 4 patients per block) were computer generated by an independent statistician. Others, completely independent of the trial team, inserted these numbers into sealed envelopes. While this is a

multicenter study to be run in 24 sites—that is, health service organizations (and 45 study wards) with psychiatric beds in Finland—patients within each ward will be randomly allocated separately. The is an open-label study.

Written allocation of assignment will be sealed in individual envelopes marked with study identification numbers, which will be distributed to all study wards. Research nurses on study wards will sequentially assign sealed envelopes in a predetermined order to patients who fulfill the inclusion criteria and give their written informed consent during their discharge process. Investigators will be masked to data until the statistician releases the database, although a data management committee will undertake ongoing safety surveillance. Study participants and staff will not be masked; this would not reflect real-world care. However, randomization and analyses will be undertaken by investigators masked to treatment allocation.

The sealed envelopes with study identification numbers will be opened by a research nurse or a patient in an ascending manner. Patients will be allocated to the intervention or control group.

## **Allocation Concealment**

Participants and the investigators enrolling the participants will not foresee assignment. We will use numbered sealed envelopes in different data collection organizations. Whereas patients and health care staff will be aware of the allocated arm, outcome assessors and data analysts will be kept blinded to the allocation.

## **Primary and Secondary End Points**

The primary outcomes are service use and healthy days by 12 months based on routine data (admission to psychiatric hospital, time to next hospitalization, time in hospital during this year, and healthy days). The secondary outcomes are service use, coercive incidents, medication, adverse event, satisfaction with care, intervention, and the trial, social functioning, and economic factors. M1 referral is a referral for observation by any physician if he or she considers it likely that criteria for involuntary admission are fulfilled. This sets in motion the process by which the patient is later examined by a second doctor in a psychiatric hospital. This doctor must be a psychiatrist. At this stage, the patient can be admitted voluntarily or involuntarily, or discharged [29]. Data will be collected 12 months after baseline (see Table 2 [30,31]).

Välimäki et al

Dutcome	Intervention			Control		
	n (%) or	RR <sup>a</sup>		n (%) or	RR	
	mean (SD)	(95% CI <sup>b</sup> )	P value	mean (SD)	(95% CI)	P value
Primary outcome	DUMMY TA	BLE - CELLS	INTENTI	ONALLY EMP	TY	
Service use/healthy days						
Admission to psychiatric hospital						
Time to next hospitalization (days)						
Time in hospital during this year (days)						
Healthy time (days)						
Secondary outcomes						
Service use						
Type of admission						
M1 referral <sup>c</sup>						
Mental examination						
Determination of treatment						
Other						
Involuntary treatment						
General hospital treatment						
Use of private care						
Length of involuntary psychiatric treatment (days)						
Length of general hospital stay (days)						
Coercion						
Coercive incidence						
Type of coercive incidence						
Seclusion						
Physical restraint						
Intramuscular medication						
De-escalation						
Medication						
Type of medication						
Antipsychotic						
Antipsychotic + antidepressant						
Medication						
Adverse event						
Any (yes)						
Death (yes)						
Satisfaction with care/intervention/trial						
Satisfied with care						
Requested to stop SMS <sup>d</sup>						
Left the study early						
Social functioning						
Quality of life						

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e8/

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

Outcome	Intervention			Control		
	n (%) or mean (SD)	RR <sup>a</sup> (95% CI <sup>b</sup> )	P value	n (%) or mean (SD)	RR (95% CI)	P value
Disability support					·	
Economic factors						
Direct cost (€)						
Indirect cost (€)						

<sup>a</sup> Relative risk.

<sup>b</sup> Confidence interval.

<sup>c</sup> Referral for observation.

<sup>d</sup> Short message service.

The outcomes will be based on register data [30,31] and patients' subjective evaluations.

## **Adverse Event Reporting**

Safety assessments will include all adverse or serious adverse events, and subjective symptoms reported by clinical staff or study personnel, participants, or relatives. Adverse event monitoring data will be collected by the following methods: (1) reports from clinical staff or study personnel, and (2) text message, mailing, phone call, or survey after 12 months during the 1-year intervention with the question "Have you experienced any new and serious health problems since you enrolled in the Mobile.Net Study? If yes, please describe them."

We will provide categories of possible adverse events. Adverse events will be categorized as severe if they are life-threatening or fatal, require or prolong a hospitalization, or result in a major disability. In addition, adverse event may be categorized as unexpected or expected (Table 3).

 Table 3. Dummy table for number of adverse events.

		Intervention	Control
Expected severe adverse events		DUMMY TABLE - CELLS	S INTENTIONALLY EMPTY
	Life-threatening or fatal		
	Requiring or prolonging a hospitalization		
	Resulting in a major disability		
Unex	pected severe adverse events		
	Life-threatening or fatal		
	Requiring or prolonging a hospitalization		
	Resulting in a major disability		
Expec	eted adverse events		
	Medical		
	Psychiatric		
	Substance use		
Unex	pected adverse events		
	Medical		
	Psychiatric		
	Substance use		

The potential safety concerns about possible psychiatric effects of exposure to a mobile phone have been discussed for more than two decades [32], but published results are still inconsistent and inconclusive [33-35]. As the study intervention is a communication system and provides a method of supporting patients' adherence in regular mental health services, we do not expect serious adverse events as a result of the intervention. We will analyze treatment-emergent adverse events, defined as all adverse and serious adverse events occurring between randomization and when the patient completes the study.

## **Statistical Analysis Plans**

## Sample Size and Power Calculations

The study has been powered for the primary outcome measure. We have systematically searched for but not found any directly relevant published work. In London, for example, 65% of

potentially eligible people had been admitted to the hospital in the past 12 months [36]. Our aim in Finland will be to reduce use of acute care by at least five percentage points (a relative risk of 0.92). To do this with 80% power at a 5% 2-sided significance level, we would require 1511 participants in each of the two arms (Stata v10; StataCorp LP, College Station, TX, USA).

## Type of Analysis and Missing Data

All analyses will be based on the intention-to-treat principle. For incomplete (missing) data, we will use multiple imputation by chained equations, which makes appropriate assumptions based on the predictors of outcome and predictors of loss to follow-up. Missing outcome data will be evaluated where they are balanced in numbers across intervention groups and with similar reasons across control groups. The same procedures will be used for secondary outcomes.

## Statistical Tests

The primary outcome will be relative risk of admission to psychiatric inpatient services (Table 2). Secondary outcomes will involve calculation of relative risk or mean differences and their corresponding 95% confidence intervals. To evaluate the clinical outcomes of the study, we will use both descriptive and inferential statistics. Descriptive statistics will be used to evaluate outcomes at the end point and differences between individuals and groups by exploratory analyses (chi-square tests, t test or Mann-Whitney U test, and nonparametric bootstrap methods for skewed cost data). The principal analysis will compare the primary and secondary outcome measures at 12 months comparing for baseline (preintervention) measures using analysis of covariance.

## **Subgroup Analysis Planned**

We will analyze subgroups for the primary outcome of people with schizophrenia-like illness compared with others who need antipsychotics. The direct and indirect costs of implementing this service will be examined through the prospective collection of staff time and resource requirements. Total costs of implementing the service will be estimated through local salary and overhead costs and by reference to nationally agreed-upon and unit costs. The cost effectiveness of the approach will be calculated through incremental cost-effectiveness ratios of costs per nonattendance avoided.

## **Ethics Issues**

The Ethics Committee of the Hospital District of Southwest Finland approved the study on December 16, 2010 (ETMK 109/180/2010). Any regulations addressing the conduct of trials involving vulnerable populations and clinical trials investigating products will be taken into account [37].

We did will not use any formal tests of capacity to evaluate patient competence. We will rely on the judgment of experienced health care professionals in their routine assessment of patients' status and well-being. Study participants and staff will not be masked (blinded), so as to reflect real-world care. This may, however, cause ethical and practical outcomes. Participants may respond better if they know they have received a promising new treatment or worse if they received only standard care. Nurses may motivate patients more toward a specific group depending on which group (intervention or control) nurses prefer [38].

#### **Informed Consent Form and Information Sheet**

All participants will give their consent to participate on the basis of appropriate information and with adequate time to consider this information and to ask questions [39]. We will obtain written consent to participate in the study through an informed consent form evaluated by the Ethics Committee of The Hospital District of Southwest Finland. Patients will be invited to sign the consent form after they have received oral and written information about the study. Patients will receive two type of written information material: (1) a short, 1-page information leaflet about the study to help patients orient themselves to the study, and (2) later, near the discharge process, more detailed written information describing the study and its phases. Participants will be made aware, before consenting, that they are free to withdraw without obligation at any time and that such an action will not adversely affect any aspect of their care.

## **Independent Data Safety and Monitoring Committee**

The members of the independent data safety and monitoring committee will consist of two experts in mental health care, a representative of a patient association, and a statistician.

## **Interim Analysis and Stopping Rules**

An independent data safety and monitoring committee will be established. The trial statistician will carry out analyses, blinded to allocation, and report the results to the data safety and monitoring committee. Together with an independent statistician, the data safety and monitoring committee will review efficacy and safety data.

Due to the nature of the data collated on the national register, it is not possible to conduct an interim analysis after the recruitment has started. The information in the register data will be available to the researchers after 1 calendar year (ie, data have a 1-year lag time). However, adverse events, early dropout, nurses' opinions, and patients' experiences will be monitored and analyzed throughout the study.

## Indemnities

The Finnish national patient insurance system covers patients' possible loss and compensates them for that loss based on the Patient Injuries Act [39] (585/1986; amendments up to 1100/2005 included). This insurance is held by professions in health care or medical care to compensate for harm caused to patients through accident or neglect. This insurance covers harm caused by treatment, infection, accident, equipment, facilities, or installations.

## **Publication Plan**

We plan one major results paper authored by M Välimäki, H Hätönen, CE Adams, and a collective (Finland's Mobile.Net Collaborative Group) comprising all active collaborators, and published in parallel with a relevant Cochrane review. We propose making data available for prospective meta-analysis.

## Funders

Grant support for the intervention was received from the Academy of Finland (132581), Satakunta Hospital District, State Subsidy System (EVO) (12/2010, 81096), and the Hospital District of Southwest Finland, EVO (13893).

## **Role of the Funding Source**

The funders do not have any role in study design, data collection, analysis, decision to publish, interpretation, or preparation of

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

## References

- 1. Mangalore R, Knapp M. Cost of schizophrenia in England. J Ment Health Policy Econ 2007 Mar;10(1):23-41. [Medline: 17417045]
- 2. World Health Organization. 2012. Global Burden of Disease (GBD) URL: <u>http://www.who.int/healthinfo/global\_burden\_disease/en/index.html</u> [accessed 2012-07-18] [WebCite Cache ID 69FhK8LAW]
- Collins PY, Patel V, Joestl SS, March D, Insel TR, Daar AS, Scientific Advisory Board and the Executive Committee of the Grand Challenges on Global Mental Health, et al. Grand challenges in global mental health. Nature 2011 Jul 7;475(7354):27-30. [doi: 10.1038/475027a] [Medline: 21734685]
- 4. Schennach R, Obermeier M, Meyer S, Jäger M, Schmauss M, Laux G, et al. Predictors of relapse in the year after hospital discharge among patients with schizophrenia. Psychiatr Serv 2012 Jan;63(1):87-90. [doi: <u>10.1176/appi.ps.201100084</u>] [Medline: <u>22227766</u>]
- Robinson D, Woerner MG, Alvir JM, Bilder R, Goldman R, Geisler S, et al. Predictors of relapse following response from a first episode of schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1999 Mar;56(3):241-247. [Medline: 10078501]
- Barkhof E, Meijer CJ, de Sonneville LM, Linszen DH, de Haan L. Interventions to improve adherence to antipsychotic medication in patients with schizophrenia--a review of the past decade. Eur Psychiatry 2012 Jan;27(1):9-18. [doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2011.02.005] [Medline: 21561742]
- Morken G, Widen JH, Grawe RW. Non-adherence to antipsychotic medication, relapse and rehospitalisation in recent-onset schizophrenia. BMC Psychiatry 2008;8:32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-8-32] [Medline: 18447935]
- 8. Almond S, Knapp M, Francois C, Toumi M, Brugha T. Relapse in schizophrenia: costs, clinical outcomes and quality of life. Br J Psychiatry 2004 Apr;184:346-351 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15056580]
- 9. Svarstad BL, Shireman TI, Sweeney JK. Using drug claims data to assess the relationship of medication adherence with hospitalization and costs. Psychiatr Serv 2001 Jun;52(6):805-811. [Medline: <u>11376229</u>]
- 10. Valenstein M, Blow FC, Copeland LA, McCarthy JF, Zeber JE, Gillon L, et al. Poor antipsychotic adherence among patients with schizophrenia: medication and patient factors. Schizophr Bull 2004;30(2):255-264 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15279044]
- 11. Weiden PJ, Kozma C, Grogg A, Locklear J. Partial compliance and risk of rehospitalization among California Medicaid patients with schizophrenia. Psychiatr Serv 2004 Aug;55(8):886-891. [doi: <u>10.1176/appi.ps.55.8.886</u>] [Medline: <u>15292538</u>]
- Perkins DO. Predictors of noncompliance in patients with schizophrenia. J Clin Psychiatry 2002 Dec;63(12):1121-1128. [Medline: <u>12523871</u>]
- 13. Babiker IE. Noncompliance in schizophrenia. Psychiatr Dev 1986;4(4):329-337. [Medline: 2883650]
- 14. Kluger MP, Karras A. Strategies for reducing missed initial appointments in a community mental health center. Community Ment Health J 1983;19(2):137-143. [Medline: <u>6653081</u>]
- 15. MacDonald J, Brown N, Ellis P. Using telephone prompts to improve initial attendance at a community mental health center. Psychiatr Serv 2000 Jun;51(6):812-814. [Medline: 10828117]
- 16. Reda S, Makhoul S. Prompts to encourage appointment attendance for people with serious mental illness. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2001(2):CD002085. [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD002085] [Medline: 11406031]
- Montes JM, Maurino J, Diez T, Saiz-Ruiz J. Telephone-based nursing strategy to improve adherence to antipsychotic treatment in schizophrenia: a controlled trial. Int J Psychiatry Clin Pract 2010 Nov;14(4):274-281. [doi: 10.3109/13651501.2010.505343]
- Kitcheman J, Adams CE, Pervaiz A, Kader I, Mohandas D, Brookes G. Does an encouraging letter encourage attendance at psychiatric out-patient clinics? The Leeds PROMPTS randomized study. Psychol Med 2008 May;38(5):717-723. [doi: <u>10.1017/S0033291707001766</u>] [Medline: <u>17935636</u>]
- 19. Sanghara H, Kravariti E, Jakobsen H, Okocha CI. Using short message services in mental health services: assessing feasibility. Mental Health Rev J 2010;15(2):28-33. [doi: 10.5042/mhrj.2010.0369]

RenderX

the manuscript. The corresponding author will have full access to all the data in the study and will have final responsibility for the decision to submit for publication.

## **Recruitment Schedule**

Recruitment started in November 2011 and will finish December 2012. Results will be reported in 2015.

- 20. Tilastokeskus. 2012 Mar 27. Liitekuvio 17. Vain lankapuhelimen, vain matkapuhelimen tai molempien omistaminen kotitalouksissa, helmikuu 2012 URL: <u>http://www.stat.fi/til/kbar/2012/03/kbar\_2012\_03\_2012-03-27\_kuv\_017\_fi.html?tulosta</u> [accessed 2012-07-18] [WebCite Cache ID 69FbYz516]
- 21. Välimäki M, Kauppi K, Hätönen H, Kuosmanen L, Warwick-Smith K, Adams CA. Information and communication technology based prompting for treatment compliance for people with serious mental illness. Cochrane Library 2012 Jul 11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD009960]
- 22. Maurino J, Tesoro A, Díez T, Gómez Beneyto M. Short message service (SMS)-based strategy to improve antipsychotic adherence among patients with schizophrenia. Value Health 2010 Oct 11;13(7):A242 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1524-4733.2010.00791\_1.x]
- 23. Montes JM, Gómez Beneyto M, Tesoro A, Díez T, Mauriño J. Short message service (SMS)-based strategy to improve antipsychotic adherence in schizophrenia. Eur Psychiatry 2011;26(suppl 1):1454. [doi: 10.1016/S0924-9338(11)73159-5]
- 24. McLean S, Chandler D, Nurmatov U, Liu J, Pagliari C, Car J, et al. Telehealthcare for asthma. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2010(10):CD007717. [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD007717.pub2] [Medline: 20927763]
- 25. Haug S, Meyer C, Schorr G, Bauer S, John U. Continuous individual support of smoking cessation using text messaging: a pilot experimental study. Nicotine Tob Res 2009 Aug;11(8):915-923. [doi: <u>10.1093/ntr/ntp084</u>] [Medline: <u>19542517</u>]
- Gold J, Aitken CK, Dixon HG, Lim MS, Gouillou M, Spelman T, et al. A randomised controlled trial using mobile advertising to promote safer sex and sun safety to young people. Health Educ Res 2011 Oct;26(5):782-794. [doi: <u>10.1093/her/cyr020</u>] [Medline: <u>21447750</u>]
- 27. Sorbi MJ, Mak SB, Houtveen JH, Kleiboer AM, van Doornen LJ. Mobile Web-based monitoring and coaching: feasibility in chronic migraine. J Med Internet Res 2007;9(5):e38 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9.5.e38] [Medline: 18166526]
- 28. WHO Collaborating Centre for Drug Statistics Methodology, Norwegian Institute of Public Health. Guidelines for ATC Classification and DDD Assignment. Oslo: WHO Collaborating Centre for Drug Statistics Methodology, Norwegian Institute of Public Health; 2011.
- 29. Putkonen H, Völlm B. Looking beyond one's own nose: compulsory psychiatric detention and treatment in Finland. Psychiatrist 2007;31:101-103 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1192/pb.bp.106.009472]
- National Institute for Health and Welfare, Finland. 2012 May 07. Care Registers for Social Welfare, Description of File URL: <u>http://www.stakes.fi/EN/tilastot/filedescriptions/carehousingregister.htm</u> [accessed 2012-07-18] [WebCite Cache ID <u>69FhXx2Dv</u>]
- 31. Statistics Finland. 2011 Dec 27. Causes of Death URL: <u>http://tilastokeskus.fi/meta/til/ksyyt\_en.html</u> [accessed 2012-07-18] [WebCite Cache ID 69FhHqUoT]
- 32. Hyland GJ. Physics and biology of mobile telephony. Lancet 2000 Nov 25;356(9244):1833-1836. [Medline: 11117927]
- 33. van Rongen E, Croft R, Juutilainen J, Lagroye I, Miyakoshi J, Saunders R, et al. Effects of radiofrequency electromagnetic fields on the human nervous system. J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev 2009 Oct;12(8):572-597. [doi: 10.1080/10937400903458940] [Medline: 20183535]
- International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection. Guidelines for limiting exposure to time-varying electric and magnetic fields (1 Hz to 100 kHz). Health Phys 2010 Dec;99(6):818-836. [doi: <u>10.1097/HP.0b013e3181f06c86</u>] [Medline: <u>21068601</u>]
- 35. World Health Organization. 2011 Jun. Electromagnetic Fields and Public Health: Mobile Phones. Fact sheet No 193 URL: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs193/en/ [accessed 2012-07-18] [WebCite Cache ID 69FhP8cD8]
- Sims H, Sanghara H, Hayes D, Wandiembe S, Finch M, Jakobsen H, et al. Text message reminders of appointments: a pilot intervention at four community mental health clinics in London. Psychiatr Serv 2012 Feb 1;63(2):161-168. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201100211] [Medline: 22302334]
- 37. World Medical Association. WMA Declaration of Helsinki: Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects URL: <u>http://www.wma.net/en/30publications/10policies/b3/index.html.pdf?print-media-type&footer-right=[page]/</u>[toPage [accessed 2012-07-18]
- Boutron I, Estellat C, Guittet L, Dechartres A, Sackett DL, Hróbjartsson A, et al. Methods of blinding in reports of randomized controlled trials assessing pharmacologic treatments: a systematic review. PLoS Med 2006 Oct;3(10):e425 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0030425] [Medline: 17076559]
- 39. Patient Insurance Centre. Potilasvakuutuskeskus. Helsinki; 2005. Patient Injuries Centre URL: <u>http://www.potilasvakuutuskeskus.fi/www/page/pvk\_www\_2181</u> [accessed 2012-07-22] [WebCite Cache ID 69LsQupNk]

## Abbreviations

**SMS:** short message service

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 16.04.12; peer-reviewed by J Montes, H Sanghara; comments to author 01.05.12; revised version received 18.06.12; accepted 18.06.12; published 02.08.12. <u>Please cite as:</u> Välimäki M, Hätönen H, Adams CE Mobile.net: Mobile Telephone Text Messages to Encourage Adherence to Medication and to Follow up With People With Psychosis: Methods and Protocol for a Multicenter Randomized Controlled Two-Armed Trial JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e8 URL: http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e8/ doi:10.2196/resprot.2136 PMID:23611874

©Maritta Välimäki, Heli Hätönen, Clive E Adams. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 02.08.2012. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



## Protocol

## Design and Methods for a Comparative Effectiveness Pilot Study: Virtual World vs. Face-to-Face Diabetes Self-Management

Milagros C Rosal<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Robin Heyden<sup>2</sup>, BS; Roanne Mejilla<sup>3</sup>, MPH; Maria Rizzo DePaoli<sup>3</sup>, MSW; Chetty Veerappa<sup>3</sup>, PhD; John M Wiecha<sup>3</sup>, MD, MPH

<sup>1</sup>University of Massachusetts Medical School, Division of Preventive and Behavioral Medicine, Worcester, MA, United States

<sup>2</sup>Heyden Ty, LLC, Alameda, CA, United States

<sup>3</sup>Department of Family Medicine, Boston Medical Center and Office of Academic Affairs, Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, MA, United States

## **Corresponding Author:**

Milagros C Rosal, PhD University of Massachusetts Medical School Division of Preventive and Behavioral Medicine 55 Lake Avenue North Worcester, MA, 01655 United States Phone: 1 508 856 3173 Fax: 1 508 856 3840 Email: milagros.rosal@umassmed.edu

## Abstract

**Background:** Type 2 diabetes (diabetes) is a serious threat to public health in the United States and disproportionally affects many racial/ethnic minority groups, including African Americans. Limited access to treatment and high attrition rates further contribute to health disparities in diabetes-related morbidity and mortality among minorities. Greater opportunities for increasing access and decreasing barriers to treatment are needed. Technology-based interventions have potential for accomplishing this goal but evidence of feasibility and potential effectiveness is lacking, especially for populations that traditionally have limited educational attainment and low computer literacy.

**Objective:** This paper describes the design and methods of a pilot randomized clinical trial that will compare the feasibility and potential efficacy of delivering a diabetes self-management intervention via a virtual world vs. a face-to-face format.

**Methods:** Study participants (n=100) will be African American women with uncontrolled type 2 diabetes recruited from primary care practices and affiliated health centers at a large safety net hospital in Massachusetts. Participants will be randomized into a virtual world-based (VW) intervention condition or a face-to-face control condition. Both conditions provide the same theory-based curriculum and equivalent exposure to the self-management program (eight group sessions), and both will be delivered by a single intervention team (a dietitian and a diabetes educator). Assessments will be conducted at baseline and 4 months. Feasibility will be determined by evaluating the degree to which participants engage in the VW-based intervention compared to face to face (number of sessions completed). Potential efficacy will be determined by comparing change in physiological (glycemic control) and behavioral (self-reported dietary intake, physical activity, blood glucose self-monitoring, and medication adherence) outcomes between the experimental and control groups.

**Results:** The primary outcomes of interest are feasibility of the VW intervention and its potential efficacy on glucose control and diabetes self-management behaviors, compared to the face-to-face condition. Analysis will use a two-sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov test for changes in variable distribution. P values will be calculated using binomial tests for proportions and t tests for continuous variables.

Conclusions: If the intervention is found to be feasible and promising, it will be tested in a larger RCT.

(JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e24) doi:10.2196/resprot.2415

## **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

Technology; Virtual systems; Education-distance; Patient education; Minority health; Health disparities; African Americans; Type 2 diabetes; Health behavior; Clinical trials

## Introduction

Type 2 diabetes (diabetes) is a serious threat to public health in the United States and the world and is a costly disease at the individual and societal levels. In the United States, its prevalence has risen among all ethnic groups, especially among certain racial/ethnic minority groups such as African-Americans who have had a near doubling of prevalence (now 13%) since 1988 [1,2]. Diabetes has numerous and serious health risks associated with poor control [2]. Expert guidelines promote counseling for patient health behavior change targeting increased physical activity, reduction in caloric intake and weight, and promotion of adherence to medication [3]. Among individuals with diabetes, women and African Americans report the lowest levels of physical activity and more than half (66%) of African Americans with diabetes report high-fat diets [4,5]. Although self-management programs have proven efficacy, attrition rates are high [6]. Factors reported as contributing to attrition include competing family responsibilities, conflict with program hours, and distance to services [7]. Web-based methods to improve diabetes outcomes could improve access to behavior counseling and have shown promise in improving health behaviors and glycemic control [8]. However, the feasibility of intervening through web-based methods has been questioned due to a real or perceived digital divide or socioeconomic inequalities among individuals in access to information technologies. For example, only 49% of African Americans compared to 68% of Caucasians have a broadband Internet connection at home [9]. In addition to this divide in access to connectivity and hardware, researchers have identified a skill and knowledge divide on the basis of technological competency and digital literacy [10].

Virtual world (VW) environments are potentially suitable environments for supporting patient education delivery, including diabetes self-management programming. VWs are 3D, immersive, online places where people enter and participate as an avatar. Once in the VW, participant avatars can walk, run, fly, talk, travel, and interact with the other people or structures present in the virtual space. The rich visual landscape, in combination with the mediated presence via avatar, gives the participant a strong sense of "being there". VWs offer vast opportunities for interaction, intense engagement, and opportunities for scripted immersive experiences, simulations, role-playing, and constructivist learning. Sense of presence, easy access, and anonymity afforded by the avatar may lead to greater interaction and group cohesiveness, as well as engagement and attention, compared to other web-based approaches [11,12]. Currently there are over 300 such online VWs, such as Jibe, OpenSim, Spoton3D, Open Wonderland, and Second Life (SL). Created and maintained by companies, universities, or individuals, some of these online environments are free of charge or some assess monthly or per-use fees. Although the use of VWs has been shown to influence behavior in the "real" world [13], studies are limited and have not targeted the spectrum of diabetes self-management behaviors.

The objective of this paper is to describe the design and methods of a pilot study that will compare the feasibility and potential efficacy of delivering a diabetes self-management intervention via a VW (delivered in Second Life, or SL) versus a face-to-face format.

## Methods

## Design

Women in Control is a pilot randomized clinical trial funded by the National Library of Medicine/National Institutes of Health that will evaluate the feasibility and potential efficacy of a diabetes self-management intervention delivered through interactive sessions within a Virtual World (VW), compared to a face-to-face format, to improve glucose control and enhance adherence to diabetes self-management behaviors in a population of African American women.

## Hypothesis

We hypothesize that the VW-based experimental intervention condition will produce outcomes related to feasibility and potential efficacy that are comparable or greater than those observed in the face-to-face control condition.

## Interventions

The intervention content will be adapted from the CDC/NIH program "Power to Prevent" (P2P) [14], a culturally appropriate, evidence-based behavior-change curriculum designed for face-to-face delivery to African American patients with diabetes or pre-diabetes. The intervention approach is theory-based [15] and thus seeks to enhance diabetes knowledge, optimize attitudes toward diabetes self-management (ie, self-efficacy, outcome expectations), and develop behavioral self-management skills (eg, goal setting, tracking self-management behaviors and glucose levels, problem-solving) to facilitate changes in dietary intake, physical activity, blood glucose self-monitoring, and medication adherence. Curriculum objectives and topics are summarized in Table 1.



 Table 1. Women in Control diabetes self-management program outline.

Session number	Session topics
1. (Individual)	Intake session—Program overview; Review of informational handouts; Take history of dietary and physical activity habits, medication intake, blood glucose self-monitoring; Discuss action plan and tracking; Set initial goal
2. (Group)	Getting Started—Welcome and introductions; What is diabetes; Diabetes self-management goals; Achieving control through small steps; Ways to increase physical activity
3. (Group)	Decreasing Your Hunger-Food and blood glucose; Healthy food choices from three food groups; Healthy fats; Fiber
4. (Group)	Using Food Labels to Track Carbs and Fat—Finding carbohydrates and fat grams in a food label; Healthy amounts of fiber per serving; Decreasing fat grams in food choices; Substituting healthful foods for less healthful foods
5. (Group)	What Have We Learned So Far?-Review of the effects of physical activity and food on blood sugar
6. (Group)	Diabetes Medications—Benefit of medications in diabetes management; How medications work; Importance of adhering to the medication regimen; Strategies to enhance medication adherence
7. (Group)	Physical Activity for You and Your Family—Review of overall benefits of physical activity for patient and family; Eliciting support for physical activity from others; Relapse prevention
8. (Group)	Managing Food Intake and Blood Sugar Outside of the Home—Understanding the difference between portion size and serving size; Strategies to improve food choices when eating out; Preventing overeating when eating out
9. (Group)	Empowering Yourself—Asking questions of health care providers; Remembering goal levels for A1c, blood pressure, and cholesterol; Graduation

We will deliver this curriculum through a series of weekly sessions that begin with an individual intake session, followed by 8 weekly sessions. Sessions will be delivered in either a VW or face-to-face environment in groups of approximately 12-15 participants by a single intervention team (a dietitian and a diabetes educator) for the same duration (90-minute sessions) using the same protocol and materials for both conditions. Participants in both conditions will receive 2 sessions of computer training and will be provided with an Internet-enabled laptop computer upon training completion. Multimedia Appendix 1 summarizes the specific activities conducted during each computer training.

The face-to-face group sessions will take place in a large conference room at Boston Medical Center. All face-to-face participants will receive transportation vouchers to facilitate attendance. VW-based sessions will take place in an open-air VW forum built especially for the intervention with adequate structures and required visuals/displays (see Figures 1 to 4). Although the VW sessions will last 90 minutes, these

participants will be asked to log in 30 minutes prior to each session in order to test their sound and troubleshoot any connection problems. To facilitate session flow, a triage system will assign participants to "producers" (technical support staff) as technology needs arise. As in the face-to-face condition, both interventionists will attend every group session (alternating facilitation). In the VW condition, the non-leading interventionist will take notes in the local chat and provide general back-up, while in the face-to-face condition, the non-leading interventionist will provide logistical assistance. Multimedia Appendix 1 compares similarities and differences of intervention implementation among these conditions in greater detail.

Two members of the research team will oversee fidelity of intervention content and style for both conditions via direct observation and review of recorded sessions. Interventionists will be provided with feedback on errors of omission and commission, and additional support will be given on an ongoing basis as needed.



## Figure 1. Virtual world forum.



Figure 2. Floor pattern: self-efficacy ruler.



XSL•FO RenderX

Figure 3. Club one island.



Figure 4. Dancing stage.



RenderX

JMIR Res Protoc 2012 | vol. 1 | iss. 2 |e24 | p.17 (page number not for citation purposes)

## **Study Setting and Population**

The study will recruit 100 African-American (Afro-Caribbean) women recruited from primary care practices and affiliated health centers at a large safety net hospital in Massachusetts. Eligible subjects will be age >18 years, English-speaking, with a diagnosis of type 2 diabetes, and an HbA1c > 8 at their last outpatient visit, which has to occur within the year preceding recruitment. Subjects with the following conditions will be excluded: ulcerative colitis, renal failure, complications following abortion and ectopic and molar pregnancies, angina pectoris, and other forms of unstable ischemic heart disease and conditions precluding brisk walking.

The research protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Boards at Boston Medical Center and the University of Massachusetts Medical School. Potential participants will be identified from the medical record data warehouse at Boston Medical Center and affiliated community health centers based on the above criteria. Identified patients will receive a letter informing them about the study. The letter will provide a description of the study, announce a phone call from a study staff to determine final eligibility, and give patients the option to call in or opt out. During the telephone call, the staff will assess final eligibility (ie, self-reported ability to view a computer screen without difficulty, ability to read, no use of glucocorticoid therapy, no current participation in a weight loss program, and availability for weekly meetings), answer any questions they may have about the study, and invite fully eligible women to participate. A maximum of five calls will be made to each participant on different days and varying times. Interested women will be scheduled for an enrollment visit at the Boston Medical Center General Clinical Research Unit in which participants provide written informed consent. A reminder call will be made the evening prior to the appointment.

## Randomization

Upon completion of all study assessments, we will randomize participants to either the VW-based experimental intervention condition or the face-to-face control condition. A block randomization scheme with a block size of 4, developed by StudyTRAX software (v3.0.0103), will be used. Randomization will be stratified on age and hemoglobin A1c measured at baseline. Participants will be informed about their randomization assignment via phone.

## **Outcomes and Study Measures**

The primary outcomes of interest are feasibility of the VW intervention and its potential efficacy compared to the face-to-face condition. Feasibility will be determined by evaluating the degree to which participants engage in the VW-based intervention compared to face-to-face (number of sessions completed). Potential efficacy will be determined by comparing change in glucose control and self-management behaviors between the experimental and control groups, from baseline to the 4-month follow-up.

Assessments will be performed at baseline and at 4-month follow-up. HbA1c tests will be used to assess average blood glucose level over the previous 2-3 months. Non-fasting venous blood samples from an antecubital vein will be collected after

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e24/

the subject remains seated for 10 minutes, in accordance with standard research protocols [16]. Boston Medical Center laboratories will analyze the specimens. At each time point, dietary intake will be assessed by two unannounced 24-hr dietary recalls (24HRs) [17] administered on randomly selected days (60% probability of a weekday and 40% probability of a weekend day). 24HRs are well suited for the characteristics of the target population (ie, language, illiteracy/low educational level, ethnic foods) that limit use of other/additional assessment methods. Also at each time point, 24-hour physical activity recalls will be administered immediately after the 24-hr dietary recalls [18], followed by recalls of blood glucose self-monitoring and medication adherence. Other measures will include blood pressure [19], cholesterol, body mass index, waist and hip circumference, depressive symptoms [20,21], self-efficacy for diabetes management [22], health literacy [23], social support [24,25], perceived stress [26], and quality of life [27]. Demographic factors, smoking history, alcohol intake, current use of prescription and non-prescription medications, as well as use of home remedies, and experience with computers and the Internet will be assessed via survey. We will assess patient satisfaction at the 4-month follow-up. Intervention implementation costs (costs that would be incurred if the intervention were to be implemented outside the context of the research project) will be tracked.

## **Data Management**

StudyTrax (v3.0.0103), a web-based electronic data capture software, will be developed to house case report forms for data collected throughout the study. Case report forms will be developed to include field-specific validation code, procedures to check data ranges, and reminders to enter required data to ensure data integrity. Research staff utilizing the database will be provided role-specific privileges to the database. Two members of the study staff will perform double data entry on all clinical measures. Dietary data will be collected using the Nutrition Data System for Research (NDSR) database. Physical activity data will be collected on case report forms designed in Microsoft Access.

## **Quantitative Evaluation: Analytic Plan**

## Sample Size and Power Calculations

As a comparative effectiveness study, patients in both arms will receive interventions potentially resulting in improvements in the primary outcomes. Hence, a very large sample size would be required to demonstrate either statistically significant comparative effectiveness or superiority of one group over the other. As a result, and in recognition of the project's status as a feasibility study, the study was powered to be able to demonstrate within group improvements in one of the key outcomes: physical activity. A sample size of 47 was determined to be sufficient to show a within group improvement, from pre-to post-, of 20% of the sample from inactive to moderate intensity physical activity, with a power of 80% at 0.05% level of significance.

## Analysis and Statistical Tests

Our null hypothesis is that there will be no significant differences in outcome measures between the VW and

XSL•FO RenderX

face-to-face conditions. We will test this null hypothesis against the alternative that the VW condition is not as effective as face-to-face intervention using a two-sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov test for changes distributions of A1c. In other words, the VW intervention will be as good as or better than face-to-face intervention in decreasing A1c. The *P* values will be calculated using binomial tests for proportions and *t* tests for continuous variables. We will use RStudio (version 0.96.330) [28] for statistical analysis.

## **Qualitative Evaluation**

Following completion of the intervention delivery phase, focus groups will be conducted to qualitatively compare the experiences of participants assigned to the VW vs. the face-to-face condition. A total of 40 randomly selected participants will be invited to participate in four focus groups (expecting that 8-10 participants per group will attend): two groups will include VW participants, and the other two will include face-to-face participants. Participants will be consented for participation in, and recording of, the group discussions. We will offer a monetary incentive of US \$40 and travel expenses to encourage participation. Two analysts will independently review transcripts of discussions, identifying key words and themes (in vivo coding) related to their experiences of living with diabetes, decision-making about treatments and lifestyle changes, and involvement in the VW or face-to-face intervention. A grounded theory approach will be used [29]. Constant comparative analysis will be used to relate the transcribed focus group interview data through ideas to core concerns. The first approach will involve open coding using a meaningful phrase by meaningful phrase strategy. During the open coding process, data will be coded for any and all categories. Focused codes will be created for sorting and synthesizing the initial codes to organize the data, using the most significant and/or frequent earlier codes to sift through the data. From focused codes, memos will be generated theorizing about how codes relate to ideas and characterizing the emerging theory. Memos will be sorted into concepts demonstrating relationships between concepts that derive from memos. The formulation of themes and codes drawn directly from different sections of the data, and then used to code the transcripts themselves, is a pivotal step toward building an in-depth analysis.

## Discussion

Glycemic control is critical to preventing health disparities in diabetes morbidity and mortality among racial/ethnic minorities

such as African Americans. Strategies to maximize access to treatment and self-management support are needed for this and other vulnerable populations. Technology-based interventions may be able to increase access but further evidence is needed to support the feasibility of such interventions with populations that have limited educational and computer literacy. By comparing a VW-based intervention format to a traditional face-to-face format for delivery of a diabetes self-management intervention to a sample of low-income African American women, this study will provide evidence of feasibility for a population with considerable health disparities in diabetes prevalence and outcomes and who also have limited experience with computers.

The strengths of the study are many. They include: (1) assessment of feasibility of utilizing a VW platform for patient health education, (2) randomization of study participants to a face-to-face condition (ie, traditional approach) vs. a VW environment condition, holding constant the intervention content, (3) recruitment of inner city minority participants thus addressing so called digital-divide issues, (4) standardization of hardware used to access the VW, (5) use of a control group that has similar hardware and training, (6) robust measurement of behavioral outcomes, and (7) inclusion of a qualitative post-intervention.

Limitations of this study include: (1) the pilot nature of the study. Adequately powering a comparative effectiveness study, given the characteristics of our primary outcomes, will require a larger sample size, beyond the scope of this project, and (2) the study focus is on a subset of the population, namely low-income African American women with uncontrolled diabetes. Thus, the generalizability of our findings to men and to non-underserved populations might be limited.

Evidence of feasibility and potential efficacy is needed so that new interventions can be designed for VW implementation and high reach to diverse populations. Our previous work has demonstrated the ability of VW-based training to change the professional behavior of clinicians [30,31]. We anticipate that the current study will produce valuable data and insights to help guide application of these findings to VW-based interventions targeting not only diabetes self-management but also other chronic conditions and health behaviors, including such critical topics as medication adherence, substance abuse cessation and treatment, individual and group-based mental health treatments, many possible rehabilitative services, and other health services.

## Acknowledgments

This study is funded by a grant from the National Institutes of Health/National Library of Medicine (grant # RC1 LM010412).

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.



## **Multimedia Appendix 1**

Comparison of virtual world (VW) versus face-to-face implementation of the Women in Control curriculum.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 173KB - resprot\_v1i2e24\_app1.pdf]

## Multimedia Appendix 2

NIH Reviewers Statements.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 47KB - resprot v1i2e24 app2.pdf]

## Multimedia Appendix 3

Response to Reviewers Critiques.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 103KB - resprot\_v1i2e24\_app3.pdf]

## References

- 1. World Health Organization (WHO). Diabetes fact sheet. 2012 Sep. URL: <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/</u> <u>fs312/en/index.html</u> [accessed 2012-10-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6Bg3OYNn8]
- 2. National Diabetes Information Clearinghouse (NDIC). National diabetes statistics, 2011 URL: <u>http://diabetes.niddk.nih.gov/</u> <u>dm/pubs/statistics/</u> [accessed 2012-10-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6Bg4mSfSA]
- American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes--2012. Diabetes Care 2012 Jan;35 Suppl 1:S11-S63. [doi: <u>10.2337/dc12-s011</u>] [Medline: <u>22187469</u>]
- 4. Huffman FG, Vaccaro JA, Exebio JC, Zarini GG, Katz T, Dixon Z. Television watching, diet quality, and physical activity and diabetes among three ethnicities in the United States. J Environ Public Health 2012;2012:191465 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2012/191465] [Medline: 22851980]
- 5. Nelson KM, Reiber G, Boyko EJ. Diet and exercise among adults with type 2 diabetes: findings from the third national health and nutrition examination survey (NHANES III). Diabetes Care 2002 Oct;25(10):1722-1728. [Medline: 12351468]
- 6. Norris SL, Engelgau MM, Narayan KM. Effectiveness of self-management training in type 2 diabetes: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Diabetes Care 2001 Mar;24(3):561-587. [Medline: <u>11289485</u>]
- Gucciardi E, Demelo M, Offenheim A, Stewart DE. Factors contributing to attrition behavior in diabetes self-management programs: a mixed method approach. BMC Health Serv Res 2008;8:33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-8-33] [Medline: 18248673]
- Ramadas A, Quek KF, Chan CK, Oldenburg B. Web-based interventions for the management of type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review of recent evidence. Int J Med Inform 2011 Jun;80(6):389-405. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2011.02.002</u>] [Medline: <u>21481632</u>]
- 9. US Department of Commerce. Exploring the digital nation: Home broadband internet adoption in the United States. Washington, DC: National Telecommunication and Information Administration; 2010. URL: <u>http://www.esa.doc.gov/sites/</u> <u>default/files/reports/documents/report.pdf</u> [accessed 2012-10-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6Bg9Ve39y]
- US Department of Commerce. Falling through the net: A survey of the "have nots" in rural and urban America. Washington, DC: National Telecommunications and Information Administration; 1995 Jul. URL: <u>http://www.ntia.doc.gov/ntiahome/fallingthru.html</u> [accessed 2012-10-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6BgAHq9ze]
- 11. Taylor TL. Living digitally: Embodiment in virtual worlds. In: Schroeder R, editor. The Social Life of Avatars. London: Springer; 2002:40-62.
- 12. Hansen MM. Versatile, immersive, creative and dynamic virtual 3-D healthcare learning environments: A review of the literature. J Med Internet Res 2008;10(3):e26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1051] [Medline: 18762473]
- 13. Blascovich J, Bailenson JN. Infinite Reality Avatars, Eternal Life, New Worlds, and the Dawn of the Virtual Revolution. New York: William Morrow; 2011.
- National Institutes of Health, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Power to prevent: A family lifestyle approach to diabetes prevention URL: <u>http://ndep.nih.gov/media/power-to-prevent-508.pdf?redirect=true</u> [accessed 2012-10-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6Bg4vGmxA]
- 15. Bandura A. Self-efficacy: The Exercise of Control. New York: W.H. Freeman; 1997.
- 16. Merriam PA, Ockene IS, Hebert JR, Rosal MC, Matthews CE. Seasonal variation of blood cholesterol levels: Study methodology. J Biol Rhythms 1999 Aug;14(4):330-339. [Medline: <u>10447314</u>]
- Krantzler NJ, Mullen BJ, Schutz HG, Grivetti LE, Holden CA, Meiselman HL. Validity of telephoned diet recalls and records for assessment of individual food intake. Am J Clin Nutr 1982 Dec;36(6):1234-1242 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>7148742</u>]
- Matthews CE, Freedson PS, Hebert JR, Stanek EJ, Merriam PA, Ockene IS. Comparing physical activity assessment methods in the Seasonal Variation of Blood Cholesterol Study. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2000 May;32(5):976-984. [Medline: <u>10795789</u>]

- Chobanian AV, Bakris GL, Black HR, Cushman WC, Green LA, Izzo JL, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure, National High Blood Pressure Education Program Coordinating Committee. The Seventh Report of the Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure: the JNC 7 report. JAMA 2003 May 21;289(19):2560-2572. [doi: 10.1001/jama.289.19.2560] [Medline: 12748199]
- 20. Sawyer-Radloff L. The CES-D scale: A self-report depression scale for research in the general population. Applied Psychological Measurement 1977;1(3):385-401.
- Reuland DS, Cherrington A, Watkins GS, Bradford DW, Blanco RA, Gaynes BN. Diagnostic accuracy of Spanish language depression-screening instruments. Ann Fam Med 2009;7(5):455-462 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1370/afm.981</u>] [Medline: <u>19752474</u>]
- 22. Rosal MC, Carbone ET, Goins KV. Use of cognitive interviewing to adapt measurement instruments for low-literate Hispanics. Diabetes Educ 2003;29(6):1006-1017. [Medline: <u>14692374</u>]
- Wallace LS, Rogers ES, Roskos SE, Holiday DB, Weiss BD. Brief report: Screening items to identify patients with limited health literacy skills. J Gen Intern Med 2006 Aug;21(8):874-877 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1525-1497.2006.00532.x] [Medline: 16881950]
- 24. Sherbourne CD, Stewart AL. The MOS social support survey. Soc Sci Med 1991;32(6):705-714. [Medline: 2035047]
- 25. Sherbourne CD, Meredith LS. Quality of self-report data: A comparison of older and younger chronically ill patients. J Gerontol 1992 Jul;47(4):S204-S211. [Medline: <u>1624716</u>]
- 26. Cohen S, Kamarck T, Mermelstein R. A global measure of perceived stress. J Health Soc Behav 1983 Dec;24(4):385-396. [Medline: <u>6668417</u>]
- 27. Jenkinson C, Layte R, Jenkinson D, Lawrence K, Petersen S, Paice C, et al. A shorter form health survey: Can the SF-12 replicate results from the SF-36 in longitudinal studies? J Public Health Med 1997 Jun;19(2):179-186 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 9243433]
- 28. RStudio: Integrated development environment for R (version 0.96.330) computer software. 2012. URL: <u>http://www.rstudio.com/ide/</u> [accessed 2012-10-30] [WebCite Cache ID 6BoGNGtRA]
- 29. Charmaz K. Constructing Grounded Theory: A Practical Guide Through Qualitative Analysis. London, UK: Sage Publications; 2006.
- 30. Mitchell S, Heyden R, Heyden N, Schroy P, Andrew S, Sadikova E, et al. A pilot study of motivational interviewing training in a virtual world. J Med Internet Res 2011;13(3):e77 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1825] [Medline: 21946183]
- Wiecha J, Heyden R, Sternthal E, Merialdi M. Learning in a virtual world: Experience with using second life for medical education. J Med Internet Res 2010;12(1):e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.1337</u>] [Medline: <u>20097652</u>]

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 31.10.12; peer-reviewed by M Hansen; accepted 16.11.12; published 17.12.12. Please cite as:

Rosal MC, Heyden R, Mejilla R, Rizzo DePaoli M, Veerappa C, Wiecha JM

Design and Methods for a Comparative Effectiveness Pilot Study: Virtual World vs. Face-to-Face Diabetes Self-Management JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e24 URL: http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e24/ doi:10.2196/resprot.2415 PMID:23612567

©Milagros C. Rosal, Robin Heyden, Roanne Mejilla, Maria Rizzo DePaoli, Chetty Veerappa, John M. Wiecha. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 17.12.2012. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

## A Serious Video Game to Increase Fruit and Vegetable Consumption Among Elementary Aged Youth (Squire's Quest! II): Rationale, Design, and Methods

Debbe Thompson<sup>1\*</sup>, Ph.D; Riddhi Bhatt<sup>2</sup>, MSW; Melanie Lazarus<sup>3\*</sup>, MPH; Karen Cullen<sup>1</sup>, DrPH; Janice Baranowski<sup>1</sup>, MPH; Tom Baranowski<sup>1</sup>, Ph.D

<sup>1</sup>USDA/ARS Children's Nutrition Research Center, Department of Pediatrics, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States

<sup>2</sup>Department of Pediatrics, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States

<sup>3</sup>St. Luke's Episcopal Hospital, Texas Heart Institute, 6770 Bertner Avenue, Houston, TX, United States

\*these authors contributed equally

## **Corresponding Author:**

Debbe Thompson, Ph.D USDA/ARS Children's Nutrition Research Center Department of Pediatrics Baylor College of Medicine 1100 Bates St Houston, TX, 77030 United States Phone: 1 713 798 7076 Fax: 1 713 798 7098 Email: dit@bcm.edu

## Abstract

**Background:** Youths eat fewer fruits and vegetables than recommended. Effective methods are needed to increase and maintain their fruit and vegetable consumption. Goal setting has been an effective behavior change procedure among adults, but has had limited effectiveness among youths. Implementation intentions are specific plans to facilitate goal attainment. Redefining goal setting to include implementation intentions may be an effective way to increase effectiveness. Video games offer a controlled venue for conducting behavioral research and testing hypotheses to identify mechanisms of effect.

**Objective:** This report describes the protocol that guided the design and evaluation of Squire's Quest! II, a video game aimed to increase child fruit and vegetable consumption.

**Methods:** Squire's Quest! II is a 10-episode videogame promoting fruit and vegetable consumption to 4th and 5th grade children (approximately 9-11 year old youths). A four group randomized design (n=400 parent/child dyads) was used to systematically test the effect of two types of implementation intentions (action, coping) on fruit and vegetable goal attainment and consumption of 4th and 5th graders. Data collection occurred at baseline, immediately post game-play, and 3 months later. Child was the unit of assignment. Three dietary recalls were collected at each data collection period by trained interviewers using the Nutrient Data System for Research (NDSR 2009). Psychosocial and process data were also collected.

**Results:** To our knowledge, this is the first research to explore the effect of implementation intentions on child fruit and vegetable goal attainment and consumption.

**Conclusions:** This intervention will contribute valuable information regarding whether implementation intentions are effective with elementary age children.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT01004094

(JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e19) doi:10.2196/resprot.2348

## **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

video game, nutrition, fruit, vegetable, children, intervention, action implementation intention, coping implementation intention, goal setting

## Introduction

Consuming adequate amounts of fruit and vegetables (FV) is part of a healthy lifestyle [1] and has been associated with decreased risk of chronic diseases such as certain cancers, cardiovascular disease, stroke, and diabetes [2]. National guidelines recommend that 9-13 year old youths consume 7-11 servings of FV each day, based on calorie needs [3]. However, less than 4% of children meet the minimum guideline, and fewer than 20% consume at least five servings each day [4]. Since adolescent dietary behaviors track into young adulthood [5], increasing and maintaining youths' FV consumption prior to adolescence could have substantial and sustained public health significance.

Video games are popular among youths [6]. Many youths have ready-access to cell phones, game consoles, and computers on which video games can be played [6]. High-speed home Internet access has increased among households with youths [6]. Therefore, online video games may be a familiar and convenient method to reach youths with health-enhancing programs. They also offer a mechanism for ensuring consistent intervention delivery, thus controlling for potential lack of fidelity to standardized content and implementation procedures potentially introduced by live instructors [7].

Serious video games, ie, video games designed to entertain as well as achieve change of some type [8], is an emerging genre [9], with some reported success at changing health behaviors [8]. Squire's Quest! increased FV consumption among 4<sup>th</sup> grade children [10]; however post-study consumption was still well-below recommended levels, suggesting additional investigation was needed. Secondary analyses revealed that goal setting was weakly related to goal attainment and FV consumption [11], suggesting that enhancing the goal setting component of Squire's Quest! may offer a mechanism to further enhance participants' FV consumption.

Implementation intentions are specific plans that identify how to achieve a goal [12]. They can take two forms: (1) action intentions, a specific plan of how a goal will be attained (ie, what, when, who), and (2) coping intentions, an if/then plan that identifies what solution an individual will enact if a specific obstacle or problem is encountered [12]. When forming an implementation intention, an individual determines in advance how to meet a goal by examining possible situations and selecting the ones most likely to lead to goal attainment [12]. Environmental cues rather than conscious thought trigger a goal-directed response, thereby automating behavior and increasing the likelihood the goal will be attained [13]. Implementation intentions have enhanced goal attainment across a variety of adult health behaviors [14-18]. There is some evidence they may be effective with youths - ie, adolescents who formed implementation intentions prior to initiating an academic goal were more likely to achieve the goal than adolescents who did not form an implementation intention [19].

Long-term behavior change is the ultimate goal for behavioral interventions [20]. However, little research has specifically addressed the issue of maintaining dietary behavior change [21]. While some dietary change interventions have occurred over a two-year period [22], no conceptual distinction was made between initiation and maintenance of change. Desired changes in targeted dietary behavior in the intervention group relative to the control group have shown mixed effects [23]. Among adults, outcome expectancy was conceptualized to be related to behavior initiation, while perceived satisfaction with behavioral change was conceptualized to be associated with maintenance [20]. Satisfaction is a continual assessment of whether the "benefits" of change were worth the effort to make and/or continue the change. Since high expectations may be more likely to lead to dissatisfaction, high outcome expectancies were hypothesized to be associated with greater behavioral initiation, but lower maintenance, while more modest expectations, were hypothesized to be associated with lower behavioral initiation, but greater maintenance [20].

Squire's Quest! II: Saving the Kingdom of Fivealot (SQ!2) is a 10-episode online video game designed to increase FV consumption among 4<sup>th</sup> and 5<sup>th</sup> grade children (roughly 9-11 year old youths). It is an updated and enhanced version of an earlier video game, Squire's Quest!, evaluated in 1999 and 2000 [10]. SQ!2 was supported by a parent component which included electronic newsletters and access to a parent-only website. The primary aim of SQ!2 was to test the effect of implementation intentions on FV goal attainment and consumption in pre-adolescents. An exploratory aim was to examine factors associated with maintenance of consumption. The protocol was approved by the institutional review board of the Baylor College of Medicine (H-18488) and registered with ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT01004094). This report describes the study protocol that guided the design and evaluation of the SQ!2 randomized controlled trial.

## Methods

## **Study Design**

This evaluation used a four-group, randomized design, with three data collection periods (baseline, post 1, post 2). Following baseline assessment, children were randomized to one of four groups: goal setting only (simple), goal setting + action intentions (action), goal setting + coping intentions (coping), or goal setting + action and coping intentions (both). Youths had up to three months to play all 10 episodes of the video game, where the appropriate goal-setting/implementation intentions were embedded in four versions of the game. Post 1 data collection occurred immediately upon completion of the 10 episodes or approximately 3 months after beginning game-play, whichever occurred first. Post 2 data collection occurred approximately 3 months after post 1 (Figure 1). The study was conducted from November 2009 through March 2011.

Thompson et al

Figure 1. Research design.



## **Participants**

Eligibility criteria for participants included: (1) a child in the 4<sup>th</sup> or 5<sup>th</sup> grade at time of enrollment, (2) fluent in English, (3) had access to a computer with high speed Internet, and (4) had a parent (or legal guardian) fluent in English or Spanish who was willing to participate in the study. Recruitment methods included standard procedures (ie, flyers and attendance at community events) and the volunteer database at the Children's Nutrition Research Center. Prior to participation, eligible parents and children provided written informed consent and child assent. The child was the unit of randomization.

#### Sample Size and Power

Sample size requirements were based on a power analysis (the number of participants needed to find an actual group difference) with FV as the primary outcome variable. A repeated measures analyses of variance with a 4-group design and 3-measurment periods was assumed. Allowing for a 30% attrition rate, a sample of 400 parent/child dyads (100 per group) provided adequate power (>80%) to detect a small effect size (ES=0.17) using a standard deviation of 1.5 from the original Squire's Quest! and a two-sided alternative with type I error rate of 0.05. This effect size (ES=0.17) translates to a detectable 0.51 or greater serving (ie, a half of a serving per day) group difference.

## Sample Characteristics

Four hundred multi-ethnic parent/child dyads were enrolled in the study. Fifty three percent of children were girls, while 47% were boys; racial/ethnic distribution was 37% White, 27% Hispanic, 26% Black, and 10% Other. Most parents were female (96%), and parent racial/ethnic distribution was similar to that of the children (41% White; 26% Hispanic; 26% Black; 7% Other).

#### Setting

Parents and children participated in separate intervention and data collection activities electronically (Internet or telephone) from locations of their choice (home or community). There were no face-to-face sessions.

#### Intervention

The intervention had both child and parent components. The child played a 10-episode online video game, while the parent received electronic newsletters and access to a parent website which was updated with new information10 times, corresponding to the 10-episode video game. The intervention was guided by a theoretical framework that incorporated social cognitive (behavioral and environmental factors) [24], self determination (motivation) [25], the elaboration likelihood model (information processing) [26], behavioral inoculation (resistance to temptation) [27], and maintenance theories (long-term behavior change) [20]. The conceptual model that

efficacy and outcome expectations. FV self efficacy and

outcome expectations influence short and long term FV consumption (maintenance). Outcome expectations also

influence satisfaction, which influences long term consumption.

In addition, the parent component (newsletters, website),

coupled with child asking behaviors and recipe preparation, influence parent involvement; parent involvement, FV tasting,

and FV preferences influence FV home availability and

accessibility and short and long-term FV consumption.

guided the intervention is presented in Figure 2. It provides an overview of how the intervention promotes short and long term FV consumption. The story, characters, and game mechanics (eg, interactivity) promote immersion, which increases exposure to the behavior change components (ie, program dose). Setting a goal and/or creating an implementation intention, developing core knowledge and skills, and engaging in key behavioral procedures (eg, schemas, decision making, resisting temptation, motivation, and character modeling) contribute to FV self

Figure 2. Conceptual model.



Notes: "Recipe Prep" = Recipe Preparation; FV = Fruit, Vegetable; Home Avail/Access = Home Availability/Accessibility, SE = SelfEfficacy; OE = Outcome Expectancies

## **Child Component: Video Game**

## Development

Multi-ethnic 4<sup>th</sup> and 5<sup>th</sup> grade children provided information for the development and initial testing of the video game. Children (n=15) provided feedback on behavior change components, the storyline, and the characters. Children (n=10) also participated in alpha and beta testing sessions. An experienced 4<sup>th</sup> grade teacher reviewed materials to assess developmental appropriateness and comprehension of key components. Children and their parents (n=20 dyads) also participated in a pilot study, which served as a final test for the intervention components, procedures, and data collection activities of the video game.

## Storyline

The story, written by a professional writer, was designed to appeal to 4<sup>th</sup> and 5<sup>th</sup> grade youths (ie, humor appropriate for children). It integrated the behavior change components into the action, which, in turn, advanced the storyline. The "backstory" (ie, the history) provided context for the storyline.

## **Backstory**

The medieval kingdom of Fivealot is a happy one; its prosperity is based on ancient knowledge of healthy nutrition and an abundance of good food, under the gentle guidance of King Brocwell and Queen Nutritia. Recently, Fivealot entered a truce with their underground-dwelling enemy, the Mog – or so they thought.

A nation of subterranean serpents and myopic moles, the Mog were jealous of Fivealot's good fortune. Although Brocwell and Nutritia had offered to share their country's bounty, the

Mog who were raised on a diet of sweets and fried foods, stubbornly refused to change their ways. The Mog King Snake, Sssynster, instead insisted that Fivealot change *their* habits – and the struggle was on.

Discovering that their army of fattened moles and slovenly snakes were no match for the energetic knights of Fivealot, Sssynster withdrew, realizing he could never best Brocwell and Nutritia in open conflict. His best hope was treachery.

The King and Queen of Fivealot's Head Chef, Supremo, was preparing to go to market one day. With the truce in effect, he suspected nothing – certainly not the tunnel dug into his kitchen by the Mog. Unbeknownst to Brocwell and Nutritia, Supremo simply disappeared, spirited away to the land of Mog.

Then came the second part of Sssynster's plan: a double agent, Moledred, had been placed on the kitchen staff, waiting for the opportunity to advance to the Head of the Kitchen. With the majority of knights away spreading the bounty of Fivealot, Moldred's mission was to prepare his specialty - fattening, unhealthy meals - for the King and Queen, and thus bring the kingdom to ruin. But what Sssynster and Moledred had not counted on was a Squire answering the King and Queen's call

Figure 3. Characters.

for brave young men and women to train in the ways of Fivealot and become knights themselves. A Squire...like you.

## Quest

To become a knight, the Squire had to acquire the coveted knowledge and skills of the Fivealot Knights. This is where the game began. In the quest for knighthood, the Squire had to overcome challenges. The challenges involved attaining "real world" FV consumption and recipe goals. As the Squire (ie, the participant) met their challenges, they earned badges and progressed in their journey towards knighthood. Because children typically consume well below the recommended level of daily FV [4], promoting a more modest goal appeared prudent; therefore, the goal promoted in the game was to ultimately consume at least 5 daily servings of FV.

## **Characters**

The protagonists included six characters that were "human" in appearance (King Brocwell; Queen Nutritia; Merlin the Wizard; Knights Alex and Julie; Chef Supremo) and a robot (M.I.C.H.A.E.L.), who assisted with kitchen tasks. The antagonists were snakes (King Sssynster, a cobra; the snake army) and moles (Moledred, the imposter chef) (Figure 3).



## Game Content and Structure

The genre was action adventure. The game contents and flow

Figure 4. Game flow diagram.

diagram (ie, the video game structure) are presented in Figure 4 and are briefly described below.



## Login Screen

Players were assigned a unique username and password with which to login to the game. After completing baseline data collection, players were randomly assigned to one of four versions of the game. Their username automatically routed them to their assigned version. The only differences between the groups were the implementation intentions described in the goal review and goal setting sections below.

## Goal Review and Problem Solving

Goal review appeared in episodes 2-10. It occurred at the beginning of each episode and was led by the Wizard. Players reported whether they met the two types of goals set during the previous episode: a FV consumption goal and a FV recipe preparation goal. In the video game, goals were referred to as challenges to be consistent with the "quest" towards knighthood. Players in one of the three groups that created an implementation intention reported whether they followed it. Players, regardless of group assignment, also reported whether they used the skills learned in the video game (ie, self monitoring, problem solving, and asking/negotiation) to help them meet their goals. For each unmet goal, the player participated in a problem solving sequence to identify the problem that kept them from meeting their goal. Players received feedback statements (tailored to their level of success in meeting their goals and/or whether they used skills to help them meet their goals). Players were then asked whether the effort they put into eating FV was worth it (an assessment of satisfaction). To reinforce goal commitment, they were then encouraged to type in a positive self statement (eg, "Setting and meeting my challenges shows I've got what it takes to be a winner!") and read it out loud with conviction.

## **Badges**

Badges were awarded in episodes 2 - 10 for meeting the goals set in the previous episode. Players could earn up to two badges each episode, one for meeting the FV goal and one for meeting the FV recipe goal. Total number of badges earned determined level of knighthood. There were five levels, ranging from the lowly Honorary Knight to the coveted Platinum Knight. Badges appeared on the player's coat of arms (or shield) displayed in the castle foyer (Figure 5).

Figure 5. Shield with badges.



## **Cut Scenes**

The cut scenes were animated video clips that presented the story. The story was told from the second person perspective. The cut scenes provided an opportunity for the characters to serve as role models through dialogue and action. To make the player feel "part of the action", the characters "spoke" to the player by referring to him/her as "Squire".

## Knowledge + Mini-Game

This component appeared in episodes 1 - 10. It presented basic knowledge [24] about fruit, 100% juices, and vegetables (Table 1) and then reviewed, refined, and reinforced it in a timed "mini-game" (Table 2). The knowledge provided information the player needed to successfully complete the episode. Mini-games (Figure 6) contained progressively more difficult levels to promote mastery learning [28]. Game characters led this component.

Table 1. Knowledge topics.

Episode	Topic	
1	100% fruit juices vs imposters; juice portion size	
2	Real fruit vs fruit imposters	
3	Real vegetables vs vegetable imposters	
4	Recipe substitutions	
5	Reinforcing portion size; memory joggers (eg, baseball, tennis ball)	
6	FV for breakfast; breakfast on the go	
7	FV in fast food restaurants	
8	FV vs non-FV	
9	Identifying number of FV in recipes	
10	Review	

Table 2. Mini-game descriptions.

Episode	Game	Description
1	100% Fruit Juice	The player creates chains by linking together 100% juices, 100% juice blends, or Not Juices.
2	Find the Fruit	From the various foods floating in the bubbles, the player must pop the bubbles with the fruits. The player must also identify fruit imposters $-ie$ , high fat items containing some or no fruit.
3	Find the Veggies	From the various foods floating in the bubbles, the player must pop the bubbles with the veggies. The player must also identify veggie imposters – ie, high fat items containing some or no veggies.
4	Lunch-a-Bunch	The player must add fruit and vegetable items to the passing lunch trays to create lunches with 2 servings of fruit and/or vegetables.
5	The Mole Pole 1	A trivia game which tests the player's knowledge of the information presented this episode; each correct answer allows them to progress through a tunnel. The goal is to exit the tunnel and get past the moles that guard it.
6	Breakfast Blunder	The player must add possible breakfast fruit and vegetable items to the food trays to create a breakfast with 2 servings of fruit and vegetables.
7	Fast Food Frenzy	The player must find possible fruit and vegetable choices on the menus of 3 different types of restaurants.
8	The Good Stuff	From the various foods floating in the bubbles, the player must pop the bubbles with fruit and vegetables.
9	The Mole Pole 2	A trivia game which tests the player's knowledge of the information presented this episode; each correct answer allows them to progress through a tunnel. The goal is to exit the tunnel and get past the moles that guard it.
10	The Mole Pole Re- view	This trivia game is structured similarly to the others; the difference is it tests knowledge presented from all previous episodes.

Figure 6. Mini-game screen shot.



## **Decision Making**

Decision making, led by the Wizard, occurred in episodes 1 - 10. In episode 1, players selected their top three personal values;

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e19/

for each value, they then selected "reason statements" that linked meeting their FV goals with each personal value they selected [29]. For example, if a player chose "being successful" as one of their personal values, they were presented with the following



reason statements: "Meeting my FV challenge" (ie, FV goal); "shows I can meet my challenges"; "shows I can make hard decisions and stick to them"; and "shows I work hard for what I want". Each episode, the Wizard identified their goal (ie, challenge) (eg, "to eat fruit for snack"), then asked: "Which of these is a good reason to [insert challenge]?" The three values and corresponding reason statements the player selected in episode 1 were then presented for selection. This component was guided by Self Determination Theory, particularly the basic psychological need of "relatedness" - ie, one's sense of connection [25].

## Table 3. FV goals per episode.

## **Goal Setting**

Goal setting, led by the Wizard, appeared in each episode. This component was tailored and interactive. In episode 1, players selected their favorite FV. In each episode, they were then presented with their favorite FV and decided which ones to use to meet their goal; they also selected the day(s) they would meet their goal. The FV goals became more difficult as the game progressed (Table 3). The groups varied only on whether they created an implementation intention during goal setting (eg, group 1 created no implementation intentions; group 2 created action intentions; group 3 created coping intentions; group 4 created both action and coping intentions).

Episode	Food	When	# of Days
1	F	Breakfast	1
2	F	Snack	1
3	V	Lunch	1
4	F or V	Dinner	1
5	V	Snack	2
6	F	Breakfast & Snack	2
7	V	Lunch & Dinner	2
8	FV schema	All day	3
9	FV schema	All day	3
10	FV schema	All day	daily

## **Behavioral Inoculation**

Led by King Brocwell (the Good Guy) and King Sssynster (the Bad Guy), this component strengthened the player's resistance to potential temptations [27]. King Brocwell supported the player's decision to meet their goal and identified a potential temptation (ie, friends). King Sssynster then tried to tempt the player to not achieve their goal. King Brocwell refuted the temptation by reminding the player why meeting the goal was important to them (ie, the value-reason statement they selected in decision making).

## Skills

This component appeared in episodes 1 - 4 to teach self-regulatory skills (ie, self monitoring, problem solving,

#### Table 4. Schemas.

asking/negotiation). This component was led by the game characters. Skills were taught through character modeling and dialogue.

## Schemas

Schemas are guides for complex behavior [30-31]. In the video game, schemas were presented in episodes 5 - 8 to demonstrate various ways in which to consume 5 servings of FV a day. In these episodes, characters (Knights Julie and Alex, King, Queen, Wizard) each presented their schema (Table 4) then created a sample menu to demonstrate how they used it to plan their meals/snacks each day. The character then asked the player to locate the FV in the sample menu.

Character	Schema
Knight Julie	1B, 1L, 1D, 2S
Knight Alex	2B, 1L, 1D, 1S
King	1B, 0L, 2D, 2S
Queen	1B, 2L, 1D, 1S
Wizard	1B, 1L, 2D, 1S

## Virtual Kitchen

RenderX

The virtual kitchen appeared in all ten episodes. It taught food preparation skills, planning, sequencing, and kitchen safety and

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e19/

promoted parent involvement. This component was interactive and included pre-steps involved in recipe preparation (ie, asking for permission, washing hands, etc) as well as a "virtual preparation" of the recipe (ie, a video clip that demonstrated

how to prepare the recipe). With the exception of episode 1, players had a choice of recipes to prepare (Table 5). Recipes were selected from the Knight-in-Training cookbook. The robot, M.I.CH.A.E.L., guided the player through the Virtual Kitchen.

At the end of this component, the player selected one of the recipes presented in each episode and set a goal to make the recipe at home.

Table 5.	Recipes	by	episode.
----------	---------	----	----------

Episode	Recipe Type	Recipe 1	Recipe 2	Recipe 3
1	Juice	Razzle Dazzle Juicy Delight	n/a	n/a
2	Fruit	On-the-Run Trail Mix	Fantastic Fruit & Chocolate	n/a
3	Vegetable	Fiery's Black Bean Burrito	M.I.C.H.A.E.L.'S Veggie Wrap	n/a
4	Fruit & Vegetable	Fivealot's Famous Fruit Salad	Knight Brocwell's Stuffed Potatoes	n/a
5	Vegetable	Knight Julie's Veggie Snack	Fiery's Bean Dip	n/a
6	Fruit	Royal Smoothie	Squire's Strawberry Split	n/a
7	Fruit & Vegetable	Power Pudding Dip	Wizard's Magic Pocket	n/a
8	Fruit & Vegetable	Celebration Sundae	Chef Supremo's Cinnamon Carrots	n/a
9	Fruit & Vegetable	Queen Nutritia's Dip	Platinum Sweet Potatoes	n/a
10	Fruit & Vegetable	Knight Alex's Banana Pops	Golden Knight Burrito	Moledred's Ice Pops

## **Parent Component**

The parent component consisted of newsletters and access to a parent website. Each is briefly described below.

## Newsletters

Parent newsletters were designed to promote parent involvement (Figure 7). There were ten newsletters – one matched to each episode of the video game. Newsletters were emailed to parents

Table 6. Parent newsletter.

prior to each episode of the video game. Each newsletter identified the child's general FV and recipe goals for the upcoming episode and provided tips for what the parent could do to help their child meet their goals. Each newsletter also identified vocabulary words (ie, words used in video game with which the child may not be familiar, such as "ingredients") and provided healthy FV recipes and suggestions for overcoming common FV problems families face when attempting to eat FV (Table 6).

Episode	Focus	Recipe
1	100% Fruit Juice	Peach Cobbler
2	Added Sugar in Fruits	Strawberry Shortcake
3	Vegetables	Black Bean Soup
4	Fruit and Vegetable Substitutions	Vegetable Lasagna
5	Serving Size Review	Tomato and Bean Dip
6	Vegetables for Breakfast	Breakfast Potatoes
7	Eating Out	Hearty Rice
8	Empty Calories	Round Table Pizza
9	Serving Size Comparisons	Vegetable Soup
10	Final Tips	Blueberry Dessert Cups

Figure 7. Parent newsletter.



## Website

The parent website provided information to create a healthy home nutrition and activity environment. It included family-friendly recipes and addressed topics such as grocery shopping, eating on the go, and getting the family involved in physical activity. Information was routinely updated (ie, ten updates corresponding to the ten-episode video game) (Table 7).

Table 7. Parent website.

Episode	Focus	Recipes
1	Shopping Lists & A Well-Stocked Kitchen	Baked apples, cinnamon roasted sweet potatoes, spinach and strawberry salad
2	Getting Kids Involved in the Kitchen	Vegetable pasta, baked bananas, veggie grilled cheese
3	Family Meals	Spanish paella, gazpacho, and strawberry flurry
4	Family Activity Time	Bran muffins, vegetable omelet, fruit parfait
5	Buying & Storing Food	Chicken salad sandwich
6	Food & Kitchen Safety	Veggie couscous, turkey, light fish, pineapple orange frozen yogurt
7	Nutrition Facts Labels	Slow cooker chicken, three bean chili, tossed salad, potato bake
8	Portion Control	Layered salad, brown rice casserole, fruit salad, and chocolate berry cake
9	Eating on the Go	Fruit and nut mix, hummus with veggies, chicken salad sandwich
10	Substitutions	Broccoli mac-and-cheese, baked chicken nuggets, black bean brownies, pineapple angel food cake

#### Procedures

## Intervention

When children were eligible to play the next episode of the video game, an email with a link to the login page was automatically generated and sent to them. Simultaneously, parents received emails with links to the online newsletters and the parent website. An access database tracked participants (parents, children) through the program. Alerts notified the research team when parents and children were eligible to receive the next intervention component (ie, next game episode; next newsletter) and when they were eligible for data collection. The video game was programmed to notify the intervention staff when the child completed an episode, and emails were automatically generated when a parent opened the newsletter email or when the parent website was accessed. If the child did not log on to play the next episode of the game within approximately five days, they were contacted by the intervention staff. The intervention research team was available by email or phone to provide technical assistance. As part of process evaluation, all participant contacts were recorded in the access database.

## Data Collection

To assess usual dietary intake, three unannounced 24-hour dietary recalls were obtained at each data collection period using the Nutrient Data System for Research (NDSR-2009), University of Minnesota [32]. The 24-hour dietary recalls were conducted directly with the child; two weekday and one weekend day recalls were obtained using a laptop computer, NDSR-2009 software [33], and 2-dimensional food and measurement models. A paper copy of the models was given to the family for use in the telephone interviews. The child was asked where each meal/snack was eaten, who else was present, whether a TV was on, and whether they watched TV during the meal. The dietary recalls were analyzed for servings of FV [34].

Child psychosocial characteristics (FV preferences [35], asking behaviors [36], self efficacy [37], and outcome expectancies [38]) were collected using existing measures, some of which were adapted for this study. Using the work of Rothman [20] and Green and Brock [39] respectively, child satisfaction and game immersion were assessed using scales developed for this study. Social desirability [40-41] was also collected to control for potential bias in self report data. Brief, semi-structured interviews were conducted with children to further assess their reactions to the game. Parents provided self report data (parent FV consumption [42], home FV availability [43], home FV accessibility [36, 44], family barriers to eating FV [45], parent self efficacy to get their family to eat FV [45], child FV asking behaviors [36], and child executive function [46]). In addition, they provided demographic information at baseline. Self-report data were collected online over a secure, password protected website. Parents and children were each provided unique passwords with which to log on to the data collection website.

Following the framework of Baranowski and Jago [47], process data were collected through staff logs, as children navigated the game, and as parents accessed the parent components. Examples of process data included: recruitment of participants, maintenance of participation, implementation (fidelity and extent), implementation barriers, program exposure, initial use of program, continued use of the program, and contamination. Implementation and exposure assessments were documented using electronic logon records. Game-play data (Figure 4) were collected as children played each episode (eg, logons, goals set, goals attained, values and reasons, number of badges, recipes selected, action intentions, coping intentions). Email open rate (parent newsletters) and visits to the parent website were also collected. Self-report appeal and use of intervention components were collected from children and parents at post 1 data collection (Table 8).



Table 8. Measures

Who	How	What	Baseline	During	Post 1 <sup>a</sup>	Post 2 <sup>b</sup>
Child	Phone	FV intake (3, 24hr DR <sup>c</sup> )	x		x	x
	Online	FV Preferences	x		х	x
		FV Asking Behaviors	Х		х	х
		FV Self Efficacy	х		х	х
		FV Outcome Expectations	х		х	х
		Satisfaction With Change		х	x	х
		Immersion			x	
		Social Desirability	х			
		Game Likability			х	
	Gameplay	Logons		х		
		Responses/Choices (ie, goals set/attained, values/reasons, etc)		х		
	Interview	Game Reactions			x	х
Parent	Online	FV Intake (self)	х		x	х
		Home FV Availability	х		x	х
		Home FV Accessibility	х		x	x
		Family Barriers	х		x	x
		Self Efficacy	х		x	x
		Child Asking Behaviors	х		x	х
		Child Executive Function	х		x	х
		Demographic Information	х			
		Overall Reactions/Use			x	
		Email Open Rate		х		
		Website Visits		х		
Staff	Logs	Process Evaluation	х	х	х	х

<sup>a</sup>3 months after baseline assessment

<sup>b</sup>6 months after baseline assessment

<sup>c</sup>dietary recall

#### Data Analyses

Repeated measures analyses of variance/covariance, controlling for key demographic factors, baseline FV consumption, and energy intake, accommodated a two-level within factor (post 1, post 2) and a four-level between-groups factor design. The group's main effect allowed investigation of group differences, regardless of whether it was post 1 or post 2. The group-by-time interaction term allowed investigation of group differences over time, thus identifying if the treatment was maintained. Univariate outcomes (the number of goals achieved, number of newsletters read, etc) were analyzed using a univariate one between-group factor design. Secondary analyses included investigation of trends in goal attainment, FV consumption, and psychosocial factors across study weeks through the use of Chi-square analyses for ordinal repeated measures. A dose-response analysis was also planned.

## Discussion

This report provides a description of the protocol, procedures, and assessment tools for a video game designed to increase FV consumption among children. This research has several strengths. First, it is based on an earlier video game that successfully increased FV consumption in 4<sup>th</sup> grade children [10]; it was designed within a multi-theoretical framework; and it systematically varies only one component, implementation intentions. Strengths also include a large sample size, a focus on both parents and children, and examination of maintenance effects. Finally, it uses a strong measure of dietary data collection (3, 24 hour dietary recalls at each data collection period). However, this study is conducted in one specific geographic region, thus limiting its generalizability.

To our knowledge, this is the first study to test the effect of implementation intentions on FV goal attainment and consumption and to examine the relationship between

satisfaction and maintenance of behavior change in pre-adolescents. The intervention includes a parent and child component designed within an integrated theoretical framework to maximize the likelihood of behavior change. The successful implementation of this intervention will generate valuable information regarding the effectiveness of this approach for young children.

## Acknowledgments

This work is a publication of the United States Department of Agriculture/Agricultural Research Center (USDA/ARS), Children's Nutrition Research Center, Department of Pediatrics, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, Texas. This project was supported by the National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Child Health & Human Development grant #HD050595 (to Dr. Thompson). This work is also a publication of the USDA/ARS, Children's Nutrition Research Center, Department of Pediatrics, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, Texas, and funded in part with federal funds from the USDA/ARS under Cooperative Agreement No. 58-6250-0-008. The contents of this publication do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of the USDA, nor does mention of trade names, commercial products, or organizations imply endorsement from the U.S. government. We would like to thank the youth and expert panel members who participated in this research. We would also like to extend our thanks to Archimage, Inc. of Houston, TX for its game design services.

## **Authors' Contributions**

DT was principal investigator of the study, conceived the project; guided the design of the intervention components; oversaw data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation; and drafted the paper. RB was with the Department of Pediatrics, Baylor College of Medicine when this study was conducted and assisted with design, managed the project, including intervention delivery and data acquisition; she also assisted with revising the manuscript. She is now with the Department of Family and Community Medicine, Baylor College of Medicine. ML was the Director of Marketing with Archimage, Inc (Houston, TX) when the Squire's Quest! II game was designed and the executive producer for the Squire's Quest! II game with responsibilities including project management, client communications, documentation, and copywriting; she assisted with design and participated in revising the manuscript. KC was a co-investigator and assisted with conception; dietary data collection, analyses, and interpretation; and revising the current manuscript. JB helped design and manage the original Squire's Quest! study; she also participated in the design of the Squire's Quest! II study and participated in revising the present paper. TB was the principal investigator for the original Squire's Quest! Study; he participated in the conception and design of the Squire's Quest! II study and participated in the revising the present paper. All authors read and approved the manuscript.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

## References

- 1. US Department of Health and Human Services. Healthy People 2010 (second edition): With Understanding and Improving Health and Objectives for Improving Health (2 vols). 2000 Nov. URL: <u>http://www.healthypeople.gov/2010/Document/</u> <u>tableofcontents.htm#under</u> [accessed 2012-11-18] [WebCite Cache ID 6CGhRIHtH]
- 2. Bazzano LA. The high cost of not consuming fruits and vegetables. J Am Diet Assoc 2006 Sep;106(9):1364-1368. [doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2006.06.021] [Medline: 16963341]
- US Department of Agriculture and US Department of Health and Human Services. Dietary Guidelines for Americans, 2010 (7th Edition). 2010 Dec. URL: <u>http://www.health.gov/dietaryguidelines/2010.asp</u> [accessed 2012-11-17] [WebCite Cache ID 6CGiHtoLM]
- 4. Guenther PM, Dodd KW, Reedy J, Krebs-Smith SM. Most Americans eat much less than recommended amounts of fruits and vegetables. J Am Diet Assoc 2006 Sep;106(9):1371-1379. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jada.2006.06.002</u>] [Medline: <u>16963342</u>]
- Lien N, Lytle LA, Klepp KI. Stability in consumption of fruit, vegetables, and sugary foods in a cohort from age 14 to age 21. Prev Med 2001 Sep;33(3):217-226. [doi: <u>10.1006/pmed.2001.0874</u>] [Medline: <u>11522162</u>]
- 6. Rideout V, Foehr U, Roberts D. 2010. Generation M2: Media in the Lives of 0-18 Year Olds URL: <u>http://www.kff.org/</u> entmedia/mh012010pkg.cfm [accessed 2011-11-28] [WebCite Cache ID 63XUsUw6Q]
- Harris M, Rosenthal R. Mediation of interpersonal expectancy effects: 31 meta-analyses. Psychol Bull 1985;97(3):363-386 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.97.3.363]
- 8. Baranowski T, Buday R, Thompson DI, Baranowski J. Playing for real: video games and stories for health-related behavior change. Am J Prev Med 2008 Jan;34(1):74-82 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2007.09.027] [Medline: 18083454]
- 9. Thompson D. Designing serious video games for health behavior change: current status and future directions. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2012 Jul;6(4):807-811. [Medline: 22920806]
- 10. Baranowski T, Baranowski J, Cullen KW, Marsh T, Islam N, Zakeri I, et al. Squire's Quest! Dietary outcome evaluation of a multimedia game. Am J Prev Med 2003 Jan;24(1):52-61. [Medline: <u>12554024</u>]

- Cullen KW, Zakeri I, Pryor EW, Baranowski T, Baranowski J, Watson K. Goal setting is differentially related to change in fruit, juice, and vegetable consumption among fourth-grade children. Health Educ Behav 2004 Apr;31(2):258-269. [doi: 10.1177/1090198103260518] [Medline: 15090125]
- 12. Gollwitzer P. Implementation intentions: Strong effects of simple plans. Am Psychol 1999;54:493-503 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/0003-0663X.54.7.493]
- 13. Bargh JA, Gollwitzer PM, Lee-Chai A, Barndollar K, Trötschel R. The automated will: nonconscious activation and pursuit of behavioral goals. J Pers Soc Psychol 2001 Dec;81(6):1014-1027 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 11761304]
- 14. Armitage CJ. Evidence that implementation intentions reduce dietary fat intake: a randomized trial. Health Psychol 2004 May;23(3):319-323. [doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.23.3.319] [Medline: 15099174]
- Steadman L, Quine L. Encouraging young males to perform testicular self-examination: a simple, but effective, implementation intentions intervention. Br J Health Psychol 2004 Nov;9(Pt 4):479-487. [doi: <u>10.1348/1359107042304551</u>] [Medline: <u>15509356</u>]
- Sheeran P, Orbell S. Implementation intentions and repeated behaviour: Augmenting the predictive validity of the theory of planned behavior. European Journal of Social Psychology 1999;29:349-369. [doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1099-0992(199903/05)29:2/3<349::AID-EJSP931>3.0.CO;2-Y]
- Milne S, Orbell S, Sheeran P. Combining motivational and volitional interventions to promote exercise participation: protection motivation theory and implementation intentions. Br J Health Psychol 2002 May;7(Pt 2):163-184. [doi: 10.1348/135910702169420] [Medline: 14596707]
- Verplanken B, Faes S. Goal intentions, bad habits, and effects of forming implementation intentions on healthy eating. European Journal of Social Psychology 1999;29:591-604. [doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1099-0992(199908/09)29:5/6<591::AID-EJSP948>3.0.CO;2-H]
- Oettingen G, Honig G, Gollwitzer P. Chapter 2: Effective self-regulation of goal attainment. International Journal of Educational Research 2000;33:705-732. [doi: 10.1016/S0883-0355(00)00046-X]
- 20. Rothman AJ. Toward a theory-based analysis of behavioral maintenance. Health Psychol 2000 Jan;19(1 Suppl):64-69. [Medline: <u>10709949</u>]
- 21. Kumanyika SK, Van Horn L, Bowen D, Perri MG, Rolls BJ, Czajkowski SM, et al. Maintenance of dietary behavior change. Health Psychol 2000 Jan;19(1 Suppl):42-56. [Medline: <u>10709947</u>]
- 22. Reynolds KD, Franklin FA, Binkley D, Raczynski JM, Harrington KF, Kirk KA, et al. Increasing the fruit and vegetable consumption of fourth-graders: results from the high 5 project. Prev Med 2000 Apr;30(4):309-319. [doi: 10.1006/pmed.1999.0630] [Medline: 10731460]
- 23. Knai C, Pomerleau J, Lock K, McKee M. Getting children to eat more fruit and vegetables: a systematic review. Prev Med 2006 Feb;42(2):85-95. [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2005.11.012] [Medline: 16375956]
- 24. Bandura A. Social Foundations of Thought and Action: A Social Cognitive Theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall; 1986.
- 25. Ryan RM, Deci EL. Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. Am Psychol 2000 Jan;55(1):68-78. [Medline: <u>11392867</u>]
- 26. Petty R, Cacioppo J. Communication and persuasion: Central and peripheral routes to attitude change. New York: Springer-Verlag; 1986.
- 27. McGuire W. Resistance to persuasion conferred by active and passive prior refutation of the same and alternative counterarguments. Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology 1961;63:326-332 [FREE Full text]
- 28. Block J. Making school learning activities more playlike: flow and mastery learning. The Elementary School Journal 1984;85:64-75 [FREE Full text]
- Thompson D, Baranowski T, Buday R, Baranowski J, Juliano M, Frazior M, et al. In pursuit of change: youth response to intensive goal setting embedded in a serious video game. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2007 Nov;1(6):907-917 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>19885165</u>]
- 30. Matlin M. Chapter 7: Memory. Psychology (second edition). Fort Worth, TX: Harcourt Brace College Publishers; 1995.
- Thompson D, Baranowski J, Cullen K, Baranowski T. Development of a theory-based Internet program promoting maintenance of diet and physical activity change to 8 year old African American girls. Computers & Education 2007;48(3):446-459. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.compedu.2005.02.005</u>]
- 32. Lytle LA, Murray DM, Perry CL, Eldridge AL. Validating fourth-grade students' self-report of dietary intake: results from the 5 A Day Power Plus program. J Am Diet Assoc 1998 May;98(5):570-572. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0002-8223(98)00127-8</u>] [Medline: <u>9597031</u>]
- 33. Feskanich D, Sielaff BH, Chong K, Buzzard IM. Computerized collection and analysis of dietary intake information. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 1989 Sep;30(1):47-57. [Medline: <u>2582746</u>]
- 34. Cullen KW, Himes JH, Baranowski T, Pettit J, Stevens M, Slawson DL, et al. Validity and reliability of a behavior-based food coding system for measuring fruit, 100% fruit juice, vegetable, and sweetened beverage consumption: results from the Girls Health Enrichment Multisite Studies. Prev Med 2004 May;38 Suppl:S24-S33. [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2003.05.001] [Medline: 15072856]
- 35. Domel SB, Baranowski T, Davis H, Leonard SB, Riley P, Baranowski J. Measuring fruit and vegetable preferences among 4th- and 5th-grade students. Prev Med 1993 Nov;22(6):866-879. [doi: 10.1006/pmed.1993.1078] [Medline: 8115344]
- 36. Baranowski T, Davis M, Resnicow K, Baranowski J, Doyle C, Lin LS, et al. Gimme 5 fruit, juice, and vegetables for fun and health: outcome evaluation. Health Educ Behav 2000 Feb;27(1):96-111. [Medline: 10709795]
- 37. Domel S, Thompson W, Davis H, Baranowski T, Leonard S, Baranowski J. Psychosocial predictors of fruit and vegetable consumption among elementary school children. Health Educ Res 1996;11(3):299-308. [doi: 10.1093/her/11.3.299]
- Domel SB, Baranowski T, Davis HC, Thompson WO, Leonard SB, Baranowski J. A measure of outcome expectations for fruit and vegetable consumption among fourth and fifth grade children; reliability and validity. Health Education Research 1995;10(1):65-72. [doi: 10.1093/her/10.1.65]
- 39. Green MC, Brock TC. The role of transportation in the persuasiveness of public narratives. J Pers Soc Psychol 2000 Nov;79(5):701-721. [Medline: <u>11079236</u>]
- 40. Reynolds CR, Paget KD. National normative and reliability data for the Revised Children's Manifest Anxiety Scale. School Psychology Review 1983;12:324-336.
- 41. Dadds MR, Perrin S, Yule W. Social desirability and self-reported anxiety in children: an analysis of the RCMAS Lie scale. J Abnorm Child Psychol 1998 Aug;26(4):311-317. [Medline: <u>9700522</u>]
- 42. Thompson FE, Kipnis V, Subar AF, Krebs-Smith SM, Kahle LL, Midthune D, et al. Evaluation of 2 brief instruments and a food-frequency questionnaire to estimate daily number of servings of fruit and vegetables. Am J Clin Nutr 2000 Jun;71(6):1503-1510 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 10837291]
- 43. Cullen KW, Klesges LM, Sherwood NE, Baranowski T, Beech B, Pratt C, et al. Measurement characteristics of diet-related psychosocial questionnaires among African-American parents and their 8- to 10-year-old daughters: results from the Girls' health Enrichment Multi-site Studies. Prev Med 2004 May;38 Suppl:S34-S42. [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2003.05.002] [Medline: 15072857]
- 44. Hearn M, Baranowski T, Baranowski J, Doyle C, Smith M, Lin LS, et al. Environmental influences on dietary behaviors among children: availability and accessibility of fruits and vegetables enable consumption. J Health Educ 1998;29:26-32.
- 45. Cullen K, Baranowski T, Rittenberry L, Cosart C, Owens E, Hebert D, et al. Socioenvironmental influences on children's fruit, juice, and vegetable consumption as reported by parents: reliability and validity of measures. Public Health Nutrition 2000;3:345-356. [doi: 10.1017/S1368980000000392]
- 46. Gioia G, Isquith P, Guy S, Kenworthy L. BRIEF: Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Function Professional Manual. Lutz, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc; 2000.
- 47. Baranowski T, Jago R. Understanding the mechanisms of change in children's physical activity programs. Exerc Sport Sci Rev 2005 Oct;33(4):163-168. [Medline: <u>16239832</u>]

### Abbreviations

B: Breakfast FV: Fruit(s), vegetable(s) L: Lunch D: Dinner N/A: Not applicable S: Snack SQ!2: Squire's Quest! II: Saving the Kingdom of Fivealot

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 18.09.12; peer-reviewed by K Resnicow, L Diehl; comments to author 11.10.12; revised version received 02.11.12; accepted 05.11.12; published 21.11.12.

Please cite as: Thompson D, Bhatt R, Lazarus M, Cullen K, Baranowski J, Baranowski T A Serious Video Game to Increase Fruit and Vegetable Consumption Among Elementary Aged Youth (Squire's Quest! II): Rationale, Design, and Methods JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e19 URL: http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e19/ doi:10.2196/resprot.2348 PMID:23612366

©Debbe Thompson, Riddhi Bhatt, Melanie Lazarus, Karen Cullen, Janice Baranowski, Tom Baranowski. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 21.11.2012. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted

use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

### Protocol

# A Personalized Automated Messaging System to Improve Adherence to Prostate Cancer Screening: Research Protocol

Michael Juntao Yuan<sup>1\*</sup>, Ph.D; Emily T Hébert<sup>2\*</sup>, MPH; Ron K Johnson<sup>1\*</sup>; Ju Long<sup>3\*</sup>, Ph.D; Elizabeth A Vandewater<sup>2,4\*</sup>, Ph.D; Andrew J Vickers<sup>5\*</sup>, Ph.D

<sup>1</sup>Ringful Health, LLC, Austin, TX, United States

<sup>2</sup>University of Texas School of Public Health, Division of Health Promotion and Behavioral Sciences, Austin Regional Campus, Austin, TX, United States

<sup>3</sup>Texas State University, Department of Computer Information Systems & Quantitative Methods, San Marcos, TX, United States

<sup>4</sup>Michael & Susan Dell Center for Healthy Living, Austin, TX, United States

<sup>5</sup>Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center, Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, New York, NY, United States

<sup>\*</sup>all authors contributed equally

### **Corresponding Author:**

Michael Juntao Yuan, Ph.D Ringful Health, LLC 620 Congress Avenue Suite 320 Austin, TX, 78701 United States Phone: 1 5123006828 Fax: 1 5123006828 Email: michael@ringful.com

# Abstract

**Background:** Public adherence to cancer screening guidelines is poor. Patient confusion over multiple recommendations and modalities for cancer screening has been found to be a major barrier to screening adherence. Such problems will only increase as screening guidelines and timetables become individualized.

**Objective:** We propose to increase compliance with cancer screening through two-way rich media mobile messaging based on personalized risk assessment.

**Methods:** We propose to develop and test a product that will store algorithms required to personalize cancer screening in a central database managed by a rule-based workflow engine, and implemented via messaging to the patient's mobile phone. We will conduct a randomized controlled trial focusing on prostate cancer screening to study the hypothesis that mobile reminders improve adherence to screening guidelines. We will also explore a secondary hypothesis that patients who reply to the messaging reminders are more engaged and at lower risk of non-adherence. We will conduct a randomized controlled trial in a sample of males between 40 and 75 years (eligible for prostate cancer screening) who are willing to receive text messages, email, or automated voice messages. Participants will be recruited from a primary care clinic and asked to schedule prostate cancer screening at the clinic within the next 3 weeks. The intervention group will receive reminders and confirmation communications for making an appointment, keeping the appointment, and reporting the test results back to the investigators. Three outcomes will be evaluated: (1) the proportion of participants who make an appointment with a physician following a mobile message reminder, (2) the proportion of participants who keep the appointment, and (3) the proportion of participants who report the results of the screening (via text or Web).

**Results:** This is an ongoing project, supported by by a small business commercialization grant from the National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences of the National Institutes of Health.

**Conclusions:** We believe that the use of centralized databases and text messaging could improve adherence with screening guidelines. Furthermore, we anticipate this method of increasing patient engagement could be applied to a broad range of health issues, both inside and outside of the context of cancer. This project will be an important first step in determining the feasibility of personalized text messaging to improve long-term adherence to screening recommendations.

(JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e20) doi:10.2196/resprot.2398

### **KEYWORDS**

Early Detection of Cancer; Text Messaging; Prostatic Neoplasms

### Introduction

Cancer is the second most common cause of death in the United States. In 2012, it is estimated that 1.6 million new cancer cases will be diagnosed and 577,190 Americans will die from cancer [1]. At least half of all new cancer cases can be prevented or detected by screening. Cancer screening not only prevents unnecessary cancer deaths, but it also can reduce the morbidity of cancer before it progresses to more advanced aggressive stages [2]. Despite the benefits of cancer screening, public adherence to guidelines for cancer screening is often poor. *Healthy People 2020*, the 10-year health agenda released by the US Department of Health and Human Services, reported only modest screening rates for breast cancer, cervical cancer, and colorectal cancer. For example, only 59% of adults reported being up-to-date with colorectal cancer screening [3].

Although screening can be beneficial, it is important that patients consult their doctor to determine which types of screening are appropriate for them. Screening guidelines vary widely depending on the type of cancer, patient age, gender, ethnicity, and family history [2]. Patient confusion over multiple recommendations and modalities for cancer screening has been found to be a major barrier to screening adherence [4]. Complicating this matter is the fact that cancer screening schedules often need to be dynamically adjusted for each individual based on previous screening results and comorbidities. For example, the recommended interval between prostate-specific antigen (PSA) tests depends on the most recent PSA level, with longer intervals (ie, less frequent testing) for men with lower PSA levels [5]. Similar dynamic screening and intervention algorithms have been suggested for other types of cancers, such as breast cancer [6,7].

Patient engagement and reminders improve adherence to cancer screening guidelines [8]. The Community Preventive Services Task Force, an independent group of public health experts appointed by the Director of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, recommends using client reminders to increase cancer screening based on strong evidence of effectiveness; reminders have been shown to increase mammography screening by a median of 10% and increase colon cancer screening by a median of 15% [9]. Although short message service (SMS) text-based reminders sent to mobile phones have not been studied specifically for cancer screening, SMS-based reminders have been demonstrated to reduce patient appointment no-shows by up to 40% [10], and reduce nonadherence with chronic disease follow-ups by up to 35% [11]. SMS reminders have been used successfully in driving positive behavior changes in areas such as medication compliance [12], weight loss [13], smoking cessation [14], and physical activity promotion [15]. A recent review of the use of SMS technology for health behavior change interventions found that SMS interventions yielded positive behavior changes in 93% of studies reviewed. The authors found that SMS was an effective delivery method

for tailored advice and reminder messages for behaviors such as smoking cessation, diabetes self-management, and medication compliance [16].

In the United States, mobile messaging solutions have the potential to reach vast numbers of patients. It is estimated that 82% of American adults have cell phones, with the penetration rate skewed higher among African American and Latino populations [17]. A survey conducted in 2010 concluded that 79% of Medicaid patients with mobile phones are active SMS users [18]. Although this project focuses on prostate cancer screening, the product we propose to develop and test has wide-ranging implications for adherence to screening for many other types of cancers and for chronic disease management.

In this project, we propose to develop technology-based interventions, specifically, automated reminders sent to consumer mobile phones to help patients stay motivated and adherent with their personalized cancer screening schedules. The interventions are based on the theory of planned behavior [19], in particular the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT) [20] and the Patient Activation Measure (PAM) [21]. The UTAUT is a theoretical model and instrument used to assess the likelihood of user acceptance for new technology that posits that performance expectancy, effort expectancy, social influence, and facilitating conditions are direct determinants of use [20]. The UTAUT instrument is widely used to evaluate the factors affecting adoption of new technology solutions [22]. Patient activation refers to a person's ability and willingness to manage their health and health care [23]. The PAM is a 22-item assessment used to evaluate an individual's knowledge, beliefs, and confidence in managing their health [21]. High patient activation has been shown to be positively associated with utilization of preventive services, self-management behaviors, medication adherence, self-reported quality of care, and perceived doctor-patient communication [24-26].

We will conduct a randomized controlled trial to study the hypothesis that mobile reminders improve adherence to screening guidelines. Mobile messaging is an intervention that can be applied to a large population at low cost because it can be easily automated. We will also explore a secondary hypothesis that patients who reply to the messaging reminders are more engaged and at lower risk of nonadherence. The impact is that low-cost mobile messaging could be used as a signaling mechanism to predict patients with high risk of nonadherence, and resources could be optimized to target those patients for more intensive follow-ups.

In this project, we focus on prostate cancer to examine proof of principle for our general approach. We will use screening algorithms adapted from evidence-based prostate screening guidelines and multimedia content tailored for mobile phone use. We plan to subsequently develop and test algorithms for

other types of common cancers, such as breast cancer and colorectal cancer.

# Methods

### **Study Objectives**

Our primary hypothesis is that use of the mobile messaging reminders will increase patient adherence to screening. To evaluate this hypothesis, we will conduct a randomized controlled trial in a sample of males between 40 and 75 years (eligible for prostate cancer screening) who are willing to receive text messages, email, or automated voice messages. The sample will be recruited from male clinic patients who may or may not be in the clinic for prostate-related problems at the time of recruitment.

### **Eligibility Criteria**

The project will solicit participation from men aged 40-75 years of all ethnicities who visit 3 designated primary care clinics or 2 area community health fairs in Texarkana and New Boston, Texas, and Hope, Arkansas. No one will be excluded from the study on the basis of race/ethnicity or disability. Participants must have Internet access at home or at work and be willing to receive message-based communications on their choice of communication channels, including mobile messaging, email, and automated voice messages. Participants must be willing to pay for any communication costs charged by their wireless carrier, Internet provider, or phone company. Participants will be excluded if they have been diagnosed with prostate cancer, have had a PSA test in the previous 12 months, or have a current appointment for prostate cancer screening.

### Recruitment

All eligible participants will be given a study information sheet upon check-in at the clinic. The information sheet will include a brief description of the study, including the study purpose, procedure, and relevant risks and benefits. The information sheet will instruct interested participants how to enroll in the study through a secure Web portal where they will give their informed consent and mobile phone number to the research team. When available, a trained research nurse will explain the details of the study to eligible participants, answer any questions, and give the participants the opportunity to enroll during check-in at the clinic. Depending on their communication preference stated at the time of sign-up, participants will receive a text message or email on their phone or a voice message asking them to confirm that they would like to participate in the study. Patients must respond yes to this message to enroll in the study.

### **Study Procedures**

After initial recruitment, participants will be asked to complete a brief questionnaire about their basic sociodemographic details and relevant health history, as well as a Technology Acceptance Model questionnaire [22] and the PAM [21] to measure patient engagement in health care. Participants will be randomly assigned to the intervention or the control group using a random number generator. Randomization will be implemented automatically by a secure password-protected algorithm at the time the user signs up. This guarantees that assignment cannot be predicted before or changed after the participant is registered in the study. All participants will be asked to schedule prostate cancer screening at the clinic within the next 3 weeks, but only the intervention group will receive reminders and confirmation communications for (1) making an appointment, (2) keeping the appointment, and (3) reporting test results back to the investigators.

A flowchart of the reminders/confirmations and the expected responses from participants is illustrated in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Study flowchart.





### **Screening Reminders**

A screening schedule reminder will be sent to remind the participant to make an appointment for the screening test. One week after the participant confirms his appointment, the system will ask the participant whether he has seen the doctor yet. This message will repeat every 2 weeks until the participant confirms that he has kept the appointment and seen the physician. Then the system will ask the participant whether he has received his test results. This message will repeat every 3 days until the participant confirms that he has received the test results. The participant will then be asked to report back his test results to the research team using the secure Web portal.

In addition to the messages, we will also provide patient education and health promotion materials to the participants as part of the communication process. Upon initial registration on the secure website, a short video will explain the importance of prostate cancer screening and what to expect from the screening tests to both the control and intervention group participants. Once the intervention group participants confirm and report back their test results, another short video will explain ranges and meanings of test results, and the preventive actions the participant can take to reduce prostate cancer risk.

At the end of the study period, all patients will be contacted again through their preferred communication channels as indicated at sign-up (eg, text message, email, or voice message). All participants will be asked to report whether they have made appointments for prostate screening, kept their appointments, and reported back the test results. All participants will also be asked to complete a second questionnaire on the secure website that is a repeat of all initial questionnaire items except the sociodemographic items. The study period will last 8 weeks. Participants will receive a US \$10 gift card as compensation for their participation in this study.

### Evaluation

Three outcomes will be evaluated: (1) the proportion of participants who make an appointment with a physician following a mobile message reminder, (2) the proportion of participants who keep the appointment, and (3) the proportion of participants who report the results of the screening (via text or Web). To facilitate comparison with existing literature, each outcome will be examined independently as a separate outcome. Adherence rates in the intervention and control group will be compared using the Fisher exact test.

Our second goal is to examine user adoption, identify factors that foster or hinder adoption, and identify patients who are at high risk of nonadherence. Examination of these questions will utilize data from the intervention group only. We hypothesize that those who respond to texts will show higher levels of adherence and patient activation than those who do not respond. For these analyses, we will focus on both user responses to reminders and adherence, which will be treated as a continuous variable by counting the total number of adherence behaviors (eg, made the appointment, kept the appointment, and followed up after results). Factors that foster or hinder adoption will be examined both preintervention and postintervention utilizing all available measures, particularly those related to technology acceptance factors defined in the UTAUT model. Examination of user adoption and factors fostering or hindering adoption will be accomplished through ordinary least-squares regressions. The UTAUT survey questionnaires are designed to measure 4 latent factors that drive technology adoption: performance expectancy, effort expectancy, social influence, and facilitating conditions. The first 3 factors are linked to behavior intention,

another latent factor. We will conduct confirmatory analysis using structural equation modeling technique against the data. This will result in a path diagram that weights each latent factor's contribution to user adoption of this technology. The analysis will help to identify the key drivers of user adoption and give the team directions for further product improvements.

The PAM survey contains 13 questions that measure 4 different aspects of patient activation. We will calculate a mean score and standard deviation for each question in the following groups: intervention, control, intervention who reported outcomes, and intervention who did not report outcomes. We will then detect any significant differences in PAM scores among those groups. A significant difference between intervention and control could indicate that the reminders themselves help activate the patient; a significant difference between the ones who reported outcomes and the ones who do not could provide a signaling mechanism to identify high-risk patients through automated means.

Based upon the patterns of adherence among patients receiving the intervention, it may be possible to identify those patients at highest risk for nonadherence and to identify which variables differentiate those at risk of nonadherence from those who are most likely to adhere.

# Discussion

The increasing complexity of cancer screening algorithms is such that the burden of ensuring compliance needs to shift from individual patients and health care providers toward centralized and automated systems. What may seem overwhelming for a patient or physician, such as graduated screening intensities contingent on the previous PSA level, can be implemented in a relatively straightforward fashion by computer. We believe that use of centralized databases and SMS text messaging could improve adherence with screening guidelines. Furthermore, we anticipate this method of increasing patient engagement could be applied to a broad range of health issues, both inside and outside of the context of cancer. This project will be an important first step in determining the feasibility of personalized text messaging to improve long-term adherence to screening recommendations.

### Acknowledgments

This project is supported by the National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences of the National Institutes of Health under Award Number R43TR000364. The Michael & Susan Dell Center for Healthy Living is funded by a grant from the Michael & Susan Dell Foundation.

### **Conflicts of Interest**

This research is supported by a small business commercialization grant from the National Institutes of Health (NIH). The outcome of this study could result in financial benefit for the PI institution, Ringful Health. Dr Michael Yuan is a significant shareholder and officer of Ringful Health. Ron Johnson and Emily Hébert are employees of Ringful Health. Dr Elizabeth Vandewater, Dr Andrew Vickers, and Dr Ju Long are consultants for Ringful Health through this grant project.

### **Multimedia Appendix 1**

Reviewer comments and summary statement from NIH peer reviewers.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 67KB - resprot\_v1i2e20\_app1.pdf]

### **Multimedia Appendix 2**

NIH Approval and Funding.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 117KB - resprot v1i2e20 app2.pdf]

### **Multimedia Appendix 3**

IRB Review and Approval.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 288KB - resprot v1i2e20 app3.pdf]

### References

RenderX

- 1. American Cancer Society. Cancer Facts and Figures 2012. Atlanta: American Cancer Society; 2012. URL: <u>http://www.</u> cancer.org/acs/groups/content/@epidemiologysurveilance/documents/document/acspc-031941.pdf [accessed 2012-11-21] [WebCite Cache ID 6CLQviPwx]
- National Cancer Institute. National Cancer Institute at the National Institutes of Health. 2012 Jan 24. Cancer Screening Overview (PDQ) URL: <u>http://www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/pdq/screening/overview/HealthProfessional</u> [accessed 2012-11-21] [WebCite Cache ID 6CLRHc1ET]
- 3. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Cancer screening United States, 2010. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR) 2012 Jan 27;61(3):41-45 [FREE Full text]

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e20/

- Jones RM, Vernon SW, Woolf SH. Is discussion of colorectal cancer screening options associated with heightened patient confusion? Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2010 Nov;19(11):2821-2825 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-10-0695] [Medline: 20852010]
- 5. Zhu X, Albertsen PC, Andriole GL, Roobol MJ, Schröder FH, Vickers AJ. Risk-based prostate cancer screening. Eur Urol 2012 Apr;61(4):652-661. [doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2011.11.029] [Medline: 22134009]
- Boyd NF, Rommens JM, Vogt K, Lee V, Hopper JL, Yaffe MJ, et al. Mammographic breast density as an intermediate phenotype for breast cancer. Lancet Oncol 2005 Oct;6(10):798-808. [doi: <u>10.1016/S1470-2045(05)70390-9</u>] [Medline: <u>16198986</u>]
- Gail MH, Brinton LA, Byar DP, Corle DK, Green SB, Schairer C, et al. Projecting individualized probabilities of developing breast cancer for white females who are being examined annually. J Natl Cancer Inst 1989 Dec 20;81(24):1879-1886. [Medline: 2593165]
- Myers RE, Sifri R, Hyslop T, Rosenthal M, Vernon SW, Cocroft J, et al. A randomized controlled trial of the impact of targeted and tailored interventions on colorectal cancer screening. Cancer 2007 Nov 1;110(9):2083-2091 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.23022] [Medline: 17893869]
- 9. Baron RC, Melillo S, Rimer BK, Coates RJ, Kerner J, Habarta N, Task Force on Community Preventive Services. Intervention to increase recommendation and delivery of screening for breast, cervical, and colorectal cancers by healthcare providers a systematic review of provider reminders. Am J Prev Med 2010 Jan;38(1):110-117. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2009.09.031] [Medline: 20117566]
- 10. Downer SR, Meara JG, Da Costa AC. Use of SMS text messaging to improve outpatient attendance. Med J Aust 2005 Oct 3;183(7):366-368. [Medline: <u>16201955</u>]
- Liew SM, Tong SF, Lee VK, Ng CJ, Leong KC, Teng CL. Text messaging reminders to reduce non-attendance in chronic disease follow-up: a clinical trial. Br J Gen Pract 2009 Dec;59(569):916-920 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3399/bjgp09X472250] [Medline: 19712544]
- 12. Pena-Robichaux V, Kvedar JC, Watson AJ. Text messages as a reminder aid and educational tool in adults and adolescents with atopic dermatitis: a pilot study. Dermatol Res Pract 2010;2010 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2010/894258] [Medline: 20885940]
- Patrick K, Raab F, Adams MA, Dillon L, Zabinski M, Rock CL, et al. A text message-based intervention for weight loss: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2009;11(1):e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1100] [Medline: 19141433]
- 14. Rodgers A, Corbett T, Bramley D, Riddell T, Wills M, Lin RB, et al. Do u smoke after txt? Results of a randomised trial of smoking cessation using mobile phone text messaging. Tob Control 2005 Aug;14(4):255-261 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/tc.2005.011577] [Medline: 16046689]
- Hurling R, Catt M, Boni MD, Fairley BW, Hurst T, Murray P, et al. Using internet and mobile phone technology to deliver an automated physical activity program: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2007;9(2):e7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9.2.e7] [Medline: 17478409]
- 16. Fjeldsoe BS, Marshall AL, Miller YD. Behavior change interventions delivered by mobile telephone short-message service. Am J Prev Med 2009 Feb;36(2):165-173. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2008.09.040</u>] [Medline: <u>19135907</u>]
- 17. Rainie L. Internet, broadband, and cell phone statistics 2010. Washington, DC: Pew Internet & American Life Project; 2010 Jan 05. URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/Reports/2010/Internet-broadband-and-cell-phone-statistics/Report.aspx</u> [accessed 2012-11-21] [WebCite Cache ID 6CLRpK1MQ]
- Health Research Institute. PwC Health Industries. 2010. Healthcare unwired: new business models delivering care anywhere URL: <u>http://pwchealth.com/cgi-local/hregister.cgi?link=reg/healthcare-unwired.pdf</u> [accessed 2012-11-21] [WebCite Cache ID 6CLS5dG6X]
- 19. Ajzen I. The theory of planned behavior. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes 1991;50(2):179-211.
- 20. Venkatesh V, Morris MG, Davis GB, Davis FD. User acceptance of information technology: toward a unified view. MIS Quarterly 2003;27(3):425-478.
- Hibbard JH, Stockard J, Mahoney ER, Tusler M. Development of the Patient Activation Measure (PAM): conceptualizing and measuring activation in patients and consumers. Health Serv Res 2004 Aug;39(4 Pt 1):1005-1026 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6773.2004.00269.x] [Medline: 15230939]
- 22. Davis FD. Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. MIS Quarterly 1989;13(3):319-340.
- 23. Hibbard JH, Cunningham PJ. Research Brief: Findings from HSC. Washington, DC: Center for Studying Health System Change; 2008 Oct. How engaged are consumers in their health and health care, and why does it matter? URL: <u>http://www.hschange.com/CONTENT/1019/1019.pdf</u> [accessed 2012-11-21] [WebCite Cache ID 6CLSMIIFT]
- 24. Mosen DM, Schmittdiel J, Hibbard J, Sobel D, Remmers C, Bellows J. Is patient activation associated with outcomes of care for adults with chronic conditions? J Ambul Care Manage 2007;30(1):21-29. [Medline: <u>17170635</u>]
- 25. Becker ER, Roblin DW. Translating primary care practice climate into patient activation: the role of patient trust in physician. Med Care 2008 Aug;46(8):795-805. [doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e31817919c0] [Medline: 18665059]

26. Alegría M, Sribney W, Perez D, Laderman M, Keefe K. The role of patient activation on patient-provider communication and quality of care for US and foreign born Latino patients. J Gen Intern Med 2009 Nov;24 Suppl 3:534-541 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-009-1074-x] [Medline: 19842003]

### Abbreviations

PAM: Patient Activation Measure PSA: prostate-specific antigen SMS: short message service UTAUT: unified theory of acceptance and use of technology

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 13.10.12; peer-reviewed by Anonymous; accepted 25.10.12; published 28.11.12. <u>Please cite as:</u> Yuan MJ, Hébert ET, Johnson RK, Long J, Vandewater EA, Vickers AJ A Personalized Automated Messaging System to Improve Adherence to Prostate Cancer Screening: Research Protocol JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e20 URL: http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e20/ doi:10.2196/resprot.2398 PMID:23612443

©Michael Juntao Yuan, Emily T Hébert, Ron K Johnson, Ju Long, Elizabeth A. Vandewater, Andrew J. Vickers. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 28.11.2012. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

**Proposal** 

# A Collaborative Quality Improvement Model and Electronic Community of Practice to Support Sepsis Management in Emergency Departments: Investigating Care Harmonization for Provincial Knowledge Translation

Kendall Ho<sup>1</sup>, MD, FRCPC; Julian Marsden<sup>2</sup>, MD, CCFP(EM); Sandra Jarvis-Selinger<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Helen Novak Lauscher<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Noreen Kamal<sup>3</sup>, PEng; Rob Stenstrom<sup>2</sup>, MD, PhD, CCFP(EM); David Sweet<sup>4</sup>, MD, FRCPC; Ran D Goldman<sup>5,6</sup>, MD, FRCPC; Grant Innes<sup>7</sup>, MD, FRCPC

<sup>1</sup>eHealth Strategy Office, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

<sup>2</sup>Department of Emergency Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

<sup>3</sup>Stroke Services B.C., Provincial Health Services Authority, Vancouver, BC, Canada

<sup>4</sup>Emergency and Critical Care Medicine, Vancouver General Hospital, Vancouver, BC, Canada

<sup>5</sup>Department of Pediatrics, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

<sup>6</sup>Division of Continuing Professional Development, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

<sup>7</sup>Emergency Department, Foothills Medical Centre, Calgary, AB, Canada

**Corresponding Author:** Kendall Ho, MD, FRCPC eHealth Strategy Office Faculty of Medicine University of British Columbia 855 West 10th Avenue Vancouver, BC, V5Z 1L7 Canada Phone: 1 6048754111 ext 69153 Fax: 1 6048755083 Email: <u>Kendall.Ho@ubc.ca</u>

# Abstract

Emergency medicine departments within several organizations are now advocating the adoption of early intervention guidelines for patients with the signs and symptoms of sepsis. This proposed research will lead to a comprehensive understanding of how diverse emergency department (ED) sites across British Columbia (BC), Canada, engage in a quality improvement collaborative to lead to improvements in time-based process measures and clinical outcomes for septic patients in EDs. To address the challenge of sepsis management, in 2007, the BC Ministry of Health began working with emergency health professionals, including health administrators, to establish a provincial ED collaborative: Evidence to Excellence (E2E). The E2E initiative employs the Institute for Healthcare Improvement (IHI) model and is supported by a Web-based community of practice (CoP) in emergency medicine. It aims to (1) support clinicians in accessing and applying evidence to clinical practice in emergency medicine, (2) support system change and clinical process improvement, and (3) develop resources and strategies to facilitate knowledge translation and process improvement. Improving sepsis management is one of the central foci of the E2E initiative. The primary purpose of our research is to investigate whether the application of sepsis management protocols leads to improved time-based process measures and clinical outcomes for patients presenting to EDs with sepsis. Also, we seek to investigate the implementation of sepsis protocols among different EDs. For example: (1) How can sepsis protocols be harmonized among different EDs? (2) What are health professionals' perspectives on interprofessional collaboration with various EDs? and (3) What are the factors affecting the level of success among EDs? Lastly, working in collaboration with the BC Ministry of Health as our policy-maker partner, the research will investigate how the demonstrated efficacy of this research can be applied on a provincial and national level to establish a template for policy makers from other jurisdictions to translate knowledge into action for EDs. This research study will employ the IHI model for improvement, incorporate the principles of participatory action research, and use the E2E online CoP to engage ED practitioners (eg, physicians, nurses, and administrators, exchanging ideas, engaging in discussions, sharing resources, and

amalgamating knowledge) from across BC to (1) share the evidence of early intervention in sepsis, (2) adapt the evidence to their patterns of practice, (3) develop a common set of orders for implementing the sepsis pathway, and (4) agree on common indicators to measure clinical outcomes. Our hypothesis is that combining the social networking ability of an electronic CoP and its inherent knowledge translation capacity with the structured project management of the IHI model will result in widespread and sustained improvement in the emergency and overall care of patients with severe sepsis presenting to EDs throughout BC.

(JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e6) doi:10.2196/resprot.1597

### KEYWORDS

Knowledge translation; continuous quality improvement; emergency medicine; sepsis

## Introduction

### **Project Overview**

Recent medical research literature on emergency sepsis management demonstrates that early goal-directed therapy (EGDT), composed of the rapid implementation of a sequence of diagnostic and management steps by a cohesive, interprofessional team in the emergency department, can positively influence morbidity and mortality rates. One urban emergency department in British Columbia (BC), Canada, has successfully integrated the EGDT protocol into the emergency care map of septic patients and demonstrated significant improvement of septic patients' outcomes. A care map can be viewed as a workflow diagram using basic flowchart symbols, such as process block, decision, and document, to map out and describe the details of the care process. Disseminating and diffusing this team-based practice throughout the rural and urban emergency departments in BC is integral to significantly reducing morbidity and mortality provincially.

The practice improvement model advocated by the Institute for Healthcare Improvement (IHI) is recognized as an effective strategy to assist teams and organizations to implement system improvement processes. In addition, a community of practice (CoP) is touted as a useful social networking model to aid health care teams toward mutual learning and knowledge exchange. Meanwhile, modern information technologies connected through the Internet are revolutionizing how individuals and groups from disparate geographic locations can effectively communicate and collaborate together. The opportunity is ripe in health care to examine and rigorously evaluate how information technologies can facilitate the construction and nurturing of an electronic community of practice (eCoP) to support the implementation of a quality improvement model (informed by the IHI practice improvement model) to harmonize team-based health practices.

### Study Objectives

What are the impacts of engagement in the sepsis quality improvement collaborative on uptake of and adherence to evidence-based sepsis guidelines and the management of sepsis in the context of emergency medicine? A collaborative, as defined by the IHI, is a time-limited effort (usually 9–18 months) of multiple organizations that come together to learn about and to create improved processes in a specific topic area. The expectation is that the teams share expertise and data with each other; thus, "Everyone learns, everyone teaches."

XSL•F() RenderX Specific research questions include (1) How is the quality improvement collaborative implemented, and how do members within and across emergency department sites engage in the collaborative? What are participants' perceptions, experiences, and satisfaction levels related to engaging in the collaborative processes? (2) What are the practice patterns of sepsis management within and across emergency department sites? Have the patterns of sepsis care at emergency department sites changed over time? To what degree have patterns been harmonized across the emergency department sites? and (3) What change has occurred in clinical sepsis data collected over time within and across emergency department sites? What are the contextual factors that influence clinical impact?

### Study Design and Evaluation

The University of British Columbia Faculty of Medicine, in collaboration with the BC Ministry of Health, the six BC Health Authorities, and emergency departments throughout BC conducted a needs assessment of emergency departments across BC in 2007 and formed a trial collaborative in 2008 under the Evidence to Excellence Initiative, referred to as the E2E pilot. This current research will build on the work of the E2E pilot to engage 18 emergency department teams from across BC to form a quality improvement sepsis management collaborative supported by an eCoP, to implement the sepsis EGDT guidelines during a 3-year period. Mixed method evaluation will include (1) tracking five clinical outcome indicators in each participating emergency department, (2) understanding health professionals' and administrators' perspectives, and (3) evaluating the development, implementation, and change of each emergency department's clinical care mapping. This is a timely and novel area of research, as there are no published studies demonstrating and documenting the combination of a quality improvement collaborative with an eCoP to support a community-building approach toward systemwide practice coordination of sepsis management in emergency departments.

### Background

This section highlights three key areas salient to our research proposal. First, we discuss the scope of the problem and evidence-based management of patients with sepsis in emergency departments. Second, we highlight the knowledge translation challenge of systematically implementing evidence-based strategies into emergency departments in BC. Third, to meet the provincial objective of enhancing sepsis management to optimize knowledge translation, we explore the literature on the IHI collaborative process in quality improvement implementation, and the literature on CoP and eCoP in enhancing team communication and knowledge

exchange. Fourth, with some existing examples to illustrate the application of an eCoP in practice, we propose combining a quality improvement model with an eCoP as the theoretical basis of our study proposal.

### Sepsis Management in the Emergency Department

Sepsis is a complex syndrome comprising a range of clinical conditions caused by the body's response to an infection, which can develop into severe sepsis resulting in organ failure and death. Severe sepsis is a major and underappreciated cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide. There are 750,000 cases of severe sepsis annually in North America, and approximately 1400 people worldwide die daily of sepsis [1,2]. Due to its aggressive and multifactorial nature, of those who die of sepsis, about 30% die within a month of diagnosis and about 50% within 6 months [3,4]. In addition to being a leading cause of intensive care unit admissions, sepsis consumes tremendous emergency department resources. Data indicate that suspected sepsis accounts for 500,000 emergency department visits annually in the United States, and that these patients spend an average of almost 5 hours in the emergency department [5].

Recent years have seen a revolution in the diagnosis and treatment of sepsis, starting with the development of operational definitions for severe sepsis and septic shock [6]. Increasing evidence demonstrates that timely delivery of appropriate therapy significantly improves outcomes in patients who have severe sepsis [7]. Such therapies include the rapid delivery of appropriate antibiotics and aggressive resuscitation [3]. Kumar et al demonstrated an average 7.6% decrease in survival for each hour's delay in giving antibiotics from the time of onset of hypotension (shock) [8].

In 2004, the Surviving Sepsis Campaign brought together critical care and infectious disease experts representing 11 organizations, including the Society of Critical Care Medicine and the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. The work of this campaign resulted in the development of guidelines for the early and comprehensive management of severe sepsis, known as EGDT, with the aim of reducing mortality by 25% within 5 years [7]. Key components of this strategy include aggressive fluid administration, early antibiotic usage, use of various physiologic measurements to guide the resuscitation of the acutely septic patient, and prompt admission of patients to close monitoring and care such as in intensive care units. The EGDT guidelines were endorsed by the IHI, who translated them into resuscitation bundles, or grouped interventions. These guidelines were updated in 2008 [9].

One example of success achieved with these guidelines in BC has been the experience at St Paul's Hospital, a 500-bed tertiary care academic hospital in Vancouver, with a 15-bed intensive care unit and an emergency department that sees over 60,000 patients per year. The implementation of the EGDT guidelines included a set of early identification indicators, a computerized physician order entry system set for suspected sepsis, the introduction of invasive hemodynamic monitoring, and a sepsis kit in the emergency department. By converting the evidence from the guidelines into a clear algorithm, raising awareness of sepsis with an extensive education campaign, and integrating several key interventions into the emergency care map of septic

patients, they achieved their targets of clinically significant improvements in process outcomes and in the survival of patients who presented to the emergency department because of severe sepsis. In the 6 months following introduction of the guidelines, improvements were observed in time to initiation of EGDT (3.2 vs 10.4 hours, P = .001) and to achievement of resuscitation goals (10.4 vs 30.1 hours, P = .007), as well as a trend toward more rapid antibiotics administration (1.4 vs 2.7 hours, P = .06). This was associated with a decrease in hospital mortality rate to 27.0% from 51.4% in the preprotocol patients (absolute risk reduction = 24%; 95% confidence interval 3%-37%). Improvements in process measures and clinical outcomes, including mortality, were sustained at 16 months after implementation.

# Challenge of Systemwide Knowledge Translation of EGDT in BC

Implementation of evidence-based guidelines and protocols into a health system with multiple health teams is a recognized and significant challenge [10,11]. It is clear that simply disseminating the latest evidence to health professionals through conferences and other traditional educational settings lacks the ability to influence individual health professionals or health system change. Clearly, to effectively incorporate evidence-based guidelines for patient care management in the emergency department, much work needs to be done beyond making the team aware of such protocols.

For health care teams and their members in the health system who are actively seeking practice improvement together, knowledge translation requires intervention beginning with the individual and progressing through to health care teams in the system. Acquisition of necessary knowledge and skills by individual health professionals needs to be synchronized with the establishment of quality improvement strategies to implement change and measure outcome by the entire team. In addition, a mechanism of knowledge exchange between teams in the health system is necessary to spur mutual learning and mentoring. Therefore, three key aspects are needed to bring about an effective and lasting change: (1) an evidence-based approach to guide clinical practice, (2) an engaged interprofessional team of emergency health care providers, and (3) an effective implementation and quality improvement process to engineer the redesign of clinical pathways among different teams to work together in a health system.

In the case of sepsis management in BC, as earlier stated, the emergency department team at St Paul's Hospital has successfully provided pilot evidence of the benefits of EGDT. How can we now help spread this practice throughout emergency departments in BC to magnify these health outcome benefits provincially? How should the variations of the different emergency departments (eg, urban, regional, and rural practice environments) with variability in resources availability (eg, laboratory testing, access to intensive care units) be appropriately accounted for in EGDT implementation? How do we promote mutual learning and knowledge exchange among these different emergency department teams? How do we facilitate the establishment of provincewide quality improvement and evaluation mechanisms for measuring change? BC will

need a three-pronged strategy to (1) assist individual emergency department health professionals in knowledge acquisition and behavioral change based on this evidence-based approach of EGDT, (2) establish a provincial implementation and quality improvement process with buy-in from all participating emergency departments to share the joint vision to improve provincial sepsis outcomes, and (3) engage the rural, regional, and urban emergency department teams in BC to establish their own team approach for implementing EGDT based on best evidence, available resources, and their unique contexts to animate the provincial quality improvement process.

While there is no proven, unified model in the literature to achieve all three prongs of the strategy, the literature offers three separate approaches, each specifically fulfilling an important aspect of the overall knowledge translation strategy. They are (1) the collaborative quality improvement model advocated by the IHI for establishing a quality improvement initiative, (2) the CoP approach in building a community of health professionals, and (3) the use of information technologies to capture knowledge and promote communication that overcomes geographic barriers. Each of these three approaches is highlighted in detail below.

### The Quality Improvement Collaborative Model

The proposed research incorporates the IHI's quality improvement collaborative model [12]. Recall that a collaborative is a time-limited, structured improvement project. Teams participate in a series of sessions where they learn how to plan, implement, and measure the impact of changes intended to create improvement. Between sessions, ideas are incrementally applied and tested locally. Improvement teams also share with other teams what has and has not worked for them.

Several health care organizations have seen breakthrough improvements in quality while reducing costs by adopting the IHI collaborative improvement model. Between 1995 and 2003, IHI sponsored over 50 collaborative projects. The results of these projects were dramatic and included reducing waiting times by 50%, reducing worker absenteeism by 25%, reduced intensive care unit costs by 25%, and reduced hospitalizations for patients with congestive heart failure by 50% [11].

### *Communities of Practice in Health Care and Emergency Medicine*

Etienne Wenger, the acknowledged pioneer of the term community of practice [13], defined it as: "...groups of people who share a concern, a set of problems, or a passion about a topic, and who deepen their knowledge and expertise in this area by interacting on an ongoing basis" [13]. Key aspects of CoPs are (1) defining the scope of the community, (2) engaging committed participants, (3) identifying common needs, (4) outlining the goals or terms of reference of the community, (5) maintaining members' interest and involvement, (6) growing the community, (7) developing a knowledge base, and (8) adding value [13]. This CoP concept was supported and applied in organizational behavior in business [14], and has also been shown to be an effective means for promoting evidence-based practice, patient-centered collaborative care, knowledge sharing and creation, and emotional or collegial support [15]. The resultant infrastructure allows sharing of clinical and operational practices, and allows that information to be contextualized and adapted to the local medical environment, thereby improving uptake. We see this to be an effective social networking environment to promote collaboration for health practitioners and administrators working in BC emergency departments. Health practice is more than an individual pursuit, and the learning process has to be seen, conceptualized, and realized as an iterative process.

### The Use of Information Technologies to Enhance Knowledge Translation

Information technology enhances the capabilities of a CoP [16]. An online emergency medicine CoP can provide members with the opportunity for peer-to-peer learning and problem solving from anywhere at any time. This can help to overcome the challenges of geography and time that face emergency medicine health care providers. Several empirical studies have shown the benefits an eCoP can have within the health care sector generally [17-20], and in the context of emergency medicine specifically [21,22]. We intend to build on past sepsis management research by purposefully embedding information technologies into the CoP and measuring its utility in enhancing communication and knowledge sharing. In addition, we intend to demonstrate process improvement and subjective perception of learning of health professionals, as well as the progressive harmonization of practice patterns between emergency departments throughout the Sepsis Quality Improvement Collaborative.

### Context: Evidence to Excellence Pilot

In 2007, the BC Ministry of Health provided funding to the E2E pilot and conducted a needs assessment with emergency health professionals to better understand their needs in optimizing the quality improvement of clinical areas and operational processes in emergency services delivery. This assessment revealed the necessity to share resources, have access to the latest evidence, network with their peers, have a means to implement the latest evidence, and have access to assistance to facilitate quality improvement implementation.

In 2008, the E2E pilot ran a trial collaborative on the clinical topic of sepsis and the operational topic of triage. The committees selected these topics during the needs assessment. The E2E pilot's trial collaborative has recruited 55 teams (18 sepsis collaborative teams and 27 triage collaborative teams) from 31 emergency department sites across BC. There were 170 participants across these 55 teams working to improve sepsis care and triage processes at their sites through the IHI collaborative process that is administered by the E2E pilot. This operational pilot provided an understanding of the mechanics of running a collaborative; however, no evaluation was completed for the trial collaborative.

### **Electronic Community of Practice**

The E2E pilot also built a trial beta version of an eCoP environment for the trial collaborative. This included an overarching E2E eCoP, which allowed all practicing BC emergency medicine professionals to share resources, participate in discussion forums, and view relevant upcoming events. The

XSL•FO

eCoP's purpose is to build a virtual CoP by providing an online (Web-based) space to exchange ideas and discussions, share resources, and amalgamate knowledge. In the context of E2E, the eCoP will build this virtual community for professional (clinicians and administrators) working in emergency departments across BC.

The key components of the eCoP are resources, discussion forums, events, WikiDocuments, and members. The resources component provides the ability to post, view, and download resources or files that would be beneficial to personnel working in emergency departments. The resources are organized in folders. The discussion forum component provides threaded discussion forums. The eCoP can accommodate as many forums as the community needs, which are organized by folder and then by the topic. The events component allows moderators and organizers to add events to a calendar function that are of interest to the community, which can be viewed by all members. The WikiDocuments component provides a working document where multiple people can collaboratively develop a body of work, which can be viewed by all members of the community. Finally, the members component allows members to search for their colleagues and have access to the contact information that each member has granted permission to be shared by the community.

The architecture for access to the eCoP for the E2E pilot is described below. The main portal to the eCoP would be from the E2E website. Once first-time users access the eCoP, they can sign up for immediate access by entering their profile information, and returning users will simply log in. The E2E eCoP will be open to all interested people, and there will be no approval process for access. This E2E eCoP will be an exchange for all areas relating to emergency medicine, including clinical topics, operational topics, and improvement methods or strategies. This overarching E2E eCoP will provide access to the current time-limited, project-based eCoPs that E2E is facilitating, such as the sepsis collaborative, which is relevant to this proposal. The sepsis eCoP (and other topic eCoPs) will be restricted to those people who are participating in the sepsis improvement project to provide a safe collaborative space to share ideas and overcome barriers to improvement. No log-in will be necessary; however, users will need approval prior to access. Each eCoP will have all the key components previously described.

Additionally, there was an eCoP for each active trial collaborative, which provided a discussion around improvements and best practices, and provided a forum to post data and change concepts. This beta eCoP, with active membership of approximately 160 and started on May 15, 2007, had 637 visits and over 12,000 pages viewed since inception. The unprecedented opportunity to carry out a rigorous evaluation of this eCoP in its contribution to interprofessional learning, knowledge exchange and capturing, and contribution to quality improvement in provincial sepsis management will be both highly relevant and timely.

## Methods

The overarching purpose of the proposed research is to implement a *quality improvement collaborative* and evaluate

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e6/
```

how emergency departments across BC engage in this model to make improvements in *sepsis management*. We use the IHI definition of a collaborative: "a time-limited effort (usually 9–18 months) of multiple organizations that come together to learn about and create improvement processes in a specific topic area" [12] through sharing of knowledge, experiences, and data. We will evaluate the processes of collaboration and harmonization of sepsis management within and across emergency department sites engaging in the collaborative.

This research study will employ a multiple case studies approach and will use both qualitative and quantitative methods of analysis. It will incorporate the principles of participatory action research and use an eCoP to engage emergency department practitioners (eg, physicians, nurses, and administrators) from across BC. Specific outcomes of this study include (1) sharing the evidence of early intervention in sepsis (eg, exchanging ideas, engaging in discussions, sharing resources, and amalgamating knowledge), (2) adapting the evidence to their patterns of practice, and (3) developing a common set of guidelines or protocols for implementation of the sepsis pathway.

### **Research Questions**

The principal research question for the proposed study is as follows: What are the impacts of the sepsis quality improvement collaborative on uptake of and adherence to evidence-based sepsis guidelines and the management of sepsis in the context of emergency medicine?

This will be addressed through the following specific research questions:

1. How is the quality improvement collaborative implemented, and how do members within and across emergency department sites engage in the collaborative? What are participants' perceptions, experiences, and satisfaction levels related to engaging in the collaborative processes?

2. What are the practice patterns or care maps of sepsis management within and across emergency department sites? Have the patterns of sepsis care at emergency department sites changed over time? And to what degree have patterns harmonized across the emergency department sites?

3. What change has occurred in clinical sepsis data collected over time within and across emergency department sites? What are the contextual factors that influence clinical impact?

4. In what ways has the eCoP contributed to the change in individual health professionals' attitude, knowledge, and skills, and in the practice patterns and septic patient care maps of the emergency departments involved?

### **Overview of Procedures**

Evaluation will use a participatory action approach. Throughout the course of this project, we will evaluate the collaborative and collect case study data including care map data and clinical outcome data. Table 1 highlights some of the main activities during the 3-year project.

|--|

Year	Objective	Associated activities
1	Synthesize E2E <sup>a</sup> pilot data	Synthesize the E2E pilot data and its trial collaborative to inform the current project and best prepare for the sepsis collaborative in year 2.
	Develop data collection system and infrastructure	Develop an online data collection system and a strategy for uniform collection of clinical sepsis data. This includes training and recruitment of personnel in central data collection.
	Complete prework for sepsis col- laborative	Recruit emergency department sites and teams to engage in the sepsis collaborative and associated case study research.
2	Develop baseline care maps for each recruited site	Systematically and uniformly create baseline care maps for each participating site to outline current sepsis management care processes.
	Establish a common quality im- provement framework	At the beginning of year 2, hold a common session to look at evidence of early goal-directed therapy, jointly examine the protocol, and agree through a consensus-building process on a set of five core indicators of measurement to be collected (see Clinical Sepsis Data in the Measures section) to facilitate cross-site comparisons.
	Run the sepsis collaborative; con- duct three sepsis learning sessions for emergency department person- nel	<ul> <li>(1) Hold learning session 1 in May 2010, with first action period from May to September 2010,</li> <li>(2) hold learning session 2 in September 2010, with action period from September 2010 to January 2011,</li> <li>(3) hold learning session 3 in January 2011, with final action period from January 2011 to March 2011.</li> </ul>
	Develop postcollaborative care map	Using the same methods for developing the baseline care map, create postcollaborative care map.
3	Evaluate sepsis collaborative	Analyze findings, conduct participant focus groups and survey, and evaluate sepsis indicators from data that were collected.
	Evaluate sustainability and dissem- ination of sepsis improvements	Evaluate the success and barriers to the sustainability and translation of the sepsis improvements that have been realized through the collaborative.
	Develop sustainability and dissem- ination strategy	Develop a strategy to sustain gains in sepsis management and a strategy to disseminate best-care practices to other sites across British Columbia.

<sup>a</sup> Evidence to Excellence.

### Design

The proposed research uses a multiple case studies design, which relies on both qualitative and quantitative data and analysis. The 18 sites engaged in the pilot will be approached and recruited for the proposed research. Multiple data sources will be documented and examined to effectively "tell the stories" of the 18 cases in terms of practice, engagement in the collaborative, and quality improvement in sepsis care.

Community engagement will be an iterative process that spans the initiative (including planning), implementation, training, evaluation, and future direction settings (eg, sustainability). Ethical approval to conduct this proposed research will be sought whenever and wherever necessary. The project team will establish and work according to the guidance of an advisory committee comprising collaborative members and health professionals. Research is intended to engage individuals in the emergency department sites (including both health professionals and health administrators of the department, or the hospital or health authority) to be part of the evaluation team and develop research and evaluation skills. Finally, to engage the participating emergency department sites in all aspects of the study, the research framework will be flexible and responsive to member input.

### **Settings and Participants**

We define a *case* as a participating emergency department site. The care map related to sepsis management will be a core aspect of the case study. For this proposed research, *care mapping* can

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e6/
```

RenderX

be viewed as a workflow diagram using basic flowchart symbols, such as *process* block, *decision*, and *document*, to map out and describe the details of the care process. The collaborative or team members represent the individual participants. The current trial collaborative, facilitated by the E2E pilot, has provided an understanding that the participants agree to collect clinical data and are willing to volunteer their time to this work to improve sepsis management. Because each emergency department site is resourced differently, different clinical sepsis data are collected at each site. For the proposed research, core sepsis data available across sites will be examined.

### Measures

The proposed research will identify and describe each case, collect baseline and comparison data, gather participant perception data, monitor practice changes, and track clinical sepsis measures.

As earlier stated, multiple case studies will be used to document practice and engagement in the collaborative at individual sites, as well as to understand the interaction within and across sites in the context of the sepsis collaborative. In systematically describing the cases, we will gather information related to the participants, workflow, and sepsis management at the emergency department and artifacts created through engagement in the sepsis collaborative. These include usage data from the eCoP platform, perceptions and experiences, and documents created by participants as they engage in quality improvement projects in the sepsis collaborative.

Understanding the relationships and interactions within, among, and between the case sites will provide the basis for documenting and evaluating how change occurs. Clinical sepsis data will be used to understand the improvements that potentially result from engaging in the collaborative. We will include three main areas of measurement, as follows.

### Perception and Experience Data

We will use a variety of qualitative and quantitative measures to evaluate and understand the participants' perspectives on the following: implementation of protocols; participant engagement and collaboration through the use of the eCoP environment; collaboration within and across emergency department sites; and implementation and use of the IHI collaborative model within and across sites throughout the project. This will enable a foundational understanding of the processes that emerge. We aim to understand differences and similarities across sites, as well as how the eCoP is used and contributes to collaboration processes. Data collection will include focus groups of health care practitioners at the emergency department sites and individual surveys (3-20 participants/site). eCoP usage data will be collected to understand level of engagement and processes of collaboration, thus providing recommendations for future use in the collaborative. The usage data will include the following: (1) data on the number of visits to the eCoP website, which can be distilled to monthly, weekly, and daily, as well as the location of the visiting member, (2) data on the average time each user spent on the website, and (3) the number of pages viewed, which will indicate which resources, discussion forums, and calendar events were most popular.

We will interview a cross-section (multiple sites with various health professionals) of collaborative participants. Interviews will capture pre- and postinvolvement expectations, experiences engaging in the collaborative, and perceptions of impact of engagement in the collaborative on sepsis management. This will constitute a formative evaluation of participant engagement. Online focus groups will be carried out throughout the project, within the eCoP's discussion boards. Data captured from the eCoP (eg, discussions and downloaded resources) will be examined. Online surveys will be used to assess participant satisfaction and provide feedback at regular intervals.

At the end of year 3, we will conduct focus groups of emergency department site participants to gain postcollaborative (end point) perspectives. Participants will be asked to reflect on future sustainability of the collaborative and sepsis improvement processes. These same issues will be addressed in detail through interviews with a subsample of stakeholders and participants.

### **Practice Change Data**

Another important component of the proposed research is to evaluate the extent to which the various participating emergency departments across the province become harmonized in their respective management of patients with sepsis. Central to the ability to evaluate the degree of harmonization is care mapping. Each emergency department site will create an initial (baseline) care map (ie, a care map of how sepsis patients are, on paper, to be managed) and will be asked to develop subsequent care maps at the end of each year during the 3-year proposed research to accurately reflect current practice in sepsis management. Early on, participating sites will be invited to participate in a learning session related to care mapping led by collaborative member(s) with expertise in care mapping processes.

We recognize there is a potential for the Hawthorne effect—a change in behavior or performance due to a change in environmental conditions—to take place; however, an asset of the 3-year duration of this research is that the potential impact of the Hawthorne effect is reduced with the reinforcement of improved practices over time. Further, engagement in the collaborative will provide opportunities for participants to systematically reflect on their practices in the course of the learning sessions, and ongoing discussion of best practices with colleagues and experts.

While the concept of care mapping is not new, the unique aspect of our proposed research is that funding from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research will enable us to develop a quantifiable index that highlights the harmonization of sepsis management across emergency department sites in BC to compare the degree of similarity of care maps across the province and the change in similarity (either more or less similar) over the 3-year time frame. Calculating this index would be similar to the bioinformatics' approach in calculating the similarity of genes between different people with similar illnesses, thereby locating the responsible segments of the genes that lead to the expression of the disease. Furthermore, the process of evaluating and analyzing the adherence to care maps and successes and challenges may eventually lead to a context-specific clustering of care maps for emergency departments in rural, regional, urban, and provincial contexts. This approach can set a benchmark for future endeavors in refining the application of protocols in different contexts.

### **Clinical Sepsis Data**

The evidence-based literature shows that several clinical measures are important in the management of sepsis. Recognizing that emergency department sites across the province have varying resource capacities and to prevent the collection of clinical sepsis data becoming too cumbersome for the participating emergency department sites, five core measures will be collected for this proposed research: (1) time to administration of antibiotics, (2) time to doing blood cultures before antibiotics are administered, (3) emergency department length of stay, (4) length of time between the patient's arrival and when the provincial bed management transfer call is made (to facilitate the transfer of patients to a facility with intensive care capabilities or contacting a consultant for admission and definitive care) or admission to the hospital's own intensive care unit, and (5) mortality within 2 months, the cause of death, and its relationship with the sepsis episodes. These measures have been found to be practical and feasible to collect at each of the sites.

Members of the E2E pilot have demonstrated their willingness to collect clinical sepsis data in addition to their day-to-day workflow. Relying solely on nurses' and physicians' notes as the primary source of recorded data can be challenging; therefore, we will develop a formalized structure for recording the data, including a 1-page data form with all the core indicators

```
XSL•FO
```

(clinical sepsis data) that can be filled out in real time and faxed to a central location for collection. This form will also be able to be filled out digitally and sent through the eCoP to a central location for collection. Therefore, the eCoP can also become a medium for emergency department practitioners to upload their data in a secure and user-friendly manner that enhances the degree to which clinical sepsis data are collected.

The proposed research would contribute to the realization of various benefits for participating emergency department sites. Engaging in the collaborative and the evaluation will enhance awareness of sepsis management and create a more streamlined implementation of treatment for septic patients. Further, the proposed research will enhance the capacity of each emergency department to collect measurement data, using local knowledge to improve local systems.

### Analysis

The complexity of the natural environment necessitates a multiple case study model. Content analysis using the constant comparative method will be used to analyze the survey, focus group, and interview data. Thematic analysis will be used to understand participants' perceptions, satisfaction, practice patterns, and collaborative engagement patterns. Some quantitative data will also be collected for technical usage statistics. For example, the eCoP will be set up to track what information was accessed, for how long, and in what sequence. This will be an anonymous process and will be used simply to understand how users interact with the content (not a surveillance of individual usage patterns). The five commonly agreed-on process and clinical sepsis indicator data will be compared within sites across time from baseline, at midpoint, and postintervention. We will use these data to analyze the influence of eCoP on practice and outcome change by seeing which group(s) improved and when, and how these improvements correlate with the qualitative data from eCoP.

Care maps will be analyzed and compared within and across sites to document evolutions in their approximation to the clinical practice guidelines, similarities and differences between different care maps, and changes in these care maps over time. Clinical care maps will also be analyzed based on their geographic locations to see whether there might be more similarities between rural, regional, or urban locations.

We will compare clinical sepsis data within and across sites to capture benefits to sepsis management. By looking across sites, we may identify certain processes that connect with clinical outcomes and further disseminate that information along with associated contextual factors across sites.

# **Contingency Planning**

At this phase in our research, we anticipate that all the aspects of this proposal can be reasonably achieved. However, we foresee potential issues and difficulties that may affect the scope of our research. We also propose strategies to alleviate the foreseeable challenges that we may encounter during this proposed research.

### **Data Collection Rules and Regulations**

Various BC health authorities may have differing rules and regulations governing the release of patient data. Before beginning data collection, we will consult the respective risk management or information services department for each health authority to ensure that we can obtain the appropriate permission to collect the required sepsis indicator data.

If receiving permission to collect sepsis indicator data poses a barrier, we will consult with the existing E2E pilot to examine the data that have already been collected as part of its sepsis collaborative for use in our proposed research.

The challenge is that the data that have been and are being collected by the E2E pilot may not be as comprehensive as what we require within the scope of our research.

### **Data Collection Capacity of Emergency Departments**

Members of each emergency department's team participating in this research will be required to record and collect specified indicator data. This will be in addition to their existing clinical workload. Team members may not be able to fully capture the required indicator data because of their current workloads. If this is the case, additional resources may be put in place to provide emergency department sites with dedicated staff to collect necessary indicator data. These dedicated staff may take the form of a research assistant designated to collect and report the indicator data at respective sites.

### **Quality of Data Collection**

In addition to the resource capacity of various emergency department sites participating in this research, emergency departments will have varying levels of experience in implementing sepsis protocols. Some emergency department teams may have already been implementing a sepsis protocol for a few years, while it may be the first time for other sites. As such, the experienced emergency department teams may be able to provide very rich indicator data, while the teams implementing a sepsis protocol for the first time may be able to provide a high level of basic data only in the short term.

# Committees Guiding This Initiative

We will establish an advisory committee to guide our project development, implementation, and evaluation over the 3-year project and ensure it aligns with the development of the provincial health system. Representatives on this committee will include a senior policy maker from BC Ministry of Health, a senior policy maker in one of the health authorities, the chair of E2E committee, the Department Head of Emergency Medicine from the Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, an expert in the area of CoP and related research, and an information technology expert. This committee, with a maximum of 10 people including the principal investigators and co-investigators of this project, will act as a sounding board to explore interface issues between the health authorities and Ministry of Health, the health professionals, the provincial emergency institutions, and the patients. This committee will also provide feedback on progress, give advice regarding the iterative harmonization of this initiative with the provincial

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e6/
```

emergency medicine landscape, and engage within their own organizations and others for future knowledge translation and sustainability of our initiative beyond the project period. The Australian representative, with strong experience in stimulating collaboration among emergency departments in Victoria, will provide great insights into our efforts to ensure ongoing success [21]. Further, since September 2007, the E2E pilot established a provincial working committee, composed of emergency physicians, nurses, and emergency department and health authority administrators, supported by funding from the Ministry of Health. This group will form a common vision of how to use an eCoP and the IHI collaborative model to improve emergency care. The working group, with relevant and solid clinical experiences in applying health evidence to emergency care practices, will provide the invaluable opportunity to support and rigorously evaluate the efficacy of and gain invaluable insights into this IHI-eCoP approach in the provincial implementation of clinical evidence into practice.

# Dissemination of Findings and Translation of New Knowledge

We expect that this project will ascertain the role of an eCoP in the IHI change management process in harmonizing provincial evidence-based medicine in the emergency medicine community. The close working relationship with policy makers through their project involvement and the advisory committee will ensure that health professionals, policy makers, health administrators, and researchers work synergistically toward systems improvement, helping to achieve true knowledge translation and using evidence to guide the evolution of the health system. The relationship foundation established through this project will be important for not only the sepsis protocol, but also future clinical practices in emergency medicine.

In addition, we will share the findings of the proposed research with the professional community through the following. (1) We will submit our results for publication in peer-reviewed journals and present abstracts at professional conferences. We will emphasize effective eCoP approaches in implementing clinical practice guidelines by emergency health professionals through the IHI process of practice improvement. (2) We will collaborate with the BC Ministry of Health and health authorities to ensure that lessons learned from implementing sepsis guidelines using the eCoP-supported IHI process in this initiative will be translated into future clinical pathways for health professionals. (3) We will distribute reports of the findings to organizations whose primary focus is, and whose membership has interest in, knowledge translation and patient safety, such as the Canadian Patient Safety Institute and the Canadian Health Services Research Foundation, or provincial organizations such as the Michael Smith Foundation for Health Research. (4) We will collaborate with the BC Medical Association, Association of Registered Nurses of BC, and the University of British Columbia's Faculty of Medicine, Department of Emergency Medicine in devising ways to effectively promote eCoP to their respective membership. (5) We will disseminate the

eCoP-supported IHI process to physicians, nurses, and other allied health professionals in BC and beyond through continuing medical education conferences and workshops to influence health professionals' behavioral change in evidence-based health practices through interprofessional learning and team-based practices. (6) We will raise awareness of eCoP to promote intercollegial communication so that it becomes an integral component of patient safety and evidence-based medicine in health care delivery and in quality improvement. (7) We will develop and implement an educational program to help health practitioners use eCoP and IHI processes effectively, tailoring this program to the needs of health professionals (eg, physicians and nurses) in practice and in training, as well as the needs of interdisciplinary teams of health care providers.

# Significance

Overall, the findings of this project will contribute to the overall goal of the provincial initiative to increase care harmonization and incorporation of clinical evidence into routine practices in the emergency medicine environment through eCoP-supported IHI process. Further, this research proposal is significant for several key reasons. First, this is a novel area of research because there are no published studies combining CoP and information technologies to promote community building and the IHI improvement process supported by this community-building approach. Second, it will provide an understanding of how to best facilitate uptake of evidence-based health practices and education into the workflow of health professionals in the emergency department throughout the province to maximize utility and engagement. Third, it will help us understand how best to improve patient safety through the accurate recognition and management of acute sepsis. Fourth, it will benefit many groups in the following manner: (1) physicians, nurses, and other health professionals in emergency medicine will have useable and convenient online tools to assist them in providing better patient care and patient self-management, (2) health professionals will enhance their skills, (3) patients will benefit from the accurate identification of sepsis by emergency health personnel, and (4) communication among all three CoPs-health professionals, health administrators, and policy makers-will be facilitated and sustained. Our study will help health care professionals to maximize their skills, will ensure that technology is used appropriately, and will work together with health administrators and policy makers to ensure harmonization of best practices as we know them today, and an optimal provincial networking structure to support evidence-based health practices tomorrow. Finally, this study will help to develop the ability to measure harmonization of clinical practices using the clinical care map method and to elucidate how we might be able to look at the variation in care map evolution due to geographic differences, based on research evidence that often gets synthesized into only one set of clinical practice guidelines for urban practices. This will help professionals in the health care system to not only understand tangibly but also support the optimal care models.

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e6/
```

### Acknowledgments

The development of the Evidence 2 Excellence initiative was supported by the BC Ministry of Health.

### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

### References

- Alberti C, Brun-Buisson C, Burchardi H, Martin C, Goodman S, Artigas A, et al. Epidemiology of sepsis and infection in ICU patients from an international multicentre cohort study. Intensive Care Med 2002 Feb;28(2):108-121. [doi: 10.1007/s00134-001-1143-z] [Medline: 11907653]
- Angus DC, Linde-Zwirble WT, Lidicker J, Clermont G, Carcillo J, Pinsky MR. Epidemiology of severe sepsis in the United States: analysis of incidence, outcome, and associated costs of care. Crit Care Med 2001 Jul;29(7):1303-1310. [Medline: 11445675]
- Rivers E, Nguyen B, Havstad S, Ressler J, Muzzin A, Knoblich B, Early Goal-Directed Therapy Collaborative Group. Early goal-directed therapy in the treatment of severe sepsis and septic shock. N Engl J Med 2001 Nov 8;345(19):1368-1377 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa010307] [Medline: 11794169]
- Bernard GR, Vincent JL, Laterre PF, LaRosa SP, Dhainaut JF, Lopez-Rodriguez A, Recombinant human protein C Worldwide Evaluation in Severe Sepsis (PROWESS) study group. Efficacy and safety of recombinant human activated protein C for severe sepsis. N Engl J Med 2001 Mar 8;344(10):699-709 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/NEJM200103083441001] [Medline: 11236773]
- 5. Wang HE, Shapiro NI, Angus DC, Yealy DM. National estimates of severe sepsis in United States emergency departments. Crit Care Med 2007 Aug;35(8):1928-1936. [doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000277043.85378.C1] [Medline: 17581480]
- Levy MM, Fink MP, Marshall JC, Abraham E, Angus D, Cook D, International Sepsis Definitions Conference. 2001 SCCM/ESICM/ACCP/ATS/SIS International Sepsis Definitions Conference. Intensive Care Med 2003 Apr;29(4):530-538. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00134-003-1662-x</u>] [Medline: <u>12664219</u>]
- Dellinger RP, Carlet JM, Masur H, Gerlach H, Calandra T, Cohen J, Surviving Sepsis Campaign Management Guidelines Committee. Surviving Sepsis Campaign guidelines for management of severe sepsis and septic shock. Crit Care Med 2004 Mar;32(3):858-873. [Medline: 15090974]
- Kumar A, Haery C, Paladugu B, Kumar A, Symeoneides S, Taiberg L, et al. The duration of hypotension before the initiation of antibiotic treatment is a critical determinant of survival in a murine model of Escherichia coli septic shock: association with serum lactate and inflammatory cytokine levels. J Infect Dis 2006 Jan 15;193(2):251-258 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1086/498909] [Medline: 16362889]
- 9. Dellinger RP, Levy MM, Carlet JM, Bion J, Parker MM, Jaeschke R, International Surviving Sepsis Campaign Guidelines Committee, American Association of Critical-Care Nurses, American College of Chest Physicians, American College of Emergency Physicians, Canadian Critical Care Society, European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, European Society of Intensive Care Medicine, European Respiratory Society, International Sepsis Forum, Japanese Association for Acute Medicine, Japanese Society of Intensive Care Medicine, Society of Critical Care Medicine, Society of Hospital Medicine, Surgical Infection Society, World Federation of Societies of Intensive and Critical Care Medicine. Surviving Sepsis Campaign: international guidelines for management of severe sepsis and septic shock: 2008. Crit Care Med 2008 Jan;36(1):296-327. [doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000298158.12101.41] [Medline: 18158437]
- 10. Worrall G, Chaulk P, Freake D. The effects of clinical practice guidelines on patient outcomes in primary care: a systematic review. CMAJ 1997 Jun 15;156(12):1705-1712 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 9220922]
- 11. Davis DA, Taylor-Vaisey A. Translating guidelines into practice. A systematic review of theoretic concepts, practical experience and research evidence in the adoption of clinical practice guidelines. CMAJ 1997 Aug 15;157(4):408-416 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>9275952</u>]
- 12. The Breakthrough Series: IHI's Collaborative Model for Achieving Breakthrough ImprovementIHI Innovation Series white paper.: Institute for Healthcare Improvement; 2003. URL: <u>http://www.ihi.org/knowledge/Pages/IHIWhitePapers/</u> <u>TheBreakthroughSeriesIHIsCollaborativeModelforAchievingBreakthroughImprovement.aspx</u> [accessed 2012-06-14] [WebCite Cache ID 68QZqR8Ex]
- 13. Wenger E, McDermott RA, Snyder WM. Cultivating communities of practice: a guide to managing knowledge. Boston, Mass: Harvard Business School Press; 2002.
- 14. Jubert A. Inside Knowledge. 1999 Oct 1. Communities of Practice URL: <u>http://www.ikmagazine.com/xq/asp/txtSearch.CoP/</u> <u>exactphrase.1/sid.0/articleid.471EEF48-3CAC-4D77-BDCD-50AFE11AABF4/qx/display.htm</u> [accessed 2012-06-14] [WebCite Cache ID 68QZfCxKn]
- 15. Endslay S, Kirkegaar M, Linares A. Working together: communities of practice in family medicine. Fam Pract Manag 2005 Jan;12(1):28-32 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>15709520</u>]

- Wenger E, White N, Smith JD, Rowe K. technologyforcommunities.com. 2005 Jan 18. Technology for Communities URL: <u>http://technologyforcommunities.com/CEFRIO\_Book\_Chapter\_v\_5.2.pdf</u> [accessed 2012-07-08] [WebCite Cache ID <u>690rLMLJk</u>]
- 17. Egan M, Dubouloz CJ, Vallerand J, Robichaud L. Exploring the impact of a new translation process on the performance of French form writers of the Canadian Certification Exam. Can J Occup Ther 2007 Dec;74(5):401-406. [Medline: <u>18183775</u>]
- Eysenbach G, Powell J, Englesakis M, Rizo C, Stern A. Health related virtual communities and electronic support groups: systematic review of the effects of online peer to peer interactions. BMJ 2004 May 15;328(7449):1166. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.328.7449.1166] [Medline: 15142921]
- Richardson B, Cooper N. Developing a virtual interdisciplinary research community in higher education. J Interprof Care 2003 May;17(2):173-182. [doi: <u>10.1080/1356182031000081777</u>] [Medline: <u>12745299</u>]
- 20. Yeoman AJ, Cooper JM, Urquhart CJ, Tyler A. The management of health library outreach services: evaluation and reflection on lessons learned on the VIVOS project. J Med Libr Assoc 2003 Oct;91(4):426-433. [Medline: 14566373]
- Bartlett J, Cameron P, Cisera M. The Victorian emergency department collaboration. Int J Qual Health Care 2002 Dec;14(6):463-470 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12515332]
- 22. Lighter DE, Fair DC. Principles and methods of quality management in health care. Gaithersburg, Md: Aspen Publishers; 2000.

### Abbreviations

BC: British Columbia
CoP: community of practice
E2E: Evidence to Excellence
eCoP: electronic community of practice
ED: emergency department
EGDT: early goal-directed therapy
IHI: Institute for Healthcare Improvement

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 30.06.10; peer-reviewed by M Willis; comments to author 08.05.12; revised version received 26.06.12; accepted 15.06.12; published 12.07.12.

Please cite as:

Ho K, Marsden J, Jarvis-Selinger S, Novak Lauscher H, Kamal N, Stenstrom R, Sweet D, Goldman RD, Innes G A Collaborative Quality Improvement Model and Electronic Community of Practice to Support Sepsis Management in Emergency Departments: Investigating Care Harmonization for Provincial Knowledge Translation JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e6 URL: http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e6/ doi:10.2196/resprot.1597 PMID:23611816

©Kendall Ho, Julian Marsden, Sandra Jarvis-Selinger, Helen Novak Lauscher, Noreen Kamal, Rob Stenstrom, David Sweet, Ran D Goldman, Grant Innes. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 12.07.2012. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

# Development of Smartphone Applications for Nutrition and Physical Activity Behavior Change

Lana Hebden<sup>1</sup>, BND (Hons); Amelia Cook<sup>1</sup>, BAppSc/BSc (Hons); Hidde P van der Ploeg<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Margaret Allman-Farinelli<sup>1</sup>, PhD, MPhilPH

<sup>1</sup>School of Molecular Bioscience, The University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia <sup>2</sup>Sydney School of Public Health, The University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia

Corresponding Author: Lana Hebden, BND (Hons) School of Molecular Bioscience The University of Sydney Room 453, Level 4, Biochemistry and Microbiology Building G08 The University of Sydney Sydney, 2006 Australia Phone: 61 93514672 Fax: 61 90363184 Email: lana.hebden@sydney.edu.au

# Abstract

**Background:** Young adults (aged 18 to 35) are a population group at high risk for weight gain, yet we know little about how to intervene in this group. Easy access to treatment and support with self-monitoring of their behaviors may be important. Smartphones are gaining in popularity with this population group and software applications ("apps") used on these mobile devices are a novel technology that can be used to deliver brief health behavior change interventions directly to individuals en masse, with potentially favorable cost-utility. However, existing apps for modifying nutrition or physical activity behaviors may not always reflect best practice guidelines for weight management.

**Objective:** This paper describes the process of developing four apps aimed at modifying key lifestyle behaviors associated with weight gain during young adulthood, including physical activity, and consumption of take-out foods (fast food), fruit and vegetables, and sugar-sweetened drinks.

**Methods:** The development process involved: (1) deciding on the behavior change strategies, relevant guidelines, graphic design, and potential data collection; (2) selecting the platform (Web-based versus native); (3) creating the design, which required decisions about the user interface, architecture of the relational database, and programming code; and (4) testing the prototype versions with the target audience (young adults aged 18 to 35).

**Results:** The four apps took 18 months to develop, involving the fields of marketing, nutrition and dietetics, physical activity, and information technology. Ten subjects provided qualitative feedback about using the apps. The slow running speed of the apps (due to a reliance on an active Internet connection) was the primary issue identified by this group, as well as the requirement to log in to the apps.

**Conclusions:** Smartphone apps may be an innovative medium for delivering individual health behavior change intervention en masse, but researchers must give consideration to the target population, available technologies, existing commercial apps, and the possibility that their use will be irregular and short-lived.

(JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e9) doi:10.2196/resprot.2205

### **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

cellular phone; young adult; primary prevention; lifestyle; health behavior

# Introduction

Across developed countries, the average person owns 1.18 mobile phones with this number continuing to rise [1]. Much of this growth has been in smartphone ownership (mobile phones with computer and Internet capabilities); there were more than 490 million shipments of smartphones globally in 2011 compared to approximately 300 million in 2010 [2]. The growth in the smartphone market has been concentrated in young adults, especially in the United States, with 62% of mobile phone users aged 25-34 owning a smartphone in 2011, an increase from 41% in 2010 [3].

The development of smartphones has led to a proliferation of smartphone software applications ("apps"), which are programs able to run on these mobile devices. From a public health perspective, smartphone apps can potentially enhance the delivery of health behavior change interventions to individuals en masse and result in favorable cost-utility. Despite this, researchers to date have largely developed apps to intervene in the clinical care setting for patient self-management, whereby a patient monitors themselves and receives therapeutic feedback [4,5], or for real-time therapy where no self-reported data is required from the patient [6,7]. The commercial sector has developed numerous apps for weight loss that include information on nutrition and physical activity, although the majority are based on calorie counting approaches and may not always reflect best practice guidelines for weight management **[8**].

In most Western countries, young adults (ages 18 to 35) are a population group at high risk for becoming overweight or obese [9,10]. For example, in the US Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA) cohort, it was reported that females gained an average 0.7 kg and males gained an average 0.8 kg, each year [11]. There are four key lifestyle behaviors that appear to play an important role in the etiology of weight gain in this population group. These behaviors include a decline in physical activity [12,13], excessive intake of high-fat take-out (fast food) meals [14], over-consumption of sugar-sweetened drinks [15,16], and an inadequate consumption of fruit and vegetables [17]. However, there is limited evidence to inform what method of intervention might be effective for preventing weight gain in this group [18], although easy access to treatment and providing support for planning and self-monitoring behavior may be important [19,20]. Hence, we embarked on building a series of smartphone apps to assist young adults in forming healthier lifestyle habits. This paper describes the process of developing four separate smartphone apps and discusses our insights from this process.

# Methods

XSL•FO RenderX

The development process consisted of four stages: (1) deciding on the specifications, (2) selecting the platform, (3) creating the design, and (4) testing the prototypes.

### Stage 1: Deciding on the Specifications

The first stage of this process involved defining the purpose of each app. This required specifying the relevant public health

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e9/
```

guidelines to inform the goals for behavior change, the specific strategies for behavior change, the visuals or graphic design, and the potential data to be collected.

The fundamental purpose of the apps was to support change in the lifestyle behaviors identified. To assist young adults with improving their dietary habits, goals for these behaviors had to be defined to create rules about what is adequate [21,22]. Relevant public health guidelines were consulted for physical activity levels [23,24], intake of fruit and vegetables [25], and recommended limits for take-out meals and sugar-sweetened drinks [26,27]. For example, the physical activity app (ePASS) included a "good health" target of 30 minutes of moderate level physical activity daily based on the World Health Organization's physical activity guidelines of at least 150 minutes of aerobic activity per week for adults [24], and a "healthy weight" target of 60 minutes of moderate level physical activity daily based on expert consensus that up to 60 minutes of moderate activity daily is required to prevent unhealthy weight gain [23] (see Figure 1B). The fruit and vegetable app (eVIP) provided users with a graphical display of the number of fruit and vegetable servings they recorded out of the two servings of fruit and five servings of vegetables recommended by the Australian Government Department of Health and Aging (see Figure 1A) [25]. The sugar-sweetened drinks app (eSIYP) presented users with a color display of their total energy, sugar, and alcohol intake from all drinks consumed, in which green, orange, and red indicated the "ideal," "acceptable," and "too much" threshold levels of intake, respectively. These threshold levels were based on nutritional expert opinion of the recommended limits on consumption of added sugars, as per the Australian Dietary Guidelines [26]. The take-out food app (eTIYP) also presented users with a color display of the average energy and fat content of take-out meals, in which green indicated acceptable intake and red indicated excessive intake, equating to  $\leq 30\%$  and > 30% of the dietary intake recommended by the Australian National Health and Medical Research Council and the New Zealand Ministry of Health, respectively, according to age and gender [27].

In terms of behavior change strategies, young adults often lack the self-regulatory skills, such as self-monitoring and planning, required to adopt and maintain healthy behaviors [20]. Self-regulation was fostered in each app by providing users with a platform to create daily entries of their behavior (eg, physical activities performed or vegetables consumed) from which they were provided daily or weekly summaries of their reported behavior, in reference to public health guidelines, to enable their monitoring of and planning around these behaviors. Providing feedback that is personally relevant may also be an important strategy for changing young adults' behaviors [18]. Encouragement from success of attaining a goal and social persuasion can enhance self-efficacy, and has been identified as important in achieving behavior change, particularly during busy or stressful situations [28,29]. All apps provided motivational tips as a source of positive encouragement that would assist the young adults in creating more positive beliefs around their ability to change their behavior (eg, "You can split up your exercise target into as little as 15-minute bursts"). These tips were also tailored to users' self-reported behavior. For

example, if a user's reported physical activity did not meet recommended guidelines, they were shown a relevant motivational tip (ie, "Plan exercise in advance and write it down if you can—try phone reminders").

Consideration was also given to the graphic design and how this might influence behavior. The behavior-image model suggests that through processes of social- and self-comparison, individuals will compare themselves to similar human images and create projections of themselves possessing the desired characteristics of the humans in those images [30]. This process is referred to as "self-reevaluation" in the Transtheoretical Model, which uses healthy role models and imagery to assist ones progression from contemplating behavior change to preparing for changing behavior [31]. Hence, in the apps we used images of young adults who were performing the target behaviors (eg, riding a bike or drinking water) and possessing desirable characteristics of a normal healthy appearance and lifestyle, to motivate users toward changing the target behaviors. Similarly, we displayed healthier foods and drinks, rather than "junk" foods, to model these foods as ideal for consumption. All images were purchased from a commercial graphics company to avoid potential breaches in copyright.

To facilitate future research, we enabled the following data items to be exported: user identification (ID), log-in ID, sex, age, and the date and time of log-ins into each app. Additional information that was able to be exported from each app included: physical activities performed and their duration; drinks consumed and their volume, total sugar, alcohol, and energy content; energy and fat content of take-out meals, the restaurant where the meal was consumed, and the contents of the meal; and the number of servings and types of fruit and vegetables consumed. This data could be exported into comma-separated value files from our relational database (described later), which could then be exported into statistical software for further analysis.

**Figure 1.** Screenshots taken on an iPhone device illustrating the user interface: home screen provides an overview of fruit and vegetables recorded in eVIP (A) or physical activity recorded in ePASS (B), in light of reference population health guidelines.



### **Stage 2: Selecting the Platform**

Traditionally, apps are developed for one specific operating system (*native* app), such as iOS, Android, Windows, Symbian, and BlackBerry, or developed as *Web-based* apps. Native apps run locally on a smartphone's operating system in a way that is analogous to programs running on a desktop computer. Web-based apps run like a Web page, whereby the app operates on an external server and the user accesses the app through the Web browser on their mobile device. Due to these functional

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e9/
```

RenderX

regardless of the operating system as long as the user has Internet access; however, there is less opportunity to utilize the existing hardware built into the phone (eg, the camera, geopositioning, or calendar). In our case, we developed Web-based apps because we did not require the use of existing hardware on the phone and we wanted to enable downloading of data recorded by users and allow the apps to be used on multiple operating systems and through the Internet for those who did not own a smartphone. However, Web-based apps are

increasingly becoming able to perform like native apps with an offline mode that can be accessed without Internet connectivity. Similarly, there is increasing potential for native apps to possess Internet connectivity, enabling the user to download updates and data from the user to be uploaded to a server. This emphasizes the dynamic nature of mobile technologies and why the type of platform selected should be discussed with an information technology specialist.

### **Stage 3: Creating the Design**

To enable users to record their behavior, each app had to be linked with the relevant data for that behavior. The following data items were included for each app:

1. ePASS: type of activity (ie, gym, sports, recreational, or housework) and the intensity (ie, moderate vs vigorous) of 91 unique activities, where "moderate" was defined as a metabolic equivalent of task (MET) value of 3-6 and "vigorous" was defined as > 6, derived from the compendium of physical activities [32].

2. eVIP: serving size equivalents for 48 types of fruit and 61 vegetables, where 1 serving was equivalent to 150 g of fruit or 75 g of vegetables [26] (eg, 0.5 cups chopped or 4 spears of cooked asparagus are both equivalent to 1 serving of vegetables).

3. eTIYP: total energy and fat content of 504 take-out food and drink menu items.

4. eSIYP: drink category (eg, waters, vitamin waters, hot chocolate, tea/coffee, alcohol, soft drinks, sports drinks, cordials, fruit juices, fruit drinks, flavored milks, and milkshakes) and the total energy, sugar, and alcohol content of 114 unique drinks.

Nutrient composition data for eTIYP and eSIYP were sourced from the Australian government food and nutrient database, NUTTAB [33]. The foods listed in this database were chemically analyzed or, when unavailable, sourced from food manufacturer nutrient label data which may or may not be based on chemical analysis.

These data items were all contained within one relational database, which is essentially a database where the data items (or variables) are arranged into a series of tables with each table representing a different aspect or "relation" in the data. For each app, there were 1-2 tables containing the behavioral data. For example, the eVIP app required one table for the types of fruit and vegetables, such as "eggplant/aubergine (cooked)," and a second table listing the portion sizes, such as "0.5 cups diced," "3 thin slices," or "1 thick slice," with their respective serving equivalents of 1 serving, 1 serving and 0.5 servings. An additional table was included for each app containing the motivational tips and another table contained user details (ie, name, age, gender, log-in ID, and user ID). The relational database management system software, MySQL (Oracle Corporation, Redwood Shores, California, United States), was used to access and query data items contained within the relational database using structured query language (SQL). For example, if a user logged into the eVIP app at lunchtime, SQL was used to identify a motivational tip about including fruit or vegetables at the lunch meal to present to the user from the

motivational tips table in the relational database for the eVIP app.

Programming for the apps was written with Python programming language software (Python Software Foundation, Wolfeboro Falls, New Hampshire, United States) to communicate with the relational database and generate the user interface (ie, what the user sees and interacts with), including the HyperText Markup Language (HTML) (ie, the building blocks of a Web page) and the cascading style sheets (CSS) (ie, the visual formatting of the HTML). The HTML and CSS information was then interpreted by the Web browser on the user's mobile device to create the user interface (see Figures 1-5). To illustrate an example of this programming, if a user recorded 0.5 servings of fruit, this data was stored in the relational database and the user was instantly presented with an image of half of one apple shaded green (representing 0.5 servings of fruit) on the home screen of the eVIP app (see Figure 1A). A separate app was created for each of the four behaviors, rather than creating a combined app, to permit the targeting of different behaviors in future intervention research, such as addressing only those behaviors that are particularly challenging for the individual. Further, there was a need to limit each app to < 6 screens, five of which were common to all of the apps (Figures 1-5), to simplify and increase the speed at which users could navigate their way through the apps.

### **Stage 4: Testing the Prototypes**

Data presented and manipulated in the prototype version of each app were crosschecked against the relational database by two authors (LH and AC) for accuracy. This involved recording intake and activity behaviors at random in each of the four apps and checking whether the data presented to the users were correct (eg, the total energy of a take-out food item) and that the data were accurately manipulated in the apps (eg, converting fruit and vegetable portions recorded into the number of equivalent servings or summing the total energy content of all sugar-sweetened drinks recorded).

Twenty-one adults aged 18 to 35 years who were participating in a weight loss trial were provided access to the apps, and were asked for their feedback on the performance of the apps as part of an online survey. This survey included two questions assessing the usability of the apps, including: "Did you have any problems downloading the smartphone apps?" and "Did you have any problems using the smartphone apps?" with three response options: "yes," "no," or "did not access them." If they responded "yes," they were then prompted in an open-ended question: "Please tell us what problems you experienced." Two other open-ended questions asked, "How could the smartphone apps be improved?" and "Please tell us any other comments that you have." Re-occurring themes in the qualitative responses to these open-ended questions were identified and summarized. Procedures for collecting this information were approved by the University of Sydney Human Research Ethics Committee (approval #13698).

# Results

The apps took 18 months to build including creation of the relational databases, exploring behavior change strategies, reviewing research with young adults on the key behaviors, creating the designs with information technology support, and testing the prototypes. Once the first app was developed, the others took less time with the physical activity app developed most rapidly. The development involved the fields of marketing, nutrition and dietetics, physical activity, and information technology. The cost of building all of the information into an app was approximately US \$5000 per app—less than half the cost of mainstream commercial companies because we employed Information Technology students for the development.

The four apps were found to return the correct data to the user from the relational database and calculations performed by the apps were accurate (eg, calculating the energy, sugar, and alcohol content in 390 mL of a beverage recorded by the user). The same generic user interface (ie, what the user sees and interacts with) was used in all four apps. Figures 1-5 present two examples (A and B) for each of the five generic screens of the user interface. The first screen users see when they launch one of the apps is a log-in screen (Figure 2), that requires users to enter a unique 4-digit log-in ID code. This was to protect the privacy of users (in the case that these apps were used in future human research), as well as the intellectual copyright of the university. The second screen seen by the users after they log in shows the home screen (Figure 1), that displays a summary of the user's behavior compared with reference guidelines. Screens presented in Figures 3 and 4 allow users to record their behaviors and review or edit data they have entered, respectively. Details about reference guidelines are then displayed in a "targets" screen (Figure 5).

Of the 21 participants offered to use these apps, only 10 evaluated them. These participants reported no difficulty with downloading the apps. Overall, participants did not like having to log in to use the apps. Some participants complained the apps operated slowly on their mobile devices (eg, "The smart phone app was a good idea but as it was a Web app, it often froze and it was a bit slow in general and scrolling lists were not functional on some operating systems" [from a 19-year-old female] and "Some parts of the apps didn't work for me, such as the scroll, so I couldn't enter many fruits/veg" [from a 22-year-old female]). Only one respondent (33-year-old female) provided a suggested improvement: "Applications could be designed to reward/monitor good behaviors only..."

Figure 2. Screenshots taken on an iPhone device illustrating the user interface: log-in screens where users enter their unique ID for user privacy and protection of intellectual property.





### Hebden et al

Figure 3. Screenshots taken on an iPhone device illustrating the user interface: users may record their take-out meals in eTIYP (A) or their drinks in eSIYP (B).



Figure 4. Screenshots taken on an iPhone device illustrating the user interface: users may review or edit their drinks in eSIYP (A) or their fruit and vegetable intake in eVIP (B).



#### Hebden et al

Ê

Figure 5. Screenshots taken on an iPhone device illustrating the user interface: targets screen provides the user details about the reference guidelines.



# Discussion

In this paper, we have described the process of developing four smartphone apps aimed at improving nutrition and physical activity lifestyle behaviors during young adulthood. The apps were found to present precise data and to manipulate data accurately for the user. A small sample of young adults provided qualitative feedback. It was found that the slow running speed of the apps (because of their reliance on an active Internet connection) was an issue for the target audience (young adults aged 18 to 35), as was the requirement to log in to the apps. There was little suggestion for change in the information provided or graphics used in the apps, although most of the open-ended questions were posed to ask about issues or problems with the apps so that it generated negative rather than positive feedback. It is also acknowledged that the small sample size of participants testing the apps limits the validity of these findings.

Very few researchers in public health have reported on the development and use of smartphone apps for individual dietary or physical activity change. Mattila et al used a wellness diary for recording self-management of weight-related behaviors [34], Hughes et al developed an app for monitoring energy balance [35], Lee et al developed a weight loss diet game [36], while others have monitored diet or physical activity as part of a program for diabetes [37] or cardiac rehabilitation [38]. The uptake and usage of these apps has been moderate to high among adults in the intervention setting [34,36-38]. Smartphone apps have the potential to improve population health, largely because

of their widespread and increasing use, dynamic technological advancements, ability to download updates, and use of existing features (eg, Internet access, geopositioning technology, as well as photo, video, and voice recording capabilities), and the potential for reducing intervention delivery costs. However, there are limitations to the use of smartphone apps, primarily because they may be expensive to develop and their use is often irregular and short-lived [34]. Therefore, if the target behaviors require commitment in the longer term, as is the case with nutrition and physical activity behaviors, additional support strategies may be required to prolong individuals' motivation to use the apps [34]. Also to consider, is the competition from new apps being developed. For this reason, an audit of existing apps is recommended to inform whether adequate apps are already available [8]. A further limitation is that other barriers to nutritional and physical activity behavior change perceived by young adults cannot be addressed, such as financial costs and aspects of their social and physical environments [39,40], although one can address personal barriers, such as time constraints [39-42] or lack of self-monitoring skills [20]. The equality of using apps as a public health strategy also remains questionable, and is likely to depend on the specific target group of interest.

Although young adults are increasingly using smartphones, use in other population groups is unclear. For this reason, formative research with the target population may be required for some groups, such as older adults, before embarking on developing apps for this demographic [43]. Future research should also examine how commercially developed apps for diet or physical

activity are being used by different population groups to improve our understanding of how this technology may be used to support behavior change.

The feedback from trialing the apps with the target population (young adults aged 18 to 35) will be used to refine the prototype versions of the developed smartphone apps. Attempts will be made to increase the speed of the apps and ensure functionality on all mobile phone operating systems popular with young adults. The revised apps will then be formally tested for their "usability," which measures the ability of a software product to be understood, learned, used, and be attractive to the user, and will involve an analysis of the number of steps or time required to complete set tasks within the software [44]. Others have extended these methods to testing the usability of mobile phone apps, suggesting additional items for evaluation [45,46].

The apps will be added as part of a multi-component randomized controlled trial in young adults, together with mobile phone text messaging and phone coaching calls, to evaluate their impact using validated measures of diet, physical activity, and anthropometrics.

Smartphone apps may be an innovative medium for delivering individual health behavior change intervention en masse. Researchers or health professionals considering developing an app in their area must give careful consideration to the target population in terms of their access, ability to adopt this form of intervention, and preferences regarding the design, the current technologies available for app development, existing commercial apps, and the possibility that their use will be irregular and short-lived.

### Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Ms. Kristi Gander who provided data on fruit and vegetable serving sizes for the fruit and vegetable app, and to Mr. Liviu Constantinescu who with Dr. Peter Budd developed the apps, for his assistance with the information technology linguistics used in this paper.

### **Authors' Contributions**

LH drafted the manuscript; LH, AC, and MA-F conceptualized the apps; HvdP informed the development of the ePASS (physical activity) app; AC, HvdP, and MA-F made revisions to the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

### References

- 1. ICT Data and Statistics Division, Telecommunication Development Bureau. Geneva, Switzerland: International Telecommunications Union. 2012 Jan. Mobile cellular subscriptions per 100 inhabitants, 2001-2011 (Excel Spreadsheet) URL: <u>http://www.itu.int/ITU-D/ict/statistics/material/excel/2011/Mobile\_cellular\_01-11.xls</u> [accessed 2012-06-04] [WebCite Cache ID 68A4bzYe3]
- International Data Corporation (IDC). Press Release. 2012 Feb. Smartphone market hits all-time quarterly high due to seasonal strength and wider variety of offerings, according to IDC (Press Release) URL: <u>http://www.idc.com/getdoc.</u> jsp?containerId=prUS23299912 [accessed 2012-06-04] [WebCite Cache ID 68A6LfCCi]
- 3. nielsen. Generation app: 62% of mobile users 25-34 own Smartphones 2011 Nov (Press Release) URL: <u>http://blog.nielsen.com/nielsenwire/online\_mobile/generation-app-62-of-mobile-users-25-34-own-smartphones/</u>[accessed 2012-06-04] [WebCite Cache ID 68A6QsNho]
- 4. Cummings E, Hauser J, Cameron-Tucker H, Fitzpatrick P, Jessup M, Walters EH, et al. Enhancing self-efficacy for self-management in people with cystic fibrosis. Stud Health Technol Inform 2011;169:33-37. [Medline: <u>21893709</u>]
- 5. Klasnja P, Hartzler A, Powell C, Phan G, Pratt W. Health Weaver Mobile: Designing a Mobile Tool for Managing Personal Health Information during Cancer Care. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2010;2010:392-396. [Medline: 21347007]
- Burns MN, Begale M, Duffecy J, Gergle D, Karr CJ, Giangrande E, et al. Harnessing context sensing to develop a mobile intervention for depression. J Med Internet Res 2011;13(3):e55 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.1838</u>] [Medline: <u>21840837</u>]
- Fletcher RR, Tam S, Omojola O, Redemske R, Kwan J. Wearable sensor platform and mobile application for use in cognitive behavioral therapy for drug addiction and PTSD. Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc 2011:1802-1805. [doi: 10.1109/IEMBS.2011.6090513] [Medline: 22254678]
- 8. Gan KO, Allman-Farinelli M. A scientific audit of smartphone applications for the management of obesity. Aust N Z J Public Health 2011 Jun;35(3):293-294. [doi: 10.1111/j.1753-6405.2011.00707.x] [Medline: 21627732]
- Allman-Farinelli MA, Chey T, Bauman AE, Gill T, James WP. Age, period and birth cohort effects on prevalence of overweight and obesity in Australian adults from 1990 to 2000. Eur J Clin Nutr 2008 Jul;62(7):898-907. [doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1602769] [Medline: 17440514]
- 10. Reither EN, Hauser RM, Yang Y. Do birth cohorts matter? Age-period-cohort analyses of the obesity epidemic in the United States. Soc Sci Med 2009 Nov;69(10):1439-1448. [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.08.040] [Medline: 19773107]

- Norman JE, Bild D, Lewis CE, Liu K, West DS, CARDIA Study. The impact of weight change on cardiovascular disease risk factors in young black and white adults: the CARDIA study. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2003 Mar;27(3):369-376. [doi: <u>10.1038/sj.ijo.0802243</u>] [Medline: <u>12629565</u>]
- Hankinson AL, Daviglus ML, Bouchard C, Carnethon M, Lewis CE, Schreiner PJ, et al. Maintaining a high physical activity level over 20 years and weight gain. JAMA 2010 Dec 15;304(23):2603-2610. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2010.1843</u>] [Medline: <u>21156948</u>]
- 13. Leslie E, Fotheringham MJ, Owen N, Bauman A. Age-related differences in physical activity levels of young adults. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2001 Feb;33(2):255-258. [Medline: <u>11224815</u>]
- Pereira MA, Kartashov AI, Ebbeling CB, Van Horn L, Slattery ML, Jacobs DR, et al. Fast-food habits, weight gain, and insulin resistance (the CARDIA study): 15-year prospective analysis. Lancet 2005;365(9453):36-42. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17663-0] [Medline: 15639678]
- Bleich SN, Wang YC, Wang Y, Gortmaker SL. Increasing consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages among US adults: 1988-1994 to 1999-2004. Am J Clin Nutr 2009 Jan;89(1):372-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2008.26883] [Medline: 19056548]
- Duffey KJ, Gordon-Larsen P, Steffen LM, Jacobs DR, Popkin BM. Drinking caloric beverages increases the risk of adverse cardiometabolic outcomes in the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA) Study. Am J Clin Nutr 2010 Oct;92(4):954-959 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2010.29478] [Medline: 20702604]
- 17. Kimmons J, Gillespie C, Seymour J, Serdula M, Blanck HM. Fruit and vegetable intake among adolescents and adults in the United States: percentage meeting individualized recommendations. Medscape J Med 2009;11(1):26. [Medline: <u>19295947</u>]
- Hebden L, Chey T, Allman-Farinelli M. Lifestyle intervention for preventing weight gain in young adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis of RCTs. Obes Rev 2012 Aug;13(8):692-710. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1467-789X.2012.00990.x</u>] [Medline: <u>22413804</u>]
- 19. Gokee LaRose J, Gorin AA, Clarke MM, Wing RR. Beliefs about weight gain among young adults: potential challenges to prevention. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2011 Sep;19(9):1901-1904. [doi: 10.1038/oby.2011.203] [Medline: 21738239]
- 20. Strong KA, Parks SL, Anderson E, Winett R, Davy BM. Weight gain prevention: identifying theory-based targets for health behavior change in young adults. J Am Diet Assoc 2008 Oct;108(10):1708-1715. [doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2008.07.007] [Medline: 18926139]
- 21. Maclellan DL, Gottschall-Pass K, Larsen R. Fruit and vegetable consumption: benefits and barriers. Can J Diet Pract Res 2004;65(3):101-105. [Medline: 15363114]
- 22. Walsh JR, White AA, Greaney ML. Using focus groups to identify factors affecting healthy weight maintenance in college men. Nutr Res 2009 Jun;29(6):371-378. [doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2009.04.002] [Medline: 19628102]
- Saris WH, Blair SN, van Baak MA, Eaton SB, Davies PS, Di Pietro L, et al. How much physical activity is enough to prevent unhealthy weight gain? Outcome of the IASO 1st Stock Conference and consensus statement. Obes Rev 2003 May;4(2):101-114. [Medline: 12760445]
- 24. World Health Organization. Global recommendations on physical activity for health. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2010.
- 25. Smith A, Kellett E, Schmerlaib Y. The Australian Guide to Healthy Eating: Background information for nutrition educators. Canberra, ACT: Commonwealth Department of Health and Family Services; 1998. URL: <u>http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/content/FD699468D52A5A2ECA256F19000406D6/%File/fdeduc.pdf</u> [accessed 2012-08-20] [WebCite Cache ID 6A3Q1gUYt]
- 26. National Health and Medical Research Council. Food for health: Dietary guidelines for Australians. Canberra, ACT: Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing; 2003.
- 27. National Health and Medical Research Council and New Zealand Ministry of Health. Nutrient Reference Values for Australia and New Zealand including recommended dietary intakes. Canberra, ACT: Commonwealth Department of Health and Aging; 2006. URL: <u>http://www.nhmrc.gov.au/\_files\_nhmrc/publications/attachments/n35.pdf</u> [accessed 2012-08-20] [WebCite Cache ID 6A3QkqMOi]
- 28. de Bruijn GJ. Understanding college students' fruit consumption. Integrating habit strength in the theory of planned behaviour. Appetite 2010 Feb;54(1):16-22. [doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2009.08.007] [Medline: 19712718]
- 29. Horacek TM, White A, Betts NM, Hoerr S, Georgiou C, Nitzke S, et al. Self-efficacy, perceived benefits, and weight satisfaction discriminate among stages of change for fruit and vegetable intakes for young men and women. J Am Diet Assoc 2002 Oct;102(10):1466-1470. [Medline: 12396169]
- 30. Werch CC. The Behavior-Image Model: a paradigm for integrating prevention and health promotion in brief interventions. Health Educ Res 2007 Oct;22(5):677-690 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/her/cyl146] [Medline: 17138616]
- 31. Prochaska JO, DiClemente CC, Norcross JC. In search of how people change. Applications to addictive behaviors. Am Psychol 1992 Sep;47(9):1102-1114. [Medline: <u>1329589</u>]
- Ainsworth BE, Haskell WL, Herrmann SD, Meckes N, Bassett DR, Tudor-Locke C, et al. 2011 Compendium of Physical Activities: a second update of codes and MET values. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2011 Aug;43(8):1575-1581. [doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31821ece12] [Medline: 21681120]

- 33. NUTTAB 2010 Food Composition Tables (Online Database).: Food Standards Australia New Zealand; 2011. URL: <u>http://www.foodstandards.gov.au/consumerinformation/nuttab2010/</u> [accessed 2012-08-02] [WebCite Cache ID 69cyjCey4]
- Mattila E, Korhonen I, Salminen JH, Ahtinen A, Koskinen E, Särelä A, et al. Empowering citizens for well-being and chronic disease management with wellness diary. IEEE Trans Inf Technol Biomed 2010 Mar;14(2):456-463. [doi: 10.1109/TITB.2009.2037751] [Medline: 20007055]
- 35. Hughes DC, Andrew A, Denning T, Hurvitz P, Lester J, Beresford S, et al. BALANCE (Bioengineering Approaches for Lifestyle Activity and Nutrition Continuous Engagement): developing new technology for monitoring energy balance in real time. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2010 Mar;4(2):429-434 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 20307404]
- 36. Lee W, Chae YM, Kim S, Ho SH, Choi I. Evaluation of a mobile phone-based diet game for weight control. J Telemed Telecare 2010 Jul;16(5):270-275. [doi: <u>10.1258/jtt.2010.090913</u>] [Medline: <u>20558620</u>]
- 37. Arsand E, Tatara N, Østengen G, Hartvigsen G. Mobile phone-based self-management tools for type 2 diabetes: the few touch application. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2010 Mar;4(2):328-336 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 20307393]
- 38. Varnfield M, Karunanithi MK, Särelä A, Garcia E, Fairfull A, Oldenburg BF, et al. Uptake of a technology-assisted home-care cardiac rehabilitation program. Med J Aust 2011 Feb 21;194(4):S15-S19. [Medline: <u>21401482</u>]
- Andajani-Sutjahjo S, Ball K, Warren N, Inglis V, Crawford D. Perceived personal, social and environmental barriers to weight maintenance among young women: A community survey. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2004 Dec 5;1(1):15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-1-15] [Medline: 15462679]
- Greaney ML, Less FD, White AA, Dayton SF, Riebe D, Blissmer B, et al. College students' barriers and enablers for healthful weight management: a qualitative study. J Nutr Educ Behav 2009;41(4):281-286. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jneb.2008.04.354</u>] [Medline: <u>19508934</u>]
- 41. Larson NI, Nelson MC, Neumark-Sztainer D, Story M, Hannan PJ. Making time for meals: meal structure and associations with dietary intake in young adults. J Am Diet Assoc 2009 Jan;109(1):72-79. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jada.2008.10.017</u>] [Medline: <u>19103325</u>]
- 42. Welch N, McNaughton SA, Hunter W, Hume C, Crawford D. Is the perception of time pressure a barrier to healthy eating and physical activity among women? Public Health Nutr 2009 Jul;12(7):888-895. [doi: <u>10.1017/S1368980008003066</u>] [Medline: <u>18647424</u>]
- 43. Lorenz A, Oppermann R. Mobile health monitoring for the elderly: designing for diversity. PMC 2009;5(5):478-495. [doi: 10.1016/j.pmcj.2008.09.010]
- 44. Nielsen J. Usability engineering. San Francisco, California: Morgan Kaufmann Publishers; 1993.
- 45. Coursaris CK, Kim DJ. A meta-analytical review of empirical mobile usability studies. JUS 2011;6(3):117-171.
- 46. Zhang D, Adipat B. Challenges, methodologies, and issues in the usability testing of mobile applications. Int J Hum-Comput Int 2005;18(3):293-308. [doi: 10.1207/s15327590ijhc1803\_3]

### Abbreviations

app: smartphone application
CARDIA: Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults
CSS: cascading style sheets
ePASS: physical activity smartphone app
eSIYP: sugar-sweetened drinks smartphone app
eTIYP: take-out (fast food) smartphone app
eVIP: fruit and vegetable smartphone app
eVIP: fruit and vegetable smartphone app
HTML: HyperText Markup Language
ID: identification
MET: metabolic equivalent of task
SQL: structured query language

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 04.06.12; peer-reviewed by T Burrows, J Thomas; comments to author 26.06.12; revised version received 10.07.12; accepted 02.08.12; published 22.08.12.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Hebden L, Cook A, van der Ploeg HP, Allman-Farinelli M Development of Smartphone Applications for Nutrition and Physical Activity Behavior Change JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e9 URL: <u>http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e9/</u> doi:10.2196/resprot.2205 PMID:23611892



©Lana Hebden, Amelia Cook, Hidde P. van der Ploeg, Margaret Allman-Farinelli. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 22.08.2012. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

# Initial Evaluation of an Electronic Symptom Diary for Adolescents with Cancer

Christina Baggott<sup>1</sup>, PhD, RN, PNP-BC; Faith Gibson<sup>2,3</sup>, PhD, MSc; Beatriz Coll<sup>4</sup>, RN, MS, PNP; Richard Kletter<sup>5</sup>; Paul Zeltzer<sup>5</sup>, MD; Christine Miaskowski<sup>1</sup>, PhD, RN, FAAN

<sup>3</sup>Great Ormond Street Hospital for Children, London, United Kingdom

<sup>5</sup>GoMed Solutions, Los Angeles, CA, United States

### **Corresponding Author:**

Christina Baggott, PhD, RN, PNP-BC University of California, San Francisco Department of Physiological Nursing 2 Koret Way Box 0610 San Francisco, CA, United States Phone: 1 415 476 4320 Fax: 1 415 476 8899 Email: <u>christina.baggott@ucsf.edu</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** The delivery of optimal care depends on accurate communication between patients and clinicians regarding untoward symptoms. Documentation of patients' symptoms necessitates reliance on memory, which is often imprecise. We developed an electronic diary (eDiary) for adolescents and young adults (AYAs) with cancer to record symptoms.

**Objective:** The purpose of this paper is to describe the utility of an eDiary designed for AYAs with cancer, including dependability of the mobile application, the reasons for any missing recorded data, patients' adherence rates to daily symptom queries, and patients' perceptions of the usefulness and acceptability of symptom data collection via mobile phones.

**Methods:** Our team developed an electronic symptom diary based on interviews conducted with AYAs with cancer and their clinicians. This diary included daily severity ratings of pain, nausea, vomiting, fatigue, and sleep. The occurrence of other selected physical sequelae was assessed daily. Additionally, patients selected descriptors of their mood. A 3-week trial of the eDiary was conducted with 10 AYA cancer patients. Mobile phones with service plans were loaned to patients who were instructed to report their symptoms daily. Patients completed a brief questionnaire and were interviewed to elicit their perceptions of the eDiary and any technical difficulties encountered.

**Results:** Overall adherence to daily symptom reports exceeded 90%. Young people experienced few technical difficulties and reported benefit from daily symptom reports. Symptom occurrence rates were high and considerable inter- and intra-patient variability was noted in symptom and mood reports.

**Conclusions:** We demonstrated the utility of an eDiary that may contribute insight into patients' symptom patterns to promote effective symptom management.

(JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e23) doi:10.2196/resprot.2175

### **KEYWORDS**

mHealth, eHealth, patient-reported outcomes, symptom assessment, adolescent, cancer

## Introduction

RenderX

Adolescents and young adults (AYAs) with cancer experience numerous sequelae during treatment [1-5], which are associated

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e23/

with decrements in their quality of life [6]. Accurate communication between young people and their clinicians about these symptoms is crucial for the delivery of optimal supportive care. Furthermore, accurate symptom assessment during clinical

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>University of California, San Francisco, Department of Physiological Nursing, San Francisco, CA, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>London South Bank University, Department of Children's Nursing Health & Social Care, London, United Kingdom

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>San Francisco Unified School District, San Francisco, CA, United States

trials is needed to advance the science of supportive care in oncology.

Current practices to determine symptom occurrence in clinical trials require that patients accurately recall their symptoms during clinic visits over the prior 1 to 6 weeks and report them to their clinicians. Clinicians then record this information in the medical record and researchers abstract the information to a database for analysis. Omissions or errors at any of these steps result in an underreporting or misrepresentation of symptom occurrence. Moreover, recent data suggests that the accuracy of symptom appraisal and recall depends on the use of short recall periods [7].

Alternatively, symptom diaries in paper format that are completed daily can be used to circumvent the challenges described above. However, patient adherence with these diaries is low, ranging from 11% to 56% [8-12]. In addition, adherence with paper diary entries is markedly low when real time data entry is checked electronically (eg, with light sensors to determine when the diary was opened) against the paper submission. In one study, 90% (approximately 36/40) of patients reported temporal adherence with paper diary entries. However, the true adherence level was 11% when the actual time that diary entries were written was monitored electronically. Many patients recorded entries just prior to returning the diary, known as "parking lot entries" [11]. Data based on inaccurate symptom management studies are based on poorly recalled data [13].

The collection of AYAs' symptom data in real-time using electronic diaries (eDiaries) could avoid poorly recalled data. Patients' and clinicians' interests in using eDiaries are high [14, 15]. The portability of these devices and availability of audible prompts may promote adherence with data entry. In a review of 62 studies that used electronic pain diaries [15], the overall adherence with diary entries was 83%. Factors that promoted adherence to eDiaries included the following: shorter diaries, having a user's manual, financial compensation, and reminder alarms [15].

While initial eDiary research involved the use of personal digital assistants [14, 16-20], mobile phones are now also used for collecting a variety of data. Typically, the frequency of symptom assessment using eDiaries ranges from 1 to 12 times per day [21]. Entries can be triggered by random alerts, symptom events, or at predetermined schedules. Mobile phone diaries have been used by child and adult patients to monitor symptoms, alert clinicians about severe symptoms [22], or to deliver self-care interventions based on symptom assessments [23]. The term ecological momentary assessment (EMA) is used to describe the collection of real-time data from individuals in naturalistic settings. In pediatrics, EMA has been instrumental in the study of physical activity [24-30], affective mood disorders [31-34], evaluation of alcohol and illicit drug use [35], and smoking cessation [36]. These studies included multiple evaluations per day, as frequent as every 15 minutes, among relatively healthy individuals. No such studies were conducted with hospitalized AYAs.

AYAs with cancer have unique needs related to frequent and complex exacerbations of their disease- and treatment-related

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e23/
```

XSL•FC

symptoms that could affect their abilities to maintain eDiaries. The lack of an eDiary geared to the symptoms and developmental needs of AYAs with cancer prompted us to develop a mobile application, titled the Mobile Oncology Symptom Tracker (mOST). To do so, we assembled a multidisciplinary team of 2 nurses and 3 software developers from GoMed Solutions, one of whom is a pediatric oncologist. We elicited input from 15 AYA oncology patients from two University-affiliated children's hospitals in the inpatient or clinic settings. Semi-structured interviews were used to determine their use of technology, and ideas on the types of symptoms to monitor, frequency of reporting, and preferences for icons and graphics. In addition, clinicians and research experts were consulted during the development of the application. The symptoms selected for daily monitoring were those that occur frequently during treatment of cancer [4]. Assessment of these symptoms was done using modifications of valid and reliable instruments when possible (Multimedia Appendix 1). Considering the complex demands placed on patients undergoing cancer therapy, we designed the application to collect symptom data as a single end-of-day (EOD) entry to minimize patient burden. This single entry aims to capture the majority of the day's ratings, and the daily component circumvents issues related to poor recall associated with entries that are made on subsequent days. Entries could be made between 3 pm and midnight at the convenience of the patient. A team of researchers and developers used the application for 2 weeks to evaluate its functionality prior to clinical testing.

The purpose of this paper is to describe the utility of mOST tested on a group of 10 oncology patients, ages 13 to 21. The specific aims of this pilot study were to determine the dependability of the mobile application, the reasons for any missing entries and patients' adherence rates to daily symptom queries for multiple symptom reporting. In addition, patients' perceptions of the usefulness and acceptability of symptom data collection via mobile phones were evaluated after a 3-week trial assessment period.

### Methods

### **Participants**

In this descriptive, longitudinal study, we evaluated a mobile phone-based electronic symptom diary in a convenience sample of AYAs with cancer. Patients were eligible to participate if they were 13 to 21 years of age, could understand English, gave assent or consent to participate, had not participated in the prior application development interviews, and were receiving chemotherapy (for initial therapy, relapsed, or refractory disease). The study was approved by the Human Subjects Committee at the University of California, San Francisco.

Eligible patients were identified with assistance from pediatric oncology clinics and in-patient advanced practice nurses. Research staff approached these patients to determine interest in the study. If patients expressed interest, the research staff informed them of the study procedures, risks, and benefits. Patients 18 years of age or older and the parents/guardians of younger patients signed written, informed consent. Younger patients gave written assent. Between March and April, 2011,

11 out of 13 patients approached agreed to participate in the study (response rate of 85%). Patients who refused were too busy or too ill to participate.

### Procedures

Patients completed a demographic form that included their age, race/ethnicity, primary diagnosis, date of diagnosis, number of relapses, prior mobile phone use, and approximate household income. An 8 GB iPhone 3GS, charger, and earphones were loaned to each participant during the study. The monthly service plan included: 450 minutes of peak time voice minutes, and unlimited data, text messaging, and evenings/weekend calling. The mOST application was downloaded on each phone. Patients received an instructions booklet and a tutorial on the application and phone use, expectations of the frequency of symptom reporting, and methods to notify research staff of system malfunctions. They were instructed to report their symptoms at the end of the day. A single daily report was designed to minimize patient burden. Patients could only access the system between 3 pm and midnight, as reports earlier in the day might not accurately reflect all of their experiences for the day. They could program 2 reminder messages to input daily entries with audible alerts, customizable for text choice and time selection. Data were delivered to a secure website, listed by study number only, and could be downloaded to database and statistical packages for analysis. The dates and times of data submission and data upload were coded.

### Symptom Assessments

Severity ratings of 5 disease or treatment-related symptoms were assessed daily: pain, nausea, vomiting, fatigue, and sleep quality. A body diagram was used to indicate the location(s) of any pain experienced. A visual analog scale (VAS) was selected to assess pain intensity (ie, no pain or worst pain) based on a consensus statement compiled by pediatric pain researchers [37]. We selected the Color Analog Scale (CAS) as the VAS for this study due to its excellent psychometric properties [38, 39]. However, pain scales that include face icons (ie, faces pain scales) were preferred by pediatric and adolescent patients in a prior study [40] and by many of the AYAs we interviewed during the software development period. We included the Faces Pain Scale-Revised (FPS-R), a valid and reliable pediatric pain measure [41], as well as a VAS to assess pain, with the consideration that no additional burden was placed on participants. The FPS-R appeared as 6 faces on the bottom of the mOST screen. When a patient tapped a face, the selection enlarged and filled most of the screen. Patients then responded to the statement, "drag the slider to show your average pain level in your <body part> since midnight", using the CAS.

Validity of the CAS was previously evaluated by eliciting pain ratings from 30 children in an emergency department (ED) who reported pain [39]. Initial median pain ratings were higher than those obtained after analgesic administration, 6 centimeter (cm) and 3.1 cm, respectively. Median scores of 30 children without pain were 0 cm, compared to median ratings of 7.0 cm from children who reported severe pain. In addition, correlations between CAS scores and the FPS-R were positive and strong (ie, 0.89) [39]. In another study, reliability of the CAS was evaluated by obtaining 2 pain ratings on the CAS from patients

XSI•FC

in a pediatric ED, 1 minute apart. The intraclass correlation coefficient in this study was high (r=0.97, 95% CI 0.95-0.98) [38]. Previously, strong positive correlations were noted between FPS-R scores and children's pain ratings on a VAS. The validity of the FPS-R was evaluated by eliciting pain reports from children after routine ear piercing [41]. In this study, similar correlations were noted in hospitalized children who experienced painful conditions [41]. Additional reports of the psychometric properties of the FPS-R are summarized in a review by Tomlinson and colleagues [42]

To assess nausea, we included the Pediatric Nausea Assessment Tool (PeNAT), a valid and reliable instrument to assess nausea among pediatric oncology patients [43]. In previous evaluations, PeNAT scores varied significantly among children admitted for different therapies (ie, children with cancer admitted for routine chemotherapy, children receiving conditioning therapy for hematopoietic stem cell transplants, children with cancer admitted for febrile neutropenia, and children without cancer admitted to the general pediatrics unit). Moderate correlation was noted among children's PeNAT scores and their emetic episodes as well as with parental reports of their nausea. Test-retest reliability, measured by the collection of patient entries 1 hour apart, revealed moderate correlations between the 2 entries [43]. This tool was selected for the eDiary, with faces depicted in a similar fashion as the FPS-R. We used the PeNAT in conjunction with a VAS to assess the degree of nausea in this early stage of application development to collect correlative assessment data and to explore the optimal assessment tool for the application.

No single-item validated instruments were available to assess vomiting, fatigue, or sleep among AYA patients. The number of vomiting episodes was assessed with the single forced-choice query of: none, 1 time, or 2 or more times. Fatigue was assessed with 2 queries from the Fatigue Scale-Adolescent [44] ("my body has felt tired" and "my mind has felt worn out") using a VAS format to collect data on physical fatigue (not tired or most tired) and mental fatigue, (not worn out or most worn out) respectively. Sleep quality was assessed with a single query in a VAS format (terrible or great) in conjunction with patient estimates of bedtime and wake time. All VAS scales on the application were in CAS format and transformed to a 0-100 scale, with higher values indicating more severe symptoms.

The occurrence of diarrhea, constipation, fever. numbness/tingling, mouth sores, dizziness, and headaches were assessed daily. These symptoms were included due to their frequent occurrence among pediatric oncology patients and their variability during treatment [4]. Patients could select symptoms from a list and highlight the text by swiping the printed text with one finger from left to right or type in other conditions. In addition, patients selected descriptors for their current mood the choices included were angry, scared, frustrated, lonely, anxious, irritable, worried, happy, confident, and hopeful. Both positive and negative terms to describe mood were selected for inclusion based on their frequent reports in clinical encounters.

Patients received \$1 credit towards a department store gift card for each diary entry. In addition, those who completed  $\ge 90\%$ of the assessments in a 21-day period were given a \$50 gift

card. If patients attempted to report symptoms but experienced a system error, the attempt was also applied towards the gift card credits.

### **Post Use Evaluation**

The principal investigator or research assistant conducted 10 to 15 minute interviews with patients at the completion of their evaluation period to obtain their perceptions about using mOST and any technical difficulties they experienced. In addition, they were asked to carry out a "think-aloud" exercise [45] where they provided the rationales for the actions they made on mOST as they did them. These interviews were audio recorded and transcribed verbatim. All patient identifiers were removed from the transcripts. A brief questionnaire was completed at the time of the interview to elicit patients' experiences with the application.

### **Data Analysis**

Descriptive statistics were used to characterize demographic and clinical characteristics as well as rates of symptom occurrence. The total number of system errors was calculated during the 21-day study period. Data entry adherence rates were determined by calculating the number of symptom reports over the 21 days of the study. One-way analysis of variance was used to evaluate the differences in patients' weekly adherence rates.

 Table 1. Demographic and clinical characteristics of participants (N=10).

The interview transcripts were analyzed by 2 researchers, with verification by 1 of the senior investigators.

### Results

### **Patient Characteristics**

The demographic and clinical characteristics of the AYAs who participated are described in Table 1. A patient completed 2 entries just prior to being notified that her tumor had progressed. Because she required emergency surgery followed by a transfer to the pediatric intensive care unit (PICU), she was withdrawn from the study. Another patient completed 13 daily entries prior transfer to the PICU due to complications following hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Her symptom reports are included in this analysis but she was not interviewed. All study phones were returned at the completion of the study, but several had misplaced the phone chargers or earphones.

The patients' baseline technology use is described in Table 2. All but 2 (a 15 year old male and a 20 year old male who was homeless), of the AYAs owned a mobile phone with service plans primarily paid for by their parents. Daily use of the phones for voice calls and text messaging was common but not uniform. All patients owned a computer and only 1 did not have home Internet access. Most patients (80 %) had a social networking account.

Characteristic <sup>a,b</sup>		n (%)		
Gender		·		
	Male	6 (60%)		
	Female	4 (40%)		
Race/Ethnicity				
	Hispanic White	3 (30%)		
	Non-Hispanic White	1 (10%)		
	African American	1 (10%)		
	Hispanic-Other or not specified	5 (50%)		
Diagnosis				
	Leukemia/Lymphoma	6 (60%)		
	Bone tumor	3 (30%)		
	Sarcoma-other	1 (10%)		
Number of prior relapses				
	None	5 (50%)		
	One or more	5 (50%)		
Setting				
	Inpatient	4 (40%)		
	Outpatient	4 (40%)		
	Both	2 (20%)		

<sup>a</sup>Age in years (SD) = 18.2 (2.9)

<sup>b</sup>Time since initial diagnosis in months (SD)= 12.2 (15.3)
Table 2. Technology use among participants.

Question	Response	n (%)
	X	<u> </u>
Do you nave a mobile phone?	ies	8 (80%)
	No	2 (20%)
Who pays for the service?	Self	2 (20%)
	Parents	6 (60%)
	Not applicable	2 (20%)
How often do you use your phone for voice calls?	Daily	4 (40%)
	4-6 days/week	2 (20%)
	2-3 days/week	2 (20%)
	Not applicable	2 (20%)
How often do you use your phone for text messaging?	Daily	5 (50%)
	4-6 days/week	2 (20%)
	2-3 days/week	1 (10%)
	Not applicable	2 (20%)
Do you have a computer at home?	Yes	10 (100%)
	No	0 (0%)
Do you have Internet access at home?	Yes	9 (90%)
	No	1 (10%)
Is Internet access WiFi enabled?	Yes	5 (50%)
	No	2 (20%)
	Not applicable	1 (10%)
	Not sure	2 (20%)
Do you have a page on Facebook or MySpace?	Yes	8 (80%)
	No	2 (20%)

#### **Dependability of the Mobile Application**

On day 14 of our data collection period, we noted a system malfunction that occurred if patients skipped a day of diary entries. On the subsequent day, the application did not function. During the "beta-testing" period, testers skipped data entries and did not experience this malfunction. An interim solution was devised in which patients deleted the application and reloaded it from a website. Subsequently, we monitored the database daily. If patients missed an entry, we contacted them and provided instructions on how to reload the application. A total of 3 episodes of system malfunction occurred over the study period. The software malfunction was rectified by the end of the study. An error message appeared at the time of upload for 3 patients, but that the entry was transmitted the next time the application was opened.

#### **Reasons for Missing Data**

One patient missed an eDiary entry when he felt too ill to enter data. He missed the subsequent day due to the system malfunction and a third day when he went out of town and left the phone at home. Another patient missed a data entry on a day he discovered that his leukemia had relapsed. He missed 4 consecutive entries during a period when we attempted to reach him. He then reloaded the application and maintained full

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e23/

RenderX

adherence until the end of his study period. A third patient missed 2 entries due to forgetfulness. A 4<sup>th</sup> patient reported full adherence to the data entries, but we noted missing data on 1 day with 2 entries the subsequent day, all uploaded on the third day. This finding likely represented Internet access difficulties, but we coded her data as missing a day to be conservative in adherence estimations.

#### Adherence

Adherence can be calculated by assessing different causation end points. When data were counted as missing only for omitted entries due to forgetfulness and illness-related concerns of mild to moderate levels (ie, giving credit for days of system error and time spent in the PICU), the overall adherence rate for daily symptom reports during the 21 day study was 97%. When days of system malfunction were included as missing data, the adherence rate was 95%. When all days of missing data were used in the calculation, including the 8 days when a patient spent was in the PICU, the adherence rate was 91%. Adherence rates did not vary among the 3 weeks ( $F_{2,27}$ =1.016, P =.38).

#### Usefulness

The data collected were used to delineate the potential utility of the eDiary to clinicians and researchers. Summaries of the

symptoms and moods reported by individual patients are listed in Tables 3 and 4, respectively. Additional physical symptoms typed in and added by patients were: jaw pain, numb chin, bloody stools, bone ache, lightheaded, tinnitus, stomachache, and itchiness. Two patients wrote in symptoms already evaluated on the application (ie, "fatigue, tiredness" and "queasy nauseous"). Additional mood descriptors reported by patients were: giggly, bored, overwhelmed, and blah. In addition, trajectories reported by one patient of the severity of mental fatigue and nausea over the 3-week course are depicted in Figure 1 along with his mean values for each symptom over the 21 day study period, as exemplars of symptom variability over time. Considerable inter-patient and intra-patient variability were noted in the symptom and mood reports. The ability to collect this variability in patients' experiences supports the usefulness of the eDiary.

#### Acceptability

In an exit interview, one patient with peripheral neuropathy noted that the highlighting feature was difficult to master. Others stated that the highlighting feature was simple to use. The body diagram used to describe pain locations was divided into 9 regions-head/neck, hands, arms, chest, abdomen, upper back, lower back/pelvis, legs, and feet. Difficulties with pinpointing

 Table 3. Patients' reports of physical symptoms.

the precise location of pain were mentioned by 4 patients (eg, the indicator to depict neck pain showed up on the head).

Patients rated the application as either "easy" (2/9, 22%) or "very easy" (7/9, 78%) to use. Daily entries were generally completed in less than 2 minutes. One patient had mild visual deficits and mentioned that the print was difficult to read at times. However, she was able to read the screens out loud during the "think-aloud" exercise. All other patients reported that the print size posed no difficulties. In the exit survey, patients were asked to select or write in adjectives to describe the application. They could select more than 1 descriptor. All of the selected words had a positive connotation (ie, 67% rewarding, 78% valuable, 78% educational, 67% interesting). No one selected challenging, frustrating, time consuming, worthless, confusing, or difficult to describe mOST. All patients who were questioned (n=7) reported that they would recommend the application to others. Selected quotations regarding why they would recommend the application to others are included in Table 5. Patients' preferences for the use of the VAS or faces scales to rate pain and nausea were fairly evenly divided. Those who preferred the VAS appreciated the opportunity to select a more precise level of pain or nausea, compared to only a few options on the faces scales. Those who preferred the faces scales commented that the diagrams depicted how they were feeling.

Symptom	Perce	Percentage of days each patient reported symptoms								Mean of	% of patients	
	Patier	Patient								symptom oc- currence rates	reporting symptoms	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10		
	Inpati	ent			Both in a tient	ind outpa-	Outpatier	nt				
Fatigue-Physical <sup>a</sup>	100	100	100	86	43	21	90	62	39	5	64	100
Fatigue-Mental <sup>a</sup>	95	92	88	81	48	16	90	52	44	5	62	100
Nausea <sup>b</sup>	100	100	65	24	95	47	75	0	29	38	57	90
Headache	95	54	29	81	29	0	5	52	22	76	44	90
Pain <sup>c</sup>	81	69	65	43	38	0	10	0	24	33	36	80
Dizzy	52	46	24	24	29	0	30	5	17	33	26	90
Numb	62	8	100	5	0	100	0	0	0	5	10	60
Constipation	29	0	65	0	10	0	55	0	11	0	10	50
Diarrhea	29	92	6	5	5	0	0	0	0	0	14	50
Mouth sores	0	39	0	5	0	0	5	19	39	0	11	50
Fever	0	31	6	10	0	0	0	0	0	5	5	40

<sup>a</sup>Occurrence rate based on percentage of days that VAS score >30 on 0-100 scale

<sup>b</sup>Occurrence rate based on percentage of days that patients selected face 2, 3, or 4 on the Pediatric Nausea Assessment Tool (PeNAT)

<sup>c</sup>Occurrence rate based on percentage of days that patients selected face 2, 3, 4, 5, or 6 on the Faces Pain Scale-Revised (FPS-R)

 Table 4. Patients' selection of mood descriptors.

Mood descriptor	Percent	Percentage of days each patient selected mood descriptors								Mean of mood	% of patients	
	Patient	Patient							occurrence rates	reporting mood		
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10		
	Inpatier	nt			Both in patient	and out-	Outpati	ent				
Positive mood descriptors												
Hopeful	38	0	65	86	33	26	5	43	22	91	41	100
Нарру	67	15	82	0	62	26	5	52	33	24	37	90
Confident	52	15	12	86	5	37	0	10	17	86	31	90
Negative mood de	escriptor	's										
Frustrated	62	23	53	10	43	16	10	0	33	86	34	90
Irritable	0	46	12	52	38	16	15	5	56	71	31	90
Worried	0	46	59	10	19	11	40	10	0	81	28	80
Anxious	38	8	65	0	19	5	10	10	11	95	26	90
Sad	0	46	47	57	10	11	0	5	6	33	21	80
Angry	19	0	24	5	14	5	0	0	11	48	13	80
Scared	0	31	24	0	5	0	0	5	0	24	9	50
Lonely	0	0	18	33	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	20

Table 5.	Participants'	reasons for recom	mending the use	of the mOST	application to others.
----------	---------------	-------------------	-----------------	-------------	------------------------

Participant	Quotation
18 year old, Hispanic female	"it's a good idea to keep like, to keep a list of how you're feeling"
20 year old Hispanic male	"it kind of like channels whatever you have wrong with you like out"
21 year old Hispanic male	" because it really helps to see how you've been doing too actually, not just like, you know, go on day by day. But it does help you see and reflect on how you're doing. And if you did something the other day that helped, will help you make you feel better and so on. "
19 year old Hispanic female	"because "It's a good app and it just makes you I know for me it makes me feel better because I can keep track of my symptoms, kind of like a self-comforting type of thing because you know what you're going through and you're not scared. And eventually if this does go to where the doctors can see it, it'd be even better because you know that your physician is seeing it and the communication's there."



Figure 1. Mental fatigue and nausea ratings for participant 5. Mental fatigue rating in response to the statement "My mind has felt worn out" on a 0-100 VAS, where higher values indicate more severe fatigue. Nausea rating is response to nausea query on a 0-100 VAS, where higher values indicate more severe nausea. Dashed line represents mean values over the 21-day study period.



XSL•FO RenderX

### Discussion

This study is the first to demonstrate that the use of an eDiary on a mobile phone platform is a feasible method to collect daily symptom data from AYAs with cancer. The adherence rates in this study (>91%) greatly exceed those associated with pen and paper diaries [8-12], and did not vary significantly over the 3-week period. Patients reported that the application was simple to use and that they would recommend its use to others. The daily collection of patients' symptom experiences may be very useful in pediatric oncology, as it opens new doors to study symptom trajectories in this population. With this technology, researchers can evaluate daily symptom reports and potentially discover patterns that may lead to a better understanding of the etiology of various symptoms. This level of assessment of symptoms may increase our ability to identify those at highest risk for unrelieved symptoms and immediately intervene to relieve suffering.

Not all diseases or treatment-related symptoms experienced by cancer patients warrant daily monitoring. However, many symptoms are labile, particularly during chemotherapy [4]. Weekly or monthly averages of such symptoms provide an incomplete picture of the patient's experience. Daily symptom reports provide clinicians with the information they need to intervene at an early stage and to encourage patients to monitor changes in symptom severity following an intervention. This variability cannot be appreciated when researchers report only group means. Mobile technology allows for the expeditious collection of daily symptom reports, avoiding the burden placed on AYAs when maintaining a paper diary.

Researchers can evaluate within-subject changes using the statistical process of multilevel modeling [46, 47]. In addition, with daily symptom reports, a more accurate evaluation of symptom clusters may be possible when temporal co-occurrence is confirmed. Through the use of an eDiary, one can evaluate changes in patients' mood descriptors to determine the relationships among a variety of mood states and physical symptoms and timing of therapies.

Daily reports may not be sufficiently frequent among a group of critically ill patients. Broderick and colleagues [13] compared symptom data collected multiple times per day with EMA to subsequent patient recall with varying recall periods. Although patients had difficulties accurately recalling events more than 2 days in the past, EOD reports were deemed sufficient. The average of the day's EMA reports strongly correlated with those recalled at the EOD [13]. However, the collection of EMA symptom ratings may be an advantageous option to evaluate symptom management strategies for some highly variable symptoms, such as novel treatments for nausea or pain.

EMA trials which involve frequent assessments throughout the day have been conducted among AYA patients with chronic pain [20], diabetes [48], and among healthy college students to assess smoking [49] and alcohol use [49]. However, to our knowledge, no studies have been done with AYA patients with cancer. One must weigh the potential for improved temporal resolution of symptom patterns with the potential for increased patient burden and subsequent decrements in adherence to

monitoring. However, research on the effects of frequent monitoring on adherence with symptom reporting is lacking.

The use of mobile phones to collect symptom characteristics offers many advantages over pen-and-paper diaries for AYAs with cancer. AYAs are extremely comfortable with technology and may become more fully engaged in their care when they are empowered to track symptoms in a manner that resonates with them. AYA may prefer eDiaries to report sensitive information. In one study, adolescents reported more sexual behavior using a computer assessment compared with paper forms [50]. Thus, the use of electronic data collection may lead to more accurate and complete symptom profiles. Data collected electronically are date and time stamped to assure temporal accuracy. In contrast, reports of back filling (ie, entering data at a later date) and even forward filling (ie, entering data for future dates) of pen and paper diaries exist [51]. Electronic diaries place minimal burden on patients and clinicians can be alerted to serious concerns in real-time. In addition, eDiaries have the potential for seamless integration with web portals and electronic health records for in-depth evaluation and dissemination.

Currently our team is further evaluating the psychometrics of the mOST application. In this study, patients complete the eDiary daily over a 3-week course. On day 8 of the study they complete a series of symptom questionnaires and a quality of life measure (ie, the Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory) using a 1-week recall. Their daily eDiary responses during the first week will be compared to their recall of events reported on the symptom measures. Once the validity and reliability of the instrument are established, we plan to incorporate it into mHealth symptom intervention studies among AYA patients with cancer.

Although the use of mobile phones in research is considered an expensive endeavor, older models of phones are often available free of charge or for nominal fees. Mobile phone use among young people has been prevalent for many years and the age for acquiring smartphones is rapidly decreasing [52]. Mobile technology developers are often able to design applications that are device and platform agnostic and can be used on most phones. Thus researchers and clinicians can offer symptom assessment tools for use on patients' own devices for very little cost. In addition, direct data entry from mobile devices eliminates the potential costs of data entry and validation by staff.

The limitations of this study need to be acknowledged. These limitations include the use of a convenience sample of only 10 patients and a relatively short trial period of 21 days. The patients received a relatively high incentive of up to \$71 for their participation in the study, an acceptable practice in the United States considering the patients' 3-week commitment to the study, but not standard in all countries [53]. In 2002, Institutional Review Board members were surveyed to determine their recommendations for pediatric incentives in research. The maximum allowed payment to children varied widely from \$10-\$1000, with a median of \$100 [54]. The incentives in our study may have promoted improved adherence with daily reporting. The evaluation of the impact of study incentives on

XSL•FO RenderX

patient adherence is an appropriate subject for future investigation, along with the investigation of non-monetary interventions to promote prolonged engagement with technology. Despite these limitations, to our knowledge, this study is the first evaluation of an eDiary on mobile phones for AYAs with cancer. The  $21^{st}$  century is an age in which technology is expected to revolutionize the collection of patient-reported outcomes and that may lead to important improvements in symptom management.

#### Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the patients and their families who helped assisted in this project and the clinic and inpatient staff who supported us in many ways.

This work was supported by a grant from the National Institute of Nursing Research (1P30NR011934-01, PI: Miaskowski) and an American Cancer Society Institutional Research Grant Program. Dr. Baggott is funded by an American Cancer Society Mentored Research Scholar Award (MRSG 12-01-PCSM). Dr. Miaskowski is funded by an American Cancer Society as a Clinical Research Professor.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

Mr. Richard Kletter and Dr. Paul Zeltzer developed the software for GoMed Solutions, and thus declare a potential conflict of interest.

#### **Multimedia Appendix 1**

mOST screen shots.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 193KB - resprot v1i2e23 app1.pdf]

#### References

- 1. Collins JJ, Byrnes ME, Dunkel IJ, Lapin J, Nadel T, Thaler HT, et al. The measurement of symptoms in children with cancer. J Pain Symptom Manage 2000 May;19(5):363-377. [Medline: <u>10869877</u>]
- 2. Yeh CH, Chiang YC, Chien LC, Lin L, Yang CP, Chuang HL. Symptom clustering in older Taiwanese children with cancer. Oncol Nurs Forum 2008 Mar;35(2):273-281. [doi: <u>10.1188/08.ONF.273-281</u>] [Medline: <u>18321840</u>]
- 3. Tseng, TH, Cleeland, CS, Wang, XS, Lin, CC. Assessing cancer symptoms in adolescents with cancer using the Taiwanese version of the M. D. Anderson Symptom Inventory. Cancer Nurs 2008;31(3):E9-16. [Medline: <u>18453871</u>]
- Baggott C, Dodd M, Kennedy C, Marina N, Matthay KK, Cooper BA, et al. Changes in children's reports of symptom occurrence and severity during a course of myelosuppressive chemotherapy. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs 2010;27(6):307-315. [doi: 10.1177/1043454210377619] [Medline: 20739586]
- 5. Woodgate RL, Degner LF. Expectations and beliefs about children's cancer symptoms: perspectives of children with cancer and their families. Oncol Nurs Forum 2003;30(3):479-491. [doi: 10.1188/03.ONF.479-491] [Medline: 12719747]
- Baggott CR, Dodd M, Kennedy C, Marina N, Matthay KK, Cooper B, et al. An evaluation of the factors that affect the health-related quality of life of children following myelosuppressive chemotherapy. Support Care Cancer 2011 Mar;19(3):353-361 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-010-0824-y] [Medline: 20157746]
- 7. Moskowitz DS, Young SN. Ecological momentary assessment: what it is and why it is a method of the future in clinical psychopharmacology. J Psychiatry Neurosci 2006 Jan;31(1):13-20 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>16496031</u>]
- Walker I, Sigouin C, Sek J, Almonte T, Carruthers J, Chan A, et al. Comparing hand-held computers and paper diaries for haemophilia home therapy: a randomized trial. Haemophilia 2004 Nov;10(6):698-704. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2516.2004.01046.x] [Medline: 15569164]
- 9. Palermo TM, Valenzuela D, Stork PP. A randomized trial of electronic versus paper pain diaries in children: impact on compliance, accuracy, and acceptability. Pain 2004 Feb;107(3):213-219. [Medline: <u>14736583</u>]
- 10. Jamison RN, Raymond SA, Levine JG, Slawsby EA, Nedeljkovic SS, Katz NP. Electronic diaries for monitoring chronic pain: 1-year validation study. Pain 2001 Apr;91(3):277-285. [Medline: <u>11275385</u>]
- Stone AA, Shiffman S, Schwartz JE, Broderick JE, Hufford MR. Patient non-compliance with paper diaries. BMJ 2002 May 18;324(7347):1193-1194 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>12016186</u>]
- Burke LE, Sereika SM, Music E, Warziski M, Styn MA, Stone A. Using instrumented paper diaries to document self-monitoring patterns in weight loss. Contemp Clin Trials 2008 Mar;29(2):182-193 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2007.07.004] [Medline: 17702667]
- Broderick JE, Schwartz JE, Vikingstad G, Pribbernow M, Grossman S, Stone AA. The accuracy of pain and fatigue items across different reporting periods. Pain 2008 Sep 30;139(1):146-157 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pain.2008.03.024</u>] [Medline: <u>18455312</u>]

RenderX

- 14. Dale O, Hagen KB. Despite technical problems personal digital assistants outperform pen and paper when collecting patient diary data. J Clin Epidemiol 2007 Jan;60(1):8-17. [doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2006.04.005] [Medline: 17161749]
- 15. Morren M, van Dulmen S, Ouwerkerk J, Bensing J. Compliance with momentary pain measurement using electronic diaries: a systematic review. Eur J Pain 2009 Apr;13(4):354-365. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ejpain.2008.05.010</u>] [Medline: <u>18603458</u>]
- Gibson F, Aldiss S, Taylor RM, Maguire R, McCann L, Sage M, et al. Utilization of the Medical Research Council evaluation framework in the development of technology for symptom management: the ASyMS-YG Study. Cancer Nurs 2010;33(5):343-352. [doi: <u>10.1097/NCC.0b013e3181cb4bad</u>] [Medline: <u>20495448</u>]
- Stinson JN, Petroz GC, Tait G, Feldman BM, Streiner D, McGrath PJ, et al. e-Ouch: usability testing of an electronic chronic pain diary for adolescents with arthritis. Clin J Pain 2006;22(3):295-305. [doi: <u>10.1097/01.ajp.0000173371.54579.31</u>] [Medline: <u>16514331</u>]
- Stinson JN. Improving the assessment of pediatric chronic pain: harnessing the potential of electronic diaries. Pain Res Manag 2009;14(1):59-64 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>19262918</u>]
- Stinson JN, Stevens BJ, Feldman BM, Streiner D, McGrath PJ, Dupuis A, et al. Construct validity of a multidimensional electronic pain diary for adolescents with arthritis. Pain 2008 Jun;136(3):281-292. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pain.2007.07.002</u>] [Medline: <u>17723279</u>]
- 20. Stinson JN, Petroz GC, Stevens BJ, Feldman BM, Streiner D, McGrath PJ, et al. Working out the kinks: testing the feasibility of an electronic pain diary for adolescents with arthritis. Pain Res Manag 2008;13(5):375-382 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 18958308]
- 21. Broderick JE, Schwartz JE, Schneider S, Stone AA. Can End-of-Day Reports Replace Momentary Assessment of Pain and Fatigue? J Pain 2009;10(3):274-281. [Medline: <u>19070550</u>]
- 22. Kollmann A, Riedl M, Kastner P, Schreier G, Ludvik B. Feasibility of a mobile phone-based data service for functional insulin treatment of type 1 diabetes mellitus patients. J Med Internet Res 2007;9(5):e36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9.5.e36] [Medline: 18166525]
- 23. Hung SH, Tseng HC, Tsai WH, Lin HH, Cheng JH, Chang YM. Care for Asthma via Mobile Phone (CAMP). Stud Health Technol Inform 2007;126:137-143. [Medline: <u>17476056</u>]
- 24. Gorely T, Marshall SJ, Biddle SJ, Cameron N. The prevalence of leisure time sedentary behaviour and physical activity in adolescent girls: an ecological momentary assessment approach. Int J Pediatr Obes 2007;2(4):227-234. [doi: 10.1080/17477160701408833] [Medline: 17852544]
- Dunton GF, Whalen CK, Jamner LD, Floro JN. Mapping the social and physical contexts of physical activity across adolescence using ecological momentary assessment. Ann Behav Med 2007 Oct;34(2):144-153. [doi: 10.1080/08836610701566803] [Medline: 17927553]
- 26. Biddle SJ, Gorely T, Marshall SJ, Cameron N. The prevalence of sedentary behavior and physical activity in leisure time: A study of Scottish adolescents using ecological momentary assessment. Prev Med 2009 Feb;48(2):151-155. [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2008.10.025] [Medline: 19046984]
- 27. Gorely T, Biddle SJ, Marshall SJ, Cameron N. The prevalence of leisure time sedentary behaviour and physical activity in adolescent boys: an ecological momentary assessment approach. Int J Pediatr Obes 2009;4(4):289-298. [doi: 10.3109/17477160902811181] [Medline: 19922044]
- Rofey DL, Hull EE, Phillips J, Vogt K, Silk JS, Dahl RE. Utilizing Ecological Momentary Assessment in pediatric obesity to quantify behavior, emotion, and sleep. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2010 Jun;18(6):1270-1272 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/oby.2009.483] [Medline: 20019675]
- Dunton GF, Intille SS, Wolch J, Pentz MA. Investigating the impact of a smart growth community on the contexts of children's physical activity using Ecological Momentary Assessment. Health Place 2012 Jan;18(1):76-84. [doi: 10.1016/j.healthplace.2011.07.007] [Medline: 22243909]
- Dunton GF, Intille SS, Wolch J, Pentz MA. Children's perceptions of physical activity environments captured through ecological momentary assessment: a validation study. Prev Med 2012 Aug;55(2):119-121. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ypmed.2012.05.015</u>] [Medline: <u>22659225</u>]
- 31. Axelson DA, Bertocci MA, Lewin DS, Trubnick LS, Birmaher B, Williamson DE, et al. Measuring mood and complex behavior in natural environments: use of ecological momentary assessment in pediatric affective disorders. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol 2003;13(3):253-266. [doi: 10.1089/104454603322572589] [Medline: 14642013]
- 32. Nock MK, Prinstein MJ, Sterba SK. Revealing the form and function of self-injurious thoughts and behaviors: A real-time ecological assessment study among adolescents and young adults. J Abnorm Psychol 2009 Nov;118(4):816-827. [doi: 10.1037/a0016948] [Medline: 19899851]
- 33. Silk JS, Forbes EE, Whalen DJ, Jakubcak JL, Thompson WK, Ryan ND, et al. Daily emotional dynamics in depressed youth: a cell phone ecological momentary assessment study. J Exp Child Psychol 2011 Oct;110(2):241-257 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jecp.2010.10.007] [Medline: 21112595]
- 34. Forbes EE, Stepp SD, Dahl RE, Ryan ND, Whalen D, Axelson DA, et al. Real-world affect and social context as predictors of treatment response in child and adolescent depression and anxiety: an ecological momentary assessment study. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol 2012 Feb;22(1):37-47. [doi: 10.1089/cap.2011.0085] [Medline: 22339611]

RenderX

- Kashdan TB, Ferssizidis P, Collins RL, Muraven M. Emotion differentiation as resilience against excessive alcohol use: an ecological momentary assessment in underage social drinkers. Psychol Sci 2010 Sep;21(9):1341-1347. [doi: 10.1177/0956797610379863] [Medline: 20696854]
- Van Zundert RM, Boogerd EA, Vermulst AA, Engels RC. Nicotine withdrawal symptoms following a quit attempt: an ecological momentary assessment study among adolescents. Nicotine Tob Res 2009 Jun;11(6):722-729. [doi: 10.1093/ntr/ntp055] [Medline: 19423695]
- McGrath PJ, Walco GA, Turk DC, Dworkin RH, Brown MT, Davidson K, PedIMMPACT. Core outcome domains and measures for pediatric acute and chronic/recurrent pain clinical trials: PedIMMPACT recommendations. J Pain 2008 Sep;9(9):771-783. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jpain.2008.04.007</u>] [Medline: <u>18562251</u>]
- Bulloch B, Garcia-Filion P, Notricia D, Bryson M, McConahay T. Reliability of the color analog scale: repeatability of scores in traumatic and nontraumatic injuries. Acad Emerg Med 2009 May;16(5):465-469. [doi: 10.1111/j.1553-2712.2009.00404.x] [Medline: 19388922]
- Bulloch B, Tenenbein M. Validation of 2 pain scales for use in the pediatric emergency department. Pediatrics 2002 Sep;110(3):e33. [Medline: <u>12205283</u>]
- 40. de Tovar C, von Baeyer CL, Wood C, Alibeu JP, Houfani M, Arvieux C. Postoperative self-report of pain in children: interscale agreement, response to analgesic, and preference for a faces scale and a visual analogue scale. Pain Res Manag 2010;15(3):163-168 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 20577659]
- 41. Hicks CL, von Baeyer CL, Spafford PA, van Korlaar I, Goodenough B. The Faces Pain Scale-Revised: toward a common metric in pediatric pain measurement. Pain 2001 Aug;93(2):173-183. [Medline: <u>11427329</u>]
- 42. Tomlinson D, von Baeyer CL, Stinson JN, Sung L. A systematic review of faces scales for the self-report of pain intensity in children. Pediatrics 2010 Nov;126(5):e1168-e1198 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2010-1609] [Medline: 20921070]
- Dupuis LL, Taddio A, Kerr EN, Kelly A, MacKeigan L. Development and validation of the pediatric nausea assessment tool for use in children receiving antineoplastic agents. Pharmacotherapy 2006 Sep;26(9):1221-1231. [doi: 10.1592/phco.26.9.1221] [Medline: 16945043]
- Mandrell BN, Yang J, Hooke MC, Wang C, Gattuso JS, Hockenberry M, et al. Psychometric and clinical assessment of the 13-item reduced version of the fatigue scale-adolescent instrument. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs 2011;28(5):287-294. [doi: 10.1177/1043454211418667] [Medline: 21844243]
- 45. Kushniruk AW, Patel VL. Cognitive and usability engineering methods for the evaluation of clinical information systems. J Biomed Inform 2004 Feb;37(1):56-76. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jbi.2004.01.003</u>] [Medline: <u>15016386</u>]
- 46. Hox, J. Multilevel Analysis: Techniques and Applications. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum Associates; 2002.
- 47. Singer, J. D. and J. B. In: Willett, Applied Longitudinal Data Analysis: Modeling Change and Event Occurence. New York: Oxford University Press; 2003.
- 48. Franklin VL, Waller A, Pagliari C, Greene SA. A randomized controlled trial of Sweet Talk, a text-messaging system to support young people with diabetes. Diabet Med 2006 Dec;23(12):1332-1338. [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2006.01989.x] [Medline: 17116184]
- 49. Weitzel JA, Bernhardt JM, Usdan S, Mays D, Glanz K. Using wireless handheld computers and tailored text messaging to reduce negative consequences of drinking alcohol. J Stud Alcohol Drugs 2007 Jul;68(4):534-537. [Medline: <u>17568957</u>]
- 50. Turner CF, Ku L, Rogers SM, Lindberg LD, Pleck JH, Sonenstein FL. Adolescent sexual behavior, drug use, and violence: increased reporting with computer survey technology. Science 1998 May 8;280(5365):867-873 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 9572724]
- 51. Stone AA, Shiffman S, Schwartz JE, Broderick JE, Hufford MR. Patient compliance with paper and electronic diaries. Control Clin Trials 2003 Apr;24(2):182-199. [Medline: <u>12689739</u>]
- 52. ComScore Data Mine. 2011. US Smartphone Audience Growth by Age Segment URL: <u>http://www.comscoredatamine.com/</u> 2011/09/u-s-smartphone-audience-growth-by-age-segment/ [accessed 2012-12-08] [WebCite Cache ID 6CkfNsVvS]
- 53. Rice M, Broome ME. Incentives for children in research. J Nurs Scholarsh 2004;36(2):167-172. [Medline: 15227765]
- 54. Weise KL, Smith ML, Maschke KJ, Copeland HL. National practices regarding payment to research subjects for participating in pediatric research. Pediatrics 2002 Sep;110(3):577-582. [Medline: <u>12205263</u>]

#### Abbreviations

RenderX

AYA: adolescent and young adult CAS: color analog scale ED: emergency department eDiary: electronic diary EMA: ecological momentary assessment EOD: end-of-day FPS-R: faces pain scale-revised mOST: mobile oncology symptom tracker PeNAT: pediatric nausea assessment tool

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e23/

VAS: visual analog scale

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 15.05.12; peer-reviewed by E Jacob, M Diefenbach; comments to author 09.06.12; revised version received 18.07.12; accepted 04.10.12; published 11.12.12. <u>Please cite as:</u> Baggott C, Gibson F, Coll B, Kletter R, Zeltzer P, Miaskowski C Initial Evaluation of an Electronic Symptom Diary for Adolescents with Cancer JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e23 URL: http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e23/ doi:10.2196/resprot.2175 PMID:23612521

©Christina Baggott, Faith Gibson, Beatriz Coll, Richard Kletter, Paul Zeltzer, Christine Miaskowski. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 11.12.2012. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



### **Original Paper**

# A Web-Based Intervention for Health Professionals and Patients to Decrease Cardiovascular Risk Attributable to Physical Inactivity: Development Process

Barbara Sassen<sup>1\*</sup>, Ph.D; Gerjo Kok<sup>2\*</sup>, Professor PhD; Ilse Mesters<sup>3\*</sup>, PhD; Rik Crutzen<sup>4\*</sup>, PhD; Anita Cremers<sup>5\*</sup>, PhD; Luc Vanhees<sup>6,7\*</sup>, Professor PhD

<sup>1</sup>Innovation in Health Care, University of Applied Sciences, Utrecht, Netherlands

<sup>2</sup>Work and Social Psychology, Maastricht University, Maastricht, Netherlands

<sup>3</sup>Epidemiology, Maastricht University, Maastricht, Netherlands

<sup>4</sup>Cahpri, Maastricht University, Maastricht, Netherlands

<sup>5</sup>Embedded Systems, University of Applied Sciences, Utrecht, Netherlands

<sup>6</sup>Health and Lifestyle, University of Applied Sciences, Utrecht, Netherlands

<sup>7</sup>Rehabilitation Sciences, KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium

\*all authors contributed equally

### **Corresponding Author:**

Barbara Sassen, Ph.D Innovation in Health Care University of Applied Sciences Bolognalaan 101 Utrecht, 3584 CJ Netherlands Phone: 31 346751725 Fax: 31 346555807 Email: Barbara.sassen@hu.nl

# Abstract

**Background:** Patients with cardiovascular risk factors can reduce their risk of cardiovascular disease by increasing their physical activity and their physical fitness. According to the guidelines for cardiovascular risk management, health professionals should encourage their patients to engage in physical activity.

**Objective:** In this paper, we provide insight regarding the systematic development of a Web-based intervention for both health professionals and patients with cardiovascular risk factors using the development method Intervention Mapping. The different steps of Intervention Mapping are described to open up the "black box" of Web-based intervention development and to support future Web-based intervention development.

**Methods:** The development of the Professional and Patient Intention and Behavior Intervention (PIB2 intervention) was initiated with a needs assessment for both health professionals (ie, physiotherapy and nursing) and their patients. We formulated performance and change objectives and, subsequently, theory- and evidence-based intervention methods and strategies were selected that were thought to affect the intention and behavior of health professionals and patients. The rationale of the intervention was based on different behavioral change methods that allowed us to describe the scope and sequence of the intervention and produced the Web-based intervention components. The Web-based intervention consisted of 5 modules, including individualized messages and self-completion forms, and charts and tables.

**Results:** The systematic and planned development of the PIB2 intervention resulted in an Internet-delivered behavior change intervention. The intervention was not developed as a substitute for face-to-face contact between professionals and patients, but as an application to complement and optimize health services. The focus of the Web-based intervention was to extend professional behavior of health care professionals, as well as to improve the risk-reduction behavior of patients with cardiovascular risk factors.

**Conclusions:** The Intervention Mapping protocol provided a systematic method for developing the intervention and each intervention design choice was carefully thought-out and justified. Although it was not a rapid or an easy method for developing an intervention, the protocol guided and directed the development process. The application of evidence-based behavior change

RenderX

methods used in our intervention offers insight regarding how an intervention may change intention and health behavior. The Web-based intervention appeared feasible and was implemented. Further research will test the effectiveness of the PIB2 intervention.

Trial Registration: Dutch Trial Register, Trial ID: ECP-92

(JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e21) doi:10.2196/resprot.1804

#### KEYWORDS

Internet intervention; Intervention Mapping; Health education; Health behaviour change; Health professionals; Cardiovascular risk

# Introduction

# Methods

Developing a Web-based intervention requires a well-thought idea, but also a plan of how to design, implement, and evaluate the intervention. Intervention Mapping provides a framework for building high-quality interventions that are systematically planned, theory- and evidence-based, and take perspectives of end users and intermediaries into consideration [1-6]. Intervention Mapping has been found to be effective for developing interventions [1,2,7-11]. Intervention Mapping consists of 6 planning steps in which each step has a different task and is a prerequisite for the next step. Intervention Mapping places specific emphasis on the transparency of the translation of evidence-based behavior change techniques in intervention components. This is to develop the intervention, explain its rationale, and to facilitate replication [4]. Intervention Mapping is used throughout the process of creating an intervention (from diagnosis of the problem to problem solution) and includes collaborating iteratively with priority groups, stakeholders, and experts in the fields of health education and health promotion.

In designing the intervention for this study, we focused on patients with cardiovascular risk factors. Cardiovascular risk factors increase the risk for cardiovascular disease, Type 2 diabetes, and overall mortality and morbidity [12,13]. Physical activity, particularly intense physical activity, improves cardiovascular fitness and is associated with important cardiovascular health benefits [13,14]. Lifestyle interventions directed at increasing physical activity, thereby enhancing physical fitness, may improve the cardiovascular risk profile of patients. In designing the intervention, we included health professionals, because they can—and should—encourage patients with cardiovascular risk factors to become and stay physically active.

This paper provides insight regarding the systematic development process of the Web-based Professional and Patient Intention and Behavior (PIB2) intervention to open up the "black box" of Web-based intervention development and support future development. The development of the behavioral change intervention should facilitate logic transparency, reproducibility, and diffusion of the intervention. The intervention sought to optimize behavioral coaching by health professionals and to encourage previously physically inactive patients with cardiovascular risk factors to become physically active, following cardiovascular risk management guidelines with a potential for implementation in cardiovascular inpatient and outpatient care [15].

The first step of Intervention Mapping is a needs assessment of the study population. The questions explored in the first step included: What is the problem? What are the causes? What behaviors are related to the problem? Are there detectable risk groups? The social-cognitive determinants that could explain intention and behavior were also studied [1,4]. The second step defined the performance objectives with the specification of the change objectives. The performance objectives are the anticipated behavioral outcomes of the intervention. The change objectives describe how important social-cognitive determinants that explain intention and behavior can be changed. In the third step, the performance objectives were linked to the social-cognitive determinants of intention and behavior, as explored in step 1. The theory-based intervention methods to change the determinants of intention and the (health) behavior of interest were selected [1,4]. We selected the theory-based methods, looked at the considerations for using these methods, and described conditions and strategies. Acquiring insight into behavioral change methods to be used in intervention design is essential to evaluate the effectiveness of an intervention because it reveals not only why an intervention changed intention and/or (health) behavior, but also why it may have failed [16,17]. In the fourth step, an intervention was developed based on the integration of these theory-based methods of behavior change and the intervention was pretested. During the fifth step, an adoption and implementation plan for the intervention was created to facilitate sustained implementation. In step 6, the expected results were compared to the actual results to assess the accuracy of the intervention [1,4]. See Figure 1 for an overview of the steps of Intervention Mapping, including the design, implementation, and evaluation of the intervention.

Participants were health professionals and former students of the University of Applied Sciences, Utrecht, the Netherlands. Participants with at least a Bachelor's degree in nursing or physiotherapy and who had consultations with patients with cardiovascular risk factors were invited to participate. Patients with at least one cardiovascular risk factor (abdominal obesity, high blood pressure, low high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, elevated triglycerides, and elevated blood glucose levels) and low physical activity levels were invited [12,13]. We facilitated sustained implementation of the intervention by rewarding health professionals for extensive use of the Web-based PIB2 intervention with a certificate of 10 European credits. The implementation of the PIB2 intervention was approved by the

Ethics Committee at Maastricht University and was registered in the Dutch Trial Register (Trial ID: ECP-92).

Figu	re 1. Interv	ention	Mapping ste	ps, design, implementation	n, and evaluation of the Professional and	Patient Intention and Behavior (PIB2) intervention.
\$	Step			Design	Health professionals	Patients with cardiovascular risk factors
\$	Step 1	ţ	<b>→</b>	↓ Needs assessment	Literature search; focus-group interviews; assessment of social- cognitive determinants of intention and behavior to encourage physical activity	Literature search; small group interviews; assessment of social- cognitive determinants of intention and behavior to become physically active
ę	Step 2	Ť		↓ Definition of objectives and specification of the changes that are needed	Overall objective extending professional behavior, stating performance objectives as the anticipated outcomes of the intervention; stating change objectives	Overall objective risk-reduction behavior; stating performance objectives as the anticipated outcomes of the intervention; stating change objectives
ŝ	Step 3	ţ		↓ Theory-based methods and practical strategies	Identification of theoretical methods to change social- cognitive determinants of the intention to encourage patients and the corresponding behavior	Identification of theoretical methods to change social-cognitive determinants of the intention to become physically active and the corresponding behavior
\$	Step 4	î		↓ Intervention	Design, development, and pre-test of the Web-based intervention	Design, development, and pre-test of the Web-based intervention
ŝ	Step 5	Î		↓ Adoption and implementation plan	Invited to participate via a personalized lettersent by mail; instruction meeting; telephone and email support; reward certificate	Professionals invite patients
\$	Step 6	t		↓ Evaluation plan	Pre- and post-test randomized controlled design	Pre- and post-test randomized controlled design
E	Evaluatior	n i	←	Implementation		

## Results

**Intervention Mapping Step 1: Needs Assessment** (Patients)

We undertook a separate planning process for health professionals because they perform different behaviors with different social-cognitive determinants related to the intention and behavior in question than their patients with cardiovascular risk factors do [18,19]. Within each step of the Intervention Mapping protocol, the application for health professionals is presented followed by the application for patients with cardiovascular risk factors.

# Intervention Mapping Step 1: Needs Assessment (Health Professionals)

In the needs assessment for health professionals, we performed a literature review, held focus group interviews, and studied the social-cognitive determinants that explained intention and behavior. Focus group interviews with health professionals (n = 7) revealed that encouraging patients to become physically active was seen as an integral part of their daily practice and, although perceived as relatively easy to do, patient compliance was often a problem. In previous research, we studied through questionnaire the social-cognitive determinants of intention and behavior to encourage patients with cardiovascular risk factors to become physically active [19-28]. Input for the Intervention Mapping process showed that health professionals' encouragement of physical activity among cardiovascular patients could be predicted by high levels of intention to encourage physical activity among these patients [19]. In the needs assessment for patients with cardiovascular risk factors, the literature showed various guidelines explaining the recommended levels of physical activity and physical fitness. In a previous study, we investigated physical activity and physical fitness in an adult population and found that the intensity of physical activity was especially important in reducing cardiovascular risk factors [18]. Small group interviews (12 interviews with 3 patients each) revealed that patients with cardiovascular risk factors found being physically active a complex health behavior to incorporate into daily living and it was difficult to maintain. We studied through questionnaire the social-cognitive determinants of patients' physical activity intentions and the corresponding behavior [20-28]. Input for the Intervention Mapping process showed that behavior was predicted by high levels of intention [18].

#### Intervention Mapping Step 2: Define Objectives and Specify Changes (Health Professionals)

We defined the desired behavior of health professionals as encouraging behavior conducive to the health of patients. Health professionals should encourage patients with cardiovascular risk factors to become physically active at increasing levels of intensity as an extension of their professional behavior. This overall objective of extending professional behavior was specified in the health care professionals' performance objectives. The performance objectives were directed at monitoring their encouraging behavior, formulating explicit

RenderX

plans to encourage their patients, and maintaining and habitually encouraging patients to prevent relapse (Table 1).

Target group	Performance objectives
Health professionals	Monitor the encouragement of physical activity among patients with cardiovascular risk factors as a prerequisite for a physically active patient
	Formulate explicit plans to encourage physical activity among patients with cardiovascular risk factors
	Identify solutions to diminish the barriers to encouraging physical activity among patients with cardiovascular risk factors
	Formulate explicit plans to cope with difficult situations that occur while encouraging physical activity among patients with cardiovascular risk factors
	Maintain and habitually encourage physical activity among patients with cardiovascular risk factors to prevent relapse
Patients with cardiovascu-	Monitor cardiovascular risks linked to the intensity of physical activity
lar risk factors	Make explicit plans for physical activity
	Identify solutions to diminish barriers to physical activity
	Make explicit plans to cope with difficult situations that occur during physical activity
	Maintain a lifestyle marked by physical activity to prevent relapse

The performance objectives were linked with the social-cognitive determinants of intention and behavior as described in step 1. The link between performance objectives and social-cognitive determinants resulted in a matrix displaying the change objectives for health professionals (Tables 2 and 3). For example, the performance objective that professionals

formulate explicit plans to encourage patients was related to the change objectives that health professionals know that planning is important, that they describe their personal benefits for planning, that they feel confident planning the encouragement, and they describe when, where, and how they will encourage patients to engage in physical activity.



#### Sassen et al

**Table 2.** Intervention Mapping step 2 (change objectives) performance objectives for health professionals linked to social-cognitive determinants risk perception, attitudes, and social influence.

Performance objectives health pro- fessionals	Risk perception and knowledge	Attitude and outcome expectations	Social influence and skills
Monitors encouragement of physical activity among patients with cardio- vascular risk factors as a prerequi- site for a physically active patient	Describes the relationship between the professional behavior of encour- aging physical activity and health outcomes for patients with cardiovas- cular risk factors; indicates that car- diovascular risk factors are related to the intensity of physical activity; reports relevant justifications for encouraging patients with cardiovas- cular risk factors to engage in phys- ical activity	Feels positively about encouraging patients with cardiovascular risk factors to become physically active and the (health) benefits of physical activity; expects that physical activ- ity will decrease cardiovascular risk factors	Describes others as supporting or encouraging patients with cardiovas- cular risk factors; asks for support; feels confident about handling nega- tive social influence when encourag- ing patients with cardiovascular risk factors; performs skills necessary to encourage physical activity for car- diovascular patients
Formulates explicit plans to encour- age physical activity among patients with cardiovascular risk factors	Knows planning is important for encouraging patients with cardiovas- cular risk factors to engage in phys- ical activity	Describes personal benefits for planning the encouragement of pa- tients with cardiovascular risk fac- tors to engage in physical activity	Feels confident in planning the en- couragement of patients with cardio- vascular risk factors to engage in physical activity in regard signifi- cant others
Identifies solutions to diminish bar- riers to encourage physical activity among patients with cardiovascular risk factors	Recognizes negative feelings, thoughts, and actions regarding en- couraging patients with cardiovascu- lar risk factors to engage in physical activity that keep him/her from en- couraging patients	Describes negative feelings, thoughts, and actions regarding en- couraging patients with cardiovascu- lar risk factors to engage in physical activity that keep him/her from en- couraging patients	Discusses with colleagues the nega- tive feelings, thoughts, and actions about encouraging patients with cardiovascular risk factors to engage in physical activity that keep him/her from encouraging patients
Formulates explicit plans to cope with difficult situations that occur while encouraging physical activity among patients with cardiovascular risk factors		States that he/she is convinced of the importance of encouraging pa- tients with cardiovascular risk fac- tors to engage in physical activity	
Maintains and habitually encourages physical activity among patients with cardiovascular risk factors to prevent relapse	Indicates that relapse is part of en- couraging patients with cardiovascu- lar risk factors to engage physical activity	States benefits of encouraging pa- tients with cardiovascular risk fac- tors to engage in physical activity in the short and long term; states that the best reaction to relapse is to restart	Handles negative social influence (to relapse)

 Table 3.
 Intervention Mapping step 2 (change objectives) performance objectives for health care professionals linked to social-cognitive determinants self-efficacy and barriers.

Performance objectives for health professionals	Self-efficacy and skills	Barriers and skills to cope with barriers
Monitors that encouragement of physical activity among patients with cardiovascular risk factors is a prerequisite for a physically active patient	Is confident about encouraging patients with cardiovascular risk factors to become physically active; demonstrates the skills necessary to en- courage patients with cardiovascular risk factors to become physically active; demonstrates practical skills necessary to encourage physical activity among patients with cardiovascular risk factors	
Formulates explicit plans to encourage physical activity among patients with cardio- vascular risk factors	Describes when, where, and how they will en- courage patients with cardiovascular risk factors to engage in physical activity	
Identifies solutions to diminish barriers to encouraging physical activity among pa- tients with cardiovascular risk factors		Handles situations that keep them from encouraging patients with cardiovascular risk factors to engage in physical activity
Formulates explicit plans to cope with diffi- cult situations that occur while encouraging physical activity among patients with cardio- vascular risk factors	Demonstrates skills in daily planning for the encouragement of patients with cardiovascular risk factors to engage in physical activity	Incorporates difficult situations in daily planning for the encouragement of patients with cardiovascular risk factors to engage in physical activity
Maintains and habitually encourages physi- cal activity among patients with cardiovas- cular risk factors to prevent relapse	Is confident in his/her ability to encourage pa- tients with cardiovascular risk factors to engage in physical activity; demonstrates that it is best to restart after relapse; evaluates encouraging behavior	Handles incidental situations that keep him/her from encouraging patients with cardiovascular risk factors to engage in physical activity

#### Intervention Mapping Step 2: Define Objectives and Specify Changes (Patients)

In formulating our intervention objectives for patients, we defined the desired behavior as risk-reduction behavior assuming that if an intervention reduces the prevalence of risk factors, it can also reduce the prevalence of disease. Thus, not only should physical activity be encouraged for patients, but also the intensity of their physical activity, resulting in healthy behaviors for patients with cardiovascular risk factors [14]. This overall objective of risk-reduction behavior of the patient was specified in the performance objectives (Table 1). The performance objectives were directed at monitoring cardiovascular risk linked to physical activity, making explicit plans, and maintaining a

lifestyle marked by physical activity to prevent relapse. The link between these performance objectives and social-cognitive determinants resulted in a matrix displaying the change objectives for patients with cardiovascular risk factors (Tables 4 and 5). Examples of change objectives related to the performance objective that patients maintain a lifestyle marked by physical activity to prevent relapse was related to the change objectives that patients indicate that relapse is a part of changing lifestyle physical activity, stating the health benefits of physical activity, feeling confident about handling negative social influence, and about being able to perform physical activity, demonstrating an ability to restart and evaluate the behavior, and that they can handle incidental situations that keep them from engaging in physical activity.



Table 4. Intervention mapping step 2 (change objectives) performance objectives for patients with cardiovascular risk factors linked to social-cognitive determinants risk perception, attitudes, and social influence.

Performance objectives for patients	Risk perception and knowledge	Attitude and outcome expectations	Social influence and skills
Monitors their cardiovascular risk linked to the intensity of physical activity	Describes relationship between physical activity and health; de- scribes their personal cardiovascular risk; describes that cardiovascular risk factors are related to the intensi- ty of physical activity; indicate rele- vant reasons for physical activity	Feels positively about the (health) benefits of physical activity; expects that physical activity decreases car- diovascular risk factors	Describes significant others as sup- porting physical activity; asks for support; feels confident about han- dling negative social influence; per- forms social skills necessary for physical activity
Makes explicit plans for physical activity	Knows planning is important for physical activity	Describes personal benefits of plan- ning physical activity	Feels confident in planning physical activity in regard to social circumstances
Patient identifies solutions to dimin- ish barriers to physical activity	Recognizes negative feelings, thoughts, and actions about physical activity, cardiovascular risk factors, the body or self that keep him/her from engaging in physical activity	Describes negative feelings, thoughts, and actions about physical activity, cardiovascular risk factors, the body or self that keep him/her from engaging in physical activity	Discusses negative feelings, thoughts, and actions about physical activity, cardiovascular risk factors, the body or self that keep him/her from engaging in physical activity
Makes explicit plans to cope with difficult situations that occur during physical activity		Expresses being convinced that physical activity is important	
Maintains a lifestyle marked by physical activity to prevent relapse	Indicates that relapse is part of changing lifestyle physical activity	States the health benefits of physical activity in the short and long term; states that the best reaction to re- lapse is to restart	Feels confident about handling neg- ative social influence (to relapse)

Table 5. Intervention mapping step 2 (change objectives) performance objectives for patients with cardiovascular risk factors linked to social-cognitive determinants self-efficacy, and barriers.

Performance objectives for patients	Self-efficacy and skills	Barriers and skills to cope with barriers
Monitors their cardiovascular risk linked to the intensity of physical activity	Is confident about being able to perform physical activity; demonstrates the skills; shows practical skills necessary for physical activity	
Makes explicit plans for physical activity	Describes when, where, and how they will en- gage in physical activity	
Identifies solutions to diminish barriers to physical activity		Handles situations that keep him/her from engaging in physical activity
Makes explicit plans to cope with difficult situations that occur during physical activity	Demonstrates skills in daily planning for physical activity	Incorporates difficult situations in daily planning for physical activity
Maintains a lifestyle marked by physical activity to prevent relapse	Is confident about being able to perform physical activity; demonstrates that it is best to restart after relapse; evaluates physical activity behavior	Handles incidental situations that keep him/her from engaging in physical activity

# Intervention Mapping Step 3: Theory-Based Methods and Practical Strategies

In step 3, we selected the theory-based methods (Table 6). We applied the theoretical method of risk communication and risk perception to encourage thinking about individual risk and personal vulnerability. This was followed by the generation of attitudinal change and outcome expectations by applying the method of decisional balance to list the pros and cons [29]. We applied the theoretical methods resistance to social pressure and mobilizing others for social support to encourage seeking social support [23]. Providing emotional support or supporting people with information and advice influences the performance of the behavior and is a protective factor for health outcomes [1]. Guided practice to encourage subskill enactment was also

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e21/

RenderX

facilitated [30]. Interventions that maximize beneficial attitudes, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control have a substantial impact on intentions [29]. We applied the theoretical method of "action and coping planning." Action planning can initiate changes in intention. Interventions that provoke alterations in intention have a greater impact on health-related behavior [30-32]. Related to action planning, formulating implementation intentions by preparatory planning when, where, and how health professionals would encourage physical activity among patients with cardiovascular risk factors, as well as determining when, where, and how patients would engage in a physical activity was added to the intervention [33]. When health professionals and patients formulate their own plans (their own implementation intentions), they are more likely to attain the goal and to perform the planned health behavior [34]. This

strategy of implementation planning was found to generate a medium-sized effect on health behaviors [35]. Coping planning was initiated to allow health professionals and patients to better cope with putting behavior change into practice [36]. Coping planning was initiated when health professionals and patients

identified high-risk situations that might cause them to withdraw from the desired behavior [37]. In addition, health professionals and patients were aided to make their own explicit plans to cope with potential difficult situations that would hinder them from engaging in health behavior or relapse [38].

Table 6. Intervention mapping step 3 (theory-based methods) social-cognitive determinants linked to theoretical methods and their conditions.

Determinant	Theory-based method	Considerations for use	Conditions and strategies
Risk perception, knowledge	Risk communication, risk perception	Requires knowledge about the relation- ship between (health) problem and (risk vs nonencouraging) behavior	Encourage thinking about individual risk and personal vulnerability
Attitude, outcome expectations	Decisional balance	Requires consideration and evaluation of behavior	Encourage listing pro and cons of changing the behav- ior in the short and long term
Social influence and skills	Resistance to social pres- sure	Requires social-skill enactment with feedback	Encourage to resist social pressure
	Mobilizing others for so- cial support	Requires a network that can potentially support health behavior	Encourage to seek social support
Perceived behavioral controland skills	Guided practice	Requires subskill enactment with feed- back	Encourage subskills practice
	Action planning	Requires specification of when, where, and how to act	Planning behavior change, making a behavior change plan
Barriers and skills to cope	Coping planning	Requires identification of high-risk situ- ations and the practice of coping respons- es	Put into practice behavior change

In a systematic review and meta-analysis, it was found that the number of behavioral change techniques applied had a positive impact on the total effect size of the intervention [6,39]. An overview of reviews on behavioral change techniques to promote behavior change found that risk communication, use of social support, and self-monitoring of behavior were all shown to be relatively effective [16]. Also, coping and action planning were found to have a sustainable effect on health behavior [6,36]. The intervention provided personalized text messages (with individuals' names in headings) that were shown to be highly effective in encouraging interaction and support of behavioral change in interventions [6,40].

#### **Intervention Mapping Step 4: Intervention**

A Web-based behavioral change intervention was considered the most appropriate intervention. The intervention aimed to motivate health care professionals to encourage physical activity among their patients and to extend their professional behavior. The intervention also aimed to improve risk-reduction behavior in patients with cardiovascular risk factors. The intervention was not developed as a substitute for face-to-face contact between the health professional and the patient, but as an additional instrument to optimize health services [41]. Research has demonstrated the favorable effects of Internet-delivered interventions, also specific for physical activity interventions [42-46]. Computer-delivered interventions can improve social-cognitive determinants and also enhance health behavior and general health maintenance [42]. An Internet-delivered intervention facilitates the delivery of the intervention to a large group of professionals and patients. Using a website is appealing

to the group of interest and has the benefits of making processes visible [47].

Several tests and interviews were conducted with experts and members of the target groups (health professionals and patients) to verify the match between intervention components, the performance and change objectives, theory-based methods, conditions for use, and strategies. The PIB2 intervention embeds 5 modules, each comprising a sequential set of screens on the website (Figure 2).

In module 1, the health professionals encouraged the patient to become and stay physically active. Module 1 was designed to invite the patient to participate in the intervention (to use the intervention based on the mutual exchange of information between the health professionals and the patient) paralleling the performance and change objectives, the methods, conditions, and strategies (Figure 2). It started with the assessment of cardiovascular risk factors according to the guidelines for cardiovascular risk management [15]. Based on this assessment, the patient's cardiovascular risk factors were displayed in a pie chart and changes in the number of risk factors or risk factor levels were registered and also displayed. During the assessment step, the levels of physical activity (intensity and duration) were assessed with the short questionnaire to assess health-enhancing physical activity (SQUASH). Physical activity and the intensity (total intensity and high, medium, and low intensity) of physical activity was displayed in a bar chart; changes were registered and also displayed [48]. The social-cognitive determinants of the patient, and the intention and behavior toward physical activity, were assessed through a questionnaire and displayed

in the health spider chart of the patient; changes were registered and later shown [18].

After the assessment, the health professionals began coaching the patient with cardiovascular risk factors through a process of behavior changes to become and to stay physically active. In the process of behavior change, the 7 theory-based methods, conditions, and strategies were put into practice through 7 different website screens. The process of behavior change started with risk perception by encouraging the patient to think about individual cardiovascular risk and personal vulnerability, and the relationship between physical activity and cardiovascular risk. This was followed by listing the pros and cons of changing (or not changing) their behavior in the short and long term, and encouraging the patient to describe what his/her personal pros and cons are to becoming (or not becoming) physically active in the short and long term. After this, the patient was encouraged to resist social pressure and to seek social support, and to practice the necessary subskills. The process of behavior change ended with planning the behavior change by making a behavior change plan and putting the behavior change into practice. The patient was encouraged to specify when, where, and how to become physically active in a plan. When the patient started to put the physical active lifestyle into practice, high-risk situations should be detected and the practice of coping responses was encouraged.

A feedback system measured the progress of the patient's cardiovascular risk factors, physical activity levels, and the process of behavior change. The patient's profile was displayed while the health professional was working with the patient. The health professional provided the patient with physical activity recommendations based on research [14,49]. The physical activity recommendations were also shown in the patient's profile and could be changed by the health professional when needed.

Module 2 was the health professionals' support system. The support system was parallel to the website screens of module 1 (Figure 2). Module 2 contained background information about how to coach the patient with cardiovascular risk factors through the processes of behavior change. This module consisted of explanations of the methods, conditions, and strategies for the health professionals, scripts on how to start conversations, and so on. The health professionals could read background information for each method and select parts of this information. Once selected, the website displayed the selected background information for all subsequent consultations with this and other patients by clicking the "show suggestions" button in module 1.

Module 3 facilitated the professional to become a motivating and encouraging health professional (Figure 2). It contained self-complete forms and was designed to educate the health professional. The process of behavior change for health professionals started with "risk" communication, thinking about encouraging patients, and thinking about compliant patients. This was followed by listing the pros and cons of encouraging (or not encouraging) patients in the short and long term. After this, the health professional was encouraged to seek social support and look at the subskills needed to be an encouraging health professional. The process of behavior change ended with planning the behavior change, making a behavior change plan, and putting the behavior change into practice. The professional was encouraged to specify in a plan when, where, and how to encourage patients. When the professional started to put his encouraging behavior into practice, the identification of high-risk situations and the practice of coping responses was encouraged. In module 3, a feedback system was incorporated to enable the professional to evaluate their progress. At the initiation of the behavior change process, the health professionals filled in a questionnaire on social-cognitive determinants, intention, and behavior to encourage patients. Progress was registered and made visible in the health professionals' coaching spider chart [19].

Module 4 consisted of a forum directed at health professionals. Health professionals could use the forum to share experiences with other health professionals who also used the PIB2 intervention and find solutions for specific problems pertaining to the coaching of patients (Figure 2). A researcher responsible for the implementation process responded to questions when other professionals did not respond or when responses were incorrect; however, the researcher refrained from interrupting online discussions.

Module 5 facilitated the patient to look back at the plans he made in conjunction with the health professionals in module 1 (Figure 2). Patients could examine the forms completed in module 1 and prepare for the next consultation with their health professional. The patient received these personalized messages underwritten with the name of their health care professional. Patients could see their progress in reducing the number of their cardiovascular risk factors, increasing physical activity levels, and implementing behavioral changes displayed in the same way as in module 1. The patient could read the physical activity recommendations provided by their health professional and practice them at home or elsewhere.

The health professionals could use all the modules of the PIB2 intervention with a log-in code. However, patients could only access module 5 with their log-in code. Health professionals could access background information on the PIB2 intervention and specific information for each module. Information on physical activity, physical fitness, general physical activity devices, making an activity plan, and cardiovascular risk factors were accessible. For patients, information about the PIB2 intervention with specific information on only module 5 was available. Background information and a response form for members of the general public visiting the website was also available.

XSL•F() RenderX

Figure 2. Intervention Mapping step 4 (intervention) flowchart of the intervention.

0					
Home	Module1 Patient	Module 2 Support system	Module 3 Professional	Module 4 Forum	Physical activity & fitness
	Health professionals coaches' patients with cardiovascular risk factors to become and stay physically active	Support system for the health professional encouraging patients to become and stay physically active	To educate the health professional to be a motivating and encouraging health professional	Forum directed at health professionals with the aim to share experiences with other health care professionals	
Demo	Risk -perception	Risk-perception	'Risk'-perception	Risk-perception	Physical Activity
Logout	↓ Decisional balance ↓ Resist social pressure & seek support	← Decisional balance ↓ Resist social pressure & seek support	↓ Decisional balance ↓ Resist social pressure & seek support	↓ Decisional balance ↓ Resistsocial pressure& seeksupport	<pre>     Recommendation     physical activity     Activity plan </pre>
	<ul> <li>↓</li> <li>Guided practice to increase self- efficacy</li> <li>↓</li> <li>Action planning</li> <li>↓</li>     &lt;</ul>	<ul> <li>↓</li> <li>Guided practice to increase self- efficacy</li> <li>↓</li> <li>↓</li></ul>	↓ Guided practice to increase self-efficacy ↓ Action planning ↓ Coping planning	↓ Guided practice to increase self- efficacy ↓ Action planning ↓ Coping planning	‡ Cardiovascularrisk factors

# **Intervention Mapping Step 5: Adoption and Implementation Plan**

In step 5 of Intervention Mapping we developed a plan to facilitate implementation of the intervention (Table 7). Health professionals were invited to participate via a personalized email. They were invited to attend a meeting at which the Web-based intervention was demonstrated and could be practiced. The intervention was self-explanatory, and

participants could choose not to attend the meeting and use the demonstration tool on the website to familiarize themselves with the use of the website. This was followed by telephone calls, emails, and meetings [50]. Much effort was put in motivating the health professionals to use and keep using the website. The health professionals selected the patients with cardiovascular risk factors. Health professionals were strongly recommended to use the intervention for every patient suitable for intervention.

Table 7. Intervention Mapping step 5 (adoption and implementation plan) and step 6 (evaluation plan).

Group		Design				
Health	professionals					
	Intervention group 1	T1 Preintervention	T2 Start intervention, continuous measure- ment	T3 End intervention at 12 months		
	Control group A	T1 Preintervention I		T2 Preintervention II	T3 Start intervention, continuous measure- ment	T4 End of the in- tervention at 24 months
Patients lar risk	with cardiovascu- factors					
	Intervention group 2	T1 Preintervention	T2 Start intervention, continuous measure- ment	T3 End of the interven- tion at 12 months		
	Control group B			T1 Preintervention	T2 Start intervention, continuous measure- ment	T3 End of the in- tervention at 24 months

#### **Intervention Mapping Step 6: Evaluation Plan**

The website was designed from the bottom up, beginning with determining the data needed to measure the effectiveness of the

Web-based intervention [47]. The evaluation of the PIB2 intervention was designed according to the Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT) criteria for reporting a randomized controlled trial [51] and will be reported in line

RenderX

with the emerging CONSORT-EHEALTH guideline [52]. The intervention will be evaluated by a pretest and posttest randomized controlled trial design consisting of a health professional intervention group and a health professional waiting-list control group (Table 7). The health professionals were randomly allocated to the intervention vs the waiting-list control group. The health professionals selected the patients with cardiovascular risk factors. Continuous data collection will be part of the Web-based intervention for a follow-up period of 12 months.

The effect evaluation will be performed to verify whether the PIB2 intervention was successful in extending the encouraging behavior of health professionals (if methods, conditions, and strategies to use these methods were successfully applied to change performance and change objectives). The effect evaluation will also be performed to verify whether the intervention was successful in strengthening the physical activity behavior of patients with cardiovascular risk factors (if we attained their performance and change objectives). For patients, the main outcome measure was improvement in cardiovascular risk profiles (if patients decreased their number of cardiovascular risk factors by at least one risk factor and/or decreased their levels of cardiovascular risk factors at the end of the intervention). The process evaluation will be performed during implementation of the PIB2 intervention through the collection of data on the use and usability of the PIB2-intervention modules.

# Discussion

This paper describes the systematic development process of the Web-based PIB2 intervention to disclose the black box of Web-based interventions and support future Web-based intervention development. Intervention Mapping step 1, the needs assessment for health professionals, indicated that we could state the problem that they do not always encourage patients with cardiovascular risk factors to become and/or stay physically active. The outcome measure for health care professionals was to extend their professional behavior. For patients at risk for cardiovascular disease, we could state the problem that they had low intentions toward, and inadequate levels of, physical activity and physical fitness. The outcome measure for patients with cardiovascular risk factors was to expand their risk-reduction behavior. Intervention Mapping step 2 resulted in matrices with specific performance and change objectives, for both health professionals and patients, linked with important social-cognitive determinants. Intervention mapping step 3 resulted in the linking of important social-cognitive determinants of intention and behavior, performance and change objectives with theory-based methods,

and conditions and strategies to use these methods based on results of previous studies [39]. In step 4 of Intervention Mapping, we designed and pretested the website, and in step 5, the adoption and implementation plan of how to select and invite the health professionals and patients with cardiovascular risk factors to take part in the intervention was described. Step 6 Intervention Mapping resulted in the evaluation design for the intervention, consisting of a health professional intervention group and a health professional waiting-list control group. The intervention was implemented and the subgroups will be analyzed for their primary outcomes, extended professional behavior, and expanded patients' risk-reduction behavior.

Changing intentions and behavior among both health professionals and patients is a complex process with many inhibiting factors. By assessing the needs of both health professionals and patients, we defined important and changeable social-cognitive determinants. Using evidence-based behavior change techniques in the development process of the intervention was important because they provided insight regarding how social-cognitive determinants of health professionals and patients' may be changed. It proved difficult in Intervention Mapping step 3 (theory-based methods and strategies) to tune in on both groups, health professionals and patients with cardiovascular risk factors. Also in Intervention Mapping step 4, the development of the Web-based intervention made this complicated. We designed a prototype of the website, and it took many revisions, especially for the modules directed at health care professionals, before completion. The ease-of-use of the website for the selected methods proved complicated, as was the interaction between modules. Although influencing the professional behavior for health professionals and the physical activity behavior for patients with cardiovascular risk factors is difficult to achieve, the Intervention Mapping protocol provided us with tools to handle this complicated process.

Although it is easy to conclude that when you want to change the health-related behavior of patients it is a prerequisite that health professionals are able to handle the process of behavior change, this proved difficult. Choosing a Web-based intervention showed many opportunities to handle this complicated process, in our view more than any other method, but it proved difficult to make the website easy to use without having to explain everything.

Furthermore, although we carefully developed and tested the Web-based intervention in close cooperation with health professionals and patients with cardiovascular risk factors, much of its success depends on its feasibility and usefulness in the health professionals' daily practice and on whether there is sufficient time and expertise to use the intervention during the consultation period.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Ir Lex Verheesen for his contribution in the development of the website.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.



#### References

- 1. Bartholomew LK, Parcel GS, Kok G, Gottlieb NH. Planning Health Promotion Programs: An Intervention Mapping Approach. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass; 2006.
- 2. Bartholomew LK, Parcel GS, Kok G, Gottlieb NH, Fernández ME. Planning health promotion programs: An Intervention Mapping approach. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass; 2011.
- 3. Kok G, Schaalma H, Ruiter RA, van Empelen P, Brug J. Intervention mapping: protocol for applying health psychology theory to prevention programmes. J Health Psychol 2004 Jan;9(1):85-98. [doi: 10.1177/1359105304038379] [Medline: 14683571]
- 4. Schaalma H, Kok G. Decoding health education interventions: the times are a-changin'. Psychol Health 2009 Jan;24(1):5-9. [doi: 10.1080/08870440903126348] [Medline: 20186636]
- 5. van Bokhoven MA, Kok G, van der Weijden T. Designing a quality improvement intervention: a systematic approach. Qual Saf Health Care 2003 Jun;12(3):215-220 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>12792013</u>]
- Webb TL, Joseph J, Yardley L, Michie S. Using the internet to promote health behavior change: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the impact of theoretical basis, use of behavior change techniques, and mode of delivery on efficacy. J Med Internet Res 2010;12(1):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1376] [Medline: 20164043]
- Van Kesteren NM, Kok G, Hospers HJ, Schippers J, De Wildt W. Systematic development of a self-help and motivational enhancement intervention to promote sexual health in HIV-positive men who have sex with men. AIDS Patient Care STDS 2006 Dec;20(12):858-875. [doi: 10.1089/apc.2006.20.858] [Medline: 17192151]
- 8. Alewijnse D, Mesters IE, Metsemakers JF, van den Borne BH. Program development for promoting adherence during and after exercise therapy for urinary incontinence. Patient Educ Couns 2002 Nov;48(2):147-160. [Medline: 12401418]
- 9. Heinen MM, Bartholomew LK, Wensing M, van de Kerkhof P, van Achterberg T. Supporting adherence and healthy lifestyles in leg ulcer patients: systematic development of the Lively Legs program for dermatology outpatient clinics. Patient Educ Couns 2006 May;61(2):279-291. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2005.04.007] [Medline: 15964733]
- Wolfers ME, van den Hoek C, Brug J, de Zwart O. Using Intervention Mapping to develop a programme to prevent sexually transmittable infections, including HIV, among heterosexual migrant men. BMC Public Health 2007;7:141 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-7-141] [Medline: 17615052]
- van Stralen MM, Kok G, de Vries H, Mudde AN, Bolman C, Lechner L. The Active plus protocol: systematic development of two theory- and evidence-based tailored physical activity interventions for the over-fifties. BMC Public Health 2008;8:399
   [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-8-399] [Medline: 19055806]
- 12. National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III) final report. Circulation 2002;106(25):3143-3421.
- Grundy SM, Cleeman JI, Daniels SR, Donato KA, Eckel RH, Franklin BA, American Heart Association, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. Diagnosis and management of the metabolic syndrome: an American Heart Association/National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Scientific Statement. Circulation 2005 Oct 25;112(17):2735-2752 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.169404] [Medline: 16157765]
- 14. Sassen B, Cornelissen V, Kiers H, Wittink H, Kok GJ, Vanhees L. Physial fitness matters more than physical activity in controlling cardiovascular disease risk factors. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 2009;16:667-683.
- Kwaliteitsinstituut voor de Gezondheidszorg CBO en Nederlands Huisartsen Genootschap. Utrecht: 2006. Multidisciplinaire richtlijn Cardiovasculair risicomanagement URL: <u>https://www.nvvc.nl/UserFiles/File/Pdf/cvrm\_2006.pdf</u> [accessed 2012-11-30] [WebCite Cache ID 6CZ0KVmWk]
- 16. Van Achterberg T, Huisman-de Waal GG, Ketelaar NA, Oostendorp RA, Jacobs JE, Wollersheim HC. How to promote healthy behaviours in patients? An overview of evidence for behaviour change techniques. Health Promot Int Aug 25 2010.
- 17. Abraham C, Michie S. A taxonomy of behavior change techniques used in interventions. Health Psychol 2008 May;27(3):379-387. [doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.27.3.379] [Medline: 18624603]
- Sassen B, Kok G, Schaalma H, Kiers H, Vanhees L. Cardiovascular risk profile: cross-sectional analysis of motivational determinants, physical fitness and physical activity. BMC Public Health 2010;10:592 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-10-592] [Medline: 20929529]
- Sassen B, Kok G, Vanhees L. Predictors of healthcare professionals' intention and behaviour to encourage physical activity in patients with cardiovascular risk factors. BMC Public Health 2011;11:246 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-11-246] [Medline: 21504566]
- 20. Ajzen I. The theory of planned behavior. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes 1991;50:179-211.
- 21. Fishbein M, Ajzen I. Predicting and Changing Behavior: The Reasoned Action Approach. New York: Psychology Press; 2010.
- 22. Godin G, Kok G. The theory of planned behavior: a review of its applications to health-related behaviors. Am J Health Promot 1996;11(2):87-98. [Medline: 10163601]
- 23. Bandura A. Social Foundations of Thought and Action: A Social Cognitive Theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall; 1986.

- 24. Armitage CJ, Conner M. Sociale cognitive determinants of blood donation. J of Appl Social psychology 2001;31:1-28.
- Sheeran P, Trafimow D, Armitage CJ. Predicting behaviour from perceived behavioural control: tests of the accuracy assumption of the theory of planned behaviour. Br J Soc Psychol 2003 Sep;42(Pt 3):393-410. [doi: 10.1348/014466603322438224] [Medline: 14567844]
- 26. Rhodes RE, Courneya KS. Investigating multiple components of attitude, subjective norm, and perceived control: an examination of the theory of planned behaviour in the exercise domain. Br J Soc Psychol 2003 Mar;42(Pt 1):129-146. [doi: 10.1348/014466603763276162] [Medline: 12713760]
- Rodgers WM, Conner M, Murray TC. Distinguishing among perceived control, perceived difficulty, and self-efficacy as determinants of intentions and behaviours. Br J Soc Psychol 2008 Dec;47(Pt 4):607-630. [doi: <u>10.1348/014466607X248903</u>] [Medline: <u>17945040</u>]
- 28. Bandura A. Self-efficacy: The Exercise of Control. New York: Freeman; 1997.
- 29. Fife-Schaw C, Sheeran P, Norman P. Simulating behaviour change interventions based on the theory of planned behaviour: Impacts on intention and action. Br J Soc Psychol 2007 Mar;46(Pt 1):43-68. [doi: 10.1348/014466605X85906] [Medline: 17355718]
- Godin G, Bélanger-Gravel A, Amireault S, Gallani MC, Vohl MC, Pérusse L. Effect of implementation intentions to change behaviour: moderation by intention stability. Psychol Rep 2010 Feb;106(1):147-159. [Medline: <u>20402438</u>]
- 31. Webb TL, Sheeran P. Does changing behavioral intentions engender behavior change? A meta-analysis of the experimental evidence. Psychol Bull 2006 Mar;132(2):249-268. [doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.132.2.249] [Medline: 16536643]
- 32. Godin G, Conner M. Intention-behavior relationship based on epidemiologic indices: an application to physical activity. Am J Health Promot 2008 Feb;22(3):180-182. [doi: 10.4278/ajhp.22.3.180] [Medline: 18251118]
- Gollwitzer PM, Schaal B. Metacognition in action: the importance of implementation intentions. Pers Soc Psychol Rev 1998;2(2):124-136. [doi: 10.1207/s15327957pspr0202\_5] [Medline: 15647140]
- 34. Achtziger A, Gollwitzer PM, Sheeran P. Implementation intentions and shielding goal striving from unwanted thoughts and feelings. Pers Soc Psychol Bull 2008 Mar;34(3):381-393. [doi: 10.1177/0146167207311201] [Medline: 18272806]
- 35. Sheeran P, Webb TL, Gollwitzer PM. The interplay between goal intentions and implementation intentions. Pers Soc Psychol Bull 2005 Jan;31(1):87-98. [doi: 10.1177/0146167204271308] [Medline: 15574664]
- Sniehotta FF, Scholz U, Schwarzer R. Action plans and coping plans for physical exercise: A longitudinal intervention study in cardiac rehabilitation. Br J Health Psychol 2006 Feb;11(Pt 1):23-37. [doi: 10.1348/135910705X43804] [Medline: 16480553]
- Sniehotta FF. Towards a theory of intentional behaviour change: plans, planning, and self-regulation. Br J Health Psychol 2009 May;14(Pt 2):261-273. [doi: 10.1348/135910708X389042] [Medline: 19102817]
- 38. Marlat GA, Gordon JR. Relapse Prevention: Maintenance Strategies in the Treatment of Addictive Behaviors. New York: The Guilford Press; 1985.
- 39. de Bruin M, Viechtbauer W, Schaalma HP, Kok G, Abraham C, Hospers HJ. Standard care impact on effects of highly active antiretroviral therapy adherence interventions: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Arch Intern Med 2010 Feb 8;170(3):240-250. [doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2009.536] [Medline: 20142568]
- 40. Hawkins RP, Kreuter M, Resnicow K, Fishbein M, Dijkstra A. Understanding tailoring in communicating about health. Health Educ Res 2008 Jun;23(3):454-466 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/her/cyn004] [Medline: 18349033]
- 41. Griffiths F, Lindenmeyer A, Powell J, Lowe P, Thorogood M. Why are health care interventions delivered over the internet? A systematic review of the published literature. J Med Internet Res 2006;8(2):e10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8.2.e10] [Medline: 16867965]
- 42. Portnoy DB, Scott-Sheldon LA, Johnson BT, Carey MP. Computer-delivered interventions for health promotion and behavioral risk reduction: a meta-analysis of 75 randomized controlled trials, 1988-2007. Prev Med 2008 Jul;47(1):3-16. [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2008.02.014] [Medline: 18403003]
- 43. Kroeze W, Werkman A, Brug J. A systematic review of randomized trials on the effectiveness of computer-tailored education on physical activity and dietary behaviors. Ann Behav Med 2006 Jun;31(3):205-223. [doi: 10.1207/s15324796abm3103\_2] [Medline: 16700634]
- 44. Noar SM, Benac CN, Harris MS. Does tailoring matter? Meta-analytic review of tailored print health behavior change interventions. Psychol Bull 2007 Jul;133(4):673-693. [doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.133.4.673] [Medline: 17592961]
- 45. Wantland DJ, Portillo CJ, Holzemer WL, Slaughter R, McGhee EM. The effectiveness of Web-based vs. non-Web-based interventions: a meta-analysis of behavioral change outcomes. J Med Internet Res 2004 Nov 10;6(4):e40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6.4.e40] [Medline: 15631964]
- 46. van den Berg MH, Schoones JW, Vliet Vlieland TP. Internet-based physical activity interventions: a systematic review of the literature. J Med Internet Res 2007;9(3):e26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9.3.e26] [Medline: 17942388]
- 47. Crutzen R, de Nooijer J, Brouwer W, Oenema A, Brug J, de Vries NK. A conceptual framework for understanding and improving adolescents' exposure to Internet-delivered interventions. Health Promot Int 2009 Sep;24(3):277-284 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/heapro/dap018] [Medline: 19515716]
- 48. Wendel-Vos GC, Schuit AJ, Saris WH, Kromhout D. Reproducibility and relative validity of the short questionnaire to assess health-enhancing physical activity. J Clin Epidemiol 2003 Dec;56(12):1163-1169. [Medline: <u>14680666</u>]

RenderX

- Haskell WL, Lee IM, Pate RR, Powell KE, Blair SN, Franklin BA, American College of Sports Medicine, American Heart Association. Physical activity and public health: updated recommendation for adults from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. Circulation 2007 Aug 28;116(9):1081-1093 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.185649] [Medline: 17671237]
- 50. Brouwer W, Oenema A, Crutzen R, de Nooijer J, de Vries NK, Brug J. An exploration of factors related to dissemination of and exposure to internet-delivered behavior change interventions aimed at adults: a Delphi study approach. J Med Internet Res 2008;10(2):e10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.956] [Medline: 18417443]
- 51. Schulz KF, Altman DG, Moher D, CONSORT Group. CONSORT 2010 statement: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. BMJ 2010;340:c332 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.c332] [Medline: 20332509]
- Eysenbach G, CONSORT-EHEALTH Group. CONSORT-EHEALTH: improving and standardizing evaluation reports of Web-based and mobile health interventions. J Med Internet Res 2011;13(4):e126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1923] [Medline: 22209829]

#### Abbreviations

**CONSORT:** Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials **PIB2:** Professional and Patient Intention and Behavior **SQUASH:** short questionnaire to assess health-enhancing physical activity

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 14.03.11; peer-reviewed by H Riper, D Portnoy; comments to author 25.04.11; revised version received 18.06.11; accepted 30.08.12; published 14.12.12.

Please cite as:

PMID:23612470

Sassen B, Kok G, Mesters I, Crutzen R, Cremers A, Vanhees L

A Web-Based Intervention for Health Professionals and Patients to Decrease Cardiovascular Risk Attributable to Physical Inactivity: Development Process JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e21

URL: http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e21/ doi:10.2196/resprot.1804

©Barbara Sassen, Gerjo Kok, Ilse Mesters, Rik Crutzen, Anita Cremers, Luc Vanhees. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 14.12.2012. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Technical Implementation of a Multi-Component, Text Message–Based Intervention for Persons Living with HIV

Robert D Furberg<sup>1</sup>, PhD, MBA; Jennifer D Uhrig<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Carla M Bann<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Megan A Lewis<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Jennie L Harris<sup>1</sup>, MPH; Peyton Williams<sup>1</sup>; Curtis Coomes<sup>1</sup>, JD; Nicole Martin<sup>2</sup>, MSW; Lisa Kuhns<sup>2</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>RTI International, RTP, NC, United States
 <sup>2</sup>Howard Brown Health Center, Chicago, IL, United States

**Corresponding Author:** Robert D Furberg, PhD, MBA RTI International 3040 Cornwallis Road RTP, NC, 27709 United States Phone: 1 919 316 3726 Fax: 1 919 541 1261 Email: <u>rfurberg@rti.org</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Men who have sex with men (MSM) continue to be severely and disproportionately affected by the HIV/AIDS (human immunodeficiency virus/acquired immune deficiency syndrome) epidemic in the United States. Effective antiretroviral therapy has altered the HIV epidemic from being an acute disease to a chronic, manageable condition for many people living with HIV. The pervasiveness, low cost, and convenience of Short Message Service (SMS) suggests its potential suitability for supporting the treatment of conditions that must be managed over an extended period.

**Objective:** The purpose of this proof-of-concept study was to develop, implement, and test a tailored SMS-based intervention for HIV-positive MSM. Prior studies do not routinely provide sufficiently detailed descriptions of their technical implementations, restricting the ability of subsequent efforts to reproduce successful interventions. This article attempts to fill this gap by providing a detailed description of the implementation of an SMS-based intervention to provide tailored health communication messages for HIV-positive MSM.

**Methods:** We used archives from the SMS system, including participant responses to messages and questions sent via SMS, as the data sources for results reported in this article. Consistent with the purpose of this article, our analysis was limited to basic descriptive statistics, including frequency distributions, means and standard deviations.

**Results:** During the implementation period, we sent a total of 7,194 messages to study participants, received 705 SMS responses to our two-way SMS questions of participants, and 317 unprompted SMS message acknowledgements from participants. Ninety two percent of participants on antiretroviral therapy (ART) responded to at least one of the weekly medication adherence questions administered via SMS, and 27% of those had their medication adherence messages changed over the course of the study based on their answers to the weekly questions. Participants who responded to items administered via SMS to assess satisfaction with and use of the messages reported generally positive perceptions, although response rates were low overall.

**Conclusions:** Results confirm the technical feasibility of deploying a dynamically tailored, SMS-based intervention designed to provide ongoing behavioral reinforcement for HIV-positive MSM. Lessons learned related to text programming, message delivery and study logistics will be helpful to others planning and implementing similar interventions.

(JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e17) doi: 10.2196/resprot.2017

### KEYWORDS

RenderX

short message service; SMS; text message; mobile phone; mHealth; HIV; tailored messaging

# Introduction

The annual number of newly diagnosed human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infections has remained relatively stable in the United States since the late 1990s, with more than 50,000 people becoming infected annually [1]. Meanwhile, HIV prevalence in the United States is higher than it has ever been, with more than an estimated 1 million adults and adolescents living with HIV in the United States [2]. Men who have sex with men (MSM) continue to be disproportionately affected by the HIV/acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS) epidemic, accounting for just over half of all new infections in 2006 [1]. Because of advances in antiretroviral therapy, people are living with HIV for longer periods of time [3]. For people living with HIV, antiretroviral therapy has transformed HIV into a chronic health condition that can be managed via medication adherence [4]. However, adopting and maintaining healthy behaviors and a medication regimen over a lifetime is challenging and may require ongoing behavioral reinforcement [5].

Given that among American adults, more than 80% own a mobile phone [6], with no significant differences in ownership by race/ethnicity [7], health-related text messages delivered to mobile phones could have a broad reach. As of December 2010, more than 302 million wireless subscriptions were active in the United States, and these domestic users sent and received more than 187 billion text messages each month [8].

The pervasiveness, low cost, and convenience of Short Message Service (SMS, or text messaging) suggests that it may be a channel particularly well suited for supporting the treatment of diseases or conditions that must be managed over an extended period [9,10]. SMS not only facilitates more frequent communication with patients but also offers the opportunity to deliver health-related messages when and where these messages may have the greatest impact, such as medication reminders consistent with an individual's dosing schedule. Therefore, SMS may be one channel by which to provide ongoing reinforcement for people living with HIV related to medication adherence and maintenance of healthy behaviors. If effective, such an intervention may result in higher health care quality and better outcomes.

Despite the potential of SMS interventions delivered via mobile phone, a review of the literature on SMS-based interventions revealed that most prior studies have not included detailed descriptions of their technical implementation processes [11]. This gap is important because a systematic description of the technical implementation and message delivery could inform the design of future studies and strengthen the evidence base of this emerging research area. We sought to address this gap by documenting the technical implementation of our intervention. In this paper, we address the following questions:

- 1. How was the intervention implemented from a technical standpoint?
- 2. What changes to the technical implementation were made during the study?

- 3. Did participants respond to the messages and/or questions administered via SMS?
- 4. What were the participants' perceptions of the content, timing, volume, usefulness, and helpfulness of the messages?

# Methods

#### **Study Design**

RTI International, an independent nonprofit research organization, partnered with Howard Brown Health Center (HBHC), an ambulatory care clinic in Chicago, to implement and evaluate an SMS-based intervention for HIV positive MSM to enhance outcomes related to managing HIV. RTI also partnered with Intelecare, a company that specializes in personal notification and communication management for medication adherence and disease management, to provide the two-way text messaging gateway. The SMS platform was used not only to deliver the messaging intervention, but also as a mode of primary data collection on weekly self-reported medication adherence, sexual risk and substance use risk behaviors at 30 and 60 days, and participant satisfaction intermittently throughout the 90-day intervention period. Our study design (see Figure 1) was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Boards (IRBs) at both RTI and HBHC. Each participant also signed an authorization for use or disclosure of health information to be compliant with the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act.

Eligible participants included English-speaking, HIV-positive MSM aged 25 and older who had personal cell phones, agreed to allow us to access their medical records, and were amenable to receiving SMS messages during the 3month intervention. HBHC providers identified eligible participants during routine visits for primary care; other participants self-referred to the study after seeing posters or flyers in the clinic's waiting or examination rooms.

During initial screening, we confirmed eligibility and documented the participant's cell phone number and ability to send and receive text messages. Next, we administered informed consent. During the informed consent process, we used a message tailoring form to document each participant's preferences for receiving certain types of messages during the study or declining receipt of certain categories of messages, as required by RTI's IRB. After obtaining informed consent, we assigned each participant a personal identification number (PIN), which served to anonymize the information required to carry out the intervention as well as each participant's evaluation data. We entered the participant's PIN, cell phone number, and message cluster assignment in the SMS gateway manager. Next, we administered a comprehensive Web-based preintervention assessment survey to each participant at the clinic. We used these data to tailor specific message content for the 3-month intervention. To minimize potential attrition from loss of cell phone service, we provided each participant with a \$25 incentive upon enrollment and \$10 per month for the 3-month study period to offset the costs associated with monthly SMS plans.

Figure 1. Study Design.



#### **Intervention Development**

We developed the intervention implemented in our study based on a conceptual model developed by Coomes and colleagues [11]. The model integrates the communication functionality of SMS with important psychosocial factors that could mediate the impact of SMS communication on health care quality and outcomes. We developed the actual message content by beginning with a set of draft HIV prevention messages previously developed for HIV-positive individuals using a systematic formative research process [12]. We mapped each of the existing messages to the topic areas included in the current intervention (medication adherence, sexual risk reduction, substance use risk reduction, smoking cessation, general health and well-being, social support and patient involvement), identified gaps, and developed additional messages to fill those gaps. Three experts external to the project team, as well as health care providers at HBHC, reviewed and provided feedback on the draft messages. Finally, we qualitatively pretested the messages using in-depth, one-on-one interviews with 8 members of the target audience prior to disseminating them as part of the study.

We addressed each of the 8 topics below:

Medication adherence. Participants who reported a history of medication nonadherence in the week before the baseline assessment or who began antiretroviral therapy within the past 6 months received daily messages designed to complement their prescribed (Rx) regimens (e.g., "It's going to be a great day. This is your med reminder."). For example, patient-customized notifications were used to remind participants to take their medications, consistent with their clinical dosing schedule, which is generally 1-3 times per day. Participants who were therapeutically adherent received weekly adherence messages that encouraged them to continue taking their medications as prescribed (e.g, "He shoots! He scores! Perfect med adherence. Great job!). If at any point during the intervention therapeutically adherent patients reported missing any doses of their medication, adherence reminders were enabled and these participants received adherence reminders for the remainder of the messaging exposure.

*Sexual risk reduction.* Participants who reported at least one sex partner in the past 3 months received messages designed to reinforce condom use and communication with sex partners

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e17/

about HIV and other sexually transmitted infections (e.g., "Undetectable is respectable, but your partners are still infectable. Play safe."). Messages regarding sexual risk reduction were sent on Saturday evenings. Sexual risk reduction was reassessed against baseline on intervention days 36 and 64 via SMS. Participants who reported at least one sex partner in the past 3 months triggered the dynamic tailoring function and those individuals began receiving the sexual risk reduction content for the remainder of the messaging exposure.

Substance use risk reduction. Considering substance use behaviors within the past 3 months, participants who reported drinking an alcoholic beverage2or more times per month, having 5or more drinks within a couple of hours at least once in the past month, or using any illicit drugs received messages to reduce use or harm (e.g., "Going out tonight? Be safe. Party smart."). Messages regarding substance use risk reduction were sent on Friday evenings. Substance use risk reduction was reassessed against baseline on intervention days 36 and 64 via SMS. Participants who reported a history of any high-risk substance use triggered the dynamic tailoring function and those individuals began receiving the substance use risk reduction content for the remainder of the messaging exposure.

Sexual and substance use risk reduction. Because risky sex and substance use often co-occur, we developed a separate set of messages for Saturday evening delivery. Participants who reported any co-occurrence of substance use and sexual activity within the past 3 months received, in addition to the standard risk reduction messages, communications designed to reinforce the risk reduction messages and reduce harm (e.g., "No condoms? No way! Party n play the right way. Protect yourself and your partner."). Sexual and substance use risk was reassessed against baseline on intervention days 36 and 64 via SMS. Participants who reported a history of substance use before or during sex triggered the dynamic tailoring function and those individuals began receiving the sex and substance use risk reduction content for the remainder of the messaging exposure.

*Cigarette smoking*. Because smoking cigarettes weakens the immune system, it can be especially harmful to persons with HIV. We included smoking cessation messages for participants who reported smoking (e.g, "There are many ways to quit smoking. Talk to your HBHC provider about the ways that would work best for you."). Smoking cessation messages were sent every Thursday.

*General health and well-being*. We anticipated that all study participants would benefit from periodic messages emphasizing the value of a healthy lifestyle (e.g., "Take care of yourself today. Eat healthy foods, don't stress out, get some exercise and sleep well."). These messages were delivered to all participants every Wednesday.

*Social support*. In addition to general social support messages delivered every Sunday (e.g., "Worried about telling your friends and family your status? We can help you find the right words. Call HB at XXX-XXX-XXXX."), we cataloged available social support resources sponsored by HBHC. These include HIV support groups, substance abuse groups, health and well-being forums, and other meetings and events of interest. On the basis of participants' demographic and preintervention assessment survey responses, we notified participants of relevant support groups, meeting schedules and contact information for joining.

*Patient involvement*. All participants received messages aimed to empower themselves to be active health care consumers (e.g., "Ask your provider questions. If you don't understand the answer, keep asking until you do."). These messages were delivered to all participants on Mondays.

*Appointment reminders*. All participants received clinical and behavioral health appointment reminders as part of the intervention. A single appointment reminder was sent to participants at a randomly selected time within a 3 day window prior to scheduled appointments.

#### **Data Sources**

We used archives from the SMS system, including participant responses to the messages and questions sent out via SMS, as the data sources for results reported in this paper. We have reported detailed descriptions of the data sources, methodology and results from the process and outcome evaluations elsewhere [13, 14, 15].

A unique feature of our design was the use of bidirectional messaging to support interactions with study participants and to allow us to dynamically tailor content throughout the intervention. We asked questions of all participants throughout their exposure to the intervention, and their responses were used to update the content they received, when appropriate. We administered 3 types of questions via two-way SMS: weekly medication adherence assessment, participant satisfaction items, and sexual and substance use risk reduction reassessment.

#### Weekly Medication Adherence Assessment

Every Sunday evening, we asked participants if they have missed any antiretroviral therapy doses in the preceding week by sending the SMS message: "Over the past 7 days, on how many days did you miss a dose of medication? Please text us back the number of days you missed a dose (0–7)." We processed responses to determine whether participants had been adherent to their regimen. Every Monday, we sent participants the appropriate feedback responses based on their answers. Specifically, adherent participants received a supportive response to continue, and nonadherent participants received encouragement to comply with their regimen in the week ahead. If at any time during the program a previously adherent participant reported a missed dose, we began sending him daily medication reminders tailored to his dosing schedule for the duration of the intervention.

#### Interim Participant Satisfaction

We asked all participants 8 questions to assess participant satisfaction with the intervention, including feedback on the frequency of messaging and the relevance of content (see Table 1). In an effort to distribute the response burden, we sent2questions per week throughout Weeks 6–9. To manage incoming messages from participants and differentiate responses to the satisfaction questions from the sexual and substance risk assessment questions, we instructed subjects to provide responses that included number and letter combinations that corresponded to specific questions, as shown in Textbox 1.



Textbox 1. Participant Satisfaction Items (delivery Via 2-Way Sms)

How often do you read the text messages you get from HB?
Text 1A = always, 2A = usually, 3A = sometimes, 4A = never
Do you like the messages you are receiving from HB <sup>a</sup> ?
Text $1B = yes$ , $2B = no$
How often are the HB messages sent at the right times?
Text $1C = always$ , $2C = usually$ , $3C = sometimes$ , $4C = never$
How do you feel about the number of text messages you get from HB?
Text $1D = too many$ , $2D = about right$ , $3D = not enough$
Are the message topics you get from HB interesting to you?
Text $1E = very$ , $2E = somewhat$ , $3E = a$ little, $4E = not$ at all
How often do you use the info in the text messages from HB?
Text $1F$ = always, $2F$ = usually, $3F$ = sometimes, $4F$ = never
How helpful are the text messages you get from HB?
Text $1G = very$ , $2G = somewhat$ , $3G = a$ little, $4G = not$ at all
Do you feel like the HB messages were written for you?
Text $1H = yes$ , $2H = no$

#### Sexual and Substance Use Risk Reduction Reassessment

We reassessed risk-taking behaviors related to sexual activity and substance use for all participants on days 36 and 64 of the intervention (see Textbox 2). "Yes" and "don't remember" responses were analyzed and used to initiate sending risk-reduction messages to those individuals who did not initially qualify for receiving messages in these categories.

Textbox 2. Sexual and Substance Use Reassessment Items (delivery Via 2-Way Sms)

the medication adherence	
Text $1L = \text{ves}, 2L = \text{no}, 3L = \text{don't remember}$	
In the past 4 weeks have you used alcohol or drugs before or during sex?	
Text $1K = yes$ , $2K = no$ , $3K = don't$ remember	
In the past 4 weeks have you had sex without a condom with any of your sex partner(s)?	
Text yes = $1J$ , $2J$ = no, $3J$ = don't remember	
In the past 4 weeks have you used recreational drugs (e.g., pot, meth, cocaine or heroin)?	
Text $1i = yes$ , $2i = no$ , $3i = don't$ remember	
In the past 4 weeks have you had 5 or more drinks of alcohol within a couple of hours (e.g. 2–4 hours)?	

#### **Analytic Methods**

#### Messages Sent to Participants

To determine message intensity, we classified the timing of the messages on the basis of each participant's week of participation in the study, using the date the first study message was sent to the participant as the start of his study participation. We then computed the mean number of messages participants received during each of the 13 study weeks using the SAS statistical software program.

#### Messages Received From Participants

For each of the questions administered via SMS, except medication adherence, participants provided a number and letter response (e.g., 1D) to indicate the question to which they were responding and the appropriate response option. Responses to

RenderX

the medication adherence questions consisted of a number from 0 to 7. On the basis of these codes, we classified participants' text responses into the following 5categories, using the SAS software program to search the texting data for appropriate responses (1) responses to participant satisfaction questions (e.g., how helpful texts are), (2) reassessments of medication adherence and sexual and substance use behaviors, (3) acknowledgments from the participant that he received the message (e.g., "OK," "Thanks"), (4) requests to stop receiving messages, and (5) responses that did not fit into any of the other 4 categories. Given the possible differences in texting style (e.g., using zero for O, using abbreviations, leaving out spaces), we reviewed the data manually to ensure that responses were placed into the appropriate categories-for example, to ensure that a response of "2doses" was not inadvertently counted as a "2d" response to a participant satisfaction question. In the event that a participant responded more than once to the same question,

we used his last response. Finally, we computed the percentages of respondents indicating each response option.

# Results

#### **Message Delivery Schedule**

The complexity of our intervention required us to design a flexible approach to tailoring the messages sent to each participant. To manage each subject's preferences for which messages they were willing to receive, we parsed the core content into 24 message classes for processing and programming purposes (see Table 1).

Table 2 illustrates the message delivery schedule by topic and by day for the 13-week SMS intervention.

#### **Tailoring Process**

We enrolled 52 participants over a 4-month period (July-October 2010). We enrolled new participants into the study every Friday throughout the 4-month recruitment phase. At the time of enrollment, we used data from the HBHC-administered screener, the message tailoring form, and the preintervention survey to create a unique text message profile for each subject. Our

tailoring logic, including questions and responses that assigned participants into each message class is shown in Table 3. We used a tailoring form to code the critical values from these 3 data sources into an electronic tailoring worksheet and to manually create each participant profile.

Message content, tagged by class and day of intervention, comprised the technical script for this 90-day, automated intervention. The most significant effort in preparing for the implementation was to establish common vocabulary and a series of processes and documentation to support data exchange between RTI and Intelecare.

Both incoming and outgoing data from RTI were formatted based on the output of the tailoring process and converted to an eXtensible Markup Language (XML) "UserList" that includes the items listed in Table 4. The UserList was posted by 10:00 p.m. every Saturday throughout the implementation phase. To facilitate the transfer of the UserList, a File Transfer Protocol (FTP) site that utilized a 256-bit Advanced Encryption Standard connection was used to post the data directly to the SMS gateway. All messages were sent with the preface "<HB>" (short for "Howard Brown Health Center") so participants could identify that the messages were coming from the study.

 Table 1. Message class architecture

Furberg et al

Class Number	Text Name	Notes	Time to Send
1	Weekly adherence question	Weekly on Sunday.	17:00
		All participants will be set up to receive this when their accounts are created.	
2	"Took all" response to #1	Will come in with Monday data.	16:00
		1 message for following Tuesday.	
		Message depends on place in cycle.	
3	"Missed" response to #1	Will come in Monday data.	16:00
		1 message for following Tuesday.	
		Message depends on place in cycle.	
Ļ	Rx daily adherence	Different message each day for 7 days.	15:00
		Repeats weekly throughout program.	
		A single custom message is optional.	
		A custom time can also be defined by the participant.	
;	Rx am adherence	Different message each day for 7 days.	08:00
		Repeats weekly throughout program.	
		A single custom message is optional.	
		A custom time can also be defined.	
Ì	Rx pm adherence	Different message each day for 7 days.	21:00
		Repeats weekly throughout program.	
		A single custom message is optional.	
		A custom time can also be defined.	
	Sex risk	Different message every Saturday.	22:00
	Substance risk	Different message every Friday.	22:00
1	Sex & substance risk	Different message every Saturday.	22:00
0	Smoking	Different message every other Thursday, starting second Thursday.	10:30
1	General health & wellness	Different message every Wednesday.	10:00
		All participants will be set up to receive this when their accounts are created.	
2	General social support	Different message every Sunday.	14:00
		All participants will be set up to receive this when their accounts are created.	
3	Patient involvement	Different message every Monday.	09:30
		All participants will be set up to receive this when their accounts are created.	
.4	Process question	Different questions days 38, 40, 45, 47, 52, 54, 59, & 61.	12:30
		All participants will be set up to receive this when their accounts are created.	
5	Substance question	Question at days 36 & 64.	10:30
6	Sex question	Question at days 36 & 64.	11:30
17	Substance & sex question	Question at days 36 & 64.	12:30
18	General social support	Different messages days 9, 10, 11, & 12.	12:30
9	Tailored social support 1	Message delivered day 13.	12:30
20	Tailored social support 2	Different messages days 14 & 15.	12:30

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e17/

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Res Protoc 2012 | vol. 1 | iss. 2 |e17 | p.102 (page number not for citation purposes)

### Furberg et al

Class	Text Name	Notes	Time to
Number			Send
21	Tailored social support 3	Message delivered day 16.	12:30
22	Tailored social support 4	Message delivered day 17.	12:30
23	Tailored social support 5	Message delivered day 18.	12:30
24	Tailored social support 6	Message delivered day 19.	12:30

#### Table 2. Message delivery schedule by topic

Торіс	Sunday	Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday	Saturday
Medication reminder	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	X
Appointment reminders	PRN <sup>a</sup>						
Rx adherence assessment	Х						
Rx adherence response		Х					
Patient involvement		Х					
Health and wellness				Х			
Smoking cessation					Х		
Substance risk						Х	
Sexual risk							Х
Sex & substance risk							Х
Risk questions	Days 36 & 64						
Participant satisfaction questions			Weeks		Weeks		
			6–9		6–9		
Tailored social support		Days 9–19	Days 9–19	Days 9–19	Days 9–19	Days 9–19	

<sup>a</sup>PRN, as needed.



#### Table 3. Tailoring logic

Furberg et al

Message Class	Торіс	Question	Response Options	Question	Response Options	Question	Response Options
2	Response: adher- ent	Many people don't take their HIV medication per- fectly all the time. Over the past 7 days, on how many days did you miss a dose of your HIV medica- tion?	0				
3	Response: nonad- herent	Many people don't take their HIV medication per- fectly all the time. Over the past 7 days, on how many days did you miss a dose of your HIV medica- tion?	1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, Don't know, Re- fused to an- swer	When did you first start taking medica- tions to treat HIV?	1–3 months ago		
4	Rx adherence daily	Are you currently taking any medications that a doctor has prescribed to treat HIV?	Yes	Many people don't take their HIV medica- tion perfectly all the time. Over the past 7 days, on how many days did you miss a dose of your HIV medication?	1;2; 3; 4; 5; 6; 7; Don't know; Refused to an- swer	At what time(s) do you take your HIV medication each day?	Lunch time, dinner time, other
5	Rx adherence am	Are you currently taking any medications that a doctor has prescribed to treat HIV?	Yes	Many people don't take their HIV medica- tion perfectly all the time. Over the past 7 days, on how many days did you miss a dose of your HIV medication?	1;2; 3; 4; 5; 6; 7; Don't know; Refused to an- swer	At what time(s) do you take your HIV medication each day?	Morning
6	Rx adherence pm	Are you currently taking any medications that a doctor has prescribed to treat HIV?	Yes	Many people don't take their HIV medica- tion perfectly all the time. Over the past 7 days, on how many days did you miss a dose of your HIV medication?	1;2; 3; 4; 5; 6; 7; Don't know; Refused to an- swer	At what time(s) do you take your HIV medication each day?	Bedtime
7	Sex risk	Over the past 3 months, how many people did you have oral, vaginal, or anal sex with?	>1				
8	Substance risk	On average, how often in the past 3 months have you had a drink containing alco- hol (e.g., a glass of beer or wine, a mixed drink, or any other kind of alcoholic beverage)?	2 or 3 times a month; Once or twice a week; 3 or 4 times a day; Nearly every day; Daily; Refuse to an- swer	On average, how of- ten in the past 3 months have you had 5 or more drinks of alcohol within a cou- ple of hours (e.g., 2–4 hours)?	Once a month; 2 or 3 times a month; Once or twice a week; 3 or 4 times a day; Nearly ev- ery day; Daily; Refuse to an- swer	Have you used any of the follow- ing within the past 3 months?	Marijuana; Cocaine; Heroin; Metham- phetamine; MDMA <sup>a</sup> ; GHB <sup>b</sup> ; Ke- tamine
9	Sex & substance	Over the past 3 months, how often did you use alco- hol or drugs before or dur- ing sex?	Rarely; Some- times; Most of the time; Ev- ery time; Refuse to an- swer				
10	Smoking	Do you smoke cigarettes?	Yes; Refuse to answer				

XSL•FO RenderX

Furberg et al

Message	Topic	Question	Response	Question	Response	Question	Response
Class			Options		Options		Options
15	Substance ques- tion	All received					
16	Sex question	All received					
17	Sub/sex question	All received					
4	Custom time (daily)	Would you prefer to cus- tomize your own medica- tion adherence reminder?					
5	Custom time (a.m.)	Would you prefer to cus- tomize your own medica- tion adherence reminder?					
6	Custom time (p.m.)	Would you prefer to cus- tomize your own medica- tion adherence reminder?					
18	General social support	All received					
19	Older adults, 50+	What is your current age?	50 or older				
20	Newly diagnosed	What month and year did you get your first positive test for HIV? If you can't remember the month or year, please give your best guess.	Calculated less than or equal to 6 months of sur- vey date				
21	Long-time posi- tives	What month and year did you get your first positive test for HIV? If you can't remember the month or year, please give your best guess.	Calculated greater than 6 months of sur- vey date				
22	African Ameri- can MSM	How would you describe your race?	Black or African Amer- ican				
23	Latino MSM	Are you of Hispanic or Latino origin or descent?	Yes				
24	Young adults	What is your current age?	25-29 years				

<sup>a</sup>MDMA, 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine (Ecstasy); <sup>b</sup>GHB, gamma hydroxybutyrate.



Table 4. UserList file format for enrollment data

Position	Example	Name
0	1234	User ID <sup>a</sup>
1	919-555-1234	Cell number
2	1/0	Inclusion class #2
3	1/0	Inclusion class #3
4	1/0/Custom Message	Inclusion class #4
5	1/0/Custom Message	Inclusion class #5
6	1/0/Custom Message	Inclusion class #6
7	1/0	Inclusion class #7
8	1/0	Inclusion class #8
9	1/0	Inclusion class #9
10	1/0	Inclusion class #10
11	1/0	Inclusion class #15
12	1/0	Inclusion class #16
13	1/0	Inclusion class #17
14	15:00	Custom time for #4
15	08:00	Custom time for #5
16	21:00	Custom time for #6
17	*p	Inclusion class #18
18	1/0	Inclusion class #19
19	1/0	Inclusion class #20
20	1/0	Inclusion class #21
21	1/0	Inclusion class #22
22	1/0	Inclusion class #23
23	1/0	Inclusion class #24

<sup>a</sup>ID, identification number.

<sup>b</sup>no variable was used for enrollment, all subjects received messages in this class.

#### System Testing

Before initiating system testing, Intelecare tested the code base and individual components of the system, as a term of their contract. After completion of their internal verification and validation process, we began system testing in July 2010 with a validation of each functional unit. First, RTI created test UserLists and transferred them from RTI to Intelecare via FTP. Once the process was deemed acceptable, Intelecare and RTI developers began testing the transmission and receipt of messages on a test schedule. Six members of the project team agreed to receive test messages based on a full implementation of the UserList, file transfer, and activation of new users in the SMS gateway. Messages were transmitted to these users on a compressed schedule over the course of 2 days. A dynamic tailoring process that automatically updated certain messages participants received, on the basis of their responses to a series of two-way SMS messages, was also developed and tested. The

final step in the system process was a detailed review of the message content to be delivered by class and by day.

#### **Intervention Monitoring**

We held regular status calls every Friday with the HBHC study coordinator to review the week's recruitment strategies and progress, screening data, enrollment data, and any other relevant topics related to implementation. In addition, we held weekly status calls with the lead developer from Intelecare to discuss topics related to system performance.

Between calls, RTI staff had access to the Intelecare reminder manager, as shown in Figure 2. This password-protected, encrypted Web site permitted us to monitor the intervention in real time. The implementation task lead had full access, which enabled him to edit participant telephone numbers, disable message classes at a participant's request, and send appointment reminders as needed.

RenderX

Figure 2. Intelecare Reminder Manager.

,	t: Please select wh	at date					
Appointment Type:	appointment is:	<	]	Octo	ber	2010	)
[Other]	✓	S	Mo	Tu	We	Th	F
Other:		28	27	28	29		1
		3	4	5	6	7	8
		1(	11	12	13	14	15
Please select when your appo	intment is:	17	18	19	20	21	22
Times		24	25	26	27	28	29
		-		2			
Please select how far in advan	nce of your appointment you woul	d like to be	remi	nde	d:		_
Please select how far in advan	nce of your appointment you wou your appointment.	d like to be	remi	inde	d:		
Please select how far in advar 1 Days v before Please select how you would I Email [select advarse]	nce of your appointment you woul your appointment.	d like to be	remi	inde	d:		_
Please select how far in advant Days before Please select how you would l Email [select a Text Message [select a	nce of your appointment you woul your appointment.	d like to be	remi	inde	d:		

#### **Message Intensity**

Because the message content was tailored on baseline survey results, the intensity of messages, such as the average number of messages received by participants each week, varied (see Table 5). The overall distribution of message intensity over the 13-week intervention is shown in Table 5. The variation in message intensity was driven by delivery of tailored social support messages during the first few weeks of the intervention as well as by administration of participant satisfaction and risk assessment questions in Weeks 5–9. On average, participants received 9.44 (SD 9.77) messages per week.



Table 5. Mean number of texts sent to respondents, by week of participation in the study

Week	Mean (SD)
1	10.88 (6.72)
2	12.76 (7.08)
3	8.96 (6.97)
4	7.45 (6.82)
5	7.71 (6.72)
6	7.08 (7.88)
7	6.12 (6.70)
8	5.78 (7.15)
9	5.98 (7.29)
10	4.35 (7.01)
11	3.25 (5.82)
12	2.59 (5.63)
13	1.35 (3.49)

#### Changes to Technical Implementation Made During the Course of the Intervention

We made a few modifications to implementation that merit discussion. First, the original design did not accommodate personal preferences related to the receiving specific messages. We intended to use the responses to the preintervention survey and bidirectional messages to determine message assignment. However, the RTI IRB made their approval contingent on accommodating an individual's preference to opt out of certain message classes. For example, participants who reported high-risk sexual practices could deselect sexual risk-reduction messages.

Second, to reduce burden on project staff to coordinate configuration of the SMS platform to deliver ad hoc clinical and behavioral health appointment reminders, the study coordinator was given access to the SMS Gateway Manager midway through the implementation period. We developed a process for creating ad hoc reminders and assigned the study coordinator responsibility for these communications for the duration of the intervention. The study coordinator scheduled each participant's 3-month follow-up visits during his enrollment visit. Throughout the intervention, the study coordinator monitored the reminder schedule weekly and updated it as necessary (see Figure 2).

Third, we implemented an automated process for the initial tailoring of new enrollees in September 2010. Before the transition to an automated process, we manually evaluated multiple data inputs for each participant, and determined participants' message class assignments manually, as shown in Table 3. Our implementation and evaluation task leaders worked collaboratively to develop a process by which data from the HBHC-administered screener and the preintervention survey were imported and processed in SAS, then exported into a spreadsheet that emulated the data structure of the UserList XML file shown in Table 6. Despite this automation, some of the nonstandardized data elements captured by the HBHC study coordinator in the message tailoring form, including the customization of medication adherence reminder preferences, still required manual data entry. We tested the data output from the automated process against known tailoring outcomes from previous participants and validated it before fully implementing this process enhancement during the intervention.

#### Participant Response to Messages and Questions Administered via SMS

During the implementation period of July 18, 2010, to February 21, 2011, we sent a total of 7,194 messages to study participants (see Table 6).


Table 6. Number of texts sent and received

Type of Texts		Number of Texts	
Texts	Texts sent by RTI		
	Successfully sent	6,874	
	Failed	320	
	Total sent	7,194	
Texts received by RTI			
	Patient satisfaction responses	214	
	Sex and substance responses	101	
	Medication adherence responses	390	
	Acknowledgments	317	
	Other responses	69	
	Requests to stop receiving messages	3 <sup>a</sup>	
	Total	1,094	

<sup>a</sup>All requests to stop receiving messages were sent from a single participant.

Of these, 320 messages, or approximately 4% of messages, failed to reach the intended recipient for unknown reasons. All participants were sent messages over the entire course of the 90-day intervention.

Most messages were developed to be unidirectional and noninteractive. These messages were sent from the SMS system to participants and did not prompt recipients to post a reply or interact with the texts in any way. However, subsets of the messages sent were bidirectional texts, developed to prompt responses from participants to facilitate real-time dynamic tailoring or for data collection across a variety of topic areas. We received 705 SMS responses to our two-way SMS questions of participants during the intervention (e.g., weekly adherence assessment, patient satisfaction, and sex and substance use assessment), as well as 317 unprompted SMS message acknowledgements from participants (e.g., "thanks"). Table 7 shows the two-way process messages sent, timing, frequency, and response rates.



Table 7. Two-way SMS messages sent, timing, and frequency

Table 7. Two-way Sivis messages sent, unning, and nequency			
Message Content	First Response	Second Response	Frequency/Schedule
In the past 4 weeks have you had 5 or more drinks of alcohol within a couple of hours (e.g., 2–4 hours)? Taxt 1 = Yos 2 = No. 3 = Don't remember			Asked in baseline survey and again via text
Yes	4 (8%)		on mervention day 50.
No	13 (25%)		
Don't remember	1 (2%)		
No response	34 (65%)		
In the past 4 weeks have you had sex without a condom with any of $1 = $ Yes, $2 = $ No, $3 = $ Don't remember	f your sex partr	ner(s)? Text	Asked in baseline survey and again via text on intervention day 36 and 64.
Yes	7 (13%)	4 (8%)	
No	14 (27%)	6 (12%)	
Don't remember	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	
No response	31 (60%)	42 (80%)	
In the past 4 weeks have you used alcohol or drugs before or during 3 = Don't remember	g sex? Text 1 =	Yes, 2 = No,	Asked in baseline survey and again via text on intervention day 36 and 64.
Yes	6 (12%)	2 (4%)	
No	16 (30%)	12 (23%)	
Don't remember	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	
No response	30 (58%)	38 (73%)	
How often do you read the text messages you get from HB <sup>a</sup> ? Tex 3 = Sometimes, 4 = Never	t 1 = Always, 2	= Usually,	Asked of all participants on intervention day 38.
Always	26 (50%)		
Usually	2 (4%)		
Sometimes	0 (0%)		
Never	0 (0%)		
No response	24 (46%)		
Do you like the messages you are receiving from HB <sup>a</sup> ? Text $1 = Y$	/es, 2 = No		Asked of all participants on intervention day 40.
Yes	16 (30%)		
No	5 (10%)		
No response	31 (60%)		
How often are the messages sent at the right times? Text 1 = Alway 4 = Never	s, 2 = Usually, 3	3 = Sometimes,	
Always	5 (10%)		
Usually	8 (15%)		
Sometimes	9 (17%)		
Never	3 (6%)		
No response	27 (52%)		
How do you feel about the number of text messages you get from H 2 = About right, 3 = Not enough	IB <sup>a</sup> ? Text 1 =	Too many,	Asked of all participants on intervention day 47.
Too many	7 (13%)		
About right	16 (31%)		
Not enough	3 (6%)		

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e17/

XSL•FO RenderX

Furberg et al

Message Content	First Response	Second Response	Frequency/Schedule
No response	26 (50%)	11 (70)	
Are the message topics you get from HB <sup>a</sup> interesting to you? Text 1 = little, 4 = Not at all	Very, 2 = Som	ewhat, 3 = A	Asked of all participants on intervention day 52.
Very	5 (10%)		
Somewhat	8 (15%)		
A little	9 (17%)		
Not at all	4 (8%)		
No response	26 (50%)		
How often do you use the info in the text messages from HB $^{a}$ ? Text 3 = Sometimes, 4 = Never	1 = Always, 2 =	= Usually,	Asked of all participants on intervention day 54.
Always	3 (6%)		
Usually	2 (4%)		
Sometimes	15 (29%)		
Never	7 (13%)		
No response	25 (48%)		
How helpful are the text messages you get from HBHC $^{a}$ ? Text 1 = V little, 4 = Not at all	Very, 2 = Some	what, $3 = A$	Asked of all participants on intervention day 59.
Very	11 (21%)		
Somewhat	8 (15%)		
A little	6 (12%)		
Not at all	3 (6%)		
No response	24 (46%)		
Do you feel like the HB <sup>a</sup> messages were written for you? Text 1 = Yes	, 2 = No		Asked of all participants on intervention day 61.
Yes	15 (29%)		
No	13 (25%)		
No response	24 (46%)		

<sup>a</sup> HBHC, Howard Brown Health Center.

Throughout the intervention, participant responses were used to dynamically tailor messaging for medication adherence and risk reduction.

Forty seven of the 51 participants (92%) taking antiretroviral therapy responded to at least one of the weekly medication adherence questions administered via SMS, and 14 of the 51 participants (27%) had their medication adherence messages changed over the course of the study based on their answers to the weekly medication adherence questions administered via SMS. For example, for those who changed from adherent to nonadherent, their messages changed from weekly messages reinforcing correct adherence to daily reminders to take medications at prescribed times. If participants became adherent, they would receive weekly messages reinforcing correct adherence in addition to their daily reminders.

A total of 22 participants (42%) received sex risk reduction messages, 24 participants (46%) received substance use

RenderX

messages, and 17 participants (33%) received the combined sex and substance risk reduction messages throughout the intervention. As described above, personal preference for messaging was taken into account at baseline for tailoring, permitting individuals to opt-out of receiving any type of message, including sex and substance risk reduction messages. Nearly all participants qualified to receive these risk reduction texts at the beginning of the study, so those who did not receive these texts from the start of the study represent the sample that opted out, rendering them ineligible for the dynamic tailoring function, and limiting our ability to evaluate this aspect of the implementation.

#### **Participant Perceptions of Messages**

Almost all (93%) of those participants who responded to a question we administered via SMS indicated that they always read the text messages they receive from the study. About three-quarters of those who responded to a question we asked

via SMS indicated that they liked the messages they received from the study.

Only about 20% of those who responded to the SMS question indicated that the messages were always sent at the right times, 30% said that they were usually sent at the right times, more than 30% said that they were sometimes sent at the right times, and only 12% said that they were never sent at the right times. Most of those who responded (62%) said that the number of messages they got from the study was "about right." About half of those who responded to the SMS question indicated that the message topics they received were either somewhat or very interesting to them. Almost one fifth said that they usually or always used the information they get in the text messages, whereas the majority (56%) said they sometimes used it, and 26% said they never used it. More than two-thirds of those who responded to the SMS question said the text messages they received from the study were either somewhat or very helpful. Participants were divided as to whether they felt the messages they received from the study were written for them.

# Discussion

The complexity of the tailored messaging intervention required close monitoring and adaptations to the technical approach throughout the program's life cycle such as automating the tailoring process, investigating message send failures, and developing protocols for changing participants' mobile phone numbers during the exposure phase.

A critical component of the successful implementation of this study was the messaging platform developed by our information technology (IT) vendor, Intelecare. The Intelecare messaging platform is a well-developed, highly reliable system that is currently in use to support multiple, simultaneous text message-based interventions. The maturity of the system and the expertise of the Intelecare programmers benefitted the intervention in their support of our refinement of the messaging intervals and frequency, tests of the system, and monitoring of its status during the exposure phase. Programs considering a similar effort will need to determine whether they have the requisite IT capabilities in house or whether they need to set aside sufficient resources to contract with an outside IT vendor.

#### Limitations

While we recognize the limitations of this study, many are inherent in conducting and evaluating text message-based interventions. First, we observed a very low response rate to the questions administered via SMS. Of note is that this suggests participants may not be sufficiently engaged; however, this assumption is at odds with statements made by participants in which they indicated a desire for more interactivity [16]. Second, permitting individuals to opt-out of receiving certain kinds of messages even if the baseline assessment indicated that they should have received those messages weakens evaluation of this aspect of the intervention. Third, we believe that prospective evaluations of a larger scale and other text message-based interventions are required to assess the resulting longer-term behavior change.

#### **Lessons Learned**

We learned a number of things from the implementation of this intervention, including insights into text programming, message delivery, and study logistics. This knowledge will be invaluable to others embarking on a similar process and to scaling up the current intervention.

#### Scheduling

The dose-response relationship between texting frequency and behavioral or clinical outcomes is poorly understood [11]. Therefore, we paid particular attention to distributing messages evenly across the days of the week for this intervention. Our assumption was that, for a 3-month intervention, most participants would respond better if the daily messaging burden was limited and participants received as few messages as possible per day throughout the course of the intervention. We also considered which days of the week seemed more appropriate for certain types of messaging. For example, risk reduction messages associated with sexual and substance abuse behaviors were intentionally delivered on weekend evenings, rather than in the middle of the day or week in an effort to provide the message at a more appropriate time, when participants may be more likely to engage in higher-risk behaviors.

#### Message Tailoring

Although tailoring may have contributed to a high level of participant satisfaction, the process of tailoring for enrollment and dynamic tailoring during the intervention was very time-consuming and complex, and it was prone to occasional error. As such, we recommend developing tailoring protocols that automate as much data analysis and message class assignment as possible to reduce burden on project staff and minimize errant designations at enrollment. In complex longitudinal programs, allowing participants to control which message types they receive throughout the program may be a desirable feature. However, this limits ability to evaluate the effects of the program on desired outcomes.

#### **Texting Logic**

For two-way interventions that seek input from participants in response to questions, we recommend that texting systems employ computational logic that reduces the burden associated with human analysis. For example, if a participant is asked a closed-ended question, machine logic is desirable to both recognize the range of appropriate responses (yes, no, Yes, No, YES, NO, Y, N, etc) and provide an appropriate acknowledgment (either to confirm receipt if the participant's response was in the expected range or provide corrective guidance if not).

#### Message Receipt

Because of privacy concerns associated with the topics of sexual health, substance use, and HIV status associated with this intervention, finding ways to mask the content of the text messages is important so as to not "out" sensitive information about participants, should others see their phones.

In addition, one participant reported having received batches of messages at one time, rather than distributed throughout the

day per the message delivery schedule. Technical staff theorized that this reception behavior likely occurred when the participant's phone was not receiving a strong enough service signal (e.g., he may have been in an office or a basement for an extended period of time) and that the batches of messages arrived once the participant acquired adequate signal strength. Unfortunately, because only one participant reported this problem, technical staff members were unable to reproduce the conditions or identify any record of failed messages in the participant's log file. Because participants cannot fully control the signal strength available to them, we suggest notifying them in advance that they may sometimes receive messages in batches.

#### Message Fatigue

It will be important to develop ways to counter the potential for message fatigue, such as increasing the flexibility of the messaging system to alternate times and days when certain message classes are delivered. Also, keeping the content fresh by developing a wide array of messages within classes may help to stave off message fatigue. Additionally, it may be helpful to explore ways to further customize the system so that participants can have more choice about the frequency and timing of messages they receive.

For this intervention, we concentrated our effort on staggering the delivery of process questions so participants are not inundated with messages they have to respond to within a short time span.

#### Mobile Phone Logistics

Despite provisions to ensure wireless local number portability, some participants may switch cell numbers during the course of the study, particularly those using noncontracted, or pay-as-you-go, phones. Establishing a protocol for monitoring and updating participant contact information, documenting intervention interruption, and confirming functionality of new numbers is recommended. More specifically, proactively monitoring the failure to deliver messages to participants to prompt individual follow-up is recommended to limit the impact of intervention interruption.

Emerging evidence suggests that SMS may hold promise as a potential channel for delivering messages to effect short-term health behavior change and may help individuals manage chronic conditions [9, 10], although few studies have provided in depth descriptions on the technological implementation of an SMS-based intervention for chronic disease management and health promotion. In this paper, we provide a detailed description of our implementation so that subsequent programs can use or adapt our methods to implement similar SMS-based interventions, benefitting from our lessons learned and study participants' perspectives on the use of text messaging to support achieving better health outcomes.

#### Acknowledgments

This project was funded under contract no. HHSA 290-2006-00001-7 from the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ), U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. The opinions expressed in this document are those of the authors and do not reflect the official position of AHRQ or the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- 1. Hall HI, Song R, Rhodes P, Prejean J, An Q, Lee LM, HIV Incidence Surveillance Group. Estimation of HIV incidence in the United States. JAMA 2008 Aug 6;300(5):520-529 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.300.5.520] [Medline: 18677024]
- 2. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HIV/AIDS in the United States. 2010 URL: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/resources/</u> <u>factsheets/us.htm</u> [accessed 2011-10-31] [WebCite Cache ID 62qhGnkuu]
- Mocroft A, Ledergerber B, Katlama C, Kirk O, Reiss P, d'Arminio Monforte A, EuroSIDA study group. Decline in the AIDS and death rates in the EuroSIDA study: an observational study. Lancet 2003 Jul 5;362(9377):22-29. [Medline: 12853195]
- 4. Chu C, Selwyn PA. An epidemic in evolution: the need for new models of HIV care in the chronic disease era. J Urban Health 2011 Jun;88(3):556-566 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11524-011-9552-y] [Medline: 21360244]
- Crepaz N, Lyles CM, Wolitski RJ, Passin WF, Rama SM, Herbst JH, HIV/AIDS Prevention Research Synthesis (PRS) Team. Do prevention interventions reduce HIV risk behaviours among people living with HIV? A meta-analytic review of controlled trials. AIDS 2006 Jan 9;20(2):143-157. [doi: 10.1097/01.aids.0000196166.48518.a0] [Medline: 16511407]
- Rainie L. Report: Internet, broadband, and cell phone statistics. Washington, DC: Pew Internet & American Life Project 2010 URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/~/media//Files/Reports/2010/PIP\_December09\_update.pdf</u> [accessed 2012-11-08] [WebCite Cache ID 6C1zWZc5m]
- Lenhart A, Purcell K, Smith A, Zickuhr K. Social Media and Young Adults. Washington, DC: Pew Internet & American Life Project 2010 URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/Reports/2010/Social-Media-and-Young-Adults.aspx</u> [accessed 2011-10-31] [WebCite Cache ID 62qhfgayW]
- 8. CTIA, The Wireless Association. U.S. Wireless Quick Facts. 2010 URL: <u>http://www.ctia.org/media/industry\_info/index.cfm/</u> <u>AID/10323</u> [accessed 2011-11-01] [WebCite Cache ID 62sB5mGU9]

- 9. Fjeldsoe BS, Marshall AL, Miller YD. Behavior change interventions delivered by mobile telephone short-message service. Am J Prev Med 2009 Feb;36(2):165-173. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2008.09.040] [Medline: 19135907]
- Cole-Lewis H, Kershaw T. Text messaging as a tool for behavior change in disease prevention and management. Epidemiol Rev 2010 Apr;32(1):56-69 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/epirev/mxq004] [Medline: 20354039]
- 11. Coomes CM, Lewis MA, Uhrig JD, Furberg RD, Harris JL, Bann CM. Beyond reminders: a conceptual framework for using short message service to promote prevention and improve healthcare quality and clinical outcomes for people living with HIV. AIDS Care 2012;24(3):348-357. [doi: 10.1080/09540121.2011.608421] [Medline: 21933036]
- 12. Uhrig J, Eroglu D, Bann C, Wasserman JL, Guenther-Grey C. Systematic formative research to develop HIV prevention messages for people living with HIV. Soc. Marketing Q 2010;16(3):23-59 [FREE Full text]
- Cornelius JB, St Lawrence JS. Receptivity of African American adolescents to an HIV-prevention curriculum enhanced by text messaging. J Spec Pediatr Nurs 2009 Apr;14(2):123-131. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1744-6155.2009.00185.x</u>] [Medline: <u>19356206</u>]
- Uhrig JD, Lewis MA, Bann CM, Harris JL, Furberg RD, Coomes CM, et al. Addressing HIV knowledge, risk reduction, social support, and patient involvement using SMS: results of a proof-of-concept study. J Health Commun 2012;17 Suppl 1:128-145. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2011.649156] [Medline: 22548606]
- 15. Lewis MA, Uhrig JD, Bann CM, Harris JL, Furberg RD, Coomes C, et al. Tailored Text Messaging Intervention for HIV Adherence: A Proof-of-Concept Study. Health Psychol 2012 Apr 30. [doi: 10.1037/a0028109] [Medline: 22545972]
- 16. Harris JL, Furberg RD, Martin N, Kuhns LM, Lewis MA, Coomes C, et al. Implementing an SMS-Based Intervention for Persons Living with HIV. Journal of Public Health Management & Practice 2013 Feb 01 (forthcoming).

#### Abbreviations

HBHC/HB: Howard Brown Health Center HIV: human immunodeficiency virus IRB: Institutional Review Board MSM: men who have sex with men SMS: short message service

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 29.11.11; peer-reviewed by P Krebs, I Simeonov, N Dowshen; comments to author 11.01.12; revised version received 20.08.12; accepted 20.08.12; published 16.11.12.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Furberg RD, Uhrig JD, Bann CM, Lewis MA, Harris JL, Williams P, Coomes C, Martin N, Kuhns L Technical Implementation of a Multi-Component, Text Message–Based Intervention for Persons Living with HIV JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e17 URL: http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e17/ doi:10.2196/resprot.2017 PMID:23612237

©Robert D Furberg, Jennifer D Uhrig, Carla M Bann, Megan A Lewis, Jennie L Harris, Peyton Williams, Curtis Coomes, Nicole Martin, Lisa Kuhns. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 16.11.2012. This is open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License an (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



## **Original Paper**

# Telemedicine Consultations: An Alternative Model to Increase Access to Diabetes Specialist Care in Underserved Rural Communities

Frederico G Toledo<sup>1</sup>, MD; Amy Triola<sup>2</sup>, RN, BSN, MBA; Kristine Ruppert<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Linda M Siminerio<sup>1</sup>, RN, PhD, CDE

<sup>2</sup>University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Frederico G Toledo, MD Div. of Endocrinology and Metabolism Dept. of Medicine University of Pittsburgh 3459 Fifth Ave. MUH 810NW Pittsburgh, PA, 15213 United States Phone: 1 412 692 2848 Fax: 1 412 692 2165 Email: toledofs@upmc.edu

# Abstract

**Background:** Diabetes care in rural communities often suffers because of physician shortages. When patients need to see an endocrinologist, long-distance travel to urban centers can constitute a barrier to care.

**Objective:** To address this problem, we tested whether diabetes telemedicine consultations would be acceptable to rural patients and their primary care providers as an alternative care model.

**Methods:** Twenty-five patients with diabetes in a rural, medically underserved community received glycemic management recommendations via videoconferencing-based teleconsultation with an endocrinologist at an urban center. At the rural site, a nurse trained in diabetes care assisted with the visits. Outcomes measured were patient and primary care provider satisfaction (measured by structured questionnaires) and glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c) levels.

**Results:** Patients and providers uniformly reported high levels of satisfaction and acceptability. Mean HbA1c decreased from 9.6% to 8.5% (P < .001).

**Conclusions:** Teleconsultations are well accepted by users (patients and primary care physicians) and glycemic control seems to improve in patients with diabetes. This new model of care could potentially expand access to specialist care in isolated rural communities.

(JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e14) doi:10.2196/resprot.2235

#### KEYWORDS

Rural; teleconsultation; telemedicine; diabetes

# Introduction

Rural communities in the United States suffer from a disproportionate burden of diabetes and lower quality of diabetes care than metropolitan areas [1-3]. In medically underserved rural communities, primary care providers who care for challenging cases of poorly controlled diabetes may encounter

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e14/

difficulties in supporting optimal diabetes care and, thus, meeting quality of care standards. Shortages of endocrinologists can complicate this problem [4]. Patients in isolated rural areas often need to travel long distances to establish care with an endocrinologist, often located in urban areas. The travel time and expense associated with transportation can be major barriers to medical care. Therefore, in order to improve the quality of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Div. of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Dept. of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Graduate School of Public Heatlh, Dept. of Epidemiology, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

diabetes care in rural, medically underserved communities, newer models of care should take into account the problem of physical separation between specialist provider and patient.

The emerging field of telemedicine has great potential to mitigate this problem by obviating geographical barriers to care. Advances in videoconferencing now make it possible to extend diabetes expertise to rural communities, thus helping patients and primary care providers. However, diabetes mellitus has its own complexities of care requiring comprehensive patient education, especially in regards to starting and adjusting insulin therapy, education on glucose monitoring, and self-management skills. Implementation of these types of recommendations is pragmatically more difficult via videoconferencing when compared to implementation in-person at the office. Therefore, we developed a new model of care that includes teleconsultations provided by a remotely located endocrinologist combined with diabetes self-management education provided locally at the rural site by a nurse trained in diabetes care. This is a new model and acceptability has not been demonstrated yet. To our knowledge, previous studies of telemedicine have not specifically combined diabetes advice by an endocrinologist with diabetes education provided locally at the rural office. Furthermore, the acceptability of this model must be specifically demonstrated in rural communities, which have their own particular demographics and barriers to care. Likewise, acceptability by primary care providers in rural areas must be demonstrated to better understand implications for future referrals. Acceptability studies are needed before resources are large-scale programs committed to or expanding telecommunications infrastructure. To address these gaps, we conducted a study in an isolated rural community to demonstrate the acceptability of a novel diabetes teleconsultation model to optimize glycemia.

# Methods

#### Recruitment

Protocols were approved by the University of Pittsburgh Institutional Review Board. Research participants gave written informed consent. Patients were recruited between July and October 2009. Patients (n = 25) and primary care providers (n = 7) were in a rural, medically underserved community in Pennsylvania located approximately 95 miles from the nearest endocrinology referral center. Seven primary care providers were contacted and agreed to participate, receiving no participation incentives or compensation to avoid bias. Primary care providers were notified of the study and invited to refer patients with diabetes in whom previous attempts to improve glycemic control had failed under their care. Primary care providers referred the patient participants to the study team nurse who scheduled a subsequent appointment for teleconsultation.

#### **Procedures and Analysis**

Each participant had a one-time teleconsultation (45 minutes) aimed at troubleshooting hyperglycemia. The teleconsultation videoconferencing equipment used was the Polycom HDX 4002 system (20-inch high-definition widescreen operating at 720 lines/progressive scan) located in an endocrinology office in urban Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania (hub), and in a rural clinic office (rural site). These sites were connected via a dedicated broadband Internet connection. Embedded Advanced Encryption Standard (AES) Federal Information Processing Standard (FIPS) 197, H.235v3 and H.233/234 encryption was used to protect the confidentially of the data transmission.

An endocrinologist (hub) and diabetes nurse (rural site) operated the videoconferencing equipment. The trained diabetes nurse worked as a liaison during the visit, ensuring coordination of care between sites. Teleconsultations included a medical interview and laboratory data review, followed by treatment recommendations carried out with the assistance of the nurse. Recommendations regarding the management plan (medication adjustments, lifestyle modification, self-monitoring, and laboratory tests) were forwarded to the primary care providers by letter. Glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c) measurements were obtained from chart review. Patient and provider program satisfaction questionnaires adapted from validated satisfaction surveys in the literature [5,6]. Answers were graded on a Likert scale.

# Results

#### Recruitment

Mean patient age was 56 years (range 35-80). Most (24/25, 96%) had Type 2 diabetes. Mean disease duration was 16 years (range 1 month to 41 years). All patients (25/25, 100%) were white or Caucasian and 56% (14/25) were women. Although more than half of patients (14/25, 56%) had previously received a recommendation to consult with an endocrinologist, only 24% (6/25) had followed up on that recommendation, reflecting local underutilization of specialists. The distance between hub and rural sites was approximately 95 miles by car travel, but only 40% (10/25) of respondents were willing to travel that distance, demonstrating that travel was a barrier to care in the targeted population.

#### Outcomes

Patient satisfaction responses reflected uniform enthusiasm on several dimensions tested (Table 1). There were no instances of equipment or data transmission malfunction during a total of 18.8 hours of videoconferencing. Primary care provider satisfaction also was notably positive. Answers about coordination of care and the clinical value of consults were generally consistent when questions were asked in different ways.

Toledo et al

Table 1. Patient and provider satisfaction with diabetes teleconsultations.

Questions			Responses
Access to care	, n (%)		
	Have you ever been told that you should see an end	locrinologist (diabetes specialist)?	
		Yes	14 (56%)
		No	11 (44%)
	Have you ever had a visit with an endocrinologist	?	
		Yes	6 (24%)
		No	19 (76%)
	If your doctor asked you to see an endocrinologist travel to see the specialist?	t, how far would you be willing to	
		Unable to travel	1 (4%)
		1-10 miles	7 (28%)
		10-50 miles	7 (28%)
		"Distance does not matter to me"	10 (40%)
Patient satisfa	ction, median (interquartile range) <sup>a</sup>		
	How satisfied were you with your endocrinologist vi example, were you able to communicate well and asl	sit through videoconferencing, for k questions during this visit?	6 (6-6)
	How satisfied were you with the videoconference me ogist?	thod for a visit with the endocrinol-	6 (4-6)
	How satisfied were you with the technology of video sound and picture clear?	conferencing, for example, was the	6 (6-6)
	Would you recommend this form of treatment to son	neone else with diabetes?	6 (6-6)
	Would you recommend this form of treatment for oth	her specialty care services?	6 (6-6)
Primary care	provider satisfaction, median (interquartile range) $^{\mathbf{a}}$		
	How would you rate your overall satisfaction with th	e diabetes telemedicine program?	5 (4-6)
	I value the information from the study endocrinologi	st	5 (5-6)
	This telemedicine service affords increased access to	patient referrals to specialty areas	5 (5-6)
	My patients with diabetes appreciate that I can also of	offer specialty services	5 (3-6)
	The endocrinologist and I were able to effectively con	nmunicate a treatment plan together	5 (4-6)
	I received timely information from the endocrinologi	ist	6 (4-6)
	Communication was passed between specialist and n	ny office efficiently	6 (3-6)
	I was able to know my patients' needs in the context	of their diabetes	5 (4-6)
	I was assured that I would provide continuity of care	to my patients with diabetes	6 (5-6)
	Our roles in the management of the patient were clea	ar to me	5 (4-6)
	How likely would you be to use this program again?		5 (4-6)
	Would you recommend this form of program to othe	r colleagues?	5 (4-6)
	Would you recommend this form of treatment for oth	her specialty care services?	5 (4-6)

<sup>a</sup> Likert score (range 0-6): 0 = very dissatisfied/do not recommend/highly disagree; 3 = neutral; and 6 = very satisfied/definitely recommend/highly agree.

Measurements of HbA1c after the teleconsultations (median 18 weeks) were available for 16 participants. In the other 9 participants, follow-up measurements were not available before the study was closed. At baseline, no participant (0/16) had an HbA1c < 7.0%, and 88% (14/16) had HbA1c  $\geq$  8.0% reflecting very poor glycemic control. After the teleconsultations, the

proportion of patients with HbA1c  $\ge 8.0\%$  substantially decreased from 88% to 50% (P = .03, McNemar test). Mean HbA1c improved from  $9.6 \pm 0.4\%$  to  $8.5 \pm 0.4\%$  (P < .001, paired *t* test). Three-quarters of patients (75%, 12/16) experienced an absolute decrease in HbA1c of at least 0.5% from baseline.

XSL•FO RenderX

# Discussion

#### **Main Findings**

There is a disparity in diabetes care between rural and urban areas in the United States [1-3]. Although this disparity has several causes, access to physician care is an important contributor. Limited access to specialists is especially problematic [4]. Teleconsultations offer the potential to enhance the availability of diabetologist services to these communities. However, evidence that teleconsultations are well received by patients and providers in rural communities has not been demonstrated for diabetes management, which has its own complexities of care. Acceptability of this technology and care model is critical in the increasingly patient-centered environment where satisfaction and accountability take on greater importance.

Our findings demonstrate that videoconferencing-based teleconsultations specifically tailored to diabetes care are well received by both patients and primary care providers in a rural community. The direct implication of this finding is that broader adoption of this model is unlikely to be constrained by rejection of videoconferencing technology in the medical office, or primary care provider's dissatisfaction with coordinated care delivered remotely. However, since this study targeted an underserved community, it is possible that responses were influenced by the fact that teleconsultations delivered previously unavailable care. Although such potential bias cannot be ruled out, it does not detract from the value of teleconsultations as an acceptable means of delivering care to rural communities.

How generalizable are the results to other rural communities? In our sample, age and gender was representative of typical patients with Type 2 diabetes in rural communities. Reluctance and/or inability to travel was highly prevalent, supporting generalization to other rural communities. However, race was homogenous and representative of only certain US rural populations. The number of rural primary care providers in the study was modest, but not surprising since the study targeted a rural community with physician shortages; therefore, this number is typical and reflective of such shortages. In terms of referral patterns, it is possible that primary care providers might have unconsciously referred those patients who were more open-minded about teleconsultations. Nevertheless, providers make decisions about referrals based on the likelihood patients will follow their referral recommendations; therefore, our study replicates real-world clinical referral patterns.

Although this study focused primarily on satisfaction, as an exploratory analysis we thought it would be worthwhile to examine whether teleconsultations had an influence on HbA1c levels. It is difficult to answer this question with absolute certainty because there was no control group. Despite this limitation, the improvements in HbA1c in the limited dataset were quite substantial and agree with the hypothesis that teleconsultations can deliver clinically meaningful results. One limitation in our findings is that follow-up HbA1c was not available for all participants before study closure. However, the missing data should not be construed as a sign of lack of satisfaction, since suboptimal adherence to frequent testing is

also affected by barriers to care. Patients in rural communities often face a number of challenges in this regard. In fact, during teleconsultation visits, participants reported economic and transportation challenges to adhere to frequent testing and medical appointments.

#### **Comparison With Other Work**

Despite the increasing attention on diabetes in our current health care environment, to our knowledge the only study examining specialist diabetes care delivered through video teleconsultation is the Informatics for Diabetes and Education Telemedicine (IDEATel) study [7]. The overall high satisfaction observed in our study is consistent with the IDEATel study, which examined a related, but different, model of telemedicine services offered by nurse case managers to patients with diabetes in urban and upstate New York. Differences between the type of telemedicine services in IDEATel and those in our study make direct comparisons inappropriate. Nonetheless, our findings complement the IDEATel study in supporting the notion that telemedicine technologies are well accepted in the context of diabetes care. Regrettably, at the time of our study, a validated questionnaire specific to diabetes telemedicine was unavailable and our sample size limited our ability to perform sound reliability testing on our survey. However, subsequent to our study, a diabetes telemedicine survey has been validated and our questions are consistent with that survey [7].

#### **Conclusions and Future Directions**

In summary, we have demonstrated that a new model combining teleconsultations by an endocrinologist and local diabetes education supported by a nurse offer a potential solution to address the needs of diabetes care expertise often lacking in rural communities. Patients and primary care providers express a high degree of satisfaction, implying that adoption of the model is unlikely to be hampered by rejection of technology in the medical office or the approach by which services are provided. However, widespread adoption of this model will require demonstration of an unequivocal impact on glycemic control and barriers to funding will need to be addressed. There is a cost to implement the telecommunication infrastructure. However, with the shortage of endocrinologists in the United States [8], the costs may be lower than those needed to attract recruitment of endocrinologists to rural communities. Ultimately, the success of teleconsultations will depend on adequate compensation systems that would motivate physicians to provide teleconsultation services. Since this study began, some states and insurers have recognized the value of telemedicine and are beginning to reimburse for teleconsultations. For instance, the Pennsylvania Medical Assistance program revisited and expanded payment to include all physician specialists. They also revised the type of telecommunications technology that can be used to provide telemedicine consultation, specifically videoconferencing. Hopefully, compensation mechanisms like these will be further developed and spark broader implementation of teleconsultations as an alternative means of delivering diabetes specialty care to underserved communities.



#### Acknowledgments

We would like to express our gratitude to Soni Elliott and Deb Tilves (University of Pittsburgh) for assistance with coordination of the study, and Justin Kanter (University of Pittsburgh Medical Center) for administrative support. This material is based on research sponsored by the United States Army Medical Research Acquisition Activity, 820 Chandler Street, Fort Detrick, MD 21702-5014 under agreement number W81XWH-07-2-0080. The views and conclusions contained herein are those of the authors and should not be interpreted as necessarily representing the official policies or endorsements, either expressed or implied, of the United States Government.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

FGT and LMS designed the study, researched data, and wrote the manuscript. KR provided statistical support and reviewed/edited the manuscript. AT contributed to discussion, reviewed, and edited the manuscript.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. US Department of Health and Human Services. 2012. National Healthcare Quality Report, 2010. Chapter 2. Effectiveness URL: <u>http://www.ahrq.gov/qual/nhqr10/Chap2.htm</u> [accessed 2012-06-22] [WebCite Cache ID 68cHR28pt]
- Lutfiyya MN, McCullough JE, Mitchell L, Dean LS, Lipsky MS. Adequacy of diabetes care for older U.S. rural adults: a cross-sectional population based study using 2009 BRFSS data. BMC Public Health 2011;11:940 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-11-940] [Medline: 22177279]
- 3. Lutfiyya MN, Patel YR, Steele JB, Tetteh BS, Chang L, Aguero C, Lipsky MS: Are there disparities in diabetes care? A comparison of care received by US rural and non-rural adults with diabetes. Are there disparities in diabetes care? A comparison of care received by US rural and nonrural adults with diabetes. Primary Health Care Research & Development 2009;10:320-331. [doi: 10.1017/S146342360999017X]
- 4. Stewart AF. The United States endocrinology workforce: a supply-demand mismatch. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2008 Apr;93(4):1164-1166 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1210/jc.2007-1920] [Medline: 18230655]
- 5. Bradley C. Diabetes treatment satisfaction questionnaire. In: Bradley C, editor. Handbook of Psychology Diabetes: A Guide to Psychological Measurement in Diabetes Research Practice. Amsterdam, The Netherlands: Hardwood Academic Publishers; 1994:111-132.
- 6. Montori VM, Tweedy DA, Vogelsang DA, Schryver PG, Naessens JM, Smith SA. Performance of the provider satisfaction inventory to measure provider satisfaction with diabetes care. Endocr Pract 2002;8(3):191-198. [Medline: <u>12113631</u>]
- Bakken S, Grullon-Figueroa L, Izquierdo R, Lee NJ, Morin P, Palmas W, IDEATel Consortium. Development, validation, and use of English and Spanish versions of the telemedicine satisfaction and usefulness questionnaire. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2006;13(6):660-667 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1197/jamia.M2146] [Medline: 16929036]
- 8. Toledo FG, Stewart AF. The academic and clinical endocrinology physician workforce in the U.S. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011 Apr;96(4):942-944 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-0516] [Medline: 21474691]

#### Abbreviations

AES: Advanced Encryption Standard FIPS: Federal Information Processing Standard HbA1c: glycosylated hemoglobin IDEATel: Informatics for Diabetes and Education Telemedicine

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 22.06.12; peer-reviewed by L Lafrado, C Caceres, S Dang; comments to author 15.07.12; revised version received 07.08.12; accepted 04.10.12; published 07.11.12.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Toledo FG, Triola A, Ruppert K, Siminerio LM Telemedicine Consultations: An Alternative Model to Increase Access to Diabetes Specialist Care in Underserved Rural Communities JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e14 URL: http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e14/ doi:10.2196/resprot.2235 PMID:23612044

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e14/

©Frederico G. Toledo, Amy Triola, Kristine Ruppert, Linda M. Siminerio. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 07.11.2012. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



## **Original Paper**

# Computer-Assisted School-Based Asthma Management: A Pilot Study

Renée JG Arnold<sup>1,2\*</sup>, PharmD; Jeanette A Stingone<sup>3\*</sup>, MPH; Luz Claudio<sup>4\*</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Mount Sinai School of Medicine, Preventive Medicine, New York, NY, United States

<sup>2</sup>Arnold Consultancy & Technology LLC, New York, NY, United States

<sup>3</sup>University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, Gillings School of Global Public Health, Department of Epidemiology, CB#7435, Chapel Hill, NC, United States

<sup>4</sup>Mount Sinai School of Medicine, One Gustave Levy Place, New York, NY, United States

<sup>\*</sup>all authors contributed equally

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Renée JG Arnold, PharmD Arnold Consultancy & Technology LLC 15 West 72nd St. - 23rd Floor New York, NY, 10023-3458 United States Phone: 1 9179453267 Fax: 1 2127243219 Email: <u>Renee.Arnold@mssm.edu</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** The high prevalence of asthma among children continues to be a major public health issue. In particular, low-income African-American and Hispanic children often receive asthma care in the emergency department and lack access to continuity of care.

**Objective:** The aim of the current study was to test the feasibility of implementing a computerized program for empowering low-income children with asthma to manage their own disease. This pilot program consisted of a guided, personalized, Web-based computer program as the main component of a school-based asthma intervention.

**Methods:** The Automated Live E-Health Response Tracking System (ALERTS), a computer-assisted, Web-based tracking program, was tested for implementation in a school in East Harlem, New York. The program required children with asthma, assisted by trained researchers, to routinely measure their peak flow meter readings and answer a symptom questionnaire. The program provided individualized feedback on their disease status based on peak flow meter input. The computer program sent reports to the child's physician and the nurse practitioner at the on-site school health center. The children were also encouraged to bring the reports home to their parents. A pre/post study design was employed such that each participant acted as his/her own control. Comparisons of preintervention and postintervention outcomes were calculated using the paired *t*-test and the McNemar test for dichotomous data.

**Results:** Twenty-four children (6 to 12 years) participated in the program over 2 to 15 months. Improvements in health outcomes showed the greatest significance among the group of participants who were enrolled for 8 months or longer. Statistically significant improvements were seen in the average physical health score of the children (from 65.64 preintervention to 76.28 postintervention, P = .045). There was a significant decrease in the number of participants experiencing wheezing episodes (n = 9 to n = 2, P = .03), and in the average number of wheezing episodes per child (1.86 to 0.43, P = .02). Although not statistically significant, decreases were also seen in the number of children experiencing an asthma attack and in the average number of asthma attacks among participants. There was also a significant decrease in the average number of visits to doctors' offices or clinics (1.23 to 0.38, P = .04). There were no overnight hospitalizations in the two-week period following the end of the pilot program, a nonsignificant reduction from an average of 0.21 per child.

**Conclusion:** This individualized, computer-assisted intervention resulted in improvements in some health outcomes among low-income children in an urban, public school-based setting. Consistent peak flow meter self-measurements, management of medication usage, and a computerized approach to symptom tracking resulted in fewer asthma exacerbations and improved overall physical health among this pediatric population with asthma.

(JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e15) doi:10.2196/resprot.1958

#### **KEYWORDS**

Asthma; disease management; Internet; child; underserved; Asthma Action Plan; outcomes; urban; low-income

#### Introduction

The high prevalence of asthma among children continues to be a major public health issue in the United States and it has both social and economic impacts [1-4]. East Harlem is a low-income, predominantly African-American and Hispanic community in New York City with one of the highest rates of asthma hospitalizations in the United States, measured at 27.6% in 2006 [5-7]. Previous research has shown that people living in low-income urban settings, such as those living in East Harlem, often receive asthma care in the emergency department, have the highest rates of hospital admission, lack access to follow-up medical care, do not receive education about their disease, and lack information to improve their self-management skills [7-13].

Researchers have determined that in order to improve health outcomes it is key to ensure that patients are educated about self-management of asthma and asthma attacks [14]. One potential pathway to reducing the burden of asthma in children is through the use of school-based programs. Children spend the majority of their day at school and are accustomed to receiving health education in this setting. Although Oruwariye et al [15] determined that school-based health centers often provided inadequate asthma care, other studies have concluded that health centers within elementary schools can produce a reduction in the rate of hospitalization and a slight decrease in absenteeism in children with asthma [16]. Moreover, school-based asthma programs have been shown to be effective regardless of whether they have a school-based health center [17-23]. Nonetheless, targeted interventions implemented in conjunction with school-based health centers could take advantage of existing health-based infrastructures while providing a personalized level of asthma education and care that could help increase children's self-management skills. A meta-analysis examining 32 educational interventions for self-management of asthma in children concluded that programs that promote self-management in the medical care of children with asthma may greatly improve their health outcomes. The analysis also showed that programs that incorporated peak flow measurements as a main component of the intervention and programs that were individually tailored to the patient (vs addressed to groups) showed the greatest success in reducing disease morbidity [24].

Some interventions in urban communities, such as East Harlem, have been implemented in conjunction with school-based health clinics. Results have been mixed, sometimes even within the same study, with some studies showing improvement in health outcomes, morbidity, and health care utilization (eg, fewer hospitalizations, emergency department visits, and follow-up visits for asthma) [25-29]. Some of the same studies have also shown positive changes in levels of asthma knowledge, self-management skills, and use of peak flow meters and inhalers, but little to no improvement in clinical outcomes [26,28,29].

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e15/

The use of computers as a method to improve asthma self-management skills is a relatively new technique. It has proven successful in other studies helping children adhere to prescribed medication plans and in reducing the number of asthma exacerbations they experience, although not all of these interventions were school-based [28,30-35]. Computer-assisted asthma management programs have the potential to provide children with individualized, evidence-based feedback on their disease, including measurements of symptom severity and frequency, and can provide actual data on medication usage rather than leaving children and parents to rely on perceived or recalled medication usage information [30, 36]. We implemented

a computer-assisted, Web-based, tracking pilot program that required children with asthma to routinely provide their peak flow meter readings. The program provided individualized, tailored feedback on their disease status based on this input.

#### Aim

The aim of the current study was to test the feasibility of implementing a computerized program for empowering children with asthma living in a low-income, urban setting to manage their own disease. This pilot study used a guided, personalized, Web-based computer program as the main component of a school-based asthma intervention.

# Methods

#### **Participants**

The computer-assisted asthma management pilot program was implemented in a public elementary school in East Harlem, New York. At the time the program began, the school had enrollment of 588 students (49.1% Hispanic and 46.6% African American) in prekindergarten through grade 6. More than 95% of students qualified for the free lunch program, a surrogate measure of low socioeconomic status [37]. The school houses a health center that operates during the day, evening, and on weekends for 12 months per year to provide comprehensive community health services, including routine preventive care, chronic disease management, and treatment for minor illnesses.

#### **Enrollment Process**

The study was reviewed and approved by the Mount Sinai School of Medicine Institutional Review Board, the Mount Sinai Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) Privacy Officer, and the New York City Department of Education's Institutional Review Board. Prior to implementing the intervention, a needs assessment was conducted in the school to quantify the magnitude of the asthma problem and to identify possible gaps in asthma management plans. A questionnaire that contained standardized items on demographics, indoor environmental factors, asthma diagnosis and symptoms, and the use and access to medical care and medications for asthma was developed and distributed. The questionnaire also included items on whether children had an asthma management plan and

what details were included in that plan. Questionnaires were provided in English and Spanish. Children were instructed on the importance of their participation and were asked to bring the questionnaires home to be completed by their parents or guardians. Teachers were also encouraged to maximize class response rates; classrooms with over 80% response rates were given gift certificates for school supplies.

The needs assessment had an overall response rate of 68% and identified 101 students within the school who had active asthma (defined as a physician's diagnosis of asthma and asthma symptoms in the previous 12 months). Among these children with active asthma, over 19% did not have an asthma management plan. Most (69.3%) of the parents of children with active asthma had not been given information on when to call the doctor to assist with their child's asthma. Most of the children with asthma (59.4%) had been treated at an emergency department for their asthma in the previous 12 months. Parents of children with asthma were contacted via telephone and invited to meet with the study coordinators in a face-to-face meeting at the school to discuss their child's potential participation in the study. If a parent voluntarily agreed to the child's participation, informed consent was obtained at this time, in either English or Spanish. A total of 24 children with asthma were enrolled in the pilot study.

Once students were enrolled in the program, their asthma control was classified according to the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI) guidelines using the patient/parent responses to a baseline questionnaire. The control level of the child's asthma determined how often the child would access the program each week. Students with "mild intermittent" or "mild persistent" asthma accessed the program once per week, whereas those classified as having "moderate persistent" asthma used the program three times per week. Participants with "severe" asthma were required to use the program daily. A pre/post study design was employed, such that each participant acted as his/her own control.

#### Symptom Questionnaire

After inputting peak flow meter readings into the computer program, students were prompted to answer a symptom questionnaire in addition to questions about medication usage and physician and emergency department visits that occurred since their previous input. The symptom assessment questionnaire included questions regarding the frequency of symptoms (ie, shortness of breath, cough, wheezing, tightness in the chest, difficulty sleeping, and limitations to physical activity). The children were also asked to complete weekly event questionnaires that included questions about the presence or absence of a persistent cold, frequency of use of a fast-acting (rescue) inhaler, use of inhaled and oral steroids, days of school missed, and visits to the physician, emergency department, or hospital. Medication use was assessed by showing pictures of various asthma medications and prompting children to point to the one they used.

#### **Outcomes Assessment and Data Analysis**

To evaluate the effectiveness of the intervention, parents of the student participants were asked to complete the Children's Health Survey for Asthma (CHSA) at two different time points: (1) before the program began, and (2) up to 3 weeks after their child's final day of participation in the program [38]. The program was implemented over the course of 2 school years, constituting 2 phases of enrollment. Parents were asked to complete a CHSA either at the end of each school year or at the end of their child's enrollment in the program, whichever came first. Parents were given a US \$20 incentive for completing the questionnaire. Children did not complete the CHSA.

The CHSA, developed and validated by the American Academy of Pediatrics, is a validated assessment questionnaire that contains questions about asthma symptoms, health care utilization, quality of life, physical activity, and family support; it has been used in numerous studies of pediatric asthma [38-40]. Numeric answers to questions in a Likert-scale format are compiled to create composite scales, ranging from 0-100, with higher scores indicating better outcomes. The five scales that can be computed from the questionnaire measure the physical health of the child, the activity level of the child, the activity level of the child's family, the emotional health of the child, and the emotional health of the child's family. The core items used to compute the physical health score are questions about symptoms due to asthma, such as tightness in the chest and wheezing, and symptoms due to use of asthma medicines, such as rapid heart rate and irritability. The core items used to compute the activity level scores are questions about how limited children were from participating in various activities, such as gym class and playing or running outside. Respondents were asked to answer questions about their children's health based on symptoms, health care utilization, and other outcomes that occurred during the 2 weeks prior to the day that respondents completed the questionnaire.

Outcomes data were analyzed using SPSS version 12 (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL, USA). Comparisons of preintervention and postintervention outcomes were calculated using the paired *t*-test and the McNemar test for dichotomous data.

#### Intervention

The Automated Live E-Health Response Tracking System (ALERTS) was developed as a computer-assisted, Web-based, symptom-tracking program that allows patients with chronic disease to monitor their symptoms while reinforcing key educational lessons. Although the program was available through both a toll-free phone number and the Internet, children accessed the program only via the Internet in this study. The web-based display showed a pediatric or adult patient interface, depending on the user's profile (age  $\leq 18$  years displayed a pediatric interface). Researchers trained each student individually on how to use the computer program. First, the researchers demonstrated the correct way to use a peak flow meter and then coached the children on their own technique. Once the children had learned the proper technique for peak flow measurement, the researchers instructed them on the use of the computer program. Users were issued a unique personal identification number (PIN) for confidentiality and used this PIN to log in to each session. A room within the school was designated to house the computers where children accessed the program and children were coached to use the program during

XSL•FO

their lunchtime. The computer program interface is shown in Figure 1.

In their first session, the researchers showed the children how to enter their unique PIN and password into the interface in order to access the program and then they supervised the children as they repeated the process. Once the program interface was loaded, children were encouraged to read the screens aloud and ask the researchers any questions as they completed the program tasks and answered symptom questions. In each subsequent session, students independently logged in to their saved information settings using their individual PINs, and then inputted their current peak flow meter readings under the supervision of research staff. Children were escorted from the cafeteria to measure their peak flow meter readings during their lunch periods. To maintain consistency in the readings, the program provided an input box to be checked to indicate whether the peak flow meter reading was taken in the morning (before noon) or afternoon.

Based on the daily peak flow meter input, the program provided evidence-based feedback regarding each child's symptom zone. Specifically, when peak flow meter readings were within 80% of the child's personal best peak flow meter reading, the program let the child know they were in the "green zone;" if within 50%-80% of the child's best, they were in the "yellow zone;" and when below 50%, they were in the "red zone." The program then instructed children on how to adjust their medication use or modify activities according to their prescribed Asthma Action Plans. If a child's peak flow meter reading was not in the green zone, a report was automatically generated and brought by the child to the school health center and to research staff in the nurse's office. If a child's peak flow meter reading was in the red zone, a member of the research team escorted the child to the school health center. Children were given small toys, pencils, stickers, and other school supplies as incentives for their participation in the program.

The system was designed to send reports to the child's physician and the nurse practitioner in the on-site school-based health center. The provider received two types of reports based on questionnaires the children completed: (1) the Asthma Intervention Report (AIR) Symptom Report (Figure 2), which tabulated patients' self-reported peak flow meter readings and affiliated symptom reporting, and (2) the AIR Event Report (not shown), which tracked weekly events related to asthma, such as urgent visits to physicians or clinics and hospitalizations. Children were given real-time, evidenced-based feedback regarding their symptom zone and what to do according to their prescribed Asthma Action Plan. Program staff showed the children their peak flow meter history and symptom reports periodically and the children were encouraged to review how their peak flow meter readings had changed over time. Children were asked to identify if their readings had been increasing, decreasing, or staying the same. At the end of the program, paper copies of the peak flow meter history and symptom history were given to the parents of all participating children to share with their child's health care provider.



Figure 2. Asthma Intervention Report (AIR) Symptom Report.

Patient Chart for,       , Phone:         Asthma Symptom Report Report Date: 05/24/2004         Patient Information       DOB         Patient Information       Telephone number         Patient name       Telephone number         Physician assessed severity       N/A         Severity from patient inputs       Severe (As of): 03/26/2004         Physician assessed severity       N/A         Severity from patient inputs       Severe (As of): 03/26/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Hor much of the time have you had shortness of breath due to asthma IN THE PAST DAY?       Simes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         A thor much of the time have you had shortness of breath due to asthma IN THE PAST DAY?       Simes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         A thor much of the time have you had difficulty of a strong IN THE PAST DAY?       Simes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         A thor much of the time have you had difficulty of a strong IN THE PAST DAY?       Simes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         S thore and to the time have you had difficulty of a strong IN THE PAST DAY?       Simes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         S thore and to the time have you had difficulty of a strong IN THE PAST DAY?       Simes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         S thore and the time have you had difficulty of a langut       Simes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         S thore and the time have you			- duoin oi	ian main rage rog e
Asthma Symptom Report Report Date: 05/24/2004         Patient Information         DOB         Talephone number         N/A       No appointment scher at this time         Physician assessed severity       n/a         Severe (As ot): 03/26/2004         Bitmen assessed severity       n/a         Severe (As ot): 03/26/2004         Bitmen assessed severity       n/a         Severe (As ot): 03/26/2004         Bitmen assessed severity       n/a         Information       N/A         Severe (As ot): 03/26/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Bitmes answered "ALL OF THE TIME" in past week:         L How much of the time have you had shortness of reach due to asthma IN THE PAST DAY?       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Severe (So ot): 03/26/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Severe (So ot): 03/26/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Severe (So ot): 03/20/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)	Patient Chart for	, Phone:		
Partient Information       PDDB         Partient name       N/A       PdD/Phone number       No appointment scheil at this time         Partient Clinicals       V/A       Not appointment scheil at this time         Partient Clinicals       V/A       No appointment scheil at this time         Partient Clinicals       V/A       V/A       No appointment scheil at this time         Partient Clinicals       V/A       Severe (As of): 0326/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Partient Scheid (As of): MITE PAST DAY?       Stimes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Phor much of the time have you had shortness of scheid (Mat to asthma IN THE PAST DAY?       Stimes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Phor much of the time have you had shortness of scheid (Mat to asthma IN THE PAST DAY?       Stimes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Phor much of the time have you had shortness of scheid (Mat to asthma IN THE PAST DAY?       Stimes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Phor much of the time have you had shortness of scheid (Mat to asthma IN THE PAST DAY?       Stimes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Stimen NTHE PAST DAY?       Stimes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Stimen NTHE PAST DAY?       Stimes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Stimen NTHE PAST DAY?       Stimes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Stimas (D5/17/2004, 05/21/2004)       Stimes (05/17/2004, 0		Asthma Report Da	a Symptom Report ate: 05/24/2004	
Patient name         DOB           Patient name         Telephone number         No appointment scher           Projection assessed severity         No'A         No'A appointment scher           Projection assessed severity         n/a         Severe (As 0): 03/26/2004           Severety from patient inputs         Severe (As 0): 03/26/2004         Severe (As 0): 03/26/2004           How much of the time have you had shortness of each due to astima IN THE PAST DAY?         Simes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)           How much of the time have you had difficulty astima (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Simes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)           How much of the time have you had difficulty astima (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Simes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)           How much of the time have you had difficulty astima (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Simes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)           How much of the time have you had difficulty astima (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Simes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)           How much of the time have you had difficulty astima (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Simes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)           How much of the time have you had difficulty astima (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Simes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)           How much of the time have you had difficulty astima (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Simes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004,	Patient Information			
Patient name         Telephone number         No. appointment scher           trining         N/A         No. appointment date         No. appointment scher           Patient Clinicals         //A         Severe (As of): 03/26/2004         Severe (As of): 03/26/2004           Strings answered "ALL OF THE TIME" in past week:         Severe (As of): 03/26/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Simes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)           How much of the time have you had shortness of reath due to astima IN THE PAST DAY?         Simes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)           How much of the time have you had telephone wathor ast nuble failing to sleep woulh ad utificatives in a NTHE PAST DAY?         Simes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)           How much of the time have you had difficulty leeping (such as trouble failing to sleep wathor ast nuble failing to sleep the ast nuble fail	PID		DOB	
Imail         N/A         Next appointment date         No appointment sched at this time           Patient Clinicals         //a           Physician assessed sevent/y         n/a           Recently from patient inputs         Severe (As of): 03/26/2004           The sense answered "ALL OF THE TIME" in past weeks:         Severe (As of): 03/26/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)           How much of the time have you had shortness of reath due to astima IN THE PAST DAY?         A times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)           How much of the time have you had wheezing due a stima IN THE PAST DAY?         A times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)           How much of the time have you had difficutly leeping feuch as trouble Talling to sleep with ad wheezing due a stima IN THE PAST DAY?         A times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)           How much of the time have you had difficutly leeping feuch as trouble Talling to sleep with ad wheezing due to a stima IN THE PAST DAY?         A times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)           How much of the time have you had difficutly leeping feuch IT PAST DAY?         A times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)           How much of the time have you had difficutly leeping feuch IT PAST DAY?         A times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)           How much of the time have you had weezing due to a stima IN THE PAST DAY?         A times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)           Store 200         IT = DAST DAY?         IT = DAST DAY?           FM m	atient name	a deserved and the	Telephone number	10000
Partient Clinicals Physician assessed severity Physician assessed physician	imail	N/A	Next appointment date	No appointment schedule at this time
thysician assessed sevenity       n/a         iewenity from patient inputs       Severe (As of): 03/26/2004         itimes answered "ALL OF THE TIME" in past week:       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had tightness in the chest due to asthma IN THE PAST DAY?       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had tightness in the chest due to asthma IN THE PAST DAY?       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had tightness in hight coughing or short of breath) due to asthma IN THE PAST DAY?       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had difficulty teaching after playing outside or in gym class       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had difficulty teat ing after playing outside or in gym class       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had difficulty teat ing after playing outside or in gym class       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Stimes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Stimes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Stimes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Stimes (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Stimes	atient Clinicals			
everity from patient inputs       Severe (As of): 03/26/2004         times answered "ALL OF THE TIME" in past week:	hysician assessed seve	rity	n/a	
times answered "ALL OF THE TIME" in past week: How much of the time have you had shorness of reath due to asthma IN THE PAST DAY? How much of the time have you had difficulty asthma IN THE PAST DAY? How much of the time have you had difficulty asthma IN THE PAST DAY? How much of the time have you had difficulty asthma IN THE PAST DAY? How much of the time have you had difficulty asthma IN THE PAST DAY? How much of the time have you had difficulty asthma IN THE PAST DAY? How much of the time have you had difficulty asthma IN THE PAST DAY? How much of the time have you had difficulty asthma IN THE PAST DAY? How much of the time have you had difficulty asthma IN THE PAST DAY? How much of the time have you had difficulty asthma IN THE PAST DAY? How much of the time have you had difficulty asthma IN THE PAST DAY? How much of the time have you had difficulty asthma IN THE PAST DAY? FM Monitoring History (Data Input) Unvey Date Personal Best (L/min) 5/07/2004 220 5/12/2004 220 5/12/2004 220 5/12/2004 220 100 5/12/2004 290 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 1	everity from patient input	s	Severe (As of): 03/26/2004	
How much of the time have you had shortness of reath due to asthma IN THE PAST DAY?       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had <b>dighmess</b> in a chest due to asthma IN THE PAST DAY?       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had <b>difficulty</b> 3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had <b>difficulty</b> 3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had <b>difficulty</b> 3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had <b>difficulty</b> 3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had <b>difficulty</b> 3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had <b>difficulty</b> 3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had <b>difficulty</b> 3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had <b>difficulty</b> 3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had <b>difficulty</b> 3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had <b>difficulty</b> 3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had <b>difficulty</b> 3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         FM Monitoring History (Data Input)       14         Strup 1	times answered "ALL O	F THE TIME" in past week:		
How much of the time have you had vightness in a chest due to asthma IN THE PAST DAY?       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had vietezing due to the night coughing or short of breath) due to sthma IN THE PAST DAY?       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had vietezing due to the night coughing or short of breath) due to sthma IN THE PAST DAY?       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had vietezing due to sthma IN THE PAST DAY?       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had vietezing due to sthma IN THE PAST DAY?       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had vietezing due to sthma IN THE PAST DAY?       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         FM Monitoring History (Data Input)       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         File Yanza (Data Input)       200         File	. How much of the time f reath due to asthma IN	nave you had shortness of THE PAST DAY?	3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19	/2004, 05/21/2004)
How much of the time have you had wheezing due a sthma IN THE PAST DAY? How much of the time have you had cough due to sthma IN THE PAST DAY? How much of the time have you had difficulty leeping (such as trouble falling to sleep, waking in the night coughing or short of breath) due to sthma IN THE PAST DAY? How much of the time have you had difficulty reating after playing outside or in gym class ue to asthma IN THE PAST DAY? FM Monitoring History (Data Input) FW Monitoring History (Data Input) FM Monitoring Infigure Participation FM Participation FM Monitoring Infigure Parting Participation FM Monito	. How much of the time h he chest due to asthma	nave you had tightness in IN THE PAST DAY?	3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19	/2004, 05/21/2004)
How much of the time have you had cough due to sthma IN THE PAST DAY?       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had difficulty leeping (such as trouble falling to sleep, waking in the night coughing or short of breath) due to sthma IN THE PAST DAY?       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had difficulty reathing after playing outside or in gym class us to asthma IN THE PAST DAY?       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         How much of the time have you had difficulty reathing after playing outside or in gym class us to asthma IN THE PAST DAY?       3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)         Personal Best (L/min)       Morning (L/min)       Afternoon (L/min)         5/07/2004       220       210         5/11/2004       220       188         5/11/2004       220       210         5/11/2004       290       200         5/11/2004       290       200         5/11/2004       290       190         220       145       78.8% Readings in GREEN zone         110       145       05/21         005/07       05/12       05/14       05/21         80       20       143.3% Readings in GREEN zone         110       05/14       05/21       0% Readings in GREEN zone         005/07       05/14 <t< td=""><td>. How much of the time H o asthma IN THE PAST</td><td>nave you had wheezing due DAY?</td><td>3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19</td><td>/2004, 05/21/2004)</td></t<>	. How much of the time H o asthma IN THE PAST	nave you had wheezing due DAY?	3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19	/2004, 05/21/2004)
How much of the time have you had difficulty   leeping (such as trouble failing to sleep, waking in the night coughing or short of breath) due to sthma IN THE PAST DAY?   a times (05/17/2004, 05/19/2004, 05/21/2004)   b tow much of the time have you had difficulty treathing after playing outside or in gym class in the offer playing outside or in gym class in the offer playing outside or in gym class in the offer playing outside or in gym class in the offer playing outside or in gym class in the offer playing outside or in gym class in the offer playing outside or in gym class in the offer playing outside or in gym class in the offer playing outside or in gym class in the offer playing outside or in gym class in the playing outside or in gym class in the offer playing outside or in gym class in the offer playing outside or in gym class in gravity in the offer playing outside or in gym class in gravity in the offer playing outside or in gym class in gravity in the offer playing outside or in gym class in gravity in the offer playing outside or in gym class in gravity in the offer playing outside or in gym class in gravity in the offer playing outside or in gym class in gravity in the offer playing outside or in gym class in gravity in the offer playing outside or in gym class in gravity in the offer playing outside or in gym class in gravity in the offer playing outside or in gym class in gravity in the offer playing outside or in gym class in gravity in the offer playing outside or in gym class in gravity in the offer playing outside or in gym class in gravity in the offer playing outside or in gym class in gravity in the gr	. How much of the time I sthma IN THE PAST DA	nave you had <mark>cough</mark> due to Y?	3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19	/2004, 05/21/2004)
S. How much of the time have you had difficulty practing after playing outside or in gym class but to asthma IN THE PAST DAY?3 times (05/17/2004, 05/21/2004)SIMPLY TO ALL IN THE PAST DAY?Simulation of the time have you had difficulty or athma IN THE PAST DAY?Simulation of the time have you had difficultySimulation of the time have you have	i. How much of the time f leeping (such as troub n the night coughing o asthma IN THE PAST DA	nave you had difficulty e falling to sleep, waking r short of breath) due to Y?	3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19	/2004, 05/21/2004)
PER Monitoring History (Data Input)         Survey Date       Personal Best (L/min)       Morning (L/min)       Afternoon (L/min)         5/07/2004       220       180       180         5/10/2004       220       180       180         5/12/2004       220       210       180         5/12/2004       220       210       180         5/14/2004       290       200       180         5/17/2004       290       200       170         5/21/2004       290       170       170         5/21/2004       290       190       170         220       231       170       170         110       232       145       180       180         110       145       145       145       145       145         005/07       05/12       005/14       05/21       0% Readings in GREEN zone       14.3% Readings in RED zone         0%       005/07       05/12       005/14       05/21       0% Readings in RED zone       0% Readings in RED zone         302       302       302       302       304       305       304       305       304       304       304       304       304	. How much of the time H reathing after playing lue to asthma IN THE PA	nave you had difficulty outside or in gym class ST DAY?	3 times (05/17/2004, 05/19	/2004, 05/21/2004)
Burvey Date         Personal Best (L/min)         Morning (L/min)         Afternoon (L/min)           5/07/2004         220         210         5/07/2004         220         180           5/10/2004         220         210         5/07/2004         220         180           5/11/2004         220         210         5/07/2004         290         200         5/07/2004         290         200         5/07/2004         290         200         5/07/2004         290         200         5/07/2004         290         200         5/07/2004         290         100         5/07/2004         290         190         5/07/2004         290         190         5/07/2004         290         190         5/07/2004         290         190         5/07/2004         290         190         5/07/2004         290         190         5/07/2004         290         190         5/07/2004         145         5/07/2004         5/07/2004         145         5/07/2004         5/07/2004         5/07/2004         5/07/2004         5/07/2004         5/07/2004         5/07/2004         5/07/2004         5/07/2004         5/07/2004         5/07/2004         5/07/2004         5/07/2004         5/07/2004         5/07/2004         5/07/2004         5/07/2004         5/07/2	PFM Monitoring History (I	Data Input)		
5/07/2004       220       210         5/10/2004       220       210         5/12/2004       220       290         5/14/2004       290       290         5/17/2004       290       200         5/19/2004       290       170         5/21/2004       290       170         220       190       170         220       290       190         220       290       190         220       290       190         220       290       190         220       290       190         220       290       190         220       290       190         200       290       190         201       290       190         202       290       190         203       204       145         204       145       190         205/107       05/12       05/14         205/107       05/12       05/14         200       005/14       05/21         201       201       201         201       201       201         201       201       201     <	urvey Date	Personal Best (L/min)	Morning (L/min)	Afternoon (L/min)
5/10/2004       220       180         5/12/2004       220       216         5/14/2004       290       200         5/17/2004       290       200         5/19/2004       290       170         5/21/2004       290       190         220       290       190         220       290       190         220       290       190         220       290       190         220       290       190         220       290       190         200       290       190         201       290       190         202       290       290         203       290       190         204       290       190         205/07       05/12       005/14       05/21         80       005/12       005/14       05/21       05/21         80       90       90       90       90         301       301       301       90       90         301       201       90       90       90         302       90       90       90       90         302 <t< td=""><td>5/07/2004</td><td>220</td><td>210</td><td></td></t<>	5/07/2004	220	210	
5/12/2004       220       210         5/14/2004       290       290         5/17/2004       290       200         5/19/2004       290       170         5/21/2004       290       190         220       290       190         220       290       190         100       145       232         110       145       145         100       05/12       005/14         005/07       05/12       005/14         005/07       05/12       005/14         00       05/21       05/21         80       PEFR Variability (%)         90       9         301       20         201       14         201       14         100       14/14         110       14/14         110       14/14         1110       14/14         1110       14/14         1110       14/14         1110       14/14         1111       14/14         1111       14/14         1111       14/14         1111       14/14         1111       1	5/10/2004	220	180	
5/14/2004       290       290         5/17/2004       290       170         5/19/2004       290       170         5/21/2004       290       190         220       200       190         176       232       190         176       232       190         176       232       145         176       232       145         176       232       145         176       232       145         176       232       145         176       232       145         176       232       145         176       232       145         177       145       143% Readings in GREEN zone         178       143% Readings in Iower Clow zone         179       05/12       005/14       05/21         170       05/12       005/14       05/21       0%         179       05/14       05/21       0%       0%         170       05/14       05/21       0%       0%         170       05/14       05/21       0%       0%         180       200       20       0%       0%       0%<	5/12/2004	220	210	
6/17/2004       290       200         5/19/2004       290       170         5/21/2004       290       190         220       290       190         176       232       4         176       232       4         176       232       4         176       232       4         176       232       4         176       232       4         176       232       4         176       232       4         176       232       4         176       232       4         176       232       4         176       232       4         176       232       4         176       145       5         176       145       5         177       145       145         178       145       143         178       145       145         178       145       15         178       145       15         178       145       15         178       145       15         178       145       15	5/14/2004	290	290	
5/19/2004 290 170 5/21/2004 290 190 220 220 232 232 232 232 232 23	5/17/2004	290	200	
5/21/2004     290     190       220     230     232       176     232       100     145       145     145       005/07     05/12       005/07     05/12       005/07     05/12       005/14     05/21   PEFR Variability (%) <ul> <li> Daily Variability</li> <li> Daily Variability (Negative: am PEFR &gt; p</li> <li>PEFR)</li> <li>Between-day variability for this time period is h</li> </ul>	5/19/2004	290	170	
220       290       290       290       232       78.6% Readings in GREEN zone         110       145       145       145       78.6% Readings in GREEN zone         005/07       05/12       005/14       05/21         80       PEFR Variability (%)       Daily Variability         30       20       Daily Variability (%)         90       Daily Variability (not this time period is Not the	5/21/2004	290	190	
176       232       • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	220 •	290]	Morning and Evening	
<ul> <li>110</li> <li>145</li> <li>145</li> <li>005/07</li> <li>05/12</li> <li>005/14</li> <li>05/21</li> <li>05/21</li> <li>005/07</li> <li>05/12</li> <li>005/14</li> <li>05/21</li> <li>PEFR Variability (%)</li> <li> Daily Variability</li> <li> Daily Variability (Negative: am PEFR &gt; p PEFR)</li> <li>Between-day variability for this time period is N</li> </ul>	176	232	nichning and Eronnig	
110       145       • 14.3% Readings in Technology zone         005/07       • 05/12       005/14       • 05/21         80       • • • • • 05/21       • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •			• 78.6% Readings i	n GREEN zone
005/07       05/12       005/14       05/21         80       PEFR Variability(%)         30       Daily Variability (Negative: am PEFR > p         20       Between-day variability for this time period is the peri	110	145	<ul> <li>14.3% Readings i</li> </ul>	n YELLOW zone
005/07' ' 05/12' 005/14' ' 05/21'         80         30         30         20			<ul> <li>7.1% Keadings in</li> <li>0% Populings in P</li> </ul>	Tower Telling zone
005/07       005/14       05/21         80       PEFR Variability(%)         30       Daily Variability (Negative: am PEFR > p         20       Detween-day variability for this time period is h			• O W Readings in R	LD Zone
80 PEFR Variability(%) • -■- Daily Variability • -■- Daily Variability • -■- Daily Variability (Negative: am PEFR > p PEFR) • Between-day variability for this time period is h	005/07 05/12	005/14' 05/	21	
80 PEFR √ariability(%) • -■- Daily Variability • -■- Daily Variability (Negative: am PEFR > p PEFR) • Between-day variability for this time period is N			_	
30     -■ Daily Variability       30     -> Daily Variability (Negative: am PEFR > p       20     • Between day variability for this time period is N	80		PEFR Variability(%)	
<ul> <li> Daily Variability</li> <li> Daily Variability (Negative: am PEFR &gt; p PEFR)</li> <li>Between-day variability for this time period is N</li> </ul>			· · · · ·	
30     -* Daily Variability (Negative: am PEFR > p       20     • Between-day variability for this time period is N			• 🗕 🗕 Daily Variat	oility
Between-day variability for this time period is t	20		<ul> <li>————————————————————————————————————</li></ul>	ility (Negative: am PEFR > pm
176	20		Between-day varia	bility for this time period is N/A
	272			



# Results

#### **Results of Needs Assessment and Population Demographics**

Of the 588 students enrolled in the school, 389 returned the asthma prevalence questionnaires, a response rate of 66.2%. Half (50.9%, 198/389) of respondents identified themselves as Hispanic, 36.0% (140/389) as black or African American, 1.5% (6/389) as white, 0.7% (3/389) as Asian, 3.9% (15/389) as

"other," and 6.9% (27/389) did not give an answer. The average age of students surveyed was 8.2 years. Of all responding students, 57.6% (224/389) were living in a household with a yearly gross income of less than US \$20,000. A total of 38.0% (148/389) of all students had been diagnosed with asthma at some point in their lives and 26.0% (101/389) had current asthma (defined as a diagnosis with symptoms within the previous 12 months) and were identified as "current patients with asthma" (Table 1).

 Table 1. Characteristics of students who completed the needs assessment questionnaires.

Characteristics		Respondents, n (%)	
		All students	Children with active asthma
		n = 389	n= 101
Sex			
	Male	186 (47.8%)	59 (58.4%)
	Female	190 (48.8%)	38 (37.6%)
	No answer given	13 (3.3%)	4 (4.0%)
Race			
	Hispanic	198 (50.9%)	52 (51.5%)
	Black or African American	140 (36.0%)	41 (40.6%)
	White	6 (1.5%)	0 (0.0%)
	Asian	3 (0.7%)	0 (0.0%)
	Other	15 (3.9%)	4 (4.0%)
	No answer given	27 (6.9%)	4 (4.0%)
Household gross income (	(US \$)		
	Less than \$20,000	224 (57.6%)	67 (66.3%)
	\$20,001-\$39,999	95 (24.4%)	19 (18.8%)
	\$40,000-\$74,999	23 (5.9%)	5 (5.0%)
	Over \$75,000	3 (0.8%)	0 (0.0%)
	No answer given	44 (11.3%)	10 (9.9%)
Students ever diagnosed wi	ith asthma	148 (38.0%)	
Students diagnosed with current asthma		101 (26.0%)	
Emergency department visits due to asthma in previous 12 months		N/A	60 (59.4%)
Hospitalizations due to asthma in previous 12 months		N/A	16 (15.8%)
Have a peak flow meter		N/A	36 (35.6%)
Use a peak flow meter daily		N/A	31 (30.7%)
Have a spacer		N/A	47 (46.5%)
Use a spacer regularly		N/A	26 (25.7%)

Of the 101 students identified as having current asthma, 59.4% (60/101) had visited an emergency department for urgent care due to asthma in the previous 12 months. In addition, 15.8% (16/101) of all current patients with asthma had been hospitalized due to asthma in the previous 12 months. Our needs assessment showed that of all current asthmatics, 35.6% (36/101) owned peak flow meters but only 30.7% (31/101) of them used it daily. Similarly, although 46.5% (47/101) of current

asthmatics had a spacer for use with inhaled medications, only 25.7% (26/101) said they used a spacer regularly.

#### **Computer-Assisted Intervention: Participant Demographics and Pretest and Posttest Results**

#### **Demographics**

A total of 24 students were enrolled in the pilot program, ranging in age from 6-12 years at the time of enrollment. Of these, 63%(15/24) of the participants were male and 79% (19/24) were

Hispanic. Average household income for 46% (11/24) of participants was less than US \$14,999. Most of the children

were classified as having mild/ intermittent asthma, as defined in NHLBI guidelines (See Table 2).

**Table 2.** Baseline demographic characteristics of program enrollees<sup>a</sup> (n = 24).

		n	%
Average age, mean (years)		8.6	
Length of enrollment in program, median (r	nonths)	12	
Sex			
	Male	15	63%
	Female	9	37%
Race			
	Black or African American	4	17%
	Hispanic	19	79%
	Other	1	4%
Student household yearly gross income (U	JS\$)		
	Less than \$14,999	11	46%
	\$15,000-\$29,999	6	25%
	\$30,000-\$60,000	2	8%
	No answer	5	21%
Severity of asthma, according to NHLBI guidelines			
	Mild intermittent	15	63%
	Mild persistent	6	25%
	Moderate	2	8%
	Severe	1	4%

#### <sup>a</sup>Data from Children's Health Survey for Asthma (CHSA).

The children participated in the pilot study for 2 to 15 months over the course of 2 school years. Median enrollment time was 12 months. Nine students (38%) remained in the pilot for 7 months or less and 15 students (62%) were enrolled for 8 months or more. (Enrollment time includes only the months that school was in session and excludes summer break months.) The asthma control levels of the participants varied, with 15 having mild intermittent asthma, 6 having mild persistent, 2 having moderate, and 1 having severe asthma. Participants who remained enrolled in the program for 8 months or more tended to have more severe asthma. In contrast, children with milder symptoms tended to stop participation in the study at an earlier point.

#### Children's Health Survey for Asthma

Of the 24 student participants, 17 had a parent or guardian who completed the CHSA both at baseline and after completing the program. Four participants completed only one CHSA and 3 participants did not complete a CHSA and were excluded from further analysis. It is worth noting that the 3 enrollees who did not complete a CHSA were classified with the lowest level of asthma severity (mild intermittent), which may have contributed to their attrition from the program. Of the 17 participants who had paired (before and after intervention) CHSA results, improvements in health outcomes showed the greatest significance among the group of participants who were enrolled for 8 months or longer. A number of improvements in health outcomes were observed in our analysis (Table 3).

#### Arnold et al

Table 3. As the automes among pilot program participants who completed preintervention and postintervention Children's Health Survey for Asthma (CHSA) surveys (n = 14).

Outcome	Prepilot	Postpilot	<i>P</i> value
	(n or mean)	(n or mean)	
Average physical health score (child)	65.64	76.28	.045 <sup>a</sup>
Average physical activity score (child)	75.18	83.57	.24
Average physical activity score (family)	81.85	90.83	.11
Average emotional health score (child)	64.64	77.14	.17
Average emotional health score (family)	68.60	68.79	.97
Participants with asthma attacks <sup>b</sup> , n	7	3	.13
Participants with wheezing <sup>b</sup> , n	9	2	.02 <sup>a</sup>
Average number of asthma attacks <sup>b</sup>	1.43	0.50	.10
Average number of wheezing episodes <sup>b</sup>	1.86	0.43	.02 <sup>a</sup>
Average number of visits to doctor or clinic <sup>b</sup>	1.23	0.38	.04 <sup>a</sup>
Average number of overnight hospitalizations <sup>b</sup>	0.21	0	.19
Average number of visits to the emergency department <sup>b</sup>	0.36	0.36	.99

<sup>a</sup>Event was statistically significant.

<sup>b</sup>Two-week recall.

There were improvements in the averages of every health scale measured by the CHSA, with statistically significant improvements shown for the average physical health score of the child (from 65.64 preintervention to 76.28 postintervention, P = .045). In the two-week period prior to completing the final CHSA, as compared to the two-week period prior to completion of the baseline questionnaire, there was a significant decrease in the number of participants experiencing wheezing episodes (n = 9 to n = 2, P = .02), and a significant decrease in the average number of wheezing episodes per child (1.86 to 0.43, P = .02). There was also a decrease in the number of participants experiencing an asthma attack (n = 7 to n = 3) and a decreasing trend in the average number of asthma attacks (1.43 to 0.50), although these changes were not statistically significant. Our results also showed a significant decrease in the average number of visits to doctors' offices or clinics due to asthma (1.23 to 0.38, P = .04). There were no overnight hospitalizations in the two-week period following the end of the pilot program, a nonsignificant reduction from an average of 0.21. In addition, prior to beginning this intervention, 5 children had never used a peak flow meter to help manage their asthma. After participating in this program, all children used a peak flow meter on a regular basis, and they also consistently reviewed their previous peak flow measurements with the program staff to see if their breathing had improved over time.

# Discussion

RenderX

#### Feasibility of a Computer-Assisted, School-Based, Intervention Program

This pilot project was intended to determine whether it was feasible to introduce a computer-based asthma self-management program in a low-income, urban, public elementary school. The

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e15/

pilot aimed to empower children's understanding of their disease by teaching them to use a computer program to track their asthma symptoms and provide them with evidence-based feedback on their medication usage and symptom manifestations. The pilot demonstrated that a computer-based program, when used in a school-based setting, can lead to better self-management of asthma and thereby help reduce asthma exacerbations in children living in a low-income, urban setting. After participating in the pilot, there was improvement in wheezing symptoms, number of asthma episodes, and clinic visits. Our results showed the greatest significance when we paired baselines of preintervention participants with participants who completed a CHSA at the end of their second year of enrollment, suggesting that length of enrollment in the program increased the efficacy of the program. Thirteen of the 14 participants were enrolled in the program for 8 months or longer. These results suggest that students with more severe asthma tended to stay in the program longer. Those who stayed in the program for the longer period of time showed more significant improvements in outcomes when compared to those who stayed in the program for 7 months or less. These findings are consistent with other studies where participants with more severe asthma and enrolled for longer lengths of time demonstrated the greatest improvement in outcomes [24,41,42].

#### Computer Programs as Tools for Asthma Self-management

The computer-based approach to asthma management has many advantages for intervening directly with children suffering from a chronic disease. This may be particularly true for lower-income populations. Low-income populations often lack regular physician supervision of their disease, leading them to receive care in emergency departments, usually when they are

experiencing an acute asthma episode. One study of urban patients with asthma in 8 major US metropolitan areas found that over half of the study participants reported that it was difficult to get adequate care for an asthma attack or follow-up visits [11,43]. Another study found that children were more likely to use anti-inflammatory medications when they had seen a health care provider in the previous 6 months, and suggested that the discontinuity of care and the absence of follow-up care between physician visits may be factors contributing to the high rates of asthma in East Harlem [44]. By using the ALERTS computer program, participants' health status is monitored on at least a weekly basis and this may help students adhere to prescribed medication plans, bridging the gap between intermittent care and the physician attention received only in situations of acute exacerbations.

Although it is not a substitute for the care and supervision by a physician, a program such as the one implemented here can help children and their families monitor medication usage and symptoms by providing personalized, real-time, evidence-based feedback on their disease status between physician visits. This information can be relayed to medically trained staff, either the school-based health center or the primary care physician, who can follow up with the patient and/or guardian if necessary. Additionally, the program generates weekly reports that are sent to the school-based health center and primary care physicians, providing a record of each patient's disease and affording this population with better continuity of health care than they might otherwise receive. This can also alert health care providers to the children's symptom history and use of medications.

Computers can be particularly effective in promoting knowledge of self-management skills among children with chronic diseases, such as asthma. Computers offer children an innovative method of monitoring symptoms that children find novel and fun. One study noted that children were more apt to use an interactive device than a written diary, for example [32]. Other studies have shown that electronic monitoring can clarify compliance among patients [36,45].

An important aspect of our pilot study was the school-based setting. Interventions similar to our pilot study have also utilized interactive technology, but were based in the home or in clinical settings, such as health clinics or doctors' offices. Our program's location within the students' school overcomes some of the barriers other researchers have found in implementing large-scale asthma interventions in the home or in clinics. For example, some researchers have found that one of the greatest barriers to implementing an asthma education program in the home was the incompatibility of the schedules of families and nurse home visitors [46,47]. Families participating in interventions based in clinics might encounter some of the same scheduling difficulties. Children with asthma followed in the school setting would not be constrained by such family scheduling conflicts.

#### Limitations

Limitations to our study included the fact that parents did not actually participate in any of the computer sessions (although they were involved in enrolling their children in the pilot program) and, therefore, might not have been as involved in their child's asthma monitoring as those parents who partook of interventions based in the home or in clinics in other studies [48-50]. Another limiting factor is that children cannot benefit from the program on their own if they do not have access to a computer outside of the school sessions. Many low-income children do not have computers in the home; thus, school might be their only source of computer access. Importantly, the program is also available using an interactive voice response (IVR) platform (ie, telephone) in both English and Spanish that was not accessible in the school setting. Since people are more likely to have telephones than computers in their homes, this would increase the likelihood of being able to access and use the program. Indeed, in a parallel program to this one that was implemented in a group practice setting in Connecticut and used by patients at home, where both Internet and IVR access was available, 62% of program entries were made by IVR and 38% were Web-based [48,50]. Indeed, one of the authors (RJA) was the principal investigator of such a program implemented in three large pediatric practices in New York City that showed positive preliminary results [48,50].

#### Conclusion

This pilot study demonstrated that an individualized, computer-assisted intervention resulted in improved health outcomes among low-income children in a public school setting. Increased awareness of the importance of regular peak flow meter measurements, provision of asthma trigger information, and a novel approach to symptom tracking resulted in fewer asthma exacerbations and improved overall physical health among a pediatric asthmatic population.

#### Acknowledgments

Funded in part by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) Contract Number 290-02-0029.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2011 May. Vital Signs: Asthma in the US URL: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/VitalSigns/</u> <u>Asthma/index.html</u> [accessed 2011-05-13] [WebCite Cache ID 60vG0PTlc]
- 2. American Lung Association. 2010. Asthma & Children Fact Sheet URL: <u>http://www.lungusa.org/lung-disease/asthma/</u> resources/facts-and-figures/asthma-children-fact-sheet.html [accessed 2011-08-13] [WebCite Cache ID 60vGgRKx1]

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e15/

- Akinbami L. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2010. NCHS Health E-Stat: Asthma Prevalence, Health Care Use and Mortality: United States, 2003-05 URL: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/hestat/asthma03-05/asthma03-05.htm</u> [accessed 2011-08-13] [WebCite Cache ID 60vFjtxAB]
- 4. Akinbami LJ, Moorman JE, Garbe PL, Sondik EJ. Status of childhood asthma in the United States, 1980-2007. Pediatrics 2009;123(Suppl 3):S131-S145. [Medline: <u>19221156</u>]
- 5. Carr W, Zeitel L, Weiss K. Variations in asthma hospitalizations and deaths in New York City. Am J Public Health 1992 Jan;82(1):59-65. [Medline: <u>1536336</u>]
- 6. Claudio L, Tulton L, Doucette J, Landrigan PJ. Socioeconomic factors and asthma hospitalization rates in New York City. J Asthma 1999 Jun;36(4):343-350. [Medline: 10386498]
- Wisnivesky JP, Lorenzo J, Lyn-Cook R, Newman T, Aponte A, Kiefer E, et al. Barriers to adherence to asthma management guidelines among inner-city primary care providers. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2008 Sep;101(3):264-270. [doi: 10.1016/S1081-1206(10)60491-7] [Medline: 18814449]
- Grant EN, Malone A, Lyttle CS, Weiss KB. Asthma morbidity and treatment in the Chicago metropolitan area: one decade after national guidelines. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2005 Jul;95(1):19-25. [doi: <u>10.1016/S1081-1206(10)61183-0</u>] [Medline: <u>16095137</u>]
- 9. Halfon N, Newacheck PW. Childhood asthma and poverty: differential impacts and utilization of health services. Pediatrics 1993 Jan;91(1):56-61. [Medline: <u>8416505</u>]
- 10. Halterman JS, Aligne CA, Auinger P, McBride JT, Szilagyi PG. Inadequate therapy for asthma among children in the United States. Pediatrics 2000 Jan;105(1 Pt 3):272-276. [Medline: <u>10617735</u>]
- 11. Kattan M, Mitchell H, Eggleston P, Gergen P, Crain E, Redline S, et al. Characteristics of inner-city children with asthma: the National Cooperative Inner-City Asthma Study. Pediatr Pulmonol 1997 Oct;24(4):253-262. [Medline: <u>9368259</u>]
- 12. Wei HG, Camargo CA. Patient education in the emergency department. Acad Emerg Med 2000 Jun;7(6):710-717. [Medline: 10905653]
- 13. Claudio L, Stingone JA, Godbold J. Prevalence of childhood asthma in urban communities: the impact of ethnicity and income. Ann Epidemiol 2006 May;16(5):332-340. [doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2005.06.046] [Medline: 16242960]
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Vital signs: asthma prevalence, disease characteristics, and self-management education: United States, 2001--2009. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2011 May 6;60(17):547-552 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 21544044]
- 15. Oruwariye T, Webber MP, Ozuah P. Do school-based health centers provide adequate asthma care? J Sch Health 2003 May;73(5):186-190. [Medline: <u>12793104</u>]
- 16. Weinstein J. School-based health centers and the primary care physician: an opportunity for collaborative care. Prim Care 2006 Jun;33(2):305-315. [doi: 10.1016/j.pop.2006.01.010] [Medline: 16713764]
- 17. Al-sheyab N, Gallagher R, Crisp J, Shah S. Peer-led education for adolescents with asthma in Jordan: a cluster-randomized controlled trial. Pediatrics 2012 Jan;129(1):e106-e112. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2011-0346</u>] [Medline: <u>22157137</u>]
- Carrillo Zuniga G, Kirk S, Mier N, Garza NI, Lucio RL, Zuniga MA. The impact of asthma health education for parents of children attending Head Start centers. J Community Health 2012 May 31. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10900-012-9571-y</u>] [Medline: <u>22648657</u>]
- Kintner E, Cook G, Allen A, Meeder L, Bumpus J, Lewis K. Feasibility and benefits of a school-based academic and counseling program for older school-age students with asthma. Res Nurs Health 2012 Oct;35(5):507-517. [doi: 10.1002/nur.21490] [Medline: 22644890]
- Milnes LJ, McGowan L, Campbell M, Callery P. Developing an intervention to promote young people's participation in asthma review consultations with practice nurses. J Adv Nurs 2012 Apr 11. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2648.2012.05993.x</u>] [Medline: <u>22489536</u>]
- 21. Rhee H, Pesis-Katz I, Xing J. Cost benefits of a peer-led asthma self-management program for adolescents. J Asthma 2012 Aug;49(6):606-613. [doi: 10.3109/02770903.2012.694540] [Medline: 22758599]
- 22. Tapp H, Hebert L, Dulin M. Comparative effectiveness of asthma interventions within a practice based research network. BMC Health Serv Res 2011;11:188 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-11-188] [Medline: 21846401]
- 23. Terpstra JL, Chavez LJ, Ayala GX. An intervention to increase caregiver support for asthma management in middle school-aged youth. J Asthma 2012 Apr;49(3):267-274. [doi: 10.3109/02770903.2012.656866] [Medline: 22316141]
- Guevara JP, Wolf FM, Grum CM, Clark NM. Effects of educational interventions for self management of asthma in children and adolescents: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ 2003 Jun 14;326(7402):1308-1309. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.326.7402.1308] [Medline: 12805167]
- 25. Anderson ME, Freas MR, Wallace AS, Kempe A, Gelfand EW, Liu AH. Successful school-based intervention for inner-city children with persistent asthma. J Asthma 2004 Jun;41(4):445-453. [Medline: <u>15281330</u>]
- 26. Lurie N, Bauer EJ, Brady C. Asthma outcomes at an inner-city school-based health center. J Sch Health 2001 Jan;71(1):9-16. [Medline: <u>11221541</u>]
- 27. Lwebuga-Mukasa J, Dunn-Georgiou E. A school-based asthma intervention program in the Buffalo, New York, schools. J Sch Health 2002 Jan;72(1):27-32. [Medline: <u>11871359</u>]

- Shames RS, Sharek P, Mayer M, Robinson TN, Hoyte EG, Gonzalez-Hensley F, et al. Effectiveness of a multicomponent self-management program in at-risk, school-aged children with asthma. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2004 Jun;92(6):611-618. [doi: 10.1016/S1081-1206(10)61426-3] [Medline: 15237762]
- 29. Velsor-Friedrich B, Pigott T, Srof B. A practitioner-based asthma intervention program with African American inner-city school children. J Pediatr Health Care 2005;19(3):163-171. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pedhc.2004.12.002</u>] [Medline: <u>15867832</u>]
- Gerald LB, McClure LA, Harrington KF, Mangan JM, Gibson L, Atchison J, et al. Design of the supervised asthma therapy study: implementing an adherence intervention in urban elementary schools. Contemp Clin Trials 2008 Mar;29(2):304-310.
   [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cct.2007.07.010</u>] [Medline: <u>17804302</u>]
- 31. Grad R, McClure L, Zhang S, Mangan J, Gibson L, Gerald L. Peak flow measurements in children with asthma: what happens at school? J Asthma 2009 Aug;46(6):535-540. [doi: 10.1080/02770900802468509] [Medline: 19657891]
- 32. Guendelman S, Meade K, Benson M, Chen YQ, Samuels S. Improving asthma outcomes and self-management behaviors of inner-city children: a randomized trial of the Health Buddy interactive device and an asthma diary. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2002 Feb;156(2):114-120. [Medline: <u>11814370</u>]
- 33. Krishna S, Francisco BD, Balas EA, König P, Graff GR, Madsen RW, Randomized trial. Internet-enabled interactive multimedia asthma education program: a randomized trial. Pediatrics 2003 Mar;111(3):503-510. [Medline: <u>12612228</u>]
- Shegog R, Bartholomew LK, Parcel GS, Sockrider MM, Mâsse L, Abramson SL. Impact of a computer-assisted education program on factors related to asthma self-management behavior. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2001;8(1):49-61 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>11141512</u>]
- 35. Tinkelman D, Schwartz A. School-based asthma disease management. J Asthma 2004 Jun;41(4):455-462. [Medline: 15281331]
- 36. Hyland ME, Kenyon CA, Allen R, Howarth P. Diary keeping in asthma: comparison of written and electronic methods. BMJ 1993 Feb 20;306(6876):487-489. [Medline: <u>8448458</u>]
- 37. NYC Department of Education Division of Assessment and Accountability (2002). Annual School Report. New York City; 2003. 2002-2003 Annual School Report URL: <u>http://www.nycenet.edu/daa/SchoolReports/</u> [accessed 2012-10-15] [WebCite Cache ID 6BRIZripk]
- 38. Asmussen L, Olson LM, Grant EN, Fagan J, Weiss KB. Reliability and validity of the Children's Health Survey for Asthma. Pediatrics 1999 Dec;104(6):e71. [Medline: 10586005]
- 39. Lieu TA, Lozano P, Finkelstein JA, Chi FW, Jensvold NG, Capra AM, et al. Racial/ethnic variation in asthma status and management practices among children in managed medicaid. Pediatrics 2002 May;109(5):857-865. [Medline: <u>11986447</u>]
- 40. Olson LM, Radecki L, Frintner MP, Weiss KB, Korfmacher J, Siegel RM. At what age can children report dependably on their asthma health status? Pediatrics 2007 Jan;119(1):e93-102 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-3211] [Medline: 17200264]
- 41. Coffman JM, Cabana MD, Yelin EH. Do school-based asthma education programs improve self-management and health outcomes? Pediatrics 2009 Aug;124(2):729-742 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2008-2085] [Medline: 19651589]
- 42. Evans R, Gergen PJ, Mitchell H, Kattan M, Kercsmar C, Crain E, et al. A randomized clinical trial to reduce asthma morbidity among inner-city children: results of the National Cooperative Inner-City Asthma Study. J Pediatr 1999 Sep;135(3):332-338. [Medline: 10484799]
- 43. Mitchell H, Senturia Y, Gergen P, Baker D, Joseph C, McNiff-Mortimer K, et al. Design and methods of the National Cooperative Inner-City Asthma Study. Pediatr Pulmonol 1997 Oct;24(4):237-252. [Medline: <u>9368258</u>]
- 44. Diaz T, Sturm T, Matte T, Bindra M, Lawler K, Findley S, et al. Medication use among children with asthma in East Harlem. Pediatrics 2000 Jun;105(6):1188-1193. [Medline: 10835056]
- 45. Chmelik F, Doughty A. Objective measurements of compliance in asthma treatment. Ann Allergy 1994 Dec;73(6):527-532. [Medline: 7998669]
- 46. Brown JV, Demi AS, Celano MP, Bakeman R, Kobrynski L, Wilson SR. A home visiting asthma education program: challenges to program implementation. Health Educ Behav 2005 Feb;32(1):42-56. [doi: <u>10.1177/1090198104266895</u>] [Medline: <u>15642753</u>]
- 47. Gomby DS, Culross PL, Behrman RE. Home visiting: recent program evaluations--analysis and recommendations. Future Child 1999;9(1):4-26-195-223. [Medline: <u>10414008</u>]
- 48. Arnold R, Stein-Albert M, Serebrisky D. Implementing automated chronic disease management support systems in asthma: the promise the pitfalls. In: National Institutes of Health; Bethesda, MD. 2005 Presented at: American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) Council on Clinical Information Technology, AAP National Conference and Exhibition; 2005; Washington, DC.
- 49. Arnold R, Kaniecki D, Rosen J. Web-enabled asthma application for personalized medical communication within a multi-group practice setting. 2004 Presented at: ISPOR 9th Annual International Meeting; May 16-19; Washington, DC.
- 50. Arnold R, Kaniecki D, Rosen J. International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research. 2004. Web-enabled asthma application for personalized medical communication within a multi-group practice setting URL: <u>http://www.ispor.org/</u> pressrelease/may04/asthma\_abstr.asp [accessed 2012-10-15] [WebCite Cache ID 6BRnCjhGC]

#### Abbreviations

AIR: Asthma Intervention Report ALERTS: Automated Live E-Health Response Tracking System CHSA: Children's Health Survey for Asthma HIPAA: Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act IVR: interactive voice response NHLBI: National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute PIN: personal identification number

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 01.10.11; peer-reviewed by JM Bruzzese; comments to author 15.01.12; revised version received 24.07.12; accepted 05.10.12; published 13.11.12.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Arnold RJG, Stingone JA, Claudio L Computer-Assisted School-Based Asthma Management: A Pilot Study JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e15 URL: <u>http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e15/</u> doi:10.2196/resprot.1958 PMID:23612058

©Renée JG Arnold, Jeanette A. Stingone, Luz Claudio. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 13.11.2012. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Filling the Gaps in a Fragmented Health Care System: Development of the Health and Welfare Information Portal (ZWIP)

Sarah HM Robben<sup>1</sup>, MD; Mirjam Huisjes<sup>1</sup>, MSc; Theo van Achterberg<sup>2</sup>, RN, PhD; Sytse U Zuidema<sup>3</sup>, MD, PhD; Marcel GM Olde Rikkert<sup>1</sup>, MD, PhD; Henk J Schers<sup>4</sup>, MD, PhD; Maud M Heinen<sup>2</sup>, RN, PhD; René JF Melis<sup>1</sup>, MD, PhD; For The ZOWEL NN Study Group<sup>5</sup>

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Sarah HM Robben, MD Department of Geriatric Medicine Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre Department of Geriatric Medicine 925 P.O. Box 9101 Nijmegen, 6500 HB Netherlands Phone: 31 24 3616772 Fax: 31 24 3617408 Email: s.robben@ger.umcn.nl

# Abstract

**Background:** Current health care systems are not optimally designed to meet the needs of our aging populations. First, the fragmentation of care often results in discontinuity of care that can undermine the quality of care provided. Second, patient involvement in care decisions is not sufficiently facilitated.

**Objective:** To describe the development and the content of a program aimed at: (1) facilitating self-management and shared decision making by frail older people and informal caregivers, and (2) reducing fragmentation of care by improving collaboration among professionals involved in the care of frail older people through a combined multidisciplinary electronic health record (EHR) and personal health record (PHR).

**Methods:** We used intervention mapping to systematically develop our program in six consecutive steps. Throughout this development, the target populations (ie, professionals, frail older people, and informal caregivers) were involved extensively through their participation in semi-structured interviews and working groups.

**Results:** We developed the Health and Welfare Information Portal (ZWIP), a personal, Internet-based conference table for multidisciplinary communication and information exchange for frail older people, their informal caregivers, and professionals. Further, we selected and developed methods for implementation of the program, which included an interdisciplinary educational course for professionals involved in the care of frail older people, and planned the evaluation of the program.

**Conclusions:** This paper describes the successful development and the content of the ZWIP as well as the strategies developed for its implementation. Throughout the development, representatives of future users were involved extensively. Future studies will establish the effects of the ZWIP on self-management and shared decision making by frail older people as well as on collaboration among the professionals involved.

#### (JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e10) doi:10.2196/resprot.1945

#### **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

Self-care; cooperative behavior; interdisciplinary communication; electronic health records; frail elderly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Department of Geriatric Medicine, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen, Netherlands

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Scientific Institute for Quality of Healthcare, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen, Netherlands

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Department of Primary Care, University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, Netherlands

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Department of Primary and Community Care, Centre for Family Medicine, Geriatric Care and Public Health, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen, Netherlands

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>ZOWEL NN, Department of Geriatric Medicine, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen, Netherlands

# Introduction

Current health care systems are not optimally designed to meet the needs of our aging populations [1]. First, they are characterized by fragmentation, which leads to inefficiency and can make health care efforts less effective [2,3]. Second, they do not facilitate the incorporation of patient perspectives in care decisions because they are designed according to a medical model that relies on care decisions being made by professionals with limited patient involvement [4].

Yet, the roles of patients and informal caregivers in our health care system are changing. Patients are now increasingly encouraged to become involved. There are several reasons for this. First, patients are involved in their care because it is they who make daily decisions about how they manage their disease (eg, they decide whether they take their medication or follow the lifestyle advice provided by professionals) [5]. Second, patient involvement is valued for moral and ethical reasons and considered a patient's right [6]. Third, research has shown that increased patient involvement can have favorable effects, such as improved health outcomes and improved adherence [7-9]. Therefore, increasing the involvement of patients in their own care by enabling them to participate in decision making and by supporting them to manage their disease to the best of their ability is highly recommended.

However, increased patient involvement may be difficult to achieve in a health care system that suffers from fragmentation because both patients and professionals may already be struggling to meet the complex demands placed on them by such a health care system. In a fragmented health care system, care for a single patient, especially care for a frail older patient (an older patient suffering from a range of problems in the physical, psychological, and social domain), is often provided by multiple professionals who work in a variety of settings [1,10,11]. As a consequence, continuity of care (the degree to which a series of discrete health care events is experienced as coherent, connected, and consistent with the patient's medical needs and personal context [11]), is limited. This undermines the quality of care provided [12,13]. Consequently, coordination of care across settings and services, by the sharing of accurate information between professionals and by the effective collaboration of professionals, patients, and informal caregivers, is badly needed [10,14,15].

Therefore, we developed a program aimed at: (1) facilitating self-management and shared decision making by frail older people, and (2) reducing fragmentation of care by enhancing collaboration among professionals involved in the care of frail older people through a multidisciplinary shared electronic health record (EHR) and personal health record (PHR). This paper describes the development of this program.

# Methods

The program, the Health and Welfare Information Portal (ZWIP), was initiated by ZOWEL NN, a collaborative of stakeholders in health care and welfare services, located in the city of Nijmegen, the Netherlands. The two main objectives for the program were: (1) to facilitate self-management and shared decision making by frail older people and their informal caregivers, and (2) to improve collaboration among professionals by enhancing and facilitating information sharing through a multidisciplinary shared EHR and PHR. Intervention mapping, a stepwise approach for the systematic development of theory-and evidence-informed interventions [16], was chosen as the method for developing the program. In the following sections, we will discuss the steps taken in this process. An overview is provided in Table 1.



Table 1. Overview of the intervention mapping process.

Robben et al

Steps	Methods	Results
1. Needs assessment	Problems analysis based on literature search; semi-structured interviews with frail older people and informal caregivers (n = 22); 2 meetings of working group of professionals (n = 15); and 1 meeting of working group of older people and informal caregivers (n = 4).	Logic model for self-management (Figure 1) and interprofessional collaboration (Figure 2).
2. Preparing matrices of performance objectives and determinants	Building matrices of performance objectives, determinants and change objectives based on the needs assessment.	Matrices of performance objectives and determi- nants for frail older people and informal care- givers, professionals, and the organizations of professionals (Appendices 1-3).
3. Selecting theory-informed intervention meth- ods and practical strategies	Literature search for theories and methods and their effectiveness for the target populations; selection of theories and methods.	Theories used for the program: social cognitive theory (main theory), goal-setting theory, and elements of theories of organizational change.
		Methods and strategies used for professionals: modeling, active learning, direct experience, and creating facilitating conditions.
		Methods and strategies used for frail older peo- ple and informal caregivers: tailoring, modeling, guided practice, collaborative goal setting, and action planning.
4. Producing program components and materials	Requirements for Health and Welfare Informa- tion Portal (ZWIP) were defined in 3 additional meetings of working group of professionals (n = 15) and one additional meeting of working group of older people and informal caregivers (n = 4).	Main program component: the ZWIP.
	Subsequently, development of ZWIP in parallel with reviewing by working groups: 4 meetings of working group of professionals $(n = 6)$ ; 3 meetings with two working groups of frail older people $(n = 4)$ .	Target population: frail older people $\geq$ 70 years, informal caregivers, and their professionals.
	Small pilot study of the ZWIP.	Setting: primary care.
		Materials: the ZWIP; bubble diagram and goal- setting forms; and personalized Internet-based and paper brochures with health promotion infor- mation concerning different domains of health, functioning, and well-being.
5. Planning program adoption, implementation, and sustainability	Program initiated by network of local stakehold- ers in health care and welfare services; future users involved extensively in development; ne- cessity for health care system changes for frail older people felt at several levels (government, organizations, and professionals).	Implementation strategies for professionals: in- volvement in development; starting with early adopters; educational program (CME credits available) and e-learning; telephonic help desk available; coaching and e-coaching available; financial compensation; publicity and flyers; and incentives.
		Implementation strategies for employing organi- zations: financial compensation and educational program for employees.
		Implementation strategies for frail older people and informal caregivers: involvement in devel- opment, flyers, involvement of informal caregiv- er, involvement of family physician, Internet- based and paper version of the ZWIP, instruction in using the ZWIP by volunteer, and telephonic help desk available.
6. Planning for evaluation	Design of an evaluation plan.	Framework for process evaluation and evaluation of effects.



**RenderX** 

JMIR Res Protoc 2012 | vol. 1 | iss. 2 |e10 | p.135 (page number not for citation purposes)

#### Step 1: Needs Assessment

First, we assembled a planning group to develop the intervention. This planning group included the project manager, the project leader (RM), two researchers (SR and MHu), two family physicians, a geriatrician, a nurse scientist experienced in intervention mapping (MHe), an information technology consultant, and a long-term care facility physician.

This planning group analyzed the existing problems with self-management of frail older people and interprofessional collaboration in primary care. First, we performed a literature search for barriers to patient self-management and interprofessional collaboration. Second, we conducted semi-structured interviews at the homes of frail older people (n = 11) and informal caregivers (n = 11). They were invited to participate by their family physician or welfare organization and were purposively selected based on variation in living situation, socioeconomic position, and health and social problems. Interviewees were asked for their experiences with receiving information from health care and welfare professionals, informational continuity (ie, whether information concerning their health or well-being was exchanged between professionals), and interprofessional collaboration. Third, we established two working groups. The first group consisted of health care and welfare professionals (n = 15) who were involved in the care of frail older people. They were recruited through their employing organizations and were financially compensated for their time investments. Members included family physicians (n = 3), primary care nurses (n = 3), geriatricians (n = 2), municipality workers (n = 2), social workers (n = 2), a long-term care facility physician (n = 1), a pharmacist (n = 1), and a psychologist (n = 1). The second working group consisted of older people (n = 2) and informal caregivers (n = 2), who were asked to participate by older people participating in the user panel of ZOWEL NN. Both groups were asked to discuss the problems they experienced with self-management of frail older people and collaboration among professionals and they were asked to review and comment on the results from the literature search, semi-structured interviews, and the other working group.

Results of this needs assessment were integrated into a logic model. This model is derived from the Predisposing, Reinforcing, and Enabling Constructs in Educational/Environmental Diagnosis and Evaluation (PRECEDE) model [16,17] that displays behaviors, its consequences, and its determinants in a structured manner. As the problems described for each topic (self-management and collaboration) were too distinct to be compiled into one single logic model, we constructed a separate logic model for each program objective.

#### **Step 2: Preparing Matrices of Performance Objectives** and Determinants

Based on the problem analysis, we defined performance objectives (ie, the behaviors required to achieve the program objectives) for each target population. These performance objectives were then crossed in matrices with those determinants of behavior that were known to have a major influence on behavior and were amenable to change. On the crossings of

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e10/

performance objectives and determinants, change objectives were formulated (ie, the highly specific outcomes the program should be aiming for). We designed these matrices for all target populations involved (ie, frail older people and their informal caregivers, professionals, and their employing organizations).

#### **Step 3: Selecting Theory-Informed Intervention Methods and Practical Strategies**

We searched the literature for theories that were proven to be effective in changing the identified determinants or that were successfully used to enhance patient self-management or to promote collaboration among professionals. From these theories, we selected methods and strategies for our program. In this selection, we aimed for an optimal balance between the expected advances toward our program objectives and the investments required from the target populations.

#### Step 4: Producing Program Components and Materials

Requirements for the program components were defined in additional meetings of the working groups of professionals and older people and informal caregivers. Subsequently, members of the planning group started development of program components. These components were reviewed by the working group of professionals and by two additional working groups of frail older people in an iterative process involving several rounds of reviewing by the working groups, the working groups making suggestions for improvement, and members of the planning group making adjustments. In this process, development and reviewing coincided, each working group being presented with the latest version of the components at the time of their meeting. Final versions of the program components were tested in a small pilot study involving two frail older people, two informal caregivers, and seven professionals.

# Step 5: Planning Program Adoption, Implementation, and Sustainability

A prerequisite for adoption and implementation of the program was met by the extensive involvement of the target population in its development and the commitment of the local collaborative of stakeholders in health care and welfare services. Further, implementation was facilitated by selecting implementation strategies that were tailored to the needs of each target population. Planning for sustainability was started early in the development of the program by searching for funding for incorporation of the program in everyday practice.

#### **Step 6: Planning for Evaluation**

In this final step, we designed a plan for the evaluation of the program. This involved an evaluation of the effects of the program as well as a process evaluation.

# Results

#### Step 1: Results of the Needs Assessment

An overview of the results of the needs assessment for self-management of frail older people is provided in the logic model shown in Figure 1 [5,7,13,18-34]. A second logic model representing collaboration among professionals is shown in Figure 2 [4,7,10,21,23,29-31,33-49]. Each logic model describes

XSL•FO RenderX

the problem (the last two columns), the behavioral and environmental factors that contribute to the problem (the second column), and the determinants that influence those factors (the first column). We will briefly discuss the results of the needs assessment in the following section. Knowledge of the Dutch health care system may help the interpretation of the results of this needs assessment; therefore, a summary of its characteristics is provided in Textbox 1 [50].

Textbox 1. Characteristics of the Dutch Health Care System.

- All Dutch citizens are registered with their own family physician, usually over an extended period of time. This family physician functions as a gatekeeper; hospital care and specialist care (except for emergency care) can only be accessed with a referral by a family physician.
- When patients need other health care or welfare services (eg, home care, physiotherapy, or occupational therapy), they can generally choose between many providers offering these services.
- Funding of the Dutch health care system is organized by means of a compulsory social health insurance scheme.

Figure 1. Logic model for self-management of frail older people.





Figure 2. Logic model for collaboration among professionals.



## Needs Assessment Concerning Frail Older People's Involvement in Self-management

Frail older people, informal caregivers, professionals, and previous research reported problems with patient involvement in self-management. These problems related to frail older people and informal caregivers not performing the activities required, and professionals not encouraging or facilitating involvement.

Identified behaviors of frail older people and informal caregivers that contributed to these problems included: (1) not adequately informing professionals about their health situation nor asking sufficient questions [29,30], and (2) not adhering to medications prescribed or advice given [23,29,34]. These behaviors were influenced by many determinants such as attitude toward self-management because not all frail older people want to be involved extensively [7,33]; emotions such as fear of loss of independence [7,18]; self-efficacy for self-management [5,18,26,27]; knowledge about the disease, symptoms, and treatments [18,22,26]; skills [5,27]; personal limitations (eg, cognitive problems) [7,20,26,33]; perceived social norms [7,33]; social support, such as advocacy [7,18,26,27]; financial constraints [18,25,26]; and the high complexity of the health care system [34].

Important contributing behaviors of professionals were (1) not providing the frail older person with adequate information for

XSL•FO

self-management [20,26,34], and (2) not being genuinely interested in the frail older person and not encouraging questions [25,26,29]. Important determinants affecting these behaviors were attitude toward patient self-management [22,33], knowledge [22], skills for self-management support [20,22], and determinants related to the health care system [20,33].

#### Needs Assessment Concerning Collaboration Among Professionals

Professionals, patients, informal caregivers, and the literature cited problems with collaboration among professionals. The main behaviors that contributed to these problems were a lack of communication or insufficient communication [35,39,47]; delays in the transfer of information or information not being transferred at all [41,44]; giving either insufficient information (eg, not giving the information required by a particular discipline) [41,44] or too extensive information that was not read by professionals with already demanding work schedules; and not involving the frail older person in the collaboration between professionals. Important determinants influencing these behaviors included attitudes toward collaboration [42,45], beliefs in the advantages of collaboration [45], knowledge about the information needed by other disciplines [45], communication skills [35,42,45], and external factors such as time constraints [35] and legal restrictions to the sharing of information [45]. However, for professionals in the working groups, more

practical determinants were the most important, such as not knowing which other professionals were involved in the care of the frail older person, not knowing them personally [39,40,42,48], and not being able to contact these professionals (eg, due to part-time work or busy telephone lines) [35,39,40].

#### **Step 2: Results on Matrices of Performance Objectives and Determinants**

Based on our needs assessment, we defined performance objectives for both program objectives and for each target population involved (Appendices 1 and 2). Also, we reviewed the determinants shown in Figures 1 [5,7,13,18-34] and 2 [4,7,10,21,23,29-31,33-49] in order to select those determinants of behavior that were considered both important to target and modifiable. For the first program objective, aimed at facilitating self-management, we developed two matrices: one for frail older people and informal caregivers and one for professionals. For frail older people and informal caregivers, targeted determinants were attitudes, skills and self-efficacy, knowledge, and social support. For professionals, targeted determinants were attitudes, knowledge, skills, and organization. For the second program objective, aimed at enhancing collaboration, we designed three matrices: one for professionals, one for their organizations, and one for frail older people and informal caregivers. For professionals, targeted determinants were attitudes and beliefs, knowledge, skills, and accessibility; for their organizations, the targeted determinant was organizational culture; and for frail older people and informal caregivers, targeted determinants were attitude, self-efficacy, knowledge, skills, social norms and social support, and accessibility. We then crossed the performance objectives with these determinants to design matrices of change objectives. For example, for the performance objective "professional communicates with other professionals involved" and the determinant "knowledge," a change objective was "professional states that problems in communication lead to adverse outcomes for frail older people." Therefore, we wanted our program to increase professionals' knowledge about the effects of communication problems. Appendix 3 provides an example of a matrix of change objectives.

#### Step 3: Selected Theories, Methods, and Strategies

Social cognitive theory [51] was selected as the main theory behind the program because it has been successfully used in the past for interventions aimed at improving patient self-management and in Internet-based interventions focusing on improving self-management [52-54]. A key concept of social cognitive theory is perceived self-efficacy: the beliefs people have about their capabilities to produce the effects they desire by their own actions [55]. If self-efficacy is low, people are less likely to either act or to continue trying when facing difficulties [51]. We included several methods and strategies derived from this theory in the program, based on their ability to change the targeted determinants of behavior. For professionals, we included active learning, direct experience, modeling, and facilitation. For frail older people and their informal caregivers, we included modeling, guided practice, and tailoring. Further, elements of goal-setting theory [56] (ie, goal setting and action planning) [57] were included in the program to assist frail older people and informal caregivers in describing what is most important to them, to help them to achieve their goals, and to increase their involvement in the care process. Goal-setting theory highlights the importance of setting specific, difficult goals because people who set such goals perform better that those who are merely asked to do their best [56]. Last, we incorporated elements of several theories of organizational change into the program. Methods used from these theories were providing training and coaching, and creating facilitating conditions [16,58].

#### **Step 4: Characteristics of ZWIP**

Taking the former steps of the intervention mapping process into account, we developed the main component of the program: the ZWIP. The ZWIP is a personal, Internet-based conference table for multidisciplinary communication and information exchange for frail older people, their informal caregivers, and professionals. It can be considered to be both a shared EHR and PHR. The ZWIP is aimed at frail older people identified through a specific screening method and includes: (1) a tool for multidisciplinary communication in a secure environment that enables communication through sending messages between the frail older person, informal caregiver, and the professionals involved; (2) an overview of health care and welfare professionals involved in the care of the frail older person and their contact information; (3) information about the frail older person's health, functioning, and social situation as well as the care provided; (4) the goals and action plans of the frail older person and the informal caregiver, which are formulated with them during home visits by nurses or social workers by means of a goal-setting tool; and (5) tailored educational materials for the frail older person and informal caregiver. Fundamental to the ZWIP is the central position of the frail older person, who can view the information included and who decides which professionals are granted access to his personal ZWIP. As a rule, messages that are communicated within the ZWIP are visible for all professionals with access to the ZWIP as well as for the frail older person and informal caregiver. This allows everyone concerned to remain informed about the frail older person's situation and enables everyone to bring up their own relevant observations in an ongoing conversation. However, at the request of frail older people and professionals, we also included the option of sending a private message to an individual person.

After development, as a final step before implementation, we conducted a small pilot study of the ZWIP. The most important lessons learned from this pilot were practical issues such as the need to communicate as unambiguously as possible.

#### **Step 5: ZWIP Program Adoption and Implementation**

Strategies used for the adoption and implementation of the program were tailored to the needs of each particular target population. We will describe the main strategies used in the next paragraphs; an overview of all strategies is provided in Table 1 (step 5).

For health care and welfare professionals, our most important strategy was an interdisciplinary educational program for health care and welfare professionals involved in the care of frail older people. This program consisted of 3 three-hour meetings

XSL•FO

concerning the following subjects: (1) the concept of frailty and identification of frailty, as this was required to identify the frail older people who were the program's target population; (2) providing self-management support to frail older people by thoroughly informing them and using collaborative goal setting; (3) interdisciplinary collaboration, including information about what each discipline has to offer in the care for frail older people; and (4) working with the ZWIP. Except for its educational content, the educational program also served as a method for identifying and bringing together local health care and welfare professionals involved in the care of frail older people because the program enabled professionals to get acquainted with each other. The educational meetings were held near local family practices and all local professionals working with frail older people were invited to participate. Another important strategy was that we aimed to ensure the participation of intrinsically motivated early adopters. Further, we tailored the implementation of the program to each setting by providing family medical practices with several options for implementation, which allowed them to choose the method that would best meet their local needs and circumstances. Also, we provided financial compensation for time invested in the program, gave coaching and e-coaching in using the ZWIP, and had a telephonic help desk available.

For frail older people and informal caregivers, we had two main strategies. First, we involved their family physician in the project, who actively promoted their participation. Second, we aimed to either facilitate the use of information technology or to make the use of information technology by frail older people redundant, as we were aware that they often have low computer literacy. Hence, we provided them with an Internet-based version of the ZWIP as well as a paper version of the ZWIP, which held all information that was included in the Internet-based ZWIP except for the communication; we offered them a home visit by a volunteer, who could either demonstrate the ZWIP to inform them about its possibilities or could train them in using the ZWIP themselves; and we had a telephonic help desk available during office hours.

#### Step 6: Preparing for Evaluation of the ZWIP

As a final step in the intervention mapping process, we planned the evaluation of the ZWIP. This evaluation will involve both a process evaluation and an effect evaluation. In the process evaluation, we will evaluate the implementation of the intervention, exposure of the target populations to the intervention, experiences of the target populations with the intervention, and barriers and facilitators to the use of the intervention. This will be studied using a combination of quantitative and qualitative data (ie, surveys, data about both the use of the ZWIP and exposure to its implementation strategies, and semi-structured interviews). The effects of the ZWIP program will be evaluated by means of a controlled clinical trial. Outcome measures will be the effects of the program on interprofessional collaboration, patient self-management and autonomy, patient outcomes such as functioning and quality of life, and use of care. Also, cost-effectiveness of the ZWIP will be evaluated. Last, as we consider the interprofessional educational program an important part of the implementation, the effects of this program on

interprofessional collaboration will be evaluated separately. This will be done in a before-and-after study using several validated questionnaires (ie, the Attitudes Toward Health Care Teams Scale [59], the Interprofessional Attitudes Questionnaire [60,61], and the Team Skills Scale [62]) followed by semi-structured interviews with purposively selected participants.

# Discussion

This paper describes the successful development of a program aimed at facilitating self-management and shared decision making by frail older people and their informal caregivers and at reducing fragmentation of care through improving collaboration among professionals. For this development, the intervention mapping framework was used and future users were involved extensively. In the past, this framework has also been successfully used for the development of health promotion programs aimed at such diverse topics as leg ulcers [63], physical activity of employees in sedentary occupations [64], sexually transmitted disease, pregnancy and human immunodeficiency virus prevention [65], and asthma self-management [66]. To our knowledge, this is the first time that intervention mapping was successfully used to develop an intervention that specifically targets collaboration between professionals.

A major advantage of the use of intervention mapping was that it facilitated the systematic incorporation of the needs and preferences of the target population as well as evidence from previous research. We can exemplify this with our first program objective, which concerned self-management and shared decision making. Previous research has shown that most older people prefer a less active role in medical decision making [67], but they do want to be informed, and they want their concerns and wishes to be taken into account when decisions are made [7]. Still, there is enormous variation in the extent to which older people wish to participate in decision making [7]. Therefore, we designed our program to meet the basic level of involvement wanted by most older patients (eg, by providing information about their health and customized educational materials; by including goal setting to gain knowledge of their goals and preferences; and by educating professionals in self-management support), yet made the program flexible to more extensive patient involvement in decision making (eg, by incorporating action planning for patients willing to engage in it and by facilitating patients' communication with professionals).

Further, the program benefitted from the involvement of the target populations because they brought up a wide range of knowledge and perspectives [16]. Moreover, the target populations were able to specify which problems found in the literature were considered most pressing by members of their own population because they were highly knowledgeable of their characteristics and circumstances. For example, although we initially assumed that lack of continuity of information was an important barrier to collaboration, the involvement of the working group of professionals demonstrated that more basic obstacles to collaboration existed (ie, practical problems

XSL•FO RenderX

concerning communication, such as not knowing which other professionals are involved or not being able to contact them due to differing working hours). Therefore, we decided to shift focus of the program to include facilitation of communication as well. This enabled designing a program that was tailored to meet their needs, thereby increasing the chances of an effective intervention and a successful implementation.

Although involvement of the target population was considered important, it also presented a challenge. First, involving frail older people proved to be difficult. For the limited number of frail participants in the working groups, problems such as not being able to attend the meetings due to health problems limited their ability to participate. Therefore, we also invited older people who were not frail to join the working groups. Also, for some of the frail older people participating in the semi-structured interviews, cognitive problems made it difficult for them to express their views about the rather abstract interview topics. Therefore, although frail older people were involved in the development process, their involvement was less than we would have preferred. Second, the evidence gathered from previous research and the different working groups did not always point in the same direction. An example was the discussion about whether or not all messages should be visible to everyone with access to the ZWIP. The working group of professionals was hesitant at first to make all messages visible, and the working

groups of frail older people were divided. In the end, both groups mentioned that there were instances in which they felt a private message was absolutely required. In such cases, the planning group made a final decision. These decisions were made based on a thorough deliberation on all the arguments available from the literature and the working groups as well as arguments concerning feasibility.

Although the ZWIP is a systematically developed evidence-informed intervention, its future success depends highly on its successful implementation and its use by professionals in everyday practice. Implementation and use will be monitored and adaptations will be made whenever required. Further, future use of the ZWIP in everyday practice will have to establish the added value of the communication tool of ZWIP in relation to already existing communication methods.

In summary, this article describes the successful development of the ZWIP, a personal, Internet-based conference table for multidisciplinary communication and information exchange for frail older people, their informal caregivers, and professionals. We expect that the ZWIP will be able to increase the involvement of frail older people and informal caregivers in their care and will improve collaboration among professionals. Therefore, we expect that the ZWIP will contribute to filling the gaps in our fragmented health care systems.

#### Acknowledgments

This project was funded by grant 60-61900-98-129 of the Dutch National Care for the Elderly Program, coordinated and sponsored by ZonMw, The Netherlands, an organization for health research and development. The sponsor was not involved in study design, analysis of data, writing of the report, or in the decision to submit the paper for publication.

We would like to thank Wilma Derksen-Driessen, Emile ter Horst, Leontien van Nieuwenhuijzen, and Marieke Perry for their assistance in the development of the program.

The ZOWEL NN Study Group consists of (in alphabetical order): MJM. Adriaansen (Faculty of Health and Social Sciences, HAN University of Applied Sciences); C Benraad (Pro Persona, Nijmegen); GF Borm (Department of Epidemiology, Biostatistics and HTA, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen); IJHM Cox (ZZG Health care organization, Nijmegen); D Dingemans (ZOWEL NN user forum); MM Heinen (Scientific Institute for Quality of Healthcare, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen); ME Hoogsteen-Ossewaarde (Department of Geriatric Medicine, Alzheimer Centre Nijmegen, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen); E ter Horst (Informatics Communication Academy, HAN University of Applied Sciences); R Koopmans (Department of Primary and Community Care, Centre for Family Medicine, Geriatric Care and Public Health, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen); RJF Melis (Department of Geriatric Medicine, Alzheimer Centre Nijmegen, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen); GRM Molleman (Municipal Health Service Nijmegen (GGD Nijmegen), Academic Collaborative Centre AMPHI, Department of Primary and Community Care, Centre for Family Medicine, Geriatric Care and Public Health, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen); M Nieuwboer (Shared Service Centre, Advisory Process Improvement and Innovation, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen); MGM Olde Rikkert (Department of Geriatric Medicine, Alzheimer Centre Nijmegen, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen); MCH Pepels (Foundation for the well-being of senior citizens, Nijmegen); A Persoon (Department of Geriatric Medicine, Alzheimer Centre Nijmegen, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen); PSHM Peters (De Waalboog Foundation, Nijmegen); H Schers (Department of Primary and Community Care, Centre for Family Medicine, Geriatric Care and Public Health, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen); Y Schoon (Department of Geriatric Medicine, Alzheimer Centre Nijmegen, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen); T Van Achterberg (Scientific Institute for Quality of Healthcare, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen); S Zuidema (Department of Primary and Community Care, Centre for Family Medicine, Geriatric Care and Public Health, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen), The Netherlands.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

Concept and design: SR, MHe, and RM; analysis of the data: SR, MHe, and RM; drafting of the article: SR; and critical revision of the article: MHu, TvA, SZ, MOR, HS, MHe, and RM.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### **Multimedia Appendix 1**

Performance objectives for each target population related to self-management.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 50KB - resprot\_v1i2e10\_app1.pdf]

#### Multimedia Appendix 2

Performance objectives for each target population related to collaboration.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 48KB - resprot\_v1i2e10\_app2.pdf]

#### Multimedia Appendix 3

Section of matrix of change objectives on enhancing collaboration of professionals.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 38KB - resprot\_v1i2e10\_app3.pdf]

#### References

- 1. Weiner M, Callahan CM, Tierney WM, Overhage JM, Mamlin B, Dexter PR, et al. Using information technology to improve the health care of older adults. Ann Intern Med 2003 Sep 2;139(5 Pt 2):430-436. [Medline: <u>12965971</u>]
- 2. Holman H, Lorig K. Patient self-management: a key to effectiveness and efficiency in care of chronic disease. Public Health Rep 2004 May;119(3):239-243. [doi: 10.1016/j.phr.2004.04.002] [Medline: 15158102]
- Stange KC. The problem of fragmentation and the need for integrative solutions. Ann Fam Med 2009 Mar;7(2):100-103 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1370/afm.971] [Medline: 19273863]
- 4. Johnson P, Wistow G, Schulz R, Hardy B. Interagency and interprofessional collaboration in community care: the interdependence of structures and values. J Interprof Care 2003 Feb;17(1):69-83. [Medline: <u>12772471</u>]
- 5. Bodenheimer T, Lorig K, Holman H, Grumbach K. Patient self-management of chronic disease in primary care. JAMA 2002 Nov 20;288(19):2469-2475. [Medline: 12435261]
- 6. de Haes H. Dilemmas in patient centeredness and shared decision making: a case for vulnerability. Patient Educ Couns 2006 Sep;62(3):291-298. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2006.06.012] [Medline: 16859860]
- Bastiaens H, Van Royen P, Pavlic DR, Raposo V, Baker R. Older people's preferences for involvement in their own care: a qualitative study in primary health care in 11 European countries. Patient Educ Couns 2007 Sep;68(1):33-42. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2007.03.025] [Medline: 17544239]
- 8. Edwards A, Elwyn G, Hood K, Atwell C, Robling M, Houston H, Study Steering Group. Patient-based outcome results from a cluster randomized trial of shared decision making skill development and use of risk communication aids in general practice. Fam Pract 2004 Aug;21(4):347-354 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/fampra/cmh402] [Medline: 15249521]
- Griffin SJ, Kinmonth AL, Veltman MW, Gillard S, Grant J, Stewart M. Effect on health-related outcomes of interventions to alter the interaction between patients and practitioners: a systematic review of trials. Ann Fam Med 2004 Nov;2(6):595-608 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1370/afm.142] [Medline: 15576546]
- 10. Bodenheimer T. Coordinating care--a perilous journey through the health care system. N Engl J Med 2008 Mar 6;358(10):1064-1071. [doi: 10.1056/NEJMhpr0706165] [Medline: 18322289]
- 11. Haggerty JL, Reid RJ, Freeman GK, Starfield BH, Adair CE, McKendry R. Continuity of care: a multidisciplinary review. BMJ 2003 Nov 22;327(7425):1219-1221. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.327.7425.1219] [Medline: 14630762]
- 12. van Walraven C, Oake N, Jennings A, Forster AJ. The association between continuity of care and outcomes: a systematic and critical review. J Eval Clin Pract 2010 Oct;16(5):947-956. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2753.2009.01235.x] [Medline: 20553366]
- Schoen C, Osborn R, Huynh PT, Doty M, Davis K, Zapert K, et al. Primary care and health system performance: adults' experiences in five countries. Health Aff (Millwood) 2004 Jul;Suppl Web Exclusives:W4-487. [doi: <u>10.1377/hlthaff.w4.487</u>] [Medline: <u>15513956</u>]
- 14. Committee on Quality Health Care in America, Institute of Medicine. Crossing the quality chasm: a new health system for the 21st century. Washington, DC: National Academy Press; 2001.
- 15. Stille CJ, Jerant A, Bell D, Meltzer D, Elmore JG. Coordinating care across diseases, settings, and clinicians: a key role for the generalist in practice. Ann Intern Med 2005 Apr 19;142(8):700-708. [Medline: <u>15838089</u>]

- 16. Bartholomew LK, Parcel GS, Kok G, Gottlieb NH. Planning Health Promotion Programs: An Intervention Mapping Approach. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass; 2006.
- 17. Green LW, Kreuter MW. Health Program Planning: An Educational and Ecological Approach. New York: McGraw-Hill; 2005.
- Bayliss EA, Steiner JF, Fernald DH, Crane LA, Main DS. Descriptions of barriers to self-care by persons with comorbid chronic diseases. Ann Fam Med 2003 May;1(1):15-21 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15043175]
- 19. Bayliss EA, Ellis JL, Steiner JF. Barriers to self-management and quality-of-life outcomes in seniors with multimorbidities. Ann Fam Med 2007;5(5):395-402 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1370/afm.722] [Medline: 17893380]
- Bayliss EA, Bosworth HB, Noel PH, Wolff JL, Damush TM, Mciver L. Supporting self-management for patients with complex medical needs: recommendations of a working group. Chronic Illn 2007 Jun;3(2):167-175. [doi: 10.1177/1742395307081501] [Medline: 18083671]
- 21. Bentley J. Older people as health service consumers 4: disempowered or disinterested? Br J Community Nurs 2003 Apr;8(4):181-187. [Medline: 12732835]
- 22. Coulter A, Ellins J. Effectiveness of strategies for informing, educating, and involving patients. BMJ 2007 Jul 7;335(7609):24-27. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.39246.581169.80] [Medline: 17615222]
- 23. DiMatteo MR. Variations in patients' adherence to medical recommendations: a quantitative review of 50 years of research. Med Care 2004 Mar;42(3):200-209. [Medline: 15076819]
- Horwitz RI, Viscoli CM, Berkman L, Donaldson RM, Horwitz SM, Murray CJ, et al. Treatment adherence and risk of death after a myocardial infarction. Lancet 1990 Sep 1;336(8714):542-545. [Medline: <u>1975045</u>]
- 25. Jeon YH, Jowsey T, Yen L, Glasgow NJ, Essue B, Kljakovic M, et al. Achieving a balanced life in the face of chronic illness. Aust J Prim Health 2010;16(1):66-74. [Medline: 21133301]
- 26. Jerant AF, von Friederichs-Fitzwater MM, Moore M. Patients' perceived barriers to active self-management of chronic conditions. Patient Educ Couns 2005 Jun;57(3):300-307. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2004.08.004</u>] [Medline: <u>15893212</u>]
- 27. Lorig K. Self-management education: more than a nice extra. Med Care 2003 Jun;41(6):699-701. [doi: 10.1097/01.MLR.0000072811.54551.38] [Medline: 12773834]
- 28. Mancuso CA, Rincon M, McCulloch CE, Charlson ME. Self-efficacy, depressive symptoms, and patients' expectations predict outcomes in asthma. Med Care 2001 Dec;39(12):1326-1338. [Medline: <u>11717574</u>]
- 29. Noël PH, Frueh BC, Larme AC, Pugh JA. Collaborative care needs and preferences of primary care patients with multimorbidity. Health Expect 2005 Mar;8(1):54-63. [doi: 10.1111/j.1369-7625.2004.00312.x] [Medline: 15713171]
- 30. Rost K, Frankel R. The introduction of the older patient's problems in the medical visit. J Aging Health 1993 Aug;5(3):387-401. [Medline: 10127175]
- 31. Rotar-Pavlic D, Svab I, Wetzels R. How do older patients and their GPs evaluate shared decision-making in healthcare? BMC Geriatr 2008;8:9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2318-8-9] [Medline: 18452620]
- 32. Warwick M, Gallagher R, Chenoweth L, Stein-Parbury J. Self-management and symptom monitoring among older adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Adv Nurs 2010 Apr;66(4):784-793. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2648.2009.05238.x</u>] [Medline: <u>20423366</u>]
- 33. Wetzels R, Geest TA, Wensing M, Ferreira PL, Grol R, Baker R. GPs' views on involvement of older patients: an European qualitative study. Patient Educ Couns 2004 May;53(2):183-188. [doi: 10.1016/S0738-3991(03)00145-9] [Medline: 15140458]
- 34. Yen L, Gillespie J, Rn YH, Kljakovic M, Anne Brien J, Jan S, et al. Health professionals, patients and chronic illness policy: a qualitative study. Health Expect 2011 Mar;14(1):10-20. [doi: 10.1111/j.1369-7625.2010.00604.x] [Medline: 20550589]
- 35. Beaulieu MD, Samson L, Rocher G, Rioux M, Boucher L, Del Grande C. Investigating the barriers to teaching family physicians' and specialists' collaboration in the training environment: a qualitative study. BMC Med Educ 2009;9:31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6920-9-31] [Medline: 19500409]
- 36. Bradshaw PL. Service user involvement in the NHS in England: genuine user participation or a dogma-driven folly? J Nurs Manag 2008 Sep;16(6):673-681. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2834.2008.00910.x] [Medline: 18808461]
- Cook G, Klein B. Involvement of older people in care, service and policy planning. J Clin Nurs 2005 Mar;14 Suppl 1:43-47. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2702.2005.01159.x</u>] [Medline: <u>15819659</u>]
- 38. Davies S, Laker S, Ellis L. Promoting autonomy and independence for older people within nursing practice: a literature review. J Adv Nurs 1997 Aug;26(2):408-417. [Medline: <u>9292377</u>]
- 39. Fewster-Thuente L, Velsor-Friedrich B. Interdisciplinary collaboration for healthcare professionals. Nurs Adm Q 2008 Jan;32(1):40-48. [doi: 10.1097/01.NAQ.0000305946.31193.61] [Medline: 18160862]
- 40. Freeth D. Sustaining interprofessional collaboration. J Interprof Care 2001 Feb;15(1):37-46. [Medline: <u>11705069</u>]
- 41. Gandhi TK, Sittig DF, Franklin M, Sussman AJ, Fairchild DG, Bates DW. Communication breakdown in the outpatient referral process. J Gen Intern Med 2000 Sep;15(9):626-631. [Medline: <u>11029676</u>]
- 42. Gerardi D, Fontaine DK. True collaboration: envisioning new ways of working together. AACN Adv Crit Care 2007 Jan;18(1):10-14. [Medline: <u>17284943</u>]
- 43. Horder J. Interprofessional collaboration and interprofessional education. Br J Gen Pract 2004 Apr;54(501):243-245. [Medline: <u>15113488</u>]

- 44. Kripalani S, LeFevre F, Phillips CO, Williams MV, Basaviah P, Baker DW. Deficits in communication and information transfer between hospital-based and primary care physicians: implications for patient safety and continuity of care. JAMA 2007 Feb 28;297(8):831-841. [doi: 10.1001/jama.297.8.831] [Medline: 17327525]
- 45. San Martín-Rodríguez L, Beaulieu MD, D'Amour D, Ferrada-Videla M. The determinants of successful collaboration: a review of theoretical and empirical studies. J Interprof Care 2005 May;19 Suppl 1:132-147. [doi: 10.1080/13561820500082677] [Medline: 16096151]
- 46. Sargeant J, Loney E, Murphy G. Effective interprofessional teams: "contact is not enough" to build a team. J Contin Educ Health Prof 2008;28(4):228-234. [doi: 10.1002/chp.189] [Medline: 19058243]
- 47. Suter E, Arndt J, Arthur N, Parboosingh J, Taylor E, Deutschlander S. Role understanding and effective communication as core competencies for collaborative practice. J Interprof Care 2009 Jan;23(1):41-51. [doi: <u>10.1080/13561820802338579</u>] [Medline: <u>19142782</u>]
- 48. Xyrichis A, Lowton K. What fosters or prevents interprofessional teamworking in primary and community care? A literature review. Int J Nurs Stud 2008 Jan;45(1):140-153. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2007.01.015</u>] [Medline: <u>17383655</u>]
- 49. Weller JM, Barrow M, Gasquoine S. Interprofessional collaboration among junior doctors and nurses in the hospital setting. Med Educ 2011 May;45(5):478-487. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2923.2010.03919.x] [Medline: 21414024]
- 50. Schäfer W, Kroneman M, Boerma W, van den Berg M, Westert G, Devillé W, et al. The Netherlands: health system review. Health Syst Transit 2010;12(1):v-xxvii, 1 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 21132996]
- 51. Bandura A. Health promotion by social cognitive means. Health Educ Behav 2004 Apr;31(2):143-164. [doi: 10.1177/1090198104263660] [Medline: 15090118]
- 52. McAlister AL, Perry CL, Parcel GS. How individuals, environments, health behaviors interact: social cognitive theory. In: Health Behavior and Health Education: Theory, Research, and Practice. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass; 2008:169-188.
- 53. Lorig KR, Ritter PL, Laurent DD, Plant K. Internet-based chronic disease self-management: a randomized trial. Med Care 2006 Nov;44(11):964-971. [doi: 10.1097/01.mlr.0000233678.80203.c1] [Medline: 17063127]
- 54. Lorig KR, Sobel DS, Stewart AL, Brown BW, Bandura A, Ritter P, et al. Evidence suggesting that a chronic disease self-management program can improve health status while reducing hospitalization: a randomized trial. Med Care 1999 Jan;37(1):5-14. [Medline: 10413387]
- 55. Bandura A. Self-efficacy. In: Ramachaudran VS, editor. Encyclopedia of Human Behavior. San Diego, CA: Academic Press; 1994:71-81.
- 56. Locke EA, Latham GP. Building a practically useful theory of goal setting and task motivation. A 35-year odyssey. Am Psychol 2002 Sep;57(9):705-717. [Medline: <u>12237980</u>]
- 57. Bodenheimer T, Handley MA. Goal-setting for behavior change in primary care: an exploration and status report. Patient Educ Couns 2009 Aug;76(2):174-180. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2009.06.001] [Medline: 19560895]
- 58. Butterfoss F, Kegler M, Francisco VT. Mobilizing organizations for health promotion: theories of organizational change. In: Health Behavior and Health Education: Theory, Research, and Practice. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass; 2008:335-361.
- 59. Heinemann GD, Schmitt MH, Farrell MP, Brallier SA. Development of an Attitudes Toward Health Care Teams Scale. Eval Health Prof 1999 Mar;22(1):123-142. [Medline: 10350960]
- 60. Carpenter J. Interprofessional education for medical and nursing students: evaluation of a programme. Med Educ 1995 Jul;29(4):265-272. [Medline: <u>8594389</u>]
- 61. Carpenter J. Doctors and nurses: stereotypes and stereotype change in interprofessional education. Journal of Interprofessional Care 1995;9(2):151-161. [doi: 10.3109/13561829509047849]
- 62. Hepburn K, Tsukuda RA, Fasser C. Team skills scale. In: Geriatric Interdisciplinary Team Training. New York: Springer Pub Co; 1998:264-265.
- 63. Heinen MM, Bartholomew LK, Wensing M, van de Kerkhof P, van Achterberg T. Supporting adherence and healthy lifestyles in leg ulcer patients: systematic development of the Lively Legs program for dermatology outpatient clinics. Patient Educ Couns 2006 May;61(2):279-291. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2005.04.007] [Medline: 15964733]
- McEachan RR, Lawton RJ, Jackson C, Conner M, Lunt J. Evidence, theory and context: using intervention mapping to develop a worksite physical activity intervention. BMC Public Health 2008;8:326 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-8-326] [Medline: 18808709]
- 65. Tortolero SR, Markham CM, Parcel GS, Peters RJ, Escobar-Chaves SL, Basen-Engquist K, et al. Using intervention mapping to adapt an effective HIV, sexually transmitted disease, and pregnancy prevention program for high-risk minority youth. Health Promot Pract 2005 Jul;6(3):286-298. [doi: 10.1177/1524839904266472] [Medline: 16020623]
- 66. Bartholomew LK, Shegog R, Parcel GS, Gold RS, Fernandez M, Czyzewski DI, et al. Watch, Discover, Think, and Act: a model for patient education program development. Patient Educ Couns 2000 Feb;39(2-3):253-268. [Medline: <u>11040725</u>]
- 67. Say R, Murtagh M, Thomson R. Patients' preference for involvement in medical decision making: a narrative review. Patient Educ Couns 2006 Feb;60(2):102-114. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2005.02.003] [Medline: 16442453]

## Abbreviations

RenderX

**EHR:** electronic health record


# **PHR:** personal health record **ZWIP:** Health and Welfare Information Portal

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 26.09.11; peer-reviewed by F Richy; comments to author 15.01.12; revised version received 28.02.12; accepted 26.06.12; published 19.09.12.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Robben SHM, Huisjes M, van Achterberg T, Zuidema SU, Olde Rikkert MGM, Schers HJ, Heinen MM, Melis RJF, For The ZOWEL NN Study Group Filling the Gaps in a Fragmented Health Care System: Development of the Health and Welfare Information Portal (ZWIP) JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e10 URL: <u>http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e10/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/resprot.1945</u> PMID:<u>23611877</u>

©Sarah HM Robben, Mirjam Huisjes, Theo van Achterberg, Sytse U Zuidema, Marcel GM Olde Rikkert, Henk J Schers, Maud M Heinen, René JF Melis, For The ZOWEL NN Study Group. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 19.09.2012. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# Electronic Problem-Solving Treatment: Description and Pilot Study of an Interactive Media Treatment for Depression

James Albert Cartreine<sup>1,2</sup>, PhD; Steven E Locke<sup>3,4</sup>, MD; Jay C Buckey<sup>5</sup>, MD; Luis Sandoval<sup>6</sup>, MA; Mark T Hegel<sup>7</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Program on Behavioral Informatics and eHealth, Department of Psychiatry, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA, United States

<sup>2</sup>Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

- <sup>5</sup>The Undersea and Space Medicine Research Lab, Department of Medicine, The Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth, Lebanon, NH, United States <sup>6</sup>Department of Educational Psychology, University of Texas, Austin, TX, United States
- <sup>7</sup>Division of Behavioral Medicine, Department of Psychiatry, The Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth, Lebanon, NH, United States

# **Corresponding Author:**

James Albert Cartreine, PhD Program on Behavioral Informatics and eHealth Department of Psychiatry Brigham and Women's Hospital 1249 Boylston Ave, 3rd Floor Boston, MA, 02120 United States Phone: 1 617 525 6164 Fax: 1 617 525 6169 Email: jcartreine@partners.org

# Abstract

**Background:** Computer-automated depression interventions rely heavily on users reading text to receive the intervention. However, text-delivered interventions place a burden on persons with depression and convey only verbal content.

**Objective:** The primary aim of this project was to develop a computer-automated treatment for depression that is delivered via interactive media technology. By using branching video and audio, the program simulates the experience of being in therapy with a master clinician who provides six sessions of problem-solving therapy. A secondary objective was to conduct a pilot study of the program's usability, acceptability, and credibility, and to obtain an initial estimate of its efficacy.

**Methods:** The program was produced in a professional multimedia production facility and incorporates video, audio, graphics, animation, and text. Failure analyses of patient data are conducted across sessions and across problems to identify ways to help the user improve his or her problem solving. A pilot study was conducted with persons who had minor depression. An experimental group (n = 7) used the program while a waitlist control group (n = 7) was provided with no treatment for 6 weeks.

**Results:** All of the experimental group participants completed the trial, whereas 1 from the control was lost to follow-up. Experimental group participants rated the program high on usability, acceptability, and credibility. The study was not powered to detect clinical improvement, although these pilot data are encouraging.

**Conclusions:** Although the study was not powered to detect treatment effects, participants did find the program highly usable, acceptable, and credible. This suggests that the highly interactive and immersive nature of the program is beneficial. Further clinical trials are warranted.

**Trial Registration:** ClinicalTrials.gov NCT00906581; http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00906581 (Archived by WebCite at http://www.webcitation.org/6A5Ni5HUp)

# (JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e11) doi:10.2196/resprot.1925

# **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

Depression; problem-solving therapy; computer-based therapy; interactive media; Internet intervention; problem-solving treatment; cognitive behavioral therapy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Department of Psychiatry, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Department of Psychiatry, Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center, Boston, MA, United States

# Introduction

Until now, one commonality among computer-automated depression interventions has been a heavy reliance on users reading text to receive the intervention. However, these interventions have not fully exploited the capacity of computers to deliver interactive media [1] to guide treatment. However, text-delivered interventions place a burden on persons with depression because these users may lack the literacy, concentration, or energy or motivation needed to read large quantities of text. Moreover, text conveys only verbal content, not the nonverbal cues (ie, body language and prosody) that an empathic therapist would use. Text alone cannot simulate the psychotherapy experience with high fidelity.

Programs can be designed to respond to users' inputs by playing video and audio clips, based on branching algorithms, to guide users through evidence-based treatments. Such programs could deliver some of the nonspecific aspects of therapy by conveying an on-camera therapist's warmth, personality, compassion, and ability to remain supportive when the patient experiences setbacks [2].

The purpose of this study was to explore the possibility of using interactive media—particularly video—to deliver computer-automated treatment for depression. This paper describes an interactive multimedia program that provides an automated electronic version of problem-solving therapy (*ePST*) for depression and is designed to simulate the experience of being in treatment with a master clinician. It also reports a pilot study that was conducted with 14 persons with minor depression.

# **Problem-Solving Treatment**

The ePST program is directly based on a manualized, evidence-based treatment for depression known problem-solving treatment for primary care (PST-PC). PST-PC has been demonstrated to be effective for the treatment of depression [3-5]. (For a detailed description of PST-PC, see Hegel and Arean [6].) The basis of PST-PC is that enhancing problem-solving skills and attitudes and working to solve problems in one's life can reduce depression. PST-PC involves 6 steps: (1) clarifying the problem, (2) establishing an achievable goal, (3) brainstorming alternative solutions, (4) evaluating the pros and cons of each solution and selecting one or more solutions, (5) developing an action plan to implement the solution(s), and (6) evaluating the success of the implementation and troubleshooting as needed. Each session concludes with scheduling pleasant activities.

The mechanism by which problem-solving treatment works has not yet been clearly identified [7]. PST-PC activates individuals to take steps toward changing their situation. Evidence is emerging to suggest that, along with typical predictors of improvement such as treatment adherence [8], the most important element of PST-PC for overcoming depression may be helping the patient to overcome an avoidant coping style [7,9]. Because PST-PC has strong face validity and is easy for most patients to understand, acceptance and satisfaction from patients is high, with very low dropout rates, as reported in clinical trials of PST-PC [5,10].

#### http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e11/

#### The ePST Program

#### Purpose

An interactive media program was produced to deliver *ePST*. The goal of *ePST* was to automate an empirically supported treatment and to provide it in the context of a simulated helping relationship. The *ePST* program was built for the US National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) as part of a suite of self-guided programs to help astronauts manage their own psychosocial problems on long missions [11]. The system is used autonomously, confidentially, and in a self-directed manner. Although the development of *ePST* was funded by NASA, it was designed to also be evaluated among the public with a wide variety of patients. Therefore, a NASA and a general public version were produced, which differ only by a few video clips. As such, *ePST* is intended for use by both astronauts and nonastronauts.

#### **Theoretical Underpinning**

ePST is based on the Virtual Practicum Model [12,13], an approach to designing professional education programs, which is based on Boisot's "epistemological space" [14], Kolb's "learning cycles" [15], and Schon's "reflective practicums" [16]. The Virtual Practicum Model has been used to teach clinicians how to conduct counseling in prevention of human immunodeficiency virus infection [17], manage patients with human immunodeficiency virus/acquired immunodeficiency syndrome [18], and conduct genetic counseling and testing [19]. The basis of the Virtual Practicum Model is the simulation of the interactive experience of being trained one-on-one by a master clinician-a practitioner who is both a master of his or her specialty and a master teacher. The goal of the program is to provide trainees both the concrete information they need to manage clinical cases and to impart the soft skills needed to interact effectively with patients, and the case conceptualization skills needed to understand each unique case. ePST builds on the Virtual Practicum Model by providing persons seeking treatment for depression an opportunity to receive treatment (in a simulated fashion) from a master clinician (author MTH) who is an expert in problem-solving treatment. However, not only does the on-camera clinician walk the user through the concrete steps of problem-solving treatment, he conveys warmth and empathy—the soft skills of a skilled psychotherapist. The goal of both the VPM and ePST is for users to receive training or treatment from an expert in the field, and thereby to increase the number of persons who can benefit from that professional.

# **Program Walk-Through**

*ePST* is a multimedia-based, video-intensive program that simulates therapy based on the PST-PC treatment manual [6]. It includes six sessions, intended to be completed once per week. In each session, users are welcomed by a therapist (author MTH) presented via audio and video, who appears in a warmly lit professional office. The user then completes the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) [20] measure of depression. Tailored feedback about his or her progress is provided by the virtual therapist, discussing the user's current level of depression and change from the previous session (see Figure 1).

XSL•FC RenderX

The first session provides psychoeducation about depression and the process of problem-solving treatment; subsequent sessions offer decreasing guidance on the process of problem-solving treatment. During each session, the virtual therapist guides users through all steps of problem-solving treatment, plus making a list of enjoyable activities (entering their own or choosing from an extensive list of common activities) and scheduling them for the week.

Sessions 2 through 6 begin with a check-in on all active problems. The therapist provides feedback about the user's success or failure in solving problems compared with the previous session and helps him or her identify ways to improve problem solving, both on individual problems and in general.

Although the process of problem solving remains consistent throughout the program, a variety of audio and video clips are used to maintain a sense of novelty in each session and to respond to user inputs. At the end of the treatment session, the program produces a printout that summarizes the work the user has done on each problem, including his or her action plans, plus a day-by-day schedule of enjoyable activities for the coming week.

The program's interfaces are designed for ease of use: where free text entry is requested, no other options are available to the user; where menus are used, five or fewer choices are generally made available. Nonetheless, in the background a highly complex program is running, with substantial branching of video and audio, failure analysis algorithms, and data handling methods that adapt to the user's clinical status and problem-solving history within *ePST*.

Fogg and colleagues have identified factors that engender users' trust in software or websites and found that the credibility depends largely on three factors: (1) the usability of the program (especially that it does what the user expects it to do at any given moment), (2) the brand or source behind it, and (3) the professionalism of the interface and media [21,22]. If a program behaves in an unpredictable manner, is presented by an unknown entity, or looks amateurish, users are unlikely to trust it. An effort was made to enhance the credibility of ePST by addressing these three domains: (1) the program was designed to be simple to use and went through initial usability testing by persons who had been treated for depression, (2) familiar brands are referenced in the program (Harvard, NASA, Dartmouth), and (3) the video and audio for *ePST* were produced in a broadcast television facility, meeting industry standards for production values, and ePST's interfaces were developed by professional graphic artists.

The initial version of the program was delivered via universal serial bus flash drive, which is a convenient format for astronauts, since they often train in settings without Internet access, and bandwidth on space missions is limited. However, *ePST* can readily be adapted for delivery via the Internet.

Figure 1. Virtual therapist discusses the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) results with the user. Information is provided both graphically and on video.





Render)

# **Unique Characteristics**

*ePST* advances the field of computer-automated interventions for depression by (1) approximating actual treatment via the use of rich media, (2) minimizing the amount of text that a user needs to read, and (3) performing failure analyses to assist users to improve their problem-solving effectiveness.

# Rich Media and the Approximation of Therapy in ePST

Information richness refers to "the potential information carrying capacity of data" [23]. Media can be ranked on richness by the number of channels of communication they employ: verbal (the words said), paraverbal (how they are said), and nonverbal (body language) communication [24]. Although some information is best conveyed by text (eg, procedures or numerical data), emotionally laden information is more effectively communicated with richer media [25]. Psychotherapy falls into the latter category. Through rich media (branching video and audio clips tailored to users' inputs), a conversation is approximated between the user and a competent, caring therapist. The intent is to make the *ePST* program feel more like interacting with a person than with a computer. ePST contains 148 video and 225 audio clips, although each user receives only a fraction of them, based on his or her clinical status and what he or she does in the program.

# Minimization of Text in ePST

Although *ePST* was created for one of the most highly educated groups of individuals in the world—astronauts—it requires less reading skill than most self-help programs, due to the extensive use of audio and video. Text on the screen is written at a low literacy level, mainly limited to labels and occasional short sentences. The user does need to be able to input free text to write his or her own problem statement, goals, and action plan; however, proper grammar and spelling are not required. The writing skill necessary is comparable to that required for sending text messages or emails.

# **Failure Analyses in ePST**

In in-person problem-solving treatment, a therapist guides the client and provides feedback on how he or she could improve on problem solving. However, without a therapist, the challenge of ePST is to guide users through the process of problem-solving treatment while simultaneously teaching them how to evaluate and improve their own work. Failure analysis is a process of examining failures, identifying reasons for them, and planning how to prevent them in the future. It is used in engineering [26], business [27], and software design [28,29]. Through failure analysis algorithms in ePST, the computer assists users to identify ways to improve their problem solving in general and where to revise work on specific problems, much as a live therapist would do. In this way, ePST tailors each session to what the user has done in the program, thus far.

# **Pilot Study Research Questions**

The primary purpose of the pilot study was to test research methods and collect preliminary data on which to base a larger clinical trial of *ePST*. As such, we posed the following research questions, noting that the number of participants would likely

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e11/
```

XSL•FO RenderX not be sufficient to test hypotheses: (1) To what extent do participants find ePST to be usable? (2) To what extent do participants find ePST to be acceptable and credible? and (3) To what extent do participants who use ePST improve in depression, compared with those who do not use it?

# Methods

We conducted a feasibility study to establish the methods to be used in a future clinical trial and to elicit initial reactions to the program. The study was conducted at the General Clinical Research Center at Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center in Boston, MA, USA, and was approved by its institutional review board.

# **Participants**

Because there are fewer than 100 astronauts [30] (and most do not have depression at any given point), it is necessary to study persons who bear some demographic similarities to astronauts. To support generalization from the test population to astronauts, each participant was between the ages of 30 and 60 years, had completed at least 4 years of college, used a computer at least twice per week, and read and spoke English well enough to use the program. We enrolled only persons meeting the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, 4th edition, text revision (DSM-IV-TR) [31] criteria for minor depression and scoring higher than 10 (moderate or worse depressive symptom severity) on the self-report 17-item Hamilton Depression Inventory (HDI) [32].

Exclusion criteria were a history of bipolar disorder or schizophrenia, current substance abuse or dependence, dysthymic disorder, or neurological disorders. Study participants with active suicidal ideation, self-injurious behavior, or previous suicide attempts were also excluded.

# Procedures

We sent 500 email messages to persons listed on a registry of those interested in receiving information about clinical trials for depression. Of these, 104 persons responded. A total of 54 phone screening interviews (to establish age, education, computer experience, and exclusionary diagnoses obtained by history) were successfully completed. Others did not respond to messages. Of the 54 persons screened, we excluded 40 (26 lacked the required education level, 5 reported suicidal ideation or attempts, 4 were excluded for other psychiatric or medical conditions, and 5 were unavailable during the study timeframe). All persons excluded from the study were provided a list of referrals for treatment. This left 14 individuals, who were invited for in-person evaluation. All 14 met eligibility criteria and were enrolled in the study. We randomly assigned 7 participants to each condition.

We conducted the Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI) [33] to establish enrollment eligibility. After enrollment, a baseline assessment was administered and participants were assigned to the waitlist control or *ePST* experimental groups using block randomization to ensure equal numbers of participants in each group. Because the number of available participants was small, we made no attempt to balance groups on any variable.

Participants in the ePST condition were requested to use the program weekly on site at the clinic, although they were permitted to schedule sessions less frequently. However, we decided a priori that a longer than 3-week interval between sessions would be considered a protocol violation. We contacted persons in the waitlist (control) group 3 weeks after enrollment to assess depression and safety. A follow-up assessment of depression was conducted at week 6 for control group participants and at posttreatment 1 week after the final ePST session (nominally at 7 weeks) for ePST group participants. We conducted an additional follow-up with those in the ePST group 4 weeks after they completed ePST. Participants received payment based on the number of times they were required to visit the clinic: nine times for the ePST participants for a total of US \$470 and twice for the waitlist participants for a total of US \$170. Following the week 6 assessment, waitlist participants were offered off-study use of the *ePST* program.

#### Measures

#### Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview

The MINI is a short structured diagnostic interview for DSM-IV-TR psychiatric disorders [33]. The MINI demonstrates strong diagnostic concordance with the structured clinical interview for the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, 3rd edition, revised, diagnosis of major depression, with Cohen kappa of 0.84, and sensitivity (0.96), specificity (0.88), positive predictive value (0.87), and negative predictive value (0.97) likewise strong [33]. We used the MINI in the enrollment interview only.

# Hamilton Depression Inventory-17 Item

The HDI [34] is a self-report measure of 17 depressive symptoms used to assess depressive symptom severity over the previous 2 weeks. It emulates the 17-item clinician-administered Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HDRS) [35]. The response format for individual items varies in scoring from 0 to 2 or 0 to 4 regarding frequency and severity of symptoms, and a total score algorithm is modeled after the HDRS. Scores range from 0 to 53. Consistent with the HDRS, in the HDI scores less than 7 are considered normal, 8-13 indicate mild depression, 14-18 indicate moderate depression, and scores above 18 indicate severe depression.

The HDI shows strong internal consistency (coefficient alpha = .91), strong test-retest reliability (r = .96), and strong convergent validity with the clinician-administered HDRS (r = .95) and the self-administered Beck Depression Inventory (developed by Beck and colleagues in 1961) (r = .92). Factor analysis showed an expected loading of the majority of items on one factor characterized as "depressed mood-demoralization," which accounted for 43% of the variance in the measure [34].

#### System Usability Scale

The System Usability Scale (SUS) is a 10-item self-report measure of the ease of using computer programs [36,37]. Items are scored on a 5-point scale (0-4) on the strength of agreement with each of 10 statements (eg, "I found the system unnecessarily complex," "I felt very confident using the program"). Cronbach alpha for interitem agreement is a robust

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e11/

.91. Factor analysis shows only one significant factor, suggesting that the overall score is the best measure of usability. The sum of the individual items (range 0-40) is multiplied by 2.5 to obtain the total score, ranging from 0 to 100, with higher scores indicating better usability. The scale was administered to *ePST* participants after session 1 and session 6 of *ePST*.

# Credibility Questionnaire

The Credibility Questionnaire (Cred-Q) is a 9-item survey created for this study from several sources. It comprises questions from the research of Fogg and colleagues [22,38] used to assess the credibility of computer programs in general, plus questions about psychotherapy credibility developed by Borkovec and Nau [39]. It also includes 2 items from an in-person problem-solving treatment acceptability study by Thornett and Mynors-Wallis [40]. Examples from the scale are "How much do you believe what the program tells you?" and "How much do you trust the program to help you?", to which the user responds on a 10-point scale (1 = not at all; 10 = completely). The Cred-Q was administered at week 7 to the *ePST* participants.

# Assessment of Self-Guided Treatment

The Assessment of Self-Guided Treatment (AST) is an unpublished measure (written personal communication with C Zayfert, PhD, The Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth, August 2003) that we adapted for this study to assess the acceptability of the *ePST* self-guided treatment program. This instrument included 16 statements (eg, "Doing problem-solving treatment using this program was acceptable to me," "I would feel comfortable using this program without a clinician's supervision") that the user responded to on a 7-point scale, which ranged from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree).

Participants completed the HDI before using the ePST program and at 1- and 4-week follow-ups after completing ePST. The SUS was completed after sessions 1 and 6, the Cred-Q after session 5, and the AST after session 4.

#### Analyses

We recruited a sample of 14 participants, 7 per group. Because the primary aims of this evaluation were to gauge the usability and acceptability of *ePST* and refine the evaluation procedures, the number of participants was based on resources available, not on a power analysis. For the pilot study, due to the small sample size, nonparametric statistical analyses were conducted on all measures. These included the Wilcoxon signed rank test and the Mann-Whitney *U* test. Cronbach alpha was calculated for Cred-Q and AST. The numerical values are presented with mean (SD) or median (range), or both. We used the Statistical Analysis Software (SAS) program, version 9.3 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA) for the analysis.

# Results

# **Participants and Group Equivalence**

As Figure 2 shows, 54 persons responded to an advertisement for the study and were screened by telephone. A total of 35 of them did not meet all inclusion criteria and 5 were excluded for other reasons; 14 participants were enrolled.

XSL•FO RenderX

Mean HDI scores for the *ePST* group at pretreatment were 15.61 (SD 9.64), and the median score was 15.4 (range 3.2–31.1). For the waitlist control group, the mean HDI score was 18.71 (SD 6.65) and the median was also 15.4 (range 11.4–26). A

Mann-Whitney U test indicated no significant difference in HDI scores between the groups (P = .62) at baseline. We did note demographic differences between the groups (see Table 1).



#### Table 1. Participant demographics.

Characteristic	Waitlist $(n = 7)$	$ePST^{a}$ (n = 7)
Age (years), mean (SD)	52.1 (7.7)	48.6 (10.2)
Female, n (%)	5 (71%)	5 (71%)
Race, n		
White	6	7
Black	1	0
Ethnicity, n		
Hispanic	2	0
Other	5	7

<sup>a</sup> Electronic problem-solving treatment.

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e11/

#### Cartreine et al

# **Treatment Completion**

One participant in the control group was lost to follow-up. All *ePST* group participants completed all *ePST* sessions and posttreatment evaluations; however, 2 persons had a gap of greater than 3 weeks between two sessions, constituting a protocol violation. They were permitted to continue using *ePST*, and we conducted separate analyses on the intent-to-treat sample (n = 13) and the subset completing treatment according to the protocol (n = 11). The mean time to complete each session was 53 (SD 31) minutes, with earlier sessions running longer than later ones.

# Usability, acceptability, and Credibility

The *ePST* group completed the SUS after session 1 and session 6. On the 100-point SUS, the mean score was 80.36 (SD 19.28)

and median was 85 (range 42.5–97.5) after session 1. After session 6, the mean SUS was 85.36 (SD 15.91) and median was 95 (range 57.5–100). No significant difference was found for the SUS between the two time points (P < .09; Wilcoxon signed rank test).

Cronbach alpha was .922 for the Cred-Q and .830 for the AST. Nonetheless, since the Cred-Q was created for this study and since data have not been previously published on the AST, an item-level analysis of those questionnaires is more appropriate than summary data. Mean and median scores for each Cred-Q item are presented in Table 2; AST scores are presented in Table 3.

Table 2.	Credibility	Ouestionnaire	scores (	(n = 7)	).
	createring	2 acononnan e			,.

Credibility item	Mean (SD)	Median (range)
How much do you believe what the program tells you?	7.71 (1.89)	8 (4–10)
How much do you trust the program to help you?	7.43 (2.23)	8 (3–10)
How competent is the program at treating depression?	7.43 (1.90)	8 (4–10)
How credible is the program?	7.71 (2.50)	8 (3–10)
How unbiased is the program?	7.57 (2.82)	8 (2–10)
How expert is the program?	7.86 (1.35)	8 (6–10)
How logical is the treatment?	8.43 (1.27)	8 (7–10)
How much do you think your depression got better?	7.14 (2.34)	8 (3–10)
How much would you recommend the treatment program to a family member or a friend?	7.86 (2.54)	8 (3–10)



Table 3. Acceptability of Self-guided Treatment Questionnaire scores (n = 7).

Item	Mean (SD)	Median (range)
I felt comfortable using the computer	6.00 (1.53)	7 (3–7)
Doing problem-solving treatment using this program was acceptable to me	6.29 (1.11)	7 (4–7)
Using the program helped me to do problem-solving treatment	6.14 (1.07)	6 (4–7)
I would rather do problem-solving treatment with a therapist than with the computer	5.00 (1.41)	4 (4–7)
I would rather use a computer to help myself privately than go to a therapist $% \mathcal{A}^{(n)}$	5.00 (0.82)	5 (4-6)
Computer programs can help people with emotional problems, such as depression	5.57 (1.72)	6 (2–7)
I would feel comfortable using this program without a clinician's supervision	6.43 (0.79)	7 (5–7)
I felt safe using the program to do problem-solving treatment	5.29 (1.38)	5 (4–7)
I would feel safe doing self-guided treatment for depression on my own without a clinician's supervision	6.00 (1.00)	6 (5–7)
I would recommend this program to a friend who was also in need of treatment for depression	5.71 (0.76)	6 (5–7)
Using the program helped me to feel better	6.00 (1.29)	7 (4–7)
I believe I would feel comfortable using the program at home on my own computer	5.86 (0.90)	6 (5–7)
I felt comfortable answering questions about my depression symptoms using this program	4.14 (0.69)	4 (3–5)
Using the program helped me to cope with my depression in real life	4.86 (0.38)	5 (4–5)
I felt comfortable using this program without a clinician's assistance	5.86 (1.07)	6 (4–7)
Following the program's guidelines for in-between session tasks and homework was acceptable to me	6.14 (0.69)	6 (5–7)

#### **Effects on Depression**

At posttreatment, in the intent-to-treat analysis (n = 7), the mean HDI score for persons who received *ePST* was 8.81 (SD 5.91) and median was 6.3 (range 1.1–16.7) at posttreatment. For the *ePST* group, the mean percentage change in HDI score from baseline to posttreatment was -35.86% (SD 40.16%) (median -51.02%, range -33.87% to 79.74%). The mean HDI score for the waitlist control group at 6-week follow-up was 17.78 (SD 7.52) (median 18.55, range 8.2–28.4). The mean percentage change in depression for the control group was -11.12% (SD 18.70%) (median -17.78%, range 14.29%–28.07%; see Table 4). The difference in percentage change in depression between the two groups, using the Mann-Whitney *U* test, was not significant in the intent-to-treat analysis (*P* = .25). A Wilcoxon

signed rank test indicated that depression scores remained stable at 4-week follow-up for the *ePST* group (P = .90), as depicted in Figure 3.

Persons who completed treatment with no more than a 3-week gap between any sessions showed a trend toward greater improvement in depression. For this subset of the *ePST* treatment group, depression decreased by an average of 52.65% (SD 28.28%) (median -61.35%, range -79.74% to -5.56%; *P* =.05). There was no significant difference in depression level between 1-week and 4-week follow-ups in the completer analysis (mean 6.24, SD 6.51; median 4.1, range 0.3–12.4). A Wilcoxon signed rank test indicated that depression scores remained stable at 4-week follow-up for the *ePST* group (*P* = .90), as depicted in Figure 3.



Cartreine et al

#### Table 4. Percentage change in depression as measured by the Hamilton Depression Inventory (HDI).

Baseline HDI		Posttest HDI		Percentage change, baseline to posttest	
Mean (SD)	Median (range)	Mean (SD)	Median (range)	Mean (SD)	Median (range)
15.61 (9.64)	15.4 (3.2–31.1)	8.81 (5.91)	6.3 (1.1–16.7)	-35.86% (40.16)	-51.02% (33.87 to -79.74)
15.12 (11.33)	16.3 (3.2–31.1)	5.68 (3.06)	6.3 (1.1–9.6)	-52.65% (28.28)	-61.35% (-5.56 to -79.74)
18.71 (6.65)	15.4 (11.4–26)	17.78 (7.52)	18.55 (8.2–28.4)	-11.12% (18.70)	-17.8% (14.29 to -28.07)
	Baseline HDI Mean (SD) 15.61 (9.64) 15.12 (11.33) 18.71 (6.65)	Baseline HDI       Median (range)         15.61 (9.64)       15.4 (3.2–31.1)         15.12 (11.33)       16.3 (3.2–31.1)         18.71 (6.65)       15.4 (11.4–26)	Baseline HDI       Posttest HDI         Mean (SD)       Median (range)       Mean (SD)         15.61 (9.64)       15.4 (3.2–31.1)       8.81 (5.91)         15.12 (11.33)       16.3 (3.2–31.1)       5.68 (3.06)         18.71 (6.65)       15.4 (11.4–26)       17.78 (7.52)	Baseline HDI         Posttest HDI           Mean (SD)         Median (range)         Mean (SD)         Median (range)           15.61 (9.64)         15.4 (3.2–31.1)         8.81 (5.91)         6.3 (1.1–16.7)           15.12 (11.33)         16.3 (3.2–31.1)         5.68 (3.06)         6.3 (1.1–9.6)           18.71 (6.65)         15.4 (11.4–26)         17.78 (7.52)         18.55 (8.2–28.4)	Baseline HDI         Posttest HDI         Percentage change,           Mean (SD)         Median (range)         Mean (SD)         Median (range)         Mean (SD)           15.61 (9.64)         15.4 (3.2–31.1)         8.81 (5.91)         6.3 (1.1–16.7)         –35.86% (40.16)           15.12 (11.33)         16.3 (3.2–31.1)         5.68 (3.06)         6.3 (1.1–9.6)         –52.65% (28.28)           18.71 (6.65)         15.4 (11.4–26)         17.78 (7.52)         18.55 (8.2–28.4)         –11.12% (18.70)

<sup>a</sup> Electronic problem-solving treatment.

Figure 3. Change in depression.

# **Change in Depression**



# Discussion

RenderX

We developed an interactive multimedia computer program to provide problem-solving treatment for depression. The program is entirely automated and does not require the involvement of a live clinician. Nonetheless, *ePST* is designed to simulate the therapy experience and to feel more like interacting with a person than with a computer. These efforts appear to have paid off, with high scores for usability, credibility, and acceptability in the pilot study. Although efficacy remains to be tested in larger studies, *ePST* appears to be a promising approach to the treatment of depression.

*Usability* describes the ease of use of software or other technology. In a review of 206 studies that used the SUS, the average usability score was 70.14 (SD 21.70) [37], with the upper quartile ranging from 78.51 to 93.93. The mean usability

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e11/
```

scores in the present study were 80.4 after session 1 and 85.4 after session 6, which suggests that the program is easy to use from the outset and remains so.

Ratings on the Cred-Q suggest that participants found the program to be credible for treating their depression. In comparison, Thornett and Mynors-Wallis [40] conducted a study of problem-solving treatment and asked two of the same questions: (1) "How logical is the treatment?" and (2) "How much would you recommend the treatment to a family member or a friend?" On the 10-point scale, the median ratings for those treated by a nurse were 8 and 8, respectively, and for those treated by the general practitioner were 8 and 7, respectively. The median ratings on those questions for *ePST* were 8 and 9, respectively, which suggests similar credibility for the *ePST* program and live clinicians; however, this comparison needs to be further explored in future clinical trials.

Responses to the AST suggest that persons with depression find *ePST* to be acceptable. Of particular note were answers (on a scale of 1 to 7; strongly disagree to strongly agree) to the items "Doing problem-solving treatment using this program was acceptable to me" (mean 6.3, SD 1.1; median 7, range 4–7) and "I would feel comfortable using this program without a clinician's supervision" (mean 6.4, SD 0.8; median 7, range 5–7).

Although the pilot study was not powered to evaluate efficacy of the intervention, a decrease in depression scores was noted for persons using the ePST program as intended, and gains appeared to have been maintained at 1-month follow-up.

# Limitations

The clinical evaluation component of this study was secondary to the technology development, in the amount of time and funding devoted to it, and was primarily intended to establish a methodology to evaluate the program in future studies. As such, the feasibility study has many limitations, including the limited sample size and unique characteristics of the sample (ie, high education and frequent computer use), inequivalent compensation and assessment time points, and lack of an active control condition. Therefore, given these limitations all conclusions must be considered to be highly preliminary, and the *ePST* program should be evaluated with a larger sample that includes an active control condition.

Although we used validated measures wherever possible, none existed for some domains of interest, and we therefore created them. The Cred-Q and AST, which were used for the first time in this study, may have been subject to response set bias. It is notable that most Cred-Q and AST item means are similar to each other, with little variability. Of note are apparently conflicting results to AST questions about preference for using a computer versus being treated by a live clinician: "I would rather do problem-solving treatment with a therapist than with the computer" (mean 5.0, SD 1.4) and "I would rather use a computer to help myself privately than go to a therapist" (mean 5.0, SD 0.8). Therefore, the Cred-Q and AST should be revised if used in subsequent studies to better detect response set. Approaches to designing Likert scales to detect and prevent

response set have been advanced by Shulruf et al [41] and Barnette [42].

# **Future Directions and Conclusions**

Future studies could directly compare the interactive media approach to delivering problem-solving treatment (which is both bandwidth intensive and costly) versus a text-based version that functions using the same logic. This could determine the merit of using interactive media, compared to the cost to produce and deliver it.

Further evaluation of the effectiveness of *ePST* is warranted; however, the question is what the best design for such as study would be. Historically, computer-automated behavioral interventions have generally been compared with a waitlist (as in this study), usual care, or live therapy. However, there are drawbacks to each of these designs. Some treatment is likely to be better than no treatment, making a waitlist control a straw man (although in many clinics patients linger on waitlists for weeks and months, making this a de facto usual care comparison). Usual care comparisons may have more real-world applicability, in which participants are randomly assigned to either use ePST or receive treatment as usual. But usual care varies between settings, and even within a single study group may include many interventions, such as receiving medication, intensive therapy, or nothing at all. Therefore, the usual care control is actually an amalgam of multiple types of control groups.

Randomized "John Henry" [43] (man versus machine) trials that compare *ePST* versus live problem-solving treatment clinicians following the same protocol would establish *noninferiority*. This type of data would be most useful for clinics deciding whether to deliver problem-solving treatment via computer or a live clinician (and for which patients); however, many settings do not have the resources to hire or train sufficient numbers of problem-solving treatment clinicians to meet the demand for treatment. A more useful comparison might be randomization to either *ePST* or another automated treatment of depression, now that several exist in the marketplace. Clinics that are unable to hire specialty staff may well be able to provide automated depression treatment, and few head-to-head comparisons of computer-automated depression treatments have been published.

A limitation across all of the above comparisons is that they evaluate the automated treatment as a static entity and preclude the opportunity for its improvement during the trial. The criterion-based development model proposed by Carter [44] is a cyclical model of testing and evaluating to criterion. In this model, originally for the evaluation of self-instructional interactive media programs, an a priori target level of learner performance is established, which signifies an acceptable level of mastery over a skill. Essentially, "X% of learners should perform skill Y at level Z." The interactive media program is then tested and revised in a spiral development model [45] until the training criteria are met. The criterion-based development model can be applied to the evaluation of self-treatment software, as well, by establishing a meaningful reduction of depression symptoms and functional impairment for users, and testing and revising the program to reach that criterion.

The advantage of the criterion-based development model over randomized trials is that evaluation data are immediately applied to the improvement of the program, maximizing the potential of the program to effect change. Rather than comparing treatment conditions, which may yield statistically, but not clinically, significant differences, evaluation group outcomes are compared with predetermined, objective standards of health and functioning. It is possible to test whether this meaningful goal is met or exceeded. Clearly there is a need for both randomized trial and criterion-based evaluations, and *ePST* should be tested using both models.

Further development of *ePST* could tailor the program to special populations, such as cancer patients, older persons, or

adolescents. To increase accessibility, a range of hosts could be provided, to better match the user's demographics, including his or her language.

Although other computer-automated treatments for depression have previously been developed and shown to be effective, that does not mean work in the field should stop, any more than drug discovery should cease once an effective medication has been found for a disease. *ePST* was designed to overcome some limitations of current computer-automated therapies, such as reliance on text, limited interactivity, and little if any feeling of human connection. In doing so, it presents a model for next-generation interactive, media-based interventions.

# Acknowledgments

Thanks to Mr Fred Connors Jr and the staff of The Troupe Modern Media Production and Design, Windham, NH, USA, for media production and programming of the *ePST* program.

Thanks to Daniel David BSN, MS, RN, Linda Godfrey-Bailey MSN, ACNS, BC, and the staff of the Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center General Clinical Research Center for assistance running the trial.

Funding support: This work was supported by the National Space Biomedical Research Institute through NASA NCC 9-58.

Dr Cartreine was formerly known as Dr Carter. Dr Cartreine designed the ePST program.

Thanks to Ms. Rie Maurer, MA, at Brigham and Women's Hospital, for her statistical support.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

Drs Cartreine, Locke, and Hegel are co-owners of Cognitive Behavioral Technologies LLC, which owns the *ePST* program. However, this entity was created after the study was completed.

#### References

- 1. Cartreine JA, Ahern DK, Locke SE. A roadmap to computer-based psychotherapy in the United States. Harv Rev Psychiatry 2010 Mar 4;18(2):80-95. [doi: 10.3109/10673221003707702] [Medline: 20235773]
- 2. Peck DF. The therapist-client relationship, computerized self-help and active therapy ingredients. Clin Psychol Psychother 2010;17(2):147-153. [doi: 10.1002/cpp.669] [Medline: 19946947]
- 3. Arean P, Hegel M, Vannoy S, Fan MY, Unuzter J. Effectiveness of problem-solving therapy for older, primary care patients with depression: results from the IMPACT project. Gerontologist 2008 Jun;48(3):311-323. [Medline: <u>18591356</u>]
- Mynors-Wallis LM, Gath DH, Lloyd-Thomas AR, Tomlinson D. Randomised controlled trial comparing problem solving treatment with amitriptyline and placebo for major depression in primary care. BMJ 1995 Feb 18;310(6977):441-445. [Medline: <u>7873952</u>]
- Mynors-Wallis LM, Gath DH, Day A, Baker F. Randomised controlled trial of problem solving treatment, antidepressant medication, and combined treatment for major depression in primary care. BMJ 2000 Jan 1;320(7226):26-30. [Medline: 10617523]
- Hegel MT, Arean PA. University of Washington, Department of Psychiatry & Behavioral Sciences. 2003. Problem-solving Treatment for Primary Care (PST-PC): A Treatment Manual for Depression URL: <u>http://impact-uw.org/tools/pst\_manual.</u> <u>html</u> [accessed 2011-08-12] [WebCite Cache ID 60swPMsmI]
- Warmerdam L, van Straten A, Jongsma J, Twisk J, Cuijpers P. Online cognitive behavioral therapy and problem-solving therapy for depressive symptoms: Exploring mechanisms of change. J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry 2010 Mar;41(1):64-70. [doi: 10.1016/j.jbtep.2009.10.003] [Medline: 19913781]
- 8. Hegel MT, Barrett JE, Cornell JE, Oxman TE. Predictors of response to problem-solving treatment of depression in primary care. Behav Ther 2002;33(4):511-527. [doi: 10.1016/S0005-7894(02)80014-4]
- Oxman TE, Hegel MT, Hull JG, Dietrich AJ. Problem-solving treatment and coping styles in primary care for minor depression. J Consult Clin Psychol 2008 Dec;76(6):933-943. [doi: 10.1037/a0012617] [Medline: 19045962]
- Barrett JE, Williams JW, Oxman TE, Katon W, Frank E, Hegel MT, et al. The treatment effectiveness project. A comparison
  of the effectiveness of paroxetine, problem-solving therapy, and placebo in the treatment of minor depression and dysthymia
  in primary care patients: background and research plan. Gen Hosp Psychiatry 1999;21(4):260-273. [Medline: 10514950]

- 11. Carter JA, Buckey JC, Greenhalgh L, Holland AW, Hegel MT. An interactive media program for managing psychosocial problems on long-duration spaceflights. Aviat Space Environ Med 2005 Jun;76(6 Suppl):B213-B223. [Medline: <u>15943215</u>]
- 12. Henderson JV. Comprehensive, technology-based clinical education: the "Virtual Practicum". Int J Psychiatry Med 1998;28(1):41-79. [Medline: <u>9617648</u>]
- 13. Henderson JV. Comprehensive clinical education using "advanced" multimedia: the virtual practicum. In: Rossett A, editor. Rossett A, editor. Proceedings of World Conference on E-Learning in Corporate, Government, Healthcare, and Higher Education. Chesapeake, VA: Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education; 2003:1309-1316.
- 14. Boisot MH. Information Space: A Framework for Learning in Organizations, Institutions, and Culture. London: Routledge; 1995.
- 15. Kolb DA. Experiential Learning: Experience as the Source of Learning and Development. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall; 1984.
- 16. Schön DA. Educating the Reflective Practitioner: Toward a New Design for Teaching and Learning in the Professions (Higher Education Series). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass; 1987.
- Henderson JV, Carter JA, Daetwyler C. Interactive Media Laboratory, Dartmouth Medical School. 2010. HIV Prevention Counseling: A Client-centered Approach URL: <u>http://iml.dartmouth.edu/education/cme/HIV\_Prevention/index.html</u> [accessed 2012-04-10] [WebCite Cache ID 66p2Nb6uR]
- Henderson JV. Interactive Media Laboratory, Dartmouth Medical School. 2010. Primary Care of the HIV/AIDS Patient: A Virtual Clinic URL: <u>http://iml.dartmouth.edu/education/cme/HIV\_Primary\_Care/index.html</u> [accessed 2012-04-10] [WebCite Cache ID 66p2hbXuq]
- 19. Henderson JV. Interactive Media Laboratory, Dartmouth Medical School. 2010. Genetics in Clinical Practice: A Team Approach URL: <u>http://iml.dartmouth.edu/education/cme/Genetics/index.html</u> [accessed 2012-04-10] [WebCite Cache ID <u>66p2ofsCW</u>]
- 20. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL. The PHQ-9: a new depression diagnostic and severity measure. Psychiatr Ann 2002;32(9):1-7 [FREE Full text]
- 21. Fogg BJ. Persuasive Technology: Using Computers to Change What We Think and Do. San Francisco, CA: Morgan Kaufmann; 2002.
- Fogg BJ, Swani P, Treinen M, Marshall J, Laraki O, Osipovich A, et al. What makes websites credible? 2001 Presented at: SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; March 31-April 15, 2001; Seattle, WA, USA. [doi: 10.1145/365024.365037]
- 23. Lengel RH. Managerial Information Processing and Communication Media Source Selection Behavior [doctoral dissertation]. College Station, TX: Texas A&M University; 1983.
- 24. Daft RL, Lengel RH. Information richness, a new approach to managerial behavior and organization design. Res Organ Behav 1984;6:191-233.
- 25. Byrne Z, LeMay E. Different media for organizational communication: perceptions of quality and satisfaction. J Bus Psychol 2006;21(2):149-173. [doi: 10.1007/s10869-006-9023-8]
- 26. Nishida I. Failure Analysis in Engineering Applications. Volume 43. Oxford: Butterworth-Heinemann; 1992.
- 27. Starbuck WH, Baumard P. Learning from failures: why it may not happen. Long Range Plann 2005;38(3):281-298 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.lrp.2005.03.004]
- 28. Hewett TT. Importance of failure analysis for human-computer interface design. Interact Comput 1991;3(1):3-8. [doi: 10.1016/0953-5438(91)90002-J]
- 29. Sutcliffe A, Rugg G. A taxonomy of error types for failure analysis and risk assessment. Int J Hum Comput Interact 1998;10(4):381. [doi: 10.1207/s15327590ijhc1004\_5]
- 30. Price M. American Association for the Advancement of Science. How Many Astronauts Do We Need? 2011 Sep 23 URL: http://sciencecareers.sciencemag.org/career\_magazine/previous\_issues/articles/2011\_09\_23/caredit.a1100102 [accessed 2012-04-10] [WebCite Cache ID 66p4qStNa]
- 31. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders: DSM-IV-TR. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association; 2000.
- Dozois DJ. The psychometric characteristics of the Hamilton Depression Inventory. J Pers Assess 2003 Feb;80(1):31-40. [doi: 10.1207/S15327752JPA8001\_11] [Medline: 12584065]
- 33. Sheehan DV, Lecrubier Y, Sheehan KH, Amorim P, Janavs J, Weiller E, et al. The Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (M.I.N.I.): the development and validation of a structured diagnostic psychiatric interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. J Clin Psychiatry 1998;59 Suppl 20:22-33;quiz 34. [Medline: <u>9881538</u>]
- Reynolds WM, Kobak KA. Reliability and validity of the Hamilton Depression Inventory: a paper-and-pencil version of the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale clinical interview. Psychol Assess 1995;7(4):472-483. [doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.7.4.472]
- 35. Hamilton M. A rating scale for depression. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1960 Feb;23:56-62 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 14399272]

- 36. Brooke J. SUS: a quick and dirty usability scale. In: Jordan PW, Thomas B, Weerdmeester BA, McClelland IL, editors. Jordan PW, Thomas B, Weerdmeester BA, McClelland IL, editors. Usability Evaluation in Industry. London: Taylor & Francis; 1996.
- 37. Bangor A, Kortum PT, Miller JT. An empirical evaluation of the System Usability Scale. Int J Hum Comput Interact 2008;24(6):574-594. [doi: 10.1080/10447310802205776]
- Fogg LF, Rose RM. Use of personal characteristics in the selection of astronauts. Aviat Space Environ Med 1995 Mar;66(3):199-205. [Medline: <u>7661827</u>]
- 39. Borkovec TD, Nau SD. Credibility of analogue therapy rationales. J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry 1972;3(4):257-260. [doi: 10.1016/0005-7916(72)90045-6]
- 40. Thornett AM, Mynors-Wallis LM. Credibility of problem-solving therapy and medication for the treatment of depression among primary care patients. Med Sci Monit 2002 Mar;8(3):CR193-CR196. [Medline: <u>11887035</u>]
- 41. Shulruf B, Hattie J, Dixon R. Factors affecting responses to Likert type questionnaires: introduction of the IMPEXP, a new comprehensive model. Soc Psychol Educ 2008;11(1):59-78. [doi: 10.1007/s11218-007-9035-x]
- 42. Barnette JJ. Effects of stem and Likert response option reversals on survey internal consistency: if you feel the need, there is a better alternative to using those negatively worded stems. Educ Psychol Meas 2000;60(3):361. [doi: 10.1177/00131640021970592]
- 43. Johnson GB. John Henry: Tracking Down a Negro Legend. New York: AMS Press; 1969.
- 44. Carter JA. The criterion-based development model for media-based self-instructional training programs. Behav Ther 2005;28(3):48-53 [FREE Full text]
- 45. Boehm B. A spiral model of software development and enhancement. Computer 1988;21(5):61-72 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1109/2.59]

# Abbreviations

AST: Assessment of Self-guided Treatment Questionnaire
Cred-Q: Credibility Questionnaire
DSM-IV-TR: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th edition, text revision
ePST: electronic problem-solving treatment
HDI: Hamilton Depression Inventory
HDRS: Hamilton Depression Rating Scale
MINI: Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview
NASA: National Aeronautics and Space Administration
PHQ-9: Patient Health Questionnaire-9
PST-PC: problem-solving treatment for primary care
SUS: System Usability Scale

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 29.08.11; peer-reviewed by L Ritterband; comments to author 26.10.11; revised version received 10.04.12; accepted 02.05.12; published 25.09.12.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Cartreine JA, Locke SE, Buckey JC, Sandoval L, Hegel MT Electronic Problem-Solving Treatment: Description and Pilot Study of an Interactive Media Treatment for Depression JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e11 URL: <u>http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e11/</u> doi:10.2196/resprot.1925 PMID:23611902

©James Albert Cartreine, Steven E Locke, Jay C Buckey, Luis Sandoval, Mark T Hegel. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 25.09.2012. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

# **Original Paper**

# Decision Support and the Effectiveness of Web-based Delivery and Information Tailoring for Bowel Cancer Screening: An Exploratory Study

Ingrid H Flight<sup>1,2</sup>, MPH; Carlene J Wilson<sup>3,4</sup>, PhD; Ian T Zajac<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Elizabeth Hart<sup>1</sup>, BA; Jane A McGillivray<sup>2</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Preventative Health Research Flagship, Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO), Adelaide BC, Australia

<sup>2</sup>School of Psychology, Deakin University, Burwood, Vic 3125, Australia

<sup>3</sup>Flinders Centre for Cancer Prevention and Control, Flinders University, Daw Park, SA 5042, Australia

<sup>4</sup>Cancer Council South Australia, Eastwood, SA 5063, Australia

# **Corresponding Author:**

Ingrid H Flight, MPH Preventative Health Research Flagship Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO) PO Box 10041 Adelaide BC, SA 5000 Australia Phone: 61 8 8303 8881 Fax: 61 8 8303 8899 Email: ingrid.flight@csiro.au

# Abstract

**Background:** Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most commonly diagnosed cancer in males and the second in females throughout the developed world. Population screening using fecal occult blood tests (FOBTs) facilitates early detection and greater chance of survival, but participation rates are low. We developed a Web-based decision tool to provide information tailored to an individual's decision stage for CRC screening and attitude toward screening utilizing the Preventive Health Model (PHM) and Precaution Adoption Process Model (PAPM) as theoretical frameworks for screening behavior. We describe the practical steps employed in the tool's design and the subsequent conduct of an exploratory study.

**Objective:** To design a decision tool for CRC screening and conduct an exploratory study among average-risk men and women to (1) test the impact of message type (tailored vs non-tailored) and message delivery modality (Web-based vs paper-based) on attitudes toward screening and screening uptake, and (2) investigate the acceptability of the decision tool and relevance of materials.

**Methods:** Participants (n = 100), recruited from a population sample of men and women aged 50-76 residing in urban Adelaide, Australia, were randomly assigned to a control group or one of 4 interventions: (1) Web-based and tailored information, (2) paper-based and tailored information, (3) Web-based and non-tailored (generic) information, or (4) paper-based and non-tailored information. Participation was augmented by snowball recruitment (n = 19). Questionnaires based on PHM variables were administered pre- and post-intervention. Participants were given the opportunity to request an FOBT. Following the intervention, participants discussed the acceptability of the tool.

**Results:** Full data were available for 87.4% (104/119) of participants. Post-intervention, perceived susceptibility scores for individuals receiving tailored information increased from mean 10.6 (SD 2.1) to mean 11.8 (SD 2.2). Scores on self-efficacy increased in the tailored group from mean 11.7 (SD 2.0) to mean 12.6 (SD 1.8). There were significant time x modality x message effects for social influence and salience and coherence, reflecting an increase in these scores for tailored Web-based participants only; social influence scores increased from mean 11.7 (SD 2.6) to mean 14.9 (SD 2.3), and salience and coherence scores increased from mean 16.0 (SD 2.2) to mean 17.7 (SD 2.1). There was no greater influence of modality or message type on movement toward a decision to screen or screening uptake, indicating that neither tailored messages nor a Web modality had superior effect. Overall, participants regarded tailored messages positively, but thought that the Web tool lacked "media richness."

**Conclusions:** This exploratory study confirms that tailoring on PHM predictors of CRC screening has the potential to positively address attitudes toward screening. However, tailoring on these variables did not result in significantly increased screening uptake.

Future research should consider other possible psychosocial influences. Mode of delivery did not affect outcomes, but as a delivery medium, the Web has economic and logistical advantages over paper.

(JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e12) doi:10.2196/resprot.2135

# KEYWORDS

Colorectal cancer; mass screening; multimedia; communication; decision support techniques

# Introduction

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most commonly diagnosed cancer in males and the second in females throughout the developed world [1]. Population screening using a fecal occult blood test (FOBT), or the second-generation fecal immunochemical test (FIT), facilitates the detection of CRC at its early stages by detecting invisible (occult) traces of blood in the feces. A recent systematic review concluded that appropriate population utilization of FOBT screening is likely to reduce death from CRC by about 1 in 6 deaths [2]. This possibility has resulted in the implementation of national pilot or population screening programs in a number of countries [3]. Effectiveness of these programs depends upon yield and participation rates-in Australia, estimates of participation in screening for colorectal cancer have been low [4]. The National Bowel Cancer Screening Program (NBCSP), which provides people turning 50, 55, and 60 years with a free FOBT, had a total participation rate over three years (June 2008 to June 2011) of 38.4% of the eligible population [5].

This paper describes the theoretical framework and practical steps we employed to design a Web-based, tailored decision tool for CRC screening, and to conduct an exploratory study to test its impact on screening attitudes and uptake prior to the design and conduct of a larger randomized trial. We examined uptake of FOBT only (versus colonoscopy or in addition to colonoscopy) because unlike other countries, such as the United States, usual CRC screening practice in Australia is by FOBT followed by colonoscopy for those with a positive result—colonoscopy is regarded as a diagnostic test rather than a screening test. We also sought to place the study in the context of the NBCSP approach, which is to encourage population-based screening using FOBT for those who do not have any obvious symptoms of bowel cancer.

# **Theoretical Framework**

Two classes of behavioral theory are relevant to understanding uptake of new health behavior. "Stage of change" or "readiness to act" models, such as the Precaution Adoption Process Model (PAPM) [6], focus on an individual's commitment to act. The PAPM characterizes movement toward commitment as (1) unaware of the issue, (2) heard of the issue but unconcerned, (3) considering action, (4) deciding against action, or (5) deciding to act. By contrast, "continuum" theories, such as the Preventive Health Model (PHM) [7], focus on psychosocial predictors of intention to act and on predictors of behavior. The PHM approach identifies 5 variables that affect the likelihood to act. In the context of cancer screening, these are (1) salience and coherence of the screening behavior (the perception that performing cancer screening is consistent with beliefs about how to protect and maintain health); (2) perceived susceptibility

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e12/

(perceptions of personal risk for developing colorectal cancer or polyps); (3) response efficacy (the belief that utilizing an FOBT will be effective in reducing disease threat); (4) cancer worries (concerns about negative consequences of undertaking cancer screening); and (5) social influence (extent to which an individual believes that those who they interact with, and whose opinions they value, support FOBT use). Research indicates that these factors are associated with the decision to screen in the United States [8], Canada [9], and Australia [10]. Two other constructs—self-efficacy and fecal aversion—are important in the context of this study. Self-efficacy, in this case the confidence to utilize the FOBT, is a significant predictor of health-related intentions [11] and behaviors [12], and fecal aversion has been demonstrated to be a predictor of FOBT uptake [13].

Research has shown that programs designed to improve screening uptake are enhanced considerably when stage theories and continuum theories are utilized together. Groups of people at a specific stage of thinking about CRC screening (PAPM) can be distinguished from people at a different stage in terms of their responses to the variables included in the PHM [14,15]. Thus, utilization of both the PAPM and PHM can enable the provision of messages that are "tailored" to individual responses with the aim of moving people to a "better" screening decision stage.

# **Tailored Communication**

Tailored health promotion materials are "...any combination of information and behavior change strategies intended to reach one specific person, based on characteristics that are unique to that person, related to the outcome of interest, and derived from an individual assessment" [16]. Tailored print communication is better remembered, read, and perceived as more relevant than non-tailored materials [17]. However, a recent systematic review based on two trials, found no evidence of tailored interventions on CRC screening uptake [18], although the researchers found evidence for a beneficial effect of tailored information on perception of cancer risk and knowledge of cancer. Thus, further research is required to better understand the "ingredients" of tailoring approaches on CRC screening rates.

# Web Delivery of Information

Paper-based delivery of non-tailored screening messages has improved FOBT uptake [19,20] and tailoring may have the capacity to achieve further incremental improvements in uptake rates. A meta-analysis showed that computerized tailoring (feedback composed by means of computer algorithms) demonstrated improved outcomes in terms of health behaviors compared to controls [21]. Using computers to construct tailored messages can facilitate the creation of finer-grained tailored materials; without them, tailoring has been limited to few

XSL•FO RenderX

variables because of constraints on the logistical practicality of creating a comprehensive library of messages and manipulating them to simultaneously address multiple variables [22]. Additionally, delivery via online communication channels may increase the feasibility of this individualized approach to communication through channels such as interactive feedback and simplicity of navigation to personally relevant materials. For example, a meta-analysis comparing Web-based and non-Web-based information interventions has shown enhanced outcomes among individuals using Web-based interventions, particularly in the areas of knowledge and targeted behavior change [23].

In light of the above considerations, we conducted an exploratory study to investigate whether information tailored to an individual's current decision stage for screening based on PHM variables would have a greater influence on the readiness of invitees to be screened compared with non-tailored generic information. We also sought to disentangle outcomes and investigate whether it was perceived personal relevance (through tailoring) of information, simplicity of navigation (through Web-based delivery) to access personally relevant material, or both factors that had the greater effect. The primary outcomes were (1) change in PHM scores, (2) change in PAPM decision stage, (3) intention to screen as measured by a request for an FOBT, and (4) actual uptake of screening. We were also interested in participants' opinions of the acceptability and

relevance of the materials. We aimed to use results from this exploratory study to inform the design and conduct of a larger, nationwide randomized controlled trial.

# Methods

# **Study Design**

A  $2 \times 2 \times 2$  mixed model factorial design examined the influence of message type (tailored vs non-tailored) and message modality (paper vs Web) on predictors of screening (PHM variables) and stage of readiness to screen (PAPM stage) measured before and after receipt of screening messages. We planned to contact at least 750 participants to achieve a sample size deemed practical for an exploratory study (n = 125).

# **Pre-intervention** (Time 1)

A baseline survey was taken 2 weeks before intervention. The variables measured were demographics, decision stage for screening, decisional conflict, PHM, and self-efficacy and fecal aversion variables.

# Intervention

Intervention group participants received one of 4 interventions: (1) Web-based and tailored information, (2) paper-based and tailored information, (3) Web-based and non-tailored (generic) information, or (4) paper-based and non-tailored information. The factorial design is illustrated in Table 1.

**Table 1.** Information supplied to intervention group participants based on message type and modality.

Modality	Message	
	Tailored	Non-tailored
Web	PHM feedback and educational material	Generic information and educational material
Paper	PHM feedback and educational material	Generic information and educational material

# Post-intervention (Time 2)

An endpoint survey and interviews immediately followed intervention. Variables measured were decision stage for screening, decisional conflict, relevance and navigability of the information, PHM, and self-efficacy and fecal aversion variables.

# **Participant Recruitment**

A random subsample of 756 potential invitees aged 50-76, residing in four urban Adelaide areas, were selected (with permission) from a larger sample provided by the Australian Electoral Commission for a related study. Prior to extracting this subsample, telephone contact numbers were obtained by comparing names and addresses against information contained in the electronic White Pages telephone directory. Those persons for whom telephone contact details were not indicated were excluded, as were those whose postal code indicated they lived more than one hours' travel time from the Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO) laboratories. The remaining names were randomized into 4 intervention groups and 1 control group by a researcher not directly connected with the study using a computer-generated random number sequence (Microsoft Office Excel 2003).

# **Study Conduct**

The trial commenced in August 2007 and proceeded through a number of phases.

# Phase 1

A notification letter describing the study was mailed to potential participants. They were advised that they were eligible to participate if they were aged 50-76 and ineligible if they were having regular CRC screening or had ever been diagnosed with colorectal cancer or bowel polyps. Those allocated to the intervention groups were also required to have experience using a computer to search the Web and to be willing to attend the CSIRO laboratory.

# Phase 2

Two weeks (+/- 48 hours) following the notification letter, attempts were made (maximum 3) to telephone individuals and recruit them to the study. A computer-assisted telephone interview (CATI) format was used to collect interview responses (Microsoft Office Access 2003). Informed consent was formally requested and recorded before commencement of the CATI. Participants answered baseline survey questions to collect background demographics and responses to other variables as described previously. Appointments were made with all but the

control group participants to visit the CSIRO laboratory and review materials concerned with CRC screening.

# Phase 3

Two weeks (+/- 48 hours) later, participants attended CSIRO. They were presented with Web-based or paper-based CRC educational content, as allocated by random sampling, to work through as they wished. Additionally, one Web group and one paper group received messages tailored according to their responses to the baseline survey. The non-tailored Web and paper groups received generic information. Participants in each group were aware that the intervention might be Web- or paper-based, but those who received tailored messages were blinded to the fact that others received only generic messages. The process of developing the tailored messages and educational content is described in the Materials section. Participants were also given the opportunity to request an FOBT through either a Web link or a paper form according to intervention group.

# Phase 4

Immediately following the intervention, participants were asked to complete an endpoint survey that remeasured the same variables as in the baseline survey. Control group participants were telephoned at this point (ie, approximately 2 weeks following the baseline survey) and they completed the endpoint survey through a CATI. Control group respondents whose PAPM stage was "ready to act" were regarded as having requested an FOBT kit. Those who were not ready to act were sent a letter inviting them to contact the researchers should they subsequently wish to receive an FOBT.

# Phase 5

All intervention group participants completed an additional questionnaire and participated in a discussion group immediately following completion of the endpoint survey. Both the questionnaire and the discussion explored perceptions of the relevance of the information presented, ease of navigation through the materials, and satisfaction with the information they had gained. The interviews were conducted individually or as a group, depending on the number of people attending the session. The questionnaire analyses are not included here because they have been reported in a separate paper with respect to an enhanced version of the decision aid [24].

# Phase 6

One day after the intervention, an FOBT was mailed to those who requested one. The remaining participants were sent a letter inviting them to contact the researchers should they subsequently wish to receive an FOBT. Receipt of completed tests was recorded by a processing center and de-identified with aggregate participation data relayed to the researchers. People who did not return their test after 6 weeks were sent a reminder letter. Those who did not return their test after 12 weeks were regarded as having not screened.

# Materials

An overview of the materials developed for the study and their presentation is described subsequently, followed by specific details of the various components.

# Tailored Intervention

Materials for the tailored group were a message library consisting of messages tailored to an individual user's decision stage for screening and responses to PHM, self-efficacy, and fecal aversion variables, and generic educational content based on the NBCSP consumer information booklet. The booklet provided generalized risk information (ie, > 50 years, certain bowel conditions, and family history).

# Non-tailored Intervention

Materials for the non-tailored group were a series of generic messages addressing susceptibility, response efficacy, social influence, self-efficacy and fecal aversion, and generic educational content as described above.

# Web Group

Educational content was provided in hyperlink format with discrete sections. Web pages were clean and used plain language with bulleted and numbered lists, generous white space and line spacing, and large navigation indicators. Users had the ability to increase font size and to change contrast. A Web link provided the ability to order an FOBT.

# Paper Group

Educational content was provided in booklet form with discrete sections prefaced with a table of contents. Pages were clean and used plain language with bulleted and numbered lists, and generous white space and line spacing. A self-complete form provided the ability to request an FOBT.

# Questionnaire

A series of statements based on PHM [8,7], self-efficacy, and fecal aversion variables were prepared (Table 2). Self-efficacy was measured using 3 statements derived from previous research regarding FOBT use [7]. Fecal aversion was measured using 3 statements derived from previous research [13]. All scales had acceptable internal consistency as measured by Cronbach alpha (Table 2). All responses were measured on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree."



Flight et al

Table 2. Preventive health model (PHM), self-efficacy, and fecal aversion statements.

Factor	Cronbach alpha	Statements
PHM <sup>a</sup>		
Salience and coherence	.73	Colorectal cancer screening makes sense to me.
		Having colorectal cancer screening is an important thing for me to do. <sup>b</sup>
		Having colorectal cancer screening can help to protect my health.
		I will be just as healthy if I avoid having colorectal cancer screening. <sup>c</sup>
Social influence	.62	I want to do what members of my immediate family think I should do about colorectal cancer screening.
		Members of my immediate family think I should have colorectal cancer screening. <sup>b</sup>
		My doctor or health professional thinks I should have colorectal cancer screening. <sup>b</sup>
		I want to do what my doctor or health professional thinks I should do about colorectal cancer screening.
Cancer worries	.80	I am afraid of having an abnormal colorectal cancer screening test result.
		I am worried that colorectal cancer screening will show that I have colorectal cancer or polyps.
Perceived susceptibility	.65	The chance that I might develop colorectal cancer is high.
		Compared with other persons my age, I am at lower risk for colorectal cancer. <sup>c</sup>
		It is very likely that I will develop colorectal cancer or polyps.
		The chances that I will develop colorectal polyps are high. <sup>b</sup>
Response efficacy	.59	When colorectal polyps are found and removed, colorectal cancer can be prevented. <sup>b</sup>
		When colorectal cancer is found early, it can be cured.
Self-efficacy	.75	I think that doing the test would be easy for me. <sup>b</sup>
		Finding time to do the test would be difficult for me. <sup>c</sup>
		Completing the test correctly would be easy for me.
Fecal aversion	.71	Collecting feces for the purpose of bowel cancer screening is unhygienic. <sup>c</sup>
		Collecting feces for the purpose of bowel cancer screening is distasteful. <sup>b,c</sup>
		Giving a sample of feces to another person is embarrassing. <sup>c</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Preventive Health Model (PHM) construct descriptions and survey items reproduced from [8].

<sup>b</sup> Statements used for tailored assessment.

<sup>c</sup> Items were reverse coded.

# **Tailored Content**

The steps involved in the production and presentation of tailored messages [22,25] are described subsequently.

# **Developing Tailoring Assessment Feedback Statements**

Statements upon which tailored feedback would be based were identified. To maximize message salience and minimize message length, the item from each of the PHM factors that loaded most highly on that factor provided the message utilized [7] because previous research has established the cross-national validity of the PHM [10]. A "cancer worries" statement was not included

because concern was addressed in statements derived for other variables. The fecal aversion and self-efficacy tailored feedback statements were chosen on the basis that they included aspects of all aversion or self-efficacy statements. The form of message feedback provided was determined by the strength of the rating provided by the participant. The aim was to reinforce the person when they provided feedback that was consistent with screening participation and to motivate those respondents whose ratings were inconsistent with screening participation. Progression of such messages is illustrated in Table 3; a similar series of messages was developed for each variable.

Table 3. Creating a library of tailored messages for the Preventive Health Model (PHM) factor "response efficacy" presented in order from reinforcing to motivating.

Factor	Response efficacy <sup>a</sup>
Tailoring statement	When colorectal polyps are found and removed, colorectal cancer can be prevented.
Strongly agree (5)	[Name], you've told us that colon cancer screening is effective. You're absolutely right. That is why the Australian Cancer Council recommends yearly screening for people over 50 who are of average risk. It's an important step to take to protect your health for the future, and could save your life.
Agree	[Name], you've told us that you believe colon cancer screening is effective. You're right. That is why the Australian Cancer Council recommends yearly screening for people over 50 who are of average risk. It's an important step to take to protect your health for the future, and could save your life.
Not sure	[Name], you're not sure that colon cancer screening is effective. It's very effective—that's why the Australian Cancer Council recommends yearly screening for people over 50 who are of average risk. As you are [age], it's an important step to take to protect your health for the future, and could save your life.
Disagree	[Name], you don't think that colon cancer screening is effective. In fact it's very effective—that's why the Australian Cancer Council recommends yearly screening for people over 50 who are of average risk. As you are [age], screening could save your life by finding early, curable cancer.
Strongly disagree (1)	[Name], you really don't believe that colon cancer screening is effective. In fact it's very effective—that's why the Australian Cancer Council recommends yearly screening for people over 50 who are of average risk. As you are [age], screening could save your life by finding early, curable cancer.

<sup>a</sup> Tailoring "fragments" shown in italics. Personalized fields indicated in square brackets.

# **Developing Tailoring Decision Rules**

Decision rules were developed for each tailored feedback variable based on "if-then-else" logic. Messages that addressed PHM factors shown from previous research to be predictive of moving people from their current decision stage to a "better" stage [14] were given priority in the presentation of feedback to individuals, to exploit the primacy effect [26]. The two factors most strongly related to each decision stage (presented first to those in that stage) are shown in Table 4.

**Table 4.** Relating Preventive Health Model (PHM) factors to Precaution Adoption Process Model (PAPM) decision stage for colorectal cancer screening via fecal occult blood test (FOBT).

PAPM decision stage	PHM factors most strongly associated with decision stage <sup>a</sup>
Never heard of FOBT	Salience and coherence, susceptibility
Not considered FOBT	Susceptibility, response efficacy
Decided against FOBT	Susceptibility, self-efficacy
Undecided about FOBT	Salience and coherence, self-efficacy
Decided to use FOBT	Response efficacy, self-efficacy

<sup>a</sup> Source: [14].

#### **Preparation and Presentation of Tailored Messages**

A combination of programming and manual steps ensured correct presentation of messages. From the baseline survey data, an access query obtained the participant's name, age, scores on each tailoring variable, and screening decision stage. This information was manually entered into a logic program, a "message concatenator" that accessed the message library and produced a set of personalized reinforcing or motivating messages according to scores. The messages were divided into "chunk 1" (messages addressing the factors most salient to the participant's decision stage as seen in Table 4) and "chunk 2" (messages addressing the remaining factors as seen in Table 2).

The text of both sets of messages varied by individual—those at the same decision stage (having the same salient and less salient factors relating to that decision stage) may have scored those factors differently, so messages would reflect the divergence in scores. An example of a completed concatenator form and the resultant set of messages is shown in Figure 1.

As Figure 1 indicates, the underlying message-merge syntax resulted in duplication of words and phrases, concepts running together, and seemingly random placement of the personalized name and age details. These messages were subsequently edited by the first author in order to omit duplicated phrases and enhance flow between PHM factor concepts. Following is an example of a portion of the final edited message format.



Figure 1. Message concatenator entry and resulting tailored message chunks.



#### Chunk 1 Text, Your Information (Part 1)

Greg, you believe that colon cancer screening is effective. You're absolutely right. That's why the Australian Cancer Council recommends yearly screening for people over 50 who are of average risk. It's an important step to take to protect your health for the future, and could save your life.

However, you're not sure whether you're at risk for having or developing colon polyps or cancer. Well, you are at risk. Colon polyps are common in people over 50, and colon cancer is a common cancer in this age group. You are 57, so your risk for these conditions is increasing as you get older.

#### Chunk 2 Text, Your Information (Part 2)

You think that screening would be a difficult thing to do, but it really isn't. The FOBT kit is designed to be easily used in the privacy of your home at your own convenience, where you can take all the time you need.

You do think colon cancer screening makes a lot of sense. You're right, Greg. People can have colon polyps or cancer and not know it. Screening can find any problems early and protect your health.

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e12/
```

RenderX

Once edited, for the Web-based/tailored group, messages were entered into a program that displayed them on the computer screen, matched to the participant for whom they were intended. Messages bound for the paper-based/tailored group were copied and pasted into the appropriate spot in the personalized materials presented to each participant.

# **Generic Information and Educational Content**

Generic information statements to encourage colorectal cancer screening are shown in Textbox 1.

Educational material was provided to all groups as a component of informed decision making [27]. Its content closely followed the format of information presented in the NBCSP consumer information booklet [28] and although it did not go into detail about the risks of screening (false negatives that can lead to people being wrongly assured and false positives that can result in unnecessary anxiety and diagnostic procedures), the material reproduced information that would be received by those targeted in the Australian population-based screening program. An indicative extract from the table of contents is shown in Textbox 2.

The paper group received the educational material in the form of a series of pages arranged in typical paper-based fashion (ie, with a table of contents and corresponding page numbers) and

text that progressed according to the table of contents. The Web group received the same material but as a series of headings, tabs, and hyperlinks. Web pages were designed to reflect issues of vision and cognition needs of older users; for example, the ability for text to be enlarged, contrast to be changed, and use of adequate white space [29]. A sample of the Web page is shown in Figure 2.

Textbox 1. Generic Information Statements to Encourage Colorectal Cancer Screening.

Some important messages concerning screening for colorectal cancer:

- People can have colon polyps or cancer and not even know it. Colon polyps are common in people over 50, even in those with no family history. Finding colon cancer early and removing colon polyps when they are small can prevent cancer.
- The risk for these conditions increases with age; that's why regular screening from the age of 50 onwards is so important.
- Colon cancer screening is very effective—that's why the Australian Cancer Council recommends yearly screening for people over 50 who are of average risk.
- The medical profession recognizes that such screening is effective, and supports the Australian Cancer Council recommendation for yearly screening.
- Colorectal cancer screening is easy to do. The kit is designed to be quickly and easily used in the privacy of your home at your own convenience.
- Some people may think that doing the test might be unhygienic or embarrassing, but this needn't be so. Recognizing that there is nothing wrong with testing feces for cancer and using the kit could save lives.

**Textbox 2.** Web- and Paper-Based Educational Content: Extract of Major Headings From the National Bowel Cancer Screening Program Consumer Information Material [28].

About bowel cancer:

- What is bowel cancer?
- How common is bowel cancer?
- What causes bowel cancer?
- What are the symptoms of bowel cancer?
- Can bowel cancer be prevented?
- Who is at risk of bowel cancer?

Screening for bowel cancer:

- What is screening?
- What does the FOBT involve?

What happens if my result is positive?

- What does a colonoscopy involve?
- Are there any risks from a colonoscopy?



Figure 2. Screenshot of Web-based educational content.



# **Screening Offer**

An FOBT order form accompanied the print and Web material. Participants had the option of completing the form immediately after viewing the material and leaving the completed form with the researchers (paper group) or using a hyperlink to email their details (Web group). The screening kit included (1) a bowel cancer screening information pamphlet; (2) an immunochemical FOBT (InSure, Enterix Australia) that does not require dietary or drug restrictions; (3) a combined participant details and consent form confirming personal details, nominating a preferred doctor for follow-up, and consent to obtain clinical follow-up reports if required; and (4) a reply-paid return envelope addressed to the processing laboratory. The processing laboratory provided the researchers with de-identified FOBT receipt information.

# **Data Analysis**

RenderX

Chi-square analyses  $(\chi^2)$  and one-way analyses of variances (ANOVAs) were initially undertaken to confirm group comparability at baseline. A mixed-group design ANOVA with two between-group factors—message delivery modality (Web or paper) and message type (tailored or non-tailored)—and one within-subject factor, time of measurement (baseline–time 1 and endpoint–time 2), was undertaken to examine for main

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e12/
```

effects from message, modality, and time of measurement, and their interaction on the main outcome variables. These main effects and interaction terms were examined in order to test whether attitudes and beliefs, as reflected in scores on the PHM variables and self-efficacy and fecal aversion, improved over time, and were influenced by the message delivery modality and the nature of the message. It was hypothesized that tailored messages delivered via Web modality would be associated with greatest improvement. The effect of modality and message type on categorical outcome variables (ie, decision stage movement, FOBT request, and uptake) was examined using Chi-square analyses. Participation rates were defined as "early" or "late" at a cut-off point of 6 weeks following dispatch of FOBT, and "non-return" at a cut-off point of 12 weeks. All analyses were conducted using a two-sided alpha level of .05.

# Results

From a sampling frame of 756 people, 532 people were contacted at baseline. Of these, 298/532 (56.0%) declined to participate and 134/532 (25.2%) were ineligible. In total, 100/756 (13.2%) agreed to participate in the study. There was no significant difference in gender distribution (the only demographic variable obtained from non-participants) between those who declined to participate and participants ( $\chi^2_1 = 0.2$ , *P* 

= .68). Because the numbers in the intervention groups were lower than anticipated, we resorted to "snowball" [30] recruitment (n = 19) to increase the number of participants to within approximately equal numbers in each group. "Snowballing" is a chain-referral method whereby a study participant who fits the eligibility criteria uses their social networks to recruit participants with similar characteristics. Those participants then recruit others, resulting in a process analogous to a snowball rolling down a hill. Subsequently, 15 participants (2 in the paper/non-tailored, 5 in the paper/tailored, 6 in the Web/non-tailored, and 2 in the Web/tailored groups) did not attend the laboratory for the intervention. Therefore, full data were available for 95.7% (104/119) of participants. Although "snowball" recruits comprised 17.3% (18/104) of the final sample and varied between groups, there were no significant differences between groups for gender, mean age, education, Australian birth, marital status, and awareness of FOBT (Table 5).

Table 5. Comparison of groups across conditions.

Demographic	Condition					$\chi^2$ (df)	F (df)	Р
	Paper		Web		Control			
					(n = 20)			
	Non-tailored	Tailored	Non-tailored	Tailored				
	$(n = 22^{a})$	$(n = 21^{b})$	$(n = 20^{c})$	$(n = 21^d)$				
Gender, n (%)						4.34 (4)		.36
Male	15 (68)	10 (48)	10 (50)	8 (38)	9 (45)			
Female	7 (32)	11 (52)	10 (50)	13 (62)	11 (55)			
Education level, n (%	<b>⁄o</b> )					8.53 (8)		.38
Some high school	6 (27.3)	7 (33.3)	4 (20)	7 (33.3)	10 (50)			
Completed high school/trade	6 (27.3)	6 (28.6)	8 (40)	7 (33.3)	8 (40)			
University	10 (45.4)	8 (38.1)	8 (40)	7 (33.3)	2 (10)			
Place of birth, n (%)	)					7.01 (4)		.13
Within Australia	18 (81.8)	15 (71.4)	13 (65)	18 (85.7)	19 (95)			
Outside Australia	4 (18.2)	6 (28.6)	7 (35)	3 (14.3)	1 (5)			
Relationship status,	n (%)					1.79 (4)		.77
With partner	18 (81.8)	15 (71.4)	17 (85)	15 (71.4)	15 (75)			
Single	4 (18.2)	6 (28.6)	3 (15)	6 (28.6)	5 (25)			
Heard of FOBT, n (%	%)					2.32 (4)		.68
Never heard of FOBT	11 (50)	9 (42.9)	10 (50)	12 (57.1)	13 (65)			
Heard of FOBT	11 (50%)	12 (57.1)	10 (50)	9 (42.9)	7 (35)			
Age, mean (SD)	61 (7.0)	62 (6.4)	60 (6.2)	59 (7.9)	62 (6.8)	(	).75 (4.99)	.56

<sup>a</sup> Snowball (n = 1).

<sup>b</sup> Snowball (n = 6).

<sup>c</sup> Snowball (n = 6).

<sup>d</sup> Snowball (n = 5).

RenderX

#### **Change in PHM Scores**

Initial examination of movement in attitudes and beliefs of the control group across time were examined using related samples t tests. No significant changes were observed, suggesting that scores on PHM variables and fecal aversion and self-efficacy, without intervention, were all stable and reliable across time.

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e12/

condition (ie,  $2 \times 2 \times 2$ ) are presented in Table 6, and the results of the repeated measures ANOVAs are presented in Table 7. Overall, there was a significant change in scores pre- and post-intervention for all variables. However, there were no significant time × modality interactions, indicating no difference

Descriptive statistics for intervention groups according to

between groups due to receiving paper versus Web-based information. There were significant time × message interactions for both perceived susceptibility and self-efficacy. Perceived susceptibility scores for individuals receiving tailored information increased from mean 10.6 (SD 2.1) to mean 11.8 (SD 2.2). Scores on self-efficacy increased in the tailored group from mean 11.7 (SD 2.0) to mean 12.6 (SD 1.8). There were

significant time  $\times$  modality  $\times$  message effects for social influence and salience and coherence, reflecting an increase in these scores for tailored Web-based participants only: social influence scores increased from mean 11.7 (SD 2.6) to mean 14.9 (SD 2.3) and salience and coherence scores increased from mean 16.0 (SD 2.2) to mean 17.7 (SD 2.1).

Table 6. Mea	ns and standard devi	ations on all PHM,	fecal aversion,	and self-efficacy	outcome variables	according to condition
--------------	----------------------	--------------------	-----------------	-------------------	-------------------	------------------------

Outcome variable	Message type	Pre-intervention modality		Post-intervention modality		
		Paper	Web	Paper	Web	
		mean (SD)	mean (SD)	mean (SD)	mean (SD)	
Salience and coherence	Tailored	16.4 (2.5)	16.0 (2.2)	16.6 (2.3)	17.7 (2.1)	
	Non-tailored	17.0 (2.3)	15.8 (2.4)	17.6 (1.8)	16.1 (2.5)	
Cancer worries	Tailored	6.3 (1.6)	5.2 (2.1)	5.9 (1.9)	4.3 (2.1)	
	Non-tailored	4.5 (2.1)	5.0 (1.9)	4.4 (1.8)	5.0 (1.9)	
Perceived Susceptibility	Tailored	10.4 (2.1)	10.8 (2.1)	11.4 (2.1)	12.3 (2.3)	
	Non-tailored	10.9 (1.6)	10.8 (2.3)	11.0 (2.2)	10.9 (2.1)	
Response efficacy	Tailored	7.5 (1.1)	7.7 (1.1)	8.0 (1.2)	8.1 (1.1)	
	Non-tailored	7.4 (1.0)	7.7 (1.3)	8.1 (1.3)	8.2 (1.0)	
Social influence	Tailored	13.5 (1.9)	11.7 (2.6)	14.5 (2.0)	14.9 (2.3)	
	Non-tailored	12.7 (2.7)	12.9 (2.6)	14.9 (2.5)	14.1 (2.9)	
Self-efficacy	Tailored	11.7 (2.2)	11.7 (1.9)	12.1 (1.6)	13.0 (1.9)	
	Non-tailored	12.5 (1.3)	11.9 (1.4)	12.4 (1.4)	12.2 (1.5)	
Fecal aversion	Tailored	9.5 (2.5)	10.4 (3.0)	10.4 (2.6)	11.4 (2.8)	
	Non-tailored	11.2 (2.0)	10.3 (2.1)	11.9 (2.2)	10.6 (2.7)	

Table 7. Repeated measures ANOVAs comparing pre- and post-intervention group scores.

Outcome variable	Time <sup>a</sup>		Time × Modality		Time × Message		Time × Modality × Message	
	F 1,80 <sup>b</sup>	Р	F 1,80 <sup>b</sup>	Р	F 1,80 <sup>b</sup>	Р	F 1,80 <sup>b</sup>	Р
Salience and coherence	10.28	<.001	1.62	.20	1.04	.31	4.25	.04
Cancer worries	5.86	.02	0.28	.59	2.90	.09	0.88	.35
Perceived susceptibility	11.15	<.001	0.27	.60	7.11	.01	0.52	.47
Response efficacy	14.49	<.001	0.15	.69	0.41	.52	0.31	.57
Social influence	65.80	<.001	1.54	.22	0.50	.48	11.03	<.001
Self-efficacy	8.62	<.001	3.21	.08	4.74	.03	0.58	.45
Fecal aversion	16.60	<.001	0.15	.70	1.27	.26	0.42	.52

<sup>a</sup> Time effect refers to pre- and post-intervention scores.

<sup>b</sup> F test for statistical difference between > 2 groups.

# Movement in PAPM Decision Stage

Movement in the PAPM decision stage from pre- to post-intervention was measured for modality and message separately, and included the control group (Figure 3, shown as a percentage of group). A greater percentage of the control group "moved" compared to intervention groups; however, they moved from "unaware of the issue" to only "heard of the issue but unconcerned." Although a similar percentage of Web- or paper-based participants moved to deciding to screen, a greater percentage of those receiving tailored (vs non-tailored) messages moved to deciding to screen. Post-intervention movement of intervention groups was further dichotomized as "moved to screen" versus "other movement type" and excluded those who had decided to screen pre- and post-intervention (n = 20). A Chi-square (with Yates continuity correction) analysis indicated no significant difference for either modality ( $\chi^2_1 = 0.2, P = .62$ ) or message ( $\chi^2_1 = 2.3, P = .13$ ), indicating that Web or tailored

delivery was no more effective than paper or non-tailored delivery in moving people toward a decision to screen.

Figure 3. Movement in decision stage post intervention.



# Decision stage movement - Modality (%)

Control (n=20) 60 Tailored (n=42) Non-tailored (n=42) 45 36 26 21 20 15 14 Not moved Moved Moved to Decided to from lower screen screen pre decision and post

Decision stage movement - Message (%)

# **FOBT Participation**

Including the control group, FOBTs were requested by 58.7% (61/104) of participants at the interview and by another 9 participants following the interview (overall request rate 67.3%, 70/104). Completed FOBTs were returned by 58.6% (41/70)

of participants over a period of 14.1 weeks (mean 4.9 weeks). Of the kits returned, 65.9% (27/41) were received within 6 weeks ("early"). For the intervention groups, there was no significant difference in modality (Web vs paper) or message (tailored vs non-tailored) for FOBTs requested or returned (Table 8).

Table 8. Request and return of fecal occult blood tests (FOBTs) by intervention group.

	Modality				Message				Control
	Web n = 41	Paper n = 43	$\chi^2_1$	Р	Tailored n = 42	Non-tai- lored n = 42	$\chi^2_1$	Р	n = 20
FOBTs requested	28	34	0.8	.38	34	28	1.5	.21	8
FOBTs returned	18	18	0.0	.99	22	14	2.4	.12	5

stage

#### **Participant Interviews**

Interviews were conducted with all intervention group participants by IF and EH, in groups or alone according to number of participants at each session. They discussed issues relating to acceptability of the information, particularly the tailored messages, and acceptability of the website.

# Impact of Tailored Message

Respondents who received tailored information had a positive impression overall. The tailored information was viewed as an acceptable substitute for a one-on-one conversation:

It was really in response to the information I had given, and, it wasn't patronizing but it was really just confirming...Yes, I think that approach is beneficial.

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e12/

RenderX

*It drags you in; it's like having a conversation.* [male, Web/tailored group]

The fact that the tailored information addressed an individual's specific responses was positively regarded:

I think it reinforced things for me...I'd made one comment that I perhaps agreed or disagreed, but this was actually telling me why it was different...So for me it's a more direct approach and I found that very useful. [female, Web/tailored group]

Although some participants did experience the receipt of tailored information as somewhat confronting:

I sort of didn't realize what I had said. Well, I think probably I've thought about it since, and thought well that was a stupid statement to make...it was just a bit

*strange seeing things that I'd said.* [female, paper/tailored group]

# Acceptability of the Website

The presentation of the Web tool was described as requiring improvement:

I'd be looking for clear indication on the site that gave me very quickly, very clearly without a lot of words, what I've gotta [sic] look for and what I can do to find out. It was a bit long and a bit wordy—trying to put too much information. You can do more with pictures than you can do with words. [male, Web/non-tailored group]

...it wasn't very exciting. It was very boring...there weren't any pretty pictures, it was sort of, you know—very basic. [female, Web/non-tailored group]

*I think beige would be more exciting!* [male, Web/non-tailored group]

# Impact of Educational Content

Some male participants were surprised to learn that CRC and prostate cancer incidence rates are similar. This suggested some men were more aware of prostate cancer screening and considered themselves more at risk for prostate cancer than CRC:

It rose [sic] my awareness. I'm now aware that that's a test that I should be looking for. And put it in the same bracket as prostate cancer, whereas it was not even on my radar. [male, paper/tailored group]

When I saw the graph and I saw prostrate [sic] cancer and I saw bowel cancer and they were almost identical, can't remember the exact numbers, but they were almost identical in terms of amount. [male, Web/tailored group]

# Discussion

This exploratory study tested the relative efficacy of Web-delivered, tailored messages about CRC screening and FOBT use on beliefs about and attitudes toward screening in comparison to paper-delivered tailored messages and non-tailored messages delivered by both paper and Web. In addition to changes in PHM variable scores, outcomes included changes in decision stage for screening, FOBT requests, and participation.

After the interventions, there was an improvement in PHM variable scores for all groups except the control group, who received no information. For the intervention groups, all mean scores significantly moved in the desired direction (eg, decreased cancer worries or increased support for cancer screening identified in all other psychological variables). Although not influencing every factor, receipt of tailored messages increased perceived susceptibility and self-efficacy and increased both salience and coherence and social influence when combined with Web delivery. Perceived susceptibility has been shown to be a predictor of intention to screen [31,32]. Similarly, a person's confidence in their capacity to act (self-efficacy) is widely reported as a predictor of actual health behavior participation [33] and has been shown to moderate the

relationship between intention, planning, and action [34,35]. Thus, it appears that messages tailored to individual levels of these important factors have a greater likelihood of beneficially influencing screening behavior than more generic messages. Salience and coherence and social influence are also important behavioral determinants of screening [8]; it is unclear how Web delivery interacted with tailoring to improve these scores.

Overall, there was no indication of a modality effect for PHM factors; the delivery channel alone (paper or Web) had no direct influence on score changes. Web delivery enables a shift from the use of static material to a dynamic interactive resource [36] that could be expected to provide more sophisticated and effective decision support. Qualitative data suggests that the site may not have fulfilled expectations with regard to "media richness." "Rich" media are generally characterized by the capacity for immediate feedback, the capacity to transmit multiple cues, the use of language variety, and capacity of the medium to have a personal focus [37,38]. The Web-based educational content of the decision support tool was designed to be comparable with the paper version, with only the presence of hyperlinks differentiating the modes of transmission (Figure 2). Interview feedback suggested participants found the information "boring" and "dry" in comparison to other websites and this may have affected their level of engagement. This result highlights the need to ensure that Web-based information is presented in media-rich format that users have come to expect, albeit with due consideration of the needs of the target age group (eg, issues of cognition, readability, vision, and disability) [29].

Regarding movement in decision stage, more people in the control group moved from "never heard of FOBT" to no further than "not considering" FOBT. This result corresponds with the control group's lack of movement in PHM scores and clarifies that the act of being asked to just think about the factors associated with screening without accompanying more specific information is unlikely to encourage screening uptake. Although there was greater movement toward a decision to screen in the intervention groups, no one modality or message type was more effective than the other. The lack of effect of Web versus paper delivery could be ascribed to the previously mentioned lack of expected Web-based richness of information. However, receipt of tailored messages, compared to non-tailored material, had a beneficial effect on several PHM factors and could be expected to increase intention to screen.

Despite a growing evidence base showing that tailored messages are superior to generic messages in their ability to influence health behavior [39], the mechanisms by which tailoring works is still unclear [40]. Tailored feedback can take different forms—descriptive, comparative, evaluative, or a combination [25,41]—and their relative effectiveness may differ between individuals. For example, some study participants found our descriptive approach (providing feedback on what is known about the recipient based upon their PHM responses) confronting (eg, it was a "...bit strange seeing things that I'd said") and the language may have lacked empathy. Message framing may also have an influence. For example, Akl and colleagues [42] in their systematic review noted that loss messages (vs gain messages) led to more positive perception of effectiveness for screening messages. Others have found that differing presentation of risk

XSL•FO RenderX

factors (absolute vs comparative) had an impact on intention to screen [43], and message order was found to influence responses to breast cancer information [44]. Further research to test the effects of different types of message feedback, framing, and presentation order using both behavioral and communication theories [45,46] in the CRC screening context would help "unpack" the mechanisms through which tailoring has an influence.

The FOBT request and uptake rates, although greater than the control, were no different for modality or message type. Only slightly more than half of the FOBTs requested were returned. Although it is generally accepted that intention to screen is a necessary precursor of action, other variables amenable to tailoring may exert a greater influence on screening uptake. For example, in a group of people committed to screening we found that, in conjunction with self-efficacy, commitment explained only 8.0% of variance [47], and others have found that life difficulty variables were better predictors of action than intention [48]. Other researchers have approached the choice of tailoring variables in other ways (eg, by targeting the most important barriers identified by participants themselves [49]).

We did not test whether knowledge of bowel cancer and screening was enhanced through provision of the educational material, or whether such knowledge helped participants decide whether or not to screen. Knowledge is a critical component of informed decision making; however, as Jepson and colleagues [50] point out, a tension exists between the need of a screening program to attain high rates of uptake and the promotion of informed choice-an individual with whom information about the explicit risks and benefits has been shared may choose not to undertake screening (as in the case of prostate cancer screening [51]). Although acknowledging the ethical imperative of being able to make an informed choice, it is unclear whether increased knowledge alone actually influences uptake. Increased knowledge does not necessarily translate into action. This fact has been demonstrated with respect to bowel cancer screening [52,53], other screening behaviors [50,54-56], and organ donation [57].

Regardless of the relative lack of effect of Web-based delivery, from a practical perspective, using the Web as a delivery medium for tailored information has significant advantages over tailoring via paper. Material and decision rules can be created and updated more easily and economically, thus maintaining currency for a longer period, and the interaction required for obtaining relevant information and providing tailored feedback can occur in the one session. This creates a "real time" interaction that can be linked to immediate behavior activation (eg, ordering an FOBT online). Older people are increasingly using the Internet. An earlier study we conducted found that more than half the population over 50 years in South Australia had access to the Internet at some location [58]. Others have found that in South Australia the proportion of people aged 45 to over 65 years seeking Internet health information significantly increased between 2001 and 2008 [59]. These data are likely to be representative of greater Australia and other developed countries.

# Limitations and Strengths

There are some limitations with this study. First, our sample was small, but it was consistent with that typically used in exploratory studies. Second, those who did participate were likely to have had greater focus on their health status and, therefore, not necessarily representative of the external population. Participants and non-participants did not differ in gender, although we acknowledge that they may have differed on other variables. It was not possible to measure the extent of any potential bias without detailed information on those who did not participate, which was inherently unavailable. We also had a lower than expected initial uptake rate, necessitating snowball recruitment and the associated loss of randomization.

Nevertheless, by means of this exploratory study we gained sufficient indication of the beneficial effect of tailored material on FOBT screening attitudes and participation to justify the formulation of feasible hypotheses upon which to expand our research. We also gained a participant perspective of the usability and the content of the website. These results will be incorporated into the design of a larger, truly randomized trial using an improved Web interface. The process of producing and presenting tailored messages from survey responses was labor-intensive and not readily transferable to population settings. Going through the process, however, highlighted the potential for the development of more sophisticated, fully automated message libraries and the use of natural language generation systems, for example [60,61].

Despite that randomization was broken, strengths of the study included the majority of participants (although self-selected) were randomly sampled from a population frame, thereby providing a stronger indication of generalizability of results. We used behavioral constructs that had been validated as predictors of CRC screening, and FOBT participation was not measured by self-report alone.

# Conclusions

This exploratory study has confirmed that the provision of tailored messages that address attitudes and perceptions of screening that are amenable to change are more likely to result in increased readiness to screen for CRC compared to provision of generic information alone. However, despite increased PHM scores and generally positive qualitative feedback, tailored messages did not result in significantly increased requests for an FOBT or its actual use. Future research should address optimal message framing and construction, and consideration of other possible psychosocial influences on screening uptake. Mode of delivery did not affect outcomes, but this may have been due to Web design deficiencies. From a public health promotion perspective, the Web has economic and logistical advantages over paper as a delivery medium.

We are currently undertaking a large-scale, randomized population trial using a redesigned Internet decision aid [62] to construct and deliver tailored messages in real time. Based on the results of this exploratory study, we have been able to improve the quality and precision of our intervention. We ensured that the initial sample approached would be large enough, after allowing for attrition through non-eligibility and

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e12/
```

XSI•FC

non-participation, to retain sufficient power to detect statistically significant group differences for the primary outcomes. This study also highlighted that the steps involved in gaining responses to PHM variables upon which to base tailored messages, and the process of preparing the messages for presentation in a coherent manner, was labor-intensive and not compatible with a population-based screening program. Therefore, in the larger trial [62], baseline survey responses will

be collected in real time and participants in the tailored information group will receive immediate tailored feedback. Additionally, an automated tailored message library using sophisticated algorithms [61] will be used to ensure that messages are united with natural language so that they can be read in a coherent, logical manner without the need for further "editing."

# Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Stephen Cole and Alicia Keys, Repatriation Hospital Bowel Health Service, for supply of FOBTs and maintenance of participation database; Andre Duszynski, University of Adelaide Department of General Practice, for design of tailoring program; and Julie Syrette, CSIRO Animal, Food and Health Sciences, for assistance with software installation and utilization.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# References

- Jemal A, Bray F, Center MM, Ferlay J, Ward E, Forman D. Global cancer statistics. CA Cancer J Clin 2011;61(2):69-90 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.20107] [Medline: 21296855]
- 2. Hewitson P, Glasziou P, Irwig L, Towler B, Watson E. Screening for colorectal cancer using the faecal occult blood test, Hemoccult. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2007(1):CD001216. [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001216.pub2] [Medline: 17253456]
- 3. International Cancer Screening Network. Inventory of colorectal cancer screening in ICSN countries. 2008 URL: <u>http://www.appliedresearch.cancer.gov/icsn/colorectal/screening.html</u> [accessed 2012-04-03] [WebCite Cache ID 66fA6NTYc]
- Cole SR, Young GP, Esterman A, Cadd B, Morcom J. A randomised trial of the impact of new faecal haemoglobin test technologies on population participation in screening for colorectal cancer. J Med Screen 2003;10(3):117-122. [doi: 10.1258/096914103769011003] [Medline: 14561262]
- 5. AIHW (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare). 2012. In: National Bowel Cancer Screening Program monitoring report: phase 2, July 2008-June. Canberra: AIHW Report No. CAN 61; 2011.
- 6. Conner M, Norman P, editors. Predicting health behaviour: research and practice with social cognition models. Maidenhead, England: Open University Press; 2005.
- Vernon SW, Myers RE, Tilley BC. Development and validation of an instrument to measure factors related to colorectal cancer screening adherence. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 1997 Oct;6(10):825-832 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 9332766]
- Tiro JA, Vernon SW, Hyslop T, Myers RE. Factorial validity and invariance of a survey measuring psychosocial correlates of colorectal cancer screening among African Americans and Caucasians. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2005 Dec;14(12):2855-2861 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-05-0217] [Medline: 16365000]
- 9. Ritvo P, Myers R, Del Giudice ML, Pazsat L, Campbell PT, Howlett RI, et al. Factorial validity and invariance of a survey measuring psychosocial correlates of colorectal cancer screening in Ontario, Canada--a replication study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2008 Nov;17(11):3279-3283 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-08-0241] [Medline: 18990772]
- Flight IH, Wilson CJ, McGillivray J, Myers RE. Cross-cultural validation of the preventive health model for colorectal cancer screening: an Australian study. Health Educ Behav 2010 Oct;37(5):724-736. [doi: <u>10.1177/1090198110364107</u>] [Medline: <u>20930134</u>]
- 11. Frank MR, Heiby EM, Lee JH. Assessment of determinants of compliance to twelve health behaviors: psychometric evaluation of the Health Behavior schedule II. Psychol Rep 2007 Jun;100(3 Pt 2):1281-1297. [Medline: <u>17886518</u>]
- 12. Everett B, Salamonson Y, Davidson PM. Bandura's exercise self-efficacy scale: validation in an Australian cardiac rehabilitation setting. Int J Nurs Stud 2009 Jun;46(6):824-829. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2009.01.016</u>] [Medline: <u>19261281</u>]
- Cole SR, Zajac I, Gregory T, Mehaffey S, Roosa N, Turnbull D, et al. Psychosocial variables associated with colorectal cancer screening in South Australia. Int J Behav Med 2011 Dec;18(4):302-309. [doi: <u>10.1007/s12529-010-9101-1</u>] [Medline: <u>20496170</u>]
- 14. Myers RE, Sifri R, Hyslop T, Rosenthal M, Wender R, Vernon S. Tailored messaging in colorectal cancer screening. 2002 Presented at: Toward Better Theories of Health Behavior; May 2002; Santa Fe, New Mexico URL: <u>http://cancercontrol.</u> <u>cancer.gov/brp/presentations\_1/PDFs/myers\_presentation\_final.pdf</u>
- Sifri R, Rosenthal M, Hyslop T, Andrel J, Wender R, Vernon SW, et al. Factors associated with colorectal cancer screening decision stage. Prev Med 2010;51(3-4):329-331. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ypmed.2010.06.015</u>] [Medline: <u>20600255</u>]

- 16. Kreuter M, Lezin N, Green L. Community health promotion ideas that work: a field-book for practitioners. Sudbury, Mass: Jones and Bartlett Publishers; 1998.
- 17. Skinner CS, Campbell MK, Rimer BK, Curry S, Prochaska JO. How effective is tailored print communication? Ann Behav Med 1999;21(4):290-298. [Medline: 10721435]
- 18. Albada A, Ausems MG, Bensing JM, van Dulmen S. Tailored information about cancer risk and screening: a systematic review. Patient Educ Couns 2009 Nov;77(2):155-171. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2009.03.005</u>] [Medline: <u>19376676</u>]
- 19. Ore L, Hagoel L, Lavi I, Rennert G. Screening with faecal occult blood test (FOBT) for colorectal cancer: assessment of two methods that attempt to improve compliance. Eur J Cancer Prev 2001 Jun;10(3):251-256. [Medline: <u>11432712</u>]
- 20. Lee JK, Reis V, Liu S, Conn L, Groessl EJ, Ganiats TG, et al. Improving fecal occult blood testing compliance using a mailed educational reminder. J Gen Intern Med 2009 Nov;24(11):1192-1197. [doi: 10.1007/s11606-009-1087-5] [Medline: 19774423]
- 21. Krebs P, Prochaska JO, Rossi JS. A meta-analysis of computer-tailored interventions for health behavior change. Prev Med 2010;51(3-4):214-221. [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2010.06.004] [Medline: 20558196]
- 22. Kreuter M. Tailoring health messages: customizing communication with computer technology. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates; 2000.
- 23. Wantland DJ, Portillo CJ, Holzemer WL, Slaughter R, McGhee EM. The effectiveness of Web-based vs. non-Web-based interventions: a meta-analysis of behavioral change outcomes. J Med Internet Res 2004 Nov 10;6(4):e40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6.4.e40] [Medline: 15631964]
- 24. Lindblom K, Gregory T, Wilson C, Flight IH, Zajac I. The impact of computer self-efficacy, computer anxiety, and perceived usability and acceptability on the efficacy of a decision support tool for colorectal cancer screening. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2012;19(3):407-412. [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2011-000225] [Medline: 21857024]
- 25. Dijkstra A, De Vries H. The development of computer-generated tailored interventions. Patient Educ Couns 1999 Feb;36(2):193-203. [Medline: 10223023]
- 26. Crowder R. Principles of learning and memory. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates; 1976.
- 27. Rimer BK, Briss PA, Zeller PK, Chan EC, Woolf SH. Informed decision making: what is its role in cancer screening? Cancer 2004 Sep 1;101(5 Suppl):1214-1228 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.20512] [Medline: 15316908]
- 28. Department of Health and Ageing. National Bowel Cancer Screening Program: Consumer Information Booklet. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia; 2007. URL: <u>http://www.cancerscreening.gov.au/internet/screening/publishing.nsf/Content/669A47A1CEA2B8FDCA2574EB007F7533/\$File/NBCSP%20booklet.pdf</u> [accessed 2012-08-30] [WebCite Cache ID 6AJKezkWs]
- 29. Redish J, Chisnell D. Designing web sites for older adults: A review of recent research. 2004 URL: <u>http://assets.aarp.org/</u> www.aarp.org /articles/research/oww/AARP-50Sites.pdf [accessed 2012-04-03] [WebCite Cache ID 66fCMhsuK]
- Streeton R, Cooke M, Campbell J. Researching the researchers: using a snowballing technique. Nurse Res 2004;12(1):35-46. [Medline: <u>15493213</u>]
- McQueen A, Vernon SW, Rothman AJ, Norman GJ, Myers RE, Tilley BC. Examining the role of perceived susceptibility on colorectal cancer screening intention and behavior. Ann Behav Med 2010 Oct;40(2):205-217. [doi: 10.1007/s12160-010-9215-3] [Medline: 20658212]
- 32. Watts BG, Vernon SW, Myers RE, Tilley BC. Intention to be screened over time for colorectal cancer in male automotive workers. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2003 Apr;12(4):339-349 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12692109]
- 33. Schwarzer R, Fuchs R. Self-efficacy and health behaviours. In: Conner M, Norman P, editors. Predicting Health Behaviour. Buckingham, UK: Open University Press; 1995:163-196.
- 34. Lippke S, Wiedemann AU, Ziegelmann JP, Reuter T, Schwarzer R. Self-efficacy moderates the mediation of intentions into behavior via plans. Am J Health Behav 2009;33(5):521-529. [Medline: <u>19296742</u>]
- 35. Schwarzer R, Richert J, Kreausukon P, Remme L, Wiedemann AU, Reuter T. Translating intentions into nutrition behaviors via planning requires self-efficacy: evidence from Thailand and Germany. Int J Psychol 2010 Aug 1;45(4):260-268. [doi: 10.1080/00207591003674479] [Medline: 22044011]
- 36. Richards B, Colman AW, Hollingsworth RA. The current and future role of the Internet in patient education. Int J Med Inform 1998 Jun;50(1-3):279-285. [Medline: 9726524]
- 37. Daft R, Lengel R. Information richness: A new approach to managerial behaviour and organization design. In: Cummings L, Straw B, editors. Research in Organizational Behavior. Homewood, IL: JAI Press; 1984:191-233.
- 38. Sun PC, Cheng HK. The design of instructional multimedia in e-Learning: a media richness theory-based approach. Comput Educ 2007 Nov;49(3):662-676.
- 39. Noar SM, Benac CN, Harris MS. Does tailoring matter? Meta-analytic review of tailored print health behavior change interventions. Psychol Bull 2007 Jul;133(4):673-693. [doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.133.4.673] [Medline: 17592961]
- 40. Hawkins RP, Kreuter M, Resnicow K, Fishbein M, Dijkstra A. Understanding tailoring in communicating about health. Health Educ Res 2008 Jun;23(3):454-466 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/her/cyn004] [Medline: 18349033]
- 41. Harrington NG, Noar SM. Reporting standards for studies of tailored interventions. Health Educ Res 2012 Apr;27(2):331-342. [doi: <u>10.1093/her/cyr108</u>] [Medline: <u>22156230</u>]

- 42. Akl EA, Oxman AD, Herrin J, Vist GE, Terrenato I, Sperati F, et al. Framing of health information messages. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2011(12):CD006777. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD006777.pub2</u>] [Medline: <u>22161408</u>]
- 43. Lipkus IM, Klein WM. Effects of communicating social comparison information on risk perceptions for colorectal cancer. J Health Commun 2006 Jun;11(4):391-407. [doi: 10.1080/10810730600671870] [Medline: 16720537]
- 44. Prentice-Dunn S, Floyd DL, Flournoy JM. Effects of persuasive message order on coping with breast cancer information. Health Educ Res 2001 Feb;16(1):81-84 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>11252286</u>]
- 45. Cappella J. Integrating message effects and behavior change theories: Organizing comments and unanswered questions. Journal of Communication 2006;1:S265-SS79.
- 46. Fishbein M, Cappella J. The role of theory in developing effective health communications. Journal of Communication 2006;56:S1-S17.
- 47. Flight I, Wilson C, McGillivray J. Turning intention into behaviour: The effect of providing cues to action on participation rates for colorectal cancer screening. In: Ettarh R, editor. Colorectal Cancer-From Prevention to Patient Care. Shanghai: InTech; 2012:67-86.
- 48. Power E, Van Jaarsveld CH, McCaffery K, Miles A, Atkin W, Wardle J. Understanding intentions and action in colorectal cancer screening. Ann Behav Med 2008 Jun;35(3):285-294. [doi: <u>10.1007/s12160-008-9034-y</u>] [Medline: <u>18575946</u>]
- 49. Hageman PA, Walker SN, Pullen CH. Tailored versus standard internet-delivered interventions to promote physical activity in older women. J Geriatr Phys Ther 2005;28(1):28-33. [Medline: <u>16236225</u>]
- 50. Jepson RG, Forbes CA, Sowden AJ, Lewis RA. Increasing informed uptake and non-uptake of screening: evidence from a systematic review. Health Expect 2001 Jun;4(2):116-126. [Medline: <u>11359542</u>]
- Evans R, Joseph-Williams N, Edwards A, Newcombe RG, Wright P, Kinnersley P, et al. Supporting informed decision making for prostate specific antigen (PSA) testing on the web: an online randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2010;12(3):e27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1305] [Medline: 20693148]
- 52. Steckelberg A, Hülfenhaus C, Haastert B, Mühlhauser I. Effect of evidence based risk information on "informed choice" in colorectal cancer screening: randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2011;342:d3193 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 21636633]
- 53. Weinberg DS, Miller S, Rodoletz M, Egleston B, Fleisher L, Buzaglo J, et al. Colorectal cancer knowledge is not associated with screening compliance or intention. J Cancer Educ 2009;24(3):225-232. [doi: 10.1080/08858190902924815] [Medline: 19526412]
- 54. Fox R. Informed choice in screening programmes: do leaflets help? A critical literature review. J Public Health (Oxf) 2006 Dec;28(4):309-317 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/pubmed/fdl066] [Medline: 17060352]
- 55. Michie S, Dormandy E, Marteau TM. Informed choice: understanding knowledge in the context of screening uptake. Patient Educ Couns 2003 Jul;50(3):247-253. [Medline: <u>12900094</u>]
- 56. Kellar I, Sutton S, Griffin S, Prevost AT, Kinmonth AL, Marteau TM. Evaluation of an informed choice invitation for type 2 diabetes screening. Patient Educ Couns 2008 Aug;72(2):232-238. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2008.04.005</u>] [Medline: <u>18513916</u>]
- Krekula LG, Malenicka S, Linder M, Tibell A. From words to action--influence of two organ donation campaigns on knowledge and formal decision making. Clin Transplant 2009;23(3):343-350. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1399-0012.2008.00919.x</u>] [Medline: <u>19191814</u>]
- 58. Wilson C, Flight I, Hart E, Turnbull D, Cole S, Young G. Internet access for delivery of health information to South Australians older than 50. Aust N Z J Public Health 2008 Apr;32(2):174-176. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1753-6405.2008.00196.x</u>] [Medline: <u>18412690</u>]
- 59. Reinfeld-Kirkman N, Kalucy E, Roeger L. The relationship between self-reported health status and the increasing likelihood of South Australians seeking Internet health information. Aust N Z J Public Health 2010 Aug;34(4):422-426. [doi: 10.1111/j.1753-6405.2010.00576.x] [Medline: 20649784]
- 60. Hüske-Kraus D. Text generation in clinical medicine--a review. Methods Inf Med 2003;42(1):51-60. [doi: 10.1267/METH03010051] [Medline: 12695796]
- 61. Mann W, Thompson S. Rhetorical Structure Theory: A theory of text organization. Text 1988;3:243-281.
- 62. Wilson CJ, Flight IH, Zajac IT, Turnbull D, Young GP, Cole SR, et al. Protocol for population testing of an Internet-based Personalised Decision Support system for colorectal cancer screening. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2010;10:50 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-10-50] [Medline: 20843369]

# Abbreviations

RenderX

ANOVA: analysis of variance CATI: computer-assisted telephone interview CRC: colorectal cancer CSIRO: Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation FIT: fecal immunochemical test FOBT: fecal occult blood test iFOBT: immunochemical fecal occult blood test NBCSP: National Bowel Cancer Screening Program

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e12/

**PAPM:** Precaution Adoption Process Model **PHM:** Preventive Health Model

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 16.04.12; peer-reviewed by M Garcia, R Miller; comments to author 30.07.12; revised version received 13.08.12; accepted 10.08.12; published 26.09.12.

Please cite as:

Flight IH, Wilson CJ, Zajac IT, Hart E, McGillivray JA Decision Support and the Effectiveness of Web-based Delivery and Information Tailoring for Bowel Cancer Screening: An Exploratory Study JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e12 URL: http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e12/ doi:10.2196/resprot.2135 PMID:23611950

©Ingrid H Flight, Carlene J Wilson, Ian T Zajac, Elizabeth Hart, Jane A McGillivray. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 26.09.2012. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# **Original Paper**

# Usability Study of a Computer-Based Self-Management System for Older Adults with Chronic Diseases

Calvin Or<sup>1</sup>, Ph.D; Da Tao<sup>1</sup>, BEng

Department of Industrial & Manufacturing Systems Engineering, The University of Hong Kong, Pokfulam, China (Hong Kong)

**Corresponding Author:** 

Calvin Or, Ph.D Department of Industrial & Manufacturing Systems Engineering The University of Hong Kong 8/f., Haking Wong Building Pokfulam, China (Hong Kong) Phone: 852 2859 2587 Fax: 852 2858 6535 Email: klor@hku.hk

# Abstract

**Background:** Usability can influence patients' acceptance and adoption of a health information technology. However, little research has been conducted to study the usability of a self-management health care system, especially one geared toward elderly patients.

**Objective:** This usability study evaluated a new computer-based self-management system interface for older adults with chronic diseases, using a paper prototype approach.

**Methods:** Fifty older adults with different chronic diseases participated. Two usability evaluation methods were involved: (1) a heuristics evaluation and (2) end-user testing with a think-aloud testing method, audio recording, videotaping, and interviewing. A set of usability metrics was employed to determine the overall system usability, including task incompletion rate, task completion time, frequency of error, frequency of help, satisfaction, perceived usefulness, and perceived ease of use. Interviews were used to elicit participants' comments on the system design. The quantitative data were analyzed using descriptive statistics and the qualitative data were analyzed for content.

**Results:** The participants were able to perform the predesigned self-management tasks with the current system design and they expressed mostly positive responses about the perceived usability measures regarding the system interface. However, the heuristics evaluation, performance measures, and interviews revealed a number of usability problems related to system navigation, information search and interpretation, information presentation, and readability. Design recommendations for further system interface modifications were discussed.

**Conclusions:** This study verified the usability of the self-management system developed for older adults with chronic diseases. Also, we demonstrated that our usability evaluation approach could be used to quickly and effectively identify usability problems in a health care information system at an early stage of the system development process using a paper prototype. Conducting a usability evaluation is an essential step in system development to ensure that the system features match the users' true needs, expectations, and characteristics, and also to minimize the likelihood of the users committing user errors and having difficulties using the system.

(JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e13) doi:10.2196/resprot.2184

# **KEYWORDS**

Usability evaluation; self-management; patient participation; chronic disease

# Introduction

RenderX

With the advent of advanced technology, a number of health information systems have been developed and employed to

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e13/

increase support for patient self-management of chronic disease. However, many of those innovations are not regularly used in care management and some have been abandoned. This non-adoption issue is significant and can largely be attributed to problems with the usability of the technology, such as

ineffective system design, lack of ease of use and convenience of access, and a mismatch between the system features and the needs, expectations, and characteristics of the users [1,2]. Even when a technology is adopted, these usability barriers are likely to result in frustration and irritation for the user, in inefficiency and disruption in the care management process, and in a higher likelihood of committing errors [3].

To avoid these negative outcomes, designers should evaluate and verify system usability during the early stages of system development [4]. This is especially important for health care technologies because their usability can have implications for quality and effectiveness of health care [5-7]. In fact, researchers have directed their efforts at improving the usability of their new health information technology (IT) applications to avoid unintended consequences at rollout [8-14]. For example, Tang and colleagues [12] applied the heuristics evaluation, a usability engineering method, to examine the usability of a digital emergency medical service system designed for paramedics to input patient data. They uncovered a number of heuristic violations in the user interface design. In another health care IT project, Rose and colleagues [11] conducted a qualitative study to assess the usability of a Web-based electronic medical record and used the findings to recommend design changes to the system. Similarly, Yen and Bakken [13] performed a heuristics evaluation and think-aloud test to study the usability of a Web-based communication system for nurse scheduling. They demonstrated that their study was effective in identifying system design problems and obstacles to task performance.

Usability is also important for elderly and disabled people for the following reasons. First, most older adults and others with disabilities are experiencing a decline in their physical and cognitive abilities [15,16]; as a result, they may have more difficulty interacting with technology [17,18]. Second, many technologies are not made to be accessible for these people, making it difficult to use them [18,19]. Third, many of the design guidelines are established for developing products for people with no functional limitations; thus, it is necessary to pay special attention to the usability of the products that are specifically designed for the elderly and disabled. Indeed, a number of researchers who are interested in aging, disability, and technology demonstrate the effectiveness of usability evaluation in technology development [20-25].

Most of these previous works cover either Web sites or health care provider technology, but our study focuses on the usability evaluation of a patient-centered interactive self-management system for older adults with chronic illnesses. We focus on this because we acknowledge the high prevalence of chronic diseases among the elderly [26] and the potential for using health IT to improve disease self-management and health outcomes of elderly patients [27,28].

Usability evaluation includes a set of techniques for improving the usability of a system through the identification of potential difficulties and problems in using the system [4,29]. Among the various techniques, end-user testing and heuristics evaluation are prevalent and prominent [30,31]. End-user testing examines how effective and efficient a task or process is carried out using the system and explores users' opinions based on their

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e13/
```

Or & Tao

experience with the system. Heuristics evaluation is performed by usability specialists and focuses on the assessment of the system against a set of human factors design guidelines and heuristics [4,32]. These two methods can be implemented together in a usability evaluation to increase the likelihood of uncovering more design problems [30,33].

Conducting a usability evaluation during the early stages of the development process for a new design is highly recommended [29]. In addition, using paper prototypes to study usability is practical due to their low cost and comparable effectiveness with computer-based prototypes in identifying usability problems [34-38]. This study, which was part of a larger project to develop a computer-based self-management system for older adults with chronic diseases, evaluated the usability problems and weaknesses of the system using a paper prototype test. We first conducted a heuristics evaluation and then end-user testing using the think-aloud method. The objective of the heuristics evaluation was to determine whether the system design characteristics met the human factors design guidelines and principles. The aim of end-user testing was to examine use performance and satisfaction with the system interface among a group of elderly patients with chronic diseases. This usability study analytically discovered design weaknesses in the self-management system and provided directions for system design modifications and for conducting future system analyses.

# Materials and Methods

#### Self-management System Paper Prototype

Our research team has been working on the development of a computer-based, interactive, touchscreen self-management system designed for patient use in their homes. The system allows patients to assess, record, and track their vital signs, including weight, blood pressure, blood glucose level, temperature, and oxygen saturation (SpO<sub>2</sub>). The assessment records can be saved in the system and retrieved for review. The system can also remind the patients to take their prescribed medications at predetermined times. Figure 1 describes the measurement page for blood pressure. The page displays the blood pressure readings and includes the history data page button. By pressing the button, the users can access the history page and retrieve past blood pressure values from the two-dimensional line chart (see Figure 2). The design of the interface and functions of the other measurement modules (eg, blood glucose and weight) is similar to that of the blood pressure module. The intended users of the system are older adults with common chronic illnesses, such as diabetes, hypertension, and heart disease. The creation of the system interfaces was guided by a set of human factors design principles [4,39-41]. Examples of the principles are (1) match the system to the real world [4], (2) use recognition rather than recall [4], (3) reduce short-term memory load [39], (4) strive for consistency [39], (5) use compatibility of proximity principle [40], (6) conceptual compatibility [40], (7) avoid sound effects [41], (8) eliminate distracting features [41], and (9) have a clear and simple page [41]. In this study, we used a paper prototype that consisted of a collection of color-printed screenshots of the system interface to conduct our usability evaluation. This study protocol received

XSL•FO RenderX

the approval of the institutional review board of the University participants. of Hong Kong. Informed consent was obtained from all of the

Figure 1. The blood pressure measurement page of the self-management system.



Figure 2. The blood pressure history data page presents the past blood pressure values on a two-dimensional line chart.



# **Heuristics Evaluation**

XSL•FO RenderX

Three important considerations were managed in our heuristics evaluation to ensure study quality: evaluators, heuristics, and evaluation process.

# **Evaluators**

Our heuristics evaluation required the evaluators to be knowledgeable of usability and human factors engineering, be comfortable with health information system design and evaluation, be aware of the characteristics of older people (as

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e13/

the system end users would be elderly patients), and be familiar with the scenarios and environment in which the system would be used. In this study, we employed one "double expert" who had a background in usability and a domain of interest, and two "single experts" with experience in usability and human factors design. All of the evaluators were familiar with the heuristic principles. Nielsen and Mack [42] recommend using 3-5 "single experts" or 2-3 "double experts" in heuristics evaluations. We believed the number of evaluators in this study and their expertise level to be sufficient for this evaluation.

# **Heuristics**

We evaluated our system interfaces for their conformity to a set of 26 human factors design heuristics (see Table 1) that were identified based on Nielsen [4], Shneiderman and Plaisant [39], Czaja and Lee [19], and Demiris and colleagues [41]. Because the heuristics of Nielsen and those of Shneiderman and Plaisant were general human-computer interface design heuristics, our evaluation also included the principles reported by Czaja and Lee and by Demiris and colleagues who developed heuristics specifically for older adults and elderly patients. The heuristics evaluation was conducted on December 15, 2011.

# **Evaluation Process**

Three human factors researchers independently evaluated the conformity of the interface design to the 26 heuristics. They determined the conformity by responding "yes" or "no" to each heuristic. A comment section was also provided to collect their specific comments on the design issue associated with each heuristic. The three evaluators then met to discuss all of the comments received, identify the design problems, and give recommendations for system modifications prior to end-user testing.

# **End-User Testing**

The end-user testing was performed between January 16 and February 9, 2012, according to the three stages proposed by Nielsen [4], including preparation, testing, and follow up. Each test lasted approximately 30-40 minutes. The procedures implemented in these three stages are described below.

# **Preparation Stage**

The preparation stage included participant selection, task design, and data collection.

# Participants

The study participants were recruited from a non-profit medical organization in Hong Kong that provides medical services to the community in the Hong Kong East Cluster. The inclusion criteria for study participation included the following: (1) age 55 or older, (2) diagnosis of any chronic disease, (3) normal vision or corrected-to-normal vision, (4) no cognitive or physical impairment, and (5) the ability to read Traditional Chinese.

# Task Design

The participants performed two practice tasks followed by 11 experimental tasks related to disease self-management (see Table 2). The tasks included a set of navigation tasks (tasks 1, 4, 5, 7, and 10) and a set of information search and simple cognitive tasks (tasks 2, 3, 6, 8, 9, and 11). In the navigation

tasks, the participants were asked to access the measurement modules. To do this, they needed to search for and "press" the button associated with the module. In the information search and simple cognitive tasks, the participants were required to visually search for the measurement values (eg, blood glucose level) and to determine whether the values were normal based on the general "normal value range" presented on the interface.

# **Data Collection**

Several performance measures were collected, including task incompletion rate, task completion time, frequency of error, and frequency of help. Task incompletion rate was defined as the percentage of participants who went through the task but were not able to complete it. Task completion time was the mean time it took to complete the task. The amount of time the participants had to complete the tasks was not limited, but they were instructed to try their best to perform the tasks. They were also asked to report to the research assistant (RA) if they were unable to complete the tasks. Frequency of error  $(n_{\text{error}})$  was defined as the total number of errors made on the task by all of the participants who went through the task (errors included choosing a wrong button, unable to find and interpret the information correctly, etc). The participants were corrected and were asked to try again when they made an error. Frequency of help  $(n_{help})$  was defined as the total number of times that all participants needed help on the task.

In addition, a questionnaire was administered in a face-to-face interview to examine the following variables: participant satisfaction with the system design (17 items), the perceived usefulness of the system (4 items), the perceived ease of use of the system (4 items), and the intention to use the system (1 item). The questionnaire was developed based on previous usability and technology acceptance studies [43,44]. Except for intention to use (which was a yes/no item with a follow-up question asking the participants to explain their responses), all other items were rated on 7-point Likert scales ranging from 1 = very bad to 7 = very good, 1 = strongly disagree to 7 = strongly agree, 1 = very unclear to 7 = very clear, 1 = veryinappropriate to 7 = very appropriate, or 1 = very difficult to 7= very easy. At the end of the interview, two open-ended questions were also asked to elicit the opinions of the participants about the interface design (eg, use of font size, color, and complexity) and about what they liked or did not like with the design.

# **Testing Stage**

End-user testing was conducted in a community health service center by two trained RAs. Prior to the start of testing, one RA explained the study objective and research protocol to the participants. After the participants gave informed consent, the RA provided detailed information about the test procedures, described the purpose of the computer-based self-management system, and collected their basic demographical information. During the test, the participants were given two practice tasks to become familiar with the self-management system and the think-aloud method. Following the practice trials, the participants were asked to perform the experimental tasks. They were told to vocalize whatever they saw, did, and felt when performing the tasks. The participants did not go through the
information search and simple cognitive tasks if they failed to complete the associated preceding navigation tasks. In this study, all end-user testing was recorded on video. The RAs also took field notes about the participants' performance and comments. The RAs collected the questionnaire data and participant feedback on the difficulties they noticed when using the system after the completion of the end-user testing.

#### Follow-up Stage

In the follow-up stage, the study data were analyzed by two RAs using descriptive statistics and simple content analysis [45]. Data from the performance measures were extracted from the videos, and the means/frequencies were examined. Central tendency and distribution of the questionnaire item scores were determined. Audio interview data were transcribed and the content was analyzed. Practice task data were excluded from the data analysis.

 Table 1. The 26 human factors design heuristics used in the heuristics evaluation.

Source	Heuristic			
Nielsen [4]	1. Use simple and natural dialogue			
	2. Speak the users' language			
	3. Provide clearly marked exits			
	4. Provide help and documentation			
Shneiderman and Plaisant [39]	5. Strive for consistency (eg, screen information location and operating procedures)			
	6. Enable frequent users to use shortcuts			
	7. Offer informative feedback			
	8. Design dialogues to yield closure			
	9. Offer simple error handling			
	10. Permit easy reversal of actions			
	11. Support internal locus of control			
	12. Reduce short-term memory load			
Czaja and Lee [19]	13. Maximize the contrast between characters and screen background			
	14. Avoid small targets and characters that are small (fonts < 12 point)			
	15. Minimize irrelevant screen information			
	16. Adhere to principles of perceptual organization (eg, grouping)			
	17. Highlight important screen information			
	18. Clearly label keys			
	19. Avoid color discriminations among colors of the same hue or in the blue-green range			
	20. Maximize size of icons			
	21. Use icons that are easily discriminated and meaningful, and label icons if possible			
	22. Minimize demands on spatial memory			
Demiris and colleagues [41]	23. Use proper visual display (eg, concrete symbols that should look like the object they represent and be distinguishable from others; large buttons that increase the area that can be selected with the pointer)			
	24. Avoid sound effects			
	25. Eliminate distracting features			
	26. Use a simple and clear page			



Table 2. Self-management tasks used during end-user testing.

Task #	Task description
Practice	Access the SpO <sub>2</sub> measurement module
Practice	Indicate the SpO <sub>2</sub> value and determine whether it is normal
1	Access the blood pressure measurement module
2	Indicate the systolic pressure value and determine whether it is normal
3	Indicate the diastolic pressure value and determine whether it is normal
4	Access the blood glucose measurement module
5	Select the "before breakfast" test time for blood glucose measurement <sup>a</sup>
6	Indicate the blood glucose value and determine whether it is normal
7	Access the body weight measurement module
8	Indicate the weight value
9	Indicate the body mass index (BMI) and determine whether it is normal
10	Access the history data page for blood pressure
11	Indicate the diastolic pressure value on a specified date on the history data chart

<sup>a</sup> In this task, the participants had to search for and select (by "pressing") the "before breakfast" button for the measurement.

### Results

#### **Heuristics Evaluation**

The evaluation results (Table 3) and comments of the three evaluators were discussed and compiled into four categories (Table 4). The evaluation identified some strengths in the system design, such as consistent information presentation and organization, low demand on user short-term and spatial memory load, clearly labeled keys, and consistent operating procedures within and across the system modules. Two types of usability problems were also identified. The first was general usability problems related to insufficient interface design, including unfamiliar terminology, confusing and inconsistent button design, lack of informative feedback for user actions, and a lack of online support and instruction. The second type was age-related usability problems that were more problematic for older adult patients due in part to small text and buttons, inappropriate use of serif font and gradient color, low contrast between information and background, and too much information on the interface. Based on these findings, changes were made to the system design for end-user testing.

#### **End-User Testing**

#### Participant Characteristics

A total of 57 eligible older adult patients participated. The first seven were pilot participants to try out the testing procedures through which the experimental design problems were identified and fixed prior to the main test. The other 50 participants completed the main test; only their data were used for analysis. Table 5 presents the characteristics of the participants.

#### **Performance Measures**

The performance data were analyzed with descriptive statistics. Table 6 shows the results.



Table 3. Heuristics evaluation results.<sup>a</sup>

Heuristic	Interface <sup>b</sup>										
	а	b	с	d	e	f	g	h	i	j	
1	1	1	1	•	1	1	1	1	1	1	_
2	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	1	1	1	1	1	$\checkmark$	•	1	
3	NA	$\checkmark$	1	1	1	1	1	$\checkmark$	1	✓	
4	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	
5	$\checkmark$	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	
6	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	
7	1	•	1	1	•	1	•	1	•	1	
8	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	
9	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
10	1	1	1	•	1	•	1	•	1	•	
11	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
12	1	1	•	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
13	1	•	1	1	•	1	•	1	•	1	
14	$\checkmark$	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	
15	$\checkmark$	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	
16	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	1	1	1	1	1	$\checkmark$	1	✓	
17	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
18	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
19	1	•	1	1	•	1	•	1	•	1	
20	1	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	
21	•	•	1	•	•	1	•	1	•	•	
22	1	1	•	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
23	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	
24	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
25	1	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	
26	1	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	

<sup>a</sup>  $\checkmark$ : All three evaluators verified the conformity; •: only one or two of the evaluators verified the conformity, but the other evaluator(s) expressed nonconformity;  $\varkappa$ : none of the evaluators verified the conformity; NA: the heuristic was not applicable to the design of the interface.

<sup>b</sup> a: System home page with six measurement module buttons; b: blood pressure measurement page; c: history data page for blood pressure; d: blood glucose test time selection page; e: blood glucose measurement page; f: history data page for blood glucose; g:  $SpO_2$  measurement page; h: history data page for SpO<sub>2</sub>; i: body weight measurement page; j: history data page for body weight and BMI.



 Table 4. Interface design strengths and usability problems identified in the heuristics evaluation.

Category	Strengths	General usability problems	Age-related usability problems
Readability	High contrast between most characters and background	Unfamiliar terminology	Small characters, texts, and buttons
		Confusing design of the navigation buttons and their icons	Low contrast between some numbers and background
			Inappropriate use of serif fonts and gra- dient colors
Information presenta- tion	Consistent information presentation and organization	Unclear reference information and icons	Irrelevant screen information and too much information on one interface
	Adherence to principles of perceptual orga- nization when grouping information	Inappropriate layout of some inter- face elements	Inappropriate use of green color to dis- play information
	High conspicuity of important information		
Information retrieval and interpretation	Low demand on the user's spatial memory	Lack of informative feedback for users' actions	Lack of hints for older adults to find in- formation
	Clearly labeled keys	Lack of online support and instruc- tion on how to use the system	
	Consistent operating procedures with and across the system modules	No error message	
	No complex command language		
Navigation		Inconsistent button design	

**Table 5.** Study participant characteristics (N = 50).

Characteristics	n (%) or mean (SD)
Gender, n (%)	
Male	15 (30%)
Female	35 (70%)
Mean age (SD)	71.6 (9.7)
Previous technology experience, n (%)	
Experience using personal computers	17 (34%)
Experience using a touch screen computer	6 (12%)
Average weekly personal computer use, hours (SD)	4.1 (6.0)
Experience using any computer-based disease self-management system (n)	0
Chronic diseases diagnosed, n (%) <sup>a</sup>	
Hypertension	40 (80%)
Diabetes	22 (44%)
Heart disease	11 (22%)
Asthma	3 (6%)
Prostatitis	2 (4%)
Hypotension	2 (4%)

<sup>a</sup> Twenty-seven (54%) of the participants reported having two or more of the chronic diseases.



Table 6. Performance measures as assessed via 11 tasks.

		Task incompletion	Mean task completion	Frequency of error	Frequency of help
Task	n	rate	time (sec)	$n_{error}(n)^{a}$	$n_{help}(n)^{b}$
Navigation tasks					·
1	50	0%	12.6	4 (4)	22 (15)
4	50	0%	14.1	6 (6)	18 (11)
5	50	16%	23.0	39 (19)	48 (24)
7	50	2%	8.5	5 (5)	12 (7)
10	50	44%	58.4	93 (45)	60 (28)
Information search	and simple co	gnitive tasks			
2	50	28%	6.7	18 (14)	18 (13)
3	50	34%	5.2	22 (16)	16 (6)
6	42	26%	7.2	20 (16)	13 (5)
8	49	22%	10.2	16 (12)	18 (8)
9	48	17%	12.2	14 (10)	26 (16)
11	28	50%	10.5	28 (17)	18 (12)

<sup>a</sup> n<sub>error</sub> represents the number of times an error was made and n represents the number of people who made the error.

<sup>b</sup> n<sub>help</sub> represents the number of times help was given and n represents the number of people who needed help.

#### **Task Incompletion Rate**

All participants completed all of the navigation tasks due to the nature of our experimental design; however, not everyone completed all of the information search and simple cognitive tasks because they failed to complete the preceding navigation tasks. For instance, only 42 participants completed task 6 because 8 participants failed to complete task 5. In the navigation tasks, tasks 1 and 4 yielded a task incompletion rate of 0%. A low incompletion rate (2%, 1/50) was yielded in task 7. However, task 10 had an incompletion rate of 44% (22/50). Task incompletion rates were moderate to high for the information search and simple cognitive tasks, ranging from 17% (8/48) to 50% (14/28), respectively. For example, half of the 28 participants were unable to complete task 11 (50% incompletion rate).

#### **Task Completion Time**

Among all of the navigation tasks, tasks 1, 4, and 7, which required the participants to access the measurement modules, yielded the shortest task completion times. The "access the history data page" task and "select the breakfast test time" task appeared to be difficult to perform, with fairly long task completion times. Among the 11 experimental tasks, tasks 2, 3, and 6, which required the participants to indicate a vital sign value and determine whether it was normal, had the shortest completion times. Task 9 (indicate the BMI and determine its normality), task 11 (read the history data chart and find the diastolic pressure value), and task 8 (indicate the weight value) yielded longer completion times.

#### **Frequency of Error**

RenderX

Both navigation errors (eg, choosing wrong navigation buttons, incorrectly recognizing icons and symbols as buttons, and failing to follow the navigation paths) and information processing errors

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e13/
```

(eg, failing to locate and explain information; being unable to retrieve the measurement values, such as the blood glucose value; and being unable to obtain and comprehend the reference values of normal blood pressure levels) were observed. Overall, 93 errors (highest occurrence among all tasks) were made by 45/50 participants in the "access the history data page" task. The task that required the participants to select (by "pressing") the "before breakfast" test time for measuring their blood glucose levels yielded the second highest number of errors (39 errors made by 19/50 participants). The information search and simple cognitive tasks yielded a moderate frequency of errors.

#### **Frequency of Help**

Similar to the frequency of error finding, tasks 5 and 10 yielded the highest frequency of help, indicating that the tasks were difficult based on our current design. For instance, 28 participants (56%) needed help a total of 60 times when doing the "access the history data page" task.

# Satisfaction, Perceived Usefulness, and Perceived Ease of Use

Table 7 presents the central tendency and distribution of the questionnaire responses. The mean scores for satisfaction, perceived usefulness, and perceived ease of use were at least 4.9 (SD 1.4), 6.0 (SD 1.2), and 6.0 (SD 1.2), respectively. All of these were above the midpoint of the scale, indicating that the participant exhibited a positive impression of the system design. Of the 17 satisfaction items, 14 had a mean score of 6.0 or higher. The mean ratings of two satisfaction items (Sat2: the information on the interfaces are overloaded, and Sat9: finding information on this system requires a lot of mental effort) were relatively low, showing that the amount of information on the interface might be excessive and that finding this information required a large amount of mental effort.

Table 7. Descriptive statistics for satisfaction	, perceived usefulness, and ease of	of use items $(1 = negative to 7 =$	positive)
--	-------------------------------------	-------------------------------------	-----------

Item	Rating di	stribution, n	(%)					Mean	SD
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
Satisfaction				_	·				
Sat1: System appearance	0 (0%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	4 (8%)	5 (10%)	23 (46%)	16 (32%)	5.9	1.1
Sat2: Amount of information	0 (0%)	3 (6%)	3 (6%)	18 (36%)	10 (20%)	7 (14%)	9 (18%)	4.9	1.4
Sat3: Graphic quality	0 (0%)	2 (4%)	0 (0%)	1 (2%)	3 (6%)	19 (38%)	25 (50%)	6.2	1.1
Sat4: Character size	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (2%)	0 (0%)	5 (10%)	19 (38%)	25 (50%)	6.3	0.8
Sat5: Ease of reading the information	1 (2%)	0 (0%)	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	4 (8%)	18 (36%)	23 (46%)	6.1	1.3
Sat6: Text clarity/understanding	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	13 (26%)	33 (66%)	6.5	1.0
Sat7: Congruence between information and expectations	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	21 (42%)	24 (48%)	6.3	0.9
Sat8: Ease of finding information	0 (0%)	1 (2%)	0 (0%)	3 (6%)	3 (6%)	14 (28%)	29 (58%)	6.4	1.0
Sat9: Mental efforts in finding informa- tion	1 (2%)	0 (0%)	4 (8%)	4 (8%)	19 (38%)	11 (22%)	11 (22%)	5.3	1.3
Sat10: Helpful for finding health infor- mation	0 (0%)	1 (2%)	0 (0%)	1 (2%)	4 (8%)	12 (24%)	32 (64%)	6.4	1.0
Sat11: Helpful for understanding health problems	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	3 (6%)	5 (10%)	12 (24%)	25 (50%)	6.0	1.5
Sat12: Improvement in health knowl- edge	0 (0%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	3 (6%)	12 (24%)	32 (64%)	6.4	1.1
Sat13: Improvement in knowledge of chronic illness and their treatment	1 (2%)	0 (0%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	5 (10%)	9 (18%)	32 (64%)	6.3	1.3
Sat14: Easier and more efficient at self- management	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	2 (4%)	3 (6%)	3 (6%)	12 (24%)	30 (60%)	6.3	1.1
Sat15: Encouragement to taking better care	0 (0%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	4 (8%)	3 (6%)	14 (28%)	27 (54%)	6.2	1.2
Sat16: Helpful for performing better self-care	0 (0%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	9 (18%)	13 (26%)	25 (50%)	6.2	1.1
Sat17: Saving time in self-management	0 (0%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	7 (14%)	9 (18%)	30 (60%)	6.3	1.1
Perceived usefulness									
U1: Improvement of ability to self- management	0 (0%)	1 (2%)	0 (0%)	3 (6%)	9 (18%)	15 (30%)	22 (44%)	6.1	0.9
U2: Time saving in self-management	0 (0%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	6 (12%)	8 (16%)	10 (20%)	24 (48%)	6.0	1.2
U3: Effectiveness of self-management	0 (0%)	1 (2%)	3 (6%)	3 (6%)	4 (8%)	16 (32%)	23 (46%)	6.1	1.2
U4: Usefulness for self-management	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	3 (6%)	7 (14%)	15 (30%)	25 (50%)	6.3	0.9
Perceived ease of use									
EOU1: Ease of learning the system	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	2 (4%)	4 (8%)	19 (38%)	25 (50%)	6.3	0.8
EOU2: Ease of getting the system to do tasks	0 (0%)	1 (2%)	2 (4%)	1 (2%)	9 (18%)	17 (34%)	20 (40%)	6.0	1.2
EOU3: Ease of being skillful at using the system	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (2%)	4 (8%)	5 (10%)	20 (40%)	20 (40%)	6.1	1.0
EOU4: Ease of using the system	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)	6 (12%)	22 (44%)	20 (40%)	6.2	0.9

#### Intention to Use the System

Thirty-one (74%) participants expressed their intention to use the actual system for chronic disease self-management in the future, if the system was available. The reasons listed for wanting to use the system were that the system could facilitate

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e13/

XSL•FO RenderX their self-management of chronic diseases, such as providing them with specific and updated health information; automatically recording the health information for easy retrieval later saving time on their self-management; and improving communication with their health care providers. For those who said that they would not use the system, cost, unfamiliarity with the

information and improve their health conditions. However,

comments related to usability problems were also mentioned.

They were grouped into four categories and are presented in

Table 8. Although some of the problems were similar to those

identified in the heuristics evaluation (eg, unfamiliar

terminology, small characters and texts, and inconsistent button

design), the comments offered more details about the design

that enabled us to develop specific directions for system

technology, and limited space at home for the system were the major reasons cited for non-use.

#### **Comments from Open-Ended Questions**

All participants expressed a fondness for the system. They commented that the overall system interface was effective and appealing, the system was simple to use, the information on the interfaces was clearly presented, and using the system for self-management would allow them to obtain useful health

 Table 8. Usability problems identified from the open-ended questions.

Category Usability problem (n)<sup>a</sup> Readability Characters too small and words too busy (3) Low-quality graphics (10) Too small icons and words that were placed over the buttons (3) Low contrast of the color indicators (4) Too small decimal point symbol of the numbers (4) Inappropriate use of color in color indicators (7) Information presentation Inappropriate use of button icons (4) Complex design of the history data page interface (3) Unclear abbreviations and terminologies, such as "SpO2" (16), the unit "kg" (1), and "BMI" (1) Unnecessary icons on navigation buttons (6) Obscure reference information (5) Information retrieval and interpre-Ambiguous emoticons, which were used to facilitate participants' information comprehension (14) tation Ambiguous information on "normal value range" presentation (14) Poor pairing design between the measurement value and its measurement date in the history data chart (9) Navigation Difficulty in choosing test time for blood glucose (11) Difficulty in accessing the history data page of blood pressure (27) Ambiguous design of the history page button because of its inconsistency with other buttons (10) Complex navigation between different measurement modules (2)

redesign.

a n = number of participants who expressed the problem.

## Discussion

This study assessed the interface design of a computer-based chronic disease self-management system using a set of design heuristics and evaluated the performance and perceptions of users about the system. Using the paper prototype, our evaluations quickly and effectively identified the system's strengths and usability weaknesses.

#### System Interface Design

Overall, our findings indicated that the participants were basically able to perform the study tasks using the current design. However, we also identified a number of design problems and areas that could be improved to further enhance usability. Moreover, based on our findings, we drew a number of long-reaching and significant implications on usability design guidelines for designing health IT systems for the elderly.

First, all four performance indicators showed that the "access the history data page" task (task 10) was difficult to perform.

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e13/

This was likely due to a design inconsistency where the appearance and position of the history page button was completely different from that of the six main measurement module buttons, as indicated by the findings of the heuristics evaluation and end-user test (ie, ambiguous design of the history page button). Because of this difference, when the participants performed the task, many of them attempted to find the button in the area where the six module buttons were grouped; therefore, the participants did not notice that the button was actually located in a different area of the interface. This inconsistency led to confusion and resulted in additional search efforts that would not be necessary if the location was changed. This finding confirms the design principle that the appearance, position, and configuration should be consistent across objects/displays (eg, buttons, icons) that serve the same basic functions (eg, going to a new page/module).

Second, the blood glucose test time selection task (task 5) was also challenging because it had a similar inconsistent design problem. Furthermore, in the blood glucose module menu, there

XSL•FO RenderX

were a total of six alternative test times available for selection because the timing of the test could be before or after breakfast, lunch, or dinner (see Figure 3). Based on the participants' comments about the end-user test and our observation, it appeared that the menu offered too many choices that added decision complexity (see the Hick-Hyman Law [46,47]). Additionally, older adults may experience declines in cognitive abilities and evesight that can make it more difficult to process complex information and locate information on complex interfaces [19]. Our sophisticated menu, with its six options, likely required more visual search and cognitive effort for information processing and may have contributed to the lower task performance of the elderly patients. From this observation, we suggest that the number of choices in a menu/interface be kept to an essential minimum. Therefore, we modified our design such that the system would automatically record the test time.

Third, although the history data chart followed a simple two-dimensional line chart design in which the measurement dates were displayed along the x-axis and the measurement values were plotted along the y-axis, most elderly participants could not easily comprehend the chart and retrieve the values, as indicated by the performance data and the participants' comments (ie, poor pairing design between the measurement value and its measurement date in the history data chart). This type of graphical representation can be especially difficult for older adults to read and comprehend. This finding suggests that when a graphical representation of measurement data is employed, it should be designed to help improve the older adults' ability to pair the measurement dates with the corresponding measurement values. Fourth, readability was another design weakness identified. The size of the fonts (all the Chinese characters) were set at 18 points in the original design. Although the literature recommended that font sizes be at least 14 points (eg, Demiris and colleauges [41]), the findings of the end-user test showed that when Chinese characters were used, an 18-point font size was too small for the older adults to read due to the crowded strokes in the characters. Moreover, the sizes of the icons and symbols were too small. These findings suggest that the fonts, icons, and symbols should be larger for the elderly population. While the mean score of the satisfaction item that examined the graphic quality (Sat3: overall quality of graphics) was high, the participants' comments about the end-user test indicated that the picture quality of the icons and symbols was inadequate and that affected the overall readability. Therefore, high image resolution should be used in icons and symbols.

Fifth, regarding the presentation of information, a number of participants expressed their confusion about the pictures that were used to describe the functions of the buttons (eg, a picture of a scale was used to represent weight measurement). The selection and use of these icons should be revisited and meaningful pictures should be used to enhance the conceptual compatibility. Additionally, both the heuristics evaluation and end users' comments indicated that the abbreviations and some of the medical terminologies used in the interfaces (eg, SpO<sub>2</sub> and BMI) were unclear and too technical. The older adults in particular may not have the knowledge to understand the meanings of these terms. Therefore, they should be replaced with plain, non-technical terms that are less ambiguous to users.



Figure 3. The blood glucose module menu includes the six buttons for the selection of the six test times of blood glucose.



#### Usability Test Methodology and Design

A number of research methodology and design issues are worth discussing because these provide important implications for health information technology usability research. First, although using computer-based interactive system prototypes in the usability test can allow researchers to measure realistic user interactions, evidence shows that paper prototypes are as effective as computer-based prototypes in uncovering usability problems and understanding the users' subjective evaluation of a system [36,48,49]. Moreover, paper prototypes are less costly and can be created quickly.

Second, many of the previous studies adopted a single usability testing method. Our findings revealed a number of usability issues, not detected in the heuristics evaluation, discovered by the end-user testing. Furthermore, our heuristics evaluation only projected high-level structural usability problems (eg, font size and information grouping problems), whereas the end-user testing allowed us to discover a large number of usability weaknesses at detailed levels. Our study showed that using multiple evaluation approaches could help identify more potential problems and should be a more reliable practice for conducting usability studies (also noted in the literature; see [30,33]).

Third, one of the main criticisms of previous studies on health IT usability has been the lack of a theoretical basis for the development of the study methodology [50]. Our study method and procedures were carefully set up based on systematic usability study guidelines and models as well as empirical

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e13/

RenderX

research, such as Nielsen and Mack [42] and Nielsen [4]. These guidelines provided valid directions for our experimental design and prevented erroneous testing protocols and data collection.

Fourth, effective disease self-management systems have the potential to improve care quality and safety [51,52]. However, one cannot meaningfully examine and then be certain of the true value of a newly developed health information system (such as the one in this current study) without having the usability and design problems discovered and eliminated beforehand. For instance, a system with an unpleasant and ineffective interface design found to have no impact on health outcomes could actually be beneficial if the design weaknesses had been overcome prior to the examination. Our study suggests that the usability test is one of the steps that should be performed during the system development process to avoid drawing mistaken conclusions about system effectiveness.

#### Strengths and Limitations

Our study had several strengths: (1) careful and systematic procedures were adopted in the heuristics evaluation and end-user testing; (2) context-specific consideration was exercised to generate heuristics for the heuristics evaluation and to develop performance measures in the end-user testing; and (3) compared to many other usability studies, our study involved a relatively large sample size, which may have helped identify more usability problems and design weaknesses of our system. However, a few limitations should be noted. First, no alternative system interfaces were assessed; therefore, no comparable results were available on a better interface design approach in our study. This may limit our findings and ideas on system

interface improvement. Second, although it was not the focus of this current study, it may be worth considering the effects of user characteristics (eg, age, severity of the chronic conditions, and computer experience) on measurement outcomes. Third, it may be valuable to verify the effectiveness of our design recommendations by conducting iterative usability evaluations. However, we are planning to conduct another round of usability studies using a computerized prototype with the design recommendations incorporated.

#### Conclusions

An inadequately designed health information system increases the likelihood of the users committing user errors and having difficulties using the system. These issues can be mitigated by identifying a system's usability problems using heuristics evaluations and end-user tests, and the results of these evaluations can be used for design refinement. Importantly, special attention should be given to the selection of design heuristics for evaluating systems for elderly patients because the general human factors design guidelines may be insufficient for addressing the unique characteristics and capabilities of elderly patients. Furthermore, the design problems discovered in this study allow for the implementation of new design guidelines that are of particular importance for the elderly and can be generalized to other health information systems that are designed for older adult patients.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank Priscilla Chan, social service manager of the United Christian Nethersole Community Health Service, and Professor Agnes Tiwari, Head of the School of Nursing at The University of Hong Kong, for their help in the project. This study was supported by the Seed Funding Programme for Basic Research of the University of Hong Kong (Project title: Usability analysis of a home-based electronic monitoring system in elderly patients with chronic disease using a theory-based think-aloud testing protocol; PI: Calvin Or).

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- 1. Jimison H, Gorman P, Woods S, Nygren P, Walker M, Norris S, et al. Barriers and drivers of health information technology use for the elderly, chronically ill, and underserved. Evid Rep Technol Assess (Full Rep) 2008 Nov(175):1-1422. [Medline: 19408968]
- 2. Or CK, Karsh BT. A systematic review of patient acceptance of consumer health information technology. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2009;16(4):550-560 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1197/jamia.M2888] [Medline: 19390112]
- 3. Kaufman D, Roberts WD, Merrill J, Lai TY, Bakken S. Applying an evaluation framework for health information system design, development, and implementation. Nurs Res 2006;55(2 Suppl):S37-S42. [Medline: <u>16601633</u>]
- 4. Nielsen J. Usability Engineering. San Francisco, CA: Morgan Kaufmann; 1993.
- 5. Gosbee J. Human factors engineering and patient safety. Qual Saf Health Care 2002 Dec;11(4):352-354 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12468696]
- 6. Kushniruk A. Evaluation in the design of health information systems: application of approaches emerging from usability engineering. Comput Biol Med 2002 May;32(3):141-149. [Medline: <u>11922931</u>]
- Karsh BT. Beyond usability: designing effective technology implementation systems to promote patient safety. Qual Saf Health Care 2004 Oct;13(5):388-394 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/qhc.13.5.388] [Medline: 15465944]
- 8. Edwards PJ, Moloney KP, Jacko JA, Sainfort F. Evaluating usability of a commercial electronic health record: a case study. Int J Hum-Comput St 2008;66:718-728. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijhcs.2008.06.002]
- Linder JA, Rose AF, Palchuk MB, Chang F, Schnipper JL, Chan JC, et al. Decision support for acute problems: the role of the standardized patient in usability testing. J Biomed Inform 2006 Dec;39(6):648-655. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jbi.2005.12.002</u>] [Medline: <u>16442853</u>]
- McDaniel AM, Hutchison S, Casper GR, Ford RT, Stratton R, Rembusch M. Usability testing and outcomes of an interactive computer program to promote smoking cessation in low income women. Proc AMIA Symp 2002:509-513 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>12463876</u>]
- 11. Rose AF, Schnipper JL, Park ER, Poon EG, Li Q, Middleton B. Using qualitative studies to improve the usability of an EMR. J Biomed Inform 2005 Feb;38(1):51-60. [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2004.11.006] [Medline: 15694885]
- 12. Tang Z, Johnson TR, Tindall RD, Zhang J. Applying heuristic evaluation to improve the usability of a telemedicine system. Telemed J E Health 2006 Feb;12(1):24-34. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2006.12.24] [Medline: 16478410]
- Yen PY, Bakken S. A comparison of usability evaluation methods: heuristic evaluation versus end-user think-aloud protocol

   an example from a web-based communication tool for nurse scheduling. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2009;2009:714-718.
   [Medline: 20351946]
- 14. Yen PY, Gorman P. Usability testing of digital pen and paper system in nursing documentation. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2005:844-848. [Medline: <u>16779159</u>]

- 15. Aguero-Torres H, Hilleras PK, Winblad B. Disability in activities of daily living among the elderly. Current Opinion in Psychiatry 2001;14:355-359.
- Atkinson HH, Cesari M, Kritchevsky SB, Penninx BW, Fried LP, Guralnik JM, et al. Predictors of combined cognitive and physical decline. J Am Geriatr Soc 2005 Jul;53(7):1197-1202. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53362.x</u>] [Medline: <u>16108938</u>]
- 17. Fisk AD, Rogers WA, Charness N, Czaja SJ, Sharit J. Designing for Older Adults: Principles and Creative Human Factors Approaches. Hoboken, NJ: CRC Press; 2009.
- 18. Vanderheiden GC. Design for people with functional limitations. In: Salvendy G. editor. Handbook of Human Factors and Ergonomics. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons; 2006:1387-1417.
- 19. Czaja SJ, Lee CC. Information technology and older adults. In: Sears A, Jacko J. editors. The Human-Computer Interaction Handbook: Fundamentals, Evolving Technologies and Emerging Applications. New York, NY: Lawrence Erlbaum and Associates; 2007:777-792.
- 20. Strothotte T, Fritz S, Michel R, Raab A, Petrie H, Johnson V. Development of dialogue systems for a mobility aid for blind people: initial design and usability testing. New York, NY: ACM; 1996 Presented at: the Second Annual ACM Conference on Assistive Technologies; April 11-12, 1996; Vancouver, BC, Canada. [doi: 10.1145/228347.228369]
- 21. Holzinger A, Searle G, Kleinberger T, Seffah A, Javahery H. Investigating usability metrics for the design and development of applications for the elderly. Lecture Notes in Computer Science 2008;5105:98-105. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-70540-6\_13]
- 22. Mikkonen M, Vayrynen S, Ikonen V, Heikkila MO. User and concept studies as tools in developing mobile communication services for the elderly. Personal and Ubiquitous Computing 2002;6:113-124. [doi: <u>10.1007/s007790200010</u>]
- 23. Ballinger C, Pickering RM, Bannister S, Gore S, McLellan DL. Evaluating equipment for people with disabilities: user and technical perspectives on basic commodes. Clinical Rehabilitation 1995;9:157-166. [doi: 10.1177/026921559500900211]
- 24. Demiris G, Oliver DP, Dickey G, Skubic M, Rantz M. Findings from a participatory evaluation of a smart home application for older adults. Technol Health Care 2008;16(2):111-118. [Medline: <u>18487857</u>]
- 25. Good A, Stokes S, Jerrams-Smith J. Elderly, novice users and health information web sites: issues of accessibility and usability. J Healthc Inf Manag 2007;21(3):72-79. [Medline: <u>19195297</u>]
- 26. Hung WW, Ross JS, Boockvar KS, Siu AL. Recent trends in chronic disease, impairment and disability among older adults in the United States. BMC Geriatr 2011 Aug;11(47) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2318-11-47] [Medline: 21851629]
- Jackson CL, Bolen S, Brancati FL, Batts-Turner ML, Gary TL. A systematic review of interactive computer-assisted technology in diabetes care: interactive information technology in diabetes care. J Gen Intern Med 2006 Feb;21(2):105-110. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1525-1497.2005.00310.x</u>] [Medline: <u>16390512</u>]
- 28. Goldberg LR, Piette JD, Walsh MN, Frank TA, Jaski BE, Smith AL, WHARF Investigators. Randomized trial of a daily electronic home monitoring system in patients with advanced heart failure: the Weight Monitoring in Heart Failure (WHARF) trial. Am Heart J 2003 Oct;146(4):705-712. [doi: 10.1016/S0002-8703(03)00393-4] [Medline: 14564327]
- 29. Rubin J, Chisnell D, Spool JM. Handbook of Usability Testing: How to Plan, Design, and Conduct Effective Tests. Indianapolis, IN: Wiley Pub; 2008.
- 30. Tan WS, Liu D, Bishu R. Web evaluation: Heuristic evaluation vs. user testing. Int J Ind Ergon 2009;39(4):621-627. [doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2012.06.052]
- 31. Gosbee J, Gosbee LL. Usability evaluation in health care. In: Carayon P, ditor. Handbook of Human Factors and Ergonomics in Health Care and Patient Safety. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 2011:543-556.
- 32. Nielsen J, Molich R. Heuristic evaluation of user interfaces. New York, NY: ACM Press; 1990 Presented at: CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing; April 01-05, 1990; Seattle, WA p. 249-256. [doi: 10.1145/97243.97281]
- 33. Jaspers MW. A comparison of usability methods for testing interactive health technologies: methodological aspects and empirical evidence. Int J Med Inform 2009 May;78(5):340-353. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2008.10.002] [Medline: 19046928]
- 34. Snyder C. Paper Prototyping: The Fast and Easy Way to Design and Refine User Interfaces. San Francisco, CA: Morgan Kaufmann; 2003.
- 35. Rudd J, Stern K, Isensee S. Low vs. high-fidelity prototyping debate. interactions 1996;3(1):76-85. [doi: 10.1145/223500.223514]
- 36. Walker M, Takayama L, Landay JA. High-fidelity or low-fidelity, paper or computer? Choosing attributes when testing web prototypes. 2002 Presented at: the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society 46th Annual Meeting; Sep 30-Oct 4, 2002; Baltimore, MD p. 661-665. [doi: 10.1177/154193120204600513]
- Virzi RA, Sokolov JL, Karis D. Usability problem identification using both low- and high-fidelity prototypes. 1996 Presented at: the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; April 13-18, 1996; Vancouver, BC, Canada p. 236-243. [doi: 10.1145/238386.238516]
- Olmsted-Hawala EL, Romano JC, Murphy ED. The use of paper-prototyping in a low-fidelity usability study. 2009 Presented at: IEEE International Professional Communication Conference; July 19-22, 2009; Waikiki, HI p. 1-11. [doi: 10.1109/IPCC.2009.5208693]
- 39. Shneiderman B, Plaisant C. Designing the User Interface: Strategies for Effective Human-Computer Interaction. Boston, MA: Addison Wesley; 2005.
- 40. Sanders MS, McCormick EJ. Human Factors in Engineering and Design. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill; 1993.

- 41. Demiris G, Finkelstein SM, Speedie SM. Considerations for the design of a Web-based clinical monitoring and educational system for elderly patients. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2001;8(5):468-472 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>11522767</u>]
- 42. Nielsen J, Mack RL. Usability Inspection Methods. New York, NY: Wiley; 1994.
- 43. Grenier AS, Carayon P, Casper GR, Or CKL, Burke LJ, Brennan PF. Usability evaluation of an Internet-based health information/communication system for CHF patients. 2006 Presented at: the 16th Triennial World Congress of the International Ergonomics Association; July 10-14, 2006; Maastricht, the Netherlands p. 10-14.
- 44. Davis FD. Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. MIS Quarterly 1989;13(3):319-340. [doi: 10.2307/249008]
- 45. Krippendorff K. Content Analysis: An Introduction to Its Methodology. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc; 2012.
- 46. Hick WE. On the rate of gain of information. Q J Exp Psychol 1952;4(1):11-26. [doi: 10.1080/17470215208416600]
- 47. Hyman R. Stimulus information as a determinant of reaction time. J Exp Psychol 1953 Mar;45(3):188-196. [Medline: 13052851]
- 48. Catani MB, Biers DW. Usability evaluation and prototype fidelity: users and usability professionals. 1998 Presented at: Human Factors and Ergonomics Society 42nd Annual Meeting; October 5-9, 1998; Chicago, IL p. 1331-1335. [doi: 10.1177/154193129804201901]
- 49. Sefelin R, Tscheligi M, Giller V. Paper prototyping what is it good for? A comparison of paper- and computer-based low-fidelity prototyping. 2003 Presented at: CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; April 5-10, 2003; Fort Lauderdale, FL p. 778-779. [doi: 10.1145/765891.765986]
- 50. Yen PY, Bakken S. Review of health information technology usability study methodologies. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2012;19(3):413-422 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2010-000020] [Medline: 21828224]
- 51. Chaudhry B, Wang J, Wu S, Maglione M, Mojica W, Roth E, et al. Systematic review: impact of health information technology on quality, efficiency, and costs of medical care. Ann Intern Med 2006 May;144(10):742-752. [Medline: 16702590]
- 52. Jamal A, McKenzie K, Clark M. The impact of health information technology on the quality of medical and health care: a systematic review. HIM J 2009;38(3):26-37. [Medline: <u>19875852</u>]

#### Abbreviations

**BMI:** body mass index **IT:** information technology **RA:** research assistant **SpO2:** oxygen saturation

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 25.05.12; peer-reviewed by R Holden, A Roundtree; comments to author 19.06.12; revised version received 18.07.12; accepted 23.08.12; published 08.11.12.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Or C, Tao D Usability Study of a Computer-Based Self-Management System for Older Adults with Chronic Diseases JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e13 URL: <u>http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e13/</u> doi:10.2196/resprot.2184 PMID:23612015

©Calvin Or, Tao D. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 08.11.2012. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

# Integrating Psychological Theory Into the Design of an Online Intervention for Sexual Health: The Sexunzipped Website

Kenneth Carswell<sup>1\*</sup>, BA(Hons), Mphil, DClinPsy; Ona McCarthy<sup>2\*</sup>, BA(Hons), MSc; Elizabeth Murray<sup>2\*</sup>, FRCGP, FRCP Edin, PhD; Julia V Bailey<sup>2\*</sup>, BSc, MSc, MBBS, MRCGP, PhD

<sup>1</sup>The Traumatic Stress Clinic, Camden & Islington NHS Foundation Trust, London, United Kingdom

<sup>2</sup>E-Health Unit, Research Department of Primary Care and Population Health, University College London, London, United Kingdom <sup>\*</sup>all authors contributed equally

**Corresponding Author:** 

Kenneth Carswell, BA(Hons), Mphil, DClinPsy The Traumatic Stress Clinic Camden & Islington NHS Foundation Trust 73 Charlotte Street London, W1T 4PL United Kingdom Phone: 44 207 530 3666 Fax: 44 207 530 3677 Email: <u>ken.carswell@uclmail.net</u>

# Abstract

Background: The Internet can provide a confidential and convenient medium for sexual health promotion for young people.

**Objective:** This paper describes the development of an interactive, theory-based website (Sexunzipped) aimed at increasing safe sexual behavior of young people, as well as an outline of the evaluation protocol.

**Methods:** The website focuses on safer sex, relationships, and sexual pleasure. An overview of the site is provided, including a description of the theoretical constructs which form the basis of the site development. An integrated behavioral model was chosen as the guiding theory for the Sexunzipped intervention. A randomized trial design will be used to evaluate the site quantitatively.

**Results:** The content of the site is described in detail with examples of the main content types: information pages, quizzes, and decision-making activities. We describe the protocol for quantitative evaluation of the website using a randomized trial design and discuss the principal challenges involved in developing the site, including the challenge of balancing the requirements of theory with young people's views on website content and design.

**Conclusions:** Considerations for future interventions are discussed. Developing an online behavior-change intervention is costly and time consuming. Given the large public health potential, the cost involved in developing online interventions, and the need for attractive design, future interventions may benefit from collaborating with established sites that already have a user base, a brand, and a strong Internet presence. It is vital to involve users in decisions about intervention content, design, and features, paying attention to aspects that will attract and retain users' interest. A central challenge in developing effective Internet-based interventions for young people is to find effective ways to operationalize theory in ways that address the views and perspectives of young people.

(JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e16) doi: 10.2196/resprot.2114

#### KEYWORDS

Internet; sex education; adolescents; young adults; health behavior; psychological theory

# Introduction

RenderX

The impact of sex- and relationship-related problems, such as sexually transmitted infections (STIs), unwanted pregnancy, sexual dysfunction, and gender-based violence, has been well documented globally [1]. In the United Kingdom, despite an overall decline in diagnoses of some STIs in recent years, there has been a steady increase in STIs in young people since 2001 [2]. There is evidence that sex education in UK schools may not provide young people with adequate information on sexual

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e16/

health and contraception [3], suggesting the need for more effective and accessible sexual health interventions for young people.

The Internet provides an alternative medium for sexual health promotion that may be particularly attractive for young people because it offers a confidential, convenient, and anonymous medium for accessing health information, some of which may be too difficult or embarrassing to discuss with health providers [4-6]. This may be particularly important if access to sexual health services is difficult because of fear of being observed by community members or fear of health care providers' negative attitudes [7,8]. Most young people (in "developed" countries) have access to the Internet and are confident users of technology, and a high proportion seek health information online [4,9]; therefore, Internet interventions are potentially appropriate for health promotion for young people.

A systematic review of interactive computer-based interventions for sexual health promotion shows promise for these interventions [10]. Therefore, we produced a website that incorporated health behavior theory and the views of young people with the objective of giving young people the tools to improve their sexual well-being. We faced the challenge of developing a site that was both consistent with theory and appealing to young people, working within budgetary and technical constraints, to produce an Internet intervention for sexual health for young people between the ages of 16 to 20 years in the United Kingdom. The resulting Sexunzipped website (www.sexunzipped.co.uk) was evaluated in a randomized controlled trial that compared the Sexunzipped interactive, theory-based website to a static, information-only control website (trial registration number ISRCTN 55651027). This paper describes the content, structure, and theoretical rationale for the Sexunzipped website, followed by a description of the protocol for a randomized controlled trial to evaluate the website. Experiences of developing the site are discussed with reference to the principal challenges and implications for future online interventions.

# Theoretical Rationale for the Sexunzipped Website Design

The Sexunzipped website was developed over an 18-month period using an iterative process. This included a review of the relevant literature to define the theoretical basis for the intervention, seeking the views of young people through extensive focus group research, conceptualizing the intervention with a Web development company, and developing the content for the site. We report the outcome of our consultation with young people in detail elsewhere (young people's views on the content, design, and interactive features of the Sexunzipped website) [11].

A central principle of the Sexunzipped intervention was the adoption of a holistic approach to sex and relationships. This focused on a broad range of topics, including sexual pleasure and relationships, rather than just safer sex behavior. The language used on the site aimed to be gender and sexuality neutral to allow engagement with the website content regardless of gender, sexuality, or sexual preference. Our preliminary focus group work suggested that young people value honest

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e16/
```

information about sexual pleasure and sexual practices [11]. Previous research highlights the multiple influences on sexual health behavior, including individual factors (eg, motivation and affect), interpersonal factors (eg, sexual scripts and communication), systemic factors (eg, peer norms and familial factors) [12,13], and the suggestion that a focus on sexual pleasure may facilitate safer sexual behavior [14]. The website emphasized equality and sexual rights, informed by the connection between power imbalances between the genders and sexual health risk [15]. In developing the intervention, one of a number of definitions proposed by the World Health Organization [1] was adopted in which sexual health is viewed as:

...a state of physical, emotional, mental, and social well-being in relation to sexuality; it is not merely the absence of disease, dysfunction, or infirmity. Sexual health requires a positive and respectful approach to sexuality and sexual relationships, as well as the possibility of having pleasurable and safe sexual experiences, free of coercion, discrimination, and violence. For sexual health to be attained and maintained, the sexual rights of all persons must be respected, protected, and fulfilled.

Health behavior research has shown that theory-based interventions can lead to larger effects on behavior than interventions without a theoretical basis [16], with this effect also reported for Internet interventions [17]. A number of theories and models of behavior are relevant to sexual health interventions, but identifying a unitary model for application in an intervention can be difficult given the similarities between them [18]. Because of the breadth of the intervention content, an integrated behavioral model was chosen as the guiding theory for the Sexunzipped intervention [19]. The integrated behavioral model integrates concepts from the theory of reasoned action (TRA) and the theory of planned behavior (TPB), as well as concepts from other health behavior theories [19]. The integrated behavioral model suggests that behavior is influenced primarily by intention, which is in turn influenced by attitude, perceived norms, and sense of personal agency. Salient beliefs influence each of these factors, for example, beliefs about whether an action will be of benefit to the individual and beliefs about the opinion of others. The integrated behavioral model further posits that environmental constraints, behavior salience, habits, knowledge, and skills have further direct influences on behavior. Although the core aspects of the TRA and TPB have been supported by extensive research, eg, [20], some authors have suggested that these theories can be enhanced by the inclusion of anticipated affect within behavioral formulations [21,22]. Anticipated affect "refers to the prospect of feeling positive or negative emotions (eg, exhilaration, regret) after performing or not performing a behavior" [21]. The core components of the integrated behavioral model and the concept of anticipated affect were central to the development of content for the Sexunzipped website, for example, including information and activities that challenged beliefs and encouraged reflection on anticipated affect.

Integrated behavioral model principles underpinned the website content that addressed safer sex behavior (condom and

XSL•FO RenderX

contraception use and STI risk reduction). In line with the findings from our focus group work, the site covered topics such as relationship quality, sexual violence and control, and sexual pleasure [11]. These topics were included to provide information and encourage self-reflection (to support informed choices), but did not aim to change specific behaviors.

Table 1 lists the primary safer sex behaviors targeted by the website along with the determinants or beliefs salient for behavior change and ways in which these factors were addressed on Sexunzipped.

Table 1. Primary safer sex behaviors addressed by the intervention (Sexunzipped website).

Behavioral outcome	Determinants or belief related to behavior	Techniques for behavior change
Regular use of condoms	Negative attitudes or beliefs related to condom use or perceived norms concerning use	Assess and challenge beliefs and perceived norms related to the use of condoms
		Provide information on increasing sexual pleasure when using condoms
		Review of past behaviors and consequences from not using a condom
	Limited self-efficacy in use of and communi- cation about condoms	Assess and increase confidence in using and talking about condoms
		Provide instruction on the use of condoms and talking about condoms
		Identification of risk situations for failing to use a condom and ways to avoid these
		Provide information on reducing problems associated with condom use
		Provide information to reduce any loss of pleasure associated with condom use
	Low salience of behaviors related to condom use	Review of past behaviors and consequences from not using a condom
Regular use of contraception	Belief or attitude of low risk of pregnancy from unsafe sexual practices	Assess and challenge common myths and beliefs related to the risk of pregnancy
	Low salience of behaviors related to regular contraception use	Review of potential consequences and changes to life should pregnancy occur
Reduction in being pres- sured into unsafe sex	Limited communication abilities and skills to deal with pressure	Information and advice on assertive behavior in sexual situations
		Information and advice on communication
		Identification of high-risk situations and ways to avoid these
	Low self-efficacy in dealing with high pressure situations	Identification of situations where pressure has been exerted
		Provide advice on dealing with sexual pressure
	Beliefs or attitudes facilitative of the use of pressure or of giving into sexual pressure	Challenges to beliefs suggesting the use of pressure is acceptable and the norm
STI protection and testing	Belief or attitude that the individual is not at risk from STIs	Assess risk of STI from behavior and challenge belief that risk is low
		Challenge beliefs and common myths related to contraction of STIs and testing
	Low salience of STI protective behaviors	Information on STIs and STI transmission to increase salience of STI protective behaviors
	Limited self-efficacy in ability to reduce STI risk	Identification of possible risky sexual practices and situations, and ways to reduce these
		Provide information on testing services

In terms of the site content and design, the initial focus group research and literature review shaped the overall scope of the content and helped to identify salient beliefs and behaviors to target; the integrated behavioral model provided the framework for identifying for relevant beliefs and factors related to safer sex behavior. The development of the content, particularly the interactive activities, drew heavily from cognitive behavioral therapy [23] and motivational interviewing [24], for example, exploring links between thoughts, feelings, and actions, and drawing on techniques such as identification and rating of thoughts and feelings, consideration of the importance or pros and cons of a particular behavior, and reviewing past experiences or future consequences.

Such behavior-change techniques were employed to differing degrees throughout the site to prompt safer sex behavior change [25,26]. The techniques most commonly utilized were "provide information on consequences of the behavior in general," "provide information on consequences of behavior for the individual," "prompt anticipated regret," "barrier identification," "provide instruction on how to perform the behavior," "prompt practice," and "general communication skills training" [26].

#### **Overview of the Sexunzipped Content**

The site was organized into 3 distinct but related sections each containing a number of topics: relationships, safer sex, and sexual pleasure. The aims and rationale of each section are presented in Table 2. Content was presented in 3 formats: (1) text-based information, (2) interactive quizzes, and (3) interactive decision-making activities.

Table 2. Description of Sexunzipped content sections and aims.

Topic		Aim
Relationships		
	Relationships—"sorting it out"	To provide information on sex and relationships, encourage equal and respectful rela- tionships, and to encourage reflection on the participant's own relationships and rela- tionship needs
	Dealing with pressure	To challenge beliefs related to behaviors which constitute being pressurized into sexual activity, to encourage reflection on participant's experiences of being pressured or pressurizing and to enhance self-efficacy and assertiveness in dealing with pressure in sexual situations
	Sexual violence and control	To provide information on situations which constitute sexual violence or abusive behavior and to assist individuals in identifying and dealing with these situations; similar to the "dealing with pressure" section, but with a greater focus on more abusive behavior
	Taking control, avoiding regrets	To provide information and skills for individuals to reflect on and identify situations which may lead to regretted sexual behavior or increased risk of pregnancy or STIs
Safer sex		
	Sexually transmitted infections	To provide information on STIs; to challenge some common beliefs and attitudes asso- ciated with increased risk of STIs and to assist individual in considering their own risk for contracting an STI
	Contraception and pregnancy	To provide information on contraception and to challenge some common beliefs and myths related to contraception and pregnancy; to assist individuals in considering the effect of a pregnancy on their lives
	Condoms	To challenge beliefs and attitudes associated with poor condom use; to increase self- efficacy in using and negotiating condoms and to identify potentially risky situations
Sexual pleasure		
	Sexual practices	To provide information on a range of different sexual practices and to enhance ability to discuss sex
	My body	To challenge a number of negative beliefs and attitudes associated with poor self-image; to normalize differences in sexual preferences and sexual behavior; to provide skills for addressing sex and self-image problems
	Talking about pleasure	To provide information and advice on talking about sex; to challenge a number of common beliefs that reduce ability to communicate about sex and pleasure

Each of the 3 website sections (relationships, safer sex, and sexual pleasure) consisted of interactive activities and detailed information (see Table 3). The information sections comprised factual information, as well as arguments or information to challenge beliefs related to safer sex behaviors. At the end of each activity or information section, users were presented with links to other relevant topics within Sexunzipped and/or links

to organizations providing specific services, such as treatment of STIs or help with domestic abuse. Given the breadth of the site, the navigation was designed so that users would self-direct to the sections of interest and salience. Quotations from young people were employed throughout the site in response to focus group findings that the site should represent the views of a range of young people [11].



-

#### Table 3. Description of activities and information pages in content sections of the Sexunzipped website.

Торіс	Activity type	Activity content
Relationships		
Relationships—sorting it out	Quizzes	Assessing the quality of a relationship
	Decision-making activities	Activities to help the user to consider what they want from a current or future relationship
	Main topics covered in information pages	Improving a relationship; negotiating sex in a relationship; ending a relationship; identifying relationship needs; timing of first sex in a new relationship
Dealing with pressure	Quizzes	Experiencing sexual pressure; being assertive in sexual situations; dealing with pressure from a partner to have sex
	Decision-making activity	Identifying risk situations and the consequences of being pressured into sexual behavior
	Main topics covered in information pages	Consent; pressure in a relationship; peer pressure; strate- gies for dealing with sexual pressure; sexual double standards
Sexual violence and control	Quizzes	Assessing the degree of controlling behavior in a relation- ship; improve knowledge about violence and control in relationships
	Decision-making activity	None
	Main topics covered in information pages	Signs of an abusive relationship; rape and sexual assault; personal safety in sexual situations; intimate partner vio- lence and control; links to specialist organizations
Taking control, avoiding regrets	Quizzes	None
	Decision-making activities	Helping the user to think through the costs and benefits of a currently abusive of controlling relationship; previous regretted sexual encounters and how to avoid them in the future; potentially problematic motivations for engaging in sexual relationships (eg, to gain friendship or accep- tance into a social group)
	Main topics covered in information pages	Use of sex as a coping strategy; sex and self-esteem
Safer sex		
Sexually transmitted infections	Quizzes	Assessing risk of contracting an STI; improving knowl- edge of STI transmission
	Decision-making activities	Assessing advantages, disadvantages and consequences of risky sex; prompting consideration of strategies for avoiding high-risk situations
	Main topics covered in information pages	STI transmission; STI symptoms; STI risk behaviors; STI health checks; finding an STI clinic
Contraception and pregnancy	Quizzes	Improve knowledge about contraception and pregnancy; options following an unwanted pregnancy
	Decision-making activities	The effects of an unwanted pregnancy; consideration of the impact of parenthood
	Main topics covered in information pages	Different types of contraception available; seeking advice and support with a pregnancy
Condoms	Quizzes	Barriers to condom use; competency in using condoms; improving communication about condoms with new partners; improving confidence in using condoms
	Decision-making activities	Reflection on previous risk behaviors and situations and formulation of plans to avoid such situations
	Main topics covered in information pages	Information on condoms; communication about condoms; addressing sexual problems associated with condom use; making condoms sexy

#### Sexual pleasure

XSL•FO RenderX

Carswell et al

Sexual practicesQuizzesImprove knowledge on different sexual activities; address common misconceptions about sex; increase understand- ing of sexual pleasureDecision-making activitiesNoneMain topics covered in information pagesInformation on a wide range of different sexual activities; ideas for enhancing sexual pleasure; other sex-related is- sues, such as pornographyMy bodyQuizzesAssessing and improving sexual self-confidence and body confidence; providing normative information on sexual performance and bodily concernsDecision-making activitiesNoneMain topics covered in information pagesInformation on sexual pleasure; understanding one's own body and sexual responses; sexual problems; sexuality; sexual self-confidenceTalking about pleasureQuizzesAssessing current confidence in communicating about sex; challenging attitudes related to poor communication body and sexual responses; sexual problems; sexuality; sexual self-confidenceTalking about pleasureQuizzesAssessing current confidence in communicating about sex; challenging attitudes related to poor communication sex; challenging attitudes related to poor communication	Торіс	Activity type	Activity content
Decision-making activitiesNoneMain topics covered in information pagesInformation on a wide range of different sexual activities; ideas for enhancing sexual pleasure; other sex-related is sues, such as pornographyMy bodyQuizzesAssessing and improving sexual self-confidence and body confidence; providing normative information on sexual performance and bodily concernsDecision-making activitiesNoneTalking about pleasureQuizzesQuizzesAssessing current confidence in communicating about sex; challenging attitudes related to poor communication sex; challenging attitudes related to poor communicationDecision-making activitiesNoneDecision-making activitiesNoneDecision-making activitiesAssessing current confidence in communicating about sex; challenging attitudes related to poor communication sex; challenging attitudes related to poor communication sex; challenging attitudes related to poor communicationDecision-making activitiesNone	Sexual practices	Quizzes	Improve knowledge on different sexual activities; address common misconceptions about sex; increase understand- ing of sexual pleasure
Main topics covered in information pagesInformation on a wide range of different sexual activities; ideas for enhancing sexual pleasure; other sex-related is- sues, such as pornographyMy bodyQuizzesAssessing and improving sexual self-confidence and body confidence; providing normative information on sexual performance and bodily concernsDecision-making activitiesNoneMain topics covered in information pagesInformation on sexual pleasure; understanding one's own body and sexual responses; sexual problems; sexuality; sexual self-confidenceTalking about pleasureQuizzesAssessing current confidence in communicating about 		Decision-making activities	None
My bodyQuizzesAssessing and improving sexual self-confidence and body confidence; providing normative information on sexual performance and bodily concernsDecision-making activitiesNoneMain topics covered in information pagesInformation on sexual pleasure; understanding one's own body and sexual responses; sexual problems; sexuality; sexual self-confidenceTalking about pleasureQuizzesAssessing current confidence in communicating about sex; challenging attitudes related to poor communication open communicationDecision-making activitiesNone		Main topics covered in information pages	Information on a wide range of different sexual activities; ideas for enhancing sexual pleasure; other sex-related is- sues, such as pornography
Decision-making activities       None         Main topics covered in information pages       Information on sexual pleasure; understanding one's own body and sexual responses; sexual problems; sexuality; sexual self-confidence         Talking about pleasure       Quizzes       Assessing current confidence in communicating about sex; challenging attitudes related to poor communication         Decision-making activities       None	My body	Quizzes	Assessing and improving sexual self-confidence and body confidence; providing normative information on sexual performance and bodily concerns
Main topics covered in information pages       Information on sexual pleasure; understanding one's own body and sexual responses; sexual problems; sexuality; sexual self-confidence         Talking about pleasure       Quizzes       Assessing current confidence in communicating about sex; challenging attitudes related to poor communication         Decision-making activities       None		Decision-making activities	None
Talking about pleasure       Quizzes       Assessing current confidence in communicating about sex; challenging attitudes related to poor communication         Decision-making activities       None		Main topics covered in information pages	Information on sexual pleasure; understanding one's own body and sexual responses; sexual problems; sexuality; sexual self-confidence
Decision-making activities None	Talking about pleasure	Quizzes	Assessing current confidence in communicating about sex; challenging attitudes related to poor communication
		Decision-making activities	None
Main topics covered in information pages Communication about sexual pleasure		Main topics covered in information pages	Communication about sexual pleasure

Two interactive activity templates were developed to allow for the repetition of interactive formats across the site. The first was an interactive quiz, whereby the user received feedback based on responses to questions. The second was a decision-making activity where responses were recorded and presented back to the user with a series of prompts to encourage reflection on behavior, emotions, and consequences, or to aid with decision making. A template for text-based information pages was also developed. Examples of these activities are presented later in this paper.

In the "Relationships" section, there were a total of 19 activities and 15 information pages. The content was informed by previous research identifying the beneficial effect of communication and assertiveness skills training in reducing risky sexual behavior [27,28]. Recent research on the extent of intimate partner violence among young people in the United Kingdom [29] suggested the need to address violence and coercion.

The "Safer sex" section was comprised of 15 activities and 45 information pages. Content in this section contained primarily information about STIs and contraceptive methods and activities to encourage safer sex behavior, such as better communication with partners, condom use for penetrative sex, and STI testing with new partners. The content was based on a number of empirical findings. For example, previous research has established the importance of including clear messages about risk [30] and methods to review past risk experiences and develop risk reduction plans [12]. A meta-analysis of different approaches to human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) prevention suggested that interventions for young people should provide discussion of normative behavior and attitudes, as well as condom provision and skills training [31]. Several reviews have identified the importance of including content related to increasing communication about safer sex [30,32,33], which formed a central part of the website.

The "Sexual pleasure" section contained 13 activities and 44 information pages. Content in this section focused mainly on descriptions of different sexual practices, enhancing sexual pleasure, and communication about sex and sexual pleasure. This was primarily informed by our focus group research that suggested young people wanted information on sexual practices and sexual pleasure [11]. Some commentators have suggested that a stronger focus on sexual pleasure may increase safer sex behavior and use of condoms [34,35]. Although empirical research on this is limited, there is some evidence suggesting that eroticizing safer sex messages may facilitate safer sexual behavior [14] and that condom discomfort or loss of sensation may reduce use of condoms [36,37]. The site made links between sexual pleasure and safer sex, for example, suggestions on how to deal with the reduced sensation and interruption of sex associated with condom use.

#### **Sexunzipped Features**

#### **Information Pages**

The website Information pages were written to convey information concisely, covering factual information, advice, and guidance. Quotations from young people were also used to illustrate the real-life experiences of other young people. The site provided information to increase knowledge of a wide range of issues including sexual risk, safer sex behavior, communication, and sexual pleasure. The information pages drew on specific behavior-change techniques to challenge myths, social norms, and negative beliefs related to sexual behavior, such as barriers to condom use, communication about condoms, and sexual pressure. Some pages also provided guidance or instruction on safer sex-related behaviors, such as instructions for putting on a condom.

Figure 1 shows a sample information page. This section acknowledged the embarrassment that can be involved in talking about sex and provided tips, such as talking in a relaxed way, asking a partner what they enjoy, and paying attention to body

#### Carswell et al

language. There were further paragraphs explaining the importance of knowing one's own body, communication in

different situations, and ways to approach the subject in a positive and fun manner (Figure 1).

Figure 1. Example information page.



#### Interactive Quizzes

The quizzes on Sexunzipped presented a number of questions with feedback provided depending on selected answers. Two types of quizzes were used. The first provided feedback based on the answer to an individual question; the second provided feedback based on a score derived from answers to multiple questions. Quizzes gave different types of feedback, including providing correct answers, providing comments to provoke thinking or an alternative perspective, "expert" feedback from the Sexunzipped team, and/or feedback from other young people. The expert feedback was factual or would highlight an important belief or attitude. Young person feedback consisted of either an anecdote or other form of comment. Feedback activities were used to provide information on social norms or

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e16/

RenderX

to encourage beliefs and attitudes associated with improved safer sex behavior. A number of the feedback activities provided information which directly challenged common myths related to issues such as contraception and pregnancy (eg, "Pregnancy myth busting"), condoms (eg, "Condoms—it's not my problem"), and STIs (eg, "STI myth busting"). Some quizzes prompted self-reflection on a range of relationship and sexual health related issues, for example, relationship satisfaction (eg, "How good is my relationship?"), condom negotiation skills (eg, "Hang on, I've got a condom right here"), and confidence in using condoms (eg, "Condoms, how do I roll?").

Figure 2 shows an example question from the "sex myths" quiz. It was comprised of 5 statements related to sexual practices with users selecting whether the statement was true or false. The feedback provided the correct answer and/or further information

#### Carswell et al

positive and negative behaviors in a relationship. Each answer

had an assigned score, weighted depending on the behavior,

attitude, or belief assessed. For example, the use of violence in

a relationship had a high negative score, whereas difficulties with communication had a lower negative score, with feedback

depending upon participants' total scores for all 10 questions

© University College London 2010

on the statement. For example the statement "sexually active young couples have sex at least twice a week" included the feedback that most sexually active young people aged 16 to 20 years have sex once a month or less [38] (Figure 3).

Figure 4 shows an example question from a score series interactive quiz. It was comprised of 10 questions related to

**Figure 2.** Interactive quiz - example question.

<page-header><complex-block>

(Figure 5).



#### Carswell et al

Figure 3. Interactive quiz - example feedback.

<b>Se</b> Unzi	Relationships Safer Sex Sexual Pleasure
The little	Sex myths
	Sexually active young people have sex at least twice a week Correct, this is false. People tend to think that others are having more sex than they do. In a large UK survey, most sexually active young people (aged 16-20) reported that they hadn't had sex in the last month. But it's a tricky one to answer because some young people have sex a lot and some not at all.
Partners:	Previous Next Next Next Leading science for better health About Us   Contact Us   Terms and Conditions   Site Help   References   Resources

#### Carswell et al

Figure 4. Interactive quiz - example question from a score series.





#### Carswell et al

Figure 5. Interactive quiz - example of feedback from a score series.



#### Interactive Decision-Making Activities

The decision-making activities were designed to provoke self-reflection about behaviors related to sex and sexual health. Activities focused on problematic situations or dilemmas where users were asked to consider options, selecting either predefined suggestions or defining their own. Users' answers to these questions were fed back to them in the form of a table followed by several further questions to initiate thoughts about the behavior or anticipated affect from performing or not performing the behavior. Some self-reflection activities addressed relationship quality, but they were used primarily to prompt consideration of safer sex behaviors.

Figure 6 shows an example question from a decision-making activity. The user was asked to choose a situation where they felt at risk of being pressured into a sexual activity they did not want, such as sex without a condom. Further questions assessed the importance of avoiding the activity, the consequences if they engaged in the activity, and strategies to prevent such activities. The answers were fed back to the user with additional questions to prompt reflection, such as considering confidence and further avoidance strategies (Figures 7 and 8).



#### Carswell et al

Figure 6. Decision-making activity - example question.

	test-intervention   Log out
Se	Relationships Safer Sex Sexual Pleasure
La	« Go back
10000	Any regrets?
1000	Which situations have happened to you?
111111	(Click and drag your choices. To enter your own, click +. To enter more of your own, trash some options.)
	Pregnancy or pregnancy     Cheating on a partner       STI or STI scare     +
	Having sex with someone when I didn't mean to
Partners:	RC MRC Leading science for better health About Us   Contact Us   Terms and Conditions   Site Help   References   Resources





#### Carswell et al

Figure 7. Decision-making activity - example feedback.

Home		Relationships	Safer Sex Sexual Ple
« Go back			
Any regrets?			
This is what you a	answered		
Regretted situations	Feelings	Consequences	How to avoid
STI or STI scare	Embarrassed	Worried a lot	Used a condom
Pregnancy or	Angry	Felt stupid	Refused to do what I
pregnancy scare		Had to tell partners	did
			2
Previous			Next



#### Carswell et al

Figure 8. Decision-making activity - example follow up prompt.



© University College London 2010

#### **Evaluation Design**

The Sexunzipped website was evaluated in an online, randomized controlled trial (RCT) that compared Sexunzipped to an information-only control website. The protocol for this study is presented subsequently.

#### **Study Design**

We conducted an online RCT designed to test the hypothesis that the Sexunzipped theory-based, interactive, online intervention would be more effective in promoting sexual health in young people than an information-only website. A total of 2006 young people aged 16 to 20 years were enrolled in the trial between November 2010 and March 2011. Participants completed a baseline demographic and sexual health questionnaire online and were automatically randomized by computer to the intervention website or the control website. We measured sexual health questionnaire and by asking half of the participants to return (by mail) a urine sample for genital chlamydia testing. Ethical permission for the study was granted by the University College London Ethical Committee (ref: 1023/002).

Retention in online trials can be difficult [39]: this study was a pilot (feasibility) trial with a number of substudies to test the

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e16/

RenderX

best ways to maximize retention at follow-up. The full results of the website evaluation and trial design substudies are reported separately.

#### Recruitment

We invited young people aged 16 to 20 years to participate in the study by placing advertisements on sexual health websites and on the social networking site, Facebook. Also, advertisements were placed on UK school and college notice boards and flyers were distributed outside 3 sexual health clinics and 1 sixth-form college (comparable to senior high school in North America) in London, United Kingdom. We also emailed study participants to ask them to invite friends to participate.

#### **Online Enrollment and Consent**

Young people enrolled through the Sexunzipped website, which offered a  $\pm 10$  (US  $\pm 16$ ) incentive for participation. Two eligibility screening questions allowed only those who said they were currently resident in the United Kingdom and aged between 16 and 20 years to register. Eligible participants were presented with study information and a consent form online. They then created a username and password, and were directed to the online questionnaire that solicited demographic information and baseline sexual health outcomes.

#### Methods of Randomization

Participants (n = 2006) were individually randomized in a factorial design to either the intervention or control website, and to receive a urine sample collection cup for chlamydia testing at follow-up (or no sample collection cup). In a substudy to increase retention, 902 participants were randomized after recruitment, but before follow-up, to a £10 (US \$16) or £20 (US \$32) incentive for complete follow-up data. The first 2 randomizations were performed using an automated computer algorithm, and the third was performed offsite by random permutation of the participants nor researchers were aware of allocations in advance.

#### **Outcome Measurement**

Demographic information, including date of birth, gender, ethnicity, employment, email address, and postal address, were collected online at baseline. We also measured mediators of sexual behavior change (including sexual health knowledge, sexual communication self-efficacy, and intention) as well as sexual behavior (condom and contraception use, use of services, partner numbers), and self-reported sexually transmitted infections and pregnancy. We collected information on sexual problems, partner abuse, regretted sex, sexual pleasure, and relationship and sexual satisfaction. Key outcomes were the composite outcomes (1) correct condom use for vaginal sex and (2) correct condom use for anal sex.

#### **Identity Verification**

We requested date of birth at baseline and also at 3-month follow-up and excluded those participants who reported differing dates of birth. We also excluded participants with suspicious registrations, for example, repeat registrations using the same postal address or very similar names or email addresses.

#### Intervention and Control Websites

The intervention was the Sexunzipped website as described previously. The comparator information-only control website shared the same logo and colors as the Sexunzipped intervention site, but featured no interactive activities. The comparator website gave information on topics such as sexually transmitted infections, contraception, and sexual practices without encouraging self-reflection, decision making, or the development of communication skills. Participants were given unlimited access to their allocated website during the course of the study.

#### **Outcome Data Collection**

Participants were sent an email 13 weeks after registration with a Web link to the outcome questionnaire, which was identical to the sexual health questionnaire completed at baseline. Non-responders were sent up to 7 further reminders, initially by email and then by postal mail. Participants randomized to receive a urine sample collection cup by mail at 3 months were sent a postal kit for genital chlamydia testing and a prepaid return envelope; non-responders received 1 repeat postal kit. Urine samples were tested for *Chlamydia trachomatis* DNA by polymerase chain reaction. Results were sent to the participant by text, by phone, or by mail according to participant preferences.

#### Data Analysis

Three predictors of retention were examined for association with retention: (1) allocation to intervention website, (2) request for urine sample, and (3) level of incentive. We analyzed sexual health outcomes at 3 months in 2 ways: using available cases according to intention to treat and then restricted to participants who accessed the intervention or control websites during the study. Change in outcomes from baseline to 3 months were analyzed using logistic regression for binary outcomes, ordinal logistic regression for ordinal outcomes, and linear regression for continuous outcomes, reporting adjusted odds ratios, odds ratios, and mean differences, respectively. All effect measures were presented with 95% confidence intervals with P values based on 2-sided tests at a 5% significance level.

## Discussion

This paper describes the development of the Sexunzipped website, a theory-based, interactive, online sexual health intervention for young people in the United Kingdom that addresses safer sex as well as sexual practice, relationships, and sexual pleasure. The site comprises both information and interactive elements aimed at giving young people the tools to make informed decisions about their sexual well-being by targeting communication skills and safer sex behaviors.

Sexual behavior and sexual health are complex issues, with multiple factors shaping sexual behavior [40]. For behaviors such as smoking and excessive alcohol use, the risk is clearly defined and interventions can be more focused on reducing this risk. With sexual health, young people may not identify themselves at risk of a particular problem and may not be seeking to change a particular behavior. Therefore, it was necessary to not only target specific behaviors, such as condom use, but also to prompt awareness of sexual risk.

There were some interactive features that were requested by young people [11] or suggested by the integrated behavioral model [19] that were omitted for a number of reasons. The integrated behavioral model suggests that perceived norms are an important factor influencing behavior [19]. Video clips of young people discussing sex-related topics were considered as an approach and this idea was piloted with focus group participants. This approach was not pursued because cultural signifiers, such as clothing and language, are specific to particular youth subcultures and will quickly become outdated. Similarly, discussion boards and social networking capabilities were considered to address normative beliefs because these could have provided opportunities for peer learning and act as a motivator for engagement in the site. We did not include these functions because they would require resource-intensive moderation, and because of concerns of potential abuse or bullying.

The integrated behavioral model suggests that behavior is influenced by intention, which is influenced by beliefs, attitudes, perceived norms, and personal agency [19]. Educational theory suggests that cognitive and affective engagement with material is needed to facilitate learning [41]. To this end, a diary or personal data area was considered because this would have

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e16/

provided scope for behavior-change techniques, such as for goal setting, reviewing of behavior, and affective reactions to behaviors and greater consideration of behavioral intention and attitudes. However, the focus group research strongly indicated that young people were not interested in this feature, resisting activities which might take too much time or which seemed too much like "school work." To increase personal agency and self-efficacy as posited by the integrated behavioral model [19], we considered developing storylines or dilemma scenarios in which the user would make choices leading to different sexual health consequences. This would have allowed for the development of self-efficacy through the rehearsal of common risk situations, such as pressure to not use a condom. However, these were not developed further because young people indicated that they would not find these realistic or believable.

The online medium presents some unique challenges. Capturing the complexities of discussion and debate that may occur in face-to-face interaction is particularly complex online. It requires specifying in advance the beliefs and attitudes that are important mediators of sexual behavior in a particular population and defining automated responses to address these factors.

#### **Implications for Future Interventions**

Developing an online behavior-change intervention is costly and time consuming. It requires the bringing together of different sets of skills and knowledge, primarily expertise in sexual behavior change, user involvement, and website design and technology. It is necessary to partner with technical and design experts from an early stage in order for behavior change experts to understand the technical implications and costs of different

#### Carswell et al

online formats and for technical and design experts to understand the processes that facilitate behavior change. A good understanding of the requirements of the target group is also required, including how they use the Internet. This may be particularly important for interventions for young people given their rapid adoption of new technology [4]. Furthermore, the process of translating behavior-change techniques and theories into an interactive format requires careful specification of the intervention aims and objectives [42]. Given the large public health potential, the cost involved in developing online interventions, and the need for attractive design, future interventions may benefit from collaborating with established sites that already have a user base, a brand, and a strong Internet presence.

The Internet is a fast-changing medium, with increasing competition for the attention of young people, and design and technology quickly becoming obsolete. This presents a number of challenges for designers of interventions. Unlike face-to-face interventions, or facilitated computer-based interventions where users may be a captive audience to some extent, Internet interventions require the development of an online presence that will attract users. It is vital to involve users in decisions about intervention content, design, and features, paying attention to aspects that will attract and retain users' interest. Given the finding that theory-based online interventions lead to better outcomes than interventions that are not theory-based [17], a central challenge in developing effective Internet-based interventions for young people is to find effective ways to operationalize theory in ways that address the views and perspectives of young people.

#### Acknowledgments

The design and implementation of the Sexunzipped intervention was funded by the UK Medical Research Council (Ref G0701749). The authors would like to thank Dr Stuart Linke for his comments during the design phase of Sexunzipped and Dr Caroline Free for her comments on this manuscript.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- World Health Organization. Defining sexual health: Report of a technical consultation on sexual health: 28-31 January 2002. Geneva: WHO; 2006. URL: <u>http://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/sexual health/defining sexual health.</u> <u>pdf</u> [accessed 2012-03-19] [WebCite Cache ID 66I164vJi]
- 2. Health Protection Agency. Health Protection Report. Vol 5. No. 24. London: Health Protection Agency; 2011 Jun 17. URL: http://www.hpa.org.uk/hpr/archives/2011/hpr2411.pdf [accessed 2012-03-19] [WebCite Cache ID 66I1CBBVq]
- 3. Westwood J, Mullan B. Knowledge of secondary school pupils regarding sexual health education. Sex Educ 2006;6(2):151-162. [doi: 10.1080/14681810600579121]
- 4. Gray NJ, Klein JD. Adolescents and the internet: health and sexuality information. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol 2006 Oct;18(5):519-524. [doi: 10.1097/01.gco.0000242954.32867.76] [Medline: 16932046]
- 5. Kanuga M, Rosenfeld WD. Adolescent sexuality and the internet: the good, the bad, and the URL. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol 2004 Apr;17(2):117-124. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpag.2004.01.015] [Medline: 15050988]
- 6. Hillier L, Kurdas C, Horsley P. It's just easier: the Internet as a safety net for same-sex attracted young people. Melbourne: Australian Research Centre in Sex, Health and Society; 2001. URL: <u>http://www.latrobe.edu.au/ssay/assets/downloads/</u> internetreport%5B1%5D.pdf [accessed 2012-03-19] [WebCite Cache ID 66I1pApyH]
- 7. Jacobson L, Richardson G, Parry-Langdon N, Donovan C. How do teenagers and primary healthcare providers view each other? An overview of key themes. Br J Gen Pract 2001 Oct;51(471):811-816 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>11677704</u>]

- 8. Churchill R, Allen J, Denman S, Williams D, Fielding K, von Fragstein M. Do the attitudes and beliefs of young teenagers towards general practice influence actual consultation behaviour? Br J Gen Pract 2000 Dec;50(461):953-957 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 11224965]
- 9. Rideout V. Generation Rx.com: How young people use the internet for health information. Menlo Park: Kaiser Family Foundation; 2001. URL: <u>http://www.kff.org/entmedia/upload/Toplines.pdf</u> [accessed 2012-03-19] [WebCite Cache ID 6611bs9C4]
- Bailey JV, Murray E, Rait G, Mercer CH, Morris RW, Peacock R, et al. Interactive computer-based interventions for sexual health promotion. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2010(9):CD006483. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD006483.pub2</u>] [Medline: <u>20824850</u>]
- McCarthy O, Carswell K, Murray E, Free C, Stevenson F, Bailey JV. What young people want from a sexual health website: design and development of sexunzipped. J Med Internet Res 2012;14(5):e127 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2116] [Medline: 23060424]
- 12. Abraham C, Sheeran P. Modelling and modifying young heterosexuals' HIV-preventive behaviour; a review of theories, findings and educational implications. Patient Educ Couns 1994 Jul;23(3):173-186. [Medline: 7971546]
- DiClemente RJ, Salazar LF, Crosby RA. A review of STD/HIV preventive interventions for adolescents: sustaining effects using an ecological approach. J Pediatr Psychol 2007 Sep;32(8):888-906 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsm056] [Medline: 17726032]
- Scott-Sheldon LA, Johnson BT. Eroticizing creates safer sex: a research synthesis. J Prim Prev 2006 Nov;27(6):619-640. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10935-006-0059-3</u>] [Medline: <u>17051432</u>]
- 15. Wingood GM, DiClemente RJ. Application of the theory of gender and power to examine HIV-related exposures, risk factors, and effective interventions for women. Health Educ Behav 2000 Oct;27(5):539-565. [Medline: <u>11009126</u>]
- Glanz K, Rimer BK, Viswanath K. The scope of health behavior and health education. In: Glanz K, Rimer BK, Viswanath K, editors. Health Behavior and Health Education: Theory, Research, and Practice (4th ed). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass; 2008.
- Webb TL, Joseph J, Yardley L, Michie S. Using the internet to promote health behavior change: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the impact of theoretical basis, use of behavior change techniques, and mode of delivery on efficacy. J Med Internet Res 2010;12(1):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1376] [Medline: 20164043]
- 18. Noar SM. An interventionist's guide to AIDS behavioral theories. AIDS Care 2007 Mar;19(3):392-402. [doi: 10.1080/09540120600708469] [Medline: 17453575]
- 19. Montaño DE, Kasprzyk D. Theory of reasoned action, theory of planned behavior, and the integrated behavioral model. In: Health Behavior and Health Education: Theory, Research, and Practice (4th ed). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass; 2008.
- 20. Albarracín D, Johnson BT, Fishbein M, Muellerleile PA. Theories of reasoned action and planned behavior as models of condom use: a meta-analysis. Psychol Bull 2001 Jan;127(1):142-161. [Medline: <u>11271752</u>]
- 21. Rivis A, Sheeran P, Armitage CJ. Expanding the affective and normative components of the theory of planned behavior: a meta-analysis of anticipated affect and moral norms. J Appl Soc Psy 2009;39(12):2985-3019. [doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.2009.00558.x]
- 22. Sandberg T, Conner M. Anticipated regret as an additional predictor in the theory of planned behaviour: a meta-analysis. Br J Soc Psychol 2008 Dec;47(Pt 4):589-606. [doi: <u>10.1348/014466607X258704</u>] [Medline: <u>18039428</u>]
- 23. Beck JS. Cognitive Therapy: Basics and Beyond. New York: Guilford Press; 1995.
- 24. Rollnick S, Miller WR, Butler CC. Motivational Interviewing in Health Care: Helping Patients Change Behavior. New York: The Guilford Press; 2008.
- 25. Abraham C, Michie S. A taxonomy of behavior change techniques used in interventions. Health Psychol 2008 May;27(3):379-387. [doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.27.3.379] [Medline: 18624603]
- 26. Michie S, Ashford S, Sniehotta FF, Dombrowski SU, Bishop A, French DP. A refined taxonomy of behaviour change techniques to help people change their physical activity and healthy eating behaviours: the CALO-RE taxonomy. Psychol Health 2011 Nov;26(11):1479-1498. [doi: 10.1080/08870446.2010.540664] [Medline: 21678185]
- 27. Kirby D, Short L, Collins J, Rugg D, Kolbe L, Howard M, et al. School-based programs to reduce sexual risk behaviors: a review of effectiveness. Public Health Rep 1994;109(3):339-360 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>8190857</u>]
- 28. Oakley A, Fullerton D, Holland J. Reviews of effectiveness no2: sexual health interventions for young people. London: Social Science Research Unit; 1994.
- 29. Barter C, McCarry M, Berridge D, Evans K. Partner exploitation and violence in teenage intimate relationships. London: NSPCC; 2009. URL: <u>http://www.nspcc.org.uk/inform/research/findings/partner\_exploitation\_and\_violence\_report\_wdf70129.</u> pdf [accessed 2012-03-19] [WebCite Cache ID 66I2HJ1qo]
- 30. Robin L, Dittus P, Whitaker D, Crosby R, Ethier K, Mezoff J, et al. Behavioral interventions to reduce incidence of HIV, STD, and pregnancy among adolescents: a decade in review. J Adolesc Health 2004 Jan;34(1):3-26. [Medline: <u>14706401</u>]
- 31. Albarracín D, Gillette JC, Earl AN, Glasman LR, Durantini MR, Ho MH. A test of major assumptions about behavior change: a comprehensive look at the effects of passive and active HIV-prevention interventions since the beginning of the epidemic. Psychol Bull 2005 Nov;131(6):856-897 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.131.6.856] [Medline: 16351327]

- 32. Ellis S, Grey A. Prevention of sexually transmitted infections (STIs): a review of reviews into the effectiveness of non-clinical interventions. London: NHS Health Development Agency; 2004. URL: <u>http://www.nice.org.uk/niceMedia/documents/</u> prevention\_stis\_evidence\_briefing.pdf [accessed 2012-03-19] [WebCite Cache ID 66I28SQ9Z]
- Noar SM, Carlyle K, Cole C. Why communication is crucial: meta-analysis of the relationship between safer sexual communication and condom use. J Health Commun 2006 Jun;11(4):365-390. [doi: <u>10.1080/10810730600671862</u>] [Medline: <u>16720536</u>]
- 34. Philpott A, Knerr W, Boydell V. Pleasure and prevention: when good sex is safer sex. Reprod Health Matters 2006 Nov;14(28):23-31. [doi: 10.1016/S0968-8080(06)28254-5] [Medline: 17101419]
- 35. Philpott A, Knerr W, Maher D. Promoting protection and pleasure: amplifying the effectiveness of barriers against sexually transmitted infections and pregnancy. Lancet 2006 Dec 2;368(9551):2028-2031. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69810-3] [Medline: 17141710]
- 36. Crosby R, Yarber WL, Sanders SA, Graham CA. Condom discomfort and associated problems with their use among university students. J Am Coll Health 2005;54(3):143-147. [doi: 10.3200/JACH.54.3.143-148] [Medline: 16335313]
- 37. Flood M. Lust, trust and latex: why young heterosexual men do not use condoms. Culture, Health & Sexuality 2003;5(4):353-369. [doi: 10.1080/1369105011000028273]
- 38. Johnson A, Fenton K, Copas A, Mercer C, McCadden A, Carder C, et al. National Survey of Sexual Attitudes and Lifestyles II, 2000-2001: dataset. Colchester: Economic and Social Data Service, University of Essex; 2005. URL: <u>http://www.esds.ac.uk/findingdata/sndescription.asp?sn=5223</u> [accessed 2012-03-19] [WebCite Cache ID 6611QISFw]
- Murray E, Khadjesari Z, White IR, Kalaitzaki E, Godfrey C, McCambridge J, et al. Methodological challenges in online trials. J Med Internet Res 2009;11(2):e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1052] [Medline: 19403465]
- 40. Marston C, King E. Factors that shape young people's sexual behaviour: a systematic review. Lancet 2006 Nov 4;368(9547):1581-1586. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69662-1] [Medline: 17084758]
- 41. Kolb DA. Experiential Learning: Experience as the Source of Learning and Development. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall; 1984.
- 42. Mikolajczak J, Kok G, Hospers HJ. Queermasters: developing a theory- and evidence-based Internet HIV-prevention intervention to promote HIV-testing among men who have sex with men (MSM). Appl Psychol-Int Rev 2008;57(4):681-697. [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-0597.2008.00342.x]

#### Abbreviations

HIV: human immunodeficiency virus RCT: randomized controlled trial STI: sexually transmitted infection TPB: theory of planned behavior TRA: theory of reasoned action

Edited by G Eysenbach, J Keelan; submitted 19.03.12; peer-reviewed by S Noar, G Kok, R Milhausen; comments to author 23.04.12; revised version received 09.09.12; accepted 01.09.12; published 19.11.12.

Please cite as:

Carswell K, McCarthy O, Murray E, Bailey JV Integrating Psychological Theory Into the Design of an Online Intervention for Sexual Health: The Sexunzipped Website JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e16 URL: http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e16/ doi:10.2196/resprot.2114 PMID:23612122

©Kenneth Carswell, Ona McCarthy, Elizabeth Murray, Julia V Bailey. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 19.11.2012. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

**Original Paper** 

# Web-Based Intervention for Postpartum Depression: Formative Research and Design of the MomMoodBooster Program

Brian G Danaher<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Jeannette Milgrom<sup>2,3</sup>, Ph.D; John R Seeley<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Scott Stuart<sup>4</sup>, MD; Charlene Schembri<sup>2</sup>, DClinPsy; Milagra S Tyler<sup>1</sup>, MA; Jennifer Ericksen<sup>2</sup>, MPsych; Whitney Lester<sup>4</sup>, MA; Alan W Gemmill<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Peter Lewinsohn<sup>1</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Oregon Research Institute, Eugene, OR, United States

<sup>3</sup>Department of Psychology, University of Melbourne, Victoria, Australia

<sup>4</sup>Iowa Depression and Clinical Research Center, University of Iowa Hospitals and Clinics, Iowa City, IA, United States

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Brian G Danaher, PhD Oregon Research Institute 1776 Millrace Drive Eugene, OR, 97403 United States Phone: 1 541 484 2123 Fax: 1 541 484 1108 Email: briand@ori.org

# Abstract

**Background:** Postpartum depression is a significant public health problem affecting approximately 13% of women. There is strong evidence supporting Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (CBT) for successful psychosocial treatment. This treatment model combines cognitive and behavioral strategies to address pessimism, attributions for failure, low self-esteem, low engagement in pleasant activities, social withdrawal, anxiety, and low social support. Encouraging results have been reported for using Web-based CBT interventions for mental health domains, including the treatment of panic disorder, post-traumatic stress disorder, and complicated grief and depression. To date, however, Web-based interventions have not been used and evaluated specifically for the treatment of postpartum depression.

**Objective:** We describe the formative work that contributed to the development of our Web-based intervention for helping to ameliorate symptoms of postpartum depression, and the design and key components of the program.

**Methods:** A total of 17 focus group participants and 22 usability testers, who shared key characteristics with the participants of our planned feasibility study, took part. The proposed structure and ingredients of the program and mock-ups of selected webpages were presented to focus group participants. At various points, participants were asked a series of thought questions designed to elicit opinions and set the occasion for group discussion. At the end of the session, participants were asked to describe their overall reaction to the proposed features of the program emphasizing candid opinions about what they did not like and features they thought were missing and should be added. Usability testers were asked to interact with a series of seven different Web-based interactions planned for the program while receiving minimal direction. Each tester was asked to describe her thoughts using a *think-aloud* technique. They were then asked to consider all that they had learned about the program and complete the System Usability tests were reviewed by research team members for overarching themes with particular emphasis on suggested changes. A list emerged, and iterative and incremental adjustments were made as a result.

**Results:** The qualitative and quantitative data gathered in the focus groups and usability sessions reported here suggest that the new mothers involved had largely positive reactions to the major features of the program and that those program features performed well in terms of usability.

**Conclusions:** An overview of the eventual design, architecture, and key program ingredients of the *MomMoodBooster* program is provided including innovative features supplementing 6 core CBT sessions, which include a partner's website, a library, and individual feedback by a personal coach.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Parent-Infant Research Institute, Heidelberg Repatriation Hospital, Victoria, Australia

(JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e18) doi:10.2196/resprot.2329

#### **KEYWORDS**

postpartum depression; Web-based intervention; formative research

#### Introduction

Postpartum depression (PPD) is a significant public health problem affecting many women with incidence estimates ranging from 5% to more than 13% of new mothers [1-3]. PPD causes significant suffering in women and their families and has an adverse impact on infant development [4-6].

Stuart, O'Hara, and Gorman [7] have classified two types of psychosocial interventions for postpartum mood disorders: (1) preventive programs introduced during pregnancy or early during the puerperium, and (2) interventions designed to help ameliorate the depressive symptoms experienced by women who have already developed postpartum depression (PPD). For a meta-analysis of psychosocial interventions for PPD, see Dennis and Hodnett [8]. Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (CBT) has been found to be a successful psychosocial treatment approach for depression [9-14].

Lewinsohn's Coping With Depression (CWD) course [15,16] is a treatment model that combines cognitive and behavioral strategies to address pessimism, attributions for failure, low self-esteem, low engagement in pleasant activities, social withdrawal, anxiety, and low social support and has been adapted and evaluated in over 25 Randomized Controlled Trials (RCTs) in the treatment or prevention of depression [17]. Two meta-analyses [17,18] confirm the efficacy of the core CWD treatment approach and its adaptability for specific groups, reporting the average effect size (Cohen's d) as ranging from .28 to .65. CBT has been widely disseminated [17,19], extensively evaluated with different populations (adolescents, adults, the elderly), and delivered via a range of modalities (individual, group, bibliotherapy, television, the Internet). Research results indicate that CBT is particularly helpful for individuals with mild to moderate depression [20,21].

Milgrom, Martin, and Negri [22] adapted Lewinsohn's approach to create their Getting Ahead of Postnatal Depression program that included: (a) introducing behavioral activation (increasing pleasant activities) before presentation of cognitive strategies; (b) recommending relaxation "on the run" techniques; (c) reducing "homework"; (d) building support networks; and (e) incorporating partner sessions [22-25]. Milgrom's program included three partner sessions due to the impact of postpartum depression on the relationship and the finding that poor dyadic adjustment is a risk factor [26,27]. The program also emphasizes the infant, due to the impact of postpartum depression on the infant and mother-infant relationship [28,29]. Content for the Partner Support Program and some library articles drew on other PIRI programs "Towards Parenthood" [25] and the Community HUGS Specialized Playgroup [30].

#### Limited Utilization and Barriers to Treatment

It is becoming evident that even when postnatal depression is detected, use of clinic-based treatment for postnatal depression is poor, with only around 30-40% of women taking up treatment

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e18/

XSL•F() RenderX services [31-32]. Maternal beliefs and attitudes can form barriers that can significantly reduce the uptake of treatment for postpartum depression. One study [33] found that for many depressed new mothers, fear about acknowledging emotional distress (even to themselves) or admitting they may not be coping and the stigma associated with this leads them to "keep up appearances". The end result is that they decide not to seek help. Practical aspects of help-seeking with a young baby (eg, travel, cost, tiredness, child care, organization, and lack of motivation) while suffering from the symptoms of depression further increase the barriers to treatment uptake [33,34]. Delivering CBT treatment via the Internet may well reduce these barriers and make helpful treatment more readily available and attractive. Moreover, Internet treatments enable mothers to reduce feelings of stigma by being somewhat anonymous, as they do not have to attend a clinic in person. Internet treatments can thus significantly extend the reach of treatment to mothers who may benefit but would not otherwise attend regular clinic treatment.

#### Web-Based Approaches for Depression

Although early attempts to use Web-delivered interventions to reduce depressive symptomatology yielded equivocal results [35,36], subsequent studies have reported more promising findings [20,37-42]. It is important to note that encouraging results have also been reported for using Web-based CBT interventions for other mental health disorders including the treatment of panic disorder [43,44], post-traumatic stress disorder [45,46], and complicated grief [47]. To date, Web-based interventions have not been used and evaluated for the treatment of postpartum depression.

Web-based interventions offer unique advantages that should increase engagement and improve impact [48,49]:

- Web-based treatment programs can reach a larger percentage of women in need than clinic-based programs. This public health impact is especially important for women in rural settings with limited transportation, childcare resources, and access to mental health professionals [50,51].
- Program content can be tailored to participant characteristics and interests. While there are not yet clear data as to which factors may have the greatest impact on outcomes, there is broad consensus that tailoring of materials to individual participant characteristics enhances program credibility [52] and is likely to increase program efficacy [53,54].
- The program can monitor which intervention materials each user has accessed in order to encourage participant engagement by presenting fresh, non-redundant content.
- Information from past sessions can be used more efficiently than in a face-to-face setting to reinforce gains made, to shape the subsequent program content, and to provide ongoing feedback [55,56].
- Users can set their own pace and can access information at any time. This "on demand" capability is of particular

importance with postpartum women, for whom flexible access to program content is a requirement given their childcare commitments and general lack of time.

- Web forums can provide helpful advice and support within an anonymous environment [35,54].
- There is low post-development cost to deliver the program to each participant.

Guided human support (ranging from a technician-level coach to a more highly skilled therapist) has been shown to increase adherence to online mental health treatments [57,58] and a number of Web-based mental health interventions have used telephones or other mediums to deliver this [20,37,59,60]. Mohr, Cuijpers, and Lehman [57] have developed a robust model ("supportive accountability") of the mechanisms by which adherence to technology-delivered interventions can be enhanced by human support. Alliance with a "trustworthy" coach is central to this model and a number of studies have now shown that a strong online working alliance can be achieved in guided Internet treatments for PTSD and depression [eg, 48,63]. However, while amount of contact time correlates positively with efficacy [61], there are nevertheless diminishing gains in increasing contact time above a certain threshold [62,63]. Similarly, there is growing evidence that less clinically skilled workers (ie, technicians versus clinicians) can provide sufficient low-intensity support to enhance the therapeutic effects of Internet CBT programs, even in clinically diagnosed samples [60]. The emerging picture is that very encouraging therapeutic effects can be achieved through structured Internet programs, supported by low intensity-guidance (typically <3 contact hours in a six-week program), which has further implications for cost-effectiveness, reach, and widespread dissemination [64].

#### **Overview of Approach**

The *MomMoodBooster* program (USA) and *MumMoodBooster* program (Australia) are Web-based interventions, supplemented with a series of calls with a personal coach, based on an adaptation of Milgrom's group CBT treatment for postpartum depression. The program was developed by a multinational team composed of researchers based in three organizations: Oregon Research Institute (ORI), Parent-Infant Research Institute (PIRI) in Melbourne, Australia, and the Iowa Depression and Clinical Research Center (IDCRC). This report delineates the formative research procedures used to develop the program content and provides an overview of the eventual design, architecture, and key program ingredients of the *MomMoodBooster* program.

## Methods

As we have described elsewhere [65], the current research is an adaptation of Stage I in the Stage Model of Behavioral Therapies Research [66] and the multistage research model recommended by the USDHHS Science Panel on Interactive Communications and Health [67]. Stage I typically involves formative evaluation to assess the nature of the problem behavior in addition to the needs of the target population in order to inform intervention design and program content. Process evaluation is then used to assess and improve the administrative, organizational, and operational features of the intervention. The current report describes preliminary phases of Stage I research that involved intervention development and formative evaluation that represented a link between feasibility research and subsequent, more controlled research stages. The formative research procedures used to inform the development of the *MomMoodBooster* program involved focus groups and usability testing. We followed an iterative and incremental process in which early feedback was used to accomplish rapid changes [68]. Testing occurred first in Melbourne, Australia, and was followed by testing in Iowa City, Iowa. As a result, the feedback we received in Melbourne was used to further refine the content that was then tested in the subsequent sessions in Iowa.

#### **Participants**

Eligibility criteria for participants in focus group and usability testing were used in order to enroll mothers who shared key characteristics with the participants of our planned feasibility study. Specifically, mothers had to be English-speaking, less than 12 months post partum, at least 18 years of age, have home access to the Internet, and use personal email. They had to report a personal history of depressive episodes in the period following the birth of their baby as indicated by either the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS  $\geq$  12) or the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI-II  $\geq$  14). The EPDS is a widely used self-rated depression screening assessment that has been validated using various cut-offs [69,70]. Similarly, the BDI is a widely used assessment tool for depression in the postpartum period [71,72]. There were two separate cohorts of participants, corresponding to the design of the subsequent feasibility study that called for participants to be recruited from Iowa and Melbourne, Australia.

Focus groups and usability testing sessions were held in Melbourne, Australia, in late September 2010, followed approximately 2 weeks later by sessions held in Iowa. Eligibility criteria for focus group participants essentially mirrored the eligibility criteria of participants of the eventual feasibility trial of the *MomMoodBooster* intervention. The focus group protocol and related Informed Consent procedure were reviewed and approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee of Austin Health in Australia and the Institutional Review Boards of both ORI and the University of Iowa.

#### Recruitment

Recruitment for the Australian testing used promotion of the study to health professionals and services in the Parent-Infant Research Institute's (PIRI) existing referral networks, including over 100 Maternal and Child Health Centers (MCHCs) in northern and central metropolitan Melbourne. Women were also recruited from PIRI's clinic population. Women were screened for eligibility, completed the EPDS, and those meeting eligibility criteria were invited to participate.

Recruitment in Iowa involved sending letters to women listed in the State of Iowa birth registry as having given birth in the last 12 months and who lived within three counties within an hour's driving distance from the University of Iowa. Research staff then called these women. After consenting to participate, these new mothers were briefly screened for eligibility including completion of the EPDS over the phone. Those mothers who passed the second round of eligibility were then scheduled to participate in a specific focus group. The mothers signed the

XSL•FO

consent and completed additional questionnaires prior to the start of the focus group. These participants signed the consent and completed additional questionnaires prior to the start of the focus group.

#### Focus Groups

The Australian focus group was conducted at PIRI in Melbourne and involved 8 women who had a mean age of 36.0 years (SD = 5.5 years). All women were Caucasian Australians from mixed ethnic backgrounds as is typical of the population. Childcare resources were available, and participants received \$50 for their participation. Each session was audio recorded and transcribed.

The Iowa focus group was held in the Iowa Depression and Clinical Research Center (IDCRC) in Iowa City, IA, and involved 9 women who had a mean age of 29.4 years (SD = 6.29 years). Eight mothers identified themselves as Caucasian, and 1 mother identified herself as African American. Two ORI researchers (BD and JS) participated in all focus group sessions.

#### Usability Testing

The Australian usability testing sessions were conducted at PIRI in Melbourne, Australia, and the Iowa usability testing sessions were held at IDCRC in Iowa City, IA. These sessions typically involved women who had participated in focus groups and were scheduled to occur in the same location and at a time immediately following completion of focus group sessions. This approach ensured that usability testers would have a broad familiarity with the research project and preliminary design ideas about the Web-based intervention. All usability testers met eligibility criteria that mirrored what was planned for participants of the eventual feasibility trial. The mean age of the 14 usability testing participants at PIRI was 36.2 years (SD = 3.9 years), and the mean age of the 8 women at IDCRC was 29.3 years (SD = 6.6 years). Participants received \$75 each for their participation.

#### Procedures

#### Focus Groups

Our focus group procedures were informed by our experience and by published guidelines [73]. Each session began with participant completion of the Informed Consent followed by a brief pre-assessment. The session lasted approximately 1.5 hours. Focus groups were facilitated by project researchers and observed by additional research team members.

The initial portion of the session provided an overview of the research team followed by a description of the proposed structure and ingredients of the *MomMoodBooster* program including a series of sequential sessions (eg, Getting Started, Managing Your Mood, Increasing your Pleasant Activities), a library of relevant articles, tracking tools, and tools for support. The presentation also highlighted the use of videos, the ability to personalize the webpages with picture files from home, the role of Personal Coach calls, and a possible weekly schedule for sessions that would be flexible to accommodate somewhat longer time periods so that each mother had the opportunity to spend some extra time on any session in order to learn—and use—the recommended strategies.

Mock-ups of selected webpages were presented including a welcome page, a webpage on negative thoughts that prompted discussion about the proposed left navigation features and the contents of the top menu, and a webpage from the tools menu that users would access in order to track daily mood and pleasant activities.

At various points, participants were asked a series of questions designed to elicit opinions and set the occasion for group discussion. For example, following the discussion of the Web forums, participants were asked how often they would post messages to a forum or would choose to read the posts made by other program participants. Following the discussion of the Partner Support program, participants were asked whether they would recommend the Partner Support program to their partner, whether their partner would visit the program, and whether the label "partner" was acceptable for the Partner Support website. Following presentation of the Personal Coach calls, participants were asked whether they thought such calls would be helpful, who should initiate the calls, the preferred characteristics and experience of Personal Coaches, ways calls might be scheduled in order to make them more practical, what to do when scheduled calls were missed, and the length of calls.

At the end of the session, participants were asked to describe their overall reaction to the proposed features of the program (the colors, fonts, imagery, and complexity of the webpages). Candid opinions were encouraged including what participants did not like as well as any features they thought were missing and should be added.

#### Usability Testing

Web-based interventions should embody established usability standards [74,75]. Once functional program components have been created, usability testers can be asked to provide feedback on program completeness and relevance as well as on the extent to which the program functions properly (eg, that buttons work when clicked, that navigation indicators change to properly reflect each participant's location in the program). Usability testing was scheduled to occur at interim points in the development process to allow incorporation of iterative feedback from usability testers.

A relatively small number of usability testers can provide extremely valuable data that would inform revisions to the program [76]. Each tester met individually with a research staff member who acted as a facilitator. At times, another staff member would be present in an observer role. Usability testers were asked to explore these interactions while receiving minimal direction from the facilitator. Each tester was asked to describe her thoughts using the *think-aloud* technique that was derived from cognitive science [77] and has proven effective in the study of human-computer interactions [78,79]. As noted by Hughes [80], the think-aloud technique provides "...direct, real-time observations of the user rather than self-reports such as surveys" (p. 493). Think-aloud methods assess cognition concurrently with its occurrence. Thus these procedures may be better able to describe the thoughts and attitudes of users [81]. The audio from each usability test session was digitally recorded and transcribed.

XSL•FC

We report here upon a preliminary usability test phase in which participants met individually with a facilitator to interact with a series of eight different Web-based interactions planned for the *MomMoodBooster* program that had been selected because they were deemed to be important as well as especially challenging (from a usability perspective). These interactions included mood spirals animation, pleasant activity list, mood *plus* pleasant activity rating form, partner support program, practicing change form on extreme thoughts, daily pleasant activities (pie chart), mood ratings plus pleasant activities line chart, and mood rating form. The usability testing was limited to these key interactions excerpted from the program rather than the program in its entirety.

#### Measures

#### Focus Groups

We obtained qualitative data from notes created by research staff who observed the focus group session. Session transcripts were also reviewed by research team members for overarching themes with particular emphasis on suggested changes. All of the focus group transcripts were electronically imported into the qualitative analysis software Atlas.ti (version 6.0) [82]. All participant dialogue was transcribed anonymously. Atlas.ti allows for on-screen coding and aids in managing multiple codes

Table 1. System Usability Scale item responses: Combined sample (N= 21).

including groups (families) of codes. Atlas.ti also contains an advanced search option (query tool) that facilitates the identification of multiple themes across large amounts of text as well as permitting the analysis of similar participant responses. An open-coding strategy was used based on: (a) the central concepts of the proposed *MomMoodBooster* program, (b) themes that had arisen during the focus groups (suggestions by participants), and (c) codes that emerged during textual analysis. Related codes were then grouped together to create categories and subcategories until all relevant themes had been identified.

#### Usability Testing

Participants were asked to consider all that they had learned about the *MomMoodBooster* program and complete the System Usability Scale (SUS) that we adapted slightly to be appropriate for evaluating the *MomMoodBooster* website (Table 1) [83,84]. Brooke [85] has reported that "...the principal value of the SUS is that it provides a single reference for participants' views of a product's usability" (p. 194). The value from a 5-point scale in the 10-item SUS scale describes the features of the website. We followed the recommendation by Brooke [85] and Sauro [86] to convert raw score ratings ranging from 1 to 5 based upon directionality of items.

		Negative		Positive		
		0	1	2	3	4
1	I think that I would like to use this website frequently.	·		14.3%	47.6%	38.1%
2	I found the website unnecessarily complex. <sup>a</sup>			4.8%	33.3%	61.9%
3	I thought the website was easy to use.			14.3%	28.6%	57.1%
4	I think that I would need the support of a technical person to be able to use this website. <sup>a</sup>				14.3%	85.7%
5	I found the various functions in this website well integrated.		4.8%	19.0%	42.9%	33.3%
6	I thought there was too much inconsistency in this website. <sup>a</sup>			14.3%	28.6%	57.1%
7	I would imagine that most people would learn to use this website very quickly.		4.8%	4.8%	38.1%	52.4%
8	I found the website very cumbersome to use. <sup>a</sup>			9.5%	28.6%	61.9%
9	I felt very confident using the website.	4.8%		4.8%	38.1%	52.4%
10	I need to learn a lot of things before I would get going with this website. <sup>a</sup>				33.3%	66.7%
	Proportion for all participants	0.5%	1.0%	8.6%	33.3%	56.6%

<sup>a</sup> Values of responses to these items were reversed when scored.

# Results

#### **Focus Group**

The network view option in Atlas.ti allowed us to analyze relationships between codes and themes in a visual format. In Atlas.ti, codes are independent of each other until you create a network and "link" the codes together. The links are tagged with unique symbols to delineate what kind of relationship the codes have, ie, affects (\*), is a part of ([]), is associated with (==), contradicts (<>), etc. This particular network view (Figure

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e18/

1) is structured around the theme "Engagement" and all of the codes associated to this particular concept.

From this network view diagram (Figure 1), it can be seen that nine themes were discussed relating to engagement. Some examples include participants voicing opinions and concerns related to their husbands' participation in the program, the expressed benefits and roadblocks they would have with the phone coach aspect of the program, and their suggestions related to the proposed discussion forum. The lines connecting codes in this network view are the relationship links discussed previously. The numbers that appear under (or beside) each

code have separate meanings. The first number denotes the number of quotations in the transcripts associated with that code, and the second number denotes how many codes are linked to that code in the network view option of Atlas.ti. For example, the topic of "Discussion Forum" arose in participants' discourse 31 times across all of the transcripts, and discussion forum is directly linked to 9 other codes, 3 of which are in this particular network view: stigma, participator, and watcher. The number of times a theme is mentioned in quotations taken from the transcripts provides a possible index of its importance.





#### **Participant Comments**

Focus group participant comments in both Iowa and Melbourne were quite positive for the most part:

- "I think this is wonderful, because you can do it at home."
- "Very successful in making me feel confident to use it."
- "Consider tips for single parents."
- "The colors and font were very inviting."
- "The graphics and videos are great, and the anecdotes from other mothers would be brilliant."
- "It wouldn't take me long at all to get the hang of it."
- "I probably wouldn't click a video."
- "With this it would be so convenient because it would be right there in my house. I would definitely be a lot more likely to use that."
- "It's nice to know that you're not alone in the universe."

- Regarding phone coaching: "Having one more thing to do/remember would be difficult...The phone always rings when the baby is screaming."
- "I really think this is wonderful, because you can do it at home and you don't have to go somewhere and talk to somebody."

A list of the overarching themes and summarized participant statements are described in Table 2. In general, mothers indicated support for the web forum and partner support features of the website. The use of multicultural video vignettes was also endorsed by the focus group participants. Participant feedback was also informative with respect to encouraging skill practice (eg, do not refer to practice assignments as "homework") and the personal coach (eg, assign the same coach for each session; female coach; flexible scheduling).
Table 2. Summary of comments from focus group participants.

Theme	Comments
Web Forum	Definitely use
	More likely to read than post
	Like "Ask the Expert" as a reliable source
	Desire moderation/monitoring of posts
Partner Support Program	Most agreed they would invite partner
	Many believe partner would not use support program
	Motivate partner by emphasizing mother wellbeing
	Could facilitate communication between spouses
	The use of the term "partner" was acceptable to most
Videos	Mixture of US & Australia videos would be fine
	Comfort that other cultures experience PPD
	Make program more engaging
Practice Change Activity	Term more acceptable than homework
	Provides encouragement
	Need flexible schedule
	Keep simple
	Reminder would be helpful; on website or email
Personal Coach	Prefer same coach each call (all participants agree)
	Woman-Mom would be preferable as coach
	Coach should call participant
	Flexible scheduling
	Use email reminders
	Pick a set duration; anything under a half hour OK
	Could opt out without being dropped from program
	Strongly suggest call 2 times before discontinuing
Tools	Generally like the idea of daily tracking
General	Name and colors agreeable

### **Usability Testing**

### Quantitative Results

SUS ratings (0 = extremely negative; 4 = extremely positive) were obtained for 21 of 22 (95.5%) of the usability testers: the Melbourne sample (N = 14; mean = 3.36; SD = 0.38) and the Iowa sample (N = 7; mean= 3.66; SD = 0.36). The combined samples had a SUS score mean of 3.45 (SD = 0.39). It is helpful to examine the proportion of responses across participants by the assigned adjusted SUS ratings (see Table 1). Using this perspective, we note that 33.3% of testers assigned a score of 3, and 56.6% of respondents assigned a score of 4 that resulted in 90.9% of respondents having a positive reaction to the usability of the *MomMoodBooster* program.

Results for the SUS total scores that had a range of 0 to 100 were as follows: for the Melbourne sample (N = 14; mean = 83.57; SD = 9.39), for the Iowa sample (N = 7; mean = 91.43; SD = 8.88), and for the combined samples (N = 21; mean = 86.19; SD = 9.77). As shown in Figure 2, the individual SUS are quite uniform with scores greater than 80 being reported by 14 of the 21 participants (67%).

A SUS score of 73 has been described as good, a score of 85 as excellent, and a score of 100 as the best imaginable [86]. Using the scoring interpretation for the overall adjusted SUS score results obtained, it appears that each of the usability testers found the selected interactions from the *MomMoodBooster* program to be very usable.

Figure 2. Overall adjusted System Usability Scale scores (N=21) (patterned fill= Iowa usability testers; solid fill= Melbourne usability testers).



### Qualitative Results

As part of *thinking aloud*, usability testers at times shared evaluative comments about program features. Examples included the following:

- "I love that I can click on this and make it big, so I can see it and understand it. Ooh, the pie chart cracks open. I like this, this is really cool."
- "Red text draws attention; I don't need to know what I did not do. Get rid of red."
- "It's very good. It's [a] very easy program, it doesn't have a lot of—you know how sometimes you get on web pages and there's so much to see, and it seems like every time you go to the spot you need to go to, you always need to go back four pages. It doesn't seem to have any of that sort of stuff."
- "I do like the partner part...I think that coming to see the psychologist, I think my partner missed out, and he would have liked to have known—he was so scared of what was being said."
- "A lot of reading here. He would not read this much."
- "It was good, actually, because it sounds like it's a really useful tool for mothers."
- "Chunks of writing [are] too much; needs colors to stand out more."

Feedback in terms of tester comments and the observations of the research staff who facilitated the formative sessions led to myriad important refinements to the eventual design of the *MomMoodBooster* program. For example, we added language and tone gleaned from comments shared in focus group and usability testing sessions to enhance the relevance of our content and increase the credibility of our program. Portions of some of the stories shared in the focus group were used as the basis of stories presented in our online video vignettes. The eventual protocol we used for coordinating calls between personal coaches and program participants took into consideration the opinions mothers shared with us in focus group sessions regarding the fact that the Personal Coaches should initiate the calls, but mothers have an online method to share scheduling messages with their Coach.

Usability feedback about challenges with our initial online tracking tools led us to further simplify their interface and add more context-sensitive user instructions. Based on comments we received, the Practice Change (homework) activities in the program became key components that encouraged home practice of the recommended behavioral skills. Because participants emphasized the importance that their Practice Change activities along with their other progress in the program should be available to Personal Coaches to enhance the relevance of their shared calls, a sophisticated administration website was created

Render)

that provided Personal Coaches with a digital dashboard showing details of participant progress in using the *MomMoodBooster* program.

### MomMoodBooster Program Design

The resultant MomMoodBooster program combines a tailored, interactive Web-based postpartum depression intervention for individual mothers who also receive a series of Personal Coach calls. The overall program also includes two additional websites: a Partner Support website and an Administrative website that includes a dashboard for Personal Coaches (Figure 3). A schematic depiction of the final content design of the MomMoodBooster program is shown in Figure 4. The program guides participants through a series of six sequential sessions: (1) Getting Started, (2) Managing Mood, (3) Increasing Pleasant Activities, (4) Managing Negative Thoughts (example webpage shown in Figure 5), (5) Increasing Positive Thoughts, and (6) Planning for the Future. The program follows a schedule that makes available each successive session across a 6-week period. Each session opens with an auto-play video introduction of session goals and content provided by the program host. Webpages in each Session use text, interactions, animations, and video to present program content.

The secure program encourages participants to personalize their program content by typing in their personal lists, setting personal goals, and performing *practice change* activities in their everyday routines. Mothers can print out a personal workbook that summarizes their personalized content while also providing a brief written record of the content they covered. *MomMoodBooster* program users can further personalize their program by uploading their own photos so that they are displayed on program webpages that they view. The program

includes self-monitoring tools that enable the daily tracking and online charting of both mood and pleasant activities (Figure 6) and other online resources. It also includes ad hoc (anytime) access to a library of relevant articles on communication skills, getting support, managing stress, managing time, solving problems, sleep and caring for baby, baby's needs, and your partner.

Since social isolation and stigma are often experienced by depressed mothers with newborn babies, the *MomMoodBooster* program provides access to a private peer-based Web forum in which mothers can post a message as well as read and interact with the messages of other participants.

The *MomMoodBooster* program includes a weekly phone call from an assigned Personal Coach. This role is designed to be largely non-therapeutic as it is intended only to provide support, encourage program engagement, and clarify how best to use the online program. Personal Coaches can access a special digital dashboard that describes the extent that an assigned participant has interacted with the program (Figure 3). During bi-weekly coach calls study participants are asked to complete the PHQ-9 assessment, which is used as a safety check of each participant's status [87]. Deterioration in PHQ-9 scores of  $\geq$ 20% of baseline is used to trigger a participant safety procedure that was well-established in both research sites (Melbourne and Iowa).

Finally, because partners/fathers also have an important role to support mothers in working with the program, the program provides an email feature to enable mothers to invite their partners to visit a separate Web-based partner support program that describes postpartum depression, the *MomMoodBooster* program, and ways they can be supportive.

### Danaher et al

Figure 3. Dashboard for Personal Coach Webpage in MomMoodBooster Administrative Website (checkmarks indicate that participant has used certain interactions or viewed specific webpages).



© 2012 Oregon Research Institute.



Danaher et al





XSL•FO RenderX

Danaher et al

Figure 5. Webpage from MomMoodBooster Session 3 (Displays content participant has entered for personal list of Catastrophisizing Thoughts).





Danaher et al

Figure 6. MomMoodBooster Tracking Tools used daily to track Mood Ratings and number of personally-selected Pleasant Activities accomplished.

	Home	Sessions L	ibrary.	Tools	Supp
ools	Tracking My Mood & P	leasant Ac	tivitie	es 👩	
Personalize My Pictures		ioubuiit i it			Tutorial
Tracking Mood and Pleasant Activities	August 2012 O Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa				
choosing Pleasant	1         2         3         4         Select inform missing           5         6         7         8         9         10         11           12         13         14         15         16         17         18           19         20         21         22         23         24         25	a date from the cal lation for that day. I lg information. le 10 days with missing inf	endar, ther Dates displa formation.	n submit you ayed in red a	ire
My Workbook	26 27 28 29 30 31				
	Wednesday, 29 August 2012				
	My Mood Rating		S	tatus: Incor	nplete
			•		
	My Worst Day My Aver	ane Day	0	My Rest Day	
		-9/			
	With Baby My pleasant activities: Go with baby to storyt baby's sounds & faces, is content	ime at local library, , Stroll with baby, W	Cuddle ba /atch baby	by, Mirror when he/she	2
	By Myself My pleasant activities: Exercise, Go shopping,	, Read			
	With Friends / Family My pleasant activities: Do a "Girls' Night Out"	, Visit, Out for dinn	er/drinks/c	lessert/coffee	2
	With Partner My pleasant activities: Take class together, S	hop without kids, Ta	ake a walk,	Out for	
	dinner/drinks/dessert/	conee			

# Discussion

RenderX

Postpartum depression represents an important public health problem especially because many new mothers are unable or reluctant to seek help. Poor treatment uptake results in many mothers not accessing services or receiving support to ameliorate their depression. This can have substantial consequences for themselves, their partners, and their infants. Web-based depression interventions represent a rapidly emerging approach for extending the reach of efficacious treatments [64,88]. The *MomMoodBooster* program is a highly innovative Web-based intervention specifically designed to ameliorate postpartum depression. In this report, we have described: (1) the formative work that contributed to the development of our Web-based intervention for helping to relieve symptoms of postpartum depression, and (2) the design and key components of the program.

The qualitative and quantitative data gathered in the focus groups and usability sessions reported here suggest that the new mothers involved had largely positive reactions to the major

features of the *MomMoodBooster* program and that those program features performed well in terms of usability. Specifically, the formative results supported our use of sequential sessions, involvement of the Personal Coach having certain characteristics, the availability of a separate support website for the partner, etc. In addition, we found that using the ATLAS.ti qualitative analysis tool helped to identify useful themes from our focus group session transcripts.

Limitations of the current formative research are largely related to the fact that our focus group and usability testing samples were not representative of all mothers nor did all participants provide us with a complete data set. Although participants in the formative research satisfied eligibility criteria similar to those we intended to use for participants in our planned feasibility study, this group of women is best considered a convenience sample that may not generalize to all postpartum mothers. For example, the Australian sample was somewhat older (focus group: M = 36 years, SD = 5.5) than the median age of mothers in Australia (2010 births; 30.7 years) but more consistent with Australian women ages 30-34 years who have the highest fertility rate of all age groups in that country [89]. The Australian sample was also older than the American participants, which is consistent with 2010 birth data for both countries (in Australia, 51% of mothers giving birth were 30-39 years old [89], whereas in the US that age range accounted for only 36% of mothers giving birth [90]). We did not collect data on participant education or income, which prevents any discussion of representativeness of our sample.

It is also important to acknowledge that the usability test results described in this report were obtained in a preliminary usability phase. Our usability testing efforts did not end at this initial step in the process. Instead, usability feedback continued to occur in an iterative and incremental manner as the *MomMoodBooster* program continued to be developed [68]. In addition, participants who provided SUS ratings at this initial phase had only relatively

brief interactions with preliminary designs of key program tools and interactions. We anticipate that positive SUS results will also be obtained from feasibility study participants who use the completed, fully integrated *MomMoodBooster* program.

In terms of lessons learned, we concluded that there were many more similarities than differences between our Australian and American samples of postpartum mothers. There were differences in language in terms of spelling and in terms of common usage. We concluded that these differences were critically important features that need to be localized in the final Web-based program. But some differences in language and accent did not preclude the use of Australian videos and audios with an American audience and vice versa. As more than one participant indicated, they felt less isolated knowing that mothers from the other cultures shared similar challenges with postpartum depression. Finally, the technological sophistication of our two participant samples was quite equivalent. These similarities provide support for expanded US/Australia collaborative research on Web-based interventions.

The MomMoodBooster program is currently being tested in a feasibility trial that involves 50 depressed postpartum mothers-25 in Australia using the MumMoodBooster program and 25 additional mothers in Iowa using the MomMoodBooster program. While the content of the two programs is identical in meaning, each version uses country-specific language, and each has its own set of host videos for every session. The two programs use Personal Coaches and they also share video vignettes of mothers describing their implementation of some of the strategies using a mixture of American and Australian actors. It remains for the results of our feasibility trial and a fully powered RCT subsequent to establish the efficacy/effectiveness of the MomMoodBooster program. Results from our formative research have been highly encouraging and were instrumental in developing a program acceptable to mothers with PPD.

### Acknowledgments

The *MomMoodBooster* research project is supported by grant 5R01-MH084931-02 from the National Institute of Mental Health of the National Institutes of Health (Principal Investigators: Drs. Brian G. Danaher, Jeannette Milgrom, and Scott Stuart). Technology development was accomplished with assistance from InterVision (Eugene, OR) and Tim Woolley (IEQ Technology, Springfield, OR). We also acknowledge the contributions of Coleen Hudkins, Katie Clawson, and Aaron Irvin (all of Oregon Research Institute). Cartoons displayed in the *MomMoodBooster* library and Partner Support Program were drawn by Bev Aisbett.

### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

### References

- 1. O'Hara MW, Swain AM. Rates and risk of postpartum depression: A meta-analysis. Int Rev Psychiatry 1996;8(1):37-54.
- Gaynes BN, Gavin N, Meltzer-Brody S, Lohr KN, Swinson T, Gartlehner G, et al. Perinatal depression: prevalence, screening accuracy, and screening outcomes. Evid Rep Technol Assess (Summ) 2005 Feb(119):1-8 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15760246]
- Gavin NI, Gaynes BN, Lohr KN, Meltzer-Brody S, Gartlehner G, Swinson T. Perinatal depression: a systematic review of prevalence and incidence. Obstet Gynecol 2005 Nov;106(5 Pt 1):1071-1083. [doi: <u>10.1097/01.AOG.0000183597.31630.db</u>] [Medline: <u>16260528</u>]

- 4. Goodman SH, Gotlib IH. Risk for psychopathology in the children of depressed mothers: a developmental model for understanding mechanisms of transmission. Psychol Rev 1999 Jul;106(3):458-490. [Medline: 10467895]
- 5. Milgrom J, Westley D, Gemmill AW. The mediating role of maternal responsiveness in some longer-term effects of postnatal depression on infant development. Infant Behav Dev 2004;27(4):443-454.
- Field T, Diego M, Hernandez-Reif M. Prenatal depression effects and interventions: a review. Infant Behav Dev 2010 Dec;33(4):409-418 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.infbeh.2010.04.005] [Medline: 20471091]
- Stuart S, O'Hara MW, Gorman LL. The prevention and psychotherapeutic treatment of postpartum depression. Arch Womens Ment Health 2003 Aug;6 Suppl 2:S57-S69. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00737-003-0003-y</u>] [Medline: <u>14615924</u>]
- 8. Dennis CL, Hodnett E. Psychosocial and psychological interventions for treating postpartum depression. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2007(4):CD006116. [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD006116.pub2] [Medline: 17943888]
- Asarnow JR, Jaycox LH, Duan N, LaBorde AP, Rea MM, Murray P, et al. Effectiveness of a quality improvement intervention for adolescent depression in primary care clinics: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2005 Jan 19;293(3):311-319. [doi: 10.1001/jama.293.3.311] [Medline: 15657324]
- 10. Cuijpers P. A psychoeducational approach to the treatment of depression: A meta-analysis of Lewinsohn's "Coping with Depression" course. Behav Ther 1988;29(3):521-533.
- Elkin I, Shea MT, Watkins JT, Imber SD, Sotsky SM, Collins JF, et al. National Institute of Mental Health Treatment of Depression Collaborative Research Program. General effectiveness of treatments. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1989 Nov;46(11):971-82; discussion 983. [Medline: <u>2684085</u>]
- 12. Gloaguen V, Cottraux J, Cucherat M, Blackburn IM. A meta-analysis of the effects of cognitive therapy in depressed patients. J Affect Disord 1998 Apr;49(1):59-72. [Medline: <u>9574861</u>]
- Hollon SD, Muñoz RF, Barlow DH, Beardslee WR, Bell CC, Bernal G, et al. Psychosocial intervention development for the prevention and treatment of depression: promoting innovation and increasing access. Biol Psychiatry 2002 Sep 15;52(6):610-630. [Medline: 12361671]
- 14. Hopko DR, Lejuez CW, Ruggiero KJ, Eifert GH. Contemporary behavioral activation treatments for depression: procedures, principles, and progress. Clin Psychol Rev 2003 Oct;23(5):699-717. [Medline: <u>12971906</u>]
- 15. Lewinsohn PM, Biglan A, Zeiss AM. Behavioral treatment of depression. In: Davidson PO, editor. The behavioral management of anxiety, depression and pain. New York: Brunner/Mazel; 1976:91-146.
- 16. Lewinsohn PM, Clarke GN, Rohde P, Hops H, Seeley JR. A course in coping: A cognitive-behavioral approach to the treatment of adolescent depression. In: Hibbs E, Jensen P, editors. Psychosocial treatment for child adolescent disorders: empirically based approaches. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association; 1996:109-135.
- Cuijpers P, Muñoz RF, Clarke GN, Lewinsohn PM. Psychoeducational treatment and prevention of depression: the "Coping with Depression" course thirty years later. Clin Psychol Rev 2009 Jul;29(5):449-458. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cpr.2009.04.005</u>] [Medline: <u>19450912</u>]
- 18. Cuijpers P, Brännmark JG, van Straten A. Psychological treatment of postpartum depression: a meta-analysis. J Clin Psychol 2008 Jan;64(1):103-118. [doi: <u>10.1002/jclp.20432</u>] [Medline: <u>18161036</u>]
- Cuijpers P, van Lier PA, van Straten A, Donker M. Examining differential effects of psychological treatment of depressive disorder: an application of trajectory analyses. J Affect Disord 2005 Dec;89(1-3):137-146. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jad.2005.09.001</u>] [Medline: <u>16274750</u>]
- 20. Clarke G, Eubanks D, Reid E, Kelleher C, O'Connor E, DeBar LL, et al. Overcoming Depression on the Internet (ODIN) (2): a randomized trial of a self-help depression skills program with reminders. J Med Internet Res 2005;7(2):e16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7.2.e16] [Medline: 15998607]
- 21. Whisman MA. Mediators and moderators of change in cognitive therapy of depression. Psychol Bull 1993 Sep;114(2):248-265. [Medline: <u>8416032</u>]
- 22. Milgrom J, Martin PR, Negri LM. Treating postnatal depression: A psychological approach for health care practitioners. New York: John Wiley & Sons; 1999.
- 23. Meager I, Milgrom J. Group treatment for postpartum depression: a pilot study. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 1996 Dec;30(6):852-860. [Medline: <u>9034477</u>]
- 24. Milgrom J, Negri LM, Gemmill AW, McNeil M, Martin PR. A randomized controlled trial of psychological interventions for postnatal depression. Br J Clin Psychol 2005 Nov;44(Pt 4):529-542. [doi: <u>10.1348/014466505X34200</u>] [Medline: <u>16368032</u>]
- 25. Milgrom J, Ericksen J, Leigh B, Romeo Y, Loughlin E, McCarthy R, et al. Towards parenthood. Camberwell, Australia: ACER Press; 2009.
- 26. Steinberg SI, Bellavance F. Characteristics and treatment of women with antenatal and postpartum depression. Int J Psychiatry Med 1999;29(2):209-233. [Medline: <u>10587816</u>]
- 27. Leigh B, Milgrom J. Risk factors for antenatal depression, postnatal depression and parenting stress. BMC Psychiatry 2008;8:24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-8-24] [Medline: 18412979]
- 28. Murray L, Halligan SL, Cooper P. Effects of postnatal depression on mother-infant interactions and child development. In: Bremner JG, Wachs TD, editors. Wiley-Blackwell handbook of infant development. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing Ltd; 2010:192-220.

- 29. Poobalan AS, Aucott LS, Ross L, Smith WC, Helms PJ, Williams JH. Effects of treating postnatal depression on mother-infant interaction and child development: systematic review. Br J Psychiatry 2007 Nov;191:378-386 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.106.032789] [Medline: 17978316]
- 30. PIRI. Journal. 2010. Community HUGS therapeutic playgroups URL: <u>http://www.piri.org.au/files/jan-jun\_2010\_nslttr.pdf</u> [accessed 2012-08-29] [WebCite Cache ID 6AHnedbe2]
- 31. Austin MP, Frilingos M, Lumley J, Hadzi-Pavlovic D, Roncolato W, Acland S, et al. Brief antenatal cognitive behaviour therapy group intervention for the prevention of postnatal depression and anxiety: a randomised controlled trial. J Affect Disord 2008 Jan;105(1-3):35-44. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2007.04.001] [Medline: 17490753]
- 32. Andrusyna TP, Tang TZ, DeRubeis RJ, Luborsky L. The factor structure of the working alliance inventory in cognitive-behavioral therapy. J Psychother Pract Res 2001;10(3):173-178 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>11402080</u>]
- 33. Dennis CL, Chung-Lee L. Postpartum depression help-seeking barriers and maternal treatment preferences: a qualitative systematic review. Birth 2006 Dec;33(4):323-331. [doi: 10.1111/j.1523-536X.2006.00130.x] [Medline: 17150072]
- 34. Goodman JH. Women's attitudes, preferences, and perceived barriers to treatment for perinatal depression. Birth 2009 Mar;36(1):60-69. [doi: 10.1111/j.1523-536X.2008.00296.x] [Medline: 19278385]
- 35. Houston TK, Cooper LA, Ford DE. Internet support groups for depression: a 1-year prospective cohort study. Am J Psychiatry 2002 Dec;159(12):2062-2068. [Medline: <u>12450957</u>]
- 36. Clarke G, Reid E, Eubanks D, O'Connor E, DeBar LL, Kelleher C, et al. Overcoming depression on the Internet (ODIN): a randomized controlled trial of an Internet depression skills intervention program. J Med Internet Res 2002 Dec;4(3):E14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4.3.e14] [Medline: 12554545]
- Christensen H, Griffiths KM, Jorm AF. Delivering interventions for depression by using the internet: randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2004 Jan 31;328(7434):265 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.37945.566632.EE] [Medline: 14742346]
- Christensen H, Griffiths KM, Mackinnon AJ, Brittliffe K. Online randomized controlled trial of brief and full cognitive behaviour therapy for depression. Psychol Med 2006 Dec;36(12):1737-1746. [doi: <u>10.1017/S0033291706008695</u>] [Medline: <u>16938144</u>]
- Christensen H, Leach LS, Barney L, Mackinnon AJ, Griffiths KM. The effect of web based depression interventions on self reported help seeking: randomised controlled trial [ISRCTN77824516]. BMC Psychiatry 2006;6:13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-6-13] [Medline: 16595018]
- 40. Spek V, Nyklícek I, Cuijpers P, Pop V. Predictors of outcome of group and internet-based cognitive behavior therapy. J Affect Disord 2008 Jan;105(1-3):137-145. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2007.05.001] [Medline: 17543392]
- 41. Farrer L, Christensen H, Griffiths KM, Mackinnon A. Web-based cognitive behavior therapy for depression with and without telephone tracking in a national helpline: secondary outcomes from a randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2012;14(3):e68 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1859] [Medline: 22738715]
- 42. Andrews G, Cuijpers P, Craske MG, McEvoy P, Titov N. Computer therapy for the anxiety and depressive disorders is effective, acceptable and practical health care: a meta-analysis. PLoS One 2010;5(10):e13196 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0013196] [Medline: 20967242]
- 43. Carlbring P, Nilsson-Ihrfelt E, Waara J, Kollenstam C, Buhrman M, Kaldo V, et al. Treatment of panic disorder: live therapy vs. self-help via the Internet. Behav Res Ther 2005 Oct;43(10):1321-1333. [doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2004.10.002] [Medline: 16086983]
- 44. Farvolden P, Denisoff E, Selby P, Bagby RM, Rudy L. Usage and longitudinal effectiveness of a Web-based self-help cognitive behavioral therapy program for panic disorder. J Med Internet Res 2005;7(1):e7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7.1.e7] [Medline: 15829479]
- 45. Lange A, Rietdijk D, Hudcovicova M, van de Ven JP, Schrieken B, Emmelkamp PM. Interapy: a controlled randomized trial of the standardized treatment of posttraumatic stress through the internet. J Consult Clin Psychol 2003 Oct;71(5):901-909. [doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.71.5.901] [Medline: 14516238]
- 46. Knaevelsrud C, Maercker A. Internet-based treatment for PTSD reduces distress and facilitates the development of a strong therapeutic alliance: a randomized controlled clinical trial. BMC Psychiatry 2007;7:13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-7-13] [Medline: 17442125]
- 47. Wagner B, Knaevelsrud C, Maercker A. Internet-based cognitive-behavioral therapy for complicated grief: a randomized controlled trial. Death Stud 2006 Jun;30(5):429-453. [doi: <u>10.1080/07481180600614385</u>] [Medline: <u>16610157</u>]
- 48. Taylor CB, Jobson KO, Winzelberg A, Abascal L. The use of the Internet to provide evidence-based integrated treatment programs for mental health. Psychiatric Annals 2002;32(11):671-677.
- White M, Dorman SM. Receiving social support online: implications for health education. Health Educ Res 2001 Dec;16(6):693-707 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>11780708</u>]
- 50. Merwin E, Hinton I, Dembling B, Stern S. Shortages of rural mental health professionals. Arch Psychiatr Nurs 2003 Feb;17(1):42-51. [doi: 10.1053/apnu.2003.1] [Medline: 12642887]
- 51. Ng B, Bardwell WA, Camacho A. Depression treatment in rural California: preliminary survey of nonpsychiatric physicians. J Rural Health 2002;18(4):556-562. [Medline: <u>12380898</u>]
- 52. Fogg BJ. Persuasive technology: Using computers to change what we think and do. San Francisco: Morgan Kaufmann; 2003.

- Bandura A. Health promotion by social cognitive means. Health Educ Behav 2004 Apr;31(2):143-164. [doi: 10.1177/1090198104263660] [Medline: 15090118]
- 54. Strecher V. Internet methods for delivering behavioral and health-related interventions (eHealth). Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2007;3:53-76. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.3.022806.091428] [Medline: 17716048]
- 55. DiClemente CC, Marinilli AS, Singh M, Bellino LE. The role of feedback in the process of health behavior change. Am J Health Behav 2001;25(3):217-227. [Medline: <u>11322620</u>]
- 56. Walters ST, Wright JA, Shegog R. A review of computer and Internet-based interventions for smoking behavior. Addict Behav 2006 Feb;31(2):264-277. [doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2005.05.002] [Medline: 15950392]
- 57. Mohr DC, Cuijpers P, Lehman K. Supportive accountability: a model for providing human support to enhance adherence to eHealth interventions. J Med Internet Res 2011;13(1):e30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1602] [Medline: 21393123]
- Cuijpers P, Donker T, van Straten A, Li J, Andersson G. Is guided self-help as effective as face-to-face psychotherapy for depression and anxiety disorders? A systematic review and meta-analysis of comparative outcome studies. Psychol Med 2010 Dec;40(12):1943-1957. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291710000772] [Medline: 20406528]
- 59. Perini S, Titov N, Andrews G. Clinician-assisted Internet-based treatment is effective for depression: randomized controlled trial. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2009 Jun;43(6):571-578. [doi: 10.1080/00048670902873722] [Medline: 19440890]
- Titov N, Andrews G, Davies M, McIntyre K, Robinson E, Solley K. Internet treatment for depression: a randomized controlled trial comparing clinician vs. technician assistance. PLoS One 2010;5(6):e10939 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010939] [Medline: 20544030]
- 61. Palmqvist B, Carlbring P, Andersson G. Internet-delivered treatments with or without therapist input: does the therapist factor have implications for efficacy and cost? Expert Rev Pharmacoecon Outcomes Res 2007 Jun;7(3):291-297. [doi: 10.1586/14737167.7.3.291] [Medline: 20528315]
- 62. Ruwaard J, Schrieken B, Schrijver M, Broeksteeg J, Dekker J, Vermeulen H, et al. Standardized web-based cognitive behavioural therapy of mild to moderate depression: a randomized controlled trial with a long-term follow-up. Cogn Behav Ther 2009 Dec;38(4):206-221. [doi: 10.1080/16506070802408086] [Medline: 19221919]
- 63. Vernmark K, Lenndin J, Bjärehed J, Carlsson M, Karlsson J, Oberg J, et al. Internet administered guided self-help versus individualized e-mail therapy: A randomized trial of two versions of CBT for major depression. Behav Res Ther 2010 May;48(5):368-376. [doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2010.01.005] [Medline: 20152960]
- 64. Glasgow RE. eHealth evaluation and dissemination research. Am J Prev Med 2007 May;32(5 Suppl):S119-S126. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2007.01.023] [Medline: 17466816]
- 65. Danaher BG, Seeley JR. Methodological issues in research on web-based behavioral interventions. Ann Behav Med 2009 Aug;38(1):28-39. [doi: 10.1007/s12160-009-9129-0] [Medline: 19806416]
- Onken LS, Blaine JD, Battjex RJ. Behavioral therapy research: A conceptualization of a process. In: Santos AB, Henggeler SW, editors. Innovative approaches for difficult-to-treat populations. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association; 1997:477-485.
- 67. Eng TR, Gustafson DH, Henderson J, Jimison H, Patrick K. Introduction to evaluation of interactive health communication applications. Science Panel on Interactive Communication and Health. Am J Prev Med 1999 Jan;16(1):10-15. [Medline: 9894549]
- 68. Cockburn A. Using both incremental and iterative development. 2008 URL: <u>http://www.crosstalkonline.org/storage/issue-archives/2008/200805/200805-Cockburn.pdf</u> [accessed 2012-10-01] [WebCite Cache ID 6B5qurtje]
- 69. Cox J, Holden J. Perinatal mental health: A guide to the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale. London: Gaskell; 2003.
- 70. Milgrom J, Gemmill AW, Bilszta JL, Hayes B, Barnett B, Brooks J, et al. Antenatal risk factors for postnatal depression: a large prospective study. J Affect Disord 2008 May;108(1-2):147-157. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2007.10.014] [Medline: 18067974]
- 71. Beck CT. Postpartum depression. Stopping the thief that steals motherhood. AWHONN Lifelines 1999;3(4):41-44. [Medline: 10690011]
- 72. Beck CT. A meta-analysis of predictors of postpartum depression. Nurs Res 1996;45(5):297-303. [Medline: <u>8831657</u>]
- 73. Morgan DL. Focus groups as qualitative research. Thousand Oaks: Sage; 1997.
- 74. Lynch PJ, Horton S. Web style guide: Basic design principles for creating Web sites (3rd ed.). New Haven, CT: Yale University Press; 2012.
- 75. Lynch PJ, Horton S. Web Style Guide. 2005 URL: <u>http://www.webstyleguide.com/site/basic\_structures.html</u> [accessed 2005-12-09] [WebCite Cache ID OLu]
- Nielsen J. Why you only need to test with 5 users. 2000 URL: <u>http://www.useit.com/alertbox/20000319.html</u> [accessed 2010-02-12] [WebCite Cache ID 5nUzoJxuK]
- Davison GC, Vogel RS, Coffman SG. Think-aloud approaches to cognitive assessment and the articulated thoughts in simulated situations paradigm. J Consult Clin Psychol 1997 Dec;65(6):950-958. [Medline: <u>9420356</u>]
- 78. Tognazzini B. TOG on interface. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley; 1992.
- 79. Riper H, Andersson G, Christensen H, Cuijpers P, Lange A, Eysenbach G. Theme issue on e-mental health: a growing field in internet research. J Med Internet Res 2010;12(5):e74 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1713] [Medline: 21169177]
- 80. Hughes M. Rigor in usability testing. Technical Communication 1999;46(4):488-494.

- 81. Rosson MB, Caroll JM. Usability engineering: Scenario-based development of human-computer interaction. San Diego: Academic Press; 2002.
- 82. Friese S. Qualitative data analysis with ATLAS.ti. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2012.
- 83. Tullis T, Albert W. Measuring the user experience. Burlington, MA: Morgan Kaufmann; 2008.
- 84. Tullis TS, Stetson JN. A comparison of questionnaires for assessing website usability. 2004 URL: <u>http://home.comcast.net/</u> %7Etomtullis/publications/UPA2004TullisStetson.pdf [accessed 2012-08-29] [WebCite Cache ID 6AHITssU1]
- 85. Brooke J. SUS: A quick and dirty usability scale. In: Jordon PW, Thomas B, Weerdmeester BA, McClelland IL, editors. Usability evaluation in industry. London: Taylor & Francis; 1996:189-194.
- 86. Sauro J. A practical guide to the system usability scale. Denver, CO: Measuring Usability LLC; 2011.
- 87. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med 2001 Sep;16(9):606-613 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 11556941]
- 88. Glasgow RE, Vogt TM, Boles SM. Evaluating the public health impact of health promotion interventions: the RE-AIM framework. Am J Public Health 1999 Sep;89(9):1322-1327. [Medline: 10474547]
- 89. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Births, Australia,: Age-specific fertility rates. 2010. 2010 URL: <u>http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Products/960D884FECD456EFCA257933001674FA?opendocument</u> [accessed 2012-10-01] [WebCite Cache ID 6B5r7Ho1K]
- 90. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Journal(1). 2012. Births: Final data for 2010 URL: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/</u> <u>data/nvsr/nvsr61/nvsr61\_01.pdf</u> [accessed 2012-10-01] [WebCite Cache ID 6B5rEX8EB]

### Abbreviations

BDI: Beck Depression Inventory
CBT: Cognitive Behavioral Therapy
CWD: Coping with Depression course
EPDS: Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale
IDCRC: Iowa Depression and Clinical Research Center
ORI: Oregon Research Institute
PHQ-9: Patient Health Questionnaire (9-item)
PIRI: Parent-Infant Research Institute
PPD: Postpartum Depression
PTSD: Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder
RCT: Randomized Controlled Trial
SUS: System Usability Scale

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 29.08.12; peer-reviewed by L Walekr, T Klose; comments to author 27.09.12; revised version received 04.10.12; accepted 11.10.12; published 22.11.12.

 Please cite as:

 Danaher BG, Milgrom J, Seeley JR, Stuart S, Schembri C, Tyler MS, Ericksen J, Lester W, Gemmill AW, Lewinsohn P

 Web-Based Intervention for Postpartum Depression: Formative Research and Design of the MomMoodBooster Program

 JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e18

 URL: <a href="http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e18/">http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e18/</a>

 doi:10.2196/resprot.2329

 PMID:23612274

©Brian G. Danaher, Jeannette Milgrom, John R. Seeley, Scott Stuart, Charlene Schembri, Milagra S. Tyler, Jennifer Ericksen, Whitney Lester, Alan W. Gemmill, Peter Lewinsohn. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 22.11.2012. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

### **Original Paper**

# Developing an Internet-Based Support System for Adolescents with Depression

Maritta Välimäki<sup>1,2</sup>, Ph.D; Marjo Kurki<sup>1</sup>, MSc; Heli Hätönen<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Marita Koivunen<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Maarit Selander<sup>4</sup>, MSc; Simo Saarijärvi<sup>2</sup>, MD, PhD; Minna Anttila<sup>1</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>University of Turku, Department of Nursing Science, Turku, Finland

<sup>2</sup>Southwest Hospital District, Turku University Hospital, Turku, Finland

<sup>3</sup>Satakunta Hospital District, Pori, Finland

<sup>4</sup>Pirkanmaa Hospital District, Tampere, Finland

### **Corresponding Author:**

Maritta Välimäki, Ph.D University of Turku Department of Nursing Science Lemminkäisenkatu 1 Turku, 20610 Finland Phone: 358 2 333 8495 Fax: 358 2 333 8400 Email: mava@utu.fi

# Abstract

**Background:** Depression is the most common mental health problem among adolescents. Despite policy guidance and governmental support to develop usable mental health services, there is still a lack of easily accessible and modern interventions available for adolescents in Finland's majority official language.

**Objective:** Our objective was to develop a user-friendly and feasible Internet-based support system for adolescents with depression.

**Methods:** The Internet-based support system for adolescents with depression was developed. To create this new intervention, some examples of existing interventions were studied, the theoretical basis for the intervention was described, and the health needs of adolescents identified. As an outcome of the process, the results were combined and the content and delivery of a new intervention will be described here.

**Results:** Six individual weekly Internet-based support sessions were delivered by a tutor over a 6-week period of time and developed to form an intervention called Depis.Net. This was an Internet-based support system for adolescents with depression tailored to improve self-management skills and increase awareness of their own well-being and mental health. The intervention was accessible via an electronic platform, which was secured and password protected for users. The intervention on the Depis.Net website consisted of elements identifying adolescents' needs, and offering self-monitoring, access to health information and self-reflective written exercises. An educated nurse tutor gave written feedback to each adolescent via the electronic platform.

**Conclusions:** An Internet-based support system for adolescents with depression was developed using a systematic approach with four steps. This was done to ensure that the intervention had a sound theoretical background and at the same time caters flexibly for the problems that adolescents commonly face in their daily lives. Its potential for adolescents visiting outpatient clinics will be evaluated in the next phase by means of a randomized controlled trial.

(JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e22) doi:10.2196/resprot.2263

### **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

adolescent, Internet, depression, development, intervention, support

### Välimäki et al

# Introduction

Mental health issues associated with adolescents have become a global public health problem [1,2]. It has been estimated that at least 20% of adolescents have some kind of mental health problem [3]. Depression is the most common mental health problem among adolescents with an estimated point prevalence of 4-6% [4]. In 2008, 8% of America's adolescents had at least one major depressive episode during the past year [5]. Depression is associated with suicidal ideations and attempts [6] causing pervasive and prolonged functional impairment, morbidity and predicts psychopathology in adulthood [2,7]. Although most adolescents recover from their first depressive episode, the probability of recurrence is from 20% to 60% in 1 or 2 years after remission and 70% after 5 years [8].

A Cochrane review by Merry et al (2011) found some evidence that tailored and universal depression prevention interventions may prevent the onset of depressive disorders compared with no intervention [9]. In recent years, such interventions have been developed more systematically using information technology (IT). The development has made the Internet a source of mental health information [10,11]. Internet-based health interventions have also been used with adolescents for depression prevention, anxiety prevention [12], and depression disorders [13]. However, according to systematic reviews, among adolescents they are still much more rare than with adults [14,15]. A national survey of young Australians found that 71% of respondents rated websites and books for mental health information to be helpful, which was less than for counseling, which generally involves face-to-face meetings in mental health services [16].

Internet-based interventions are nowadays a way to offer behavioral intervention in an environment in which IT is available and the population is adapt at using it [17]. In most Western countries, including Finland, IT is an integral part of people's lives and more than 80% of the people in this population are Internet users [18,19]. It is especially popular for adolescents' daily communication [20] and computers are often placed in adolescents' bedrooms [21]. We therefore assumed that Internet-based interventions could be integrated into adolescents' daily routines [22]. In Finland our new Health Care Act (2010/1326) highlights that health services should be near to users and also easily accessible for them [23]. In this paper we will describe a study in which we developed an Internet-based support system intervention for adolescents with depression who attend an adolescent outpatient clinic.

Previously, a variety of Internet-based devices have been developed and tested to support people with depression. These applications offer, for example, interventions treating depression online [24], increasing literacy among depression or reducing stigma and symptoms [25], Web-based cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) [26], deducing symptoms using Internet support groups [27] or supporting people with depressive tendencies by a peer support social network service [28]. On the other hand, Internet-based methods [29] or other technical devices, such as mobile phones [30], have been less frequently used to help adolescents with depression. In 2012, Kauer et al [31] used

mobile phones to facilitate self-monitoring for adolescents in their early stages of depression, while in 2009, Costin [32] used Health e-Cards to encourage help seeking. Further, van der Zanden and their group [13] developed an online group course for depression in adolescents and young adults in 2012.

However, devices to be used in depression have mostly been developed for speakers of English or for populous nations. Finnish is a relatively rare language compared to the fact that there are 5.4 million native speakers. Although Finnish adolescents generally nowadays have good English skills [33] helping them to integrate into the global world, services in Finnish, including mental health services has to be offered in Finnish language. Besides language, Finland is characterized by contrasting phenomena. For example, contradictions the education system is one of the best of the world and literacy in the skill of Finnish population is almost 100% [33]. The homogenous school system ensures that 97% of adolescents complete compulsory basic education [34]. At the same time, 5% of the age group between 15 and 29 years are excluded from the society, which means that they do not have a place to study, do not complete their education, or do not have a job [35]. Finnish adolescents also suffer from loneliness. It has been found that 9% of 8-9 graders had no close friends [36]. Other problems overshadowing Finnish adolescents include abuse of alcohol, which is related to low parental support and high parental alcohol abuse problems observed among depressed adolescent outpatients [37]. Other factors such as high divorce rates (2.5 divorces per 1,000 inhabitants) [38], high suicide rates for people ages 15-19 [39] also contribute to the high proportion of adolescents with depression compared to other countries. All these unique problems support a view that a culturally sensitive support system satisfying adolescents' needs in Finnish language should be developed.

### Methods

### **Developing the Intervention**

This intervention is an Internet-based support system designed for use in psychiatric adolescent outpatient clinics. In this intervention, we conducted measures in which the outcomes were synthesized and produced in the form of an Internet-based support system for adolescents with depression [40,41]. First, we reviewed the evidence for intervention development by searching the relevant literature on the topic. Second, we identified the most useful theories guiding intervention development. Third, we conducted interviews with professionals in social and health care services to gain a better perspective on adolescents' world, problems, or needs and possible solutions to these problems. Finally, we co-operated with nursing staff to ensure that the intervention would be adopted as part of the existing treatment environment and procedures, and that these newly developed interventions would benefit the adolescents, professionals, and services involved.

### **Reviewing the Evidence-Based Knowledge**

Internet-based interventions are based on a variety of treatment ideologies and theoretical backgrounds, such as CBT [14], self-help [42], or problem-solving therapy [12]. The findings of a meta-analysis of the effectiveness of Internet-based

XSL•FO RenderX

psychotherapeutic interventions provide strong support for the adoption of online psychological interventions [43]. There are also indications that IT is superior to waitlist and control assignments and the effects of IT are equal to therapist-delivered treatment across anxiety disorders [44]. Moreover, adherence to and satisfaction with computerized CBT interventions is good among patients despite the significantly reduced amount of contact with the clinician [45]. However, dropout rates are considerable [45] even though comparable to those reported in other psychological therapies [46]. The most common reason for dropout is that the participants were too busy or have a change in circumstance, with only a few trials reporting that the treatment was not useful as the reason for drop outs [46]. For IT to be effective, it must be technically reliable and robust, well accepted by clients and health care professionals, capable of producing services equivalent in quality to face-to-face consultations without undue disruption to practice patterns [47].

A number of Internet-based interventions for adult anxiety and depression have been developed and implemented, but there are fewer interventions for adolescents [14,15,43,48]. In Australia a randomized controlled trial study conducted by Calear et al examined the effectiveness of the MoodGym in a

large sample of adolescents (N = 1477) in a school environment with the aim of targeting both anxiety and depressive symptoms. However, the effects on depressive symptoms were effective only in male participants in the intervention group at post-intervention and at 6-month follow up [49].

In addition to the present study, we found 4 registered clinical trials focusing on the use of IT among adolescents with depression. These registered studies were searched from the Clinical Trials Search Portal (search terms were adolescent AND depression AND information technology OR computer). This portal provides access to a central database containing the trial registration data sets provided by the most common registries. All these 4 studies [50-53] focus on CBT using IT. These studies targeted 546 adolescents with mild to severe depressive disorder. Interventions under investigation include self-directed programs and programs where adolescents receive counseling (Table 1). Based on this information, the knowledge base regarding the use of CBT will be strengthened. However, the present study investigated the use of IT as a method to increase self-management among adolescents with depression. The method is intended to support and strengthen the delivery of the treatment, not to replace it.

Table 1. Description of the registered randomized controlled trials considering the use of information and communication technology among adolescents with depression.

Intervention	Target group	Estimated enrollment	Country	Title, register, identification, and status	
Computer guided, CBT de- livered by a clinician-admin- istered telephone interven-	Adolescents with major de- pressive disorder	150	US	Information Technology Enabled Treatment of Ado- lescent Depression	
tion				ClinicalTrials.go	
				NCT01582581	
				Recruiting	
Stressbusters, computerized CBT program	Adolescents with low mood or depression	96	UK	A feasibility study and pilot trial of computerized CBT for depression in adolescents ISRCTN ISRCTN31219579	
				Recruiting	
The computer-administered self-directed program is based on CBT	Adolescents with mild to moderate depressive symp- toms	200	New Zealand	Youth e-therapy - Evalua- tion of a computerized CBT self-help program for adoles- cents with mild to moderate depression ANZCTR	
				ACTRN12609000249257	
				Closed	
A computer resource with a CBT-based guided self-help intervention with minimal supervision from a school guidance counselor or clinician	Adolescents with mild to moderate depression	100	New Zealand	Computerized delivery of a CBT-based self-help inter- vention for the treatment of depression in adolescents: development and pilot study ANZCTR	
				ACTRN12606000142538	
				Recruiting	

### **Theoretical Framework of the Intervention**

As a theoretical framework we chose the self-determination theory (SDT) [54,55], which gave us guidance on how to support adolescents' natural or intrinsic tendencies to behave in an effective and healthy way. SDT focuses on the degree to which an individual's behavior is self-motivated and self-determined. In the context of an adolescent self-management intervention, the theory would suggest that adolescents' motivation to manage their own situations and well-being depends on their intrinsic motivation, which can be supported by increasing their positive feeling of autonomy, competence, and being connected [56,57]. In addition, a sense of connectedness should represent interpersonal acceptance and closeness. Thus, guided by the SDT we decided to plan our intervention so that at the beginning the adolescents should have a chance to identify and describe their own perceptions of their situations and possible concerns to ensure that adolescent' inner motivation and needs are identified from the start.

By so doing we were also more aware of what kind of information and support adolescents need to resolve in their individual situations. To support adolescents' competence and sense of autonomy, we focused on several areas, including knowledge-based awareness, self-monitoring, self-awareness (moods, feelings), social relationships (networking, friends, family relations), and life style (habits, circadian rhythm). In addition, a need for relatedness was supported by a person offering interpersonal acceptance, who is not too far away and close enough to be present and connected to the adolescent whenever needed, and who imparts a caring atmosphere without being too officious. The intervention then consisted of a variety of elements: identification of adolescent needs, self-monitoring, access to health information, and self-reflective written exercises. We also offered weekly positive feedback to promote feelings of competence. Positive feedback was previously shown to be effective in enhancing intrinsic motivations while negative feedback impairs them [58].

### Interviews with Social and Health Care Professionals

To ensure that the support system intervention to be developed would satisfy the needs of suffering adolescents in their daily work (adolescent workers, police officers, staff from the emergency services and the family center, special teachers at school, and from the adolescent work of the Church), semi-structured interviews with only one theme were conducted in 2006. During the interviews, these 2 questions were posed to 17 participants: (1) What are the main problems that adolescents aged 15-17 years encounter? (2) What support do these adolescents need from a professional standpoint? The interview responses were analyzed using inductive content analysis [59].

The analysis revealed 5 key problems related to adolescent care. First, there was a lack of structure in adolescents' lives; they have no daily routines and rules and they have problems to cope with. They have irregular daily routines; they wake up late, have irregular meal times or do not have meals at all. Second, adolescents are obsessed with a single interest and activity. Third, many adolescents have issues with drug and alcohol abuse. Fourth, adolescents make no effort to excel in school.

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e22/
```

XSI•FC

Finally, professionals are concerned about the interference and harassment associated with text messaging, email and Internet use. In particular, adolescents may not be aware that insults and threats communicated in text-messaging and emails are as abusive and threatening as other forms of such insults.

In light of the problems identified by the social and health care professionals, adolescents must be targeted with information about the importance of daily routines and rules, for example, how important they are to their physical and mental health. Adolescents need information about healthy sleep patterns and regular and healthy food for their health and well-being. Adolescents need information about the choices after comprehensive schooling, how these affect the rest of their lives, and the way they will be placed in society. Further, adolescents need information on good manners, how to interact well with other people. Additionally, they need information on legal aspects and rules on the use of modern technology and the Internet. Besides professionals, adolescents were also interviewed about their main informational needs and the topics in the support system were based on these themes.

### Adaptation to the Intervention in a Specific Treatment Context

The intervention was to be adapted into the practice of 2 psychiatric outpatient clinics in southern Finland. The clinics serve over 2 million people in their catchment areas and offer specialized care for adolescents referred for psychiatric outpatient care. The clinics are specialized in the examination and treatment of adolescents less than 20 years old who are likely to be suffering from depression. There were in total 14 nurses, 8 psychologists, 7 social workers and 8 physicians working in these clinics.

To ensure that the intervention would be well integrated in the outpatient clinic an adaptation process was planned. It was based on the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) [60], which posits that perceived usefulness of an intervention influences the perceived ease of use. These 2 components then determine an individual's intention to use and actual usage of a system. In practice, however, constraints in ability, time, environment, organization, and unconscious habits will limit intentions to act [61]. Therefore, we first arranged a series of educational sessions introducing background knowledge of Internet-based intervention use as a part of clinical care. Second, we conducted interviews to ascertain how useful nurses thought the intervention could be. Third, to ensure ease of use, the nurses were involved in different parts of the development process. They produced information on practical constraints and how these could be resolved. The aim of these actions was to support actual system use. Moreover, to promote nurses' intervention use, a manual for the intervention was developed including detailed descriptions of the background and principles of the intervention, as well the practical guidance on how to use the Depis.Net program.

### The Intervention

As an outcome of the systematic development process an intervention called 'Depis.Net' was developed (Figure 1). At this stage, it was developed for adolescents who had received

a referral to an outpatient clinic. In a wider perspective, this can be used for adolescents with suspected depression or anxiety disorder, for example at school. This Internet-based support system intervention was developed to support adolescents' self-management, and to increase their awareness of issues associated with well-being and mental health. It was accessible via an electronic platform, which was secured and password protected for users. The intervention consisted of the following basic elements: identification of adolescent's concerns, self-monitoring, access to health information (Depis.Net website) and self-reflective written exercises . The intervention included 6 individual sessions to be delivered over a 6-week period. There was an introductory session, followed by sessions that focused on a different topic per week: (1) well-being, (2) home and family, (3) adolescent's rights and responsibilities, (4) adolescent depression, and (5) treatment of adolescents' depression (Figure 2). Adolescents had one week to process each topic. To ensure that the intervention was targeted at adolescents and user-friendly, volunteer adolescents were encouraged to take the photos included in the program, to design its external appearance, write the poems included in the program, and give feedback on the informational content of the support system. The content, exercises, and self-monitoring methods of each session are described in Table 2.

Table 2. Themes, exercises, and self-monitoring activities in the Internet-based support system.

Week	Theme	Exercises and self-monitoring
Introductory session	Introduction for independent working	Describe the focused problem
Week 1	Well-being	Working with focused problem
		Working with well-being theme
		Mood diary
		Question corner
Week 2	Home and family	Working with focused problem
		Working with home and family theme
		Network map
		Depression Scale (BDI-21)
		Mood diary
		Question corner
Week 3	Adolescent's rights and responsibilities	Working with focused problem
		Working with adolescent's rights and responsi- bilities theme
		Mood diary
		Question corner
Week 4	Adolescent depression	Working with focused problem
		Working with adolescent depression theme
		Rating sleeping diary
		Mood diary
		Question corner
Week 5	Treatment of adolescent's depression	Working with focused problem
		Working with treatment of adolescent's depression theme
		Assessment of sleeping diary
		Depression scale (BDI-21)
		Mood diary
		Question corner

The intervention was implemented in psychiatric outpatient clinics by trained tutors. Before the 6-week intervention there was a face-to-face discussion between each adolescent and a tutor. The aim was to provide basic information on the Depis.Net intervention. During the introductory session, the tutor supported the adolescent to write down his/her focused concern or problem so that he/she could work with it throughout the 6-week period from different angles. An intervention was followed by weekly accessible health information, self-monitoring exercises, self-reflective diaries and other exercises via a website in which the adolescent reflects his/her own life situation. Adolescents returned their diaries each week and the tutor offered support

and feedback via the website. Supportive text messages were sent to the adolescents once a week before the next topic started if they had not already visited it. Moreover, in case of serious concern based on adolescents' written texts and exercises (eg, suicidal indication), the outpatient clinic was contacted immediately. The regular and need-based support provided is described in Table 3 and Table 4.

Table 3. Regular support provided in the Internet-based support system.

Regular weekly support	Aim
Text message to continue to the next theme	To encourage use of the support system and communicate its progress
Individual feedback on Moodle	To encourage working on the support system
Reflecting on the participant's work in the support system when meeting the therapist face to face in the outpatient clinic	To integrate the theme and adolescent's work into the care process

Table 4. Need-based support provided in the Internet-based support system.

Needs-based support	Aim
Supportive text message if an adolescent had not done any weekly exercises	To motivate and avoid drop-out

Contact to the outpatient clinic in case of concern about adolescent's severe To ensure adolescent's safety and maintain quality support system symptoms such as suicidal ideation

### Figure 1. Depis.Net website.

O Kurssi: Depis.Net - Windows Internet Explorer	
Co v Mhttps://moodle.utu.fi/course/view.php?id=1321	💌 🔒 🏍 🔀 Live Search 🖉
🚖 Favorites 🛛 🙀 🔊 JMIR-JMIR Home (2) 🖉 JMIR-JMIR Home 🔳 Digital Agenda for Europe 🖉 Table of Contents — Octob 😰 Sun Java System Messenge 🖉 Sun	Java System Messenge
Th Kurssi: Depis. Net	🦓 🔹 🔝 🔹 🚍 🔶 🔹 Page 🔹 Safety 🔹 Tools 👻 🕢
UTUMoodle <b>≻ Depis.Net</b>	👔 Vaihda roolia 💌 Muokkaustila päälle
Henkilöt E Sosallistujat	Viimeisimmät uutiset
Aktiviteetit	Lisää uusi aihe (Ei vielä uutisia)
Kirjat ∦ Muistot	Tulevat Ei tulevia
Tentit	tapahtumia
tae 🖂	Uusi tapahtuma
Tervetuloa Depis.Netiin!	- Viimeisimmät
Mene Depis.Netin tarkoituksena on: Tarkennettu haku	tapahtumat
<ul> <li>o tarjota tietoa ja tukea nuorta askarruttaviin asioihin ja tilanteisiin o tarjota uusia välineitä tilanteiden käsittelyyn o lisätä kiinnostusta huolehtia itsestä ja muista</li> </ul>	Tapahtumat Friday, 14 September 2012, 19:09
≰ Muokkaustila paälle Mielenkiintoisia hetkiä Depis.Netin parissa! Asetukset	Viimeisimpien tapahtumien kattava raporti
go Jaa rooleja 👔 Siilistrippejä 👔 Arvioinnit	Ei uutisia
Ryhmät     1       Varmuuskopioint     1       Palauta     1       Tuo     Tyhjaä       Zkysynykset     Minua mietityttää	edellisen kayntisi jalkeen



Figure 2. Different themes of the intervention on the Depis.Net website.



# Discussion

This paper describes the process of developing an Internet-based support system intervention for adolescents. We included 4 steps to develop a need-based intervention for adolescents with depression treated in outpatient psychiatric clinics in Finland.

The theoretical framework chosen for the intervention, SDT [54,55], supported our intention to use such a method for several reasons. In SDT Ryan and Deci [56,57] posit 3 innate basic needs motivating human behavior: autonomy, competence and relatedness. First, autonomy refers to the feeling of being responsible for one's own actions. This supported our intention to use such a method, because it allows adolescents to work independently in the system and to discuss their achievements later on with their support person. Second, competence refers to being effective in dealing with the environment in which a person finds him/herself. In many cases, adolescents have poorer self-esteem and their sense of self-competence is weak [62]. Therefore it was important that through intervention activities, they should feel that they could cope with the assignments without stress. Third, relatedness represents interpersonal acceptance, closeness, and the universal desire to interact, be connected to, and caring for others. However, there are individual differences in the extent to which basic needs are satisfied or thwarted [58,59]. This convinced us that instead of a stand-alone online system, adolescents need a human interaction component in the system to feel support. [62].

TAM model was selected to structure the implementation process, understand acceptance, and use of IT among adolescents [60]. Moreover, by integrating the development process according to the TAM model, we were able to make the support system as usable and as acceptable as possible.

It is a limitation of the development process that no systematic literature review was conducted. The process of the systematic review is not appropriate in all literature reviews and therefore we considered using recently published reviews and study reports [40,41] for this. Moreover, even if adolescents were not actively involved throughout the whole development process, their opinions on content and layout were expressed in expert groups and considered in all phases of the Depis.Net intervention. The aim was to ensure that the intervention responded to the adolescent's needs and was perceived to be attractive.

The strength of the intervention is that it was developed on the basis of an established theoretical framework. The development process was conducted through several steps even though it was challenging to integrate different forms of information. The aim was to ensure that the intervention had a sound theoretical background yet flexible in the considerations for the problems that adolescents currently face in their daily lives. Although a number of Internet-based interventions have been developed and implemented for adult anxiety and depression, such interventions are scarce among adolescents with depression [14,15,43,48]. Therefore the recent literature led us to believe that an intervention of this sort would have great potential [22,46,50]. Moreover, integrating professionals' viewpoints into the existing knowledge base ensured that the intervention addressed topical concerns.

The potential of the intervention developed needs to be investigated, especially because there is still diversity in what is known about the effectiveness of these interventions [22] and a lack of consensus as to the effective components of these interventions [63]. Thus the potential of the Depis.Net intervention for adolescents attending outpatient clinics will be evaluated in the next phase by means of a randomized controlled trial (NCT00054925). As a practical consideration, in order for



JMIR Res Protoc 2012 | vol. 1 | iss. 2 |e22 | p.235 (page number not for citation purposes)

an intervention for adolescent depression to be truly effective it must be accessible and desirable in a natural setting. It is important that adolescents make the decision to participate in it and make a commitment to follow an intervention on their own. Moreover, Internet-based interventions must be continuously maintained. The intervention will be further developed after evaluation of the results and feedback obtained in future studies.

### Acknowledgments

This study was funded by The Academy of Finland (8214245), The Paulo Foundation, Yrjö Jahnsson Foundation (5920) and The Southwest Hospital District (13893).

### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

### References

- 1. Jané-Llopis E, Braddick F. (Eds). Mental Health in Youth and Education. Consensus paper. Luxembourg: European Communities; 2008. URL: <u>http://www.ec-mental-health-process.net/</u> [accessed 2012-11-14] [WebCite Cache ID 6CAdGDPba]
- 2. World Health Organization. Improving health systems and services for mental health, 2009 URL: <u>http://whqlibdoc.who.int/</u> publications/2009/9789241598774\_eng.pdf [accessed 2012-11-14] [WebCite Cache ID 6CAdLZbq8]
- 3. World Health Organization. Atlas: child and adolescent mental health resources: global concerns, implications for the future, 2005 URL: <u>http://www.who.int/mental\_health/resources/Child\_ado\_atlas.pdf</u> [accessed 2012-11-14] [WebCite Cache ID 6CAdQLuok]
- 4. Thapar A, Collishaw S, Pine DS, Thapar AK. Depression in adolescence. Lancet 2012 Mar 17;379(9820):1056-1067 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60871-4] [Medline: 22305766]
- Federal Interagency Forum on Child and Family Statistics. America's Children in Brief: Key National Indicators of Well-Being. 2010. URL: <u>http://www.childstats.gov/pdf/ac2010/ac\_10.pdf</u> [accessed 2012-11-14] [WebCite Cache ID <u>6CAdbEygx</u>]
- Tuisku V, Pelkonen M, Karlsson L, Kiviruusu O, Holi M, Ruuttu T, et al. Suicidal ideation, deliberate self-harm behaviour and suicide attempts among adolescent outpatients with depressive mood disorders and comorbid axis I disorders. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2006 Jun;15(4):199-206. [doi: 10.1007/s00787-005-0522-3] [Medline: 16604437]
- Weissman MM, Wolk S, Goldstein RB, Moreau D, Adams P, Greenwald S, et al. Depressed adolescents grown up. JAMA 1999 May 12;281(18):1707-1713. [Medline: 10328070]
- 8. Birmaher B, Arbelaez C, Brent D. Course and outcome of child and adolescent major depressive disorder. Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am 2002 Jul;11(3):619-37, x. [Medline: <u>12222086</u>]
- Merry SN, Hetrick SE, Cox GR, Brudevold-Iversen T, Bir JJ, McDowell H. Psychological and educational interventions for preventing depression in children and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2011(12):CD003380. [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003380.pub3] [Medline: 22161377]
- Skinner H, Biscope S, Poland B, Goldberg E. How adolescents use technology for health information: implications for health professionals from focus group studies. J Med Internet Res 2003 Dec 18;5(4):e32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5.4.e32] [Medline: 14713660]
- 11. Horgan A, Sweeney J. Young students' use of the Internet for mental health information and support. J Psychiatr Ment Health Nurs 2010 Mar;17(2):117-123. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2850.2009.01497.x] [Medline: 20465756]
- 12. Hoek W, Schuurmans J, Koot HM, Cuijpers P. Prevention of depression and anxiety in adolescents: a randomized controlled trial testing the efficacy and mechanisms of Internet-based self-help problem-solving therapy. Trials 2009 Oct;10:93 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1745-6215-10-93] [Medline: 19821984]
- 13. van der Zanden R, Kramer J, Gerrits R, Cuijpers P. Effectiveness of an online group course for depression in adolescents and young adults: a randomized trial. J Med Internet Res 2012;14(3):e86 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2033] [Medline: 22677437]
- Kaltenhaler E, Brazier J, De Nigris E, Tumur I, Ferriter M, Beverley C. Computerised cognitive behaviour therapy for depression and anxiety update: a systematic review and economic evaluation. Health Technol Assess 2006;10(33):1-168 [FREE Full text]
- 15. Griffiths K, Christensen H. Review of randomised controlled trials of Internet interventions for mental disorders and related conditions. Clinical Psychologist 2006;10:16-29. [doi: 10.1080/13284200500378696]
- Oh E, Jorm AF, Wright A. Perceived helpfulness of websites for mental health information: a national survey of young Australians. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2009 Apr;44(4):293-299. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00127-008-0443-9</u>] [Medline: 18830552]
- 17. Fetter MS. Improving information technology competencies: implications for psychiatric mental health nursing. Issues Ment Health Nurs 2009 Jan;30(1):3-13. [doi: 10.1080/01612840802555208] [Medline: 19148816]

- Statistics Finland. Helsinki: Statistics Finland; 2011. Internet use outside home and work becoming more common URL: <u>http://tilastokeskus.fi/til/sutivi/2011/sutivi\_2011\_2011-11-02\_tie\_001\_en.html</u> [accessed 2012-12-06] [WebCite Cache ID <u>6CiPYeetM]</u>
- 19. The World Economic Forum 2010. The Global Information Technology Report 2009-2010 URL: <u>http://www3.weforum.org/</u> <u>docs/WEF\_GITR\_Report\_2010.pdf</u> [accessed 2012-11-14] [WebCite Cache ID 6CAfqpYYg]
- 20. Official Statistics of Finland (OSF): Use of information and communications technology. ?Statistics Finland, Helsinki. nnnnn nnnn. 2010 URL: <u>http://www.stat.fi/til/sutivi/2010/sutivi\_2010\_2010-10-26\_tie\_001\_en.html</u> [accessed 2012-11-14] [WebCite Cache ID 6CAfrvRlq]
- 21. Barr-Anderson DJ, van den Berg P, Neumark-Sztainer D, Story M. Characteristics associated with older adolescents who have a television in their bedrooms. Pediatrics 2008 Apr;121(4):718-724 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2007-1546] [Medline: 18381536]
- Calear AL, Christensen H, Mackinnon A, Griffiths KM, O'Kearney R. The YouthMood Project: a cluster randomized controlled trial of an online cognitive behavioral program with adolescents. J Consult Clin Psychol 2009 Dec;77(6):1021-1032. [doi: 10.1037/a0017391] [Medline: 19968379]
- 23. Health Care A. Ministry of Social Affairs and Health. 2010/1326 URL: <u>http://www.finlex.fi/fi/laki/ajantasa/2010/20101326</u> [accessed 2012-11-14] [WebCite Cache ID 6CAfzB6mw]
- 24. Meyer B, Berger T, Caspar F, Beevers CG, Andersson G, Weiss M. Effectiveness of a novel integrative online treatment for depression (Deprexis): randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2009;11(2):e15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1151] [Medline: 19632969]
- 25. Kiropoulos LA, Griffiths KM, Blashki G. Effects of a multilingual information website intervention on the levels of depression literacy and depression-related stigma in Greek-born and Italian-born immigrants living in Australia: a randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2011;13(2):e34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1527] [Medline: 21504872]
- 26. Farrer L, Christensen H, Griffiths KM, Mackinnon A. Web-based cognitive behavior therapy for depression with and without telephone tracking in a national helpline: secondary outcomes from a randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2012;14(3):e68 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1859] [Medline: 22738715]
- Griffiths KM, Calear AL, Banfield M, Tam A. Systematic review on Internet Support Groups (ISGs) and depression (2): What is known about depression ISGs? J Med Internet Res 2009;11(3):e41 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1303] [Medline: 19793718]
- 28. Takahashi Y, Uchida C, Miyaki K, Sakai M, Shimbo T, Nakayama T. Potential benefits and harms of a peer support social network service on the internet for people with depressive tendencies: qualitative content analysis and social network analysis. J Med Internet Res 2009;11(3):e29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1142] [Medline: 19632979]
- 29. Warmerdam L, van Straten A, Twisk J, Riper H, Cuijpers P. Internet-based treatment for adults with depressive symptoms: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2008;10(4):e44 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1094] [Medline: 19033149]
- 30. Whittaker R, Merry S, Stasiak K, McDowell H, Doherty I, Shepherd M, et al. MEMO--a mobile phone depression prevention intervention for adolescents: development process and postprogram findings on acceptability from a randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2012;14(1):e13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1857] [Medline: 22278284]
- 31. Kauer SD, Reid SC, Crooke AH, Khor A, Hearps SJ, Jorm AF, et al. Self-monitoring using mobile phones in the early stages of adolescent depression: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2012;14(3):e67 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1858] [Medline: 22732135]
- 32. Costin DL, Mackinnon AJ, Griffiths KM, Batterham BJ, Bennett AJ, Bennett K, et al. Health e-cards as a means of encouraging help seeking for depression among young adults: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e42 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1294] [Medline: 19850549]
- 33. Ministry of Education and Culture. PISA. 2009. Opetusministeriö Julkaisut 2012 URL: <u>http://www.minedu.fi/export/sites/</u> <u>default/OPM/Julkaisut/2012/liitteet/okm12.pdf?lang=fi</u> [accessed 2012-11-14] [WebCite Cache ID 6CB02EUx7]
- 34. Statistics Finland 2011. Koulutuksen tilastoja ja kehitystrendejä URL: <u>http://www.minedu.fi/OPM/Koulutus/koulutusjaerjestelmae/koulutuksen\_tilastoja/?lang=fi</u> [accessed 2012-11-14] [WebCite Cache ID 6CB05ss9G]
- 35. Myrskylä. Keitä ovat syrjäytyneet nuoret? Elinkeinoelämän valtuuskunta Analyysi No 19. Hukassa URL: <u>http://www.eva.fi/wp-content/uploads/2012/02/Syrjaytyminen.pdf</u> [accessed 2012-11-14] [WebCite Cache ID 6CB0B0t6H]
- 36. National institute for health and welfare 2012. Kouluterveyskyselyn tulokset URL: <u>http://info.stakes.fi/kouluterveyskysely/</u> <u>FI/tulokset/index.htm</u> [accessed 2012-11-14] [WebCite Cache ID 6CB0C3XKb]
- Pirkola T, Pelkonen M, Karlsson L, Kiviruusu O, Strandholm T, Tuisku V, et al. Differences in Characteristics and Treatment Received among Depressed Adolescent Psychiatric Outpatients with and without Co-Occuring Alcohol Misuse: A 1-Year Follow-Up Study. Depress Res Treat 2011;2011:140868 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2011/140868] [Medline: 21738866]
- 38. OECD 2011. OECD Social Policy Division Directorate of Employment, Labour and Social Affairs. Family Database URL: <u>http://www.oecd.org/els/familiesandchildren/40321815.pdf</u> [accessed 2012-11-14] [WebCite Cache ID 6CB0S3gip]
- 39. Eurostat 2011. Suicide death rate, by age group URL: <u>http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/tgm/table.</u> <u>do?tab=table&init=1&language=en&pcode=tsdph240</u> [accessed 2012-08-12]

- 40. United Kingdom Medical Research Council. United Kingdom Medical Research Council. UK: United Kingdom Medical Research Council; 2008. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: new guidance URL: <u>http://www.internationalmidwives.org/Portals/5/Research%20Methods%20and%20Reporting.pdf</u> [accessed 2012-11-19] [WebCite Cache ID 6CILtxsxi]
- 41. Bradshaw T, Wearden A, Marshall M, Warburton J, Husain N, Pedley R, et al. Developing a healthy living intervention for people with early psychosis using the Medical Research Council's guidelines on complex interventions: phase 1 of the HELPER InterACT programme. Int J Nurs Stud 2012 Apr;49(4):398-406. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2011.10.008] [Medline: 22051439]
- 42. Schneider AJ, Mataix-Cols D, Marks IM, Bachofen M. Internet-guided self-help with or without exposure therapy for phobic and panic disorders. Psychother Psychosom 2005;74(3):154-164. [doi: 10.1159/000084000] [Medline: 15832066]
- 43. Barak A, Hen L, Boniel-Nissim M, Shapira N. A comprehensive review and a meta-analysis of the effectiveness of Internet-Based psychotherapeutic interventions. Journal of Technology in Human Services 2008;26:109 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/15228830802094429]
- 44. Andrews G, Cuijpers P, Craske MG, McEvoy P, Titov N. Computer therapy for the anxiety and depressive disorders is effective, acceptable and practical health care: a meta-analysis. PLoS One 2010 Oct;5(10):e13196 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0013196] [Medline: 20967242]
- 45. Kaltenthaler E, Parry G, Beverley C, Ferriter M. Computerised cognitive-behavioural therapy for depression: systematic review. Br J Psychiatry 2008 Sep;193(3):181-184 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.106.025981] [Medline: 18757972]
- Kaltenthaler E, Sutcliffe P, Parry G, Beverley C, Rees A, Ferriter M. The acceptability to patients of computerized cognitive behaviour therapy for depression: a systematic review. Psychol Med 2008 Nov;38(11):1521-1530. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291707002607] [Medline: 18205964]
- 47. Hailey D, Roine R, Ohinmaa A. The effectiveness of telemental health applications: a review. Can J Psychiatry 2008 Nov;53(11):769-778 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 19087471]
- Donkin L, Christensen H, Naismith SL, Neal B, Hickie IB, Glozier N. A systematic review of the impact of adherence on the effectiveness of e-therapies. J Med Internet Res 2011;13(3):e52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1772] [Medline: 21821503]
- 49. Calear AL, Christensen H. Review of internet-based prevention and treatment programs for anxiety and depression in children and adolescents. Med J Aust 2010 Jun 7;192(11 Suppl):S12-S14. [Medline: 20528700]
- 50. Locke SE, McLaughlin TJ. Information Technology Enabled Treatment of Adolescent Depression. Trial #NCT01582581. Study ID: VHS 85350-02. Veritas Health Solutions LLC.: ClinicalTrials.com; 2012. Study of Technology-assisted Treatment of Adolescent Depression URL: <u>http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01582581</u> [accessed 2012-11-19] [WebCite Cache ID 6CIMDrnTZ]
- 51. Tindal L. Trial ISRCTN; ISRCTN31219579.: Cotrolled-Trials.com A feasibility study and pilot trial of computerised cognitive behaviour therapy for depression in adolescents URL: <u>http://www.controlled-trials.com/ISRCTN31219579/</u> [accessed 2012-11-19] [WebCite Cache ID 6CIMPNSZe]
- 52. Merry S, Robin Whitaker R, Hatcher S, Associate Frampton C, Mariu K, Shepherd M, et al. ACTRN12609000249257. 2009. Youth e-therapy Evaluation of a computerised cognitive behavioural therapy self-help programme for adolescents with mild to moderate depression URL: <u>http://www.anzctr.org.au/trial\_view.aspx?id=83604</u> [accessed 2012-11-19] [WebCite Cache ID 6CIYzSqke]
- 53. Stasiak K. ACTRN12606000142538. 2006. Stasiak K. Computerised delivery of a Cognitive-Behavioural Therapy (CBT)-based guided self-help intervention for the treatment of depression in adolescents: development and pilot study URL: <u>http://www.anzctr.org.au/trial\_view.aspx?id=1232</u> [accessed 2012-11-19] [WebCite Cache ID 6CIYkj4Ph]
- 54. Deci EL, Hodges R, Pierson L, Tomassone J. Autonomy and competence as motivational factors in students with learning disabilities and emotional handicaps. J Learn Disabil 1992;25(7):457-471. [Medline: <u>1402382</u>]
- 55. Williams GC. Improving patients' health through supporting the autonomy of patientsproviders. In: Deci EL, Ryan RM. editors. Handbook of self-determination research. Rochester, NY: University Of Rochester Press; 2002:233-254.
- 56. Ryan RM, Deci EL. Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. Am Psychol 2000 Jan;55(1):68-78. [Medline: <u>11392867</u>]
- 57. Ryan R, Deci E. From ego-depletion to vitality: Theory and findings concerning the facilitation of energy available to the self. Social and Personality Psychology Compass 2008;2:702-717. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1751-9004.2008.00098.x</u>]
- 58. Deci EL. Intrinsic motivation. New York: Plenum; 1975.
- 59. Elo S, Kyngäs H. The qualitative content analysis process. J Adv Nurs 2008 Apr;62(1):107-115. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x] [Medline: 18352969]
- 60. Venkatesh V, Speier C, Morris MG. User acceptance enablers in individual decision making about technology: Toward an integrated model. Decis Sci 2002;33(2):297-316. [doi: 10.1111/j.1540-5915.2002.tb01646.x]
- 61. Venkatesh V, Davis FD. A Theoretical Extension of the Technology Acceptance Model: Four Longitudinal Field Studies. Management Science 2000 Feb;46(2):186-204. [doi: 10.1287/mnsc.46.2.186.11926]
- 62. The American Psychological Association 2002. Developing Adolescents: A Reference forProfessionals URL: <u>http://www.apa.org/pi/families/resources/develop.pdf</u> [accessed 2012-11-14] [WebCite Cache ID 6CB19X14q]

63. Lustria ML, Cortese J, Noar SM, Glueckauf RL. Computer-tailored health interventions delivered over the Web: review and analysis of key components. Patient Educ Couns 2009 Feb;74(2):156-173. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2008.08.023] [Medline: 18947966]

### Abbreviations

**CBT:** cognitive behavioral therapy **IT:** information technology **SDT:** self-determination theory **TAM:** technology acceptance model

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 12.07.12; peer-reviewed by J Huber, J Abbott, A Bauer; comments to author 29.07.12; revised version received 15.09.12; accepted 17.09.12; published 12.12.12.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Välimäki M, Kurki M, Hätönen H, Koivunen M, Selander M, Saarijärvi S, Anttila M Developing an Internet-Based Support System for Adolescents with Depression JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e22 URL: <u>http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e22/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/resprot.2263</u> PMID:<u>23612485</u>

©Maritta Välimäki, Marjo Kurki, Heli Hätönen, Marita Koivunen, Maarit Selander, Simo Saarijärvi, Minna Anttila. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 12.12.2012. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Development and Formative Evaluation of a Visual E-Tool to Help Decision Makers Navigate the Evidence Around Health Financing

Jolene Skordis-Worrall<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Anni-Maria Pulkki-Brännström<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Martin Utley<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Gayatri Kembhavi<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Nouria Bricki<sup>3</sup>, MSc; Xavier Dutoit<sup>4</sup>, MSc; Mikey Rosato<sup>1,5</sup>, MA, MSc; Christina Pagel<sup>2</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>UCL Institute for Global Health, London, United Kingdom

<sup>2</sup>Clinical Operational Research Unit, UCL, London, United Kingdom

<sup>3</sup>Save the Children UK, London, United Kingdom

<sup>4</sup>Sydesy.com, London, United Kingdom

<sup>5</sup>Centre for Anthropological Research, University of Johannesburg, Johannesburg, South Africa

### **Corresponding Author:**

Jolene Skordis-Worrall, PhD UCL Institute for Global Health 30 Guilford Street London, WC1N 1EH United Kingdom Phone: 44 2079052779 Fax: 44 2074042062 Email: j.skordis-worrall@ucl.ac.uk

# Abstract

**Background:** There are calls for low and middle income countries to develop robust health financing policies to increase service coverage. However, existing evidence around financing options is complex and often difficult for policy makers to access.

**Objective:** To summarize the evidence on the impact of financing health systems and develop an e-tool to help decision makers navigate the findings.

**Methods:** After reviewing the literature, we used thematic analysis to summarize the impact of 7 common health financing mechanisms on 5 common health system goals. Information on the relevance of each study to a user's context was provided by 11 country indicators. A Web-based e-tool was then developed to assist users in navigating the literature review. This tool was evaluated using feedback from early users, collected using an online survey and in-depth interviews with key informants.

**Results:** The e-tool provides graphical summaries that allow a user to assess the following parameters with a single snapshot: the number of relevant studies available in the literature, the heterogeneity of evidence, where key evidence is lacking, and how closely the evidence matches their own context. Users particularly liked the visual display and found navigating the tool intuitive. However there was concern that a lack of evidence on positive impact might be construed as evidence against a financing option and that the tool might over-simplify the available financing options.

**Conclusions:** Complex evidence can be made more easily accessible and potentially more understandable using basic Web-based technology and innovative graphical representations that match findings to the users' goals and context.

(JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e25) doi:10.2196/resprot.2173

### **KEYWORDS**

RenderX

health care systems; financing; policy makers; software tools

# Introduction

Against a background of calls for robust domestic health financing to attain and sustain increased service coverage [1], financing choices have seldom been so complex. The gradual removal of user fees is leaving a policy and funding vacuum in many low and middle income countries [2-4].

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e25/

It is probable that the ideal health financing approach is a nuanced mix of methods appropriate to a given economic, social, political, and epidemiological context, and designed to best meet the most urgent health system priorities without significant negative consequences [5-7]. However, the pragmatic reality is that the process of defining and implementing this balance may create confusion and policy paralysis. This paralysis may be

further exacerbated by the breadth and heterogeneity of a relatively fast-growing body of evidence.

The last comprehensive review of the evidence on domestic health financing was conducted more than 7 years ago by Palmer et al [5], with Lagarde and Palmer [8] more recently reviewing the evidence on user fees. We build on this valuable evidence base in 2 ways- firstly we collate the evidence on a wide range of health financing methods to reflect the most current learning, and secondly we report on a broader set of impacts including service quality, poverty and equity, and revenue generation. Such reviews are generally not tailored to the needs of policy makers and other common users, and there is a recognized need to make that evidence more accessible [9].

In this paper we describe our development of an e-tool that summarizes the available literature quickly and easily in both graphical and tabular form, with the added ability to access the underlying evidence from anywhere within the tool. We describe the methods used to extract the literature, synthesize it into the e-tool and evaluate the overall usefulness of the final product. In the results we describe the final e-tool and briefly summarize the key findings of the literature review to provide the reader with a sense of the depth and complexity of the evidence incorporated into the Web-based platform. Finally, we reflect on the feedback from early users of the tool to highlight critical benefits, limitations, and lessons learned.

# Methods

This section outlines the methods used for the literature review and synthesis of that evidence, the methods used to construct the e-tool using the review material, and the methods used to generate and synthesize user feedback.

### Literature Review and Synthesis

Literature review methods were adapted from the EPPI-Centre [10] and Greenhalgh et al [11]. The following databases were searched using a consistent and comprehensive set of search terms: PubMed, Web of Science (Science Citation Index and Social Science Citation Index), Journal Storage (JSTOR), and Science Direct. References of articles retrieved from the initial search were then hand-searched. Websites of international organizations including the World Health Organization, World Bank, International Labour Organization, the United Nations, the United Nations Children's Fund, and the Social Science Research Network were also searched for relevant publications. The search was limited to papers published between January 1995 and June 2010.

In the context of our review, a heath financing mechanism (also referred to as method or tool) is defined as a mechanism intended to raise domestic revenue for health including national/government/social health insurance, taxation, community-based insurance, private insurance, user fees, and equity funds. Papers were only included if published in peer-reviewed journals, available in English, focused on low and middle income countries, and specifically evaluated or discussed the outcomes of at least one health financing method. Opinion papers, editorials, conference proceedings, and letters to the editor were excluded. Articles discussing the potential for the implementation of a method, evaluating willingness to pay or providing overviews or descriptions of health financing programs without discussing or evaluating the outcomes of implemented programs, were similarly excluded. Papers were not excluded on the basis of study design as research in this field uses a wide range of qualitative and quantitative methods. Similarly, papers were not scored on any quality of research metric as there are few widely accepted criteria for doing so in the field of economics that would span both qualitative and quantitative research outputs. Our intention was to avoid value judgments and conduct as inclusive a review as possible, given that users of the e-tool are able to identify the source of any evidence simply by hovering over a dot, and can access the paper itself with a single click.

From an initial shortlist of 151 papers, a total of 78 articles were included in the final database. A thematic analysis of the papers included in the final review was used to construct a data extraction form to systematically extract relevant information from each article reviewed. A subset of extracted data was independently reviewed by 3 researchers (JSW, GK, APB) to confirm that the extracted data accurately reflected the papers' content. This review thus takes a rigorous and systematic approach of searching, data extraction and synthesis, resulting in comprehensive findings that provide a valuable contribution to the existing body of knowledge in this area.

The possible outcomes of a health financing method were condensed into 5 domains or goals as shown in Table 1. For each article, we summarized the outcome of the financing mechanism on each of the goals in Table 1 by assigning 1 of 5 qualitative scores: "evidence against", "some evidence against", "no evidence of impact", "some evidence for", and "evidence for". We explicitly recorded if a goal was not considered as part of the study, to reflect where evidence was lacking.

Authors (ACP, JSW and APB) independently used the extracted summary information to assign impact or outcomes scores based on the conclusions of included studies. For instance, if a study concluded that a health financing tool reduced out-of-pocket payments then this was considered "evidence for" poverty reduction. If the authors had reported only slight reduction in these payments this would have been considered "some evidence for" poverty reduction. The 3 authors assigning scores then compared their findings, and resolved any discrepancies through group discussion. The final scores were transferred to Microsoft Excel to form the basis of the e-tool. During this process we did not make any judgements about the validity of conclusions regarding impact or program effect, nor did we make any assessment of study quality. Our scores are intended purely as a visual summary and an aid to further investigation. The decision to have a qualitative rather than a quantitative impact score is intended to make this clear to the user. The evidence available was qualitative, descriptive, and heterogeneous.



Table 1. Possible goals of a health financing policy.

Goal	Brief description
Promote equity	Incorporates references to relative poverty reduction, equity, the distribution of disease burden (eg, disability-adjusted life-years), the distribution of the financial burden (eg, the incidence of catastrophic health spending), and risk pooling.
Reduce poverty	Refers to changes in absolute poverty.
Improve quality	Refers to service quality and changes in health outcomes that may be a consequence, or indicator, of improved quality.
Generate revenue	Refers to either absolute or relative revenue generation at any tier of health service delivery. Assumes that increased revenue generation or retention is the desired outcome.
Increase use	Refers to the quantity of health services demanded, access to care and utilisation of health services.

### Converting the Findings into a Scattar Plot

As the evidence for any financing method varied significantly by context, we sought to inform the user how closely the countries analyzed in each study matched their own. To this end, a subset of the study team (JSW and CP) produced an initial long list of country indicators relevant to health financing policy, and on which countries could be matched. It was considered important that indicators be easily available for most countries and transparent to users so that understanding these data did not constitute a barrier to using the tool. The long list was then reduced to a final set of eleven indicators judged by the full study team to provide independent information relevant to financing policy and appropriate for matching contexts.

These indicators, given in Table 2, were used to match a user's country to the evidence. We transformed the value of each indicator, *I*, into a value, T(I), between 0 and 1 according to Figure 1, where the maxima and minima were taken across all low and middle income countries. Each country is thus characterized by a set of 11 values between 0 and 1,  $\{T(I)_j\}$ , where j runs from 1 to 11. These values can be thought of as a single point on an 11-dimensional graph, and we use the 11-dimensional distance,  $d_{YZ}$ , given in Figure 2, between 2 points as an estimate of how closely 2 countries Y and Z are matched.

Table 2. Country indicators used for context matching.

Multimedia Appendix 1 gives a graphical example of the distance between 2 countries for 3-dimensions, and a plot of how 7 countries are placed in relation to an example country. The *context matching* criteria were checked for a subset of countries to ensure there was face validity but there was no formal validation of the measure. Again, the use of this measure was to aid the user to visually sort the available evidence (comparing *more closely matched* to *less closely matched* evidence). The exact ranking of countries with respect to their "context match" of another country was not intended to be an important output.

Figure 1. Equation to define T(I).

$$T(I) = \frac{I - \min(I)}{\max(I) - \min(I)}$$

Figure 2. Equation to define the distance function.

$$d_{YZ} = \sqrt{\sum_{j=1}^{11} (T(I_Z)_j - T(I_Y)_j)^2}$$

Indicator	Source (2008 data)
Health expenditure per capita (\$)	World Bank
Maternal mortality ratio	World Bank
Under 5 mortality rate	World Bank
HIV prevalence	World Bank
Malaria incidence	United Nations
Education index	United Nations Development Program
GDP (\$)	World Bank
Life expectancy at birth	United Nations Development Program
Proportion of the population living in an urban environment	World Bank
Proportion of the population living on less than \$1.25 a day at 2005 international prices	World Bank
Population (log, base 10)	World Bank

The next stage in the process was to explore ways of displaying the available evidence in an intuitive and informative way. After several iterative discussions within the development team and experimentation with different ways of displaying the data, we developed a *scattar* plot, incorporating elements of both scatter and radar charts. Each such display focuses on one goal of a health financing policy and shows the evidence available for all 7 health financing mechanisms in the context of the (user-specified) country of interest. Figure 3 shows an example of how this would apply to the promotion of equity in Uganda.

Literature reviews are differentiated from evaluation-style studies in an attempt to reduce the risk of double-counting evidence. Review studies are thus shown in square dots on the inner ring while all other studies are represented as round dots. The distance of the dots from the inner ring within the *scattar* plot indicates how closely the countries within each study match the user-specified country (eg, Uganda in Figure 3). Round dots

on the inner circle correspond to studies that consider exactly the country chosen by the user.

The colour of each dot indicates the impact of the financing mechanism on the chosen goal (eg, promoting equity) as reported in the cited study. These colours range from green for positive impact to red for negative impact, with orange indicating that there was definite evidence of no impact. Dots coloured in grey correspond to studies that considered a given health financing tool but did not consider the impact on the goal under consideration. We felt it was important to include these on the graphical display as they give an indication of where evidence is lacking. All possible plots would always have the same number of dots (since all studies are shown on every plot). The position of the dots within the ring will change according to the user-specified country and the colour of the dots will change according to the user-specified goal.

Figure 3. Example of a 'scattar' plot showing the available evidence of impact of each financing tool on promoting equity in Uganda. Each dot represents a single study and its colour represents the reported impact on the specified goal.



# **Eliciting and Analysing Feedback from Users**

In September 2011, the tool was launched by Save the Children, through an email to policy makers, international agencies, and researchers. Feedback was collected using a mixed methods approach including an online survey (n=19) and semi-structured key informant interviews (n=8). Due to the small quantitative sample, the results will be treated qualitatively and only percentages over 50% will be reported in the findings. The small sample of survey respondents is acknowledged as a limitation

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e25/

of this study and it is further acknowledged that the survey respondents may not constitute a random or representative sample of potential users of the tool. However, despite the small number of respondents to the survey, we were able to obtain responses from a wide spectrum of stakeholders including government policy advisors, consultants, staff from national and international non-governmental organisations (NGOs), as well as students and academics. Key informants included respondents from:

Skordis-Worrall et al

- United Nations Children's Fund
- World Health Organisation
- The UK Department for International Development
- The Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation
- Imperial College London
- NGOs including; Research 4 Development, Oxfam, World Vision, Save the Children UK (Zimbabwe, South Africa and Ethiopia country teams)

The findings from the key informant interviews were synthesised using thematic analysis.

# Results

### **Summary of Literature Review Results**

From an initial shortlist of 151 papers, a total of 78 articles were included in the final analysis. The health financing methods included in the tool, together with the number of papers providing evidence of impact of this tool on a health financing goal are as follows:

- Equity funds and discount cards (2 papers)
- Tax-funded systems (2 papers)
- Private health insurance (4 papers)
- User fees which we segmented into: (1) the implementation, increase, or maintenance of fees (21 papers), and (2) the reduction or elimination of fees (10 papers)
- Community-based health insurance (CBHI) (24 papers)
- National/government-run health insurance (NHI) including social health insurance (25 papers)

This review provided an opportunity to update the evidence on a wide range of health financing methods, generating a number of key insights. Firstly, the breadth of the review highlighted that the weight of evidence is unevenly distributed between health financing methods. In particular, little has been written since 1995 about the impact of tax-based financing despite the recognition that most countries that have achieved universal risk protection have done so through tax financed systems. Secondly, no single method emerges as having the greatest positive impact on utilisation, service quality, equity and risk pooling, poverty, and revenue, although the tool highlights the positive and negative impacts of each method on these goals. Importantly, no financing method effectively removes or redresses the indirect costs faced by the poor when accessing health services. Thirdly, the small body of evidence on private health insurance raises concerns about adverse, unintended consequences. Fourthly, the large body of evidence on CBHI and NHI offers a mixed perspective on their use. Compared to Palmer et al [5] the new evidence on CBHI reviewed in our paper indicates, in general, that there is an increase in access and utilisation of health services amongst member households, although this increase may not be among the poorest. The new evidence on NHI indicates that in many cases, coverage of these schemes does not reach the most vulnerable groups of a population and utilisation of services remains low outside major urban centres due a lack of health facilities.

Finally, compared to Lagarde and Palmer [8], a substantial number of new papers on the implementation of user fees have been included in this review without adding very significant new insights about any positive impact. User fees did contribute to revenue generation, but this varied significantly between settings. Overall the implementation of user fees had a negative impact on equity. The evidence we reviewed about the impact of the removal of user fees on quality of services was mixed, and confounded by simultaneous health system strengthening measures. The narrow evidence base on the removal of user fees shows potential for improvements in equity and use.

In Figure 4, the user can quickly see that there is most evidence around national and community health insurance and the implementation of user fees. There is some evidence directly related to Uganda (round dots on the inner circle). The large number of gray dots shows that many studies did not consider the impact of the health financing method on equity. Looking at the colours of the dots, the evidence suggests that national health insurance schemes have a positive impact on equity, user fee implementation a negative impact, and that the evidence on community-based health insurance is mixed. The 2 studies where community-based health insurance had a positive impact on equity are least well matched to Uganda's context (the dots are close to the outer ring), but 2 community-based health insurance studies directly related to Uganda show some evidence of a negative impact.



### Skordis-Worrall et al

Figure 4. Screenshot of the website's graphical summary. As for Figure 1, the chosen country is Uganda and the chosen goal is "Promote Equity".



#### The Tool and the Scattar Plots

After consulting informally with potential users, it was decided that the most accessible platform for the tool would be a website where users could navigate easily between different countries and goals. Additional advantages of an online tool were that it presented a familiar interface to users-it would be easy to access, it would be easy to update and maintain version control, and it provided an ideal environment to cross-reference between studies, countries, tools and goals. The website was registered under Save the Children's branding, since they funded and commissioned this work [12].

On the site, the user begins by choosing the country and health financing goal, before being taken to a page showing the relevant *scattar* plot (see Multimedia Appendix 2 for a screencast). We thought it important that the user is asked to choose a goal first to highlight the fact that while more than one goal may be of interest, the impact of a health financing mechanism is not necessarily the same for all 5 goals. On the right hand side of the page showing the *scattar* plot is an explanation of how to interpret the display (Figure 4). Thumbnails of all 5 goals are given at the bottom of the main plot allowing the user to switch easily between goals and giving an immediate visual impression of the distribution of the evidence.

The user always has access to the evidence on which the summaries are based. Hovering over any dot displays the authors, paper title, and country studied (Multimedia Appendix 2). Selecting a dot will bring the user to a separate page in a new tab with the full reference, a link to the publisher, the published abstract, and our summary of the evidence of impact for all 5 goals. There are also separate webpages within the site providing a searchable and sortable list of studies used, with summaries of impact (Figure 5) and context-matching indicator values for each country.

than a single country

In several places on the website, the simple and qualitative nature of the impact assessment of studies is stressed, as well as the overall aim to help users navigate the evidence. We stress in the online explanations that our summaries are not considered a suitable basis for action without further investigation. By making it easy for the user to access the evidence used for this tool from many places on the site and according to different criteria (eg, country, goal, health financing mechanism), we hope that we have made clear its exploratory intent. In a sense the website is intended as a directional magnifying glass to help users identify the evidence that they might find useful quickly according to their particular questions and interest.

Figure 5. Screenshot of the list of studies showing summary of impact. Any search term could be used (here: Uganda), or the gray arrows at the top of each column used to sort the entire list. The text in red represents links to the extended information on the given studies and country.

Legend: (the various	colours)						
Evidence for Some evidence for No evidence of impact Some evidence against Evidence against							
Not considered							
Show 100 🔷 entries					Sear	rch: uganda	
Title 🍦	Country	Health Financing Tool	🔺 Equit	y Poverty	Quality	Quantity	Revenue 🍦
Basaza 2008	Uganda	Community-based health insurance					
Blanchard-Horan 2007	Uganda	Community-based health insurance					
Dekker 2010	Uganda	Community-based health insurance					
Basaza 2007	Uganda	National/government-run health insurance					
Kipp 2001	Uganda	User fee maintenance/increase/implementation	n				
Xu 2007	Uganda	User fee maintenance/increase/implementation	n				
Amone 2005	Uganda	User fee reduction/elimination					
Nabyonga 2005	Uganda	User fee reduction/elimination					
Nabyonga-Orem 2008	Uganda	User fee reduction/elimination					
Xu 2006	Uganda	User fee reduction/elimination					
Yates 2006	Uganda	User fee reduction/elimination					
Showing 1 to 11 of 11 e	entries (filtered from	n 90 total entries)					< >

### **Feedback from Users**

Feedback from the survey was very positive, with 90% (17/19) of respondents stating that the website was either very or extremely easy to navigate. The most commonly used features of the website were the graphical summaries (53%, 10/19) and the country information (68%, 13/19). Respondents particularly liked the graphical summaries and the summary tables and found the colour-coded system useful and intuitive. Although most respondents had not visited the website with a particular question in mind, 90% (17/19) of respondents did find the website helpful and 63% (12/19) of respondents are either very or extremely likely to recommend the website to others.

Findings from the in-depth interviews supported this positive view, although a number of constructive criticisms and suggestions were proposed. Firstly, there was concern that a lack of evidence might be construed as evidence against a financing option. There were calls for the tool to more clearly distinguish between negative evidence and lack of evidence. Secondly, respondents expressed a concern that the tool might encourage users to take an over-simple view of financing options as it does not offer the option of integration or mixing financing methods and does not take into account of the context in which they are implemented. This is indeed a limitation of the tool imposed on the production team by the paucity of evidence on mixed methods financing approaches. Thirdly, it was suggested that the power of the tool is not immediately obvious and that a guide or manual available online might be a useful resource. Finally, one respondent suggested that new literature might already have emerged which would warrant inclusion on the site. This latter point was considered critical by the team producing the tool and has been a consideration from the outset of the project.

# Discussion

The health financing debate is moving on in low and middle income countries, from asking whether user fees should be removed, to exploring how to finance healthcare to achieve universal risk protection whilst achieving equity, efficiency, and quality of care. A conventional literature review will always be challenged by the breadth and complexity of the evidence on health financing, and the need to condense that evidence into a single journal article. Additionally, a published literature review is not necessarily the easiest way for a policy maker, or other user outside of academia, to access the evidence. We have developed a new e-tool that helps users (whether policy makers, NGO workers, or academics) to navigate the complex evidence by focusing on a single intelligent snapshot of the literature. Our tool is easy to access, and provides a rapid search of the evidence by country and goal. The tabular summary also allows the user to search the evidence according to a variety of criteria such as finance mechanism, country, or impact among others. Given its structure and Web implementation, the tool is also designed to be easily updated as new evidence emerges and country indicators change. These positive aspects of the tool were mentioned in the feedback received from early users during the evaluation stage of this process.

That said, to structure the tool in a comprehensible and navigable form, it was necessary to make certain simplifications or groupings within the evidence–particularly with regards to the assignment of impact. We attempted to minimize the loss of detail by allowing users to link through to the original articles. This loss of complexity is a common tension when synthesising evidence and is highlighted in the feedback from users as a risk of our tool (ie, that users might think only in the discrete and mutually exclusive categories of health financing options presented in the tool, forgetting that a mix of financing methods might be the most appropriate solution for their context). Understanding more fully how users interpret and use the output

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e25/
```

of a tool such as this may be a rich area for future research. However, while we needed to simplify the evidence somewhat, we would argue that this form of e-tool requires less simplification than a static journal article. We would also argue that our tool is evidence based, and the failure of our tool to shed light on the benefits of mixing financing methods reflects a failure of the academic literature to shed light on this option.

At every stage in building the tool we tried to be transparent about our assumptions and methods and always provide links for the user to the original evidence. Thus, the tool is intended to be used for exploration, allowing users to drill quickly down to the evidence most relevant to their needs, and not to make any finite recommendations for policy or health financing mechanism for a given country. While the tool has only been recently launched, it is hoped that it will become an important supplement to the existing literature on health systems financing. We also hope that this methodology could be used to bridge the gap between academic knowledge and practice for other complex policy questions.

### Acknowledgments

This project was funded by a grant from Save the Children.

### **Conflicts of Interest**

The funder of this study, Save the Children, advocates for services to be available free at the point of use and for financing mechanisms to offer universal risk protection

### **Multimedia Appendix 1**

Context matching of the studies.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 8KB - resprot\_v1i2e25\_app1.pdf]

### **Multimedia Appendix 2**

Screencast of how a user might navigate the tool.

[MOV File, 7MB - resprot\_v1i2e25\_app2.mov]

### References

- 1. Evans DB, Etienne C. Health systems financing and the path to universal coverage. Bull World Health Organ 2010 Jun;88(6):402 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2471/BLT.10.078741] [Medline: 20539847]
- Borghi J, Ensor T, Somanathan A, Lissner C, Mills A, Lancet Maternal Survival Series steering group. Mobilising financial resources for maternal health. Lancet 2006 Oct 21;368(9545):1457-1465. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69383-5</u>] [Medline: <u>17055948</u>]
- 3. Gilson L, McIntyre D. Removing user fees for primary care in Africa: the need for careful action. BMJ 2005 Oct 1;331(7519):762-765 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.331.7519.762] [Medline: 16195296]
- 4. James CD, Hanson K, McPake B, Balabanova D, Gwatkin D, Hopwood I, et al. To retain or remove user fees?: reflections on the current debate in low- and middle-income countries. Appl Health Econ Health Policy 2006;5(3):137-153. [Medline: 17132029]
- 5. Palmer N, Mueller DH, Gilson L, Mills A, Haines A. Health financing to promote access in low income settings-how much do we know? Lancet 2004;364(9442):1365-1370. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17195-X] [Medline: 15474141]
- Kutzin J, Ibraimova A, Jakab M, O'Dougherty S. Bismarck meets Beveridge on the Silk Road: coordinating funding sources to create a universal health financing system in Kyrgyzstan. Bull World Health Organ 2009 Jul;87(7):549-554 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>19649370</u>]
- 7. Normand C, Thomas S. Health care financing and the health system. In: Quah S, editor. International Encyclopedia of Public Health. Oxford: Academic Press; 2008:160-174.
- 8. Lagarde M, Palmer N. The impact of user fees on health service utilization in low- and middle-income countries: how strong is the evidence? Bull World Health Organ 2008 Nov;86(11):839-848 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 19030689]
- Rosenbaum SE, Glenton C, Wiysonge CS, Abalos E, Mignini L, Young T, et al. Evidence summaries tailored to health policy-makers in low- and middle-income countries. Bull World Health Organ 2011 Jan 1;89(1):54-61 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2471/BLT.10.075481] [Medline: 21346891]
- EPPI-Centre. EPPI-Centre methods for conducting systematic reviews. London: EPPI-Centre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London; 2007 Mar. URL: <u>http://eppi.ioe.ac.uk/cms/Default.aspx?tabid=89</u> [accessed 2011-12-09] [WebCite Cache ID 63nkGWXQF]

- 11. Greenhalgh T, Robert G, Macfarlane F, Bate P, Kyriakidou O, Peacock R. Storylines of research in diffusion of innovation: a meta-narrative approach to systematic review. Soc Sci Med 2005 Jul;61(2):417-430. [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2004.12.001] [Medline: 15893056]
- 12. Save the Children Federation, Inc. 2011. Navigating the evidence around health financing URL: <u>http://www.equitablehealthfinancing.org/</u> [accessed 2012-12-11] [WebCite Cache ID 6Cpw3tDgR]

### Abbreviations

**CBHI:** community-based health insurance **NGO:** non-governmental organisation **NHI:** national or government-run health insurance

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 15.05.12; peer-reviewed by S Rosenbaum; comments to author 04.07.12; revised version received 17.09.12; accepted 11.11.12; published 21.12.12. <u>Please cite as:</u> Skordis-Worrall J, Pulkki-Brännström AM, Utley M, Kembhavi G, Bricki N, Dutoit X, Rosato M, Pagel C Development and Formative Evaluation of a Visual E-Tool to Help Decision Makers Navigate the Evidence Around Health Financing JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e25 URL: http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e25/ doi:10.2196/resprot.2173 PMID:23611764

©Jolene Skordis-Worrall, Anni-Maria Pulkki-Brännström, Martin Utley, Gayatri Kembhavi, Nouria Bricki, Xavier Dutoit, Mikey Rosato, Christina Pagel. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 21.12.2012. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Protocol

# Lifetime Occupational Physical Activity and Musculoskeletal Aging in Middle-Aged Men and Women in Denmark: Retrospective Cohort Study Protocol and Methods

Anne Møller<sup>1,2,3</sup>, MD; Ole Steen Mortensen<sup>3,4</sup>, PhD; Susanne Reventlow<sup>2</sup>, DMSc; Peder Georg Skov<sup>1</sup>, MD; Johan Hviid Andersen<sup>5</sup>, PhD; Tine Steen Rubak<sup>4</sup>, PhD; Åse Marie Hansen<sup>3,6</sup>, PhD; Lars L Andersen<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Rikke Lund<sup>6</sup>, PhD; Merete Osler<sup>6,7,8</sup>, DMSc; Ulla Christensen<sup>6</sup>, PhD; Kirsten Avlund<sup>6,7,9</sup>, DMSc

<sup>1</sup>Department of Occupational Medicine, Køge Hospital, Køge, Denmark

<sup>2</sup>The Research Unit for General Practice and Section of General Practice, Department of Public Health, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark

<sup>3</sup>National Research Centre for the Working Environment, Copenhagen, Denmark

<sup>4</sup>Department of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, Bispebjerg Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark

<sup>6</sup>Section of Social Medicine, Department of Public Health, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark

<sup>7</sup>Danish Aging Research Center, Universities of Southern Denmark, Aarhus and Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark

<sup>8</sup>Research Centre for Prevention and Health, Glostrup University Hospital, Glostrup, Denmark

<sup>9</sup>Center for Healthy Aging, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark

### **Corresponding Author:**

Anne Møller, MD Department of Occupational Medicine Køge Hospital Lykkebækvej 1 Køge, DK-4600 Denmark Phone: 45 47322900 Fax: 45 46322073 Email: <u>annemoller1972@gmail.com</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Physical function is essential for performing most aspects of daily life and musculoskeletal aging leads to a decline in physical function. The onset and rate of this process vary and are influenced by environmental, genetic, and hormonal factors. Although everyone eventually experiences musculoskeletal aging, it is beneficial to study the factors that influence the aging process in order to prevent disability. The role of occupational physical activity in the musculoskeletal aging process is unclear. In the past, hard physical work was thought to strengthen the worker, but current studies in this field fail to find a training effect in jobs with a high level of occupational physical activity.

**Objective:** The aim of this study is to examine the influence of lifetime occupational physical activity on physical function in midlife. The study follows the "occupational life-course perspective," emphasizing the importance of occupational exposures accumulated throughout life on the musculoskeletal aging process taking socioeconomic and lifestyle factors into consideration.

**Methods:** This study is a retrospective cohort study including a cross-sectional measurement of physical function in 5000 middle-aged Danes. Data was obtained from the Copenhagen Aging and Midlife Biobank (CAMB) which is based on three existing Danish cohorts. Using questionnaire information about the five longest-held occupations, the job history was coded from the Danish version of the International Standard Classification of Occupations (D-ISCO 88) and a job exposure matrix containing information about occupational physical activity in Danish jobs was applied to the dataset. The primary outcomes are three tests of physical function: handgrip strength, balance, and chair rise. In the analyses, we will compare physical function in midlife according to accumulated exposure to high levels of occupational physical activity.

**Conclusions:** We have a unique opportunity to study the influence of work on early musculoskeletal aging taking other factors into account. In this study, the "healthy worker effect" is reduced due to inclusion of people from the working population and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Danish Ramazzini Center, Department of Occupational Medicine, Region Hospital, Herning, Denmark

people who are already retired or have been excluded from the labor market. However, low participation in the physical tests can lead to selection bias.

(JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e7) doi:10.2196/resprot.2191

### KEYWORDS

Occupational exposure; work load; physical fitness; musculoskeletal system; aging

### Introduction

Physical function is essential for performing most aspects of daily life and it is a predictor of morbidity and mortality [1,2]. Musculoskeletal aging leads to a decline in physical function [3], the onset and rate of which vary and are influenced by environmental, genetic, and hormonal factors [4]. Leisure-time physical activity is important for maintaining physical function and is recommended by authorities in many countries [5], but the role of occupational physical activity (OPA) is more controversial [6]. Until the 1980s, manual workers were considered stronger than non-manual workers because of OPA. Since then, muscle strength and endurance have been shown to be lower in manual workers than in non-manual workers [7-10]. The absence of an observed training effect of OPA on physical function has been explained by a lack of an optimal combination of intensity, frequency, and duration of job tasks [7,11].

Since the 1980s, few studies have focused on prolonged exposure to strenuous physical work as a predictor of loss of muscle strength and impaired physical function. One study found no association between lifetime OPA and handgrip strength [11], but other studies have shown a training effect of OPA on shoulder muscle strength [12] and physical capacity in the upper extremities [13]. Three studies in older people with a history of manual labor showed that overall lifetime OPA may be associated with significantly higher rates of disability, lower physical function, and reduced muscular strength [14-16]. Two factors influence the associations found in these studies of accumulated physical activity and later physical function: exposure assessment and confounding factors.

The exposure assessment is essential. Most of the studies previously cited rely on self-reports of workload because self-reports provide the simplest and most cost-effective method of measuring physical exposure in large epidemiological studies [17]. Although the validity of self-reports vary [18], they are useful for detecting relative differences in physical workload among occupational groups. To supplement self-reports of physical exposure, expert judgments and job exposure matrices (JEMs) have been used in occupational epidemiology [19,20]. JEMs are databases based on expert judgments, registers, or measurements and use coded job titles to assign exposures in epidemiologic studies [21]. They are useful for retrospective exposure assessment in population-based studies in which many types of jobs are represented. Several research groups have used expert ratings and established JEMs for assessment of physical exposure [22,23], but the imprecise definition of OPA and the lack of accurate measurements can affect the validity. The use of a panel of experts for assessment of exposure improves the validity of the judgments [24], but misclassification is still possible because a JEM is a group-based assessment and

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e7/

individual differences in exposures because of variation in job tasks among people with the same job title and differences in ergonomics and capacity are not taken into account [25]. A recent study found high validity of reported job histories comparing information from questionnaires and interviews, whereas self-reports of work-life OPA levels showed varying validity (Møller et al, unpublished data, 2012). Therefore, this study uses a JEM on occupational physical activity based on expert ratings to supplement the exposure assessment.

In the previously mentioned studies, differences in physical function among older people could be attributed to confounding factors throughout life. Using a life-course perspective on aging and functional decline, factors such as socioeconomics, lifestyle, and genetics are relevant to take into consideration [4]. However, it is not always possible to follow trajectories of confounding factors in life-course analyses although they can influence outcomes such as physical function in midlife [26-28].

There has been little focus on occupational exposures in life-course studies of physical function [29]. Thus, it is not known how occupational exposures during the course of life influence the musculoskeletal aging process and the decline in physical function. Our hypothesis is that a high level of OPA affects the timing and/or the rate of the musculoskeletal aging process. In this study, the term "occupational life-course perspective" is used and the aim is to examine the influence of lifetime occupational physical activity on physical function in midlife.

# Methods

### Study Design

This study is a retrospective cohort study including a cross-sectional measurement of physical function in midlife. Data will be obtained from the Copenhagen Aging and Midlife Biobank (CAMB) [30], which is based on three existing Danish cohorts aimed at determining the importance of prenatal and perinatal factors, factors in childhood, and factors in early adulthood for early signs of aging in late midlife. Physical examinations of the cohort are planned for the future, but not yet funded.

### **Study Population**

This study utilizes data from two of the three CAMB cohorts: The Metropolit Cohort and the Danish Longitudinal Study on Work, Unemployment and Health. From these cohorts, 12,656 middle-aged men and women living in Denmark were invited to participate. Data collection took place between April 2009 and March 2011. Of the initial 12,656 invitations, 39.97% (5059/12,656) answered the postal questionnaire and 30.48% (3858/12,656) attended the examination. Presently, the CAMB

XSL•FO

database is being prepared for analysis. The analyses will begin in the spring of 2012 when the database will be available for further research and the job exposure matrix has been established.

### **Description of the Cohorts**

The Metropolit Cohort is defined as the 11,532 men born in 1953 in the Copenhagen Metropolitan area and living in Denmark in 1968. The cohort has been described in detail elsewhere [31]. Data from birth certificates, including information on dimensions at birth and the father's occupational status at the time of birth, were manually collected for all members of the original study population in 1965. That same year, 7987 (69.26%) of these males participated in a school-based survey that included a questionnaire administered by their class teachers. The questionnaire included tests of cognition and questions regarding leisure-time activities and social aspirations. In addition, data from conscription board examinations between 1971-1976, including measurements of height, weight, and cognitive function, were collected from archives in 2004. In 2004, 6292 members of the cohort responded to a health questionnaire. The Metropolit Cohort provides a unique opportunity to study early biological and social influences on the development of a number of social and health outcomes [32-34].

The Danish Longitudinal Study on Work, Unemployment and Health is a prospective population study that began with a baseline postal survey in the spring of 2000 in a stratified random sample (n = 15,227) consisting of two population groups: (1) individuals between 40 and 50 years by October 1, 1999 (7588/11,082, response rate 68.47%), and (2) individuals between 36 and 54 years who were unemployed at least 70%

of the time between October 1, 1996 and October 1, 1999 (2350/4200, response rate 55.95%). Both samples were drawn initially from the "Anvendt Kommunal Forskning" (AKF) Longitudinal Register maintained by the Danish Institute of Governmental Research. The AKF Longitudinal Register comprises 100% of the Danish population aged 15 years and older. Data on non-participation was derived from the register. Non-participants included a significantly higher proportion of men, non-native-born Danes, individuals living on transfer income, and individuals with lower education levels (untrained or semi-skilled). In 2006, a follow-up questionnaire was sent to the surviving respondents, now aged 44-62 years (n = 8916) and a completed questionnaire was returned by 6151 respondents (response rate 68.99%). Data included a number of demographic, socioeconomic, psychosocial, and behavioral measures because socioeconomics and the consequences of unemployment were two of the main fields of investigation [35-37].

### **Conceptual and Analytical Model**

Figure 1 illustrates the conceptual model used in this study. The research hypothesis is that prolonged exposure to high levels of OPA is associated with lower levels of physical function in midlife. The physiological link between exposure and outcome is the underlying biological processes, where acute changes in the musculoskeletal system turn chronic because of insufficient time for recovery [38,39] and a cumulative effect of physical wear and tear over the years influences the onset and rate of the musculoskeletal aging process [13]. At the same time, other factors throughout the course of life are associated with the exposure to occupational physical activity and physical function in midlife, which are potential confounders in our conceptual model.



Figure 1. Conceptual model of study.



### **Exposure Assessment**

Occupational physical activity is the main exposure in this study. We define occupational physical activity as "work including mostly standing and walking at work combined with daily lifting of heavy burdens."

XSL•FO RenderX
#### Self-reported Measures

The questionnaire provides data on the five longest occupations held plus the current occupation. The job titles were coded using the 1988 revision of the Danish version of the International Standard Classification of Occupations (D-ISCO 88) registration system by a coder with a broad knowledge of the Danish labor market. The International Standard Classification of Occupations (ISCO) was developed by the International Labour Office in 1958 and is a standardized classification and rating system of job types according to skills and education requirements [40].The D-ISCO contains classifications for more than 2000 Danish job titles as four-digit codes and it is used primarily for statistical analysis and research.

The questionnaire provides information about exposure during working life to dust, noise, chemicals, heavy lifting, working with the back bent, about the psychosocial work environment, and OPA. The OPA is categorized into four groups: sedentary work (eg, office work); mainly standing and walking at work (eg, teachers or machine operators); moderate physical exertion (eg, car mechanics or cooks); and hard physical work including lifting and pushing/pulling (eg, furniture movers or bricklayers). For all types of exposures, the respondent has to include a summation of their years of exposure.

## Job Exposure Matrix

A job exposure matrix, the occupational physical activity matrix (OPA matrix), was applied to the dataset. The OPA matrix is based on an existing Danish job exposure matrix called the Knee-Hip Matrix [41] that is based on expert judgment of physical exposures associated with risk of osteoarthritis (eg, sitting, standing/walking, whole-body vibration, kneeling, and lifting of heavy objects). Firstly, all jobs in the D-ISCO classification considered more than minimally exposed to at least one of the exposures of interest were collapsed into homogeneous exposure groups (HEGs). Of the 2227 possible, 689 job titles were collapsed into 121 HEGs containing from 1-34 different occupational titles. For example, the HEG "people working in the printing industry" includes bookbinders, machine operators, and printers; "people working with food preparation in different kitchens" includes different types of cooks and managers in cafés and cafeterias.

## **Expert Rating**

In keeping with international recommendations for expert ratings, a panel of five raters (experienced occupational physicians) independently assessed the 122 HEGs. They rated the duration of sitting, standing/walking, kneeling, and whole-body vibration throughout a normal working day. Furthermore, a rating of daily lifting (kg/day) and number of lifts over 20 kg per day were assigned to each HEG. A final consensus meeting was held to discuss outliers and discrepancies in the ratings and the method was validated internally and externally [41].

# The OPA Matrix

XSI•FC

The division of job titles in the HEGs and the average rating of the experts on physical activity (eg, hours standing/walking per day and lifting frequency and intensity per day) came from the Knee–Hip Matrix. Job groups not included in the HEGs were

```
http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e7/
```

assigned as "unexposed." Years of exposure to standing and walking and lifting were calculated according to the following definitions: (1) standing year (SY) defined as 6 hours of standing and walking at work each day in 1 year; (2) lifting year (LY) defined as lifting more than 20 kg at least 10 times per day in 1 year; and (3) ton year (TY) defined as 1000 kg of heavy lifting per day in 1 year. Each participant's job history was converted to D-ISCO job titles covering the 0–5 previous longest occupations. Finally, data on exposure from the OPA matrix was assigned to the respective job titles and a summation of exposure was calculated.

## **Outcome Assessment**

#### Test Protocol

Participants in CAMB attended an examination at the National Research Centre for the Working Environment (NRCWE), which involved a review of the previously completed questionnaire, measurement of weight and height, a battery of physical tests, cognitive tests, blood sampling, and information about health status with respect to some of the results of the examination. The battery of physical tests included tests of handgrip strength, trunk extension and flexion, jump height, flexibility, chair rise, and balance. General exclusion criteria for participation in the physical tests were high blood pressure, self-reported signs of angina pectoris, and use of prescribed heart/lung medication.

# **Objective Measures of Physical Function**

Three signs of early musculoskeletal aging were used as outcome measures: handgrip strength, balance, and chair rise.

Handgrip strength was measured during a maximal voluntary isometric contraction with an electronic version of the Jamar dynamometer [42]. The participant sat upright on a chair with the elbow flexed 90 degrees and was instructed to squeeze the dynamometer as fast and as forcefully as possible. From a total of 3-5 attempts, the highest force value was used as the handgrip strength.

Balance was measured on an Advanced Mechanical Technology, Inc (AMTI) force platform during a one-legged stance with eyes open and arms across the chest [43,44]. The participant focused on a dot on the wall and stood as steady as possible for 30 seconds. Balance was defined as the sway area (95% confidence ellipse measured in cm<sup>2</sup>). A lower sway area indicates better balance. Three 30-second attempts were given and the lowest sway area of the three attempts was used. Some participants were unable to maintain their balance for 30 seconds; therefore, the outcome was also dichotomized as a "yes/no" answer regarding completion of the test.

The ability to rise from a chair was determined by a chair rise test. Participants were instructed to rise and sit as many times as possible over 30 seconds [45]. Only one attempt was given because of the tiring nature of the test. An electronic switch placed under the seat of the chair counted the total number of chair rises.

# **Confounders and Intermediate Variables**

Information about various confounders was available from the CAMB questionnaire:

1. Chronic diseases. Number of chronic diseases are registered and grouped into three groups: no chronic disease, one chronic disease, and two or more chronic diseases. Relevant diseases were asthma, diabetes, hypertension, angina pectoris, stroke, myocardial infarction, bronchitis, emphysema, osteoarthritis, cancer, anxiety, depression, other psychiatric diseases, and back pain.

2. Pain. A general pain score was calculated from answers about pain levels in 9 parts of the body.

3. Leisure-time physical activity. Information about weekly physical activity during leisure-time was reported in two ways. Duration of housing and gardening work plus walking and bicycling (including transportation to work) is summated and categorized as less than 3 hours per week, 3–6 hours per week, and more than 7 hours a week. Another question included a more specific description of the intensity of physical activity during leisure time and was categorized as low, medium, or high intensity.

4. Smoking. Smoking was reported as smoker/non-smoker including a smoking history in pack years (defined as 20 cigarettes or an equal amount of tobacco smoked each day for 1 year).

5. Alcohol consumption. Alcohol consumption was categorized in units of alcohol per week.

6. Education. School education was categorized into three groups: no exam, primary education, and secondary/higher education. Vocational education was categorized into five groups: unskilled, skilled manual worker, and short, medium, or long further education.

7. Occupational social class. Information about current occupation and education was used to categorize participants into eight socioeconomic classes.

8. Psychosocial work environment. Information about psychosocial work environmental factors (eg, demands, feedback, support, and influence) was also included in the analyses as confounders.

9. Physical measures. Height, weight, and lean body mass were measured at the examination. Body mass index (BMI) was categorized into four groups: <18.5, 18.5-25, 25-30, and >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>.

## **Statistical Analysis**

The primary outcome is signs of early musculoskeletal aging, measured as performance in the three physical tests.

The following null-hypothesis will be tested: in 3 tests of physical function, there is no difference between middle-aged Danes according to their level of lifetime occupational physical activity.

Because prior studies hypothesized a positive association between manual workers and handgrip strength, we will analyze

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e7/

handgrip strength in a separate analysis. Analyses will be stratified for gender due to differences in physical capacity.

First univariate analyses of the cumulative exposures to standing and lifting and the associations with the three outcome measures will be calculated using logistic regression analyses. Analyses will be repeated using self-reports of exposure. Afterwards multiple regression analyses with stepwise forward selection of variables will be used.

Dropout analyses will be done with the CAMB database to study attrition by using information on socioeconomic status, health, and lifestyle factors from previous questionnaires and registers.

#### **Power Calculation**

The power calculation is based primarily on the studies of Kuh et al of a British birth cohort of comparable age and size (2797 individuals age 53 years) [29,46]. Work is included as a dichotomized covariate (manual/non-manual) in their multivariate regression analyses. We expect to find larger differences in our study using a more specific exposure assessment. The following power calculations were performed in SAS version 9.2 PROC POWER. It is assumed that 20% of the population has a job history that includes a moderate to high level of OPA, and we are aiming for a power of 90% (beta = .1) with a significance level of 5% (alpha = .05) in the following calculations.

#### Handgrip Strength

Kuh et al found a non-significant difference of 0.3 kg in handgrip strength between manual and non-manual male workers [29]. A significant difference of 4 kg between manual and non-manual workers was found in the II SIRENTE study [14], in which hard physical work was a primary exposure but included older participants. Presuming a relevant difference of 4 kg and the previous assumptions, 2375 participants are needed to show a statistical difference.

## Chair Rise Test

Kuh et al measured time to complete 10 chair rises and found a difference of 0.3 sec<sup>-1</sup> (SD 3.3) between manual and non-manual workers. This is a small difference. A slightly larger difference of 0.5 sec<sup>-1</sup> is more appropriate, so that manual and non-manual workers use 22 and 20 seconds, respectively. Given this and the other assumptions described previously, n is calculated to be 2870.

#### Balance

In the British birth cohorts, balance was tested at home and the results are not comparable to our test of balance using the AMTI platform.

From the power calculations in SAS PROC POWER, we will find significant differences (alpha = .05) between manual and non-manual workers in the three physical tests if we include at least 3000 persons.

# Discussion

Prevention of decline in physical function due to working conditions is important to the individual worker and to society as a whole in order to maintain the ability to work and prevent disability later in life [47]. More knowledge is needed about the associations between lifetime workload and midlife physical function.

Measurements of physical function are more valid measures than self-reports of pain or disability. The three physical tests were chosen to study functional limitations instead of specific diseases. These outcome measures have been used mainly in gerontological studies [1,2]. There is an association between handgrip strength and mortality in elderly people and handgrip strength and mortality due to all causes in midlife have recently been shown to be associated [2].

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

CAMB is a population-based cohort and inclusion is not based on symptoms or diseases [24] which reduces the "healthy worker effect." Cohort members are invited and included regardless of their status in the labor market. Therefore, the cohort includes middle-aged Danes who are still working, on disability pension, unemployed, sick-listed, or have retired early. All have their occupational history recorded through the questionnaire. However, health and physical capacity during youth is not taken into account in our analyses. We hope to be able to include data on chronic diseases in youth in later analyses in order to study selection into jobs or into the labor market. A low participation in CAMB among those invited can lead to selection bias; therefore, dropout analyses are crucial. We introduce an individual summation of exposure to occupational physical activity in working life using self-reports of job history and expert judgments of exposure to OPA and the exposure assessment is strengthened by a combination of dose (level of physical activity) and time (duration of occupation) [48]. However, there is a risk of misclassification due to generalization of physical demands in job groups (HEGs) in the JEM. By using the five longest-held jobs plus the present job in the exposure assessment, we take account of the fact that deterioration of physical function may be a chronic process and symptomatic workers are more likely to change jobs from high exposure to low exposure [22,49].

Changes in lifestyle factors and socioeconomics throughout life are not taken into account in this study, but historic data about exposures during childhood and adulthood will be included in future analyses. Because the participants did not have a physical examination during their youth, we cannot make conclusions about causal relationships with respect to changes in physical function.

#### **Impact of Results**

In Danish public opinion, OPA is considered to have detrimental effects on health. Work-related exposure is thought to be the primary cause of decline in physical function and ability to work in midlife. We hope to investigate this using the occupational life-course perspective on musculoskeletal aging and physical function. At the same time, it is important to prevent early exit from the labor market due to demographic changes in the Western world. This study will help pinpoint targets for such prevention strategies.

## Acknowledgments

AM is funded by the Danish Ministry of Employment and the Danish Working Environment Research Fund. The Copenhagen Aging and Midlife Biobank has been supported by a generous grant from the VELUX FOUNDATION. The authors thank Helle Bruunsgaard, Nils-Erik Fiehn, Poul Holm-Pedersen, and Erik Lykke Mortensen who initiated and established the Copenhagen Aging and Midlife Biobank from 2009–2011, together with Åse Marie Hansen, Rikke Lund, Merete Osler, and Kirsten Avlund. The authors acknowledge the crucial role of the initiators and steering groups of the Metropolit Cohort and the Danish Longitudinal Study on Work, Unemployment and Health.

The CAMB study was approved by the Regional Committee on Biomedical Research Ethics, Capital Region, Registration Number H-A-2008–126.

# **Authors' Contributions**

AM was the first author of the manuscript and participated in the design of the study. OSM, JHA, PS, and SR designed the study in collaboration with KA. TSE and JHA participated in establishment of the job exposure matrix and in drafting and revision of the manuscript. LLA participated in collection of data in CAMB and was involved in the drafting and revision of the manuscript. KA, RL, MO, and AMH made substantial contributions to establishment of CAMB and to collection of data, and participated in drafting and revision of the manuscript. UC, RL, and MO contributed by administration of the two cohorts and participated in drafting and revision of the manuscript. All authors have read and approved the final manuscript and contributed to the revision of the manuscript.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

XSL•FC RenderX

- Cooper R, Kuh D, Cooper C, Gale CR, Lawlor DA, Matthews F, FALCon and HALCyon Study Teams. Objective measures of physical capability and subsequent health: a systematic review. Age Ageing 2011 Jan;40(1):14-23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ageing/afq117] [Medline: 20843964]
- 2. Cooper R, Kuh D, Hardy R, Mortality Review Group, FALCon and HALCyon Study Teams. Objectively measured physical capability levels and mortality: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ 2010;341:c4467 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 20829298]
- 3. Leveille SG. Musculoskeletal aging. Curr Opin Rheumatol 2004 Mar;16(2):114-118. [Medline: 14770095]
- 4. Kuh D, Ben-Shlomo Y. A Life Course Approach to Chronic Diseases Epidemiology. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2004.
- Haskell WL, Lee IM, Pate RR, Powell KE, Blair SN, Franklin BA, et al. Physical activity and public health: updated recommendation for adults from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2007 Aug;39(8):1423-1434. [doi: 10.1249/mss.0b013e3180616b27] [Medline: 17762377]
- 6. Burdorf A. The effect of high physical load at work on physical function at old age. Occup Environ Med 2006 Jul;63(7):437. [doi: <u>10.1136/oem.2006.027623</u>] [Medline: <u>16782826</u>]
- Nygård CH, Luopajärvi T, Suurnäkki T, Ilmarinen J. Muscle strength and muscle endurance of middle-aged women and men associated to type, duration and intensity of muscular load at work. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 1988;60(4):291-297. [Medline: <u>3372036</u>]
- 8. Nygård CH, Luopajärvi T, Cedercreutz G, Ilmarinen J. Musculoskeletal capacity of employees aged 44 to 58 years in physical, mental and mixed types of work. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 1987;56(5):555-561. [Medline: <u>3653097</u>]
- 9. Pohjonen T. Age-related physical fitness and the predictive values of fitness tests for work ability in home care work. J Occup Environ Med 2001 Aug;43(8):723-730. [Medline: <u>11515256</u>]
- 10. Savinainen M, Nygård CH, Ilmarinen J. A 16-year follow-up study of physical capacity in relation to perceived workload among ageing employees. Ergonomics 2004 Aug 15;47(10):1087-1102. [doi: 10.1080/00140130410001686357] [Medline: 15370865]
- 11. Nygard CH, Kilbom A, Hjelm EW. Life-time occupational exposure to heavy work and individual physical capacity. International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics 1994;14:365-372. [doi: <u>10.1016/0169-8141(94)90024-8</u>]
- 12. Schibye B, Hansen AF, Søgaard K, Christensen H. Aerobic power and muscle strength among young and elderly workers with and without physically demanding work tasks. Appl Ergon 2001 Oct;32(5):425-431. [Medline: <u>11534787</u>]
- 13. Torgén M, Punnett L, Alfredsson L, Kilbom A. Physical capacity in relation to present and past physical load at work: a study of 484 men and women aged 41 to 58 years. Am J Ind Med 1999 Sep;36(3):388-400. [Medline: 10470003]
- Russo A, Onder G, Cesari M, Zamboni V, Barillaro C, Capoluongo E, et al. Lifetime occupation and physical function: a prospective cohort study on persons aged 80 years and older living in a community. Occup Environ Med 2006 Jul;63(7):438-442. [doi: 10.1136/oem.2005.023549] [Medline: 16782827]
- Cassou B, Derriennic F, Iwatsubo Y, Amphoux M. Physical diability after retirement and occupational risk factors during working life: a cross sectional epidemiological study in the Paris area. J Epidemiol Community Health 1992 Oct;46(5):506-511 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 1479320]
- Li CY, Wu SC, Wen SW. Longest held occupation in a lifetime and risk of disability in activities of daily living. Occup Environ Med 2000 Aug;57(8):550-554 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 10896962]
- 17. Stock SR, Fernandes R, Delisle A, Vézina N. Reproducibility and validity of workers' self-reports of physical work demands. Scand J Work Environ Health 2005 Dec;31(6):409-437 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>16425584</u>]
- 18. Kwak L, Proper KI, Hagströmer M, Sjöström M. The repeatability and validity of questionnaires assessing occupational physical activity--a systematic review. Scand J Work Environ Health 2011 Jan;37(1):6-29. [Medline: <u>20802979</u>]
- Griffith LE, Wells RP, Shannon HS, Walter SD, Cole DC, Hogg-Johnson S, Meta-Analysis of Pain in the Lower Back and Work Exposures (MAPLE) Collaborative Group. Developing common metrics of mechanical exposures across aetiological studies of low back pain in working populations for use in meta-analysis. Occup Environ Med 2008 Jul;65(7):467-481. [doi: 10.1136/oem.2007.034801] [Medline: 17991699]
- 20. D'Souza JC, Keyserling WM, Werner RA, Gillespie B, Franzblau A. Expert consensus ratings of job categories from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III). Am J Ind Med 2007 Aug;50(8):608-616. [doi: 10.1002/ajim.20487] [Medline: 17595005]
- 21. Bouyer J, Hémon D. Studying the performance of a job exposure matrix. Int J Epidemiol 1993;22 Suppl 2:S65-S71. [Medline: <u>8132396</u>]
- D'Souza JC, Werner RA, Keyserling WM, Gillespie B, Rabourn R, Ulin S, et al. Analysis of the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III) using expert ratings of job categories. Am J Ind Med 2008 Jan;51(1):37-46. [doi: <u>10.1002/ajim.20512</u>] [Medline: <u>18033730</u>]
- Krishnadasan A, Kennedy N, Zhao Y, Morgenstern H, Ritz B. Nested case-control study of occupational physical activity and prostate cancer among workers using a job exposure matrix. Cancer Causes Control 2008 Feb;19(1):107-114. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10552-007-9076-7</u>] [Medline: <u>18064535</u>]

RenderX

- 24. Benke G, Sim M, Fritschi L, Aldred G, Forbes A, Kauppinen T. Comparison of occupational exposure using three different methods: hygiene panel, job exposure matrix (JEM), and self reports. Appl Occup Environ Hyg 2001 Jan;16(1):84-91. [doi: 10.1080/104732201456168] [Medline: 11202032]
- 25. Benke G, Sim M, Forbes A, Salzberg M. Retrospective assessment of occupational exposure to chemicals in community-based studies: validity and repeatability of industrial hygiene panel ratings. Int J Epidemiol 1997 Jun;26(3):635-642 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 9222790]
- 26. Murray ET, Hardy R, Strand BH, Cooper R, Guralnik JM, Kuh D. Gender and life course occupational social class differences in trajectories of functional limitations in midlife: findings from the 1946 British birth cohort. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2011 Dec;66(12):1350-1359. [doi: 10.1093/gerona/glr139] [Medline: 21860018]
- Strand BH, Cooper R, Hardy R, Kuh D, Guralnik J. Lifelong socioeconomic position and physical performance in midlife: results from the British 1946 birth cohort. Eur J Epidemiol 2011 Jun;26(6):475-483. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10654-011-9562-9</u>] [Medline: <u>21416275</u>]
- 28. Cooper R, Mishra GD, Kuh D. Physical activity across adulthood and physical performance in midlife: findings from a British birth cohort. Am J Prev Med 2011 Oct;41(4):376-384. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2011.06.035</u>] [Medline: <u>21961464</u>]
- 29. Kuh D, Bassey EJ, Butterworth S, Hardy R, Wadsworth ME, Musculoskeletal Study Team. Grip strength, postural control, and functional leg power in a representative cohort of British men and women: associations with physical activity, health status, and socioeconomic conditions. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2005 Feb;60(2):224-231. [Medline: <u>15814867</u>]
- Avlund K, Bruunsgaard H, Christensen U. (CAMB Copenhagen Aging and Midlife Biobank. Perspectives for future research.) CAMB - Copenhagen Aging and Midlife Biobank. Perspektiver for fremtidig forskning. Miljo og Sundhed 2009;supplement(15):81-88.
- 31. Osler M, Lund R, Kriegbaum M, Christensen U, Andersen AM. Cohort profile: the Metropolit 1953 Danish male birth cohort. Int J Epidemiol 2006 Jun;35(3):541-545 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ije/dyi300] [Medline: 16377658]
- 32. Batty GD, Mortensen EL, Nybo Andersen AM, Osler M. Childhood intelligence in relation to adult coronary heart disease and stroke risk: evidence from a Danish birth cohort study. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol 2005 Nov;19(6):452-459. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3016.2005.00671.x] [Medline: 16269073]
- Osler M, Andersen AM, Laursen B, Lawlor DA. Cognitive function in childhood and early adulthood and injuries later in life: the Metropolit 1953 male birth cohort. Int J Epidemiol 2007 Feb;36(1):212-219 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1093/ije/dyl261</u>] [Medline: <u>17175543</u>]
- Kriegbaum M, Christensen U, Lund R, Osler M. Job losses and accumulated number of broken partnerships increase risk of premature mortality in Danish men born in 1953. J Occup Environ Med 2009 Jun;51(6):708-713. [doi: 10.1097/JOM.0b013e3181a023db] [Medline: 19430317]
- Christensen U, Lund R, Damsgaard MT, Holstein BE, Ditlevsen S, Diderichsen F, et al. Cynical hostility, socioeconomic position, health behaviors, and symptom load: a cross-sectional analysis in a Danish population-based study. Psychosom Med 2004;66(4):572-577 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/01.psy.0000126206.35683.d1] [Medline: 15272105]
- Rayce SL, Christensen U, Hougaard C, Diderichsen F. Economic consequences of incident disease: the effect on loss of annual income. Scand J Public Health 2008 May;36(3):258-264. [doi: 10.1177/1403494808086987] [Medline: 18519294]
- Christensen U, Kriegbaum M, Hougaard CO, Mortensen OS, Diderichsen F. Contextual factors and social consequences of incident disease. Eur J Public Health 2008 Oct;18(5):454-459 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1093/eurpub/ckn049</u>] [Medline: <u>18550567</u>]
- 38. de Zwart BC, Frings-Dresen MH, van Dijk FJ. Physical workload and the aging worker: a review of the literature. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 1995;68(1):1-12. [Medline: <u>8847107</u>]
- 39. Mohren DC, Jansen NW, Kant I. Need for recovery from work in relation to age: a prospective cohort study. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 2010 Jun;83(5):553-561. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00420-009-0491-9</u>] [Medline: <u>19960222</u>]
- 40. Mannetje A, Kromhout H. The use of occupation and industry classifications in general population studies. Int J Epidemiol 2003 Jun;32(3):419-428 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>12777430</u>]
- 41. Rubak TS. Cumulative physical exposure in the work environment as a risk factor for primary osteoarthritis leading to total hip replacement. In: Exposure Assessment and Risk Estimation [PhD thesis]. Aarhus, Denmark: University of Aarhus; 2010.
- 42. Fairfax AH, Balnave R, Adams RD. Variability of grip strength during isometric contraction. Ergonomics 1995 Sep;38(9):1819-1830. [doi: 10.1080/00140139508925229] [Medline: 7671859]
- 43. Geurts AC, Nienhuis B, Mulder TW. Intrasubject variability of selected force-platform parameters in the quantification of postural control. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1993 Nov;74(11):1144-1150. [Medline: <u>8239951</u>]
- 44. Du Pasquier RA, Blanc Y, Sinnreich M, Landis T, Burkhard P, Vingerhoets FJ. The effect of aging on postural stability: a cross sectional and longitudinal study. Neurophysiol Clin 2003 Nov;33(5):213-218. [Medline: 14672821]
- 45. Ritchie C, Trost SG, Brown W, Armit C. Reliability and validity of physical fitness field tests for adults aged 55 to 70 years. J Sci Med Sport 2005 Mar;8(1):61-70. [Medline: <u>15887902</u>]
- 46. Kuh D, Hardy R, Butterworth S, Okell L, Richards M, Wadsworth M, et al. Developmental origins of midlife physical performance: evidence from a British birth cohort. Am J Epidemiol 2006 Jul 15;164(2):110-121 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/aje/kwj193] [Medline: 16757569]

RenderX

- 47. Sluiter JK. High-demand jobs: age-related diversity in work ability? Appl Ergon 2006 Jul;37(4):429-440. [doi: 10.1016/j.apergo.2006.04.007] [Medline: 16764815]
- van der Beek AJ, Frings-Dresen MH. Assessment of mechanical exposure in ergonomic epidemiology. Occup Environ Med 1998 May;55(5):291-299 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>9764106</u>]
- 49. Benke G, Sim MR, McKenzie DP, Macfarlane E, Del Monaco A, Hoving JL, et al. Comparison of first, last, and longest-held jobs as surrogates for all jobs in estimating cumulative exposure in cross-sectional studies of work-related asthma. Ann Epidemiol 2008 Jan;18(1):23-27. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.annepidem.2007.06.007</u>] [Medline: <u>17719239</u>]

## Abbreviations

AKF: Anvendt Kommunal Forskning ("Danish Institute of Governmental Research")
AMTI: Advanced Mechanical Technology, Inc.
BMI: body mass index
CAMB: Copenhagen Aging and Midlife Biobank
D-ISCO: the Danish version of ISCO
HEG: homogeneous exposure groups
ISCO: International Standard Classification of Occupations
JEM: job exposure matrix
LY: lifting year (lifting more than 20 kg at least 10 times per day in a year)
NRCWE: National Research Centre for the Working Environment
OPA: occupational physical activity
SY: standing year (6 hours of standing and walking at work per day in a year)
TY: ton year (1000 kg of heavy lifting per day in a year)

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 30.05.12; peer-reviewed by R Cooper, L Burdorf; comments to author 11.06.12; revised version received 28.06.12; accepted 02.07.12; published 27.07.12.

Please cite as:

Møller A, Mortensen OS, Reventlow S, Skov PG, Andersen JH, Rubak TS, Hansen ÅM, Andersen LL, Lund R, Osler M, Christensen U, Avlund K

Lifetime Occupational Physical Activity and Musculoskeletal Aging in Middle-Aged Men and Women in Denmark: Retrospective Cohort Study Protocol and Methods

JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e7 URL: <u>http://www.researchprotocols.org/2012/2/e7/</u> doi:10.2196/resprot.2191 PMID:23611836

©Anne Møller, Ole Steen Mortensen, Susanne Reventlow, Peder Georg Skov, Johan Hviid Andersen, Tine Steen Rubak, Åse Marie Hansen, Lars L Andersen, Rikke Lund, Merete Osler, Ulla Christensen, Kirsten Avlund. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 27.07.2012. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

